World Journal of *Meta-Analysis*

World J Meta-Anal 2022 February 28; 10(1): 1-45





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

WJMA

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Contents

Bimonthly Volume 10 Number 1 February 28, 2022

MINIREVIEWS

Uses of knockout, knockdown, and transgenic models in the studies of glucose transporter 4 1

Wang TN, Hu XG, Chen GX

META-ANALYSIS

12 Hepatitis C virus among blood donors and general population in Middle East and North Africa: Metaanalyses and meta-regressions

Mahmud S, Chemaitelly H, Alaama AS, Hermez JG, Abu-Raddad L

Effects of dexmedetomidine on cardioprotection and other postoperative complications in elderly patients 25 after cardiac and non-cardiac surgerie

Yang YL, Hu BJ, Yi J, Pan MZ, Xie PC, Duan HW

37 Leptin levels in women with unexplained infertility: A systematic review and meta-analysis Abdullah AA, Ahmed M, Oladokun A



Contents

Bimonthly Volume 10 Number 1 February 28, 2022

ABOUT COVER

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Meta-Analysis, Özgür Karcioglu, MD, Academic Research, Full Professor, Lecturer, Senior Researcher, Department of Emergency Medicine, University of Health Sciences, Istanbul Education and Research Hospital, Istanbul 34140, Fatih, Turkey. okarcioglu@gmail.com

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Meta-Analysis (WJMA, World J Meta-Anal) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of clinical medicine with a platform to publish high-quality meta-analysis and systematic review articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJMA mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained through meta-analysis and systematic review in a wide range of areas, including medicine, pharmacy, preventive medicine, stomatology, nursing, medical imaging, and laboratory medicine.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJMA is now abstracted and indexed in China National Knowledge Infrastructure (CNKI), China Science and Technology Journal Database (CSTJ), and Superstar Journals Database

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Hua-Ge Yu; Production Department Director: Xiang Li; Editorial Office Director: Jin-Lei Wang.

NAME OF JOURNAL World Journal of Meta-Analysis	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN 2308-3840 (online)	https://www.wignet.com/bpg/Gerinto/28/
May 26, 2013	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Bimonthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Saurabh Chandan, Jing Sun	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
February 28, 2022	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2022 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2022 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



W J M

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Meta-Anal 2022 February 28; 10(1): 1-11

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i1.1

ISSN 2308-3840 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Uses of knockout, knockdown, and transgenic models in the studies of glucose transporter 4

Tian-Nan Wang, Xin-Ge Hu, Guo-Xun Chen

Specialty type: Endocrinology and metabolism

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Ding L, Liu L

Received: November 21, 2021 Peer-review started: November 21, 2021 First decision: December 10, 2021 Revised: December 10, 2021 Accepted: February 23, 2022 Article in press: February 23, 2022 Published online: February 28, 2022



Tian-Nan Wang, Xin-Ge Hu, Guo-Xun Chen, Department of Nutrition, The University of Tennessee, Knoxville, TN 37996, United States

Corresponding author: Guo-Xun Chen, PhD, Associate Professor, Research Scientist, Department of Nutrition, The University of Tennessee, Room 229, Jessie Harris Building 1215 West Cumberland Avenue, Knoxville, TN 37996, United States. gchen6@utk.edu

Abstract

Currently, glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) has been considered as the key player for the insulin-stimulated glucose transport in the muscle and adipose tissues. The development of recombinant DNA techniques allows the creations of genetically knockout, knockdown and transgenic animals and cells for the study of GLUT4's physiological functions. Here, we have used key words to search the PubMed and summarized the methods used in Slc2a4 gene knockout, GLUT4 knockdown and overexpression in the whole body and tissue specific manner. The whole body GLUT4-null mice have growth retardation, but normal glucose tolerance and basal glucose turnover rates. Compared with whole body Slc2a4 knockout mice, adipose and muscle double knockout mice have impaired insulin tolerance and glucose intolerance. The results of GLUT4 knockdown in 3T3-L1 adipocytes have shown that its expression is needed for lipogenesis after, but not during, differentiation. Transgenic mice with the whole body GLUT4 overexpression have normal body weight and lowered blood glucose level. The adipose tissue specific overexpression of GLUT4 leads to increases in mouse body weight and adipose tissue weight. The insulin-stimulated GLUT4 translocation in the skeletal muscle contributes to the regulation of glucose homeostasis. Data from both transgenic overexpression and tissue specific Slc2a4 knockout indicate that GLUT4 probably plays a role in the glucose uptake in the fasting state. More studies are warranted to use advanced molecular biology tools to decipher the roles of GLUT4 in the control of glucose homeostasis.

Key Words: Glucose transporter 4; Knockout; Knockdown; Transgene; Overexpression; Insulin

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



WJMA https://www.wjgnet.com

Core Tip: The whole body glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4)-null mice have growth retardation, but normal glucose tolerance and basal glucose turnover rates. The muscle-specific GLUT4 knockout mice have normal body weight and fat pad weight at least before 6 mo of age, whereas the adipose-GLUT4 knockout mice have glucose intolerance. The adipose and muscle GLUT4 double knockout mice develop hyperglycemia in the fasting state, suggesting the role of GLUT4 in fasting state. Compared to the control mice, wholebody GLUT4 transgenic mice have similar growth rate before 10 wk of age, lower blood glucose in the fasting, and lower insulin level in the fed state. The adipose tissue specific GLUT4 overex-pression increases body weight, glucose transport rate and adipose tissue weight. Data from both transgenic overexpression and tissue specific knockout of GLUT4 indicate that GLUT4 probably plays a role in the glucose uptake in the fasting state.

Citation: Wang TN, Hu XG, Chen GX. Uses of knockout, knockdown, and transgenic models in the studies of glucose transporter 4. *World J Meta-Anal* 2022; 10(1): 1-11 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/full/v10/i1/1.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.13105/wjma.v10.i1.1

INTRODUCTION

Genes in an organism are codes responsible for genetic traits. In most cases, genes usually exist in the form of nucleotide sequences. In a cell, the DNA sequence of a gene is first transcribed into mRNA, which serves as the template for protein translation. The newly synthesized proteins contribute to biological processes in an organism. To understand the biochemical, biophysical, and genetic functions of a given gene and its protein, recombinant DNA technologies have been developed and used extensively. Since 1970s, the discovery of restriction enzymes has facilitate the development of molecular cloning methods and allowed the manipulation of DNA sequences selectively and specifically to create novel recombinant molecules[1]. DNA fragments are inserted into vectors to form recombinant genetic materials for their replication, studies of gene functions and productions of recombinant proteins. The recombinant DNA technology was first used to study gene functions when the genes responsible for metabolism of galactose in E. coli were fused into the SV40 vector in 1972[2]. For the past few decades, procedures of molecular cloning have been simplified and standardized to construct recombinant DNA with various sizes for different purposes[3]. All these have been applied to generate transgenic organisms and produce recombinant proteins for the use in variety of research and clinical settings.

Glucose enters cells via a family of proteins called glucose transporters (GLUTs), which have 14 known members. Glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) encoded by SLC2A4 gene in human genome and Slc2a4 gene in others such as rodent genomes has 409 amino acid residues, and a Km value of 5 mmol/L for glucose^[4]. GLUT4 was first identified in a screen for the insulin-stimulated glucose transporter in cell membrane preparations of rat adipocytes using monoclonal antibodies against these membrane proteins[5]. Subsequently, Slc2a4 gene was cloned from rat adipose tissue, and is homologous with GLUT1, which is encoded by Slc2a1 gene[6-8]. GLUT4 is expressed in not only adipose and muscle cells, but also other tissues such as the heart and brain[9]. The N- and C- termini of GLUT4 are located in the cytoplasm and responsible for the insulin-mediated translocation from the cytosol to the cell membrane [10]. The current model is that insulin stimulates GLUT4 translocation from the intracellular locations to the plasma membrane, where it facilitates the glucose entry into cells[11]. In addition, exercise also stimulates the expression of SLC2A4 mRNA in the skeletal muscle and improves insulin sensitivity in human patients[12], which may be mediated by GLUT4[13]. Insulin-stimulated glucose transport is significantly impaired in the skeletal muscle of patients with type 2 diabetes[14]. Therefore, understanding the role of GLUT4 in the regulation of glucose homeostasis is critical for the prevention and treatment of type 2 diabetes.

Here, we summarize the recombinant DNA technologies used to study expression profiles and functions of GLUT4 in tissues and cells. Key words as indicated in the following sections were used to search PubMed. The title and abstracts of the retrieved articles were read by authors. Only the articles that contained descriptions of knockout, transgenic overexpression and knockdown molecular techniques, and confirmed gene or protein expression levels were chosen for further reading. The methods used to manipulate the expression levels of GLUT4 *in vivo* and *in vitro* and reported observations in retrieved studies were summarized here. This review may help researchers who are interested in the physiological functions of GLUT4 to have a clear understanding of the status.

Zaishideng® WJMA | https://www.wjgnet.com

THE COMMON MOLECULAR BIOLOGY TECHNIQUES TO STUDY GENE AND PROTEIN FUNCTIONS

The development of molecular cloning techniques allows isolation, generation, and production of DNA sequence independence of the species and organisms that carry the original sequences. DNA fragments isolated from genomes or created via polymerase chain reaction (PCR) are inserted into vectors that can replicate and express in the host cells, and in turn alter the genetic features of the host cells, tissues or organisms^[15]. PCR technique quickly produces large numbers of copies of a specific DNA fragment for sequencing analysis and molecular cloning. Cloning of a specific DNA sequence helps to explore the gene's biological functions, and to create large amounts of protein, such as growth hormone, insulin and clotting factors for therapeutic purposes[16]. In addition, a comparison of DNA sequences from different organisms can determine the evolutionary relationship within and between species, and functional domains of a gene. Recombinant DNA technologies can be used in gene therapies to treat diseases such as immunodeficiency diseases and metabolic disorders[17] and diagnosis of genetic diseases[18]. Genetically modified organisms or genetically engineered organisms can be created via alterations of the genetic sequences of the chromosome or insertions of the foreign DNA fragments into the genome to alter the phenotypes of the offspring[19].

Genes in plants, animals and microorganisms have been deleted or their expression levels have been knocked down to investigate their functions or treat genetic diseases clinically^[20]. Methods are developed to silence or remove the target gene, such as gene silencing, conditional knockout, homologous recombination, and gene editing[20]. Homologous recombination occurs when homologous recombinases (nucleases) recombine two linearized DNA fragments with the same terminal sequences to create a novel fragment for molecular manipulations^[21]. This makes accurate gene editing possible and becomes emerging tools in genetics^[22]. Zinc finger nucleases, transcription activator-like effector nucleases, and clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeat (CRISPR) are developed and shown differences in knockout efficiency, completion time, and off-target efficiency[20]. Each of these techniques uses a nuclease to introduce DNA double-strand breaks at the targeted locations with the guidance of homologous binding proteins or RNA[23]. Gene knockdown methods such as RNA-based RNA interference, small interfering RNA and short hairpin RNA (shRNA), and antisense oligonucleotides have been developed to inhibit protein expression[24]. RNA interference (RNAi) is triggered by double-stranded RNA and causes the sequence-specific mRNA degradation of the single-stranded target RNA^[25]. Small non-coding RNA molecules can also act to inhibit RNA translation^[26].

In addition to the change of gene expression, tagged proteins or fusion proteins with novel properties can be created using molecular biology tools[27]. Fusion or tagged proteins with two or more domains from different proteins can be easily obtained and purified for their uses in research and clinical treatments, detection of the expression levels, and visualization of the intracellular locations of the expressed proteins[27]. These have been used to create vaccines, multifunctional enzymes, targeted drugs, thrombolytics, antimicrobial peptides, *etc*[28].

MOLECULAR BIOLOGY TECHNIQUES USED IN THE STUDIES OF GLUT4

The identification of GLUT4 and cloning its gene^[29] have facilitated the studies of its tissue distribution, functions, the mechanisms responsible for its translocation, and the regulations of its protein and mRNA expressions in different cells. The tagged or fluorescent GLUT4 fusion proteins are used to study its intracellular trafficking. GLUT4 overexpression and knockdown, and Slc2a4 gene knockout in vitro and in vivo have been developed to study the insulin-stimulated GLUT4 translocation and glucose homeostasis, which contribute significantly to our understanding of the role of GLUT4[29]. To review the techniques of molecular biology in the study of GLUT4, "GLUT4, molecular biology" and "SLC2A4, molecular biology" as keywords were used to search the PubMed database to retrieve relevant articles. We have focused on the techniques used in Slc2a4 knockout, knockdown and transgenic studies, and results associated with the genetic changes in vivo and in vitro were analyzed and summarized here. As shown in Figure 1, Slc2a4 genes have been knocked out and GLUT4 protein has been overexpressed in the whole body and in specific tissues and cells. In addition, GLUT4 protein has been knocked down using shRNA, and its translocation has been studied using fusion or tagged proteins. Various methods such as in situ hybridization, fluorescent microscopy, immunohistochemistry, Western blotting for protein and Northern blot and real-time PCR for mRNA used to determine endogenous or transgenic GLUT4 expressions are also summarized in this review.

Whole-body and tissue specific SIc2a4 knockout studies

Slc2a4 mRNA expression is detected not only in brown and white adipose tissue, skeletal and cardiac muscle, but also in other tissues such as neurons[30]. To study GLUT4 functions, mice with the Slc2a4 deletion in the whole body or specific tissues or cells have been created. We searched PubMed to retrieve the original articles that initially reported the Slc2a4 deletions. Table 1 shows the techniques for creating knockouts, experimental animals, methods to confirm the gene deletion and expression, and



Table 1 Methods used to create whole body and tissue specific SIc2A4 knockout animals, tissues and animals studied, analytic methods included, and observations reported

Methods	Tissues/Animals	Analysis	Observations	Ref.
A construct with a disrupted mouse <i>Slc2a4</i> gene was electroporated into WW6/22 ES cells to create deletion, which were microinjected into C57B1/6 blastocysts	Skeletal muscle/GLUT4-null mice and wild-type control mice	Southern blot for DNA, Northern blot for mRNA, and Western blot for protein measurements	The <i>Slc2a4-/-</i> mice have normal glycemia, growth retardation, decreased longevity, cardiac hypertrophy, reduced adipose deposits, postprandial hyperinsulinemia, and lowered insulin sensitivity; The male <i>Slc2a4-/-</i> mice have lower and higher blood glucose levels than the controls in fasted and fed states, respectively	[31]
GLUT4-loxP mice were crossed with a-MHC promoter-driven Cre	Heart/Cardiac-selective <i>Slc2a4-/</i> -deletion mice (G4H-/- mice) and control mice	Southern blotting and PCR for DNA, and Western blot for GLUT4 levels using various antisera	G4H-/- mice have modest cardiac hypertrophy, normal life span and serum levels of insulin, glucose, FFAs, lactate, and β -hydroxybutyrate, increased basal cardiac glucose transport and GLUT1 expression, and abolished insulin-stimulated cardiac glucose uptake	[33]
GLUT4loxP mice as shown in [33] were crossed with the muscle CK promoter driven Cre transgenic mice to obtain Muscle-G4KO	Skeletal muscle/Muscle-G4KO mice and heterozygous <i>Slc2a4</i> deletion mice in the 129SV and C57Bl/6J background	Reverse transcription-PCR for mRNA, and Western blot for GLUT4 protein (anti-GLUT4 AB1346)	Muscle-G4KO mice show a reduction in basal and near-absence of insulin- or contraction-stimulated glucose transport, showing; severe insulin resistance and glucose intolerance from an early age	[34]
GLUT4-null mice were crossed with transgenic mice expressing GLUT 4 driven by MLC promoter[55] to create MLC-GLUT4-null mice	EDL and soleus muscle/MLC- GLUT4-null mice having GLUT4 in the fast-twitch EDL muscle, GLUT4 null mice, and control mice	Western blot for GLUT4 protein (rabbit polyclonal antiserum)	MLC-GLUT4-null mice have less GLUT4 in WAT (females only) and soleus muscle, adipose tissue deposits, adipocyte size, and plasma free fatty acid levels in the fed state than the controls. Glucose uptake in the EDL, but not in the soleus, muscle is restored to normal in male and above normal in female MLC-GLUT4-null mice	[32]
GLUT4-loxP mice were crossed with aP2-driven Cre transgenic mic to obtain G4A- /- mice	Adipose tissue/G4A-/-, and control mice	Western blot for GLUT4 protein in BAT and WAT tissues	G4A-/- mice show impaired insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in adipocytes, glucose intolerance, hyperinsulinemia, and insulin resistance in the muscle and liver	[35]
The G4A-/- mice[35] were crossed with the muscle- G4KO mice[34] to generate AMG4KO mice	Adipose tissue and skeletal muscle/G4A-/-, muscle- G4KO, and AMG4KO mice	Western blot for GLUT4 protein using antibodies from H. Haspel in the Charles River Laboratory	AMG4KO mice develop fasting hyperglycemia and glucose intolerance and are at risk for greater insulin resistance than mice lacking GLUT4 in only one tissue	[37]
The neuron-specific Nestin promoter-driven Cre transgenic mice were crossed with GLUT4-loxP mice (FVB strain) to obtainBG4KO mice	Whole brain/BG4KO and control mice	Western blot for GLUT4 protein in the brain using antibody from Chemicon	BG4KO mice have glucose intolerance, insulin resistance, and impaired glucose sensing, suggesting that the brain GLUT4 may sense and respond to glucose	[<mark>36</mark>]

α-MHC: α-myosin heavy-chain; AMG4KO: Adipose/muscle-GLUT4 double knockout; BAT: Brown adipose tissue; BG4KO: Brain-specific GLUT4 knockout; Cre: Cre recombinase; CK: Creatine kinase; ES: Embryo stem; EDL: Extensor digitorum longus; GLUT4: Glucose transporter 4; G4A-/-: Adipose tissue-specific GLUT4 knockout; GLUT4-loxP: Slc2a4 allele with exon 10 flanked by loxP sites; G4KO: GLUT4 knock out; MLC: Myosin light chain; Ref: References; WAT: White adipose tissue.

> observations. In the end, seven representative articles that the research groups generated a specific knockout model to study GLUT4 and clearly described the methods of GLUT4 deletion are summarized here as shown in Table 1. The animal models were also used by many other groups.

> In1995, the mouse Slc2a4 locus was disrupted using homologous recombination in embryonic stem cells which generated mice without GLUT4 expression (GLUT4-null) in the whole body[31]. The GLUT4-null mice showed growth retardation, enlarged hearts and complete lack of the white adipose tissue[31]. GLUT4-null mice have normal glucose tolerance and basal glucose turnover rates. However, they are insulin intolerant, suggesting insulin resistance. Later on, the GLUT4-null mice[31] have been used to create mice expressing GLUT4 specifically in the extensor digitorum longus muscle[32].

> Tissue specific GLUT4 knockout mice have been created by crossing mice carrying a Slc2a4 allele with exon 10 flanked by loxP sites with those carrying Cre gene expression driven by tissue specific promoters[33-36]. The various phenotypes of these knockout mice help us to understand the roles of GLUT4 in different tissues and glucose metabolism. For example, the muscle-specific GLUT4 knockout mice (muscle-G4KO) were created by breeding mice carrying the Slc2a4 exon 10 flanked by loxP sites with mice carrying a transgene encoding Cre recombinase under the control of the muscle creatine kinase promoter[34]. Compared with GLUT4-null mice, muscle-G4KO mice have normal body weight and fat pad weight at least before 6 mo of age[34]. The skeletal muscle mass is also normal. The increase in heart weight is consistent with GLUT4-null mice[31] and cardiac-G4KO mice[33]. Compared with the shortened lifespan of GLUT4-null mice, the life span of muscle-G4KO mice is normal. In contrast to GLUT4-null mice and cardiac-G4KO mice, adipose-G4KO mice[35] are similar to muscle-G4KO mice.



DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i1.1 Copyright © The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 1 Recombinant DNA technologies used in the study of glucose transporter 4 functions and its translocation mechanism. Slc2a4 gene is transcribed into mRNA, which is translated into glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) protein. The binding of insulin to its receptor leads to the activation of insulin signaling system, which facilitates the movement of GLUT4 from its intracellular location to the cell membrane, and in turn the entry of glucose in the cells. Recombinant DNA technologies have been used to alter gene expression level (1), reduce mRNA translation (2) and tracing intracellular movement of GLUT4 protein (3). 1. Slc2a4 gene has been deleted in the whole body via homologous recombination and in individual tissues or cells via Cre-LoxP system driven by tissue specific promoters. In addition, transgenic overexpression of GLUT4 in whole body or specific tissues and cells has been done using mini gene or SLC2A4 cDNA driven by different promoters, respectively. 2. The GLUT4 protein is knocked down using short-hairpin RNA under the control of different promoters to interfere the translation process. 3. Fusion or tagged GLUT4 has been created to study the insulin-stimulated GLUT4 translocation mechanism using fluorescent microscopy, and immune assays.

> However, adipose-G4KO mice have glucose intolerance[35]. Interestingly, unlike other GLUT4 knockout mice, the heart weight of adipose-G4KO mice is normal.

> In addition, adipose and muscle Slc2a4 double knockout (AMG4KO) mice are also created by crossing the respective tissue knockout mice[37]. Interestingly, these AMG4KO mice develop hyperglycemia in the fasting state[37]. It appears that GLUT4 also plays a role in a physiological condition that does not need the insulin-stimulated glucose uptake.

GLUT4 knockdown studies

The deletion of a gene completely stops the genetic information flow. Another way to block the protein expression is to knockdown a gene's expression, which temporarily stops or reduces the expression of the targeted gene. Unlike knockout, gene knockdown involves the methods interfering with RNA molecules (mRNA or non-coding RNA) that bridges DNA and proteins. "GLUT4, knockdown" and " SLC2A4, knockdown" as keywords were used to search the PubMed database to retrieve relevant articles. Table 2 summarizes the methods of knockdown and confirmation, cells used, observations of GLUT4 knockdown studies.

Recently, RNAi has emerged as a powerful tool for the study of gene function in mammalian cells [38]. After transfection, the shRNAs molecules are transcribed under promoters in constructs that drive the RNA synthesis within the targeted cells. Oligo nucleotides with sequences of shRNAs may be transfected directly into the cells[38]. In all studies summarized in Table 2, shRNAs method is used to achieve GLUT4 knockdown[39-41], which is delivered via recombinant retroviruses. Two of three studies investigated the roles of GLUT4 in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. It appears that GLUT4 expression is needed for the lipogenesis after differentiation in 3T3-L1 cells, but not necessary for lipogenesis during differentiation[41]. In addition, the insulin-regulated aminopeptidase trafficking is not always associated with the GLUT4 movement[40].

Transgenic studies

We have used key words "GLUT4 transgenic" (314 hits) and "GLUT4 overexpression" (609 hit) to search PubMed to retrieve GLUT4 transgenic studies. After going through the titles or abstracts containing "GLUT4 overexpression and GLUT4 transgenic", we found 15 papers that have described their original methods or clearly cited the methods used by them, confirmed the GLUT4 overexpression in mice and provided results. Table 3 summarizes the techniques used to overexpress GLUT4, the methods to confirm the expression and results observed in those animals.

In 1992, a 2.4-kb fragment of 5' flanking DNA of human SLC2A4 promoter fused with the bacterial chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (CAT) as a reporter construct was developed and used to show the SLC2A4 expression profile in mice[42]. In 1993, an 11.5-kb SLC2A4 mini gene in pHSS6 vector was created and used to overexpress human GLUT4 in the whole body of mice [43]. As shown in Table 3, the



Table 2 Methods used to knockdown glucose transporter 4 and analyze its expression in cell lines, and reported observations										
Methods	Cells	Analysis	Observations	Ref.						
Recombinant lentivirus was used to express shRNA based on <i>SLC2A4</i> sequence (NM_001042.3)	Human head and neck squamous cancer cell lines, HSC-2	Western blot for GLUT4 protein using antibody from Epitomics	The knockdown of GLUT4 expression in HSC-2 cells induced DDX58 and OASL protein expressions, and reduced cell migration in culture	[39]						
pSIREN RetroQ system was used to obtain recombinant retroviruses that produce shRNAs corresponding to mouse <i>Slc2a4</i> sequence GGTGATTGAACAGAGCTAC (GenBank ID was not provided)	3T3-L1 adipocytes	Immunofluorescence of phase-contrast and epifluorescence images for GLUT4 protein using antibodies (rabbit anti- GLUT4, a gift from Dr. Sam Cushman (National Institutes of Health)	GLUT4 knockdown does not affect IRAP trafficking, showing that IRAP traffics is independent of GLUT4	[40]						
Recombinant lentivirus was used to generate shRNA under the control of human H1-RNA promoter using the mouse <i>Slc2a4</i> mRNA sequence (GenBank ID not provided)	3T3-L1 adipocytes	Immunofluorescence microscopy and Western blot for GLUT4 using rabbit polyclonal antibody from Chemicon International Inc	GLUT4 knockdown in 3T3-L1 adipocytes reduces insulin- stimulated glucose uptake by 50%- 60%, IRAP expression of depending on differentiation stage, and lipogenic capacity of differentiated, but not differentiating cells	[41]						

DDX58: DExD/H-Box Helicase 58; GLUT4: Glucose transporter 4; IRAP: Insulin-regulated aminopeptidase; OASL: 2'-5'-Oligoadenylate Synthetase Like; Ref: References; shRNA: Short hairpin RNA.

> mouse line containing the 11.5-kb mini gene has been used in seven out of eight papers testing the effects of overexpression of human GLUT4 in the mouse whole body on metabolism[43-49]. CAT activity, SLC2A4 mRNA and/or GLUT4 protein level in adipose tissue and skeletal muscle and other tissues have been analyzed to confirm the success of transgenic expression[43,44]. In general, the wholebody human GLUT4 overexpression reduces blood glucose in both fasting and fed states and increased glucose uptake in mice, but affects the blood insulin level in wild type mice and diabetic mice differentially[44]. Whole body GLUT4 overexpression does not alter body weight, but can reduce blood glucose level and affect serum insulin level.

> GLUT4 has been overexpressed in a tissue specific manner as shows in Table 4. Majority of the studies have been focused on adipose tissues[50-54]. There is one for the skeletal muscle[55] and one for adipocytes[56]. A 6.3-kb genomic DNA fragment of human SLC2A4 gene driven by the mouse ap2[50] promoter has been used to overexpress GLUT4 in mouse adipose tissues. This method was first published in 1993[50] and was used in many other studies in the genetic settings of wild-type and diabetic mice[51-54]. Like the papers summarized in Table 3, a human SLC2A4 gene under a tissuespecific promoter was used to overexpress GLUT4. Human SLC2A4 cDNA was also used to overexpress GLUT4 in adipocytes [56], but mouse *Slc2a4* gene was used to express GLUT4 in the hindlimb muscle [55]. All adipose tissue specific GLUT4 overexpression studies [50-55] tested the SLC2A4 mRNA or GLUT4 protein level to confirm GLUT4 expression, which is found to be expressed in both brown and white adipose tissues. In conclusion, adipose tissue specific GLUT4 overexpression in mice can cause increases in body and adipose tissue weights [50,51]. The adipose tissue specific GLUT4 transgenic mice also have higher glucose disposal rate, may be caused by increased basal and insulin-stimulated glucose transport rate. It is interesting to find out that the elevated expression of GLUT4 in the adipose tissue only can increase glucose transport rate and adipose tissue weight, which is associated with the significant increase in body weight, suggesting the importance of GLUT4 expression in adipose tissue.

CONCLUSION

Conclusion and future perspectives

As summarized in this review, methods such as whole body and tissue specific gene knockout, recombinant viruses, real-time PCR, immunofluorescence, stable cell line and transgenic animals have been used to study GLUT4 system and insulin action in different target cells and tissues. The advantages of using multiple molecular biology methods allow us to confirm the functions of GLUT4 for insulin-stimulated glucose transport in different cells and tissues, and in the regulation of wholebody glucose homeostasis. Interestingly, GLUT4-null mice which do not have a functional Slc2a4 gene in the whole genome have normal glucose tolerance and basal glucose turnover rates, but they are insulin-intolerant which suggests insulin resistance[31]. AMG4KO mice (adipose and muscle double knockout) have reduced whole body glucose uptake and hyperglycemia[37]. Compared with GLUT4null mice, AMG4KO mice have more severe glucose homeostasis defects. Although the explanation for this difference is not clear, differences in genetic background and differences in developmental stages, where GLUT4 is deleted have been proposed. More importantly, the hyperglycemia in these double



Table 3 The transgenic studies	using the SLC2A4 mini gene and its p	fromoter for the whole-body expression in mice	
Transgenic constructs	Analysis	Observations	Ref.
A 11.5-kb mini gene of human SLC2A4 starts with a 5.3-kb fragment upstream of transcription start and terminates within exon 10 of the gene followed by the bacterial CAT in pHSS6 vector	RNase protection assay and Western blot were used for SLC2A4 mRNA and GLUT4 protein in BAT, WAT, heart and skeleton muscle, respectively	The transgene expression was detected in WAT and BAT, heart and skeleton muscle of mice. Female transgenic mice have higher GLUT4 protein in the adipose tissue and less <i>SLC2A4</i> mRNA in skeleton muscle than male ones. Transgenic mice have higher GLUT4 protein level in adipose tissue, liver, heart and skeleton muscle than the controls	[43]
The 11.5-kb minigene with the CAT reporter as shown in[43]	Reverse transcription PCR was used to measure <i>SLC2A4</i> mRNA in cardiac and hindquarter muscle, BAT and WAT. Immunofluorescent test was for GLUT4 translocation	Transgenic mice gained more weight after 15 wk old of age, and have lower blood glucose in both fasting and fed states, lower insulin level in fasting and higher after refeeding, and higher glycogen contents, GLUT4 translocation in cardiac and skeleton muscle than the control mice	[44]
The 11.5 kb minigene with the CAT reporter as shown in[43]	Western blot was used to detect GLUT4 in gastrocnemius muscles	Transgenic mice have lower serum glucose level in both fasting and fed state, higher insulin level during fasting and lower after fed than the control ones	[45]
The 11.5 kb minigene with the CAT reporter as shown in[43]	Western blot was used to detect GLUT4 in the heart	Transgenic mice have higher glucose uptake, glycolysis and glycogen content, and lower insulin-stimulated glycolysis rate and glycogen synthesis in the heart than the control ones. Glucose and fatty acid oxidation remain the same	[<u>46</u>]
The 11.5 kb minigene with the CAT reporter as shown in[43]	Immunofluorescence was used to detect GLUT4 in cardiac myocytes and adipocytes	Transgenic mice have similar body weight, and epididymal adipose tissue weight and adipocyte size as the controls. Transgenic mice have higher levels of triglycerides, β -hydroxybutyrate and free fatty acids, and parametrial fat weight and lower glucose level after an oral glucose challenge and insulin level after an insulin injection than the controls. The insulin-stimulated glucose uptake is impaired in transgenic mice	[47]
A 2.4-kb of 5' flanking DNA fragment of human <i>SLC2A4</i> promoter fused with the CAT as a reporter construct	CAT activity assay and RNase protection assay were used to detect promoter activation and mRNA, respectively	In transgenic mice, CAT activity can be detected in the tissues that generally express GLUT4, including BAT and WAT, and smooth, skeleton and cardiac muscle, but not the liver	[42]
A 2.4-kb of 5' flanking DNA of human <i>SLC2A4</i> promoter fused to CAT as shown in[42]	Western blot was used to detect GLUT4 in adipose and skeleton muscle tissues	Transgenic mice have slower rise of blood glucose (no difference in glucose and insulin levels) during pentobarbital sodium anesthesia, and higher glucose infusion rate (40% increase) during hyper insulinemic euglycemic clamp than the controls	[48]
A 2.4-kb of 5 flanking DNA of human <i>SLC2A4</i> promoter fused to CAT as shown in[42]	Only cited previous publications[42]	Transgenic mice have lower blood glucose, higher lactate and β -hydroxybutyrate levels during both fasting and fed states, and better glucose transport in the soleus muscle when fed a high-fat and high-sugar diet than the controls	[49]

BAT: Brown adipose tissue; CAT: Chloramphenicol acetyltransferase; GLUT4: Glucose transporter 4; Ref: References; WAT: White adipose tissue.

knockout mice develops in the fasting state, rather than fed state[37]. This phenomenon appears to indicate that GLUT4 plays an important role in the control of glucose homeostasis during fasting, a state that insulin level is low. The translational value of these observations is that GLUT4's physiological role from the integrated homeostatic point of view may be extended beyond the insulin-stimulated glucose uptake. Of course, more studies are warranted on this line of research.

On the other hand, the GLUT4 knockdown studies used the shRNAs method and have been done in cell lines to reduce GLUT4 expression. This may be helpful for us to understand the GLUT4 functions and the underlying mechanisms in particular cells. It appears that GLUT4 expression is not necessary for lipogenesis during 3T3-L1 cells differentiation. Apparently, it will be helpful when more GLUT4 knockdown studies are done in animals.

The GLUT4 overexpression in transgenic mice at wholebody level reduces blood glucose in both fasting and fed states and increased glucose uptake, glycolysis and glycogen level[44]. Compared to the control mice, overexpression of GLUT4 in adipose tissue in mice leads to lowered blood glucose in the fasting state, and increase in body weight and adipose tissue weight[50]. The expression of GLUT4 in adipose tissue and skeleton muscle affects the rate of whole-body glucose disposal, which may be caused by increased basal and insulin-stimulated glucose transport rates. This lowered blood glucose level in the transgenic mice also indicates that GLUT4 probably plays a role in the basal glucose uptake.

For the tissue specific GLUT4 knockout, Cre-loxP-mediated gene recombination under the control of promoters has been the main method to delete Slc2a4 gene. Since the development of CRISPR technology, it has not been used to knockout *Slc2a4* in whole body or tissues, which is a limitation in the field. We have used "GLUT4" and "CRISPR", and "SLC2A4" and "CRISPR" as key words to search PubMed, and retrieved eight and two published articles, respectively. However, none of the published articles used the CRISPR methods to knockout SLC2A4 or Slc2A4 gene in cells or animals. All of them used CRISPR methods to study the components in the exocytosis process of GLUT4 translocation. As



Table 4 Recombinant DNA techniques to create tissue specific glucose transporter 4 overexpression in animals and cells, analysis performed, and observations reported

Techniques	Tissue/analysis	Observations	Ref.
A 6.3-kb genomic DNA fragment of human <i>SLC2A4</i> gene is under the control of a 5.4-kb' DNA fragment of mouse ap2 promoter using Gateway cloning	Adipose-specific overexpression/ Western blot was used to detect GLUT4 in BAT and WAT	Transgenic mice have lower glucose level in the fasting, insulin level in the fed state, higher body weight and body fat at 18 to 21 wk of age, and higher basal and insulin-stimulated glucose transport rates in epididymal, parametrial, and subcutaneous adipocytes than the controls	[50]
Same as in[50]	Adipose-specific overexpression/Only cited previous publications[50]	Transgenic mice have higher body weight, parametrial fat pad weight and adipocyte size, and glucose transport in both fasting and fed states, and lower plasma insulin and glucose levels after a glucose challenge than the controls	[51]
Same as in[50]	Adipose-specific overexpression/Only cited previous publications[50]	Transgenic mice have higher glucose disposal rate in a glucose tolerance test, and palmitic acid-hydroxy stearic acid levels in serum, WAT and BAT than the controls	[52]
Same as in[50]	Adipose-specific overexpression/Western blot was used to detect GLUT4 in BAT and WAT	Transgenic mice fed a high-fat diet have higher glucose disposal rate than those fed a low-fat diet, and stable GLUT4 expression in fat and no increase in body fat	[53]
Same as in[50]	Adipose-specific overexpression/Western blot was used to detect GLUT4 in BAT and WAT	Transgenic mice have higher gonadal adipose weight, basal and maximum insulin stimulated glucose transport in isolated adipocytes, glucose transport rate, triglyceride synthesis and CO_2 production than the controls	[54]
A 4.5-kb DNA fragment of the mouse <i>Slc4a2</i> gene is under the control of a 3-kb fragment of the mouse myosin light chain gene promoter	Hindlimb muscle overexpression/Northern blot and Western blot were used to detect <i>Slc4a</i> 2mRNA and GLUT4 in different tissues respectively	Transgenic mice have higher basal and insulin- stimulated glucose uptake and turnover, higher glycogen content in the skeleton muscle, higher insulin sensitivity, higher levels of free fatty acid and ketone in both fasting and fed state, and lower fasting glucose level than the controls	[55]
The human <i>SLC2A4</i> cDNA is driven by the CMV promoter in pCIS2 vector	Rat adipocytes overexpression/Immunofluorescence was used to detect GLUT4 overexpression	Rat adipose cell transfected with the GLUT4 construct had significantly higher antibody binding after insulin stimulation than the control cells	[56]

BAT: Brown adipose tissue; CMV: Cytomegalovirus; GLUT4: Glucose transporter 4; Ref: References; WAT: White adipose tissue.

CRISPR has been developed and used widely, GLUT4 knockout/knockdown through this system may be worth to be done. This may provide us another tool to manipulate the GLUT4 expression in the whole body or in tissue specific manners.

In addition, results of glucose tolerance are different between mice with whole body and tissue specific GLUT4 knockout. Therefore, whether the loss of GLUT4 in a specific tissue (muscle or fat) or the expression of GLUT4 in other tissues without gene deletion plays a role in this difference is worth to be investigated. It is safe to say that more research works are anticipated in the future to precisely define the role of GLUT4 in the control of glucose homeostasis at whole body and tissue levels. In so doing, we develop effective ways to prevent and treat type 2 diabetes mellitus.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Chen GX was responsible for the design of the topics; Wang TN and Hu XG were responsible for PubMed search and information collection; Wang TN, Hu XG and Chen GX were responsible for writing.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors confirmed that there is no conflict-of-interest to be reported.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Tian-Nan Wang 0000-0001-5584-3628; Xin-Ge Hu 0000-0002-3253-7537; Guo-Xun Chen 0000-0001-6226-



4050.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: A P-Editor: Liu JH

REFERENCES

- 1 Nathans D, Smith HO. Restriction endonucleases in the analysis and restructuring of dna molecules. Annu Rev Biochem 1975; **44**: 273-293 [PMID: 166604 DOI: 10.1146/annurev.bi.44.070175.001421]
- Jackson DA, Symons RH, Berg P. Biochemical method for inserting new genetic information into DNA of Simian Virus 2 40: circular SV40 DNA molecules containing lambda phage genes and the galactose operon of Escherichia coli. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1972; 69: 2904-2909 [PMID: 4342968 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.69.10.2904]
- Yoon BK, Kim JW. How to Begin Molecular Research of Metabolic Diseases. Endocrinol Metab (Seoul) 2016; 31: 505-509 [PMID: 28029022 DOI: 10.3803/EnM.2016.31.4.505]
- Huang S, Czech MP. The GLUT4 glucose transporter. Cell Metab 2007; 5: 237-252 [PMID: 17403369 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2007.03.006
- 5 Elbrink J, Bihler I. Membrane Transport: Its Relation to Cellular Metabolic Rates: Glucose transport into animal cells is adapted to their metabolic rate and often controls rates of glucose use. Science 1975; 188: 1177-84
- Birnbaum MJ, Identification of a novel gene encoding an insulin-responsive glucose transporter protein. Cell 1989; 57: 305-315 [PMID: 2649253 DOI: 10.1016/0092-8674(89)90968-9]
- 7 Bell GI, Murray JC, Nakamura Y, Kayano T, Eddy RL, Fan YS, Byers MG, Shows TB. Polymorphic human insulinresponsive glucose-transporter gene on chromosome 17p13. Diabetes 1989; 38: 1072-1075 [PMID: 2568955 DOI: 10.2337/diab.38.8.1072
- James DE, Strube M, Mueckler M. Molecular cloning and characterization of an insulin-regulatable glucose transporter. Nature 1989; 338: 83-87 [PMID: 2645527 DOI: 10.1038/338083a0]
- Wang T, Wang J, Hu X, Huang XJ, Chen GX. Current understanding of glucose transporter 4 expression and functional 9 mechanisms. World J Biol Chem 2020; 11: 76-98 [PMID: 33274014 DOI: 10.4331/wjbc.v11.i3.76]
- Vargas E, Podder V, Carrillo Sepulveda MA. Physiology, Glucose Transporter Type 4. 2021 May 9. In: StatPearls 10 [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2022 Jan- [PMID: 30726007]
- Thorens B, Mueckler M. Glucose transporters in the 21st Century. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2010; 298: E141-E145 11 [PMID: 20009031 DOI: 10.1152/ajpendo.00712.2009]
- Bryant NJ, Govers R, James DE. Regulated transport of the glucose transporter GLUT4. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2002; 3: 12 267-277 [PMID: 11994746 DOI: 10.1038/nrm782]
- 13 Shepherd PR, Kahn BB. Glucose transporters and insulin action--implications for insulin resistance and diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med 1999; 341: 248-257 [PMID: 10413738 DOI: 10.1056/nejm199907223410406]
- 14 Andréasson K, Galuska D, Thörne A, Sonnenfeld T, Wallberg-Henriksson H. Decreased insulin-stimulated 3-0methylglucose transport in in vitro incubated muscle strips from type II diabetic subjects. Acta Physiol Scand 1991; 142: 255-260 [PMID: 1877373 DOI: 10.1111/j.1748-1716.1991.tb09154.x]
- 15 Lee J, Arun Kumar S, Jhan YY, Bishop CJ. Engineering DNA vaccines against infectious diseases. Acta Biomater 2018; 80: 31-47 [PMID: 30172933 DOI: 10.1016/j.actbio.2018.08.033]
- 16 Zhang YP, Sun J, Ma Y. Biomanufacturing: history and perspective. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 2017; 44: 773-784 [PMID: 27837351 DOI: 10.1007/s10295-016-1863-2]
- 17 Khan S, Ullah MW, Siddique R, Nabi G, Manan S, Yousaf M, Hou H. Role of Recombinant DNA Technology to Improve Life. Int J Genomics 2016; 2016: 2405954 [PMID: 28053975 DOI: 10.1155/2016/2405954]
- 18 Raymond FL, Whittaker J, Jenkins L, Lench N, Chitty LS. Molecular prenatal diagnosis: the impact of modern technologies. Prenat Diagn 2010; 30: 674-681 [PMID: 20572117 DOI: 10.1002/pd.2575]
- Gordon JW, Ruddle FH. Integration and stable germ line transmission of genes injected into mouse pronuclei. Science 19 1981; 214: 1244-1246 [PMID: 6272397 DOI: 10.1126/science.6272397]
- Bennett EP, Petersen BL, Johansen IE, Niu Y, Yang Z, Chamberlain CA, Met Ö, Wandall HH, Frödin M. INDEL 20 detection, the 'Achilles heel' of precise genome editing: a survey of methods for accurate profiling of gene editing induced indels. Nucleic Acids Res 2020; 48: 11958-11981 [PMID: 33170255 DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkaa975]
- 21 Jacobus AP, Gross J. Optimal cloning of PCR fragments by homologous recombination in Escherichia coli. PLoS One 2015; 10: e0119221 [PMID: 25774528 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0119221]
- Li H, Yang Y, Hong W, Huang M, Wu M, Zhao X. Applications of genome editing technology in the targeted therapy of 22 human diseases: mechanisms, advances and prospects. Signal Transduct Target Ther 2020; 5: 1 [PMID: 32296011 DOI: 10.1038/s41392-019-0089-y
- LaFountaine JS, Fathe K, Smyth HD. Delivery and therapeutic applications of gene editing technologies ZFNs, TALENs, 23 and CRISPR/Cas9. Int J Pharm 2015; 494: 180-194 [PMID: 26278489 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.08.029]
- 24 Behlke M. Mini-review on current strategies to knockdown long non-coding RNAs. J Rare Dis Res Treat 2016; 1: 66-70 [DOI: 10.29245/2572-9411/2016/3.1066]
- Winkle M, El-Daly SM, Fabbri M, Calin GA. Noncoding RNA therapeutics challenges and potential solutions. Nat Rev 25 Drug Discov 2021; 20: 629-651 [PMID: 34145432 DOI: 10.1038/s41573-021-00219-z]
- Paul S, Bravo Vázquez LA, Uribe SP, Manzanero Cárdenas LA, Ruíz Aguilar MF, Chakraborty S, Sharma A. Roles of 26 microRNAs in carbohydrate and lipid metabolism disorders and their therapeutic potential. Biochimie 2021; 187: 83-93 [PMID: 34082043 DOI: 10.1016/j.biochi.2021.05.015]



- 27 Kant Bhatia S, Vivek N, Kumar V, Chandel N, Thakur M, Kumar D, Yang YH, Pugazendhi A, Kumar G. Molecular biology interventions for activity improvement and production of industrial enzymes. Bioresour Technol 2021; 324: 124596 [PMID: 33440311 DOI: 10.1016/j.biortech.2020.124596]
- Costa S, Almeida A, Castro A, Domingues L. Fusion tags for protein solubility, purification and immunogenicity in Escherichia coli: the novel Fh8 system. Front Microbiol 2014; 5: 63 [PMID: 24600443 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00063]
- 29 Huang S, Czech MP. The GLUT4 glucose transporter. Cell Metab 2007; 5: 237-252 [PMID: 17403369 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2007.03.006
- Charron MJ, Katz EB, Olson AL. GLUT4 gene regulation and manipulation. J Biol Chem 1999; 274: 3253-3256 [PMID: 30 9920861 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.274.6.3253]
- Katz EB, Stenbit AE, Hatton K, DePinho R, Charron MJ. Cardiac and adipose tissue abnormalities but not diabetes in mice 31 deficient in GLUT4. Nature 1995; 377: 151-155 [PMID: 7675081 DOI: 10.1038/377151a0]
- 32 Tsao TS, Stenbit AE, Li J, Houseknecht KL, Zierath JR, Katz EB, Charron MJ. Muscle-specific transgenic complementation of GLUT4-deficient mice. Effects on glucose but not lipid metabolism. J Clin Invest 1997; 100: 671-677 [PMID: 9239415 DOI: 10.1172/jci119579]
- Abel ED, Kaulbach HC, Tian R, Hopkins JC, Duffy J, Doetschman T, Minnemann T, Boers ME, Hadro E, Oberste-33 Berghaus C, Quist W, Lowell BB, Ingwall JS, Kahn BB. Cardiac hypertrophy with preserved contractile function after selective deletion of GLUT4 from the heart. J Clin Invest 1999; 104: 1703-1714 [PMID: 10606624 DOI: 10.1172/JCI7605]
- 34 Zisman A, Peroni OD, Abel ED, Michael MD, Mauvais-Jarvis F, Lowell BB, Wojtaszewski JF, Hirshman MF, Virkamaki A, Goodyear LJ, Kahn CR, Kahn BB. Targeted disruption of the glucose transporter 4 selectively in muscle causes insulin resistance and glucose intolerance. Nat Med 2000; 6: 924-928 [PMID: 10932232 DOI: 10.1038/78693]
- 35 Abel ED, Peroni O, Kim JK, Kim YB, Boss O, Hadro E, Minnemann T, Shulman GI, Kahn BB. Adipose-selective targeting of the GLUT4 gene impairs insulin action in muscle and liver. Nature 2001; 409: 729-733 [PMID: 11217863] DOI: 10.1038/35055575]
- Reno CM, Puente EC, Sheng Z, Daphna-Iken D, Bree AJ, Routh VH, Kahn BB, Fisher SJ. Brain GLUT4 Knockout Mice Have Impaired Glucose Tolerance, Decreased Insulin Sensitivity, and Impaired Hypoglycemic Counterregulation. Diabetes 2017; 66: 587-597 [PMID: 27797912 DOI: 10.2337/db16-0917]
- Kotani K, Peroni OD, Minokoshi Y, Boss O, Kahn BB. GLUT4 glucose transporter deficiency increases hepatic lipid 37 production and peripheral lipid utilization. J Clin Invest 2004; 114: 1666-1675 [PMID: 15578099 DOI: 10.1172/jci21341]
- Moore CB, Guthrie EH, Huang MT, Taxman DJ. Short hairpin RNA (shRNA): design, delivery, and assessment of gene 38 knockdown. Methods Mol Biol 2010; 629: 141-158 [PMID: 20387148 DOI: 10.1007/978-1-60761-657-3_10]
- Chang YC, Chi LH, Chang WM, Su CY, Lin YF, Chen CL, Chen MH, Chang PM, Wu AT, Hsiao M. Glucose transporter 39 4 promotes head and neck squamous cell carcinoma metastasis through the TRIM24-DDX58 axis. J Hematol Oncol 2017; 10: 11 [PMID: 28061796 DOI: 10.1186/s13045-016-0372-0]
- Jordens I, Molle D, Xiong W, Keller SR, McGraw TE. Insulin-regulated aminopeptidase is a key regulator of GLUT4 40 trafficking by controlling the sorting of GLUT4 from endosomes to specialized insulin-regulated vesicles. Mol Biol Cell 2010; 21: 2034-2044 [PMID: 20410133 DOI: 10.1091/mbc.e10-02-0158]
- Liao W, Nguyen MT, Imamura T, Singer O, Verma IM, Olefsky JM. Lentiviral short hairpin ribonucleic acid-mediated 41 knockdown of GLUT4 in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Endocrinology 2006; 147: 2245-2252 [PMID: 16497797 DOI: 10.1210/en.2005-1638]
- Liu ML, Olson AL, Moye-Rowley WS, Buse JB, Bell GI, Pessin JE. Expression and regulation of the human 42 GLUT4/muscle-fat facilitative glucose transporter gene in transgenic mice. J Biol Chem 1992; 267: 11673-11676 [PMID: 1601840
- Olson AL, Liu ML, Moye-Rowley WS, Buse JB, Bell GI, Pessin JE. Hormonal/metabolic regulation of the human 43 GLUT4/muscle-fat facilitative glucose transporter gene in transgenic mice. J Biol Chem 1993; 268: 9839-9846 [PMID: 8486663
- Gibbs EM, Stock JL, McCoid SC, Stukenbrok HA, Pessin JE, Stevenson RW, Milici AJ, McNeish JD. Glycemic 44 improvement in diabetic db/db mice by overexpression of the human insulin-regulatable glucose transporter (GLUT4). J Clin Invest 1995; 95: 1512-1518 [PMID: 7706456 DOI: 10.1172/jci117823]
- Brozinick JT Jr, McCoid SC, Reynolds TH, Wilson CM, Stevenson RW, Cushman SW, Gibbs EM. Regulation of cell surface GLUT4 in skeletal muscle of transgenic mice. Biochem J 1997; 321 (Pt 1): 75-81 [PMID: 9003403 DOI: 10.1042/bj3210075
- 46 Belke DD, Larsen TS, Gibbs EM, Severson DL. Glucose metabolism in perfused mouse hearts overexpressing human GLUT-4 glucose transporter. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2001; 280: E420-E427 [PMID: 11171596 DOI: 10.1152/ajpendo.2001.280.3.E420]
- Liu ML, Gibbs EM, McCoid SC, Milici AJ, Stukenbrok HA, McPherson RK, Treadway JL, Pessin JE. Transgenic mice 47 expressing the human GLUT4/muscle-fat facilitative glucose transporter protein exhibit efficient glycemic control. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1993; 90: 11346-11350 [PMID: 8248251 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.90.23.11346]
- Marshall BA, Mueckler MM. Differential effects of GLUT-1 or GLUT-4 overexpression on insulin responsiveness in transgenic mice. Am J Physiol 1994; 267: E738-E744 [PMID: 7977725 DOI: 10.1152/ajpendo.1994.267.5.E738]
- 49 Marshall BA, Hansen PA, Ensor NJ, Ogden MA, Mueckler M. GLUT-1 or GLUT-4 transgenes in obese mice improve glucose tolerance but do not prevent insulin resistance. Am J Physiol 1999; 276: E390-E400 [PMID: 9950801 DOI: 10.1152/ajpendo.1999.276.2.E390]
- Shepherd PR, Gnudi L, Tozzo E, Yang H, Leach F, Kahn BB. Adipose cell hyperplasia and enhanced glucose disposal in transgenic mice overexpressing GLUT4 selectively in adipose tissue. J Biol Chem 1993; 268: 22243-22246 [PMID: 82267281
- Gnudi L, Jensen DR, Tozzo E, Eckel RH, Kahn BB. Adipose-specific overexpression of GLUT-4 in transgenic mice alters 51 lipoprotein lipase activity. Am J Physiol 1996; 270: R785-R792 [PMID: 8967408 DOI: 10.1152/ajpregu.1996.270.4.R785]
- Yore MM, Syed I, Moraes-Vieira PM, Zhang T, Herman MA, Homan EA, Patel RT, Lee J, Chen S, Peroni OD, 52 Dhaneshwar AS, Hammarstedt A, Smith U, McGraw TE, Saghatelian A, Kahn BB. Discovery of a class of endogenous



mammalian lipids with anti-diabetic and anti-inflammatory effects. Cell 2014; 159: 318-332 [PMID: 25303528 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.09.035]

- 53 Gnudi L, Tozzo E, Shepherd PR, Bliss JL, Kahn BB. High level overexpression of glucose transporter-4 driven by an adipose-specific promoter is maintained in transgenic mice on a high fat diet, but does not prevent impaired glucose tolerance. Endocrinology 1995; 136: 995-1002 [PMID: 7867610 DOI: 10.1210/endo.136.3.7867610]
- Tozzo E, Shepherd PR, Gnudi L, Kahn BB. Transgenic GLUT-4 overexpression in fat enhances glucose metabolism: 54 preferential effect on fatty acid synthesis. Am J Physiol 1995; 268: E956-E964 [PMID: 7762651 DOI: 10.1152/ajpendo.1995.268.5.E956]
- 55 Tsao TS, Burcelin R, Katz EB, Huang L, Charron MJ. Enhanced insulin action due to targeted GLUT4 overexpression exclusively in muscle. Diabetes 1996; 45: 28-36 [PMID: 8522056 DOI: 10.2337/diab.45.1.28]
- Quon MJ, Guerre-Millo M, Zarnowski MJ, Butte AJ, Em M, Cushman SW, Taylor SI. Tyrosine kinase-deficient mutant 56 human insulin receptors (Met1153-->Ile) overexpressed in transfected rat adipose cells fail to mediate translocation of epitope-tagged GLUT4. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1994; 91: 5587-5591 [PMID: 8202531 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.91.12.5587]



WJM

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Meta-Anal 2022 February 28; 10(1): 12-24

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i1.12

ISSN 2308-3840 (online)

META-ANALYSIS

Hepatitis C virus among blood donors and general population in Middle East and North Africa: Meta-analyses and meta-regressions

Sarwat Mahmud, Hiam Chemaitelly, Ahmed S Alaama, Joumana G Hermez, Laith Abu-Raddad

Specialty type: Infectious diseases

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): E

P-Reviewer: Maslennikov R, Moreno-Gómez-Toledano R, Saha S

Received: August 5, 2021 Peer-review started: August 5, 2021 First decision: September 4, 2021 Revised: September 16, 2021 Accepted: December 31, 2021 Article in press: December 31, 2021 Published online: February 28, 2022



Sarwat Mahmud, Hiam Chemaitelly, Laith Abu-Raddad, Infectious Disease Epidemiology Group, Weill Cornell Medicine-Qatar, Doha 24144, Qatar

Ahmed S Alaama, Joumana G Hermez, Department of Communicable Diseases, HIV/Hepatitis/ STIs Unit, World Health Organization Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean, Cairo 11371, Egypt

Corresponding author: Laith Abu-Raddad, PhD, Professor, Infectious Disease Epidemiology Group, Weill Cornell Medicine-Qatar, Education City, PO Box, Doha 24144, Qatar. lja2002@qatar-med.cornell.edu

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Despite the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) Region reported to have the highest prevalence of hepatitis C virus (HCV) globally, HCV infection levels in the majority of MENA countries remain inadequately characterized. Blood donor data have been previously used as a proxy to assess levels and trends of HCV in the general population, however, it is unclear how comparable these populations are in MENA and whether blood donors provide an appropriate proxy.

AIM

To delineate HCV epidemiology among blood donors and the general population in the MENA.

METHODS

The data source was the systematically gathered MENA HCV Epidemiology Synthesis Project Database. Random-effects meta-analyses and meta-regressions were conducted. For comparison, analyses were conducted for Europe, utilizing the Hepatitis C Prevalence Database of the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control.

RESULTS

One thousand two hundred and thirteen HCV antibody prevalence measures and 84 viremic rate measures were analyzed for MENA. Three hundred and seventyseven antibody prevalence measures were analyzed for Europe. In MENA, pooled mean prevalence was 1.58% [95% confidence interval (CI): 1.48%-1.69%] among blood donors and 4.49% (95%CI: 4.10%-4.90%) in the general population. In Europe, pooled prevalence was 0.11% (95%CI: 0.10%-0.13%) among blood donors and 1.59% (95%CI: 1.25%-1.97%) in the general population. Prevalence in the



general population was 1.72-fold (95% CI: 1.50–1.97) higher than that in blood donors in MENA, but it was 15.10-fold (95%CI: 11.48-19.86) higher in Europe. Prevalence was declining at a rate of 4% per year in both MENA and Europe [adjusted risk ratio: 0.96 (95%CI: 0.95-0.97) in MENA and 0.96 (95%CI: 0.92-0.99) in Europe]. Pooled mean viremic rate in MENA was 76.29% (95%CI: 67.64%-84.02%) among blood donors and 65.73% (95%CI: 61.03%-70.29%) in the general population.

CONCLUSION

Blood donor data provide a useful proxy for HCV infection in the wider population in MENA, but not Europe, and could improve HCV burden estimations and assess progress toward HCV elimination by 2030.

Key Words: Hepatitis C virus; Viral hepatitis; Blood donors; General population; Middle East and North Africa; Meta-analysis; Meta-regression

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: We investigated hepatitis C virus (HCV) epidemiology among blood donors and the wider general population in Middle East and North Africa (MENA). For comparison, similar analyses were performed for Europe. Our results indicated that HCV antibody prevalence in the population of MENA and Europe appears to be declining by 4% per year. Blood donor data in MENA (but not in Europe) were found to provide a useful proxy for HCV infection levels and trends in the general population. Thus, the data can be utilized in HCV estimates and to assess, track and validate progress towards World Health Organization elimination goals for HCV.

Citation: Mahmud S, Chemaitelly H, Alaama AS, Hermez JG, Abu-Raddad L. Hepatitis C virus among blood donors and general population in Middle East and North Africa: Meta-analyses and meta-regressions. World J Meta-Anal 2022; 10(1): 12-24

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/full/v10/i1/12.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.13105/wjma.v10.i1.12

INTRODUCTION

In the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) an estimated 15 million individuals are chronically infected with hepatitis C virus (HCV), making it the global region most affected by HCV infection[1]. Left untreated, chronic HCV infection may lead to several morbidities, including liver cancer, fibrosis, and cirrhosis^[2]. Prompted by development of highly efficacious direct-acting antivirals (DAAs), the World Health Organization (WHO) has set a global target to eliminate HCV as a public health problem by 2030[3].

Despite disproportionally high HCV infection levels in specific MENA countries, e.g., Egypt[4-7] and Pakistan[8-11], relative to global levels[1,12], only three countries in this region have conducted nationally representative population-based surveys[13-15]. HCV infection levels in the remaining countries remain inadequately characterized[1].

Blood donors have been used as a proxy population to provide a crude estimate of HCV infection levels in the general population [16,17]. However, in developed countries, such as the United States [18] and countries of the European Union[16], blood donors are not considered representative of the wider general population. In these countries, strict donor selection and blood safety regulations^[19] have resulted in a large disparity in HCV infection levels between blood donors and the general populations. This raises two questions: How comparable are HCV infection levels between blood donors and the general population in MENA? Are blood donor data, which are readily available, thanks to blood screening, an appropriate proxy for the general population in this region?

In this context, objectives of this study were to delineate HCV epidemiology in blood donors and general populations in MENA, and to assess how representative blood donor data are of HCV antibody (Ab) prevalence in the general population of this region. The study was also conducted to infer programmatic implications on blood safety in the region. These objectives were accomplished through analyses of a large, systematically gathered database, including 2622 HCV Ab prevalence measures on 49.8 million individuals by: (1) Estimating the pooled mean prevalence among blood donors and in general populations (henceforth the general population); and (2) Identifying predictors and trends of prevalence in these populations and sources of between-study heterogeneity. We further conducted



WJMA https://www.wjgnet.com

similar analyses for Europe, a region in which stringent donor selection and blood safety processes have been implemented^[19], for comparison. We did so by utilizing a large systematically gathered database including 419 HCV Ab prevalence measures for 25.7 million individuals^[20], to compare outcomes with results for MENA.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Data sources

This study was conducted as part of the MENA HCV Epidemiology Synthesis Project[1], an ongoing project with the aim of delineating HCV epidemiology and informing key public health research, policy, and programming priorities in MENA. The source of data was the MENA HCV Epidemiology Synthesis Project Database[1]. The database included 685 HCV Ab prevalence measures on 46 634 214 blood donors and 528 measures on 2 358 944 individuals of the general population, such as pregnant women, healthy adults, and children. The database also included eight HCV viremic rate measures on 58 986 blood donors and 76 measures on 14 936 individuals of the general population. HCV viremic rate was defined as the proportion of those who had tested Ab positive that are subsequently confirmed to be chronically infected by testing positive for HCV RNA - the proportion of those HCV RNA positive among HCV Ab-positive individuals[21,22].

The database was populated through a series of systematic reviews for HCV infection across MENA that were previously conducted as part of this project [5,6,8,23-28]. All reviews followed a standardized methodology, and specific details such as literature search strategy, databases searched, and eligibility criteria can be found in each of these reviews [5,6,8,23-28]. The methodology used for these reviews was informed by the Cochrane Collaboration Handbook[29], and all findings were reported using the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis (PRISMA)[30]. Literature searches were conducted to identify primary data on HCV measures in international and national/regional databases, the MENA HIV/AIDS Epidemiology Synthesis Project Database[31,32], abstract archives of international conferences, and grey literature, including public health reports and routine data reporting. Literature searches were broad, with no language restrictions to ensure inclusiveness. All records reporting HCV measures after 1989, the year in which the virus was officially identified[33], were included in the reviews[5,6,8,23-28].

Blood donors are typically a diverse group with different rates of HCV Ab prevalence depending on the rigor of the donor selection process^[19]. The vast majority of HCV Ab prevalence studies in MENA did not specify the type of blood donors, and therefore the term blood donors in the present analysis encompassed the different blood donor types, including regular voluntary nonremunerated donors, one-time voluntary nonremunerated donors, family replacement donors, and paid donors.

For the MENA HCV Epidemiology Synthesis Project, the MENA region was defined to include 24 countries (Figure 1). Given the distinctive nature of the HCV epidemics in Egypt[4-7] and Pakistan[8-11], relative to other MENA countries, separate analyses were performed for each of these countries.

HCV measures in blood donors and the general population were also analyzed for Europe, a region in which stringent donor selection and blood safety regulations have been implemented for decades [19], for comparison with MENA outcomes. Europe's HCV Ab prevalence measures were retrieved from the Hepatitis C Prevalence Database of the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control [20]. The database was populated through a systematic review [16] and multiple reports [34,35]. The database included 257 HCV Ab prevalence measures on 25 232 790 blood donors and 120 measures on 410 444 individuals of the general population, such as pregnant women and healthy adults.

Pooled mean HCV Ab prevalence and viremic rate

Meta-analyses for countries and subregions were performed to pool HCV Ab prevalence in blood donors and the general population, whenever three or more measures were available, and a minimum sample size of 25 participants was met. Random-effects meta-analyses were performed using the DerSimonian-Laird method^[36], with inverse-variance weighting to pool measures^[36]. Freeman-Tukey type arcsine square-root transformation was used to stabilize the variance of each measure, factoring knowledge regarding the applicability of this transformation [37,38]. Heterogeneity was formally assessed[36]. Forest plots were generated and examined visually, and Cochran's Q-test was conducted. Statistical significance of heterogeneity was indicated whenever P was < 0.10[36,39]. The l^2 and its confidence interval (CI) were calculated to assess the percentage of variance that is explained by true differences in prevalence across studies, rather than chance[36]. Prediction intervals were also determined to describe the distribution of prevalence around the pooled mean estimate[36]. Metaanalyses were also used to estimate the pooled mean HCV viremic rate among blood donors and in the general population. Meta-analyses and forest plots were generated using R version 3.4.3.

Predictors, trends, and sources of between-study heterogeneity

Univariable and multivariable random-effects meta-regressions were conducted following established methodology^[29]. A priori relevant independent variables in meta-regressions included subpopulation





Figure 1 Map of the countries and subregions included in the Middle East and North Africa Region.

(blood donors *vs* the general population), country/subregion, and year of data collection. Factors associated with HCV Ab prevalence at $P \le 0.20$ in the univariable analysis qualified for inclusion in the multivariable analysis. Here, an adjusted relative risk (ARR) $P \le 0.05$ was considered to indicate strong evidence for an association.

In studies in which the year of data collection variable was missing, the variable was imputed. This was done by first subtracting the year of data collection (when available) from the year of publication for each study, and using the median of these values in imputing the year of data collection. Sensitivity analysis was performed without the imputed observations to determine the impact of the imputation on the results, confirming the results of the original meta-regression. Meta-regressions were performed on STATA version 13 using the *metan* command.

RESULTS

HCV Ab prevalence among blood donors and the general population in MENA

Studies on HCV Ab prevalence among blood donors and the general population in MENA are listed in Supplementary Tables 1 and 2. HCV Ab prevalence data were available for 23 of the 24 MENA countries. The largest number of data points were retrieved from Egypt, followed by the Gulf and Fertile Crescent Subregions. HCV Ab prevalence in blood donors ranged from 0 to 38.20%, with a median of 0.86% (Table 1). Studies reporting the highest HCV Ab prevalence were reported from parts of Egypt in the 1990s, a period during which HCV infection was widespread following the parenteral antischistosomal therapy (PAT) campaigns that contributed in a major way to the HCV epidemic in Egypt[5-7,40]. The pooled mean prevalence was 1.58% (95%CI: 1.48%–1.69%). It was lowest in the Fertile Crescent Subregion at 0.21% (95% CI: 0.18%-0.25%) and highest in Egypt at 10.40% (95% CI: 9.59%-11.23%), followed by Pakistan at 3.47% (95%CI: 2.96%-4.02%). HCV Ab prevalence in the general population ranged from 0 to 73.38%, with a median of 3.14%. The pooled mean prevalence was 4.49% (95%CI: 4.10%-4.90%). It was lowest in Iran at 0.33% (95%CI: 0.21%-0.47%) and highest in Egypt at 13.08% (95%CI: 11.51%-14.73%), followed by Pakistan at 8.81% (95%CI: 7.62%-10.06%). All outlier high HCV Ab prevalence measures were investigated and found to reflect blood donors or general populations in specific settings that were affected by high exposure to the virus, such as specific villages in the Nile delta in Egypt following the PAT era[5-7,40]. There was strong evidence for heterogeneity in HCV Ab prevalence in all meta-analyses (P < 0.01), with almost all variation being attributed to true variation in prevalence across studies rather than chance ($l^2 > 99.4\%$). Heterogeneity was also confirmed by the estimated prediction intervals (Table 1).

WJMA https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Results of meta-analyses on studies reporting HCV Ab prevalence among blood donors and in the general population in Middle **East and North Africa**

Dopulation	Studies	Samples	es HCV Ab prevalence		Pooled H prevalence	Pooled HCV Ab prevalence		Heterogeneity measures			
Population	Total (<i>n</i>)	Total (n)	Range (%)	Median (%)	Mean (%)	95%CI	Q (P value) ¹	<i>I</i> ² (confidence limits) ²	Prediction interval (%) ³		
Blood donors											
Afghanistan	40	737407	0.00-7.19	0.60	0.75	0.57-0.96	3046.03 (P < 0.01)	98.7% (98.6%- 98.9%)	0.02-2.41		
Egypt	116	1566669	0.00- 38.20	10.97	10.40	9.59-11.23	24513.7 (<i>P</i> < 0.01)	99.5% (99.5%- 99.6%)	3.64-19.96		
Fertile Crescent ⁴	157	3488952	0.00-3.95	0.27	0.21	0.18-0.25	3674.2 (<i>P</i> < 0.01)	95.8% (95.4%- 96.1%)	0.00-0.67		
Gulf ⁵	156	20891379	0.00- 27.19	0.89	0.78	0.71-0.86	29882.0 (<i>P</i> < 0.01)	99.5% (99.5%- 99.5%)	0.20-1.69		
Horn of Africa ⁶	22	48076	0.0-6.03	1.0	0.97	0.57-1.45	327.8 (<i>P</i> < 0.01)	93.6% (91.5%- 95.2%)	0.00-3.78		
Iran	73	15971802	0.00-3.13	0.24	0.31	0.22-0.40	55740.9 (<i>P</i> < 0.01)	99.9% (99.9%- 99.9%)	0.00-1.43		
Maghreb ⁷	49	2145044	0.11-6.58	0.65	0.68	0.49-0.91	13475.9 (<i>P</i> < 0.01)	99.6% (99.6%- 99.7%)	0.00-2.82		
Pakistan	73	1797644	0.01- 20.79	3.00	3.47	2.96-4.02	24753.7 (<i>P</i> < 0.01)	99.7% (99.7%- 99.7%)	0.38-9.32		
All countries/subregions	686	46646973	0.00-38.2	0.86	1.58	1.48-1.69	481819.0 (P < 0.01)	99.9% (99.9%- 99.9%)	0.01-5.18		
General population											
Afghanistan	6	12048	0.00-4.03	0.88	0.61	0.20-1.18	21.7 ($P < 0.01$)	76.9% (48.5%- 89.6%)	0.00-2.68		
Egypt	147	110603	0.00- 54.10	11.82	13.08	11.51-14.73	8457.0 (<i>P</i> < 0.01)	98.3% (98.1-98.4%)	0.62-36.45		
Fertile Crescent ⁴	64	189456	0.00-8.87	0.19	0.42	0.24-0.64	1117.8 (P < 0.01)	94.4% (93.4%- 95.2%)	0.00-2.39		
Gulf ⁵	85	222829	0.00- 22.54	0.83	1.41	1.0-1.88	5343.3 (P < 0.01)	98.4% (98.3%- 98.6%)	0.00-7.66		
Horn of Africa ⁶	27	29552	0.00-8.50	1.53	1.86	1.26-2.57	262.0 (<i>P</i> < 0.01)	90.1% (86.8%- 92.6%)	0.00-6.13		
Iran	50	101677	0.00-2.35	0.45	0.33	0.21-0.47	206.9 (<i>P</i> < 0.01)	76.3% (69.0%- 81.9%)	0.00-1.25		
Maghreb ⁷	42	1378206	0.00-6.16	0.62	0.87	0.55-1.26	7595.3 (P < 0.01)	99.5% (99.5%- 99.5%)	0.00-4.38		
Pakistan	106	301814	0.44- 73.38	6.82	8.81	7.62-10.06	13619.0 (<i>P</i> < 0.01)	99.2% (99.2%- 99.3%)	0.60-24.62		
All countries/subregions	527	2346185	0.00- 73.38	3.14	4.49	4.10-4.90	83750.3 (<i>P</i> < 0.01)	99.4% (99.4%- 99.4%)	0.00-16.88		

¹Q: the Cochran's Q statistic is a measure assessing the existence of heterogeneity in effect size (here, HCV Ab prevalence) across studies.

²*I*²: A measure assessing the magnitude of between-study variation that is due to true differences in effect size (here, HCV Ab prevalence) across studies rather than chance.

³Prediction interval: a measure estimating the 95% interval of the distribution of true effect sizes (here, HCV Ab prevalence).

⁴Countries include Iraq, Jordan, Lebanon, Palestine, and Syria.

⁵Countries include Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, and United Arab Emirates.

⁶Countries include Djibouti, Somalia, Sudan, and Yemen.

⁷Countries include Algeria, Libya, Mauritania, Morocco, and Tunisia. Ab: Antibody; CI: Confidence interval; HCV: Hepatitis C virus.

HCV Ab prevalence among blood donors and the general population in Europe

HCV Ab prevalence data were available for 30 countries in Europe. HCV Ab prevalence in blood donors ranged from 0 to 3.28%, with a median of 0.06% (Table 2). The pooled mean prevalence was 0.11%



Table 2 Results of meta-analyses on studies reporting HCV Ab prevalence among blood donors and in the general population in Europe

Subpopulation	Studies	Samples	HCV Ab p	orevalence	Pooled HC prevalence	V Ab	Heterogenei	ty measures	
	Total (n)	Total (n)	Range (%)	Median (%)	Mean (%)	95%CI	Q (P value) ¹	<i>I</i> ² (confidence limits)²	Prediction interval (%) ³
Blood donors	257	25232790	0.0-3.28	0.06	0.11	0.10-0.13	35657.5 (P < 0.01)	99.3 (99.3-99.3)	0.00-0.51
The general population	120	410444	0.0-16.83	1.11	1.59	1.25-1.97	9176.9 (P < 0.01)	98.7 (98.6-98.8)	0.0-7.57

¹Q: the Cochran's Q statistic is a measure assessing the existence of heterogeneity in effect size (here, HCV Ab prevalence) across studies.

²*I*²: a measure assessing the magnitude of between-study variation that is due to true differences in effect size (here, HCV Ab prevalence) across studies rather than chance.

³Prediction interval: a measure estimating the 95% interval of the distribution of true effect sizes (here, HCV Ab prevalence). Ab: Antibody; CI: Confidence interval; HCV: Hepatitis C virus.

(95%CI: 0.10%–0.13%). Prevalence in the general population ranged from 0 to 16.83%, with a median of 1.11%. The pooled mean prevalence was 1.59% (95%CI: 1.25%–1.97%). There was strong evidence for heterogeneity in HCV Ab prevalence (P < 0.01), with the majority of variation being attributed to true variation in prevalence across studies rather than chance (P > 98.7%).

HCV viremic rate of blood donors and the general population

The HCV viremic rate of blood donors in different MENA countries ranged from 61.84% to 93.33%, with a median of 70.78% (Supplementary Table 3). The pooled mean for the entire MENA region was 76.29% (95% CI: 67.64%–84.02%), indicating that approximately three-quarters of Ab-positive blood donors are chronically infected. The viremic rate ranged from 22.73% to 100% in the general population in different MENA countries, with a median of 68.27% (Supplementary Table 3). The pooled mean for the entire MENA region was 65.73% (95% CI: 61.03%–70.29%). There was strong evidence for heterogeneity in the viremic rates (P < 0.01), with most variation being attributed to true variation in the viremic rate across studies rather than chance (P > 77.4%).

Predictors and trends of HCV Ab prevalence in MENA

The meta-regressions for MENA indicated that HCV Ab prevalence in the general population was 1.72fold (95%CI: 1.50–1.97) higher than that in blood donors (Table 3). They also indicated substantial variation in prevalence by country and subregion with Egypt and Pakistan having a higher prevalence than the rest of MENA countries. Importantly, the analyses indicated that HCV Ab prevalence has been declining over the last three decades at an average rate of 4% per year (ARR of 0.96; 95%CI: 0.95–0.97). Subgroup analyses were conducted on the above results. The same regressions were repeated, but for Egypt, Pakistan and other MENA countries individually (Table 4). These analyses indicated that HCV Ab prevalence in the general population was 1.30-fold (95%CI: 1.07–1.59) higher than that among blood donors in Egypt, 2.52-fold (95%CI: 1.89–3.36) higher in Pakistan, and 1.73-fold (95%CI: 1.42–2.11) higher in the remaining MENA countries. The analyses also confirmed the same rate of decline for prevalence at 4% in the rest of MENA countries. The rate of decline was slightly higher in Egypt at 6%. There was no evidence for a decline in prevalence, however, in Pakistan.

In a sensitivity analysis, the same regressions were also repeated, but excluding all blood donor data (not shown). The analyses indicated that HCV Ab prevalence in MENA is declining at a rate of 5% per year (ARR of 0.95; 95%CI: 0.93–0.97), indicating a marginally higher rate of decline in the general population.

Predictors and trends of HCV Ab prevalence in Europe

The meta-regressions for Europe indicated that HCV Ab prevalence in the general population is 15.10-fold (95%CI: 11.48–19.86) higher than that in blood donors (Table 5). The analyses indicated further that HCV Ab prevalence has been declining over the last three decades at a similar rate to that of MENA, at 4% per year (ARR of 0.96; 95%CI: 0.92–0.99).

A sensitivity analysis was conducted on the above results. The same regressions were repeated, but excluding all blood donor data (not shown). The analyses indicated that HCV Ab prevalence in Europe is declining at a rate of 10% per year (ARR of 0.90; 95% CI: 0.85–0.96), higher than that in MENA.

Raishideng® WJMA | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 3 Univariable and multivariable meta-regression models for HCV Ab prevalence among blood donors and the general population in Middle East and North Africa

	Studies	udies Samples Univariable analysis					Multivariable a	nalysis⁵
	Total (n)	Total (<i>n</i>)	RR (95%Cl)	P value	F P value ^a	Variance explained R ² (%)	ARR (95%CI)	<i>P</i> value
Subpopulations								
Blood donors	686	46646973	1	-			1	-
The general population	527	2346185	2.92 (2.41- 3.55)	< 0.001	< 0.001	10.73	1.72 (1.50-1.97)	< 0.001
Country/subregion								
Afghanistan	46	749455	1	-			1	-
Egypt	263	1677272	14.89 (10.2- 21.8)	< 0.001			9.48 (6.54-13.75)	< 0.001
Fertile Crescent ¹	221	3678408	0.52 (0.35- 0.77)	< 0.001			0.49 (0.34-0.72)	< 0.001
Gulf ²	241	21114208	1.24 (0.84- 1.82)	0.280			0.82 (0.56-1.19)	0.398
Horn of Africa ³	49	77628	2.05 (1.25- 3.37)	0.005			1.33 (0.82-2.15)	0.244
Iran	123	16073479	0.50 (0.33- 0.77)	< 0.001			0.42 (0.28-0.63)	< 0.001
Maghreb ⁴	91	3523250	1.02 (0.66- 1.56)	0.936			0.77 (0.51-1.16)	0.207
Pakistan	179	2099458	6.96 (4.71- 10.29)	< 0.001	< 0.001	58.39	5.44 (3.73-7.93)	< 0.001
Year of data collection	1213	48993158	0.95 (0.94- 0.97)	< 0.001	< 0.001	3.71	0.96 (0.95-0.97)	< 0.001

¹Countries include Iraq, Jordan, Lebanon, Palestine, and Syria.

²Countries include Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, and United Arab Emirates.

³Countries include Djibouti, Somalia, Sudan, and Yemen.

⁴Countries include Algeria, Libya, Mauritania, Morocco, and Tunisia.

^aVariables with $P \le 0.2$ were eligible for inclusion in the multivariable analysis.

^bThe adjusted R-squared for the full model was 62.65%.

Ab: Antibody: ARR: Adjusted relative risk: CI: Confidence interval: RR: Relative risk.

DISCUSSION

Levels and trends of HCV Ab prevalence in blood donors and in the general population of MENA were assessed using a large standardized database. There was large variability in HCV Ab prevalence by country and subregion, with Egypt and Pakistan, the largest countries in MENA by population size, having several fold higher prevalence than the rest of MENA countries. HCV Ab prevalence in the remaining MENA countries was at about 1% or less, similar to that in Europe and most other countries globally[12,41]. These results confirm our understanding of HCV epidemiology across MENA countries and subregions[4-11,21-28,42-49].

Strikingly, HCV Ab prevalence is declining rapidly in both MENA and Europe, and at a similar rate of about 4% per year. The exception to this downward trend was Pakistan where there was no evidence for a decline. These declines may be reflective, in part, of the declining incidence of HCV infection within these regions through improvements to infection control following the discovery of this virus three decades ago, and scale-up of HCV treatment worldwide[3]. They also may reflect the progressive improvement in effective blood donor selection, such as by motivating and retaining voluntary nonremunerated donors to donate regularly^[19].

A major finding of this study is that HCV Ab prevalence in blood donors in MENA was similar to HCV Ab prevalence in the general population; unlike the situation in Europe. While HCV Ab prevalence in the general population was almost twofold higher than that of HCV Ab prevalence in blood donors in MENA, it was 15-fold higher in Europe (Table 3 vs Table 5). HCV Ab prevalence in blood donors in MENA appears to closely reflect the background prevalence in the wider population. Of note that HCV Ab prevalence in blood donors is a function of not only the prevalence in the general



WJMA https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 4 Subgroup analyses: Univariable and multivariable meta-regression models for HCV Ab prevalence among blood donors and the general population in Egypt, Pakistan, and rest of Middle East and North Africa countries

	Studies Samples		Univariable	e analysis		Multivariable analysis ^b		
	Total (<i>n</i>)	Total (<i>n</i>)	RR (95%CI)	P value	F P value ^a	Variance explained R ² (%)	ARR (95%CI)	P value
Egypt								
Subpopulations								
Blood donors	116	1566669	1	-			1	-
The general population	147	110603	1.25 (1.00-1.57)	0.049	0.087	2.05	1.30 (1.07-1.59)	0.008
Year of data collection	263	1677272	0.94 (0.93-0.95)	< 0.001	< 0.001	24.48	0.94 (0.93-0.95)	< 0.001
Pakistan								
Subpopulations								
Blood donors	73	1797644	1	-			-	-
The general population	106	301814	2.52 (1.89-3.36)	< 0.001	< 0.001	19.03	-	-
Year of data collection	179	2099458	1.00 (0.98-1.03)	0.648	0.648	0.00	-	-
Rest of MENA countries								
Subpopulations								
Blood donors	497	43282660	1	-	-		1	-
The general population	274	1933768	1.80 (1.47-2.21)	< 0.001	< 0.001	5.44	1.73 (1.42-2.11)	< 0.001
Country/subregion								
Afghanistan	46	749455	1	-	-		1	-
Fertile Crescent ¹	221	3678408	0.53 (0.35-0.81)	0.003			0.50 (0.33-0.75)	0.001
Gulf ²	241	21114208	1.26 (0.83-1.91)	0.273			0.86 (0.56-1.30)	0.462
Horn of Africa ³	49	77628	2.08 (1.22-3.54)	0.007			1.37 (0.81-2.32)	0.247
Iran	123	16073479	0.51 (0.33-0.81)	0.004			0.43 (0.28-0.67)	< 0.001
Maghreb ⁴	91	3523250	1.04 (0.65-1.64)	0.883	< 0.001	11.48	0.79 (0.50-1.24)	0.298
Year of data collection	771	45216428	0.95 (0.94-0.96)	< 0.001	< 0.001	6.22	0.96 (0.95-0.98)	< 0.001

¹Countries include Iraq, Jordan, Lebanon, Palestine, and Syria.

²Countries include Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, and United Arab Emirates.

³Countries include Djibouti, Somalia, Sudan, and Yemen.

⁴Countries include Algeria, Libya, Mauritania, Morocco, and Tunisia.

^aVariables with a *P* value ≤ 0.2 were eligible for inclusion in the multivariable analysis. No multivariable analysis was conducted for Pakistan, as only one variable gualified for inclusion in the model.

^bThe adjusted R-squared was 27.35% for the multivariable model for Egypt and 17.92% for the multivariable model for rest of MENA countries. Ab: Antibody; ARR: Adjusted relative risk; CI: Confidence interval; RR: Relative risk.

> population, but also of the effectiveness of blood donation programs to collect blood from regular voluntary nonremunerated blood donors[19]. This finding suggests that risk reduction strategies through selection and retention of safer blood donors (regular voluntary nonremunerated blood donors) are not yet effectively implemented widely in MENA as in Europe[19], where the source of blood largely comes from such donors. Indeed regulatory framework (including legislation, regulation, policies and standards) and a functioning regulatory authority to enforce the regulatory framework is largely at its infancy in MENA[19], where, as of 2016, only 55% of MENA countries had legislation covering safety and quality of blood transfusions, and only two countries had achieved 100% voluntary nonremunerated blood donations[19,50]. Furthermore, HCV Ab prevalence in blood donors may be reflective of people in the general population unaware of their HCV infection status, in the context of which an individual aware of their positive HCV infection status would not donate blood.

> Nevertheless, contingent on the quality of blood donor management systems implemented within countries of MENA, this finding indicates that HCV Ab prevalence in blood donors in MENA (unlike in North America^[18] and Europe^[16]) can be used for the time being as a proxy to estimate infection levels in the general population. This outcome has important consequences. With the lack of nationally repres-



Table 5 Univariable and multivariable meta-regression models for HCV Ab prevalence among blood donors and the general population in Ei

in Earopo								
	Studies	Samples		Univaria	ble analysis	Multivariable analysis ^b		
	Total (n)	Total (n)	RR (95%CI)	P value	F P value ^a	Variance explained R ² (%)	ARR (95%CI)	P value
Subpopulations								
Blood donors	257	25232790	1				1	
The general population	120	410444	15.57 (11.83- 20.49)	< 0.001	< 0.001	53.62	15.10 (11.48- 19.86)	< 0.001
Year of data collection	377	25643234	0.93 (0.88-0.98)	0.004	0.005	2.17	0.96 (0.92-0.99)	0.020

^aVariables with $P \le 0.2$ were eligible for inclusion in the multivariable analysis.

^bThe adjusted R² for the full model was 54.27%.

Ab: Antibody; ARR: Adjusted relative risk; CI: Confidence interval; RR: Relative risk.

entative population-based surveys in most countries of this region, blood donor data, which are readily available, can be easily used to assess levels and trends of this infection in the wider population. They can also be used to generate other estimates, such as those related to the disease burden of HCV sequelae, and can be leveraged to assess, track and validate progress toward the WHO elimination goals for this infection[3]. The present study also provides adjustment factors to improve use of blood donor data (Table 2), so that they better reflect HCV levels in the wider population. These adjustment factors can be used at a regional level, or can be fine-tuned so as to be specific for individual countries.

This study had several limitations. Availability of data varied across MENA, with HCV Ab prevalence data being unavailable for Bahrain. The majority of HCV viremia data were collected at times before the launch of DAA treatment programs (Supplementary Table 3); thus, they may not represent the current viremic rate in blood donors and in the general population. Analysis for the different blood donor types was not conducted as the specification of blood donor type was not available for the vast majority of HCV Ab prevalence measures. The sample size of blood donors was larger than that of the general population; however, the sample size in the general population was still substantial at 2.3 million. Despite these limitations, an immense volume of data was acquired, allowing various analyses and an array of consequential inferences to be drawn. While high heterogeneity was found, most (63%) of it was subsequently explained in meta-regression analyses in terms of prevalence variation by country and subregion within MENA.

CONCLUSION

HCV Ab prevalence in the wider population of MENA and Europe appears to be rapidly declining by 4% per year. Blood donor data in MENA (but not in Europe) provide a useful proxy for HCV infection levels and trends in the general population; at least in countries where effective blood donor selection and blood donor management programs are not in place. Thus, the data can be utilized in HCV infection and disease burden estimates and to assess, track and validate progress toward WHO elimination goals for this infection. While these findings are specific for MENA, they may also apply to resource-limited countries of other regions.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

The Middle East and North Africa (MENA) Region is the most affected by hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection, with approximately 20% of the global chronically infected individuals residing in this region. Despite this, only three countries conducted national population-based surveys to delineate HCV infection levels in the general population.

Research motivation

HCV infection in blood donors have been used as a proxy for HCV infection levels in the general population. However, it is unclear how comparable blood donors are to the general population in countries in MENA and whether they are a suitable proxy population.



Research objectives

To delineate HCV epidemiology in blood donors and in the general population in MENA.

Research methods

The MENA HCV Epidemiology Synthesis Project Database was used as a data source. Studies reporting HCV in blood donors and in the general population were retrieved, and random-effects meta-analyses and random-effects meta-regressions were performed. For regional comparison, similar analyses were performed for countries in Europe, using the Hepatitis C Prevalence Database from the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC).

Research results

A total of 1213 HCV Ab prevalence measures and 84 viremic rate measures were retrieved from the MENA HCV Epidemiology Synthesis Project, and 377 HCV Ab prevalence measures were retrieved from the ECDC. The pooled mean prevalence in MENA was 1.58% [95% confidence interval (CI): 1.48%-1.69%] in blood donors and 4.49% (95%CI: 4.10%-4.90%) in the general population, and in Europe was 0.11% (95%CI: 0.10%-0.13%) among blood donors and 1.59% (95%CI: 1.25%-1.97%) in the general population. In MENA, the prevalence in the general population was 1.72-fold (95% CI: 1.50–1.97) higher than that in blood donors, and in Europe it was 15.10-fold (95%CI: 11.48-19.86) higher. HCV prevalence appeared to be declining by 4% annually in both MENA and Europe.

Research conclusions

Blood donor data in MENA (but not in Europe) appears to be comparable with that in the general population and therefore can be used as a useful proxy for HCV infection levels and trends in the general population, at least in countries where effective blood donor selection and blood donor management programs are not yet firmly in place. Blood donor data may be used to estimate HCV infection and disease burden and to assess, track, and validate progress toward World Health Organization elimination goals for this infection.

Research perspectives

With the lack of nationally representative population-based surveys in most countries in MENA and beyond, blood donor data, which are readily available, can be easily used to assess levels and trends of this infection in the wider population. The study rationalizes and facilitates generation of estimates at low costs and demands for resources, even in resource-limited settings where population-level data are most scarce. While these findings are specific for MENA, they may also apply and be of relevance to other global regions.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) for their efforts in compiling the ECDC Hepatitis C Prevalence Database and for making this database publicly available in the service of science. The authors also thank Dr Yetmgeta E. Abdella for his valuable insights and feedback on this manuscript. The authors are also grateful for infrastructure support provided by the Biostatistics, Epidemiology, and Biomathematics Research Core at Weill Cornell Medicine-Qatar.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Mahmud S conducted data extraction and analysis, and wrote the first draft of the paper; Abu-Raddad L conceived and led the design of the study, analyses, and drafting of the article; All authors contributed to data collection and acquisition, and/or database development, and/or discussion and interpretation of the results, and to the writing of the manuscript.

Supported by National Priorities Research Program (NPRP) grant from the Qatar National Research Fund (a member of Qatar Foundation), No. 12S-0216-190094; and the Biostatistics, Epidemiology, and Biomathematics Research Core at Weill Cornell Medicine-Qatar.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to disclose.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The methodology used for these reviews was informed by the Cochrane Collaboration Handbook, and all findings were reported using the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis (PRISMA).

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by



external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Qatar

ORCID number: Sarwat Mahmud 0000-0003-0358-0058; Hiam Chemaitelly 0000-0002-8756-6968; Ahmed S Alaama 0000-0002-6152-2545; Joumana G Hermez 0000-0003-1716-5605; Laith Abu-Raddad 0000-0003-0790-0506.

S-Editor: Liu M L-Editor: Kerr C P-Editor: Liu M

REFERENCES

- 1 World Health Organization. Epidemiology of hepatitis C virus in the WHO Eastern Mediterranean Region: implications for strategic action. [cited 20 May 2021]. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/336174/9789290222866-eng.pdf
- Lauer GM, Walker BD. Hepatitis C virus infection. N Engl J Med 2001; 345: 41-52 [PMID: 11439948 DOI: 2 10.1056/NEJM200107053450107]
- World Health Organization. Global health sector strategy on viral hepatitis 2016-2021. Towards ending viral hepatitis. 3 [cited 20 May 2021]. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/246177/WHO-HIV-2016.06-eng.pdf
- Ayoub HH, Abu-Raddad LJ. Impact of treatment on hepatitis C virus transmission and incidence in Egypt: A case for 4 treatment as prevention. J Viral Hepat 2017; 24: 486-495 [PMID: 28039923 DOI: 10.1111/jvh.12671]
- Kouyoumjian SP, Chemaitelly H, Abu-Raddad LJ. Characterizing hepatitis C virus epidemiology in Egypt: Systematic reviews, meta-analyses, and meta-regressions. Sci Rep 2018; 8: 1661 [PMID: 29374178 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-017-17936-4]
- Mohamoud YA, Mumtaz GR, Riome S, Miller D, Abu-Raddad LJ. The epidemiology of hepatitis C virus in Egypt: A 6 systematic review and data synthesis. BMC Infect Dis 2013; 13: 288 [PMID: 23799878 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2334-13-288]
- 7 Ayoub HH, Chemaitelly H, Kouyoumjian SP, Abu-Raddad LJ. Characterizing the historical role of parenteral antischistosomal therapy in hepatitis C virus transmission in Egypt. Int J Epidemiol 2020; 49: 798-809 [PMID: 32357208 DOI: 10.1093/ije/dyaa052]
- Al Kanaani Z, Mahmud S, Kouyoumjian SP, Abu-Raddad LJ. The epidemiology of hepatitis C virus in Pakistan: 8 Systematic review and meta-analyses. R Soc Open Sci 2018; 5: 180257 [PMID: 29765698 DOI: 10.1098/rsos.180257]
- 9 Ayoub HH, Abu-Raddad LJ. Treatment as prevention for hepatitis C virus in Pakistan: mathematical modelling projections. BMJ Open 2019; 9: e026600 [PMID: 31133586 DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-026600]
- 10 Mahmud S, Al Kanaani Z, Abu-Raddad LJ. Characterization of the hepatitis C virus epidemic in Pakistan. BMC Infect Dis 2019; 19: 809 [PMID: 31521121 DOI: 10.1186/s12879-019-4403-7]
- Ayoub HH, Al Kanaani Z, Abu-Raddad LJ. Characterizing the temporal evolution of the hepatitis C virus epidemic in 11 Pakistan. J Viral Hepat 2018; 25: 670-679 [PMID: 29345847 DOI: 10.1111/jvh.12864]
- 12 Gower E, Estes C, Blach S, Razavi-Shearer K, Razavi H. Global epidemiology and genotype distribution of the hepatitis C virus infection. J Hepatol 2014; 61: S45-S57 [PMID: 25086286 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2014.07.027]
- 13 Qureshi H, Bile KM, Jooma R, Alam SE, Afridi HU. Prevalence of hepatitis B and C viral infections in Pakistan: findings of a national survey appealing for effective prevention and control measures. East Mediterr Health J 2010; 16 Suppl: S15-S23 [PMID: 21495584]
- 14 El-Zanaty FH, Way AA. Egypt demographic and health survey. 5th ed. Cairo: Ministry of Health and Population, 2005
- Daw MA, El-Bouzedi A; In association with Libyan Study Group of Hepatitis & HIV. Prevalence of hepatitis B and hepatitis C infection in Libya: results from a national population based survey. BMC Infect Dis 2014; 14: 17 [PMID: 24405790 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2334-14-171
- 16 Hofstraat SHI, Falla AM, Duffell EF, Hahné SJM, Amato-Gauci AJ, Veldhuijzen IK, Tavoschi L. Current prevalence of chronic hepatitis B and C virus infection in the general population, blood donors and pregnant women in the EU/EEA: a systematic review. Epidemiol Infect 2017; 145: 2873-2885 [PMID: 28891457 DOI: 10.1017/S0950268817001947]
- Tognon F, Sevalie S, Gassimu J, Sesay J, Hann K, Sheku M, Bearse E, Di Gennaro F, Marotta C, Pellizzer G, Putoto G, 17 Lado M, Franke MF, Dibba Y, Gevao S, Beynon F, Mesman AW. Seroprevalence of hepatitis B and hepatitis C among blood donors in Sierra Leone: A multi-year retrospective study. Int J Infect Dis 2020; 99: 102-107 [PMID: 32717396 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.07.030
- Denniston MM, Jiles RB, Drobeniuc J, Klevens RM, Ward JW, McQuillan GM, Holmberg SD. Chronic hepatitis C virus 18 infection in the United States, National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2003 to 2010. Ann Intern Med 2014; 160: 293-300 [PMID: 24737271 DOI: 10.7326/M13-1133]
- World Health Organization. Global status report on blood safety and availability 2016. [cited 15 May 2021]. Available 19 from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/254987/9789241565431-eng.pdf
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Hepatitis C Prevalence Database. [cited 15 March 2021]. 20 Available from: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/all-topics-z/hepatitis-c/tools/hepatitis-c-prevalence-database
- 21 Harfouche M, Chemaitelly H, Kouyoumjian SP, Mahmud S, Chaabna K, Al-Kanaani Z, Abu-Raddad LJ. Hepatitis C virus



viremic rate in the Middle East and North Africa: Systematic synthesis, meta-analyses, and meta-regressions. PLoS One 2017; 12: e0187177 [PMID: 29088252 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0187177]

- 22 Ayoub HH, Chemaitelly H, Omori R, Abu-Raddad LJ. Hepatitis C virus infection spontaneous clearance: Has it been underestimated? Int J Infect Dis 2018; 75: 60-66 [PMID: 30031139 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijid.2018.07.013]
- 23 Chemaitelly H, Chaabna K, Abu-Raddad LJ. The Epidemiology of Hepatitis C Virus in the Fertile Crescent: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. PLoS One 2015; 10: e0135281 [PMID: 26296200 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0135281]
- Chemaitelly H, Mahmud S, Rahmani AM, Abu-Raddad LJ. The epidemiology of hepatitis C virus in Afghanistan: 24 systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Infect Dis 2015; 40: 54-63 [PMID: 26417880 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijid.2015.09.011]
- Fadlalla FA, Mohamoud YA, Mumtaz GR, Abu-Raddad LJ. The epidemiology of hepatitis C virus in the Maghreb region: 25 systematic review and meta-analyses. PLoS One 2015; 10: e0121873 [PMID: 25803848 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0121873]
- 26 Chaabna K, Kouyoumjian SP, Abu-Raddad LJ. Hepatitis C Virus Epidemiology in Djibouti, Somalia, Sudan, and Yemen: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. PLoS One 2016; 11: e0149966 [PMID: 26900839 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0149966]
- Mohamoud YA, Riome S, Abu-Raddad LJ. Epidemiology of hepatitis C virus in the Arabian Gulf countries: Systematic review and meta-analysis of prevalence. Int J Infect Dis 2016; 46: 116-125 [PMID: 26996460 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijid.2016.03.012]
- Mahmud S, Akbarzadeh V, Abu-Raddad LJ. The epidemiology of hepatitis C virus in Iran: Systematic review and meta-28 analyses. Sci Rep 2018; 8: 150 [PMID: 29317673 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-017-18296-9]
- Higgins J, Green S. Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions. John Wiley & Sons, 2011 29
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG; PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-30 analyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS Med 2009; 6: e1000097 [PMID: 19621072 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097]
- Abu-Raddad L AF, Semini I, Reidner G, Wilson D, Tavil O. Characterizing the HIV/AIDS epidemic in the Middle East 31 and North Africa: Time for strategic action. Washington DC: The World Bank Press, 2010
- 32 Abu-Raddad LJ, Hilmi N, Mumtaz G, Benkirane M, Akala FA, Riedner G, Tawil O, Wilson D. Epidemiology of HIV infection in the Middle East and North Africa. AIDS 2010; 24 Suppl 2: S5-23 [PMID: 20610949 DOI: 10.1097/01.aids.0000386729.56683.33]
- Kuo G, Choo QL, Alter HJ, Gitnick GL, Redeker AG, Purcell RH, Miyamura T, Dienstag JL, Alter MJ, Stevens CE. An 33 assay for circulating antibodies to a major etiologic virus of human non-A, non-B hepatitis. Science 1989; 244: 362-364 [PMID: 2496467 DOI: 10.1126/science.2496467]
- 34 European Centre for Disease Prevention Control. Epidemiological assessment of hepatitis B and C among migrants in the EU/EEA. [cited 13 April 2021]. Available from: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/sites/portal/files/media/en/publications/Publications/epidemiological-assessment-hepatitis-Band-C-among-migrants-EU-EEA.pdf
- European Directorate for the Quality of Medicines & Healthcare (EDQM). Report on the Collection, Testing and Use 35 of Blood and Blood Components in Europe. [cited 13 April 2021]. Available from: https://www.edqm.eu/en/bloodtransfusion-reports-70.html
- Borenstein M, Hedges LV, Higgins JP, Rothstein HR. Introduction to meta-analysis. John Wiley & Sons, 2011 36
- Freeman MF, Tukey JW. Transformations related to the angular and the square root. Ann Math Stat 1950; 21: 607-611 37 [DOI: 10.1214/aoms/1177729756]
- 38 Schwarzer G, Chemaitelly H, Abu-Raddad LJ, Rücker G. Seriously misleading results using inverse of Freeman-Tukey double arcsine transformation in meta-analysis of single proportions. Res Synth Methods 2019; 10: 476-483 [PMID: 30945438 DOI: 10.1002/jrsm.1348]
- Higgins JP, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. BMJ 2003; 327: 557-560 39 [PMID: 12958120 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.327.7414.557]
- Frank C, Mohamed MK, Strickland GT, Lavanchy D, Arthur RR, Magder LS, El Khoby T, Abdel-Wahab Y, Aly Ohn ES, Anwar W, Sallam I. The role of parenteral antischistosomal therapy in the spread of hepatitis C virus in Egypt. Lancet 2000; 355: 887-891 [PMID: 10752705 DOI: 10.1016/s0140-6736(99)06527-7]
- 41 Messina JP, Humphreys I, Flaxman A, Brown A, Cooke GS, Pybus OG, Barnes E. Global distribution and prevalence of hepatitis C virus genotypes. Hepatology 2015; 61: 77-87 [PMID: 25069599 DOI: 10.1002/hep.27259]
- Chemaitelly H, Mahmud S, Kouyoumjian SP, Al-Kanaani Z, Hermez JG, Abu-Raddad LJ. Who to Test for Hepatitis C 42 Virus in the Middle East and North Africa? Hepatol Commun 2019; 3: 325-339 [PMID: 30859146 DOI: 10.1002/hep4.1310]
- Chemaitelly H, Mahmud S, Mumtaz GR, Benova L, Ayoub HH, Kouyoumjian SP. Hepatitis C Virus in the Middle East 43 and North Africa. In: Handbook of Healthcare in the Arab World. Laher I, editor. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2019: 1-27.
- Harfouche M, Chemaitelly H, Mahmud S, Chaabna K, Kouyoumjian SP, Al Kanaani Z, Abu-Raddad LJ. Epidemiology of 44 hepatitis C virus among hemodialysis patients in the Middle East and North Africa: systematic syntheses, meta-analyses, and meta-regressions. *Epidemiol Infect* 2017; 145: 3243-3263 [PMID: 28988562 DOI: 10.1017/S0950268817002242]
- 45 Mahmud S, Al-Kanaani Z, Chemaitelly H, Chaabna K, Kouyoumjian SP, Abu-Raddad LJ. Hepatitis C virus genotypes in the Middle East and North Africa: Distribution, diversity, and patterns. J Med Virol 2018; 90: 131-141 [PMID: 28842995 DOI: 10.1002/jmv.24921]
- Mahmud S, Chemaitelly HS, Kouyoumjian SP, Al Kanaani Z, Abu-Raddad LJ. Key associations for hepatitis C virus genotypes in the Middle East and North Africa. J Med Virol 2020; 92: 386-393 [PMID: 31663611 DOI: 10.1002/jmv.25614]
- 47 Mahmud S, Kouyoumjian SP, Al Kanaani Z, Chemaitelly H, Abu-Raddad LJ. Individual-level key associations and modes of exposure for hepatitis C virus infection in the Middle East and North Africa: a systematic synthesis. Ann Epidemiol 2018; 28: 452-461 [PMID: 29661680 DOI: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2018.03.007]
- 48 Mahmud S, Chemaitelly H, Al Kanaani Z, Kouyoumjian SP, Abu-Raddad LJ. Hepatitis C Virus Infection in Populations



With Liver-Related Diseases in the Middle East and North Africa. Hepatol Commun 2020; 4: 577-587 [PMID: 32258952 DOI: 10.1002/hep4.1491]

- Mahmud S, Mumtaz GR, Chemaitelly H, Al Kanaani Z, Kouyoumjian SP, Hermez JG, Abu-Raddad LJ. The status of 49 hepatitis C virus infection among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa. Addiction 2020; 115: 1244-1262 [PMID: 32009283 DOI: 10.1111/add.14944]
- 50 World Health Organization. Global Database on Blood Safety. GDBS Summary Report 2011. [cited 15 March 2021]. Available from: https://www.who.int/bloodsafety/global_database/GDBS_Summary_Report_2011.pdf



W J M

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Meta-Anal 2022 February 28; 10(1): 25-36

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i1.25

ISSN 2308-3840 (online)

META-ANALYSIS

Effects of dexmedetomidine on cardioprotection and other postoperative complications in elderly patients after cardiac and non-cardiac surgerie

Yang-Liang Yang, Bao-Ji Hu, Jing Yi, Meng-Zhi Pan, Peng-Cheng Xie, Hong-Wei Duan

Specialty type: Anesthesiology

Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Ghannam WM, Liu Y, Raghuraman MS

Received: October 11, 2021 Peer-review started: October 11, 2021 First decision: December 10, 2021 Revised: December 24, 2021 Accepted: February 12, 2022 Article in press: February 12, 2022 Published online: February 28, 2022



Yang-Liang Yang, Hong-Wei Duan, Department of Anesthesia, Pudong Hospital, Shanghai 201399, China

Bao-Ji Hu, Jing Yi, Meng-Zhi Pan, Peng-Cheng Xie, Department of Anesthesiology, Fudan University Pudong Medical Center, Fudan University, Shanghai 201399, China

Corresponding author: Hong-Wei Duan, Doctor, MHSc, Chief Physician, Professor, Department of Anesthesia, Pudong Hospital, No. 2800 Gongwei Road, Pudong New Area, Shanghai 201399, China. duanhongwei120@163.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

After cardiac and non-cardiac surgeries, elderly patients have a high probability of developing cardiac complications and postoperative delirium. Although several clinical trials have investigated whether perioperative intravenous dexmedetomidine can protect the heart and reduce postoperative complications such as delirium in elderly patients, the obtained results have been inconsistent. We conducted a meta-analysis to investigate the effects of dexmedetomidine on cardioprotection and other postoperative complications in elderly patients undergoing cardiac or non-cardiac surgery.

AIM

To investigate the effects of dexmedetomidine on cardiac complications and delirium in elderly patients undergoing cardiac or non-cardiac surgery.

METHODS

The PubMed, Cochrane Library, web of science, and other sources were comprehensively searched for all randomized controlled trials published before May 2021 that investigated the efficacy of dexmedetomidine in the prevention of cardiac and postoperative delirium (POD).

RESULTS

In total, 18 studies involving 1025 patients were included in the meta-analysis. Intravenous dexmedetomidine significantly reduced cardiac troponin I (cTnI) and the inflammatory factor tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) was comparable to the control group. Dexmedetomidine also reduced the POD and mortality rates. However, patients in the dexmedetomidine group were more likely to have a



decreased heart rate (within the normal range) and hypotension during dexmedetomidine administration than those in the control group. There was no difference in the occurrence of myocardial infarction, bradycardia, or stroke between the two groups. Dexmedetomidine significantly shortened the time to extubate; however, it did not shorten the length of stay in the intensive care unit.

CONCLUSION

The administration of dexmedetomidine during cardiac and non-cardiac surgeries can provide myocardial protection by inhibiting inflammation and cTnI, which may be beneficial for the rapid recovery of patients. Meanwhile, the administration of dexmedetomidine reduced the incidence of POD and decreased mortality (in-hospital).

Key Words: Dexmedetomidine; Cardioprotection; Postoperative delirium; Complication; Meta-analysis

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: After cardiac and non-cardiac surgeries, elderly patients have a high probability of developing cardiac complications and postoperative delirium. Although several clinical trials have investigated whether perioperative intravenous dexmedetomidine can protect the heart and reduce postoperative complications such as delirium in elderly patients, the obtained results have been inconsistent. We conducted a meta-analysis to investigate the effects of dexmedetomidine on cardioprotection and other postoperative complications in elderly patients undergoing cardiac or non-cardiac surgery.

Citation: Yang YL, Hu BJ, Yi J, Pan MZ, Xie PC, Duan HW. Effects of dexmedetomidine on cardioprotection and other postoperative complications in elderly patients after cardiac and non-cardiac surgerie. World J Meta-Anal 2022; 10(1): 25-36

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/full/v10/i1/25.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.13105/wjma.v10.i1.25

INTRODUCTION

Elderly patients (> 65 years old) have decreased organ functions and are prone to hemodynamic fluctuations and increased cardiac oxygen consumption, which induces or aggravates myocardial ischemia and hypoxia, leading to severe adverse cardiac events^[1]. Postoperative delirium (POD) in elderly patients undergoing major operations, including heart surgery, is a relatively common and serious complication, which is associated with higher morbidity and mortality, cognitive dysfunction, increased length of hospital stay, and increased medical costs^[2]. In addition, POD, infection, acute renal failure, major adverse cardiac events, and neurological complications, including permanent or transient stroke, coma, perioperative myocardial infarction (MI), heart block, and cardiac arrest, are major complications [3,4]. However, POD is the most common surgical complication in elderly patients aged 65 years and older[5,6]. The occurrence of delirium may significantly extend the length of hospitalization, delayed recovery, delayed cognitive dysfunction, and increased mortality[4]. Dexmedetomidine can reduce the occurrences of POD postoperative pain, nausea, and vomiting[4,7]. Meanwhile, dexmedetomidine can provide rapid and stable recovery and early extubation after surgery by maintaining the patient's hemodynamics[8].

Dexmedetomidine, a derivative of medetomidine, is a highly selective $\alpha 2$ adrenergic receptor agonist [9] that can inhibit the sympathetic nervous system and act on the noradrenergic glands in the locus coeruleus of the pons to inhibit the release of norepinephrine[6,10]. The dorsal vagus nucleus and suspicious nucleus are the human parasympathetic nerve center, and the central area of the parasympathetic nerve is directly controlled by the nucleus tractus solitarius. Because the nucleus tractus solitarius is abundant in a2 adrenergic receptors, the combination of dexmedetomidine and the nucleus tractus solitarius $\alpha 2$ adrenergic receptors can increase the activity of the vagus nerve and reduce the myocardial cAMP production and L-type calcium channel current, which slows down the heart rate, increases coronary blood flow, and plays a role in myocardial protection[1]. In addition, the anxiolytic, sedative/hypnotic, and analgesic effects of dexmedetomidine[2,11], including the intraoperative hemostatic effect, also enhance cardioprotection[12]. Regarding inflammation, dexmedetomidine can block the accumulation of inflammatory cells in the nervous system[10], reduce neuronal damage caused by immune responses, and reduce surgical complications such as stress response and postoperative cognitive impairment to exert its neuronal protection [9,10]. However, high-dose dexmedetomidine can cause adverse reactions such as hypertension, decreased reflex heart rate,



decreased cardiac output, and decreased drug tolerance in elderly patients, requiring special attention to drug dosage[1].

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This meta-analysis was reported according to the statement of the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA)[13]. In addition, this study was not registered with the PROSPERO.

Search strategy

We performed this meta-analysis according to PRISMA guidelines. PRISMA is the minimum set of evidence-based items used for reporting in systematic reviews and meta-analyses, and can be adopted as the basis for systematic reviews for reporting different types of research. We searched 1025 studies from PubMed, Cochrane Library, and Web of Science that were published before May 2021; other search systems focused on 10 studies (Google) to confirm further eligible studies.

We manually screened whether the studies we included met our final research criteria, and then selected 18 of them for research. The basic search strategy included the following words: ("dexmedetomidine"[MeSH Terms] OR"dexmedetomidine"[All Fields]) AND ("cardiac"[MeSH Terms] OR"cardiac" [All Fields]) AND ("aged" [MeSH Terms] OR"aged" [All Fields] OR"elderly" [All Fields]). No language restrictions were applied during the search.

Bradycardia, hypertension, and hypotension were defined as HR < 60 bpm, SBP > 160 mmHg or 20% of baseline, and SBP < 90 mmHg or 20% of baseline, respectively.

Eligibility criteria

We included the following standard studies: (1) Elderly patients (> 65 years old) undergoing cardiac or non-cardiac surgery; (2) We selected a dexmedetomidine group combined with normal saline or other anesthetics, regardless of the initial administration time, dose, duration, or dose; (3) The research content type was randomized controlled clinical trial (RCT); and (4) The research results included hypertension, hypotension, heart rate, cardiac status, complications, POD, stroke, mortality, extubation time, intensive care unit (ICU) time, and cardiac enzyme markers.

Exclusion criteria

Non-randomized controlled trials, case reports, meeting abstracts, and comments were excluded. Including non-elderly surgery and no results of our study were also excluded.

Study selection and data collection process

Two authors (Yang and Hu) independently conducted qualified research selection and data extraction. Disagreements between the two authors were discussed with the third author (Duan) to arrive at the final solution. The extracted data were as follows: first author, annual publication, type of surgery, number of patients, dose of dexmedetomidine, method of anesthesia, hypotension, hypertension, heart rate, myocardial infarction, bradycardia, delirium, stroke, mortality, extubation time, ICU duration, and myocardial enzyme markers.

Risk of bias in individual studies

Two examiners (Yang and Hu) independently used version 2 of the Cochrane tool to assess RCT deviation risk for methodological quality assessment. When the two examiners disagreed, the disagremments were resolved *via* discussions with a third examiner (Duan).

Statistical analysis

We employed a Review Manager 5.0 software (Cochrane Collaboration Company) for rigorous statistical analysis. Risk ratios (RRs) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) and the Mantel-Haenszel method (fixed or random model) were adopted to analyze dichotomous data. For continuous outcomes, the mean differences (MD) or standardized mean differences (SMD) with 95%CIs were calculated. If significant heterogeneity existed ($l^2 > 50\%$), sensitivity analysis was performed, each study was ignored separately, and a random effects model was selected.

RESULTS

As illustrated in Figure 1. We initially identified 1035 studies by searching the database. After screening out duplicate studies, 486 studies entered the next step of screening: 443 studies were excluded because the focused on non-elderly patients, were non-RCT, were unable to obtain full-text qualifications or not published, etc. (Google search); 25 excluded studies did not comply with the statistical data in this



Yang YL et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized-controlled trials



DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i1.25 Copyright © The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 1 Flow chart of study selection.

article. Finally, we included 18 studies that met all eligibility criteria (Figure 1). The basic characteristics of the enrolled studies are presented in Table 1. A summary of the risk of bias is presented in Figure 2. Regarding the blindness of patients, researchers, and evaluators, 11 trials were rated as double-blind low-risk trials, and seven trials were rated as high-risk or unclear-risk trials because related articles were not clear about blindness.

Meta-analysis of intraoperative data

We determined that there was no significant difference in hypertension between the dexmedetomidine and control groups (Figure 3, RR: 0.99, 95% CI: 0.78-1.25, *P* = 0.92, *I*² = 21%). However, 426 patients had hypotension among the 2025 patients, of whom 265 and 161 were in the dexmedetomidine and control groups, respectively. Therefore, it could be inferred that dexmedetomidine had a significant effect on lowering blood pressure (Figure 3, RR: 1.63, 95%CI: 1.40-1.90, *P* < 0.001, *I*² = 2%).

HR was significantly lower in the dexmedetomidine group than in the control group (Figure 4, MD: -8.46, 95% CI: -12.56 to -4.36, P < 0.001). However, heterogeneity I^2 was as high as 87%. Further sensitivity analysis indicated that the heterogeneity decreased to 45% after excluding Shokri and Ali 2020[7], Tosun et al[12] 2013, and Zhou et al[14] 2019. This study was relatively unstable, and the number of included studies needs to be increased in the future.

Meta-analysis of other cardiac complications

In total, six studies investigated the occurrence of MI. In these studies, 26 patients developed MI in the dexmedetomidine group (Figure 5, RR: 0.74, 95% CI: 0.49-1.13, P = 0.16, P = 0.%). However, there was no statistically significant difference between the dexmedetomidine and control groups. In addition, five studies participated in the study of bradycardia, and there was no significant statistical difference between the dexmedetomidine and control groups (Figure 5, RR: 1.51, 95% CI: 0.79-2.89, P = 0.21, $l^2 =$ 63%). However, we performed a sensitivity analysis by excluding Turan 2020 and Zhang 2020, and the heterogeneity decreased to zero (P = 0.004).

Meta-analysis of cardiac troponin I and tumor necrosis Factor-α

The level of cardiac troponin I (cTnI) in elderly patients after surgery was analyzed. The obtained results indicated that the level of cTnI in the dexmedetomidine group was lower than that in the control group after surgery (Figure 6, SMD: -3.14, 95% CI: -5.16 to -1.11, P = 0.002, $I^2 = 97\%$). Statistical heterogeneity was absent when the studies conducted by Elgebaly 2020 and Shen 2017 were excluded, and the obtained results were statistically significant (SMD: -1.00, 95% CI: -1.37 to -0.63, P < 0.001, $I^2 = 0$ %).

As illustrated in Figure 6, the level of Factor- α (TNF- α) in the dexmedetomidine group was lower (SMD: -0.72, 95%CI: -1.30 to -0.13, P = 0.02, $I^2 = 52\%$) after surgery than that of the control group. Sensitivity analysis and subgroup analysis failed to eliminate the heterogeneity; therefore, a randomeffects model was adopted.

Meta-analysis of other complications

Seven studies have demonstrated that the use of dexmedetomidine use is associated with POD. The occurrence of POD was reported in all the RCTs. Notably, the occurrence of POD in the



Yang YL et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized-controlled trials

	aay or	araotoriot					
	No. o in stu	f patients Idy	DEX dose				Outcome
Ref.	DEX	Control	Loading dose (µg.kg¹)	Infusion rate (μg. kg ^{.1} .hr ^{.1})	Surgical procedure	Anesthesia	parameters
Aouad <i>et</i> <i>al</i> [<mark>26</mark>], 2019	48	50	1	N/A	Elective surgery	GA	Hypotension; HR
Cheng <i>et</i> al[<mark>25</mark>], 2016	222	283	N/A	0.24-0.6	Cardiac Surgery	GA	Delirium; MI; Mortality; Stroke
Chi <i>et al</i> [<mark>21</mark>], 2016	34	33	1	0.6	Off-pump coronary artery bypass graft surgery	GA	Hypertension; ICU time
Elgebaly <i>et al</i> [<mark>8</mark>], 2020	30	30	N/A	0.4	Open-heart surgery	GA	HR; cTnI; ET; Length of ICU stay
Ji et al <mark>[3]</mark> , 2013	568	566	N/A	0.24-0.6	CABG or valve surgery or CABG or valve surgery combined with other procedures. patients excluded were those undergoing emergency surgery, off-pump or robotic surgery, surgery requiring deep hypothermic circulatory arrest, or surgery involving the thoracic aorta	GA	Delirium; Mortality stroke; MI
Lee <i>et al</i> [<mark>18</mark>], 2016	20	20	1	0.5	Orthopedic surgery in supine position	GA	HR; Hypertension
Lee <i>et al</i> [2], 2018	95	109	1	0.2-0.7	Laparoscopic major non-cardiac surgery	GA	Incidence of delirium
Li <i>et al</i> [<mark>20], 2020</mark>	309	310	0.6	0.5	Major non-cardiac surgery	GA	Delirium: Length of ICU stay (h)
Ríha <i>et al</i> [<mark>11</mark>], 2012	17	21	1	0.5-1.5	Elective CABG procedures with the use of cardiopul- monary bypass to treat coronary artery disease	GA	Length of ICU stay; MI; ET
Shen <i>et al</i> [1], 2017	30	30	0.5	0.5	Coronary heart disease and underwent gastric cancer operation	GA	Hypotension; cTnI; MI; Bradycardia
Shokri <i>et</i> al[7], 2020	144	142	N/A	0.7-1.2	Coronary artery bypass grafting	GA	Delirium; Hypotension; HR; Bradycardia; ET; Mortality
Soliman <i>et</i> al[<mark>27]</mark> , 2016	75	75	1	0.3	Aortic vascular surgery	GA	Hypertension; HR; MI; Bradycardia; Mortality
Sun <i>et al</i> [<mark>5]</mark> , 2019	281	276	N/A	0.1	Major elective noncardiac surgery	GA	Delirium; Hypotension; Hypertension; Mortality
Tosun <i>et al</i> [<mark>12</mark>], 2013	18	20	0.5	0.5	Coronary artery bypass graft surgery	GA	HR
Turan <i>et al</i> [15], 2020	398	396	0.1	0.2	Cardiac surgery	GA	Hypotension; MI; Bradycardia; mortality; ICU time; Stroke
Zhang <i>et</i> <i>al</i> [16], 2020	120	120	0.5	0.3	Hip Fracture Operation	GA	Delirium; Hypotension; Hypertension; Bradycardia
Zhou <i>et al</i> [<mark>22</mark>], 2019	14	14	0.5	0.5	Valve replacement surgery	GA	cTnI
Zhou <i>et al</i> [14], 2019	53	47	N/A	0.2-0.7	Cardiac surgery	GA	HR; ET; cTnI

CABG: Coronary artery bypass grafting; cTnI: Cardiac troponin I; ET: Extubation time; N/A: Not applicable; DEX: Dexmedetomidine; GA: General Anesthesia; MI: Myocardial infarction; ICU: Intensive care unit.

Baisbideng® WJMA | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 Risk of bias assessment according to cochrane risk of bias methods.

dexmedetomidine group was significantly lower than that in the control group (Figure 7, RR: 0.63, 95% CI: 0.51-0.76, P < 0.001, $l^2 = 0$ %). Low heterogeneity was observed, which we rated as high-quality evidence. We conclude that dexmedetomidine may significantly reduce delirium.

Among the 18 high-quality studies, three studies demonstrated that there was no correlation between the use of dexmedetomidine and postoperative stroke (Figure 7, RR: 1.19, 95% CI: 0.59-2.40, P = 0.62, $I^2 =$ 0%). In addition, regarding mortality, the results indicated that the dexmedetomidine group had lower postoperative mortality than the control group (Figure 7, RR: 0.32, 95% CI: 0.18-0.58, P = 0.0002). There was low heterogeneity among the studies regarding mortality outcomes ($l^2 = 0$).

Meta-analysis of extubation time and ICU length of stay

Extubation time (ET) was recorded in 4 studies including 484 patients. The results demonstrated that the use of dexmedetomidine in the perioperative period can shorten ET in patients compared to control patients (Figure 8, MD: -2.03, 95% CI: -2.87 to -1.18, *P* < 0.001). With low heterogeneity (*I*² = 38%), it can be deduced that dexmedetomidine shortens extubation time after surgery without subgroup analysis. However, regarding ICU length of stay, there was no statistical difference between the dexmedetomidine and control groups (Figure 8, MD: 0.05, 95%CI: -9.11 to -9.21, P = 0.99), and heterogeneity *l*² was also higher at 98%.

DISCUSSION

Dexmedetomidine is a highly selective and effective α 2-adrenergic receptor agonist that can provide dose-dependent sedation, anti-anxiety, and moderate analgesia[15], with minimal inhibition of respiratory functions. The central sympathetic nervous system reduces the systemic inflammatory response after surgery and regulates the immune system[5,16,17].





Test for subgroup differences: $Chi^2 = 12.33$, df = 1 (*P* = 0.0004), $I^2 = 91.9\%$

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i1.25 Copyright © The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 3 Meta-analysis of the incidence of hypertension and hypotension during the operation.

Total Mean	SD Tot	al Weight	IV, Random, 95%CI	IV. Randor	n 05%CI	
48 80.56	10.00			it, italiaoi	n, 93/8CI	
10 00150	10.99 5	0 25.7%	-7.95 [-13.57, -2.33]	-		
20 72.2	11.3 2	0 20.1%	-15.80 [-22.53, -9.07]			
144 82.8	2.17 14	2	Not estimable			
75 87	9 7	5 54.2%	-13.00 [-15.33, -10.67]	-		
18 76	16 2	0	Not estimable			
53 93	25 4	7	Not estimable			
143	14	5 100.0%	-12.27 [-15.84, -8.69]	•		
o1, df = 2 (P = .00001)	$(0.16); I^2 = 4$	5%		-100 -50 0 dexmedetomidine	50 control	100
5	48 80.56 20 72.2 144 82.8 75 87 18 76 53 93 143 i1, df = 2 (P = 00001)	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	48 80.56 10.99 50 25.7% 20 72.2 11.3 20 20.1% 144 82.8 2.17 142 75 87 9 75 54.2% 18 76 16 20 53 93 25 47 143 145 100.0% 101.0% 101.0% 100.0% 100.01<	48 80.56 10.99 50 25.7% -7.95 [$-13.57, -2.33$] 20 72.2 11.3 20 20.1% -15.80 [$-22.53, -9.07$] 144 82.8 2.17 142 Not estimable 75 87 9 75 54.2% -13.00 [$-15.33, -10.67$] 18 76 16 20 Not estimable 53 93 25 47 Not estimable 143 145 100.0% -12.27 [$-15.84, -8.69$] i1, df = 2 (P = 0.16); I^2 = 45% 00001) 0001	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i1.25 Copyright © The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 4 Meta-analysis of heart rate.

First, we compared the occurrence of intraoperative hypertension and hypotension, and determined that dexmedetomidine could increase the risk of intraoperative hypotension; however, it could also lower than the HR within the normal range. This was attributed to the fact that dexmedetomidine stimulates vascular smooth muscle $\alpha 2$ receptors, thereby resulting in a transient increase in blood pressure and a decrease in HR[18]. Studies have shown that dexmedetomidine has an effective sedative effect in heart and vascular surgeries, minimizes the variability of heart rate and blood pressure, and reduces the response of tachycardia to painful stimulation[6,8,19].

Second, we explored cardiac complications and inferred that dexmedetomidine did not increase the occurrence of myocardial infarction and bradycardia[20]; however, it reduced the expression of cTnI and improved the protection of the myocardium. Studies have demonstrated that more bradycardia was observed in dexmedetomidine, which was the expected result of α 2-adrenergic receptor agonists; however, considering that the occurrence of bradycardia was transient, intervention was required, and the proportion of patients was low^[21]. In clinical practice, postoperative administration of small doses of dexmedetomidine might be an acceptable and safe strategy for patients in general surgery wards[5].

cTnI is a highly sensitive and specific marker that is adopted as the gold standard diagnostic marker for myocardial infarction in coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG); cTnI is also a significant predictor of the prognosis of patients with heart diseases[14]. The low postoperative cardiac biomarker cTnI exhibited cardioprotective effects of dexmedetomidine[8]. Regarding inflammation, our study determined that dexmedetomidine reduced the expression of $TNF-\alpha$ compared to the control group. Dexmedetomidine provides end-organ protection via anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, and anti-apoptotic effects[15]. With several basic effects such as surgical intervention, systemic inflammation, and oxidative



Yang YL et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized-controlled trials



DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i1.25 Copyright © The Author(s) 2022.



	Dexme	detomi	dine	e Control			:	Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95%CI	IV, Random, 95%CI
6.1.1 cTnl									
Elgebaly 2020 [8]	0.95	0.1	30	1.8	0.1	30		Not estimable	
Shen 2017 [1]	0.082	0.019	30	0.175	0.041	30		Not estimable	
Zhou 2019 [22]	4.16	1.58	14	6.9	3.73	14	22.1%	-0.93 [-1.71, -0.14]	•
Zhou2 2019 [14]	8.38	2.76	53	14.24	7.8	47	77.9%	-1.02 [-1.44, -0.60]	-
Subtotal (95%CI)			67			61	100.0%	-1.00 [-1.37, -0.63]	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	= 0.00; C	$hi^2 = 0.0$	04, df =	1 (P =	0.84); I	$^{2} = 0\%$			
Test for overall effect:	Z = 5.3	0 (P < 0	.00001))					
6.1.2 TNF-α									1
Zhang 2020 [16]	4.93	0.87	120	5.37	0.81	120	70.0%	-0.52 [-0.78, -0.26]	
Zhou 2019 [22]	19.03	6.83	13	28.09	8.13	13	30.0%	-1.17 [-2.01, -0.33]	
Subtotal (95%CI)			133			133	100.0%	-0.72 [-1.30, -0.13]	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.11; Chi ² = 2.07, df = 1 (P = 0.15); I^2 = 52%									
Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.42$ (P = 0.02)									
									dexmedetomidine control
Test for subgroup differences: Chi ² = 0.65, df = 1 (P = 0.42), I ² = 0%									

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i1.25 Copyright © The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 6 Meta-analysis of cardiac troponin I (cTnI) (mg/L) and TNF-α (tumor necrosis factor-α) (μI/L).

stress, reperfusion after myocardial ischemia increases myocardial injury and leads to myocardial cell apoptosis[22]. The most well-known mechanisms by which dexmedetomidine reduces inflammation include the NF-kB pathway, Toll-like receptors, and several inflammatory mediators[22], which in turn reduce the demand for opioids and benzodiazepines[15]. Several studies have shown that postoperative inflammation may be the cause of POD[2,15]. We also determined that the occurrence of POD reduced more significantly in the dexmedetomidine group than in control group after surgery. In addition, POD occurs within 3 d after the operation and is affected by memory loss and impaired comprehension [6, 23]. Delirium is a frequent postoperative complication in elderly patients after non-cardiac surgery that caused by several stressors, including neurotransmitter imbalance (especially cholinergic deficiency), inflammation, and electrolyte or metabolic disorders[7,15,24]. It has been reported that the incidence of POD in patients undergoing cardiac surgery is 20%-50%, especially in elderly patients admitted to the ICU and patients undergoing orthopedic surgery. This is associated with higher morbidity and mortality, while the longer length of hospital stay is related to ICU time, increased economic burden, and hospital-acquired complications [6,23]. This study also demonstrated that although the use of dexmedetomidine could reduce the postoperative mortality of patients, it did not reduce the risk of postoperative stroke. Studies have also shown that the mortality rate of patients receiving dexmedetomidine in the hospital, 30 d and 1 year later, was significantly reduced[3]. Stroke is a



	Dexmedetomidine		Contr	Control		Risk Ratio	Risk Ratio			
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95%CI	M–H, Fixed, 95%Cl			
4.1.1 delirium						10/10/10				
Cheng 2016 [25]	16	222	31	283	12.2%	0.66 [0.37, 1.17]				
Ji 2013 [3]	31	568	42	566	18.8%	0.74 [0.47, 1.15]				
Lee 2018 [2]	9	95	27	109	11.2%	0.38 [0.19, 0.77]				
Li 2020 [20]	17	309	32	310	14.3%	0.53 [0.30, 0.94]				
Shokri 2020 [7]	12	144	23	142	10.3%	0.51 [0.27, 0.99]				
Sun 2019 [5]	33	281	38	276	17.1%	0.85 [0.55, 1.32]				
Zhang 2020 [16]	20	120	36	120	16.1%	0.56 [0.34, 0.90]				
Subtotal (95%CI)		1739		1806	100.0%	0.63 [0.51, 0.76]	•			
Total events	138		229							
Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 =$	5.23, df = 6 (/	P = 0.51); $I^2 = 0\%$	6						
Test for overall effect:	Z = 4.61 (P <	0.0000	1)							
412 stroke										
Charge 2016 [25]	2	222	-	202	20 50	0 51 [0 10 2 60]				
Cheng 2016 [25]	2	222	5	283	30.5%	0.51 [0.10, 2.60]				
JI 2013 [3]	8	568	6	566	41.7%	1.33 [0.46, 3.80]				
Turan 2020 [15] Subtotal (95%CI)	/	394	4	1239	27.9%	1.73 [0.51, 5.87]				
Total events	17	1104	15	1255	100.070	1.15 [0.55, 2.40]				
Heterogeneity: Chi ² -	1.44 df = 2.0	0 - 0 40	13 - 13	4						
Test for overall effect:	7 = 0.49 (p = 2.0)	0.62)	0, 1 = 0	D						
Test for overall effect.	2 = 0.43 (p =	0.02)								
4.1.3 mortality										
Cheng 2016 [25]	2	222	8	283	15.9%	0.32 [0.07, 1.49]				
Ji 2013 [3]	7	568	26	566	59.0%	0.27 [0.12, 0.61]	_ _ _			
Shokri 2020 [7]	2	144	8	142	18.2%	0.25 [0.05, 1.14]				
Soliman 2016 [27]	0	75	1	75	3.4%	0.33 [0.01, 8.05]				
Sun 2019 [5]	1	281	0	276	1.1%	2.95 [0.12, 72.03]				
Turan 2020 [15]	1	391	1	387	2.3%	0.99 [0.06, 15.77]				
Subtotal (95%CI)		1681		1729	100.0%	0.32 [0.18, 0.58]	◆			
Total events	13		44							
Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 2.78$, df = 5 ($P = 0.73$); $I^2 = 0\%$										
Test for overall effect: $Z = 3.73$ ($P = 0.0002$)										
							0.01 0.1 1 10 100			
Test for sub-second life	CL -2	0.07	46 2 / 2	0.00	?	10/	Favours [experimental] Favours [control]			

Test for subgroup differences: $Chi^2 = 8.03$, df = 2 (*P* = 0.02), $I^2 = 75.1\%$

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i1.25 Copyright © The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 7 Meta-analysis of postoperative delirium, stroke, and mortality (In-hospital). POD: Postoperative delirium.

	Dexmedetomidine Control			Mean Difference			Mean Difference		
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95%CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
5.1.1 ET									
Elgebaly 2020 [8]	5.21	3.98	30	9.23	3.98	30	13.6%	-4.02 [-6.03, -2.01]	•
Ríha 2012 [11]	6.8	2.2	17	8.3	2.1	21	23.1%	-1.50 [-2.88, -0.12]	
Shokri 2020 [7]	5.32	0.66	144	7.15	0.48	142	60.2%	-1.83 [-1.96, -1.70]	
Zhou2 2019 [14]	21	9	53	22	14	47	3.1%	-1.00 [-5.68, 3.68]	+
Subtotal (95%CI)			244			240	100.0%	-2.03 [-2.87, -1.18]	•
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.30; Chi ² = 4.88, df = 3 (P = 0.18); I^2 = 38%									
Test for overall effect:	Z = 4.7	2 (P < 0	.00001))					
5.1.2 ICU time									
Chi 2016 [21]	53.1	10.4	34	41.9	6	33	20.1%	11.20 [7.15, 15.25]	+
Elgebaly 2020 [8]	31.6	5.8	30	47.9	5.2	30	20.5%	-16.30 [-19.09, -13.51]	•
Li 2020 [20]	21	10.47	309	20	9.98	310	20.8%	1.00 [-0.61, 2.61]	•
Ríha 2012 [11]	23.5	11	17	22.8	11.25	21	18.6%	0.70 [-6.41, 7.81]	+
Turan 2020 [15]	51	30.5	393	47	26	389	20.1%	4.00 [0.03, 7.97]	-
Subtotal (95%CI)			783			783	100.0%	0.05 [-9.11, 9.21]	◆
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 104.61; Chi ² = 162.74, df = 4 ($P < 0.00001$); $I^2 = 98\%$									
Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.01 (P = 0.99)$									
									-100 -50 0 50 100
									Favours [experimental] Favours [control]
Test for subgroup differences: $Chi^2 = 0.20$, $df = 1$ ($P = 0.66$), $I^2 = 0\%$									



Figure 8 Meta-analysis of extubation time (h) and intensive care unit length of stay (h). ET: Extubation time; ICU: Intensive care unit.

devastating complication of cardiac surgery. Among patients undergoing different cardiac surgeries, the prevalence of stroke is 1.6%-5.25% [25]; however, the exact cause of postoperative stroke remains unclear. Finally, we found that although the patients receiving dexmedetomidine had a significantly shorter postoperative extubation time than control patients, dexmedetomidine did not significantly shorten the time spent in the ICU. Dexmedetomidine can shorten the time of extubation, which can promote the rapid recovery of heart function in patients[8,9,25-27], reduce the use of psychotropic

Raishideng® WJMA https://www.wjgnet.com
drugs, and facilitate recovery from activities as soon as possible.

CONCLUSION

The administration of dexmedetomidine during cardiac and non-cardiac surgeries can provide myocardial protection by inhibiting inflammation and cTnI, which could be beneficial to the rapid recovery of patients. Furthermore, intravenous dexmedetomidine reduces POD and mortality in patients.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

There was also a consistent conclusion on whether dexmedetomidine had a protective effect on the heart and improved postoperative complications, for which we conducted a meta-analysis.

Research motivation

It has guiding significance for clinical application of dexmedetomidine on the heart and postoperative complications in elderly patients undergoing cardiac or non-cardiac surgery.

Research objectives

Our main goal is to investigate the effects of dexmedetomidine on cardiac complications and delirium in elderly patients undergoing cardiac or non-cardiac surgery.

Research methods

We collected references to randomized controlled trials examining the efficacy of dexmedetomidine in the treatment of cardiac and postoperative complications.

Research results

Dexmedetomidine significantly reduced the cardiac troponin I and he inflammatory factor tumor necrosis factor- α , and reduced the extubation time, postoperative delirium and mortality. It really brings benefits to patients.

Research conclusions

Dexmedetomidine has cardioprotective effects and improves patient postoperative complications.

Research perspectives

In clinical practice, we will study the effect of dexmedetomidine at an appropriate dose on the heart and postoperative complications which will have certain guiding significance.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Yang YL conceived and designed the study; Yi J, Hu BJ and Duan HW collected the data and performed the literature search; Yang YL was involved in the writing of the manuscript; Pan MZ and Xie PC contributed equally to this work; all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Supported by National Health and Family Planning Commission of the People's Republic of China, National Clinical Key Specialty Project Foundation, No. PWZzk2017-06.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare no competing interests.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: We have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China



WJMA | https://www.wjgnet.com

ORCID number: Yang-Liang Yang 0000-0002-5094-6684; Bao-Ji Hu 0000-0001-6768-7984; Jing Yi 0000-0003-1343-6535; Meng-Zhi Pan 0000-0002-2439-9285; Peng-Cheng Xie 0000-0002-9454-9170; Hong-Wei Duan 0000-0002-4725-5583.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: A P-Editor: Liu JH

REFERENCES

- Shen J, Sun Y, Han D, Zhu K, Zhao W. [Effects of dexmedetomidine on perioperative cardiac adverse events in elderly patients with coronary heart disease]. Zhong Nan Da Xue Xue Bao Yi Xue Ban 2017; 42: 553-557 [PMID: 28626102 DOI: 10.11817/j.issn.1672-7347.2017.05.012]
- 2 Lee C, Lee CH, Lee G, Lee M, Hwang J. The effect of the timing and dose of dexmedetomidine on postoperative delirium in elderly patients after laparoscopic major non-cardiac surgery: A double blind randomized controlled study. J Clin Anesth 2018; 47: 27-32 [PMID: 29549829 DOI: 10.1016/j.jclinane.2018.03.007]
- Ji F, Li Z, Nguyen H, Young N, Shi P, Fleming N, Liu H. Perioperative dexmedetomidine improves outcomes of cardiac 3 surgery. Circulation 2013; 127: 1576-1584 [PMID: 23513068 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.000936]
- Park JW, Kim EK, Lee HT, Park S, Do SH. The Effects of Propofol or Dexmedetomidine Sedation on Postoperative Recovery in Elderly Patients Receiving Lower Limb Surgery under Spinal Anesthesia: A Retrospective Propensity Score-Matched Analysis. J Clin Med 2021; 10 [PMID: 33401537 DOI: 10.3390/jcm10010135]
- 5 Sun Y, Jiang M, Ji Y, Sun Y, Liu Y, Shen W. Impact of postoperative dexmedetomidine infusion on incidence of delirium in elderly patients undergoing major elective noncardiac surgery: a randomized clinical trial. Drug Des Devel Ther 2019; 13: 2911-2922 [PMID: 31695323 DOI: 10.2147/DDDT.S208703]
- 6 Bi X, Wei J, Zhang X. Effects of dexmedetomidine on neurocognitive disturbance after elective non-cardiac surgery in senile patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Int Med Res 2021; 49: 3000605211014294 [PMID: 33983077 DOI: 10.1177/03000605211014294]
- 7 Shokri H, Ali I. A randomized control trial comparing prophylactic dexmedetomidine versus clonidine on rates and duration of delirium in older adult patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting. J Clin Anesth 2020; 61: 109622 [PMID: 31668468 DOI: 10.1016/j.jclinane.2019.09.016]
- Elgebaly AS, Fathy SM, Sallam AA, et al Cardioprotective effects of propofol-dexmedetomidine in open-heart surgery: A 8 prospective double-blind study [J]. Ann Card Anaesth 2020; 23: 134-141 [DOI: 10.4103/aca.ACA_168_18]
- 9 Chen M, Li X, Mu G. Myocardial protective and anti-inflammatory effects of dexmedetomidine in patients undergoing cardiovascular surgery with cardiopulmonary bypass: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Anesth 2021 [PMID: 34342722 DOI: 10.1007/s00540-021-02982-0]
- 10 Lu S, Chen X, Chen Q, Cahilog Z, Hu L, Chen Y, Cao J, Ning J, Yi B, Lu K, Gu J. Effects of dexmedetomidine on the function of distal organs and oxidative stress after lower limb ischaemia-reperfusion in elderly patients undergoing unilateral knee arthroplasty. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2021; 87: 4212-4220 [PMID: 33754371 DOI: 10.1111/bcp.14830]
- Ríha H, Kotulák T, Březina A, Hess L, Kramář P, Szárszoi O, Netuka I, Pirk J. Comparison of the effects of ketamine-11 dexmedetomidine and sevoflurane-sufentanil anesthesia on cardiac biomarkers after cardiac surgery: an observational study. Physiol Res 2012; 61: 63-72 [PMID: 22188112 DOI: 10.33549/physiolres.932224]
- 12 Tosun Z, Baktir M, Kahraman HC, Baskol G, Guler G, Boyaci A. Does dexmedetomidine provide cardioprotection in coronary artery bypass grafting with cardiopulmonary bypass? J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2013; 27: 710-715 [PMID: 23725681 DOI: 10.1053/j.jvca.2012.12.013]
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG; PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and metaanalyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS Med 2009; 6: e1000097 [PMID: 19621072 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097]
- 14 Zhou HM, Ling XY, Ni YJ, Wu C, Zhu ZP. Pre-cardiopulmonary bypass administration of dexmedetomidine decreases cardiac troponin I level following cardiac surgery with sevoflurane postconditioning. J Int Med Res 2019; 47: 3623-3635 [PMID: 31234690 DOI: 10.1177/0300060519856750]
- 15 Turan A, Duncan A, Leung S, Karimi N, Fang J, Mao G, Hargrave J, Gillinov M, Trombetta C, Ayad S, Hassan M, Feider A, Howard-Quijano K, Ruetzler K, Sessler DI; DECADE Study Group. Dexmedetomidine for reduction of atrial fibrillation and delirium after cardiac surgery (DECADE): a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2020; 396: 177-185 [PMID: 32682483 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30631-0]
- 16 Zhang W, Wang T, Wang G, Yang M, Zhou Y, Yuan Y. Effects of Dexmedetomidine on Postoperative Delirium and Expression of IL-1β, IL-6, and TNF-α in Elderly Patients After Hip Fracture Operation. Front Pharmacol 2020; 11: 678 [PMID: 32477139 DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2020.00678]
- 17 Sun W, Zhao J, Li C. Dexmedetomidine Provides Protection Against Hippocampal Neuron Apoptosis and Cognitive Impairment in Mice with Alzheimer's Disease by Mediating the miR-129/YAP1/JAG1 Axis. Mol Neurobiol 2020; 57: 5044-5055 [PMID: 32839917 DOI: 10.1007/s12035-020-02069-z]
- 18 Lee SH, Na S, Kim N, Ban MG, Shin SE, Oh YJ. The Effects of Dexmedetomidine on Myocardial Function Assessed by Tissue Doppler Echocardiography During General Anesthesia in Patients With Diastolic Dysfunction: A CONSORT-Prospective, Randomized, Controlled Trial. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016; 95: e2805 [PMID: 26871847 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000002805]
- Klinger RY, White WD, Hale B, Habib AS, Bennett-Guerrero E. Hemodynamic impact of dexmedetomidine 19 administration in 15,656 noncardiac surgical cases. J Clin Anesth 2012; 24: 212-220 [PMID: 22484025 DOI: 10.1016/j.jclinane.2011.07.016]
- 20 Li CJ, Wang BJ, Mu DL, Hu J, Guo C, Li XY, Ma D, Wang DX. Randomized clinical trial of intraoperative



dexmedetomidine to prevent delirium in the elderly undergoing major non-cardiac surgery. Br J Surg 2020; 107: e123-e132 [PMID: 31903588 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.11354]

- 21 Chi X, Liao M, Chen X, Zhao Y, Yang L, Luo A, Yang H. Dexmedetomidine Attenuates Myocardial Injury in Off-Pump Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2016; 30: 44-50 [PMID: 26429360 DOI: 10.1053/j.jvca.2015.06.026]
- 22 Zhou H, Zhou D, Lu J, Wu C, Zhu Z. Effects of Pre-Cardiopulmonary Bypass Administration of Dexmedetomidine on Cardiac Injuries and the Inflammatory Response in Valve Replacement Surgery With a Sevoflurane Postconditioning Protocol: A Pilot Study. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 2019; 74: 91-97 [PMID: 31356535 DOI: 10.1097/FJC.000000000000698]
- Shen QH, Li HF, Zhou XY, Yuan XZ. Dexmedetomidine in the prevention of postoperative delirium in elderly patients 23 following non-cardiac surgery: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 2020; 47: 1333-1341 [PMID: 32215933 DOI: 10.1111/1440-1681.13312]
- 24 Pan H, Liu C, Ma X, Xu Y, Zhang M, Wang Y. Perioperative dexmedetomidine reduces delirium in elderly patients after non-cardiac surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized-controlled trials. Can J Anaesth 2019; 66: 1489-1500 [PMID: 31264195 DOI: 10.1007/s12630-019-01440-6]
- Cheng H, Li Z, Young N, Boyd D, Atkins Z, Ji F, Liu H. The Effect of Dexmedetomidine on Outcomes of Cardiac Surgery 25 in Elderly Patients. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2016; 30: 1502-1508 [PMID: 27435836 DOI: 10.1053/j.jvca.2016.02.026]
- Aouad MT, Zeeni C, Al Nawwar R, Siddik-Sayyid SM, Barakat HB, Elias S, Yazbeck Karam VG. Dexmedetomidine for 26 Improved Quality of Emergence From General Anesthesia: A Dose-Finding Study. Anesth Analg 2019; 129: 1504-1511 [PMID: 31743169 DOI: 10.1213/ANE.000000000002763]
- 27 Soliman R, Zohry G. The myocardial protective effect of dexmedetomidine in high-risk patients undergoing aortic vascular surgery. Ann Card Anaesth 2016; 19: 606-613 [PMID: 27716690 DOI: 10.4103/0971-9784.191570]



WJM

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Meta-Anal 2022 February 28; 10(1): 37-45

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i1.37

ISSN 2308-3840 (online)

META-ANALYSIS

Leptin levels in women with unexplained infertility: A systematic review and meta-analysis

Abdullah Abdulslam Abdullah, Musa Ahmed, Adesina Oladokun

Specialty type: Reproductive Biology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Chava V, Liu Z

Received: November 22, 2021 Peer-review started: November 22, 2021 First decision: December 10, 2021 Revised: December 17, 2021 Accepted: January 27, 2022 Article in press: January 27, 2022 Published online: February 28, 2022



Abdullah Abdulsiam Abdullah, Musa Ahmed, Department of Reproductive Health Sciences, Pan African University Life and Earth Sciences Institute, University of Ibadan, Ibadan 119, Oyo State, Nigeria

Abdullah Abdulslam Abdullah, Department of Biomedical Sciences, Faculty of Veterinary Sciences, University of Gadarif, Gadarif 208, Sudan

Musa Ahmed, Department of Veterinary Surgery, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, AL-Salam University, Al-Fulla 209, West Kordofan, Sudan

Adesina Oladokun, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Department of Epidemiology, University College Hospital, Ibadan 119, Oyo state, Nigeria

Corresponding author: Abdullah Abdulslam Abdullah, MSc, Academic Research, Lecturer, Department of Reproductive Health Sciences, Pan African University Life and Earth Sciences Institute, University of Ibadan, Ibadan 119, Oyo State, Nigeria. bahlol32029@gmail.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Unexplained infertility (UI) is usually used for any heterosexual couple who failed to have a successful clinical pregnancy without identifying clear causes after they undergo all standard fertility tests. Evidence shows that leptin is one of the most accurate biomarkers for UI. Nevertheless, conflicting results regarding leptin levels in women with UI have been reported.

AIM

To find the serum leptin levels in women with UI.

METHODS

All studies written in English and conducted before April 30, 2021 from PubMed/MEDLINE, Embase, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials, ClinicalTrials.gov, Google Scholar, OpenGrey, OATD, and the infertility conference abstract were included. Studies were found eligible if they provided the mean and standard deviation of leptin for the case group and control group. The quality assessment of individual studies was evaluated using the Joanna Briggs Institute Quality Assessment Tool. Data synthesis and statistical analysis were done using STATA software version 16.

RESULTS



A total of 378 studies were reviewed, and just six studies that fulfilled the eligibility criteria were included in this meta-analysis. The pooled result showed that leptin levels were significantly higher in women with UI compared to fertile women, with a standardized mean difference of 0.97 (95% confidence interval: -0.49-2.43). However, heterogeneity across studies was highly significant $(P < 0.00001; I^2 = 98.8\%).$

CONCLUSION

The results of this study suggest that leptin levels are elevated in women with UI compared with fertile women; hence, leptin could be a potential biomarker for UI in women, and it may be useful for identifying women with a high risk of infertility.

Key Words: Leptin; Meta-analysis; Serum level; Unexplained infertility; Women

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: A comprehensive systematic review and meta-analysis was conducted to find the serum leptin levels in women with unexplained infertility. Six studies were included in this meta-analysis, after passing all quality checkups. The pooled result showed that leptin levels were significantly higher in women with unexplained infertility compared to fertile women, with a standardized mean difference of 0.97. Leptin could be a potential biomarker for unexplained infertility in women, and it may be useful for identifying women with a high risk of infertility.

Citation: Abdullah AA, Ahmed M, Oladokun A. Leptin levels in women with unexplained infertility: A systematic review and meta-analysis. World J Meta-Anal 2022; 10(1): 37-45 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/full/v10/i1/37.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.13105/wjma.v10.i1.37

INTRODUCTION

Reproductive medicine has made many breakthroughs in the field of infertility diagnosis and treatment. Following this breakthrough, many untreated infertility cases now can be treated using one of the advanced reproduction methods such as assisted reproductive technologies[1]. Despite this, some infertility cases cannot still be diagnosed or treated using the current methods, especially in developing countries^[2]. This type of infertility is widely known as unexplained infertility (UI)^[3].

UI is usually used for any heterosexual couple who failed to have a successful clinical pregnancy without clear causes after they undergo all standard fertility tests^[4]. Worldwide, the prevalence of UI ranges from 10% to 37% [2,5-7], and females are found to be responsible for at least 50%. The complexity of the reproductive process especially in females[8], makes it very hard to identify the source of UI. Despite this, many studies have been done to find the pathophysiologic basis and the possible relationship between obesity, endocrinological imbalance, genetic factors, immunological factors, and UI[7,9,10], but unfortunately, till now, the pathophysiology and exact role of these factors and how they contribute to UI have not been fully understood. To overcome this diagnostic issue, many serum biomarkers have been used as predictive markers for UI in females. Out of these biomarkers, leptin was found to be one of the most accurate biomarkers[10,11].

Leptin is an adipokinetic hormone that plays a key role in energy homeostasis and body weight regulation, and acts as a neuroendocrine mediator in different body systems, including the reproductive system[12-15]. Leptin is secreted mainly from adipocyte cells in the white adipose tissues, and altered with obesity [16]. Also, it can be produced from other cells related to the reproductive system in both males and females, such as placental syncytiotrophoblast cells, hypothalamus cells, and pituitary cells [12]. Evidence shows that leptin receptors can be found along the hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian (HPO) axis of females. Therefore, leptin has direct regulatory effects, both inhibitory and stimulatory depending on its concentration, on all parts of the HPO axis, and all stages of the reproductive process starting from puberty, menstrual cycle, pregnancy, early embryo development, and lactations[13,17].

In the context of reproduction, several scholars have tried to find a relationship between adipose tissue hormones (adipokines) and the female reproductive system in general, and especially between leptin and ovarian functions. Findings have shown that high leptin concentration inhibited ovarian steroidogenesis, folliculogenesis, and oogenesis. The high level of leptin is associated with low levels of ovarian hormones, estradiol, and progesterone, and the poor quality of produced ova[18-20]. Therefore, it may be considered that the concentration of leptin is related to female infertility, and it could explain some cases of female UI. Meanwhile, studies on the association between leptin and UI reported



conflicting results. Some studies showed that serum leptin levels were higher in women with UI compared with the fertile women[11,19-21], whereas other studies showed that there was no significant difference in leptin in women with UI compared to fertile women[22,23]. Thus, this study was aimed to find serum leptin levels in women with UI by conducting a systematic review and meta-analysis in order to quantitatively pool all findings from the relevant studies.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

All studies that defined UI based on the World Health Organization standard definition and reported the plasma level of leptin in women with UI and fertile women were eligible for this study. Studies were not eligible for this study if: (1) They were reviews, letters, editorials, or studies using animals or cell lines; (2) No healthy control group was included; or (3) The study enrolled participants who had diseases other than UI, and/or were on any kind of medication.

Information sources

The current study was performed according to PRISMA guidelines (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses)[24]. The information was retrieved from electronic and nonelectronic database sources. Electronic sources included: PubMed/MEDLINE, Embase, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials, and ClinicalTrials.gov. Non-electronic sources included: Direct Google search, Google Scholar, OpenGrey, OATD, WorldCat.org, American Society for Reproductive Medicine and Canadian Fertility and Andrology Society (ASRM/CFAS) Conjoint Annual Meeting, Abstracts of the Scientific Oral and Poster Sessions, and European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE) Annual Meeting, Abstracts of the Scientific Oral and Poster Sessions. All those databases were searched from their inception to April 30, 2021, for human studies published in English.

Search strategy

The terms AND, OR, and NOT were used as Boolean search terms to develop the research strategy, and the final search strategy included the use of Title/Abstract related to (Women with Unexplained Infertility) AND (Leptin) taken from the study questions. Non-electronic sources were used combined with direct Google search, Google Scholar, OpenGrey, OATD, and WorldCat.org, American Society for Reproductive Medicine and Canadian Fertility and Andrology Society (ASRM/CFAS) Conjoint Annual Meeting, Abstracts of the Scientific Oral and Poster Sessions, and ESHRE Annual Meeting, Abstracts of the Scientific Oral and Poster Sessions. In addition, a manual search by the investigators was done for the grey literature and unpublished thesis/papers.

Selection process

The selection of the studies was done following these steps: (1) All retrieved studies were exported to the EndNote X9 citation manager, to check for duplication, and then the duplicated articles were removed; (2) Three authors (AA, MA, and SO) screened and evaluated the remaining studies independently by carefully reading the title and abstract, and all studies that mentioned the outcomes of the review [(Women with Unexplained Infertility)/Leptin] in their titles and abstracts were considered for further evaluation based on the objectives, methods, participants, and the key findings, serum levels of leptin in women with UI; (3) Two authors (AA and MA) independently evaluated the quality of the relevant studies against the checklist; and (4) Any discrepancy was resolved by discussion between the two authors (AA and MA), or by asking a third reviewer if consensus could not be reached. The selection process of the studies is presented using PRISMA statement flow diagram (Figure 1).

Data collection process

After the selection of all appropriate articles for this study, the relevant data were extracted by two investigators independently (AA and MA) using a data extraction template and presented using Microsoft Word 2016. The investigators contacted the authors of any study who did not report the aforementioned data (via email) to obtain the original data and after the expiration of the 2-wk timeline, the studies with the missing data that could not be obtained were removed. The extraction template contained author name, year of publication, study design, method of serum leptin measurement, body mass index (BMI), age, sample size, leptin concentration, and the LH/FSH ratio (Table 1). The data extraction accuracy was verified by comparing the data extraction results from the two investigators (AA and MA), who independently extracted the data in a randomly selected subset of papers (30% of the total).

Data items

The main outcome of this study was the serum leptin levels in women with UI, and it was measured by the direct report from the individual studies. To quantify the outcome "serum leptin levels in women



Table 1 Main characteristics of studies included in the meta-analysis

Ref.	Region d	Study design	Method	BMI (kg/m²) Age, years		Sample size		Leptin (mean + SD), ng/mL		LH/FSH		
				UI	Controls	UI	Controls	UI	Controls	UI	Controls	Tauo
Tafvizi and Masomi[20], 2016	Iran	Case-control	EIA	23.6 ± 0.27	23.66 ± 0.33	29.3 ± 4.2	31.03 ± 3.76	40	30	31.20 ± 2.83	24.89 ± 2.94	0.85
Al-Fartosy <i>et al</i> [21], 2019	Iraq	RCT	EIA	22.3 ± 3	21.7 ± 1.4	29.45 ± 6.38	30.92 ± 5.90	63	33	28.4 ± 1.3	27.2 ± 2.3	0.61
Kamyabi and Gholamalizad [<mark>22</mark>], 2015	Iran	Case-control	EIA	24.84	22.26	30	29	30	30	27.83 ± 25.29	31.27 ± 11.02	NR
Kumari <i>et al</i> [11] ¹ , 2017	Indian	Case-control	EIA	24.1 ± 3.9	24.31 ± 3.19	29.53 ± 4.43	29.58 ± 4.01	120	109	68.9 ± 2.46	37.5 ± 1.84	0.85
Baig <i>et al</i> [23], 2019	Pakistan	Case-control	RIA	NR	NR	NR	NR	235	205	35.32 ± 0.9	37.11 ± 1.19	2.16
Demir <i>et al</i> [19], 2007	Turkey	PCS	RIA	25	24.5	29.3	28.9	27	30	7±1	3.4 ± 1	1.17

¹The serum leptin level in the original study was measured in pg, and converted to ng using the standard method.

BMI: Body mass index; EIA: Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; FSH: Follicle-stimulating hormone; LH: Luteinizing hormone; NR: Not reported; PCS: Prospective comparable controlled study; RIA: Radioimmunoassay; RCT: Randomized control trial; SD: Standard deviation; UI: Unexplained infertility.



Figure 1 Flow diagram of the studies included in this meta-analysis.

with UI", the investigators considered studies that reported serum leptin levels in their results. The result is expressed as the mean and standard deviation (SD).

Study risk of bias assessment

The inclusion criteria were appraised for all retrieved articles by using their title and abstract first, and then, the full text was screened to check the quality of each study before the final selection. The following was the quality assessment criteria for the studies in the current review: (1) The diagnosis of female UI occurred after performing all available fertility tests; (2) The sample was representative for the cases and controls; (3) The controls enrolled were taken from the same population; (4) The controls had no any past history of UI; (5) The cases and controls were matched for age or BMI or the two of them together; and (6) The methods which were used to check the serum level of leptin were the same for



WJMA https://www.wjgnet.com

cases and controls for each individual study.

A comprehensive search (electronic/database search, manual search, grey literature search, and unpublished studies search) was done to minimize the risk of bias. The risk of bias from the included studies was individually appraised by three investigators (AA, MA, and SO) using a critical appraisal tool (Joanna Briggs Institute Quality Assessment Tool)[25]. The publication bias for the included studies was checked by visual inspection of the funnel plot and checking the statistical symmetry of the funnel plot using Egger's regression test.

Effect measures

In light of the study objectives, the mean difference was used to synthesize and present the results for the analysis.

Synthesis methods

STATA software version 16 was used to synthesize and analyze the meta-analysis data. The recommendations of the l^2 statistic described by Higgins *et al* [26] (l^2 of 75/100% and above suggesting considerable heterogeneity) were used to perform this meta-analysis. The standardized mean difference (SMD) and 95% confidence interval (CI) were calculated for each study, based on the sample size, study mean, and SD of serum leptin levels in the case and control groups.

The potential publication bias was checked using a funnel plot and Egger's regression test, and it was assumed to be significant if P values were less than 0.10. To identify the sources of heterogeneity, metaregression was performed to evaluate the between-study heterogeneity and to assess the influence of different study features, such as sample size, test method, BMI, and LH/FSH ratio.

The studies were excluded from the final review if: (1) They had missing data; and (2) They had a high risk of bias. The study results were reported according to the PRISMA guidelines and the findings of the included studies are first presented using a narrative synthesis, followed by a meta-analysis chart.

RESULTS

Study selection

As shown in Figure 1, a total of 378 articles were identified through the major electronic and nonelectronic databases, and other relevant sources. A total of 55 studies were removed due to duplication, and the remaining 323 studies were kept for further critical screening. From the 323 studies which were kept in the first phase, 308 were excluded after they went through a very careful screening according to their titles and abstracts. From the remaining 15 articles, 9 studies were excluded due to inconsistency with the study inclusion criteria. Finally, 6 studies that fulfilled the eligibility criteria, involving 515 women with UI and 437 controls, were included for the systematic review and meta-analysis.

Study characteristics

The circulating leptin levels in patients with UI vs controls were evaluated in all 6 studies. In 4 studies, serum leptin levels were measured by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay and by radioimmunoassay in the remaining two studies. Two studies were done in Iran, and one in each in Pakistan, Iraq, India, and Turkey. All studies were matched using both BMI and age. However, one study did not report them, but it stated that "the study was matched using BMI and age". In all included studies, the mean range was between 21.7 and 24.8 for BMI, and between 29 and 31 years for age. In addition, some missing information in the original studies was retrieved from the corresponding authors. Table 1 shows the detailed characteristics of all included studies.

Results of synthesis

Figure 2 shows the result of this meta-analysis. The pooled estimate of the included studies showed that leptin levels were significantly higher in UI cases than in controls, with an SMD of 0.97 (95%CI: -0.49 to 2.43). The heterogeneity across studies was highly significant (P < 0.00001; $I^2 = 98.8\%$), hence the random effect model was employed for the analysis.

Sensitivity and meta-regression analysis

A sensitivity analysis was conducted by sequentially excluding studies from the meta-analysis to further investigate the possible sources of the heterogeneity among the studies, and the results suggested that the meta-analysis result was stable. In addition, multivariate meta-regression was performed to evaluate the influence of several factors that may modify the association between serum leptin levels and UI, including test method, BMI, sample size, and LH/FSH ratio (adjusted P = 0.177, 0.208, 0.997, and 0.15, respectively). However, the results showed that these confounding factors did not substantially affect the heterogeneity. For the test of publication bias, the funnel plots (Figure 3) were visually symmetric and the Egger's test for publication bias yielded a P value of 0.279, hence these results did not provide evidence of a significant effect.



Abdullah AA et al. Leptin levels in women with unexplained infertility

		Treatme	ent		Contro	bl				He	dges's	g	Weight
Study	Ν	Mean	SD	Ν	Mean	SD				with	95%	CI	(%)
Tafvizi & Masomi	40	31.2	2.83	30	24.89	2.94				2.17 [1.58,	2.76]	16.56
Al-Fartosy et al	63	28.4	1.3	33	27.2	2.3	-	-		0.70 [0.27,	1.13]	16.77
Kamyabi & Gholamalizad	30	27.83	25.29	30	31.27	11.02				-0.17 [-0.67,	0.33]	16.68
Kumari et al	120	6.89	2.46	109	3.75	1.84				1.43 [1.14,	1.72]	16.90
Baig et al	235	35.321	.9	205	37.11	1.19				-1.71 [-1.93,	-1.49]	16.95
Demir et al	27	7	1	30	3.4	1		-		3.55 [2.72,	4.38]	16.13
Overall										0.97 [-0.49,	2.43]	
Heterogeneity: $T^2 = 3.27$, I^2	= 98.	81%, H ²	= 83.76										
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(5) = 460.1	4, P =	0.00											
Test of θ = 0:Z = 1.30, P =	0.19												
						-2	0	2	4				
Random-effects REML mod	Random-effects REML model												
					DOI	: 10.13105	j/wjma.v1	0.i1.37	Сору	r ight ©	The /	Author	(s) 2022.





DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i1.37 Copyright © The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 3 Funnel plot for publication bias.

DISCUSSION

The term UI emerged due to the fact that the current knowledge on assessment and treatment of the reproductive system is still inadequate[3]. Many studies have been carried out to find the exact cause of UI and the best diagnostic biomarker. However, leptin has been found as one of the best biomarkers. Leptin displays biological activities by binding and activating specific leptin receptors, which are found in many organs including the hypothalamus-pituitary-ovarian axis (HPO axis) in females. Leptin plays a role in the function of the HPO axis by stimulating the release of gonadotrophin-releasing hormone, gonadotrophins, and aromatase enzymes from the hypothalamus, pituitary gland, and ovaries, respectively[13,15,17,27,28]. Also, the available evidence indicated that a high level of leptin has negative effects on female reproduction due to its inhibitory effect on the HPO axis, ovarian physiology, folliculogenesis, steroidogenesis, and the production and release of oxytocin and prostaglandin[29-32]. In line with available evidence, the current study showed that leptin level was significantly higher in women with UI compared with the control group. Similar results were found when leptin concentrations were pooled in endometriosis and polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) cases, pathological conditions with a strong correlation with infertility. In these studies, leptin levels were higher in women with endometriosis and PCOS groups compared with control groups[33,34].

Studies have suggested that factors like age and BMI have effects on leptin levels, and usually have a positive correlation with female infertility[35,36]. However, in the present study, all the included studies were matched by both age and BMI, and because of that, the effect of age and BMI on leptin level was not examined.

This is the first comprehensive quantitative meta-analysis summarizing available evidence to determine the serum leptin level in women with UI.

aisbideng® WJMA | https://www.wjgnet.com

CONCLUSION

The results of this meta-analysis suggest the presence of elevated levels of leptin levels in women with UI compared with fertile women. Hence, leptin could be a potential biomarker for UI in women, and it may be useful for identifying women at a high risk of infertility. However, further investigations need to be carried out in order to clarify the exact association between leptin levels and UI.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Despite many breakthroughs in the field of infertility diagnosis and treatment, there are still some infertility cases with unknown causes (unexplained infertility). To overcome this diagnostic issue, many serum biomarkers have been used as predictive markers for unexplained infertility in females.

Research motivation

Leptin is one of the most accurate biomarkers for unexplained infertility. Nevertheless, conflicting results regarding leptin levels in women with unexplained infertility have been reported.

Research objectives

The objective of this study was to conduct a systematic review and meta-analysis to find the serum leptin levels in women with unexplained infertility.

Research methods

A systematic literature search was conducted before April 30, 2021 from PubMed/MEDLINE, Embase, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials, ClinicalTrials.gov, Google Scholar, OpenGrey, OATD, and the infertility conferences abstract.

Research results

A total of six articles were included in this meta-analysis after 15 articles had been subjected to full-text evaluations.

Research conclusions

Leptin could be a potential biomarker for unexplained infertility in women.

Research perspectives

The effect of other adipokines should be evaluated in future studies to find their possible relation with female infertility.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Abdullah AA, Ahmed M, and Oladokun A conceived and designed the review, developed the search strings, screened and selected the studies, and drafted the manuscript, and Oladokun A rigorously reviewed the manuscript; Abdullah AA is the guarantor of the review; Abdullah AA and Ahmed M extracted the data, evaluated the quality of the studies, and carried out analysis and interpretation.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare no potential conflict of interest concerning the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Nigeria

ORCID number: Abdullah Abdulsam Abdullah 0000-0003-2534-4953; Musa Ahmed 0000-0003-0224-9718; Adesina Oladokun 0000-0002-5740-7608.



S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: Wang TQ P-Editor: Liu JH

REFERENCES

- Patrizi G, Manna C, Moscatelli C, Nieddu L. Pattern recognition methods in human-assisted reproduction. Int Trans Oper 1 *Res* 2004; **11**: 365-379 [DOI: 10.1111/j.1475-3995.2004.00464.x]
- Abebe MS, Afework M, Abaynew Y. Primary and secondary infertility in Africa: systematic review with meta-analysis. 2 Fertil Res Pract 2020; 6: 20 [PMID: 33292584 DOI: 10.1186/s40738-020-00090-3]
- 3 Mol BW, Tjon-Kon-Fat R, Kamphuis E, van Wely M. Unexplained infertility: Is it over-diagnosed and over-treated? Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol 2018; 53: 20-29 [PMID: 30518485 DOI: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2018.09.006]
- 4 Abdallah KS, Hunt S, Abdullah SA, Mol BWJ, Youssef MA. How and Why to Define Unexplained Infertility? Semin Reprod Med 2020; 38: 55-60 [PMID: 33058088 DOI: 10.1055/s-0040-1718709]
- 5 World health Organization. Infertility 2021 [April 29, 2021]. Available from: https://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/topics/infertility/keyissues/en/
- Abdullah AA, Ahmed M, Oladokun A. Prevalence of infertility in Sudan: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Qatar 6 Med J 2021; 2021: 47 [PMID: 34650907 DOI: 10.5339/qmj.2021.47]
- Abdelazim IA, Purohit P, Farag RH, Zhurabekova G. Unexplained infertility: prevalence, possible causes and treatment 7 options. A review of the literature. J Obstet Gynecol Investig 2018; 1 1: e17-e22 [DOI: 10.5114/jogi.2018.74250]
- Christensen A, Bentley GE, Cabrera R, Ortega HH, Perfito N, Wu TJ, Micevych P. Hormonal regulation of female 8 reproduction. Horm Metab Res 2012; 44: 587-591 [PMID: 22438212 DOI: 10.1055/s-0032-1306301]
- 9 Ehsani M, Mohammadnia-Afrouzi M, Mirzakhani M, Esmaeilzadeh S, Shahbazi M. Female Unexplained Infertility: A Disease with Imbalanced Adaptive Immunity. J Hum Reprod Sci 2019; 12: 274-282 [PMID: 32038075 DOI: 10.4103/jhrs.JHRS_30_19]
- 10 Qu T, Yan M, Shen WJ, Li L, Zhu P, Li Z, Huang J, Han T, Hu W, Zhou R, Li P, Xu L, Huang T, Zhong Y, Gu J. Predictive serum markers for unexplained infertility in child-bearing aged women. Am J Reprod Immunol 2020; 83: e13194 [PMID: 31585484 DOI: 10.1111/aji.13194]
- 11 Kumari P, Jaiswar SP, Shankhwar P, Deo S, Ahmad K, Iqbal B, Mahdi AA. Leptin as a Predictive Marker in Unexplained Infertility in North Indian Population. J Clin Diagn Res 2017; 11: QC28-QC31 [PMID: 28511457 DOI: 10.7860/JCDR/2017/22444.9567]
- Herrid M, Palanisamy SK, Ciller UA, Fan R, Moens P, Smart NA, McFarlane JR. An updated view of leptin on 12 implantation and pregnancy: a review. Physiol Res 2014; 63: 543-557 [PMID: 24908087 DOI: 10.33549/physiolres.932674]
- Mantzoros CS, Magkos F, Brinkoetter M, Sienkiewicz E, Dardeno TA, Kim SY, Hamnvik OP, Koniaris A. Leptin in 13 human physiology and pathophysiology. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2011; 301: E567-E584 [PMID: 21791620 DOI: 10.1152/ajpendo.00315.2011]
- 14 Blüher S, Mantzoros CS. Leptin in reproduction. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes 2007; 14: 458-464
- 15 Pérez-Pérez A, Sánchez-Jiménez F, Maymó J, Dueñas JL, Varone C, Sánchez-Margalet V. Role of leptin in female reproduction. Clin Chem Lab Med 2015; 53: 15-28 [PMID: 25014521 DOI: 10.1515/cclm-2014-0387]
- Mitchell M, Armstrong DT, Robker RL, Norman RJ. Adipokines: implications for female fertility and obesity. 16 Reproduction 2005; 130: 583-597 [PMID: 16264089 DOI: 10.1530/rep.1.00521]
- Khan SM, Hamnvik OP, Brinkoetter M, Mantzoros CS. Leptin as a modulator of neuroendocrine function in humans. 17 Yonsei Med J 2012; 53: 671-679 [PMID: 22665330 DOI: 10.3349/ymj.2012.53.4.671]
- Fornari MC, Sarto A, Berardi VE, Martínez MA, Rocha MG, Pasqualini S, Diez RA. Effect of ovaric hyper-stimulation on blood lymphocyte subpopulations, cytokines, leptin and nitrite among patients with unexplained infertility. Am J Reprod Immunol 2002; 48: 394-403 [PMID: 12607776 DOI: 10.1034/j.1600-0897.2002.01128.x]
- 19 Demir B, Guven S, Guven ES, Atamer Y, Gunalp GS, Gul T. Serum leptin level in women with unexplained infertility. J Reprod Immunol 2007; 75: 145-149 [PMID: 17485120 DOI: 10.1016/j.jri.2007.04.001]
- 20 Tafvizi F, Masomi M. Comparison of Serum Leptin Level in Women with Unexplained Infertility and Fertile Women in Iran. J Obstet Gynaecol India 2016; 66: 466-470 [PMID: 27651647 DOI: 10.1007/s13224-016-0843-9]
- 21 Al-Fartosy AJM, Awad NA, Mahmood RA. A comparative study of leptin, oxidant/antioxidant status and some trace elements in women of healthy control and unexplained infertility in Basrah-Iraq. Indones Biomed J 2019; 11: 327-337 [DOI: 10.18585/inabj.v11i3.915]
- Kamyabi Z, Gholamalizade T. A Comparative Study of Serum and Follicular Fluid Leptin Concentrations among 22 Explained Infertile, Unexplained Infertile and Fertile Women. Int J Fertil Steril 2015; 9: 150-156 [PMID: 26246872 DOI: 10.22074/ijfs.2015.4235
- 23 Baig M, Azhar A, Rehman R, Syed H, Tariq S, Gazzaz ZJ. Relationship of Serum Leptin and Reproductive Hormones in Unexplained Infertile and Fertile Females. Cureus 2019; 11: e6524 [PMID: 32025443 DOI: 10.7759/cureus.6524]
- 24 Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, Shamseer L, Tetzlaff JM, Akl EA, Brennan SE, Chou R, Glanville J, Grimshaw JM, Hróbjartsson A, Lalu MM, Li T, Loder EW, Mayo-Wilson E, McDonald S, McGuinness LA, Stewart LA, Thomas J, Tricco AC, Welch VA, Whiting P, Moher D. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ 2021; 372: n71 [PMID: 33782057 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.n71]
- 25 Jordan Z, Lockwood C, Munn Z, Aromataris E. The updated Joanna Briggs Institute Model of Evidence-Based Healthcare. Int J Evid Based Healthc 2019; 17: 58-71 [PMID: 30256247 DOI: 10.1097/XEB.00000000000155]



- Higgins JP, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. BMJ 2003; 327: 557-560 26 [PMID: 12958120 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.327.7414.557]
- 27 Catalano S, Marsico S, Giordano C, Mauro L, Rizza P, Panno ML, Andò S. Leptin enhances, via AP-1, expression of aromatase in the MCF-7 cell line. J Biol Chem 2003; 278: 28668-28676 [PMID: 12734209 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.m301695200]
- 28 Panwar S, Herrid M, Kauter KG, McFarlane JR. Effect of passive immunization against leptin on ovarian follicular development in prepubertal mice. J Reprod Immunol 2012; 96: 19-24 [PMID: 22989496 DOI: 10.1016/j.jri.2012.07.004]
- 29 Masarwi M, Shamir R, Phillip M, Gat-Yablonski G. Leptin stimulates aromatase in the growth plate: limiting catch-up growth efficiency. J Endocrinol 2018; 237: 229-242 [PMID: 29615477 DOI: 10.1530/JOE-18-0028]
- Ashrafi Mahabadi S, Tafvizi F. Reduction of Soluble Leptin Receptor Levels in Women with Unexplained Infertility and 30 the Effect of Leptin Receptor Gln223Arg Polymorphism on its Serum Level. J Obstet Gynecol Cancer Res 2020; 5: 149-158 [DOI: 10.30699/jogcr.5.4.149]
- Vilariño-García T, Pérez-Pérez A, Santamaría-López E, Prados N, Fernández-Sánchez M, Sánchez-Margalet V. Sam68 31 mediates leptin signaling and action in human granulosa cells: possible role in leptin resistance in PCOS. Endocr Connect 2020; 9: 479-488 [PMID: 32375121 DOI: 10.1530/EC-20-0062]
- 32 Landry DA, Sormany F, Haché J, Roumaud P, Martin LJ. Steroidogenic genes expressions are repressed by high levels of leptin and the JAK/STAT signaling pathway in MA-10 Leydig cells. Mol Cell Biochem 2017; 433: 79-95 [PMID: 28343310 DOI: 10.1007/s11010-017-3017-x]
- Kalaitzopoulos DR, Lempesis IG, Samartzis N, Kolovos G, Dedes I, Daniilidis A, Nirgianakis K, Leeners B, Goulis DG, 33 Samartzis EP. Leptin concentrations in endometriosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Reprod Immunol 2021; 146: 103338 [PMID: 34126469 DOI: 10.1016/j.jri.2021.103338]
- Zheng SH, Du DF, Li XL. Leptin Levels in Women With Polycystic Ovary Syndrome: A Systematic Review and a Meta-34 Analysis. Reprod Sci 2017; 24: 656-670 [PMID: 27798245 DOI: 10.1177/1933719116670265]
- 35 Daghestani MH, Daghestani M, Daghistani M, El-Mazny A, Bjørklund G, Chirumbolo S, Al Saggaf SH, Warsy A. A study of ghrelin and leptin levels and their relationship to metabolic profiles in obese and lean Saudi women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). Lipids Health Dis 2018; 17: 195 [PMID: 30131073 DOI: 10.1186/s12944-018-0839-9]
- Van Zyl S, Van der Merwe LJ, Van Rooyen FC, Joubert G, Walsh CM. The relationship between obesity, leptin, 36 adiponectin and the components of metabolic syndrome in urban African women, Free State, South Africa. South Afr J Clin Nutr 2017; 30: 8-13 [DOI: 10.1080/16070658.2017.1267380]





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com



World Journal of *Meta-Analysis*

World J Meta-Anal 2022 April 28; 10(2): 46-73





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

W J M A World Journal of Meta-Analysis

Contents

Bimonthly Volume 10 Number 2 April 28, 2022

MINIREVIEWS

Is there a role for liver transplantation in the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma in non-cirrhotic liver? 46 Bredt LC, Felisberto IBG, Felisberto DEG

META-ANALYSIS

- Different methods of acupuncture for relief of pain due to liver cancer: A network meta-analysis 52 Mou HY, Chen J, Chen ZY, Du H
- Effect of auricular plaster for primary hypertension in older people: A meta-analysis 63 Qin Y, Lou Y, Shen XY, Gai Y



Contents

Bimonthly Volume 10 Number 2 April 28, 2022

ABOUT COVER

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Meta-Analysis, Zheng Li, PhD, Assistant Professor, Lecturer, College of Health Sciences, Jiangsu Normal University, Xuzhou 221000, Jiangsu Province, China. lizhengcpu@163.com

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Meta-Analysis (WJMA, World J Meta-Anal) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of clinical medicine with a platform to publish high-quality meta-analysis and systematic review articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJMA mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained through meta-analysis and systematic review in a wide range of areas, including medicine, pharmacy, preventive medicine, stomatology, nursing, medical imaging, and laboratory medicine.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJMA is now abstracted and indexed in Reference Citation Analysis, China National Knowledge Infrastructure, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Hua-Ge Yu; Production Department Director: Xiang Li; Editorial Office Director: Jin-Lei Wang.

NAME OF JOURNAL	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS
World Journal of Meta-Analysis	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 2308-3840 (online)	https://www.wignet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
May 26, 2013	https://www.wignet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Bimonthly	https://www.wignet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Saurabh Chandan, Jing Sun	https://www.wignet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wignet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
April 28, 2022	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2022 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2022 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



W J M

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Meta-Anal 2022 April 28; 10(2): 46-51

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i2.46

ISSN 2308-3840 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Is there a role for liver transplantation in the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma in non-cirrhotic liver?

Luis Cesar Bredt, Ingryd Betina Garcia Felisberto, Doroty Eva Garcia Felisberto

Specialty type: Transplantation

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): E

P-Reviewer: Filipec Kanizaj T, Croatia; Granito A, Italy; Rompianesi G, Italy

Received: December 23, 2021 Peer-review started: December 23, 2021 First decision: March 10, 2022 **Revised:** March 21, 2022 Accepted: April 28, 2022 Article in press: April 28, 2022 Published online: April 28, 2022



Luis Cesar Bredt, Surgical Oncology and Hepatobiliary Surgery, Unioeste University, Cascavel 85819-110, Paraná, Brazil

Ingryd Betina Garcia Felisberto, Internal Medicine, Univates University, Lajeado 95914-014, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil

Doroty Eva Garcia Felisberto, Department of Surgery, Nossa Senhora das Graças Hospital, Curitiba 80810-040, Paraná, Brazil

Corresponding author: Luis Cesar Bredt, FRCS (Hon), PhD, Full Professor, Surgical Oncologist, Surgical Oncology and Hepatobiliary Surgery, Unioeste University, R. Universitá ria, 2069, Cascavel 85819-110, Paraná, Brazil. lcbredt@gmail.com

Abstract

Whether liver transplantation (LT) plays a role in the treatment of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in non-cirrhotic liver (NCL) is a matter of debate. The recommendations for LT in this setting are extremely fragile and less welldefined than for cirrhosis-associated HCC. All reports of LT for NCL-HCC revealed that long-term outcomes of these patients are poor, and these dismal figures are justified by the advanced tumor stage at the time of LT, suggesting the presence of systemic micrometastatic disease. The decision-making regarding LT for NCL-HCC is difficult, since specific selection criteria are scarce, and basically the potential candidates are those with unresectable only-liver tumor at admission, or unresectable intrahepatic recurrence post-resection. Besides the surgical aspects regarding the tumor resectability, other phenotypic and genetic characteristics of the tumor should be considered for the indication of LT in this scenario. The present minireview aims to discuss and analyze the last series of LT for NCL-HCC, in order to help clinicians in the decision-making process regarding the role of LT in NCL-HCC treatment.

Key Words: Liver transplantation; Non-cirrhotic liver; Liver; Cancer; Hepatocellular carcinoma; Treatment

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

WJMA https://www.wjgnet.com

Core Tip: The present manuscript aims to discuss and analyze the last series of liver transplantation for hepatocellular carcinoma in non-cirrhotic liver, with a special focus on the indications, prognostic factors and long-term outcomes, in order to help clinicians in the decision-making regarding the role of liver transplantation in the non-cirrhotic liver -hepatocellular carcinoma scenario on the basis of these analyses.

Citation: Bredt LC, Felisberto IBG, Felisberto DEG. Is there a role for liver transplantation in the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma in non-cirrhotic liver? World J Meta-Anal 2022; 10(2): 46-51 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/full/v10/i2/46.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.13105/wjma.v10.i2.46

INTRODUCTION

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) occurs mainly in patients with liver cirrhosis, leading to chronic necroinflammation and hepatocellular regeneration. Nevertheless, HCC can arise in non-cirrhotic liver (NCL) in a proportion of cases that ranges widely from 7% to 54% across the geographic areas and according to the etiology of the liver disease [1-6]. The male predominance is less marked for HCC on NCL (75% men) than HCC on cirrhosis (85% men), and this sex ratio is equal in patients younger than 50 years[7]. These epidemiological data can be extrapolated for fibrolamellar (FL) HCC variant[8,9].

Authors have hypothesized distinct hepatocarcinogenesis in HCC with and without cirrhosis, although it would be an oversimplification to assume that NCL-HCC would occur in a totally healthy liver, because there is a wide range of parenchymal pathology without cirrhosis. In the last decades there was a progressive expansion of non-viral cases and namely of metabolic HCC in non-cirrhotic patients[10]. It has been reported that the role of alcohol intake is an independent predictor in noncirrhotic subjects with chronic hepatitis B virus infection of HCC development[11] and an extremely variable HCC recurrence risk and survival in successfully treated hepatitis C virus-infected patients [12]. Therefore, the histological background of NCL-HCC can include liver steatosis, hepatitis, genotoxic substances, metabolic diseases, germline mutations, and liver adenomas[13].

In general, NCL-HCC is detected at an advanced stage, and the diagnosis is made when clinical symptoms and signs related to the enlarged lesion appear, such as pain and abdominal discomfort, and a palpable tumor have occurred. Whereas the clinical presentation can be aggressive, distinct from HCC that occurs in a cirrhotic background, the preserved liver function in NCL-HCC scenario allows more extensive liver resections. Despite these high rates of R0 resections, the outcomes are dismal, and may be theoretically justified by the presence of systemic micrometastatic disease[14].

Differently from the extensive experience of referral centers with liver transplantation (LT) for the treatment of HCC in cirrhotic liver, the LT criteria for the treatment of NCL-HCC is not sharply defined, and actually is basically limited to situations in which resection is not possible. Moreover, while the survival rates of the larger group of HCC patients with cirrhosis treated with LT has been extensively published, there are few retrospective series regarding the prognosis and long-term survival evaluation of NCL-HCC after this treatment.

The present minireview aims to discuss and analyze the last series of LT for NCL-HCC, with special focus on the indications, prognostic factors and long-term outcomes, in order to help clinicians for decision-making regarding the role of LT in the NCL-HCC scenario on the basis of these analyses.

TECHNICAL RESECTABILITY DETERMINATION

Despite the enlarged tumor burden, the preserved function of NCL generally offers the chance of performing extended liver resections safely, with totally acceptable perioperative mortality (0%-6%) and morbidity (8%–40%) of these patients[15-17].

One of the cornerstones for the indication of primary or rescue LT for NCL-HCC relies on the tumor's unresectability. The assessment of resectability differs from HCC in cirrhosis since the liver parenchyma is healthy or only minimally diseased. More extensive resections are feasible, therefore the resectability rates are higher. On the other hand, these tumors are often very bulky at presentation and are prone to vascular invasion of large vessels.

The surgical treatment strategy for both resection and LT should be directed towards R0 resection whenever possible, with both 'oncological' (prognostic) and 'technical' (surgical) criteria being considered. The technical unresectability does not always mean that the LT is indicated, because unfavorable prognostic criteria may preclude patients from succeeding even with LT.

Initially the first attempt would be the work-up for any evidence of extrahepatic disease, such as metastasis to lymph nodes, lung, or bone, that would be a formal contra-indication for both resection and LT. The evidence of homolateral or contralateral satellite nodules denotes widespread intra-hepatic



dissemination. It is crucial that an accurate assessment of tumor vascular relationships, the evaluation of the intersection of the hepatic veins with the inferior vena cava must be done, and an eventual tumoral thrombus in the portal vein trunk or branches may preclude the resection. Finally, the quality of the underlying liver parenchyma should be accessed with estimation of the future liver remnant, that would be insufficient despite no underlying cirrhosis^[18].

LONG-TERM OUTCOMES AFTER LT FOR NCL-HCC

For all the wide indications of LT, they must have comparable outcomes. If a strict disease does not, then it must cause no undue prejudice to other recipients with a better prognosis[19]. The Milan criteria conception is the ideal example for this statement, and the current benchmark for LT for HCC in cirrhotic patients, because the overall 5-year survival rate of 65%-78% for Milan-in patients^[20] is similar to 70%-82% survival for benign indications. In general, a 5-year overall survival rate of > 50% is recommended by the liver-transplant community in the face of liver grafts scarcity[21]. Thus, the indication of LT for NCL-HCC must be comprehensively analyzed.

Liver resection is currently the best upfront therapy for NCL-HCC[22-24]. However, in this section the role of LT in the setting of unresectable HCC at presentation or because of tumor recurrence following resection will be discussed. There is limited literature that reports the long-term survival of the subgroup NCL-HCC patients treated by LT, and the available series (Table 1) have limitations, mainly because of its retrospective and eventually multicenter design, and in some cases the reduced number of patients.

A systematic review that included all very early reported cases of LT for NCL- HCC from 1966 to 1998 revealed poor long-term outcome of these patients. The 5-year survival rates were 11.2% for non-FL-HCC and 39.4% for FL-HCC[24-26]. In the most recent series with 105 NCL-HCC transplant patients reported by Mergental et al[27] a 5-year overall survival of 49% was observed. For 62 patients, LT was the primary treatment with a 5-year overall survival of 43%, and for 43 patients, LT was a rescue treatment after resection, with a 5-year overall survival of 58%. Pathological data showed more favorable tumor characteristics in the rescue-LTs compared to primary-LTs (TNM staging, median size of largest tumor, number of patients Milan-in, and number of patients with serum alpha-fetoprotein level < 100 ng/mL). Rescue-LT within 12 mo after resection was the significant predictor for long-term survival.

A specific question must be addressed regarding FL-HCC, which historically the patients with FL-HCC appear to have a better prognosis, as shown by Houben and McCall^[24]. Kakar et al^[28] clearly showed that the outcomes of FL-HCC and NC-HCC are similar when same-stage diseases are considered and when the proliferative activities of these tumor variants (Ki-67) are similar[23,26]. Enlarging cohorts, including non-FL and FL-HCC with no distinction, would allow better predictions of the role of LT in patients with NCL-HCC. The analysis of the larger will be a major step forward to a better insight of the indication for LT in this scenario[14].

SELECTION OF CANDIDATES FOR LIVER TRANSPLANTATION

The risk factors for recurrence rate after resection could be very helpful in identifying NCL-HCC candidates for LT[14]. Authors have already hypothesized tumor characteristics that would be potential prognostic factors for recurrence after LT (Table 2). The small number of patients within these series, however, leads the conclusions from these studies to be handled with caution.

According to Mergental *et al*^[29], lymph node invasion and macrovascular invasion were suggested to be the main predictors of recurrence after LT. Later, the same author also showed that a time period of less than 12 mo between the previous resection and tumor recurrence was a significant risk factor for poor survival. This short time span probably would reflect a more aggressive biology[27].

Data on 4373 non-cirrhotic HCC patients who underwent LT for NCL-HCC from a large database were analyzed using logistic regression model and life table methods. The identified factors that significantly related to survival were the total number of tumors, extrahepatic disease, nodal involvement, satellite lesions, vascular invasion, tumor grade and pre-LT treatment[30].

The identified variables for poor prognosis in the published studies are based on the pathological analysis of the explanted livers. Furthermore, the goal would be the evaluation of the predictors before the LT indication, such as tumor imaging at listing, lymph node involvement, the response to previous treatments, and the kinetics of the tumor growth. In the case of rescue-LT patients, the imaging characteristics before resection and the pathological characteristics of the resected tumor are crucial to assess candidates for LT at the time of recurrence[19].

The suggested favorable prognostic factors[19,23,27] such as alpha-fetoprotein level (< 100 ng/mL), tumor number (< 4), tumor diameter (< 5 cm) and no vascular and node involvement assessed on imaging at listing, would refine the selection of patients for LT for NCL-HCC, decreasing therefore, eventual futile procedures.



Table 1 Selected series that addressed the long-term survival of patients with non-cirrhotic liver - hepatocellular carcinoma treated with primary or rescue liver transplantation

Ref.	HCC variant	n	Recurrence rate (%)	5-year OS (%)
Pichlmayr et al[22], 1995	FL	36	38.0	49.0
Pinna et al[23], 1997	FL	13	69.2	36.3
Schlitt et al[25], 1999	FL	25	NR	27.0
El-Gazzaz et al[26], 2000	FL	9	44.0	50.0
Mergental et al[27], 2012	NS	105	48.5	53.5

HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; OS: Overall survival; FL: Fibrolamellar; NR: Not reported; NS: Not specified.

Table 2 Series of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma in non-cirrhotic liver treated with liver transplantation with reported risk factors for poor prognosis

Ref.	Risk factors
Pichlmayr et al[22], 1995	> 1 tumor; lymph node invasion
Pinna et al[23], 1997	Tumor stage; macrovascular invasion; lymph node invasion
El-Gazzaz et al[<mark>26</mark>], 2000	Tumor stage
Mergental et al[27], 2012	Macrovascular invasion; lymph node involvement; time interval between resection and LT < 1 yr $$

LT: Liver transplantation.

PROGNOSTIC GENETIC INFORMATION ON NCL-HCC

Recently, genetic information regarding NCL-HCC prognosis can ultimately aid the selection of candidates for LT. Clinical data analysis indicated that increased PKM2 expression in NCL-HCC was correlated with tumor vascular invasion and intrahepatic metastasis, and positive PKM2 expression was an independent poor prognostic factor for recurrence[31]. Some studies have found that the level of activity regulator of SIRT1 in NCL-HCC is significantly correlated with tumor size, vascular invasion, and tumor differentiation, consequently with disease-free survival rates[32].

MiRs are 18-25 nucleotide noncoding RNAs that can regulate gene expression. A high expression of hsa-mir-149 was found to be a risk factor for poor prognosis, and an increased hsa-miR-23c expression was associated with improved survival in patients with HCC-NCL[33]. Similarly, miR-21 levels are generally increased in HCC-NCL[33,34].

CONCLUSION

The recommendations for LT in this setting of NCL-HCC are fragile and less well-defined than for cirrhosis-associated HCC. The decision-making for LT is still difficult, since specific selection criteria are scarce. Resection must be the upfront therapy for these patients, and LT must be offered only for patients with recurrence after resection or with unresectable disease at presentation. However, besides technical unresectability, other phenotypic and genetic characteristics of the tumor should be considered for selecting patients for LT in the NCL-HCC scenario, avoiding futile procedures.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: All authors contributed equally to this review article; all authors equally contributed to this paper with conception and design of the study, literature review and analysis, drafting and critical revision and editing, and final approval of the final version.

Conflict-of-interest statement: No potential conflicts of interest. No financial support.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-



NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Brazil

ORCID number: Luis Cesar Bredt 0000-0002-8487-1790; Ingryd Betina Garcia Felisberto 0000-0003-3621-9525; Doroty Eva Garcia Felisberto 0000-0002-1693-0566.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Liu JH

REFERENCES

- Okuda K, Nakashima T, Kojiro M, Kondo Y, Wada K. Hepatocellular carcinoma without cirrhosis in Japanese patients. 1 Gastroenterology 1989; 97: 140-146 [PMID: 2542116 DOI: 10.1016/0016-5085(89)91427-3]
- Kew MC, Popper H. Relationship between hepatocellular carcinoma and cirrhosis. Semin Liver Dis 1984; 4: 136-146 2 [PMID: 6087459 DOI: 10.1055/s-2008-1040653]
- Calvet X, Bruix J, Brú C, Ginés P, Vilana R, Solé M, Ayuso MC, Bruguera M, Rodes J. Natural history of hepatocellular carcinoma in Spain. Five year's experience in 249 cases. J Hepatol 1990; 10: 311-317 [PMID: 2164055 DOI: 10.1016/0168-8278(90)90138-h
- 4 Stroffolini T, Andreone P, Andriulli A, Ascione A, Craxi A, Chiaramonte M, Galante D, Manghisi OG, Mazzanti R, Medaglia C, Pilleri G, Rapaccini GL, Simonetti RG, Taliani G, Tosti ME, Villa E, Gasbarrini G. Characteristics of hepatocellular carcinoma in Italy. J Hepatol 1998; 29: 944-952 [PMID: 9875641 DOI: 10.1016/s0168-8278(98)80122-0]
- 5 Trevisani F, D'Intino PE, Caraceni P, Pizzo M, Stefanini GF, Mazziotti A, Grazi GL, Gozzetti G, Gasbarrini G, Bernardi M. Etiologic factors and clinical presentation of hepatocellular carcinoma. Differences between cirrhotic and noncirrhotic Italian patients. Cancer 1995; 75: 2220-2232 [PMID: 7536121 DOI: 10.1002/1097-0142(19950501)75:9<2220::aid-cncr2820750906>3.0.co;2-4
- 6 Nzeako UC, Goodman ZD, Ishak KG. Hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhotic and noncirrhotic livers. A clinicohistopathologic study of 804 North American patients. Am J Clin Pathol 1996; 105: 65-75 [PMID: 8561091 DOI: 10.1093/ajcp/105.1.65
- Xu L, Huang L, Li BK, Zhang YQ, Li JQ, Yuan YF. Clinicopathologic features and long-term outcomes of Chinese patients with hepatocellular carcinoma in non-cirrhotic liver. Dig Surg 2008; 25: 376-382 [PMID: 19005256 DOI: 10.1159/000170881]
- Rahbari NN, Mehrabi A, Mollberg NM, Müller SA, Koch M, Büchler MW, Weitz J. Hepatocellular carcinoma: current management and perspectives for the future. Ann Surg 2011; 253: 453-469 [PMID: 21263310 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e31820d944f
- Trevisani F, Frigerio M, Santi V, Grignaschi A, Bernardi M. Hepatocellular carcinoma in non-cirrhotic liver: a reappraisal. Dig Liver Dis 2010; 42: 341-347 [PMID: 19828388 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2009.09.002]
- Bucci L, Garuti F, Lenzi B, Pecorelli A, Farinati F, Giannini EG, Granito A, Ciccarese F, Rapaccini GL, Di Marco M, 10 Caturelli E, Zoli M, Borzio F, Sacco R, Cammà C, Virdone R, Marra F, Felder M, Morisco F, Benvegnù L, Gasbarrini A, Svegliati-Baroni G, Foschi FG, Missale G, Masotto A, Nardone G, Colecchia A, Bernardi M, Trevisani F; Italian Liver Cancer (ITA. LI.CA) group. The evolutionary scenario of hepatocellular carcinoma in Italy: an update. Liver Int 2017; 37: 259-270 [PMID: 27427866 DOI: 10.1111/liv.13204]
- 11 Bedogni G, Miglioli L, Masutti F, Ferri S, Castiglione A, Lenzi M, Crocè LS, Granito A, Tiribelli C, Bellentani S. Natural course of chronic HCV and HBV infection and role of alcohol in the general population: the Dionysos Study. Am J Gastroenterol 2008; 103: 2248-2253 [PMID: 18637095 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2008.01948.x]
- 12 Cabibbo G, Petta S, Barbàra M, Missale G, Virdone R, Caturelli E, Piscaglia F, Morisco F, Colecchia A, Farinati F, Giannini E, Trevisani F, Craxì A, Colombo M, Cammà C; ITA. LI.CA study group. A meta-analysis of single HCVuntreated arm of studies evaluating outcomes after curative treatments of HCV-related hepatocellular carcinoma. Liver Int 2017; 37: 1157-1166 [PMID: 28061016 DOI: 10.1111/liv.13357]
- Desai A, Sandhu S, Lai JP, Sandhu DS. Hepatocellular carcinoma in non-cirrhotic liver: A comprehensive review. World J Hepatol 2019; 11: 1-18 [PMID: 30705715 DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v11.i1.1]
- 14 Lerut J, Mergental H, Kahn D, Albuquerque L, Marrero J, Vauthey JN, Porte RJ. Place of liver transplantation in the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma in the normal liver. Liver Transpl 2011; 17 Suppl 2: S90-S97 [PMID: 21796760 DOI: 10.1002/lt.223931
- Bismuth H, Chiche L, Castaing D. Surgical treatment of hepatocellular carcinomas in noncirrhotic liver: experience with 15 68 liver resections. World J Surg 1995; 19: 35-41 [PMID: 7740808 DOI: 10.1007/BF00316977]
- Lubrano J, Huet E, Tsilividis B, François A, Goria O, Riachi G, Scotté M. Long-term outcome of liver resection for hepatocellular carcinoma in noncirrhotic nonfibrotic liver with no viral hepatitis or alcohol abuse. World J Surg 2008; 32: 104-109 [PMID: 18026787 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-007-9291-0]
- 17 Bège T, Le Treut YP, Hardwigsen J, Ananian P, Richa H, Campan P, Garcia S. Prognostic factors after resection for hepatocellular carcinoma in nonfibrotic or moderately fibrotic liver. A 116-case European series. J Gastrointest Surg 2007; 11: 619-625 [PMID: 17468920 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-006-0023-9]
- Alkofer B, Lepennec V, Chiche L. Hepatocellular cancer in the non-cirrhotic liver. J Visc Surg 2011; 148: 3-11 [PMID:



21306970 DOI: 10.1016/j.jviscsurg.2010.12.012]

- 19 Decaens T, Laurent A, Luciani A. Liver transplantation for hepatocellular carcinoma in non-cirrhotic livers regardless of the number and size of tumours? J Hepatol 2012; 57: 235-236 [PMID: 22584453 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2012.05.001]
- 20 Mazzaferro V, Bhoori S, Sposito C, Bongini M, Langer M, Miceli R, Mariani L. Milan criteria in liver transplantation for hepatocellular carcinoma: an evidence-based analysis of 15 years of experience. Liver Transpl 2011; 17 Suppl 2: S44-S57 [PMID: 21695773 DOI: 10.1002/lt.22365]
- Neuberger J, James O. Guidelines for selection of patients for liver transplantation in the era of donor-organ shortage. 21 Lancet 1999; 354: 1636-1639 [PMID: 10560692 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(99)90002-8]
- Pichlmayr R, Weimann A, Oldhafer KJ, Schlitt HJ, Klempnauer J, Bornscheuer A, Chavan A, Schmoll E, Lang H, Tusch 22 G. Role of liver transplantation in the treatment of unresectable liver cancer. World J Surg 1995; 19: 807-813 [PMID: 8553670 DOI: 10.1007/BF00299775]
- Pinna AD, Iwatsuki S, Lee RG, Todo S, Madariaga JR, Marsh JW, Casavilla A, Dvorchik I, Fung JJ, Starzl TE. Treatment 23 of fibrolamellar hepatoma with subtotal hepatectomy or transplantation. Hepatology 1997; 26: 877-883 [PMID: 9328308 DOI: 10.1002/hep.510260412]
- 24 Houben KW, McCall JL. Liver transplantation for hepatocellular carcinoma in patients without underlying liver disease: a systematic review. Liver Transpl Surg 1999; 5: 91-95 [PMID: 10071346 DOI: 10.1002/lt.500050201]
- 25 Schlitt HJ, Neipp M, Weimann A, Oldhafer KJ, Schmoll E, Boeker K, Nashan B, Kubicka S, Maschek H, Tusch G, Raab R, Ringe B, Manns MP, Pichlmayr R. Recurrence patterns of hepatocellular and fibrolamellar carcinoma after liver transplantation. J Clin Oncol 1999; 17: 324-331 [PMID: 10458250 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.1999.17.1.324]
- 26 El-Gazzaz G, Wong W, El-Hadary MK, Gunson BK, Mirza DF, Mayer AD, Buckels JA, McMaster P. Outcome of liver resection and transplantation for fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinoma. Transpl Int 2000; 13 Suppl 1: S406-S409 [PMID: 11112043 DOI: 10.1007/s001470050372]
- 27 Mergental H, Adam R, Ericzon BG, Kalicinski P, Mühlbacher F, Höckerstedt K, Klempnauer JL, Friman S, Broelsch CE, Mantion G, Fernandez-Sellez C, van Hoek B, Fangmann J, Pirenne J, Muiesan P, Königsrainer A, Mirza DF, Lerut J, Detry O, Le Treut YP, Mazzaferro V, Löhe F, Berenguer M, Clavien PA, Rogiers X, Belghiti J, Kóbori L, Burra P, Wolf P, Schareck W, Pisarski P, Foss A, Filipponi F, Krawczyk M, Wolff M, Langrehr JM, Rolles K, Jamieson N, Hop WC, Porte RJ. Liver transplantation for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma in normal livers. J Hepatol 2012; 57: 297-305 [PMID: 22521348 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2012.03.022]
- 28 Kakar S, Burgart LJ, Batts KP, Garcia J, Jain D, Ferrell LD. Clinicopathologic features and survival in fibrolamellar carcinoma: comparison with conventional hepatocellular carcinoma with and without cirrhosis. Mod Pathol 2005; 18: 1417-1423 [PMID: 15920538 DOI: 10.1038/modpathol.3800449]
- 29 Mergental H, Porte RJ. Liver transplantation for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma in patients without liver cirrhosis. *Transpl Int* 2010; 23: 662-667 [PMID: 20345561 DOI: 10.1111/j.1432-2277.2010.01076.x]
- 30 Shavelle RM, Kwak JH, Saur R, Brooks JC, Rosenthal P. Life Expectancy after Liver Transplantation for Non-Cirrhotic Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Prog Transplant 2021; 31: 117-125 [PMID: 33722096 DOI: 10.1177/15269248211002793]
- Liu Y, Wu H, Mei Y, Ding X, Yang X, Li C, Deng M, Gong J. Clinicopathological and prognostic significance of PKM2 31 protein expression in cirrhotic hepatocellular carcinoma and non-cirrhotic hepatocellular carcinoma. Sci Rep 2017; 7: 15294 [PMID: 29127353 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-017-14813-y]
- 32 Kwon JH, Ahn KS, Moon YH, Park JY, Wang HJ, Choi KY, Kim G, Joh JW, Lee KG, Kang KJ. AROS Is a Significant Biomarker for Tumor Aggressiveness in Non-cirrhotic Hepatocellular Carcinoma. J Korean Med Sci 2015; 30: 1253-1259 [PMID: 26339164 DOI: 10.3346/jkms.2015.30.9.1253]
- Mei Y, You Y, Xia J, Gong JP, Wang YB. Identifying Differentially Expressed MicroRNAs Between Cirrhotic and Non-33 Cirrhotic Hepatocellular Carcinoma and Exploring Their Functions Using Bioinformatic Analysis. Cell Physiol Biochem 2018; 48: 1443-1456 [PMID: 30064138 DOI: 10.1159/000492254]
- Salvi A, Abeni E, Portolani N, Barlati S, De Petro G. Human hepatocellular carcinoma cell-specific miRNAs reveal the differential expression of miR-24 and miR-27a in cirrhotic/non-cirrhotic HCC. Int J Oncol 2013; 42: 391-402 [PMID: 23229173 DOI: 10.3892/ijo.2012.1716]



WJMA https://www.wjgnet.com

W J M

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Meta-Anal 2022 April 28; 10(2): 52-62

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i2.52

ISSN 2308-3840 (online)

META-ANALYSIS

Different methods of acupuncture for relief of pain due to liver cancer: A network meta-analysis

Hong-Yuan Mou, Jing Chen, Zuo-Yun Chen, Hong Du

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): E

P-Reviewer: Gong X, China; Yang M, United States; Yang H, China

Received: August 12, 2021 Peer-review started: August 12, 2021

First decision: October 2, 2021 Revised: October 15, 2021 Accepted: March 5, 2022 Article in press: March 5, 2022 Published online: April 28, 2022



Hong-Yuan Mou, Jing Chen, Zuo-Yun Chen, Department of Traditional Chinese Medicine, People's Hospital of Lichuan, Lichuan 445400, Hubei Province, China

Hong Du, Preventive Treatment Center, Central Hospital of Enshi Prefecture, Enshi 445000, Hubei Province, China

Corresponding author: Zuo-Yun Chen, BM BCh, Chief Doctor, Department of Traditional Chinese Medicine, People's Hospital of Lichuan, No. 12 Longchuan Road, Lichuan 445400, Hubei Province, China. 1513588676@qq.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Pain in the liver is a common symptom of liver cancer in late stages, and the pain incidence rate exceeds 50%[1]. In serious cancer pain, morphine and other major analgesics have been commonly administrated for clinical treatments, and their effects are accurate, but with a high incidence of side effects, such as nausea, vomiting, constipation, and other conditions. Acupuncture is a traditional Chinese medicine therapy. There have been many randomized controlled trials addressing the safety and usefulness of different methods of acupuncture in alleviating liver cancer pain. However, which of these methods is the most effective method is still unclear.

AIM

To compare the effectiveness of different acupuncture methods for alleviating pain due to liver cancer.

METHODS

Eligible studies were retrieved from eight databases (the Cochrane Library, PubMed, EMBASE, Medline, CNKI, CBM, Chongqing VIP, and Wan Fang Database) up to March 31, 2021 and screened based on the established inclusion and exclusion criteria. The quality of the include studies was evaluated. Stata software was applied for statistical analyses. Publication bias of the included studies was also determined. Finally, the network meta-analysis was carried out to evaluate the efficacy of acupuncture methods for relief of pain due to liver cancer.

RESULTS

A total of eight randomized controlled trials were included in the network metaanalysis. Eight trials (covering 5 treatments and 734 patients) provided data



suitable for analysis. Most trials focused on short-term effects and many were classed as being of poor quality with a high risk of bias, commonly associated with lack of blinding (which was sometimes impossible to achieve). End of treatment results showed that four interventions, including wrist-ankle acupuncture, triple puncture and remaining needle acupuncture, Tian Yuan acupuncture, and block acupuncture, produced a statistically significant reduction in pain when compared with the three-step analgesic ladder therapy. The surface under the cumulative ranking sorting results showed that triple puncture and remaining needle acupuncture had a relatively high effective rate.

CONCLUSION

The network meta-analysis results indicate that the overall effectiveness of triple puncture and remaining needle acupuncture is better than the other therapies.

Key Words: Pain; Liver cancer; Acupuncture; Network meta-analysis; Effectiveness; Three-step analgesic ladder

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Seventy-five percent of patients with liver cancer suffer varying degrees of pain. Pain is widely perceived as the fifth vital sign in cancer patients, which seriously affects the quality of their life and threatens their survival. Acupuncture, part of traditional Chinese medicine, involves the application of needles, heat, pressure, and other treatments at specific sites of the body known as acupoints to affect the physical functions of the body. Numerous studies have concluded that acupuncture may be efficacious in relieving cancer-related pain. However, there is still no direct evidence on which method of acupuncture is more effective. The present study aimed to identify the best method of acupuncture for liver cancer-related pain.

Citation: Mou HY, Chen J, Chen ZY, Du H. Different methods of acupuncture for relief of pain due to liver cancer: A network meta-analysis. *World J Meta-Anal* 2022; 10(2): 52-62 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/full/v10/i2/52.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.13105/wjma.v10.i2.52

INTRODUCTION

According to the GLOBOCAN 2012, primary liver cancer is the fifth most common cancer and the third most common cause of cancer mortality worldwide[2]. More than 1 million individuals are diagnosed with this disease each year, and over 250000 patients die annually due to disease progression[3,4]. In China, primary liver cancer is the second most common malignancy, with 360000 incident cases and 350000 deaths a year currently reported [5]. With people's growing emphasis on health and advances in medical technology, the early screening and treatment of liver cancer have extended the lives of many patients. However, cancer pain brings physical suffering to patients and makes them anxious, desperate, and depressed. In addition, this further aggravates the cancer pain, resulting in a vicious circle. The current clinical treatment for cancer pain is mainly in accordance with the World Health Organization (WHO) recommended three-step analgesic ladder, under which 70%-90% of cancer pain can be relieved [6]. Nevertheless, anesthetic adverse effects, drug resistance, addiction, and other issues associated with the use of opioid analgesics have limited their clinical use. Thus, the identification of an effective treatment for relief of cancer pain with fewer toxic or adverse effects will radically improve quality of life and benefit most patients with cancer pain. Acupuncture analgesia is a traditional Chinese medicine therapy that has the advantages of safety, effectiveness, and no adverse effects and plays an important role in the treatment of cancer pain. Current clinical research shows that acupuncture combined with other therapies can effectively relieve the pain, reduce the adverse effects of Western medicine, and improve the quality of life of patients with primary liver cancer. By using network meta-analysis (NMA), both direct and indirect randomized data can be analyzed, and recommended rankings of different treatments can be provided [7,8]. Therefore, we conducted an NMA to analyze both direct and indirect comparisons of different methods of acupuncture for the relief of pain due to liver cancer. Based on the current evidence, we sorted and explored the advantages and disadvantages of different methods of acupuncture. Compared with traditional meta-analysis, the results of this study may provide a higher quality basis and reference for acupuncture treatment of pain due to liver cancer.

Zaishidena® WJMA | https://www.wjgnet.com

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This NMA was based on the international guidelines for conducting and reporting systematic reviews, as applied to NMA[9,10].

Search strategy

PubMed, EMBASE, Cochrane Library, China National Knowledge Infrastructure, Wan Fang Database, Chongqing VIP, and Chinese Biomedical Databases were searched from inception to March31, 2021. Randomized controlled trials (RCTs) associated with pain due to liver cancer and cancer were retrieved. The specific search strategy, which adopted a combination of subject words and free words, was made based on the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Review of Interventions (version 5.1.0)[11]. (Liver Neoplasms, or Neoplasm or Liver Neoplasm or Hepatic neoplasm or Cancer of Liver or Hepatic Cancer or Liver Cancer or Hepatoma or Hepatocellular Carcinoma or HCC) and (Pain or Suffering or Ache) and (Acupuncture Therapy or Acupuncture or Acupuncture Points or Acupuncture Analgesia or Electroacupuncture or Moxibustion or Acupotom or Electro-acupuncture or Electro-acupuncture or Needling or Acupoint) was used as the search strategy for Chinese and English databases.

Study selection

Two reviewers independently identified relevant studies based on titles and abstracts. In addition, fulltext articles were scanned by these reviewers to identify eligible studies. All disagreements were resolved by consensus and adjudged by a third reviewer if necessary. In the case of duplicate citations, the most updated study was selected for data extraction.

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

The studies included in the review should met the following criteria: (1) The study design must be RCT; (2) Patients diagnosed with liver cancer irrespective of age and sex were enrolled; diagnostic criteria must be clear and inclusion and exclusion criteria were explicit; (3) All subjects had moderate to severe pain; (4) According to the cancer pain improvement standard of the WHO, the analgesic effects of the treatments were classified into four levels: Complete remission (CR; completely pain-free); partial remission (PR; substantial relief of pain and generally normal sleep); mild remission (MR; moderate relief of pain with residual pain and sleep disturbance); no remission (NR; no relief of pain). Usually, CR and NR are relatively easy to judge, whereas PR and MR are less well defined. CR and PR were considered effective; (5) Participants in the experimental group have received acupuncture treatments; and (6) English or Chinese language studies were included. The following studies were excluded: (1) Self-controlled and non-RCT studies; (2) Preclinical studies, systematic reviews, case reports, and metaanalyses; (3) Reports without sufficient or clear original data; and (4) Duplicate studies and studies reporting the same results.

Data collection and quality assessment

We used the risk of bias tool recommended by the Cochrane Handbook to evaluate the quality of included studies. The items considered were as follows: (1) Random sequence generation; (2) Allocation concealment; (3) Blinding of participants and personnel; (4) Blinding of outcome assessment; (5) Complete outcome data; (6) Selective reporting; and (7) Company funding. The possible answers to items 1-5 were 'yes' (representing low risk), 'no' (representing high risk), or 'unclear' (representing unclear risk). For item 6, 'yes' represented high risk, 'no' represented low risk, and 'unclear' represented unclear risk. Furthermore, grading of recommendation assessment, development, and evaluation (GRADE), which included five aspects (study limitation, indirectness, inconsistency, imprecision, and publication bias), was used to evaluate the quality of evidence contributing to each comparison and the overall ranking of treatment.

Statistical analysis

Stata16.0 software was used to create the network evidence graph that displays the basic information of interventions under each type of outcome indicators. Each node represents an intervention, the size of the node represents the sample size of the intervention, and the connection between the nodes represents the number of included studies under the intervention. As the outcome index of this study was a binary variable, the comparison results are expressed as relative risk. According to the ranking probability of each intervention, the best intervention could be identified.

RESULTS

Literature retrieval

A total of 5889 related studies were searched initially, and 2002 duplicate publications were excluded using Endnote X7 software. Three hundred and sixty-nine studies were initially screened out by



scanning the title and abstract. Thereafter, 49 studies that may have met the criteria were read in detail. Finally, eight RCTs with a total of 734 patients, including four studies on wrist-ankle acupuncture, one on triple puncture and remaining needle acupuncture, one on Tian Yuan acupuncture, and three on block acupuncture, were selected (Figure 1).

Basic characteristics and quality evaluation of the included studies

Of the eight articles selected, all provided statistical analysis of the age and gender of the patients, and five reported the visual analog scale scores. All studies mentioned the random grouping method, and there were no incomplete reporting data or selective reporting results, but the allocation hiding and blind methods were not described in detail. Therefore, the overall quality of the literature was fair (Table 1, Figure 2)

Network meta-analysis results of pain treatment in patients with liver cancer under different

measures

The NMA of the response rate under different measures of treatment was tested for consistency, and the results showed that P > 0.05, so the consistency model analysis was used. The results of the NMA showed that the response rate to triple puncture and remaining needle acupuncture in treating pain in patients with liver cancer was higher than that to three-step analgesic ladder therapy, wrist-ankle acupuncture, and block acupuncture, and the differences were statistically significant (P < 0.05); the response rate to Tianyuan acupoint acupuncture in treating pain in patients with liver cancer was significantly higher than that of three-step analgesic ladder therapy and wrist-ankle acupuncture (*P* < 0.05); the other pairwise comparisons between the interventions showed no statistical significance. The result of ranking the probability that one intervention is the best treatment is as follows: Triple puncture and remaining needle acupuncture (88.8%) > Tianyuan acupoint acupuncture (84.8%) > block acupuncture (45.0%) > wrist-ankle acupuncture (17.7%) > three-step analgesic ladder therapy (14.1%), suggesting that triple puncture and remaining needle acupuncture may be the most effective measure for the treatment of pain in patients with liver cancer (Figures 3-5, Tables 2 and 3).

Nodal analysis

There were no results of nodal analysis and ring inconsistency testing as the network evidence graph does not form a closed ring.

Publication bias and small-sample effect assessment

A funnel plot of treatment response rate is drawn, and each point on the funnel plot is scattered and not completely symmetrical, suggesting that there may be a small publication bias. The funnel plot of the response rate has scatter points distributed at the bottom of the funnel, suggesting the presence of a small sample effect (Figure 6).

DISCUSSION

The aim of this study was to identify the effectiveness or different methods of acupuncture for relief of pain due to liver cancer. In this NMA, the association of each acupuncture and related therapies with relief of pain due to liver cancer was compared using the combination of direct and indirect evidence from eight RCTs with 734 patients. An NMA provides a basis for synthesizing all the available evidence in a consistent framework, obviating the need to make decisions by subjective inferences from disparate data. However, our analysis represents the use of the most practical methods currently available to compare a large number of different types of treatment, thus enabling us to compare different methods of acupuncture with each other. In this study, we found that triple puncture and remaining needle acupuncture had the highest effectiveness.

Acupuncture may be useful in controlling the pain experienced by many cancer patients. It is a complementary and conservative therapy that balances the flow of vital energy, and in turn helps to relieve pain. It is an analgesic adjunctive method for cancer patients that is worthy of additional high quality studies[12-14].

Danxixinfa holds that meridians blocked by qi stagnation and phlegm are involved in the pathogenesis of cancer pain. Xuezhenglun attaches significance to cancer pain attributed to blood stagnation. Professor Zhong-Ying Zhou, a master of traditional Chinese medicine, proposed the cancer virus theory[15], and pointed out that under the action of internal and external factors, cold and heat stagnation is produced in the body, and then produces 'poison', and over time cancer develops. Pain due to liver cancer can be divided into excess pain and deficiency pain. Excess pain means that external pathogens invade the body and compete in the body or accumulate in the liver meridians, resulting in disorder of qi movement; furthermore, impairment of blood circulation occurs, and finally blood stasis blocks meridians, and stagnation leads to pain. Deficiency pain is caused by a prolonged illness, in other words, the deep presence of pathogenic qi impairs the healthy qi, then the deficiency of qi and blood



WJMA https://www.wjgnet.com

Mou HY et al. Acupuncture for liver cancer pain: A meta-analysis

Table 1 Main characteristics of the selected articles

Ref.	Cases (observation group/control group)	Treatment measures	Control measures	Evaluating indicator
Zeng <i>et al</i> [<mark>18</mark>], 2014	30/30	Wrist ankle acupuncture	Three step analgesic ladder therapy	Degree of pain relief
Liu et al[<mark>18</mark>], 2010	51/51	Block acupuncture	Three step analgesic ladder therapy	Degree of pain relief/VAS score
Liu et al[<mark>18</mark>], 2007	30/30	Block acupuncture	Three step analgesic ladder therapy	Degree of pain relief/VAS score
Liu et al <mark>[21</mark>], 2008	51/51	Block acupuncture	Three step analgesic ladder therapy	Degree of pain relief/VAS score
Sun <i>et al</i> [<mark>22</mark>], 2021	80/60	Triple puncture and remaining needle acupuncture	Three step analgesic ladder therapy	Degree of pain relief
Hu et al <mark>[22</mark>], 2004	36/50	Wrist ankle acupuncture	Three step analgesic ladder therapy	Degree of pain relief
Hu et al <mark>[22</mark>], 2005	36/40	Wrist ankle acupuncture	Three step analgesic ladder therapy	Degree of pain relief
Cai <i>et al</i> [<mark>22</mark>], 2009	54/54	Tianyuam acupuncture	Three step analgesic ladder therapy	Degree of pain relief/VAS score

Table 2 Analgesic effect of different acupuncture methods based on network meta-analysis

Three-step analgesic ladder				
0.71 (0.59, 0.85)	Triple puncture and remaining needle acupuncture			
0.72 (0.54, 0.97)	1.02 (0.72, 1.44)	Tian Yuan acupuncture		
1.00 (0.93, 1.08)	1.41 (1.16, 1.71)	1.38 (1.02, 1.87)	Wrist ankle acupuncture	
0.95 (0.90, 1.01)	1.34 (1.11, 1.62)	1.32 (0.97, 1.78)	0.95 (0.87, 1.05)	Block acupuncture

Table 3 Probability ranking of interventions in different outcome indicators (SUCRA)

Treatment	SUCRA	PrBest	MeanRank
Three-step analgesic ladder	14.1	0.0	4.4
Triple puncture and remaining needle acupuncture	88.8	55.3	1.4
Tian Yuan acupuncture	84.4	44.7	1.6
Wrist ankle acupuncture	17.7	0.0	4.3
Block acupuncture	45.0	0.0	3.2

makes meridians and viscera lose nourishment, that is, loss of nourishment leads to pain[16].

The main mechanisms of acupuncture in alleviating cancer pain are as follows. First, acupuncture has the function of regulating qi and blood as well as dredging channels and collaterals; hence, pain is relieved with improved blood circulation. Second, it can effectively adjust the body's immune function to achieve the effects of strengthening body resistance and eliminating pathogenic factors, tonifying deficiency, and purging excess^[17]. Western medicine theory holds that the benign stimulation of acupuncture can act on the sympathetic and sensory nerves, and on the relevant autonomic nerve center through the segmental axon reflex of the nerve, thus effectively adjusting the visceral sensory function. In addition, the effective stimulation of acupuncture on acupoints can release endogenous opioid peptides through neurohumoral or meridian conduction, thus achieving acupuncture analgesia[18,19].

From our NMA, we found that triple puncture and remaining needle acupuncture had the highest effectiveness in treating moderate to severe liver cancer pain. Tianyuan acupoint acupuncture mainly uses the exterior and interior acupoint selection method, 12-meridian hedge acupoint selection method,





DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i2.52 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 1 Flow chart of study inclusion.

Sanyin Sanyang Guanheshu acupoint selection method, and twirling reinforcing-reducing method in the Guidelines of Acupuncture Meridians to relieve cancer pain. The exterior and interior acupoint selection method selects acupoints according to the relationship between exterior and interior deficiency of meridians, superficial acupoint is selected for interior disease, and deep acupoint is selected for exterior disease. Because liver cancer is an internal disease, the liver Beishu and Ganshu acupoints on the liver surface, as well as Ququan acupoint, were selected to tonify the liver meridian deficiency syndrome, dredge the qi and blood of the liver meridian meridians, and prevent the conduction of pathogenic factors. The 12-meridian hedge acupoint selection method is proposed according to the hedge relationship of the 12 earthly branches, that is, Zi and Wu hedge, Yin and Shen hedge, Chen and Wu hedge, etc. There is a corresponding relationship between the 12 meridians of the human body and the 12 earthly branches, and there is also a hedge relationship across the 12 meridians of the human body; that is, the hedge between Taiyin Lung Meridian and the Foot-Taiyang Bladder Meridian, the hedge between the Foot-Yangming Stomach Meridian and the Hand-Jueyin Pericardium Meridian, the hedge between the Hand-Shaoyin Heart Meridian and the Foot-Shaoyang Gallbladder Meridian, etc. According to the theory of Sanyin and Sanyang Guanheshu and the tendency of pathogenic conduction of meridians, as for the method of acupoint selection of Sanyin and Sanyang Guanshu, the Shu or He acupoint is selected for the disease at Guan acupoint, Guan or Shu is selected for the disease at He acupoint, and Guan or He is selected for the disease at Shu acupoint. The typical acupoints that can be used are Xinyuand Dazhui. Those acupoints are selected for tranquilizing, soothing the liver, relieving depression, activating blood circulation, and relieving pain. Tianyuan acupoint acupuncture uses rotational tonifying and reducing manipulation with a small amount of stimulation, while the Tianyuan acupoint selection method selects acupoints carefully, so the effect is good [20,21]. Wrist-ankle acupuncture is a method of acupuncture at specific parts of the wrist or ankle to treat systemic diseases. It is gradually formed and developed under the inspiration of the mid-dermal theory in meridian doctrine. It was officially applied in clinical practice in the early 1970s. Because of its single-acupoint selection, easy operation, and minimal damage to the body, this method is safe without needle sensation [19]. Ququan point is selected for blocking acupuncture, which is the converging point of liver meridian, where the liver meridian qi is full, and acupuncture can soothe the liver, regulate qi and meridians, and relieve pain. Dazhui is the point of the Du meridian, which is a good option for acupoint selection when treating shoulder and back pain and has the functions of activating blood circulation, dredging collaterals, and relieving pain. Liver cancer pain is caused by liver enlargement, tumor invasion of the diaphragm, and stimulation of diaphragmatic nerves into the cervical segment of the spinal cord, resulting in the right shoulder and liver pain, so acupuncture at this point can play a role in soothing the liver, activating blood circulation to relieve pain, and blocking the conduction of pathogenic factors. Acupuncture at Xinshu is used to tranquilize the mind, regulate qi and relieve depression, replenish qi and meridians, and treat cancer pain. Ganshu is the Beishu point of the liver meridian. Acupuncture can notify liver blood, and soothe liver and meridians to treat cancer pain, and the simultaneous treatment of principal and subordinate symptoms can be achieved[22]. Triple puncture and remaining needle



Mou HY et al. Acupuncture for liver cancer pain: A meta-analysis



DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i2.52 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 2 Assessment of quality of the literature. A: Percentile chart of literature risk bias; B: Risk of bias assessment.

```
Testing for inconsistency:
(1) [_y_E]_cons = 0
          chi2(1) =
                         2.23
        Prob > chi2 =
                         0.1351
```

mvmeta command stored as F9; test command stored as F8 **DOI:** 10.13105/wjma.v10.i2.52 **Copyright** ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 3 Test for inconsistency.

acupuncture, as recorded in LingShu, is called concerted needling. Concerted needling involves insertion directly into one point and then further insertion of two more needles directly beside the first to treat cold qi and is localized but slightly deep. The method of concerted needling and needle retaining for liver cancer pain can prolong the analgesic time. From the recorded description, concerted needling selects the appropriate needle, on the selected acupoints, as follows. First, the first needle is inserted straight down the needle tip in the center of the acupoint, and then 0.5 cun (1 cun is equal to 3.33333333 cm) next to the first needle (up and down or left and right); the needle tip is aligned with the direction of the first needle, and the other two needles are straightly (obliquely) inserted; one acupoint is simultaneously inserted into by three needles, and at the same time, lifting, inserting, and twisting of the needle are performed to achieve the arrival of qi. Three needles are used together, so the name of concerted needling is given, which is mainly suitable for arthralgia with limited lesions, as well as with deep location of lesions and pathogenic factors. According to clinical research reports, the three needles of the concerted needling method not only strengthen the local irritation volume of the acupoint where



WJMA https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 4 Network comparing the analgesic effect of different acupuncture methods.





the acupuncture is located, but also expand the scope of action of the acupoint where the acupuncture is located. This method is conducive to rapidly stimulating the conduction of meridians and qi so that the induction of acupuncture can reach the disease site directly and the needle sensation spread from shallow to deep, from near to far around the acupoint, rapidly reaching the acupuncture requirements of qi to the disease site. The method also plays a role in relieving tendons through meridians, promoting blood circulation and dredging collaterals, and removing arthralgia and relieving pain. Thus, the purpose of acupuncture treatment based on the principle of "no obstruction, no pain" is achieved[23].

This study had several limitations. First, we failed to evaluate the safety of each acupuncture therapy due to limited data in the primary studies. Future trials should report adverse events clearly to improve the quality of study design. Second, unaddressed concerns still exist regarding the long-term effects of using acupuncture and acupuncture-related therapies for pain due to liver cancer in the clinical setting. Further clinical evaluation of acupuncture for pain due to liver cancer is required and longer follow-up appears warranted. Third, blinding of patients and research was not performed in the included studies that were mainly conducted in China, which may have led to publication bias. Fourth, the included studies in our NMA lacked comparisons on the effectiveness of different acupuncture therapies. Further confirmatory effectiveness trials should compare different types of acupuncture therapies. Finally,

Zaishidena® WJMA | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i2.52 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 6 Efficient funnel chart.

numerous studies that focused on other methods of acupuncture were not included in our study due to the type of design and outcome measures.

CONCLUSION

The evidence from our NMA, in which different methods of acupuncture for pain due to liver cancer were compared with each other within a coherent framework, suggests that the overall effectiveness of triple puncture and remaining needle acupuncture is better than that of other therapies. However, despite the evidence from this study, the methodological limitations associated with many of the trials indicate that high-quality trials of acupuncture treatments are still required.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Seventy-five percent of patients with liver cancer suffer varying degrees of pain. Pain is widely perceived as the fifth vital sign in cancer patients, which seriously affects the quality of their life and threatens their survival. Acupuncture, part of traditional Chinese medicine, involves the application of needles, heat, pressure, and other treatments at specific sites of the body known as acupoints to affect the physical functions of the body. Numerous studies have concluded that acupuncture may be efficacious in relieving cancer-related pain. However, there is still no direct evidence on which method of acupuncture is more effective. The present study aimed to identify the best method of acupuncture for liver cancer-related pain. Further clinical evaluation of acupuncture for pain due to liver cancer is required and longer follow-up appears warranted. The comparisons of the effectiveness of different acupuncture therapies should be conducted.

Research motivation

The aim of our study was to compare the effectiveness of different acupuncture methods for alleviating pain due to liver cancer. In this study, we found that triple puncture and remaining needle acupuncture had the highest effectiveness. The finding of our study may provide evidence for directly comparing different methods of acupuncture for liver cancer related pain.

Research objectives

The present study aimed to identify the best method of acupuncture for liver cancer-related pain. The finding of our study may provide evidence for direct comparisons of different methods of acupuncture for liver cancer related pain.

Research methods

In this network meta-analysis (NMA), the association of each acupuncture and related therapies with relief of pain due to liver cancer was compared using the combination of direct and indirect evidence from eight RCTs with 734 patients. An NMA provides a basis for synthesizing all the available evidence in a consistent framework, obviating the need to make decisions by subjective inferences from disparate data. However, our analysis represents the use of the most practical methods currently available to



compare a large number of different types of treatment, thus enabling us to compare different methods of acupuncture with each other.

Research results

We conducted an NMA to analyze both direct and indirect comparisons of different methods of acupuncture for the relief of pain due to liver cancer. Based on the current evidence, we sorted and explored the advantages and disadvantages of different methods of acupuncture. Compared with traditional meta-analysis, the results of this study may provide a higher quality basis and reference for acupuncture treatment of pain due to liver cancer.

Research conclusions

The evidence from our NMA, in which different methods of acupuncture for pain due to liver cancer were compared with each other within a coherent framework, suggests that the overall effectiveness of triple puncture and remaining needle acupuncture is better than that of other therapies. However, despite the evidence from this study, the methodological limitations associated with many of the trials indicate that high-quality trials of acupuncture treatments are still required.

Research perspectives

Further clinical evaluation of acupuncture for pain due to liver cancer is required and longer follow-up appears warranted. The comparisons of the effectiveness of different acupuncture therapies should be conducted.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors are grateful for the professional help from their colleagues of Lichuan People's Hospital and the Central Hospital of EnShi prefecture.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Mou HY and Chen ZY contributed to the conception and design of the study, acquisition, analysis, and interpretation of the data, and drafting the article; Chen J and Du H interpreted the data and revised the article; All authors read and issued final approval of the submitted version.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Hong-Yuan Mou 0000-0002-1042-4371; Jing Chen 0000-0001-5854-2396; Zuo-Yun Chen 0000-0002-7452-4769; Hong Du 0000-0003-3645-033X.

S-Editor: Liu M L-Editor: Wang TQ P-Editor: Liu M

REFERENCES

- 1 Xu L, Wan Y, Huang J, Xu F. Clinical analysis of electroacupuncture and multiple acupoint stimulation in relieving cancer pain in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. J Cancer Res Ther 2018; 14: 99-102 [PMID: 29516968 DOI: 10.4103/jcrt.JCRT_736_17]
- 2 Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Ervik M. GLOBOCAN 2012 v1.0, Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: IARC Cancer Base No. 11. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2013. [cited 15 May 2021]. Available from: http://globocan.iarc.fr



- 3 Massarweh NN, El-Serag HB. Epidemiology of Hepatocellular Carcinoma and Intrahepatic Cholangiocarcinoma. Cancer Control 2017; 24: 1073274817729245 [PMID: 28975830 DOI: 10.1177/1073274817729245]
- Kulik L, El-Serag HB. Epidemiology and Management of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Gastroenterology 2019; 156: 477-491.e1 [PMID: 30367835 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.08.065]
- Chen JG, Zhang SW. Liver cancer epidemic in China: past, present and future. Semin Cancer Biol 2011; 21: 59-69 [PMID: 21144900 DOI: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2010.11.002]
- Swierzewski SJ. Treatment for Cancer Pain. [cited 10 January 2021]. Available from: http://www.Healthcommunities.com/cancer-pain/treatmentfor-cancer-pain.html
- Chaimani A, Higgins JP, Mavridis D, Spyridonos P, Salanti G. Graphical tools for network meta-analysis in STATA. 7 PLoS One 2013; 8: e76654 [PMID: 24098547 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0076654]
- Salanti G, Del Giovane C, Chaimani A, Caldwell DM, Higgins JP. Evaluating the quality of evidence from a network 8 meta-analysis. PLoS One 2014; 9: e99682 [PMID: 24992266 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0099682]
- Hoaglin DC, Hawkins N, Jansen JP, Scott DA, Itzler R, Cappelleri JC, Boersma C, Thompson D, Larholt KM, Diaz M, Barrett A. Conducting indirect-treatment-comparison and network-meta-analysis studies: report of the ISPOR Task Force on Indirect Treatment Comparisons Good Research Practices: part 2. Value Health 2011; 14: 429-437 [PMID: 21669367 DOI: 10.1016/j.jval.2011.01.011]
- Stewart LA, Clarke M, Rovers M, Riley RD, Simmonds M, Stewart G, Tierney JF; PRISMA-IPD Development Group. 10 Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analyses of individual participant data: the PRISMA-IPD Statement. JAMA 2015; 313: 1657-1665 [PMID: 25919529 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2015.3656]
- 11 Higgins JP, Green S. Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions. Cochrane Collaborate, 2012
- Aung S. The clinical use of acupuncture in oncology: symptom control. Acupunct Med 1994; 12: 37-40 [DOI: 12 10.1136/aim.12.1.37]
- Lee H, Schmidt K, Ernst E. Acupuncture for the relief of cancer-related pain--a systematic review. Eur J Pain 2005; 9: 13 437-444 [PMID: 15979024 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejpain.2004.10.004]
- Johnstone PA, Polston GR, Niemtzow RC, Martin PJ. Integration of acupuncture into the oncology clinic. Palliat Med 2002; 16: 235-239 [PMID: 12047000 DOI: 10.1191/0269216302pm540oa]
- 15 Abstracts from the 3rd International Genomic Medicine Conference (3rd IGMC 2015) : Jeddah, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. 30 November - 3 December 2015. BMC Genomics 2016; 17 Suppl 6: 487 [PMID: 27454254 DOI: 10.1186/s12864-016-2858-0]
- 16 Fu SL, Wang WH, Li XB, Ming Y, Wang WP. Analyses on Clinical Syndrome Types and Prescriptions of Cancer Pain. Shiyong Zhongyi Neike Zazhi 2012; 26: 1-4 [DOI: 10.3969/j.issn.1671-7813.2012.03.01]
- 17 Cai W, Shen WD. Clinical Review of Acupuncture Treatment on Primary Liver Cancer Pain. Zhenjiu Linchuang Zazhi 2017: 33: 76-79
- Chen H, Liu TY, Kuai L, Zhu J, Wu CJ, Liu LM. Electroacupuncture treatment for pancreatic cancer pain: a randomized 18 controlled trial. Pancreatology 2013; 13: 594-597 [PMID: 24280575 DOI: 10.1016/j.pan.2013.10.007]
- Zeng K, Dong HJ, Chen HY, Chen Z, Li B, Zhou QH. Wrist-ankle acupuncture for pain after transcatheter arterial 19 chemoembolization in patients with liver cancer: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Chin Med 2014; 42: 289-302 [PMID: 24707863 DOI: 10.1142/S0192415X14500190]
- 20 Li JY, Zhu Y, Lv H, Dong SJ, Liu SJ. 128 cases of Shoulder Periarthritis Treated by Tianyuan acupuncture. Renmin Junyi 2011; 54: 221
- 21 Li JY, Li JJ. Tian-yuan acupuncture. Renmin Junyi 2010; 38-43
- 22 Liu XY, Dong RP. 51 cases of liver cancer pain treated by Acupuncture and Acupoint Injection. ShanXi Zhongyiyao Zazhi 2008; 29: 347-348
- Sun Y, Wang CT, Wang XY, Yang K, Ni SJ, Wang K. Observation on the Clinical Efficacy of Triple Acupuncture on 23 Tinnitus. Liaoning Zhongyiyao Daxue Xuebao 2021; 23: 16-19 [DOI: 10.13194/j.issn.1673-842x.2021.02.005]



WJMA https://www.wjgnet.com

W J M

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Meta-Anal 2022 April 28; 10(2): 63-73

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i2.63

ISSN 2308-3840 (online)

META-ANALYSIS

Effect of auricular plaster for primary hypertension in older people: A meta-analysis

Yong Qin, Yu Lou, Xiao-Yan Shen, Yun Gai

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D, D Grade E (Poor): E

P-Reviewer: Chrcanovic BR, Sweden; Chrcanovic BR, Sweden; Kumar A, India; Kumar A, India

Received: December 4, 2021 Peer-review started: December 4. 2021 First decision: December 27, 2021 Revised: January 25, 2022 Accepted: April 24, 2022 Article in press: April 24, 2022 Published online: April 28, 2022



Yong Qin, Yu Lou, Xiao-Yan Shen, Yun Gai, Department of Cardiology, The Seventh People's Hospital of Shanghai University of TCM, Shanghai 200137, China

Yun Gai, Department of General Medicine, The Seventh People's Hospital of Shanghai University of TCM, Shanghai 200137, China

Corresponding author: Yun Gai, Chief Physician, Department of General Medicine, The Seventh People's Hospital of Shanghai University of TCM, No. 358 Gaoqiao Datong Road, Shanghai 200137, China. gaiyunlucky@163.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Hypertension is a critical public health problem globally. Antihypertensive drugs can create an extra burden on hypertension patients' self-regulation leading to an imbalance of blood supply and demand. This study aimed to evaluate the effect of auricular plaster therapy combined with western medicine to treat primary hypertension in older people.

AIM

To carry out a systematic review and meta-analysis for the effect of auricular plaster in elderly hypertension patients.

METHODS

Multiple databases like PubMed, EMBASE, Cochrane Library, Chinese Biomedical Literature on Disc, China National Knowledge Infrastructure, Wan Fang and Chinese Science and Technology Periodical Database were used to search for the relevant studies and full-text articles involved in the evaluation of auricular plaster combined with western medicine and western medicine alone for primary hypertension in older people. All included articles were quality assessed and the data analysis was conducted with the Review Manager (5.4). Forest plots, sensitivity analysis and funnel plots were also performed on the included articles.

RESULTS

In this analysis, fourteen (14) relevant studies were included. The Meta-analysis showed a significant difference in the effective ratio (OR = 3.62; 95%CI, 2.46 to 5.33; *P* < 0.00001), diastolic blood pressure change (5.68 mmHg; 95%CI, 3.49 to 7.87; *P* < 0.00001), systolic blood pressure change (MD = 8.78 mmHg; 95%CI, 5.04 to 12.53; *P* < 0.00001) and symptom score (MD = 3.20; 95%CI, 1.23 to 5.18; *P* = 0.001) between auricular plaster combined with western medicine group and



western medicine alone group. One bias was detected as selection bias and another two in reporting bias. Sensitivity analysis fulfilled the stability of the results.

CONCLUSION

Our study suggested that auricular plaster combined with western medicine improved primary hypertension better than western medicine alone. Limited by the quality of included studies, further studies should be performed to confirm our findings.

Key Words: Primary hypertension; Older people; Auricular plaster; Meta-analysis

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Our study is different from a previous report's systematic review and meta-analysis. We focused on elderly hypertension patients and acquired relevant literature on auricular plaster in the analysis.

Citation: Qin Y, Lou Y, Shen XY, Gai Y. Effect of auricular plaster for primary hypertension in older people: A meta-analysis. World J Meta-Anal 2022; 10(2): 63-73 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/full/v10/i2/63.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.13105/wjma.v10.i2.63

INTRODUCTION

Primary hypertension, referred to as hypertension, is a syndrome with elevated blood pressure as the main clinical manifestation[1,2]. It is an important cause and risk factor for a variety of cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases. It affects the structure and function of essential organs such as the heart, brain and kidney and eventually leads to the failure of these organs. It is still one of the leading causes of death in patients with cardiovascular diseases[3,4]. At present, the number of people with hypertension in the world has exceeded 1 billion and 90%-95% of these are diagnosed with primary hypertension[5,6]. Hypertension has become a significant public health problem endangering human health.

Long-term high blood pressure (BP) will cause compression on the systemic blood vessels, leading to vascular blockage or rupture, stroke, heart failure, aortic dissection and other complications[7-9]. Therefore, reasonable control of blood pressure is the key to treat hypertension and reduce its complications. Patients with hypertension must take prescription medicine for life. Applying antihypertensive drugs will increase the burden of patients' self-regulation leading to the imbalance of blood supply and demand and has certain limitations[10,11]. It is of great clinical significance to explore the non-drug therapy available for hypertension[12].

In recent years, a non-drug therapy called auricular plaster has been reported to treat essential hypertension in China and the number of reports is increasing[13-15]. Auricular plaster is a common diagnosis and treatment technology of traditional Chinese medicine, also known as auricular point pressing beans or auricular point pressing seeds, which refers to sticking hard and smooth drug seeds or pills, magnetic beads and other things on the surface of the auricular points and fixing them with adhesive tape[16-18]. The human body has six meridians distributed in and around the ear and the ear is connected with organs through meridians. The auricle is the only body surface area with vagus nerve distribution. Auricular plaster can activate the vagus nerve and regulate the autonomic nervous system by stimulating auricular points with cowherb seeds to reduce blood pressure (BP)[19,20].

There are many clinical studies on auricular plaster therapy for elderly patients with primary hypertension, but the intervention methods and intervention time were quite different. Our study conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis of related randomized controlled trials (RCT) to evaluate the clinical efficacy of auricular plaster therapy combined with western medicine to treat primary hypertension in older people to provide a reference for clinical decision-making.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Literature search strategy

We used comprehensive databases (PubMed, EMBASE, Cochrane Library, Chinese Biomedical Literature on Disc, China National Knowledge Infrastructure, Wan Fang and Chinese Science and Technology Periodical Database) to search for previous studies investigating the effects of auricular



plaster therapy for primary hypertension in the elderly. The literature search was performed from inception up to July 2021 using the following keywords: (1) Auricular plaster; (2) Primary hypertension; and (3) Western medicine. Terms were searched as text words and these three themes were combined using the Boolean operator 'or' to complete our search strategy. Our literature search was comprehensive with neither language restrictions nor publication status limitations. Two of us identified and reviewed full-text articles deemed relevant by screening the list of titles and abstracts. Disagreements were resolved through consensus between the two reviewers.

Study selection

After the primary selection, the text of the potentially relevant studies was reviewed. The studies included must meet the following inclusion criteria: (1) Comparing research patients who receive combination therapy of auricular plaster and western medicine (test group) and standard western medicine alone (control group); (2) Patients with primary hypertension [systolic BP (SBP) ≥ 140 mmHg or diastolic BP (DBP) \geq 90 mmHg]; (3) Containing indicators evaluating effectiveness between test group and control group; and (4) Available in full text.

Studies were excluded based on the following pre-determined exclusion criteria: (1) Not randomized controlled trials (RCT); (2) Reviews, letters, or protocols; (3) Duplicate articles; and (4) lack of related outcomes.

Data extraction and quality assessment

Two independent reviewers performed the study selection, data extraction and quality assessment. Prespecified data elements were extracted from each trial using a structured data abstraction form, including baseline characteristics, sample size and interventions used. The risk of bias of included RCTs was assessed using a modified version of the Cochrane Collaboration's Risk-of-Bias Tool. Two coauthors independently performed the risk-of-bias assessment on all included RCTs. When in a disagreement, the rechecking of the original article was followed by discussion and was used to reach a consensus.

Statistical analysis

Meta-analysis was performed in Review Manager (RevMan) software (version 5.4; Cochrane Collaboration) using the inverse variance method. We assumed that the studies' variability beyond subjectlevel sampling error was random, and consequently, we adopted a random-effect model. The Mantel-Haenszel odds ratio (OR) model was used to summarize classification data, summary estimates and a 95%CI was reported for continuous variables as the mean difference (MD). Quantifying the inconsistency and heterogeneity across studies was assessed using Cochran Q and l² statistics. When the heterogeneity was present, the random-effects model was used to calculate the pooled OR or MD, whereas the fixed effects model was used in its absence. We also performed a sensitivity analysis with each endpoint to determine if there was any difference between groups. Publication bias was graphically analyzed with funnel plots. We also applied Egger and Begg's statistical test. A P value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Results of the literature search process

An electronic search was performed to identify all potential articles published in the English language by July 2021, and initially, 932 articles were selected. After a careful review of the titles and abstracts, 126 studies were included due to immediate satisfaction with the purpose of the present meta-analysis. Further, 112 articles were excluded due to not fulfilling the inclusion criteria. The remaining 14 studies were assessed and reviewed to satisfy the inclusion criteria and were considered in our meta-analysis [21-34]. Figure 1 represents an outline of the studies' identification, inclusion and exclusion criteria, thereby summarizing the search process and the reasons for exclusion.

Study characteristics

A total of 1088 patients with primary hypertension were included in this meta-analysis study and all these studies were published from 2012 to 2021. The primary outcome contained effective ratio, DBP change, SBP change and symptom score.

The antihypertensive effect was determined according to the relevant standards in the guiding principles for clinical research of new drugs in traditional Chinese medicine[35]. (1) Strongly effective (meets one of the following conditions): Diastolic blood pressure (DBP) decreased by 10 mmHg or more, and within the normal range; DBP did not fall to the normal range but decreased by 20 mmHg or more; (2) Moderate effective (meet one of the following conditions): DBP decreased less than 10 mmHg, within the normal range; DBP decreased to 10-19 mmHg, but still higher than the normal range; Systolic blood pressure (SBP) decreased to 30 mmHg; and (3) Ineffective: Did not meet any of the above criteria. The


Qin Y et al. A meta-analysis on auricular plaster



DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i2.63 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 1 Flow chart of literature search and study selection for systematic review and meta-analysis.

effective ratio in our outcome variable was the sum of strongly effective and moderate effective ratios. Symptom score referred to the curative effect standard in the guiding principles for clinical research of new Chinese medicine in 2002[36]. Headache, vertigo and insomnia were selected to observe the

symptoms and the symptoms were scored according to the degree of symptoms from mild to severe. The primary study chosen characteristics are summarized in Table 1.

Results of the quality assessment

According to the Cochrane risk of the bias assessment tool, to assess the bias risk (including selection, performance, detection, attrition and reporting bias among the included randomized trials) (Figures 2 and 3), the methodological quality of included studies was evaluated for the bias risk. There was a high risk of selection bias in one study and reporting bias in two other studies. In the summary risk of bias assessment of the 14 included studies, there is a limited selection bias, performance bias and detection bias. In general, there are only two trials with bias risk and the other six tests have no risk.

Results of heterogeneity test

The effect of auricular plaster on effective ratio was reported in 12 studies. A significant improvement in the effective ratio was identified compared with the control group (OR = 3.62; 95% CI, 2.46 to 5.33; P < 0.00001). There was no significant heterogeneity for effective ratio assessment (P = 0.74, $I^2 = 0\%$) (Figure 4).

Thirteen trials reported information about DBP change. A random-effect model was used to evaluate the heterogeneity of DBP change due to the significant heterogeneity (P < 0.0001, $I^2 = 89\%$). The pooled analysis showed that the test group had a better reduction of DBP than the control group (MD = 5.68 mmHg; 95% CI, 3.49 to 7.87; P < 0.00001) (Figure 5).

In evaluating the difference of SBP change between the test group and control group, 13 articles involved 1028 patients. Meta-analysis showed that compared to the control group, the test group had a higher reduction of SBP (MD = 8.78 mmHg; 95%CI, 5.04 to 12.53; P < 0.00001), with significant heterogeneity ($l^2 = 94\%$, P < 0.00001) (Figure 6).

Four studies reported symptom scores. A random-effect model was used to evaluate the heterogeneity among the significant heterogeneity included studies (P < 0.00001, P = 89%). The results showed that the test group improved symptom scores better than the control group (MD = 3.20; 95%CI, 1.23 to 5.18; P = 0.001) (Figure 7).

Results of sensitivity analysis and publication bias

The included studies will be excluded one by one for sensitivity analysis. The heterogeneity of DBP change was decreased from 89% to 87% when Wu 2013 was excluded suggesting that the meta-analysis results were robust.

Table 1 Characteristics of eligible studies											
Ref.	Study	Treatment			No. of patients		Gender (M/F)			Intervention	Primary
	design	Test	Control	Test	Control	Test	Control	Test	Control	ume	outcome
Ji <i>et al</i> [<mark>23</mark>]	RCT	Auricular plaster + Nifedipine	Nifedipine	32	32	17/15	16/16	66.06 ± 4.39	66.16 ± 4.22	3 mo	2, 3
Zhou et al[<mark>32</mark>]	RCT	Auricular plaster + Candesartan Cilexetil	Candesartan Cilexetil	40	40	24/16	21/19	65.78 ± 9.95	66.12 ± 8.57	2 wk	1, 2, 3
Huang et al[<mark>28</mark>]	RCT	Auricular plaster + Levamlodipine besylate	Levamlodipine besylate	30	30	17/13	19/11	60-85	60-85	15 d	1, 2, 3
Wu et al [<mark>29</mark>]	RCT	Auricular plaster + Conventional drugs	Conventional drugs	41	41	23/18	21/20	60-70	60-70	6 wk	1, 2, 3
Zhou et al[<mark>31</mark>]	RCT	Auricular plaster + Nifedipine	Nifedipine	30	30	16/14	14/16	63.21 ± 12.25	63.55 ± 11.74	4 wk	1, 2, 3
Lin <i>et al</i> [<mark>26</mark>]	RCT	Auricular plaster + Levamlodipine besylate	Levamlodipine besylate	30	30	16/14	14/16	66.73 ± 6.81	67.6 ± 7.51	4 wk	1, 4
Zhou et al <mark>[33</mark>]	RCT	Auricular plaster + Conventional drugs	Conventional drugs	30	30	21/9	19/11	62-83	62-83	3 mo	1, 2, 3, 4
Zhang et al <mark>[21</mark>]	RCT	Auricular plaster + Amlodipine besylate	Amlodipine besylate	20	20	9/11	12/8	63.4 ± 5.2	64.8 ± 4.7	2 wk	1, 2, 3
Jiang et al <mark>[34</mark>]	RCT	Auricular plaster + Nifedipine	Nifedipine	54	54	30/24	31/23	65.8 ± 7.3	64.1 ± 7.2	4 wk	1, 2, 3, 4
Yu et al [<mark>25</mark>]	RCT	Auricular plaster + Nifedipine	Nifedipine	87	79	39/48	37/42	68.1 ± 10.7	71.1 ± 8.0	5 mo	1, 2, 3
Zhang et al <mark>[24</mark>]	RCT	Auricular plaster + Propranolol	Propranolol	43	43	25/18	27/16	63.02 ± 8.33	62.13 ± 7.96	15 d	2, 3
Lu et al [<mark>27</mark>]	RCT	Auricular plaster + Conventional drugs	Conventional drugs	50	50	26/24	27/23	60.26 ± 6.73	61.35 ± 6.56	3 wk	1, 2, 3
Zou <i>et al</i> [30]	RCT	Auricular plaster + Levamlodipine besylate	Levamlodipine besylate	20	20	12/8	14/6	62.6 ± 10.3	62.9 ± 10.5	4 wk	1, 2, 3
Yu et al [<mark>22</mark>]	RCT	Auricular plaster + Amlodipine besylate	Amlodipine besylate	41	41	24/17	26/15	66.4 ± 3.4	67.1 ± 3.7	8 wk	1, 2, 3, 4

1: Effective ratio; 2: DBP change; 3: SBP change; 4: Symptom score, RCT: Randomized control trail.

A funnel plot was performed to evaluate the publication bias for effective ratio qualitatively. The shape of the funnel plot showed some evidence of symmetry (Figure 8) and the Egger test was not significant (P = 0.77), which indicated no significant publication bias existed in this meta-analysis.

DISCUSSION

Hypertension is one of the most common cardiovascular diseases. In recent years, with the change of modern living habits, the incidence rate of hypertension has been increasing year by year. Hypertension has presented a trend toward younger people. How to control BP safely and reliably has become a problem that medical workers must solve today[37]. How to effectively and stably control BP and avoid large fluctuations such as a sudden fast rise or lowering of blood pressure. Maintaining a steady BP reduces the damage caused by BP fluctuations, prevents the adverse effects caused by excessive BP, reduces the damage of essential organs and effectively controls the disability rate and mortality rate which is the key to the problem [1,38,39].

At present, western medicine is the primary treatment for hypertension and the first-line antihypertensive drugs include diuretics, ß Receptor blockers, calcium antagonists, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin receptor antagonists[40,41]. The guidelines point out that diuretics can reduce blood volume and relax peripheral blood vessels; β Receptor blockers can reduce cardiac output; Calcium antagonists can inhibit calcium influx in vascular smooth muscle and reduce myocardial contractility; Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin receptor



DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i2.63 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.





DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i2.63 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 3 Graph of the risk of bias summary.

antagonists can block the renin-angiotensin system and dilate arterioles and venules. The mechanism of action of these drugs is to improve the circulatory system from different aspects to reduce BP[42,43].

In China, auricular plaster is a diagnosis and treatment technology developed based on auricular acupuncture therapy[44]. Cowherb Seeds are complicated and can activate blood circulation and regulate BP. Auricular plaster therapy can regulate BP to a certain extent, significantly improve patients' clinical symptoms with hypertension and improve patients' satisfaction with nursing work[45,46]. Some studies have shown that auricular plaster therapy can regulate the balance of viscera and meridians,



DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i2.63 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 4 Meta-analysis on the effect of auricular plaster therapy on effective ratio.

	Test Contr			Control	Mean Difference			Mean Difference			
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95%CI	IV. Random, 95%CI		
Huang 2013	11.86	5.455	30	10.13	5.435	30	8.0%	1.73 [-1.03, 4.49]			
Ji 2012	18.67	4.105	32	14.22	4.185	32	8.5%	4.45 [2.42, 6.48]			
Jiang 2018	5.2	7.705	54	2.67	7.765	54	7.9%	2.53 [-0.39, 5.45]			
Lu 2020	25.94	9.77	50	18.9	9.75	50	7.2%	7.04 [3.21, 10.87]			
Wu 2013	5.73	3.88	41	5.83	3.81	41	8.7%	-0.10 [-1.76, 1.56]	+		
Yu 2018	6.6	6.85	87	-0.3	7.45	79	8.4%	6.90 [4.72, 9.08]			
Yu 2021	31.11	6.82	41	24	7.505	41	7.7%	7.11 [4.01, 10.21]			
Zhang 2017	15	6	20	7	5.5	20	7.4%	8.00 [4.43, 11.57]			
Zhang 2019	13.4	9.85	43	4.1	10.15	43	6.8%	9.30 [5.07, 13.53]			
Zhou 2012	12.24	11.72	40	5.48	12.875	40	5.9%	6.76 [1.36, 12.16]			
Zhou 2013	7.54	2.67	30	6.28	2.24	30	8.9%	1.26 [0.01, 2.51]	-		
Zhou 2016	25.76	5.575	30	12.93	5.8	30	7.9%	12.83 [9.95, 15.71]			
Zou 2020	17.94	6.73	20	9.14	7.68	20	6.6%	8.80 [4.32, 13.28]			
Total (95%CI)			518			510	100.0%	5.68 [3.49, 7.87]	•		
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	13.59; 0	chi ² = 11									
Test for overall effect: Z = 5.09 (P < 0.00001)									Test Control		

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i2.63 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 5 Meta-analysis on the effect of auricular plaster therapy on DBP change.

promote the function of the cerebral cortex to return to normal quickly and comprehensively treat the uncoordinated nerve, body fluid and vascular function to achieve the effect of reducing BP[47,48].

Fourteen studies were included in this systematic review and meta-analysis. The meta-analysis results showed that the effective ratio of auricular plaster therapy in the treatment of hypertension based on conventional western medicine therapy was higher than that of western medicine alone therapy (OR = 3.62; P < 0.00001), suggesting that auricular plaster therapy had an excellent adjuvant effect on hypertension. The decrease of DBP (MD = 5.68 mmHg; P < 0.00001), SBP (MD = 8.78 mmHg; P < 0.00001) and symptom score (MD = 3.20; P = 0.001) were more evident than that of the control group, suggesting that the combination therapy of auricular plaster and western medicine was better than western medicine alone in improving clinical symptoms. It showed that auricular plaster therapy had significant health benefits in treating hypertension and was worthy of clinical promotion.

This study showed apparent heterogeneity in the assessment of the literature included in the improvement of SBP, DBP and symptom scores. Although sensitivity analysis showed that heterogeneity did not affect the final results, we still analyzed the source of heterogeneity. After further reading and analysis of the included studies, we found that the heterogeneity may be caused by different types of antihypertensive drugs, other antihypertensive mechanisms and different effects on SBP, DBP and clinical symptoms, which suggested that we need to conduct a subgroup analysis on different types of antihypertensive drugs.

There were some limitations in this meta-analysis. Firstly, auricular plaster therapy was a unique traditional medical method in China and the published reports were mainly in Chinese with the quality being relatively poor. Secondly, some of the included studies did not describe the implementation of random allocation and blind methods. In addition, the frequency of auricular plaster, the type and dose of western medicine was also different in the experiment which suggested that more detailed



		Test		(Control			Mean Difference	Mean Difference	
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95%CI	IV, Random, 95%CI	
Huang 2013	27.77	10.785	30	21.53	10.17	30	7.2%	6.24 [0.94, 11.54]		
Ji 2012	24.52	6.545	32	16.47	6.97	32	7.9%	8.05 [4.74, 11.36]		
Jiang 2018	23.88	9.44	54	6.29	10.635	54	7.8%	17.59 [13.80, 21.38]		
Lu 2020	17.29	11.95	50	10.11	12.725	50	7.4%	7.18 [2.34, 12.02]		
Wu 2013	11.02	4.77	41	13.24	4.13	41	8.3%	-2.22 [-4.15, -0.29]		
Yu 2018	10.3	10.6	87	1.6	13.35	79	7.8%	8.70 [5.01, 12.39]		
Yu 2021	10.86	8.63	41	6.22	10.08	41	7.7%	4.64 [0.58, 8.70]		
Zhang 2017	17	6.5	20	9	6.5	20	7.7%	8.00 [3.97, 12.03]		
Zhang 2019	35.8	10.75	43	16.9	11.55	43	7.4%	18.90 [14.18, 23.62]		
Zhou 2012	12.49	11.73	40	5.68	12.675	40	7.2%	6.81 [1.46, 12.16]		
Zhou 2013	13.86	3.57	30	11.43	2.84	30	8.3%	2.43 [0.80, 4.06]	-	
Zhou 2016	33.04	8.13	30	19.88	7.855	30	7.7%	13.16 [9.11, 17.21]		
Zou 2020	34.28	5.965	20	18.32	7.18	20	7.7%	15.96 [11.87, 20.05]		
Total (95%CI)			518			510	100.0%	8.78 [5.04, 12.53]	•	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 43.21; Chi ² = 191.48, df = 12 ($P < 0.00001$); $I^2 = 94\%$										
Test for overall effect: Z = 4.60 (P < 0.00001) -20 -10 0 10 20 Test Control										
							D	OI: 10.13105/wjma.v	v10.i2.63 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.	

Figure 6 Meta-analysis on the effect of auricular plaster therapy on SBP change.



DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i2.63 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 7 Meta-analysis on the effect of auricular plaster therapy on symptom score.





hierarchical or subgroup analysis can be done in the future.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, auricular plaster combined with western medicine can improve the antihypertensive effect of primary hypertension, reduce BP and improve clinical symptoms. In view of the quality of the



included studies, the reliability of the conclusions was reduced. It is still necessary to carry out multicenter, large sample randomized controlled trials, paying attention to the implementation of the randomized method, allocation concealment method and blind method to obtain reliable research data so as to provide the evidence-based basis for clinical treatment of hypertension.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Hypertension is a very common health problem for older people. Recently, a non-drug therapy called auricular plaster has been used to treat hypertension in China and is considered traditional Chinese medicine. There were many clinical studies which reported on auricular plaster therapy for elderly patients with hypertension but the intervention methods and intervention times were quite different.

Research motivation

We speculate about gaining a detailed insight into the effect of auricular plaster therapy on elderly patients with primary hypertension.

Research objectives

This study aimed to evaluate the effect of auricular plaster therapy combined with western medicine to treat primary hypertension in older people.

Research methods

A literature search was carried out to identify reports published through July 1, 2021. The meta-analysis was carried out for the outcomes of the significant difference in the effective ratio, diastolic blood pressure (DBP) change, systolic blood pressure (SBP) change, and symptom score between auricular plaster combined with western medicine group and western medicine alone group. Publication bias was identified by the funnel plots test.

Research results

In this analysis, fourteen (14) relevant studies were included. The Meta-analysis showed a significant difference in the clinical effective ratio (OR = 3.62; 95%CI, 2.46 to 5.33; P < 0.00001), DBP change (5.68 mmHg; 95%CI, 3.49 to 7.87; P < 0.00001), SBP change (MD = 8.78 mmHg; 95%CI, 5.04 to 12.53; P < 0.00001) and symptom score (MD = 3.20; 95%CI, 1.23 to 5.18; P = 0.001) between auricular plaster combined with western medicine group and western medicine alone group.

Research conclusions

Auricular plaster could be a potential therapy to treat hypertension in elderly patients.

Research perspectives

More prospective sample studies are needed in the future to enhance the speculation of our conclusion.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Qin Y, Lou Y, and Gai Y participated in the conception and design of the study, library searches and assembling relevant literature, critical review of the paper, supervising the writing of the paper and database management; Qin Y, Shen XY, and Gai Y participated in data collection, library searches assembling relevant literature, writing the paper and critical review.

Supported by Leading talent training of Pudong New Area Health Committee, No. PWR12020-02; Exploration on the discipline construction mode of treating and preventing diseases based on specific diseases, No. PWZY-2019-0402; Shanghai collaborative innovation center of traditional Chinese medicine health services.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: This study was conducted as per PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/



Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Yong Qin 0000-0001-9972-281X; Yu Lou 0000-0002-1885-2397; Xiao-Yan Shen 0000-0002-0605-9922; Yun Gai 0000-0002-8718-2315.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Liu JH

REFERENCES

- Chen JM, Heran BS, Perez MI, Wright JM. Blood pressure lowering efficacy of beta-blockers as second-line therapy for primary hypertension. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2010; CD007185 [PMID: 20091622 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.cd007185.pub2
- Leoncini G, Viazzi F, Storace G, Deferrari G, Pontremoli R. Blood pressure variability and multiple organ damage in primary hypertension. J Hum Hypertens 2013; 27: 663-670 [PMID: 23739158 DOI: 10.1038/jhh.2013.45]
- Andersson O, Hansson L, Sivertsson R. Primary hypertension refractory to triple drug treatment: a study on central and 3 peripheral hemodynamics. Circulation 1978; 58: 615-622 [PMID: 688570 DOI: 10.1161/01.cir.58.4.615]
- Colussi G, Catena C, Sechi LA. Spironolactone, eplerenone and the new aldosterone blockers in endocrine and primary hypertension. J Hypertens 2013; 31: 3-15 [PMID: 23011526 DOI: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e3283599b6a]
- 5 Lande MB, Adams H, Falkner B, Waldstein SR, Schwartz GJ, Szilagyi PG, Wang H, Palumbo D. Parental assessment of executive function and internalizing and externalizing behavior in primary hypertension after anti-hypertensive therapy. J Pediatr 2010; 157: 114-119 [PMID: 20227722 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2009.12.053]
- Moyer VA; U. S. Preventive Services Task Force. Screening for primary hypertension in children and adolescents: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. Pediatrics 2013; 132: 907-914 [PMID: 24101758 DOI: 10.1542/peds.2013-2864]
- Corrao G, Nicotra F, Parodi A, Zambon A, Heiman F, Merlino L, Fortino I, Cesana G, Mancia G. Cardiovascular 7 protection by initial and subsequent combination of antihypertensive drugs in daily life practice. Hypertension 2011; 58: 566-572 [PMID: 21825231 DOI: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.111.177592]
- Agnoletti D, Zhang Y, Borghi C, Blacher J, Safar ME. Effects of antihypertensive drugs on central blood pressure in 8 humans: a preliminary observation. Am J Hypertens 2013; 26: 1045-1052 [PMID: 23736112 DOI: 10.1093/ajh/hpt081]
- Mossello E, Pieraccioli M, Nesti N, Bulgaresi M, Lorenzi C, Caleri V, Tonon E, Cavallini MC, Baroncini C, Di Bari M, Baldasseroni S, Cantini C, Biagini CA, Marchionni N, Ungar A. Effects of low blood pressure in cognitively impaired elderly patients treated with antihypertensive drugs. JAMA Intern Med 2015; 175: 578-585 [PMID: 25730775 DOI: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2014.8164]
- Yoon EY, Cohn L, Rocchini A, Kershaw D, Freed G, Ascione F, Clark S. Antihypertensive prescribing patterns for 10 adolescents with primary hypertension. Pediatrics 2012; 129: 1-8 [DOI: 10.1542/peds.2011-0877]
- Litwin M, Michałkiewicz J, Niemirska A, Gackowska L, Kubiszewska I, Wierzbicka A, Wawer ZT, Janas R. Inflammatory 11 activation in children with primary hypertension. Pediatr Nephrol 2010; 25: 1711-1718 [PMID: 20495830 DOI: 10.1007/s00467-010-1548-4]
- Baszczuk A, Musialik K, Kopczyński J, Thielemann A, Kopczyński Z, Kesy L, Dopierała G. Hyperhomocysteinemia, lipid 12 and lipoprotein disturbances in patients with primary hypertension. Adv Med Sci 2014; 59: 68-73 [PMID: 24797978 DOI: 10.1016/j.advms.2013.08.001
- 13 Chen SL, Chen ZY, Ying LV. Analysis of the Effect of Auricular Point Plaster Therapy on Chronic Constipation. J Altern Complement Med 2011; 65: 126-133 [DOI: 10.4172/1948-5956.1000050]
- 14 Lu T, Song QH, Xu RM, Zhang LY. Effect of Tai Chi exercise in combination with auricular plaster on patients with lumbar muscle strain. Int J Clin Exp Med 2015; 8: 2949-2953 [PMID: 25932261]
- Zhou M, Lin QZ, Xiu-Qing WU. Intervention affects of auricular plaster therapy on sleep disturbance in maintenance 15 hemodialysis patients. China Journal of Traditional Chinese Medicine and Pharmacy 2013; 5: 65-67
- 16 Wang L, Huahui WU, Jianghong YU. Clinical Observation of Auricular-plaster Therapy in Essential Hypertension in Phlegm Congested Syndrome. Journal of Emergency in Traditional Chinese Medicine 2014; 4: 14-16
- 17 Yang XC, Cui CH, Xiao-Xiao AN, Clinical Observation of Auricular-plaster with Cowherb Seeds on Essential Hypertension. Shanxi Journal of Traditional Chinese Medicine 2009; 5: 78-82
- 18 Yuan MJ, Lou LZ, Zhang W. Clinical Observations on Auricular Point Plaster Therapy plus Hypotensive Exercises for the Treatment of Senile Hypertension. Shanghai Journal of Acupuncture and Moxibustion 2013; 12: 12-13
- 19 Liao JT, Mai-Rong LI, Tang WP. Intervention study of auricular plaster on hypertension patients with phlegm-dampness constitution. China Practical Medicine 2017; 15: 45-46
- 20 Wu J, Wu J, Luo C. Research Progress of Auricular-Plaster Therapy Treating Hypertension and Its Complications. Journal of Clinical Acupuncture and Moxibustion 2018; 7: 12-14
- 21 Zhang Y. Analysis of the effect of auricular point sticking and pressing on the nursing of patients with hypertension. Contemporary Medical Symposium 2017; 15: 142-143
- 22 Yu Y, Hu Y. Application of Point Application Combined with Auricular Point Sticking for Essential Hypertension. J New Chn Med 2021; 53: 173-176
- 23 Ji P. Clinical observation of auricular plaster combined with nifedipine controlled release tablets in the treatment of mild hypertension. China Health Care & Nutrition 2012; 22: 1800-1801
- 24 Zhang H. Clinical observation of auricular plaster combined with western medicine in the treatment of hypertension. China



Prac Med 2019; 14: 124-125

- 25 Yu Q, Hu C, Zhao W. Clinical observation of auricular plaster therapy combined with western medicine in the treatment of community primary hypertension. SH J TCM 2018; 52: 44-47
- 26 Lin Q, Yu L, Liang G. Clinical observation of levoamlodipine plus auricular point pressing beans in the treatment of primary hypertension. Modern Hospital 2014; 14: 69-70
- 27 Lu X, Bi P, Yao X. Clinical observation on the adjuvant treatment of essential hypertension with Chinese medicine antihypertensive plaster combined with auricular points plaster therapy. Modern Chinese Doctors 2020; 58: 155-157 [DOI: 10.1007/s10570-010-9464-0]
- Huang P, Yu H, Sun J. Clinical study on the effect of ear point seed pressing on blood pressure of patients with essential 28 hypertension. Acta Chinese Medicine and Pharmacology 2013; 41: 100-102
- 29 Wu L. Clinical study on the treatment of senile hypertension with auricular plaster. Henan Traditional Chinese Medicine 2013; 33: 2151-2152
- 30 Zou X, Zhang X, Xu X. Effect observation of auricular plaster therapy combined with antihypertensive drugs in the treatment of hypertension. Contemporary Medical Symposium 2020; 18: 183-184
- Zhou Y. Effect of auricular plaster therapy combined with nifedipine sustained release tablets in the treatment of 31 hypertension. J Med Theor & Prac 2013; 26: 2986-2987
- 32 Zhou Y, Wu H. Effect of auricular plaster therapy on hypertension. Jetcm 2012; 21: 1680-1681
- Zhou X, Lin P. Effect of ear point seed pressing on blood pressure of patients with essential hypertension. Henan 33 Traditional Chinese Medicine 2016; 36: 1787-1789
- 34 Jiang Y, Wang L, Yuan C. Efficacy of ear pressure beans therapy in hypertension. Chinese Medical Science 2018; 8: 156-158
- 35 Butt DA, Mamdani M, Austin PC, Tu K, Gomes T, Glazier RH. The risk of falls on initiation of antihypertensive drugs in the elderly. Osteoporos Int 2013; 24: 2649-2657 [PMID: 23612794 DOI: 10.1007/s00198-013-2369-7]
- 36 Wang W, Fan H. Fifty cases of child restless syndrome treated with the integrated method of Chinese herbal drugs and auricular-plaster therapy. J Tradit Chin Med 2005; 25: 276-277 [PMID: 16447670]
- 37 Johnston DW, Gold A, Kentish J, Smith D, Vallance P, Shah D, Leach G and Robinson B. Effect of stress management on blood pressure in mild primary hypertension. BMJ 2019; 306:963-966. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.306.6883.963]
- Wong GW, Boyda HN, Wright JM. Blood pressure lowering efficacy of alpha blockers for primary hypertension. Cochrane DB Syst Rev 2016; 3: 78-82
- 39 Musini VM, Nazer M, Bassett K, Wright JM. Blood pressure-lowering efficacy of monotherapy with thiazide diuretics for primary hypertension. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014; CD003824 [PMID: 24869750 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.cd003824.pub2]
- Leren P, Eide I, Foss OP, Helgeland A, Hjermann I, Holme I, Kjeldsen SE, Lund-Larsen PG. Antihypertensive drugs and 40 blood lipids: the Oslo study. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 1982; 4 Suppl 2: S222-S224 [PMID: 6177960]
- Wu HY, Huang JW, Lin HJ, Liao WC, Peng YS, Hung KY, Wu KD, Tu YK, Chien KL. Comparative effectiveness of 41 renin-angiotensin system blockers and other antihypertensive drugs in patients with diabetes: systematic review and bayesian network meta-analysis. BMJ 2013; 347: f6008 [PMID: 24157497 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.f6008]
- 42 Yasar S, Xia J, Yao W, Furberg CD, Xue QL, Mercado CI, Fitzpatrick AL, Fried LP, Kawas CH, Sink KM, Williamson JD, DeKosky ST, Carlson MC; Ginkgo Evaluation of Memory (GEM) Study Investigators. Antihypertensive drugs decrease risk of Alzheimer disease: Ginkgo Evaluation of Memory Study. Neurology 2013; 81: 896-903 [PMID: 23911756 DOI: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182a35228]
- De Giorgi V, Gandini S, Grazzini M, Benemei S, Marchionni N, Geppetti P. Effect of β-blockers and other 43 antihypertensive drugs on the risk of melanoma recurrence and death. Mayo Clin Proc 2013; 88: 1196-1203 [PMID: 24182700 DOI: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2013.09.001]
- Lu Y, Li C, Du Y, Chen A, Jin J, Zhao Q. [Characteristics and principles of acupoint selection in auricular plaster therapy for hypertension based on literature analysis]. Zhongguo Zhen Jiu 2017; 37: 779-783 [PMID: 29231556 DOI: 10.13703/j.0255-2930.2017.07.024
- Dong Q, Yan LI, Cai L. Clinical effect of auricular-plaster therapy cooperated with antihypertensive drugs in the treatment 45 of grade 1 hypertension disease. China Medical Herald 2017
- Huang X, Chen J, Ying L. Clinical Observation on Auricular-plaster and Foot-bath therapy for Hypertension. Guangming Journal of Chinese Medicine 2014; 12: 98-104
- 47 Nunes LA, Casotti CA, Edilson DDA. Differentiation of face and auricular shape resulting from diabetes and hypertension in the elderly. Biosci J 2021; 37: e37030 [DOI: 10.14393/BJ-v37n0a2021-48141]
- 48 Zhang HL, Zhong YM, Peng GM, Wan YG. [Effects of a combined regime of auricular-plaster and body acupuncture in treatment of cervical spondylosis of vertebral artery type]. Zhongguo Zhen Jiu 2006; 26: 697-700 [PMID: 17117565]





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com



World Journal of *Meta-Analysis*

World J Meta-Anal 2022 June 28; 10(3): 74-194





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

WJMA

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Contents

Bimonthly Volume 10 Number 3 June 28, 2022

OPINION REVIEW

74 Responses to disrupted operative care during the coronavirus pandemic at a Caribbean hospital Cawich SO, Narayansingh G, Ramdass MJ, Mencia M, Thomas DA, Barrow S, Naraynsingh V

REVIEW

- 81 Mechanism for development of malnutrition in primary biliary cholangitis Reshetnyak VI, Maev IV
- 99 Viral hepatitis: A narrative review of hepatitis A-E Ahmed Z, Shetty A, Victor DW, Kodali S

MINIREVIEWS

122 Rare post-endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography complications: Can we avoid them? Przybysz MA, Stankiewicz R

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

130 Review with meta-analysis relating North American, European and Japanese snus or smokeless tobacco use to major smoking-related diseases

Lee PN, Coombs KJ, Hamling JS

META-ANALYSIS

- 143 Evidence analysis on the utilization of platelet-rich plasma as an adjuvant in the repair of rotator cuff tears Muthu S, Jeyaraman N, Patel K, Chellamuthu G, Viswanathan VK, Jeyaraman M, Khanna M
- 162 Is cellular therapy beneficial in management of rotator cuff tears? Meta-analysis of comparative clinical studies

Muthu S, Mogulesh C, Viswanathan VK, Jeyaraman N, Pai SN, Jeyaraman M, Khanna M

177 Clinical outcomes of the omicron variant compared with previous SARS-CoV-2 variants; meta-analysis of current reports

Karbalaei M, Keikha M

186 Difference in incidence of developing hepatocellular carcinoma between hepatitis B virus-and hepatitis C virus-infected patients

Tarao K, Nozaki A, Komatsu H, Ideno N, Komatsu T, Ikeda T, Taguri M, Maeda S



Contents

Bimonthly Volume 10 Number 3 June 28, 2022

ABOUT COVER

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Meta-Analysis, Juan Ren, MD, PhD, Professor, Department of Oncology and Radiotherapy, The First Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an 710061, Shaanxi Province, China. 869491533@qq.com

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Meta-Analysis (WJMA, World J Meta-Anal) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of clinical medicine with a platform to publish high-quality meta-analysis and systematic review articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJMA mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained through meta-analysis and systematic review in a wide range of areas, including medicine, pharmacy, preventive medicine, stomatology, nursing, medical imaging, and laboratory medicine.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJMA is now abstracted and indexed in Reference Citation Analysis, China National Knowledge Infrastructure, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Hua-Ge Yu; Production Department Director: Xiang Li; Editorial Office Director: Jin-Lei Wang.

NAME OF JOURNAL World Journal of Meta-Analysis	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 2308-3840 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
May 26, 2013	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Bimonthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Saurabh Chandan, Jing Sun	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
June 28, 2022	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2022 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2022 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



WJMA

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Meta-Anal 2022 June 28; 10(3): 74-80

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.74

ISSN 2308-3840 (online)

OPINION REVIEW

Responses to disrupted operative care during the coronavirus pandemic at a Caribbean hospital

Shamir O Cawich, Gordon Narayansingh, Michael J Ramdass, Marlon Mencia, Dexter A Thomas, Shaheeba Barrow, Vijay Naraynsingh

Specialty type: Surgery

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Fakhradiyev I, Kazakhstan; Lopes-Junior LC, Brazil; Tung TH, China

Received: January 12, 2022 Peer-review started: January 12, 2022 First decision: February 21, 2022 Revised: April 19, 2022 Accepted: May 22, 2022 Article in press: May 22, 2022 Published online: June 28, 2022



Shamir O Cawich, Gordon Narayansingh, Michael J Ramdass, Dexter A Thomas, Shaheeba Barrow, Vijay Naraynsingh, Department of Surgery, Port of Spain General Hospital, Port of Spain, Trinidad and Tobago

Marlon Mencia, Department of Clinical Surgical Sciences, University of the West Indies, St. Joseph, Trinidad and Tobago

Corresponding author: Shamir O Cawich, FRCS, Full Professor, Department of Surgery, Port of Spain General Hospital, Port of Spain, Trinidad and Tobago. socawich@hotmail.com

Abstract

The coronavirus pandemic was thrust upon all nations in the year 2020 and required swift public health responses. Resource-poor health care facilities, such as those in the Caribbean, were poorly prepared but had to respond to the threat. In this experience report we examined the response by the surgical specialty to evaluate the lessons learned and to identify positive changes that may continue post-pandemic.

Key Words: Public health; Surgery; Pandemic; Coronavirus

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Although resource-poor nations were not prepared to deal with the pandemic, they still had to respond to the global threat. This paper discusses the surgical specialty's response in order to identify positive changes that may continue post-pandemic.

Citation: Cawich SO, Narayansingh G, Ramdass MJ, Mencia M, Thomas DA, Barrow S, Naraynsingh V. Responses to disrupted operative care during the coronavirus pandemic at a Caribbean hospital. *World J Meta-Anal* 2022; 10(3): 74-80 **URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/full/v10/i3/74.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.74

Raishidena® WJMA | https://www.wjgnet.com

INTRODUCTION

The coronavirus (COVID) pandemic was thrust upon all nations across the globe in the year 2020. Trinidad & Tobago, a small resource-poor Caribbean nation, recorded its first case in March, 2020. The health care system had to rapidly respond to the pandemic. In this experience report we examine the response by the surgical specialty to evaluate the lessons learned and to identify positive changes that may continue post-pandemic.

HEALTH CARE IN THE CARIBBEAN

The Anglophone Caribbean is comprised of 17 independent countries, each with their own governments, budgets and health care delivery systems. Although the cumulative population is 7.5 million persons, the region is comprised mostly of small island states, with only four countries having populations over 200000 persons[1].

Trinidad & Tobago is a small island nation in the Eastern Caribbean, covering 1980 square miles (Figure 1). There was a population of 1.3 million persons at the last national census[2]. Citizens of this nation have access to government-sponsored health care through public hospitals managed by the health ministry[2].

The General Hospital in Port of Spain is a 400-bed tertiary referral public hospital that serves a densely populated area, with a catchment population approximately 650000 persons[3]. The hospital offers virtually all areas of subspecialty care to the population in the North-Western part of the island (Figure 1). From a surgical point of view, due to the dense population and the high prevalence of interpersonal violence, the hospital is well known as a trauma center throughout the Caribbean[3]. The hospital is also affiliated with the local University[3], provides tertiary level oncology care to the catchment population[4] and serves as a quaternary referral center for vascular, hepatobiliary and laparoscopic surgery for the nation.

Similar to other facilities across the globe, the Port of Spain General Hospital was significantly affected by the COVID pandemic[5,6]. After the first reported case in Trinidad & Tobago, there was a swift initial response to close international sea and air borders to all incoming and outgoing passengers on March 22, 2021[7]. The borders remained closed to all forms of transit until July 17, 2021. During this time, all persons had to apply to the Government for exemptions to allow emergency travel.

The Government of Trinidad & Tobago also declared a State of Emergency in an attempt to limit travel and social activity within the nation[7]. A State of Emergency is triggered when there is a existing or potential threat to the nation and/or its population[3]. While in effect, only persons deemed "essential to national function" were allowed to travel in public spaces[3].

Before this incident, a State of Emergency was declared on six prior occasions[8]. All six prior States of Emergencies were declared in response to inter-personal violence[3]. The 2021 declaration was the only one due to a natural event. As a part of this response, the government organized intensified law enforcement operations with three specific aims: curtail inter-island transit, ensure that persons who required emergency travel maintained social distancing and mask wearing and to limit social gatherings. To facilitate this, a nationwide curfew was imposed and non-compliant citizens were subject to arrest for up to 24-h.

During this State of Emergency, health workers were permitted to travel in order to ensure continued healthcare *via* the Government-funded public hospitals. The Government attempted to create a parallel health care system that attended to the needs of COVID positive patients only, preserving the regular health care system for unaffected patients. However, the underfunded and resource-poor healthcare systems were unprepared[9].

In the grand scheme of the healthcare response, surgery became an irrelevant specialty[10]. The overwhelming majority of COVID related complications affected the cardiovascular and respiratory systems. There were few, if any, surgical complications recognized. Therefore, it was understandable that surgical services in Trinidad & Tobago were curtailed. This saw surgical house officers re-allocated to COVID teams, procurement practices changed, clinics postponed, operating room lists cancelled and face-to-face multidisciplinary team meetings discontinued. These changes, while totally understandable, crippled the delivery of surgical care (Figure 2).

In the meantime, patients with surgical diseases continued to present to the hospitals for care. Surgical care was delayed in many cases, due to both patient reluctance to present to hospital[11] and prolonged transit through the healthcare delivery systems. Therefore, patients who presented for surgical care were now in advanced disease states. Surgical leaders recognized that a potential crisis was developing and responded in several ways.

Zaishideng® WJMA | https://www.wjgnet.com

Cawich SO et al. Pandemic responses



Figure 1 A Map of the Caribbean region. The island of Trinidad & Tobago (inset) is located just off the coast of South America. The Port of Spain General Hospital (red dot) is located in the North-Western part of the island in the nation's capital.



Figure 2 A flow chart showing the variety of ways in which pandemic-induced changes affected the delivery of surgical health care in a Caribbean nation.

OUTPATIENT CARE

The Port of Spain General Hospital is a post-graduate training facility associated with a regional medical university. Surgical firms were comprised of a consultant surgeon, at least one registrar (PGY4/5) and junior residents commencing post-graduate training (PGY1/2).

Elective outpatient care required that patients attended the surgical clinic for follow-up visits. However, this could not continue as it would mean clustering of patients without effective methods to maintain social distancing. To overcome this, the surgical teams accessed a list of patients requiring elective outpatient care and contacted them by telephone for triage. Patients whose conditions allowed had their appointments postponed. For patients who required urgent consultations, the surgical teams used FaceTime (Apple Inc., Cupertino, California, United States) video conferencing applications on mobile phones to view wounds and/or carry out face-to-face consultations.



MULTIDISCIPLINARY CARE

This facility practiced a multiple disciplinary approach to health care since the year 2013[12]. Traditionally, this was achieved by healthcare workers meeting face-to-face in a dedicated meeting room to discuss cases. In this setting, there was initially poor buy-in to the MDT concept. As a result, there was little dedicated funding for MDT processes. This was overcome by members utilizing free software, such as coordination via WhatsApp® (WhatsApp Inc., California, United States) and Google mail® (Google Inc., Mountain View, CA 94043, United States) groups. Radiology images were accessed using free OsiriX® DICOM software (Pixmeo, Geneva, Switzerland) and shared via Dropbox® (Dropbox Inc, San Francisco, California). Initially, this was laborious, but when the pandemic changes were thrust upon us, we were already in a position to switch effectively to electronic meetings via Zoom (Zoom Video Communications, San Jose, California) – also freely available on the internet.

Interestingly, upon review of our records, we found that the attendance increased once there was no longer a need for face-to-face meetings. Also, the images were viewed directly on individual devices, allowing better visualization and participation. In the first 90 days, virtual meetings lasted for 20 min (mean) and discussed an average of 2.45 cases. After one year of virtual meetings, the process became streamlined and the workload increased, culminating in a mean meeting duration of 75 minutes and mean of 6.5 case discussions per meeting. We also recorded the attending surgeons' clinical plan preand post-meetings and noted that 52% of therapeutic plans had changed post-discussion.

EMERGENCY SURGICAL CARE

Patients continued to present to hospitals with surgical emergencies. Priority was given to triaging patients, channeling COVID positive patients to a parallel COVID health care facility. This ensured other patients and staff were not exposed to the virus. Since our facility had no access to any form of rapid COVID status testing, patients with suspected infections were isolated in tents until they could be formally tested, often at the expense of disease progression and poor outcomes.

Government-mandated instructions to work-from-home where possible also affected rostering of surgical teams. This affected the number of surgical nurses, doctors and support staff[9]. Redistribution of personnel to COVID units[9] further reduced the cadre of staff available for emergency surgical care. In addition, the surgical teams were ordered to further subdivide to mitigate risk of entire teams being exposed at once and to reduce utilization of scarce personal protective equipment stocks[10].

As it relates to the operating room, the usual oversight was not feasible as attending surgeons could not be present for all cases fearing the service collapsing if all members of the team became exposed/ infected[13]. We turned to technology using the distance mentoring technique, described in detail in previous publications[10,14].

In summary, a PGY4/5 resident performing an operation used two smartphones to video conference with the consultant surgeon. One was fixated to the theater lights viewing the surgical field and the second was on the anesthetic machine to view the PGY4/5 residents while operating[10,14]. Occasionally, operating room staff manipulated the smart phones for closer inspection. The consultant surgeon used separate devices to virtually guide residents through surgery. We reported this experience with trauma patients^[10] and since then have amassed more experience with laparoscopy^[14,15], hepatobiliary surgery [14,16] and emergency operations at this facility. We were able to use this method with 96% success^[10] with good outcomes. This technique may be considered in the post-pandemic operating room to maintain safety while minimizing virus transmission, once a reliable high-bandwidth network connection is present. The main concerns with this method were the inability for the attending surgeon to take over in case of a complication and the concern that it may suppress the PGY4/5 learning experience. But for the most part, our residents were encouraged by the attendings virtual presence. It is important to note that the consultant and resident surgeons had previously worked together and were well aware of the others' skill sets, capabilities and judgment.

OPERATING ROOM RESPONSE

During the pandemic, teams were truncated to one consultant and a resident with limited first-surgeon experience in major cases. While the distance mentoring technique allowed continuation of care where the PGY4/5 residents were able to safely complete 96% of emergency laparotomies[10], this would have little impact on attending surgeons. The reduction of surgical staff in the operating room remained a problem.

Robotic surgery would have been a good solution, since it had enjoyed good success across the globe [17], but it had not been used in the Caribbean before. One reason for this is that most Caribbean nations are in middle-income or low-income brackets [1,4] and could not afford to acquire commercially available surgical robots[13]. In addition, distributors were generally reluctant to supply robotic equipment to the Caribbean because most were low-income countries, including some of the poorest in



the Western Hemisphere [1,4]. From an economic standpoint, distributors may have been reluctant because they thought that these poor nations would not be able afford the hardware and necessary consumables.

Surgical leaders recognized the need to accelerate the search for affordable technology in the face of the 2020 pandemic. We were able to identify a suitable and relatively inexpensive robotic arm and then engage a distributor to supply the equipment in the Caribbean. The FreeHand® robotic arm (Freehand 2010 Ltd., Guildford, Surrey, United Kingdom) is a single robotic arm designed to control the laparoscope via infrared signals from the surgeon. This alleviates the need for an assistant surgeon and allows the operating room to function with skeleton staff. Via a private-public partnership, a FreeHand® robotic arm (Freehand 2010 Ltd., Guildford, Surrey, United Kingdom) was first used at this facility during the pandemic[18]. To date, the robot has been used to perform a variety of FreeHand® robotassisted operations including liver resections, pancreatic resections, ventral hernia repairs, inguinal hernia repairs, fundoplications, colectomies, gastrectomies, prostatectomies and hysterectomies.

In our experience, this provided a good balance with a lower procurement cost than other commercially available surgical robots, but provides some advantages over traditional laparoscopy. First, the surgeon is in full control over the robot that handles the laparoscope, thereby eliminating human error by a camera person. The head movements to control the robot easy to learn as they are similar to the surgeons' actions to move their heads to view the operative field. While training is obviously necessary before embarking on the use of FreeHand, the training is fairly simple for attending surgeons who are already adept at laparoscopy.

WAY FORWARD

As this paper was being written, Trinidad & Tobago was at the peak of its third wave of the COVID pandemic and the existing responses remained in place. It is clear that humankind will have to learn to live with the pandemic induced changes. Therefore, we acknowledge that the situation is fluid and that these changes will need to be versatile. In order to overcome this, we must consolidate and have.

Leadership

Surgical leaders must recognize that the pandemic has forced us to make significant changes. Of course, some surgeons will resist the deviation from "cultural norms" in the Caribbean. We have to address this early by seeking stakeholder buy-in and by providing training for technology, which at first may seem daunting to many persons. We also believe that surgical leaders must continue to step up and advocate for policy to ensure that surgical services to function appropriately in the face of the pandemic[19,20].

Critical assessment of the healthcare environment

It is clear that the healthcare environment in the Caribbean differ significantly from those in developed countries. We work in low-resource systems with many limitations, including high dependency bed shortages, understocked blood banks, consumable shortages and limited operating time. We have found ways to overcome these challenges that may not be suitable to large, developing countries. We advocate, therefore, that surgeons must critically appraise their local hospitals and understand the pitfalls in their environment in order to introduce policy that would maintain quality service delivery that suits the local healthcare environment.

LIMITATIONS

Admittedly, these changes were largely driven by the need to continue patient care during the pandemic. We also acknowledge that technical capability has outpaced the medico-legal aspect of patient care during the pandemic. This should serve as a stimulus for policy makers to have guidelines in place for telemedicine.

CONCLUSION

The COVID pandemic has proved to be resilient and expected to continue for years to come. In the face of this, surgical leaders should continue to adapt and lead the charge for policy that will allow their hospital to continue functioning. In our environment, virtual multidisciplinary meetings, FaceTime® consultations, remote mentoring and robot-assist laparoscopy have been invaluable adjuncts that allow our service to continue functioning effectively. COVID may have acted as a catalyst increasing our use of basic digital technology. This is unlikely to return to pre-pandemic behavior, further improving our practice.



FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Cawich SO, Narayansingh G, Mencia M, Thomas D, Barrow S, and Naraynsingh V designed and coordinated the study; Cawich SO, Narayansingh G, Mencia M and Thomas D acquired and analyzed data; Cawich SO, Narayansingh G, Mencia M, Thomas D, Barrow S, and Naraynsingh V interpreted the data; Cawich SO, Narayansingh G, Mencia M, Thomas D, Barrow S, and Naraynsingh V wrote the manuscript; all authors approved the final version of the article.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Trinidad and Tobago

ORCID number: Shamir O Cawich 0000-0003-3377-0303; Gordon Narayansingh 0000-0003-3079-5249; Michael J Ramdass 0000-0002-5687-9523; Marlon Mencia 0000-0003-4869-7479; Dexter A Thomas 0000-0003-3744-744X; Shaheeba Barrow 0000-0003-0390-5158; Vijay Naraynsingh 0000-0002-5445-3385.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: A P-Editor: Liu JH

REFERENCES

- Hunte SA, Pierre K, St Rose R, Simeon DT. Health Systems' Resilience: COVID-19 Response in Trinidad and Tobago. Am 1 J Trop Med Hyg 2020; 103: 590-592 [PMID: 32524961 DOI: 10.4269/ajtmh.20-0561]
- Tang B, Bodkyn C, Gupta S, Denburg A. Access to WHO Essential Medicines for Childhood Cancer Care in Trinidad and 2 Tobago: A Health System Analysis of Barriers and Enablers. JCO Glob Oncol 2020; 6: 67-79 [PMID: 32031441 DOI: 10.1200/JGO.19.00300
- Ramdass MJ, Cawich SO, Pooran S, Milne D, Ali E, Naraynsingh V. Declaration of a state of emergency in Trinidad and 3 Tobago: effect on the trauma admissions at the National Referral Trauma Centre. Prehosp Disaster Med 2015; 30: 229-232 [PMID: 25783806 DOI: 10.1017/S1049023X15000242]
- Bahall M. Health services in Trinidad: throughput, throughput challenges, and the impact of a throughput intervention on overcrowding in a public health institution. BMC Health Serv Res 2018; 18: 129 [PMID: 29458361 DOI: 10.1186/s12913-018-2931-2
- Maharaj SB, Ramsewak SS, Dookeram D, Franco D. Did vaccine inequity lead to the second wave of COVID-19 5 infections in Trinidad and Tobago? BMJ Glob Health 2021; 6 [PMID: 34433544 DOI: 10.1136/bmjgh-2021-007096]
- Ramsingh RAE, Duval JL, Rahaman NC, Rampersad RD, Angelini GD, Teodori G. Adult cardiac surgery in Trinidad and Tobago during the COVID-19 pandemic: Lessons from a developing country. J Card Surg 2020; 35: 3387-3390 [PMID: 32845035 DOI: 10.1111/jocs.14975]
- 7 Selby L, Tripathi V, Hariharan S. Knowledge, Attitudes and Practices (KAP) regarding the Novel Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Post-lockdown in Trinidad and Tobago. Soc Work Public Health 2021; 36: 558-576 [PMID: 34182897 DOI: 10.1080/19371918.2021.1932664]
- 8 Besson GA Ed. The Caribbean History Archives. 1st ed. Palo Alto. CA, USA. Paria Publishing Company Ltd. 2013: 31-33 [DOI: 10.2172/6426738]
- Nayak BS, Sahu PK, Ramsaroop K, Maharaj S, Mootoo W, Khan S, Extravour RM. Prevalence and factors associated with 9 depression, anxiety and stress among healthcare workers of Trinidad and Tobago during COVID-19 pandemic: a crosssectional study. BMJ Open 2021; 11: e044397 [PMID: 33849850 DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-044397]
- Cawich SO, Mencia M, Thomas D, Spence R, Milne D, Naraynsingh V, Barrow S. Trauma surgery via distance mentoring: 10 A model inspired by the 2020 pandemic. Trop Doct 2022; 52: 101-103 [PMID: 34474625 DOI: 10.1177/00494755211038790]
- Gopaul CD, Ventour D, Thomas D. ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 Vaccine Side Effects among Healthcare Workers in Trinidad and 11 Tobago. Vaccines (Basel) 2022; 10 [PMID: 35335098 DOI: 10.3390/vaccines10030466]
- 12 Cawich SO, Johnson PB, Shah S, Roberts P, Arthurs M, Murphy T, Bonadie KO, Crandon IW, Harding HE, Abu Hilal M, Pearce NW. Overcoming obstacles to establish a multidisciplinary team approach to hepatobiliary diseases: a working model in a Caribbean setting. J Multidiscip Healthc 2014; 7: 227-230 [PMID: 24920917 DOI: 10.2147/JMDH.S60604]
- Hariharan S, Chen D. Costs and Utilization of Operating Rooms in a Public Hospital in Trinidad, West Indies. Perm J 13 2015; 19: e128-e132 [PMID: 26828072 DOI: 10.7812/tpp/14-183]
- Griffith SP, Cawich SO, Mencia M, Naraynsingh V, Pearce NW. Laparoscopic Liver Resection by Distance Mentoring -Trinidad to Barbados: A Report. Cureus 2019; 11: e5796 [PMID: 31728243 DOI: 10.7759/cureus.5796]
- Cawich SO, Griffith SP, Wilson C, FaSiOen PR, Burgess P, Thomas DA, Mencia M, Pearce NW, Kluger MD, Naraynsingh V. Distance mentoring in advanced minimally invasive surgery in the Caribbean: A model for low-resource environments. Curr Med Res Prac 2021; 11: 125-127 [DOI: 10.4103/cmrp.cmrp_23_21]



- 16 Cawich SO, Simpson L, Josephs A. Laparoscopic Hepatectomy via Remote Mentoring From Jamaica to Trinidad. Cureus 2021; **13**: e20177 [PMID: 35004002 DOI: 10.7759/cureus.20177]
- 17 Lane T. A short history of robotic surgery. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 2018; 100: 5-7 [PMID: 29717892 DOI: 10.1308/rcsann.supp1.5]
- 18 Cawich SO, Arulampalam T, Senasi R, Naraynsingh V. Robot-Assisted Minimally Invasive Surgery: First Report from the Caribbean. Cureus 2021; 13: e18739 [PMID: 34790488 DOI: 10.7759/cureus.18739]
- 19 Stephens EH, Dearani JA, Guleserian KJ. Courage, Fortitude, and Effective Leadership of Surgical Teams During COVID-19. World J Pediatr Congenit Heart Surg 2020; 11: 675-679 [PMID: 32648522 DOI: 10.1177/2150135120938330]
- Klingensmith ME. Leadership and followership in surgical education. Am J Surg 2017; 213: 207-211 [PMID: 27751527 20 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2016.07.032]



W J M

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Meta-Anal 2022 June 28; 10(3): 81-98

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.81

ISSN 2308-3840 (online)

REVIEW

Mechanism for development of malnutrition in primary biliary cholangitis

Vasiliy Ivanovich Reshetnyak, Igor Veniaminovich Maev

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Feng B, China; Filipec Kanizaj T, Croatia

Received: February 13, 2022 Peer-review started: February 13, 2022 First decision: April 13, 2022 Revised: April 14, 2022 Accepted: May 22, 2022 Article in press: May 22, 2022 Published online: June 28, 2022



Vasiliy Ivanovich Reshetnyak, Igor Veniaminovich Maev, Department of Propaedeutic of Internal Diseases and Gastroenterology, A.I. Yevdokimov Moscow State University of Medicine and Dentistry, Moscow 127473, Russia

Corresponding author: Vasiliy Ivanovich Reshetnyak, MD, MDS, PhD, Full Professor, Department of Propaedeutic of Internal Diseases and Gastroenterology, A.I. Yevdokimov Moscow State University of Medicine and Dentistry, 20, Delegatskaya St., Build. 1, Moscow 127473, Russia. vasiliy.reshetnyak@yandex.ru

Abstract

Primary biliary cholangitis (PBC) is a chronic cholestatic liver disease that is associated with impaired biliary excretion processes. Along with the development of cholestasis, there is a deficient flow of bile acids into the intestinal lumen causing malnutrition (MN) that is manifested in deficiencies of both macro- and micronutrients. The mechanism for development of trophological insufficiency is multifactorial. However, the trigger of MN in PBC is impaired enterohepatic circulation of bile acids. The ingress of bile acids with a detergent effect into the general bloodstream, followed by elimination via the kidneys and skin, triggers a cascade of metabolic disturbances, which leads to the gradual development and progression of calorie MN. The latter gradually transforms into protein-calorie MN (PCM) (as marasmus) due to the insufficient entry of bile acids into the duodenum, which is accompanied by a decrease in the emulsification, hydrolysis, and absorption of fats and fat-soluble vitamins, as well as disturbance of intestinal motility and bacterial overgrowth. Fat-soluble vitamin deficiencies complement P CM with vitamin and mineral MN. The development of hepatocellular failure enhances the progression of PCM due to the impaired protein synthetic function of hepatocytes in the advanced stage of PBC, which results in deficiency of not only the somatic but also the visceral pool of proteins. A mixed PCM form of marasmus and kwashiorkor develops. Early recognition of energy, protein, micronutrient, and macronutrient deficiencies is of great importance because timely nutritional support can improve liver function and quality of life in patients with PBC. In this case, it is important to know what type (energy, proteincalorie, vitamin, and vitamin-mineral) and form (marasmus, marasmuskwashiorkor) of MN is present in the patient and how it is associated with the stage of the disease. Therefore, it is recommended to screen all patients with PBC for MN, from the early asymptomatic stage of the disease in order to identify and avoid preventable complications, such as fatigue, malaise, performance decrement, sarcopenia, osteoporosis, and hepatic encephalopathy, which will be



able to provide appropriate nutritional support for correction of the trophological status.

Key Words: Primary biliary cholangitis; Malnutrition; Calorie; Protein-calorie; Vitamin-mineral malnutrition; Marasmus and marasmus-kwashiorkor malnutrition

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: The review discusses the development of malnutrition in primary biliary cholangitis. It presents the factors contributing to the gradual progression of signs of malnutrition in these patients in different stages of the disease and considers the pathogenesis of energy, protein-calorie (marasmus), and protein (kwashiorkor) malnutrition as the disease progresses. By taking into account the mechanisms of different malnutrition signs and forms, the authors present the principles of diet therapy for primary biliary cholangitis.

Citation: Reshetnyak VI, Maev IV. Mechanism for development of malnutrition in primary biliary cholangitis. *World J Meta-Anal* 2022; 10(3): 81-98

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/full/v10/i3/81.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.81

INTRODUCTION

Malnutrition (MN) is common in patients with primary biliary cholangitis (PBC). MN accompanying this disease worsens its course, prognosis, and quality of life in a patient, negatively affects the outcome of the disease, and is most often recognized only in its later stages^[1]. The etiology and pathophysiology of MN are multifactorial in PBC[2]. Impaired biliary excretion processes in PBC, which are accompanied by cholestasis and decreased hepatocyte function, affect the metabolism of both macronutrients and micronutrients and depends on the stage of the disease. For the timely diagnosis and correction of the abnormal trophological status, it is important to understand when, at what stage of the disease, and by what mechanisms, calorie, protein, vitamin, and mineral MN develop in PBC patients. To improve treatment results in patients with PBC, it is necessary to pay attention to the development of MN in them and to its prevention and treatment even in the early stages of the disease. The advanced, endstages of PBC are accompanied by an imbalance between catabolism and anabolism, with the predominance of the former over the latter. The goals of nutritional therapy for patients with cholestatic liver disease are improvement of anabolic processes for valuable liver regeneration, prevention, and correction of malnutrition as well as to avoid and/or treat related complications of liver disease. It is very important to focus not only on the specific signs of the disease but also on the assessment of the nutritional status in patients during their initial examination. At the same time, the features and mechanisms of metabolic disorders should be taken into account in different stages of PBC in order to timely recognize MN and its correction during basic treatment, taking into account currently known scientific data.

DEFINITION OF MALNUTRITION

The Russian literature lacks the generally accepted term to define the nutritional status[3]. MN (synonyms: Protein-calorie, nutritional insufficiency, trophological insufficiency, malnutrition) is a pathological condition caused by a discrepancy between the intake and consumption (imbalance) of organic nutrients, calories, macronutrients, and micronutrients, leading to weight loss, a measurable negative change in the component composition of the body, which is accompanied by its dysfunction and a poorer clinical outcome[4,5]. MN is defined by the World Health Organization as the result of insufficient intake or absorption of nutrients needed to support growth and to prevent chronic or acute diseases and is often characterized by growth retardation, wasting, being underweight, and micronutrient deficiencies[6]. MN is accompanied by weight loss, lower physical performance, and worse health and causes serious metabolic disorders, immunosuppression, and endocrine dysfunctions[7,8].

Zaishideng® WJMA | https://www.wjgnet.com

PREVALENCE OF MALNUTRITION IN PATIENTS WITH LIVER DISEASE

It is very difficult to estimate the true prevalence of MN for the following reasons [5]: Physicians' extremely low attention to the trophological status; difficulties in assessing MN; and the masking of muscle tissue loss in the presence of excess fat mass and fluid retention.

About 2 billion people in the world experience various types of MN[9]. Secondary (endogenous) MN is noted in patients with various diseases. Studies indicate that MN is observed in 20%-80% of patients with liver disease, according to the clinical stage of the disease^[10]. Almost any chronic illness can cause progressive weight loss. A study by Carvalho and Parise[11] has shown that as many as 75% of patients with chronic liver disease have varying degrees of MN. Hyponutrition and sarcopenia are common in patients with chronic liver disease and are associated with an increased risk for decompensation and infections as well as are frequently an independent risk factor for death in these patients and worse treatment outcomes after liver transplantation [2,12]. It is important to note that the incidence of trophological insufficiency increases in these patients as the disease progresses. In the 1990s studies[13,14], evaluation of the nutritional status in patients with different etiologies of liver cirrhosis and with various degrees of liver failure came to the consensus that MN was recognized in all types of cirrhosis [15] and, according to various authors, it ranged from 40% to 100% [16-19]. There is a high prevalence of MN in individuals with decompensated liver cirrhosis. The prevalence of MN is 46% in patients classified as Child-Pugh A cirrhosis and 84% and 95% in those classified as Child-Pugh B and C, respectively^[11]. MN cases can be as much as 100% in patients on the waiting list for liver transplantation^[20,21].

PBC AND MALNUTRITION

MN develops in PBC patients with and without established cirrhosis [22,23]. According to Wicks et al [22], MN is detected in 33% of patients with different stages of PBC. Primary biliary cholangitis (PBC; ICD-10 K.74.3; ICD-11 (beta draft) DB37.2) is a disease, formerly (until 2015) known as primary biliary cirrhosis (PBC)[24], is the chronic, progressive autoimmune cholestatic liver disease proceeding with epithelial destruction, necrosis, and apoptosis, mainly affecting the intralobular and septal bile ducts, which eventually leads to liver cirrhosis [25,26]. PBC is characterized by T-cell-mediated destruction of epithelial cells that line the small intrahepatic bile ducts^[27]. This leads to ductulopenia and persistent cholestasis to develop end-stage cirrhosis with hepatocellular failure[26].

Early-stage disease may be asymptomatic or have nonspecific symptoms, such as weakness, fatigue, reduced performance, anorexia/hyporexia, and malaise, which can be easily confused with other conditions. During this period, MN caused by the disease itself is generally invisible since there are no significant damage to the liver cells involved in metabolic processes. In early-stage PBC, there is a slight decrease in energy consumption, which does not lead to clinically pronounced protein-calorie MN, but there is already a potentially modifiable MN during this period[28-30].

As cholestasis progresses, excess bile acids have a chronic (continuous) aggressive effect on the liver parenchyma, which is manifested by the development of gradually progressing hepatocellular failure. The trophological status of patients with PBC also decreases as the disease progresses, which is partly due to a significant decrease in energy consumption[22]. Patients with advanced PBC develop liver cirrhosis that may be accompanied by ascites, portal hypertension, esophageal/gastric variceal hemorrhage, and hepatic encephalopathy[31]. Portal hypertension can develop in patients with cholestatic liver disease before cirrhosis is established[32,33]. There is almost a direct relationship between the severity of liver disease and the degree of MN[30]. In this case, the state of nutrition is disturbed secondarily to the symptoms of the disease[33]. Severe protein-calorie MN more frequently develops and is observed in advanced and end stages of PBC, generally in patients who have been suffering from this disease for more than one decade[29] and when there is a 25% or less decline in the total number of functioning hepatocytes[34]. Trophological insufficiency becomes more easily detectable when the patients with PBC develop severe cirrhosis with ascites.

THE PATHOGENESIS OF MALNUTRITION IN PBC

The causes and mechanisms leading to MN and weight loss in patients with PBC are multifactorial and can be divided into three groups: insufficient intake of nutrients; abnormalities in digestion and absorption (maldigestion and malabsorption syndromes); and increased metabolic rate (accelerated catabolism).

Insufficient intake of nutrients in patients with PBC

In early-stage PBC, the trophological changes are associated with elevated plasma bile acid levels in these patients, which gives rise to an early and, most commonly, the only for several months or even



years pathognomonic symptom of the disease, such as local or diffuse (extension), moderate or pronounced (degree), and persistent or transient (duration) skin itching[26,35]. The cause of skin itching is the epidermal deposition of bile acids that are abundant in the blood of patients with PBC even in the asymptomatic and early stages of the disease, long before developing jaundice. In this case, all fractions of conjugated bile acids increase in the blood.

In response to excess plasma bile acids in PBC patients, whose body tries to remove toxic bile acids having detergent properties from the general circulation through the kidneys and skin. In this case, 50%-85% of bile acids that are unconjugated with glycine or taurine are detected in the skin, and less than 20% of bile acids are found as sulfoesters[25,26,36]. Itching is more marked at night and frequently enhanced in contact with tissues as well as in warmth. Itching is not relieved by symptomatic (antihistamine, sedative) medications; it often causes excruciating insomnia, emotional changes, anxiety, and depression[24]. All this leads to decreased appetite and insufficient intake of food ingredients, which is accompanied by an increase in glycogenolysis and by a reduction in glycogenogenesis.

Glycogenolysis, a biochemical process of breaking down glycogen into glucose, occurs primarily in the liver and muscles. The main purpose of glycogenolysis is to keep blood glucose levels stable to provide the body with energy. Due to its glycogen stores and glycogenolysis processes, the liver provides up to 75% of the body's need for glucose as the primary substrate quickly used to replenish energy.

Glycogenogenesis is a metabolic pathway that synthesizes glycogen from glucose. This process takes place in all tissues; however, it occurs mainly in the liver and muscles. The starting point for glycogenogenesis is glucose-6-phosphate that can be obtained from glucose in the reaction catalyzed by glucokinase in the liver and by hexokinase in the muscles. Liver glycogen is known to be used as an energy material by all tissues and organs. At the same time, glycogen in muscles is employed by them as an energy material exclusively for their own needs.

Green *et al*[37] indicated that even in the early stages of PBC, glycogen stores gradually reduce in the liver, which is associated with an increase in glycogenolysis and a decrease in glycogenogenesis. The authors have convincingly shown that glucokinase activity in PBC patients reduces significantly (down to zero), which suggests that liver glycogen production decreases[37]. At the same time, hexokinase (performs phosphorylation of hexoses) that is responsible for glycogen synthesis mainly in the muscles significantly increases during this period in PBC patients *vs* healthy individuals[37]. At the same time, hexokinase (that produces phosphorylation of hexoses), which is responsible for glycogen synthesis mainly in the muscles, significantly increases during this period in PBC patients *vs* healthy individuals[37].

Excruciating insomnia, emotional changes, anxiety, and depression, which develop even in the early stages of the disease, contribute to a decline in glycogen stores and to gradually progressing energy deficiency (a reduction in the level of glucose used as an energy substrate) with the clinical manifestations of obvious weakness, rapid fatigue, and decreases in performance, functional status, and quality of life in PBC patients[24,33,35,38-40]. Moreover, the asthenic syndrome in patients with PBC is more pronounced than in those with other chronic liver diseases[24]. There is evidence that an important role in the mechanism of fatigue development is played by aromatic amino acids, such as tyrosine, phenylalanine, and tryptophan, which are abundant in the blood of patients with PBC[39,41,42].

And so, in early-stage PBC, an imperceptible trophological change occurs as calorie MN that manifests itself only as general weakness and/or reduced working capacity for a fairly long time[40,43, 44].

The developing impairment of biliary excretion processes (accumulation of blood bile acid) in patients with PBC even in the asymptomatic and early stages of the disease contributes to the development of calorie MN, which requires that higher-calorie foods be included in the diet of these patients.

Even slight nutrient deficiencies accompanied by a gradual increase in glycogenolysis and a decrease in glycogenogenesis leads to the inclusion of compensation mechanisms. The latter are intended to protect higher energy-consuming vital organs (the brain, myocardium, erythrocytes, *etc.*) from energy deficiency by redistributing plastic and energy resources[5]. This brings about the mobilization of energy resources of adipose tissue and the consumption of fatty acids as an energy material. Fatty acids become important substrates for energy production. Due to the acceleration of fatty acid β -oxidation processes, there is a progressive decline in fat stores in patients with PBC[45,46]. The activation of these processes occurs as cholestasis progresses.

Along with this, patients with PBC are observed to have elevated levels of palmitic and oleic fatty acids[37]. The latter are the main components of biliary phospholipids (Figure 1) that are involved in the formation of micellar and lamellar structures consisting of phospholipids, cholesterol, and bile acids [47]. In patients with PBC, the plasma levels of palmitic and oleic acids as well as phospholipids and cholesterol increase even in the early stages of the disease and are aimed at neutralizing the detergent effect of excess bile acids entering the general circulation as cholestasis progresses[26,32]. In PBC patients, cholesterol, phospholipids, and palmitic and oleic acids can enter the general circulation due to an increase in their synthesis in the liver and to the entry of bile components into the blood as a consequence of progressive cholestasis.



Figure 1 Chemical structure of phosphatidylcholine containing palmitic and oleic fatty acids.

The higher synthesis of phospholipids requires an increased amount of not only palmitic and oleic fatty acids but also orthophosphate. In this connection, even in the early stages of the disease, the plasma of patients with PBC displays the moderately enhanced activity of the hepatic fraction of alkaline phosphatase and 5'-nucleotidase, which indicates changes in phosphorus metabolism[26]. These enzymes are involved in the hydrolysis of phosphomonoesters to yield orthophosphate that is essential as the main component for the biosynthesis of phospholipids that in turn are required to neutralize the increased content of plasma bile acid levels in patients with PBC.

In patients with PBC, the long-term elevated plasma levels of cholesterol in response to the increase in its synthesis in the liver can give rise to xanthelasmas, single or multiple, pale-yellow formations that are slightly raised above the skin. In these patients, the increased levels of cholesterol as well as those of phospholipids are aimed at neutralizing the detergent effect of bile acids entering the general circulation. At the same time, despite the increase in their total plasma cholesterol, the patients with PBC were found to have mild hepatic steatosis and a low risk for atherosclerosis and cardiovascular events[48].

The developing impairment of biliary excretion processes (accumulation of blood bile acids) in patients with PBC even in its early stages causes fat metabolic changes that are aimed at compensating for energy deficit (accelerated fatty acid β -oxidation) and at neutralizing the detergent effect of excess bile acids (the increased synthesis of phospholipids and cholesterol). Therefore, standard foods are generally well tolerated by PBC patients who do not require a low-cholesterol diet in the early stages of the disease. Their diets can include foods that are high in phosphorus to maintain sufficient synthesis of phospholipids. Low-fat diets to reduce xanthelasmas have been recognized to be unsuccessful and even harmful[49].

Abnormalities in digestion and absorption (maldigestion and malabsorption syndromes)

Intrahepatic cholestasis in PBC is a multifactorial process that is associated with damage to subcellular structures in the epithelial cells of the intrahepatic bile ducts and with changes in bile acid metabolism due to impaired bile excretion. Insufficient entry of bile acids into the intestinal lumen in patients with PBC tends to decrease the rate of fat hydrolysis processes and to inadequately absorb fats and fat-soluble vitamins (A, D, E, and K) in the small intestine. This contributes to the progression of MN due to steatorrhea (fecal excretion of more than 7 g of fat per day) and to the gradual development of vitamin and mineral deficiencies[25,26]. The severity of steatorrhea correlates with lower bile acid production and concentrations (r = 0.82; P < 0.0001), elevated serum bilirubin levels (r = 0.88; P < 0.001), and late histological stages of PBC (P < 0.005)[50]. All patients with serum total bilirubin levels greater than 4.5 mg/dL have severe steatorrhea (the fecal fat excretion is greater than 25 g/d)[26,50].

The mechanism of steatorrhea development is associated with insufficient fat emulsification owing to the reduced ingress of bile acids into the intestinal lumen[51]. In this case, the processes of fat hydrolysis by pancreatic lipases are not disrupted. The results obtained by Ros *et al*[52] showed that pancreatic function was generally preserved and does not cause steatorrhea in PBC. In patients with PBC, the serum activity of alkaline phosphatase does not correlate with the severity of steatorrhea, and the pancreatic amylase is in the normal range[52]. Fat emulsification is required to increase the area of contact of the substrate with lipase enzymes. A decrease in the processes of fat emulsification leads to





DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.81 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.



the lower rate of hydrolysis of fats, which results in their incomplete digestion, when moving along the intestine, and contributes to the gradual development of steatorrhea.

In addition to the emulsification of fats, bile acids are involved in the absorption of hydrolyzed fats and fat-soluble vitamins. Fatty acids and monoglycerides, which are formed from neutral fats and phospholipids, with the participation of bile acids and under the action of lipases are absorbed by enterocytes as an emulsion of lipoid-bile acid complexes in the upper small intestine (Figure 2). Being potent detergents, bile acids form micellar or lamellar structures with fatty acids and monoglycerides for absorption by enterocytes [25,26]. The complexes disintegrate inside the enterocytes. Fatty acids with monoglycerides remain in the enterocytes (used by a cell as a building, energetic material or packed into chylomicrons), while bile acids come back into the intestinal lumen and take part in the emulsification of fats and in the formation of new lipoid-bile acids complexes for delivery of fatty acids, monoglycerides, and fat-soluble vitamins to the enterocytes. While moving through the small intestine, bile acids are able to participate 4-6 times in the delivery of fatty acids and monoglycerides into the enterocytes [53]. Thus, insufficient amounts of bile acids in PBC interfere with the absorption of fats and fat-soluble vitamins.

Intestinal bile acid deficiency not only impairs fat emulsification and the decreased absorption of fatty acids, monoglycerides, and fat-soluble vitamins, in patients with PBC[52] but also leads to intestinal microbiome dysbiosis[54]. DiBaise et al[55] suggested that dysbiosis also plays a significant role in the development of steatorrhea in patients with PBC and that bacterial overgrowth should be obligatorily assessed in these patients.

Since the insufficient entry of bile acids into the intestine is one of the first signs of the disease, even in its early stages, patients with PBC can be found to have fecal matter of incompletely digested fats, one of the signs of steatorrhea. As the disease progresses and steatorrhea develops, most patients have semiliquid stools up to diarrhea of varying severity. With this, some patients with PBC are observed to have constipation. The latter can be attributed to a certain change in the gut microbiome and an insufficient effect of a small amount of bile acids on intestinal motility.

Steatorrhea in the presence of gradually and imperceptibly developing calorie MN leads to the development of slowly progressive weight loss in patients with PBC. Mid-arm circumference, triceps skinfold thickness, and dual energy X-ray absorptiometry-estimated % fat decreased significantly with disease progression (P < 0.001) and especially when liver cirrhosis with ascites is established[22].

The development of slowly progressive weight loss can be facilitated by the use of certain drugs. Thus, cholestyramine used to relieve itching can cause abdominal distention, constipation, or diarrhea, which suppresses, restricts, and disrupts food intake, resulting in inadequate intake of food ingredients and in higher energy deficiency[32].

The developing impairment of biliary excretion processes (insufficient flow of bile acids into the duodenum) in patients with PBC even in its early stages contributes to the development of slowly progressive weight loss, which requires the prescription of ursodeoxycholic acid preparations and the incorporation of high-calorie foods for their diets. Since these patients eat less during meals due to early satiety, it is possible to recommend smaller, more frequent higher-calorie meals [28,29]. At the same time, fats should not be restricted in their eating patterns. Edible fats should be restricted only if the







patients have obvious steatorrhea or severe nausea or symptoms of indigestion when consuming fats. However, it should be borne in mind that foods that have no or low fat and/or triglycerides containing the average fatty acid chain length are generally better tolerated. Therefore, it is important to individually assess the patients' tolerances to different fats and to make appropriate recommendations.

Vitamin and mineral deficiencies: Bile acids play an important role in absorbing the fat-soluble vitamins A, D, E, and K from the intestines. Bile acids can include fat-soluble vitamins in the lipoid-bile acid complexes and thus transport them into the enterocyte. Insufficient entry of bile acids in the intestine in PBC leads to a decrease in the absorption of fat-soluble vitamins and to the development of vitamin deficiencies [56]. Deficiency of vitamins A, D, E, and K was identified in 33.5%, 13.2%, 1.9%, and 7.8% of PBC patients, respectively [56].

Despite the fact that insufficient ingress of bile acids in PBC occurs even in its early stages, fat-soluble vitamin deficiencies are more frequently manifested at the stage of frank cholestasis with pronounced signs of the disease or in the stage of cirrhosis development. The ability of fat-soluble vitamins to accumulate in significant quantities and to be stored in the liver and adipocytes as well as that of some of them to be synthesized in the body cause fat-soluble vitamin deficiencies to generally not develop in early-stage PBC. Thus, vitamin D is synthesized in the skin from cholesterol upon exposure to ultraviolet rays, whereas vitamin K is synthesized by the intestinal microflora. But as the disease progresses and hepatocellular failure develops, there is deficiency of these fat-soluble vitamins since they are metabolized in the liver.

Vitamin D takes an active part in phosphorus and calcium metabolism. Dietary (edible) vitamin D and vitamin D₃ (calciferol) that is newly synthesized by ultraviolet radiation from cholesterol are inactive forms of this vitamin. In the liver, it is hydroxylated to 25-hydroxycalciferol (calcidiol) that can accumulate and be stored in the liver and adipose tissue. The serum concentration of 25-hydroxycalciferol is considered the most reliable indicator of the total metabolism of vitamin D; therefore, this indicator can be used to determine the body's supply of this vitamin[25,26]. When blood calcium decreases, there is an increase in the synthesis of parathyroid hormone that stimulates the renal hydroxylation of calcidiol to 1,25-dihydroxycalciferol (calcitriol), the active form of vitamin D, which is also involved in the regulation of metabolism of calcium and phosphorus: it increases their absorption in the intestine, their reabsorption in the renal tubules, and regulates the exchange of calcium and phosphorus in the bones (Figure 3).

In PBC, as hepatocellular failure develops, there is a gradually progressive deficiency of calcidiol, precursor of the active vitamin D, leading to osteodystrophy accompanied by osteopenia. The latter is a recognized complication of cholestatic liver disease with a prevalence of 10% to 56% depending on the stage of the disease^[57]. PBC is a condition that causes osteopenia more often than other chronic liver diseases[58-61], as clinically manifested by the development of signs of osteoporosis[62].

Osteoporosis: Osteoporosis is a systemic skeletal disease characterized by low bone mass and bone tissue microarchitectural deterioration, thus resulting in increased bone fragility and a higher risk for unmotivated fractures[63-65]. The prevalence of osteoporosis among patients with PBC ranges from

20% to 37% or more, which is higher than that in the general population (10%-11%)[59-61,66]. According to Lindor *et al*[32], the incidence of osteoporosis in PBC is 30%. Osteoporosis increases with liver disease progression[67].

The molecular mechanisms of osteoporosis in patients with PBC are associated with the impaired enterohepatic bile acid circulation, followed by the decreased concentration of bile acids in the small bowel and by malabsorption of fat-soluble vitamin D[68]. In PBC patients with severe cholestasis along with developed intestinal malabsorption of dietary vitamin D, calciferol is slowly converted to calcidiol in the liver as hepatic cell failure progresses[69] and due to those monooxygenases are competitively inhibited[70]. In these patients, the lower amount of calcidiol causes a decrease in the renal production of the active form of vitamin D, calcitriol. This results in an impairment of phosphorus and calcium metabolism, which gives rise to osteodystrophy [58,71,72] that can manifest itself as bone pain even in the early stages of PBC. The development of bone densitometry could estimate bone mass and assess the risk of fractures[58], which correlated with bone mineral density[64]. In this case, laboratory tests yield important information about the metabolic status of the bone. The serum level of calcium and phosphorus is usually slightly reduced in patients with PBC[58]. In Sherlock's[51] opinion, impaired phosphorus and calcium metabolism in PBC patients is facilitated by steatorrhea; increased intestinal fat content can form insoluble soaps with calcium, preventing its further absorption by enterocytes. Reduced calcium absorption correlates well with increased fecal fat excretion and to a lesser extent with the severity of jaundice^[73]. Genetic factors also play a role in the development of osteoporosis^[74-76]. Bone X-ray and densitometry and morphological examination of a bone tissue biopsy specimen from a patient with PBC most commonly reveal the signs of osteoporosis[58]. In the later stages of the disease, there are pathological fractures of the vertebrae and ribs, less frequently those of pelvic bones and long bones[66].

In patients with PBC, long-term steroid therapy that accelerates and aggravates the development of osteoporosis can lead to clinically significant bone loss with a more than 2-fold increase in the risk of fractures[77]. Atraumatic fractures are especially dangerous in PBC patients who have undergone orthotopic liver transplantation and are treated with high-dose corticosteroids[62].

Glucocorticosteroids decrease the intestinal absorption of calcium by lowering the production of calcitriol (1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃), by suppressing the tubular reabsorption of calcium in the kidneys, and by increasing its urinary excretion. A decrease in blood calcium levels leads to a compensatory increase in parathyroid hormone production and bone resorption. In addition, glucocorticosteroids directly increase the release of parathyroid hormone and suppress the function of osteoblasts by enhancing the activity of osteoclasts and indirectly inhibiting the formation of bone tissue, by suppressing the synthesis of testosterone in the gonads, and by reducing the generation of growth hormone, insulin-like growth factor 1 that is synthesized by the liver and stimulates bone collagen type 1 synthesis and osteoblastic function [58,78,79].

Thus, the pathogenesis of osteoporosis in patients with PBC is complex and multifactorial [58,62,80] and involves impaired vitamin D and K absorption and metabolism[81], magnesium ion deficiency, decreased intestinal absorption of calcium and its reabsorption in the renal tubules, increased bone resorption[82,83], elevated levels of bilirubin that inhibits osteoblast function[58,66,84], genetic predisposition[85], and adverse reactions of drugs, such as corticosteroids and cholestyramine, which are used to treat patients with PBC[86]. The development of osteoporosis is associated with the severity of the disease rather than its duration. Osteoporosis can affect quality of life and the course of the disease [58]. Deficiency of the active form of vitamin D (calcitriol) is a risk factor for osteosarcopenia[66,87].

Vitamin K: Vitamin K is required for the synthesis of coagulation factors VII, IX, and X and prothrombin in the liver [88-90]. During the early stages of PBC, vitamin K deficiency is generally absent. As malabsorption and impaired liver protein synthesis progress in late-stage PBC, there is a threat of reduced clotting factor synthesis[91]. Patients with PBC show lower plasma vitamin K levels in 23% of cases, which is usually accompanied by an increase in prothrombin time [92]. In patients with PBC in its end stage, portal hypertension, esophageal/gastric varices, and vitamin K deficiency increases the likelihood of massive bleeding that is difficult to stop.

Vitamin A: Vitamin A absorption requires an intact enterohepatic circulation of bile acids and formation of lipid-bile acid micellar and lamellar structures in the intestine. Significant malabsorption progression in patients with PBC, especially in those with severe cholestasis, can cause decreased intestinal vitamin A absorption accompanied by a reduction in serum retinol levels. In hepatocellular failure, the synthesis of hepatic retinol-binding protein is impaired, which also contributes to lower serum vitamin A concentrations^[29]. Clinically, vitamin A deficiency is uncommon in patients with PBC. Just the same, patients with severe PBC sometimes develop insufficient dark adaptation (nyctalopia, night blindness, hemeralopia)[29]. There may be other potential manifestations of vitamin A deficiency, such as dry skin, elastosis, dermatological disorders, and impaired humoral and cellmediated immunity^[29].

The developing impairment of biliary excretion processes (insufficient flow of bile acids into the duodenum) in patients with PBC in the stage of obvious cholestasis and hepatocellular failure contributes to the gradual development of fat-soluble vitamin deficiencies, which requires the use of



ursodeoxycholic acid preparations, the control of plasma fat-soluble vitamin levels, and the dietary intake of foods fortified with appropriate vitamins if the latter are low. If there is deficiency of vitamin D, its active form (calcitriol) is given in combination with calcium supplements and bisphosphonates.

Changes in copper metabolism: The liver is known to play an important role in the metabolism of copper due to the hepatocyte production of ceruloplasmin-copper complexes and its excretion in bile. In health, about 80% of the copper entering the body is excreted in bile and feces.

In late-stage PBC, in which hepatocellular failure develops, copper accumulates in the liver, sometimes up to a level of 25 mg per 100 g of dry weight of liver tissue (the normal value of up to 6 mg per 100 g)[93]. At the same time, due to binding to ceruloplasmin, there are no clinical signs of copper that is toxic to humans nor is the Kayser-Fleischer ring detected.

The accumulation of copper in the body of patients with PBC leads to the activation of the coppercontaining enzyme tyrosinase. As a result, the production of melanin increases, which causes skin hyperpigmentation in these patients. With this, the body tries to excrete excess copper not only through the kidneys but also through the skin. This results in copper deposition in the epidermis.

The developing impairment of biliary excretion processes (accumulation of bile acids in hepatocytes) in patients with PBC in the stage of obvious hepatocellular failure is accompanied by abnormal copper metabolism, which requires that foods containing more than 0.5 mg of copper per 100 g of the product should be carefully incorporated into a diet, and copper utensils should not be used for cooking and storing food.

Increased metabolic rate (accelerated catabolism)

As calorie malnutrition and steatorrhea develop in PBC patients, their adaptive response leads to an increased demand of the internal organs for oxygen, which is accompanied by activation of catabolic processes, by mobilization of energy resources of adipose tissue, and by consumption of muscle protein as an energy material along with the active use of carbohydrates[54].

As glycogen stores are depleted in patients with PBC, the requirements by glucose-dependent tissues for glucose are compensated by the activation of gluconeogenesis. The latter serves as an important source for maintaining the normal glucose levels in the body and is a metabolic pathway that results in the generation of glucose from noncarbohydrate compounds. The process takes place mainly in the liver and less intensively in the renal cortex as well as in the intestinal mucosa[94]. The important precursors of glucose in gluconeogenesis are three-carbon compounds, such as lactate, pyruvate, and glycerol, which are generated by fat hydrolysis in adipocytes as well as amino acids hydrolysis of somatic (muscle) proteins. The metabolism of aromatic amino acids is known to occur predominantly in the liver, while that of branched-chain amino acids happens mainly in the muscles[43]. Patients with PBC display decreased serum concentrations of branched-chain amino acids and the increased serum level of aromatic amino acids [95-97]. In PBC patients, the increase in plasma aromatic amino acids correlates with the progression of hepatocellular failure and serves as one of its degree markers.

Unlike carbohydrates and fats, proteins and amino acids have a limited ability to be stored in the human body[94]. Amino acids are generally either used by the body as a plastic material or undergo metabolic degradation[94]. The nitrogen contained in amino acids during their degradation is converted into urea and creatinine and is excreted by the kidneys, whereas the carbon skeleton can be used for the biosynthesis of glucose (gluconeogenesis) or fatty acids or be oxidized to carbon dioxide and water to produce energy, inter alia, as ATP.

Muscles play an important role in the metabolism of amino acids, including through gluconeogenesis. Amino acids present in muscle proteins are an important source of glucose formation and metabolic energy production[94]. Glycogen and glucose deficiencies in patients with PBC enhances the catabolism of muscle (somatic) proteins to release free amino acids, many of which (primarily branched-chain amino acids) are immediately converted into pyruvate or first into oxaloacetate and then into pyruvate. The latter is converted to alanine, acquiring an amino group from other amino acids. Alanine from muscles is transported by blood to the liver, where it can be converted back into pyruvate that is used as an energy substrate or is involved in gluconeogenesis[94]. In patients with PBC, increased gluconeogenesis gradually leads to the massive breakdown and deficiency of muscle protein.

The balance between somatic protein synthesis and degradation is disturbed, which leads to the development of muscle atrophy (sarcopenia). Sarcopenia is characterized by loss of skeletal muscle mass and strength, and it is classified as secondary sarcopenia in PBC[66]. Fülster *et al*[98] showed that skeletal muscle atrophy that develops in chronic diseases is also associated with low exercise tolerance. The exact mechanism contributing to sarcopenia in PBC is not clearly defined. Increased branched-chain amino acid breakdown, muscle autophagy, corticosteroids, hyperammonemia, myostatin, and physical inactivity are considered as potential contributors to sarcopenia[99,100]. The lack of amino acids and energy activates autophagy, a process in which the cell components are degraded by lysosomal enzymes. In PBC, hepatic glycogen loss, followed by accelerated gluconeogenesis, increased branched-chain amino acid catabolism, and glucocorticoid intake can result in muscle autophagy and represent an important mechanism of muscle wasting in these patients[101]. Secondary sarcopenia caused by PBC worsens quality of life and prognosis in these patients[102-104].

Osteoporosis and sarcopenia are closely related to each other and frequently coexist in patients with chronic liver diseases [105,106]. The new term "osteosarcopenia" that implies the coexistence of sarcopenia and osteoporosis has appeared [106]. Saeki *et al* [66] showed that the prevalence of osteosarcopenia in patients with PBC was 15.4%. Osteosarcopenia is a hazardous duet because it causes both ease of falling (due to sarcopenia) and bone vulnerability (due to osteoporosis)[106]. Osteoporosis and sarcopenia are especially problematic in postmenopausal women with PBC[66].

Protein-calorie MN and imperceptibly progressive sarcopenia gradually develop in the presence of energy deficiency, occurring in early-stage PBC in patients with clinical manifestations of cholestasis [19]. When cirrhosis develops in PBC patients, the rate of amino acid-driven gluconeogenesis significantly increases [94]. Despite the increased somatic protein degradation associated with calorie MN, the visceral pool of the protein that is synthesized in hepatocytes in PBC remains within normal limits (with minor deviations) until hepatocellular failure develops. The blood level of albumin and globulin in patients with PBC in its early stages and in the presence of severe cholestasis is within the normal range^[25,26]. At the same time, the patient's serum even in the asymptomatic stage of the disease is found to have antimitochondrial antibodies with a diagnostic titer of 1:40 and higher. As cholestasis progresses, there is an increase in the level of γ -globulins[25,26].

The developing impairment of biliary excretion processes (accumulation of bile acids in plasma and hepatocytes) in patients with PBC in the stage of obvious cholestasis results in the gradual development of protein-calorie MN following the pattern of marasmus and sarcopenia. This requires a higher protein diet (predominantly that containing branched-chain amino acids).

As PBC progresses, the resting metabolic rate and systemic thermogenesis increase due to enhanced catabolic processes [37,54]. There is a metabolic situation of resource redistribution, which is amplified as cholestasis and hepatocellular failure progress. The development of hepatocellular failure in end-stage PBC is accompanied by protein synthesizing dysfunction in hepatocytes[54]. In addition to proteincalorie MN in PBC patients during decompensated hepatocellular failure, the synthesis of urea and serum proteins decreases in the liver and the breakdown of visceral proteins increases, which causes a drastic reduction in the plasma level of circulating albumin, and there is higher urinary nitrogen excretion[107]. The continuing enhanced catabolism of somatic proteins is accompanied by the development of visceral protein deficiency, followed by edema and ascites[29]. The clinical manifestations of the impaired trophologic status in patients with end-stage PBC acquire an intermediate form of protein-calorie MN, such as marasmus-kwashiorkor. The development of PCM is facilitated by a decrease in the intestinal absorption of proteins. Portal hypertension resulting in circulatory hypoxia of the intestinal mucosa and in its increased permeability also causes a higher loss of proteins.

The developing impairment of biliary excretion processes (accumulation of bile acids in hepatocytes and plasma) in patients with PBC in the stage of obvious hepatocellular failure (a loss of 75% or more of the functioning liver cells) is accompanied by hepatocyte protein-synthetic dysfunction, which leads to visceral protein deficiency and as a consequence to the development of edema and ascites. There is a transition of the clinical form of PCM as marasmus to mixed marasmus and kwashiorkor MN. This requires a reduction in salt and fluid intake and if there are no signs of hepatic encephalopathy a higher protein diet. Nutritional support during this period should include protein modules with a predominant content of branched-chain amino acids as well as different amounts and ratios of nonessential and essential amino acids[94]. To prevent protein catabolism and to maintain nitrogen balance, it is advisable to have a meal that contains 50 g of carbohydrates before bedtime[108,109].

There is a marked improvement in the nutritional status of PBC patients at the stage of development of cirrhosis and resistant ascites after successful treatment of the latter, which emphasizes the importance of nutritional support in these patients[110].

Hepatic encephalopathy: In end-stage PBC, progressive hepatocellular failure, portal hypertension, and portosystemic shunting lead to hepatic encephalopathy (HE)[111,112]. HE is considered to mean potentially reversible neuropsychiatric disorders, the development of which is based on detoxifying dysfunction of liver and portal blood shunting, developing in the presence of severe liver injuries[111, 113]. HE is a classic symptom of advanced hepatocellular failure[111,112]. In prognostic terms, the encephalopathy associated with progressive hepatocyte death becomes a formidable and almost always fatal complication of PBC. The prevalence of minimal HE among patients with liver cirrhosis ranges from 30% to 84%[114].

There is a metabolic theory of HE, which is based on the reversibility of its main symptoms in very extensive cerebral disorders[115]. In PBC, one can identify two factors that determine the relationship between the liver and the nervous system and play a role in the pathogenesis of HE[113]: The ability of the liver to detoxify neurotoxic poisons (ammonia, mercaptan, skatole, indole, phenols, etc) produced in the intestine by the digestion of food ingredients and as a result of vital microbial activity [116,117].

Cerebral metabolism strongly depends on the maintenance of the normal glycemic level that is appreciably determined by the storage of glycogen in the liver and the rate of glycolysis between meals. As mentioned above, the glycogen stores are depleted in PBC. A decrease in the intensity of oxygen and glucose metabolism in PBC is accompanied by reductions in energy production and neuronal activity, which contributes to the development of signs of HE[115]. Positron emission tomography shows that in HE there is a strong correlation between the reduction in cerebral blood flow (in the frontal and parietal





Figure 4 Use of α-ketoglutarate, glutamate, oxaloacetate, and aspartate to detoxify ammonia.

lobes of the cerebral cortex), which is accompanied by decreased glucose metabolism and the results of neuropsychological tests[113].

The basis for the pathogenesis of HE is hepatocellular failure, accompanied by a decrease in the hepatic clearance of neurotoxic poisons produced in the intestine by the digestion of food ingredients and as a result of vital microbial activity, portosystemic shunting, and amino acid metabolic disturbance that gives rise to false neurotransmitters[115].

Protein and amino acid degradation results in the formation of amine nitrogen that, unlike the hydrocarbon portion of amino acids, is unsuitable for energy production[94]. Therefore, the amino groups that cannot be reused, for example, in transamination reactions, are converted to ammonia. The latter in the cells is produced by the deamination of amino acids, nucleotides, and biogenic amines. Ammonia is a toxic substance and its blood concentration in health does not exceed 50 μ mol/L. In health, about 7% of the ammonia formed in the body passes through the tissue of the brain without causing any changes in its functions[111]. The fundamental reaction of ammonia neutralization, which takes place in all tissues, is the binding of NH₃ to glutamate to form glutamine (Figure 4). Its major tissue suppliers of glutamine are muscles, brain, and liver.

In addition to ammonia formed in tissues, significant amounts of NH₃ are generated in the intestine by the bacterial microflora and as a result of food protein hydrolysis. The intestinal absorption of ammonia can cause its significant supply to the liver. This occurs with intake of higher protein foods, incomplete bowel evacuation, alkalization of intestinal contents, overgrowth of opportunistic pathogens, and bleeding esophageal/gastric varices with the development of portal hypertension[112]. The concentration of toxic products, primarily ammonia, as well as skatole, indole, and phenols, thereof may increase in the intestine. In health, these substances enter the portal venous system and undergo the ornithine cycle in the liver. Through deamination, transamination, and decarboxylation reactions, they are converted to urea, a product that is relatively harmless for the body[94]. Urea is the major end product of nitrogen metabolism (85% of all nitrogen is excreted from the body with urea). Urea in the human body is synthesized only in the liver[91].

Neuronal dysfunction results from elevated neurotoxic ammonia levels in the blood in hyperammonemia[110]. The latter is observed in patients with PBC in the cirrhosis developmental stage and is caused by the increased intestinal absorption of ammonia, its impaired hepatocyte detoxification (reduced urea cycle enzyme activity), and lower ammonia binding in hypotrophic skeletal muscles (decreased glutamine synthetase activity)[112,118]. The disturbed hepatic blood flow is of great importance in the development of HE. The development of cirrhosis in end-stage PBC causes blood to shunt either inside the liver itself (portal hepatic venous anastomoses that function as intrahepatic shunts form around the lobules) or blood to flow from the portal vein into the general circulation, bypassing the liver through natural collaterals[115]. Portosystemic shunting and collateral blood flow pathways cause blood flowing from the intestine to enter the general circulation, bypassing the liver. The toxic substances and primarily ammonia, which are contained in the blood portal system, enter the general bloodstream non-neutralized.

Hyperammonemia in patients with PBC triggers compensatory mechanisms of the metabolism and clearance of ammonia, by activating the processes of its neutralization in skeletal muscles and neurons [119]. The elevated blood level of ammonia results in its increased penetration through the blood-brain barrier into the brain, which has an adverse effect on astrocytes. Ammonia detoxification in the astrocytes is affected by glutamate synthetase, leading to the binding of ammonia to glutamate to yield glutamine (Figure 4)[120].

Reshetnyak VI et al. Mechanism for development of malnutrition in PBC



DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.81 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.



Excess ammonia in the muscle tissues can also be inactivated due to its interaction with both glutamate and aspartate to synthesize glutamine (Figure 4)[113,121]. When ammonia is excessive, there is a depletion of glutamate and aspartate stores (with simultaneous accumulation of glutamine). The larger amount of glutamine produced is released into the bloodstream in exchange for branched-chain amino acids[122].

In PBC, hyperammonemia thus requires increased production of glutamate and aspartate from α ketoglutarate and oxaloacetate. This causes a portion of α-ketoglutarate and oxaloacetate to leak away from the tricarboxylic acid cycle, which is accompanied by decreased ATP synthesis. Since the neurons are especially sensitive to decreased energy production, this fact plays a role in the mechanism for the development of clinical signs of HE and causes enhanced energy deficiency in patients with PBC.

The muscles are also sensitive to decreased ATP energy production. Thus, to increase the levels of αketoglutarate and oxaloacetate in muscles, which are needed for the Krebs cycle, and to maintain a sufficient glutamate level, accelerated branched-chain amino acid catabolism occurs in PBC patients with hyperammonemia. This results in the insufficient synthesis of muscle proteins and their depletion [123,124]. Hyperammonemia is associated with HE, enhanced branched-chain amino acid catabolism, and sarcopenia^[125]. Sarcopenia exacerbates HE, which in turn aggravates a decline in food intake and the development of MN. There is a vicious circle that is difficult to break.

There is evidence that hyperammonemia affects the saturation center in the hypothalamus and suppresses appetite, which can also increase protein-calorie MN in patients with PBC[111,113].

Along with hyperammonemia, a disturbance in the synthesis and metabolism of the major neurotransmitters derived from the aromatic amino acids tyrosine and phenylalanine plays an important role in the pathogenesis of HE in patients with PBC at the stage of development of hepatocellular failure and portosystemic shunting[115]. ter Borg et al[39] found elevated concentrations of the aromatic amino acids, tyrosine and phenylalanine, and decreased blood concentrations of the branchedchain amino acids, valine, isoleucine, and leucine, in patients with PBC both at the stage of development of cirrhosis and without cirrhosis[39]. Increased entry of aromatic amino acids into the blood (due to their impaired catabolism in the liver) inhibits the enzyme systems involved in the conversion of aromatic amino acids to catecholamines, which reduces the biosynthesis of dopamine and norepinephrine and increases the synthesis of serotonin from tryptophan. Entering the brain via the blood-brain barrier, tyrosine and phenylalanine are involved in the synthesis of false neurotransmitters, such as β -phenylethanolamine and octopamine (Figure 5).

Tyramine is formed from the amino acid tyrosine under the action of bacterial decarboxylases in the intestine. The former is a physiologically active and toxic substance. It easily enters the general circulation and penetrating the blood-brain barrier affects excitatory and inhibitor processes in the



nervous system when patients with PBC undergo portosystemic shunting. Along with hyperammonemia, false neurotransmitters (tyramine) inhibit neuronal function and enhance HE progression [39]. Cognitive impairment, forgetfulness, feeling sleepy during meals and snacks, and having difficulties in cooking food when HE develops in late-stage PBC are significant challenges faced by patients in this group[126]. Subsequently, MN itself becomes an independent predictor of mortality in patients with PBC.

The developing impairment of biliary excretion processes (accumulation of bile acids in hepatocytes) in patients with PBC causes obvious hepatocellular failure, which is accompanied by hepatocyte detoxifying dysfunction, hyperammonemia, and the formation of false neurotransmitters with the development of HE. This requires a strict dietary protein restriction, branched-chain amino acid diets (containing a minimum amount of aromatic amino acids), the prescription of antibiotics (the effect of which is based on their effect on microorganisms that produce nitrogenous compounds in the gastrointestinal tract), aimed at a change in the ratio of neurotransmitters, a decrease in the formation and absorption of ammonia and other toxins formed in the intestine, and an increase in the elimination of ammonia. Strict vegetarian diets (vegetable protein up to 120 g/d) and dairy proteins are generally well tolerated (presumably due to the low aromatic amino acid levels). During this period, patients with PBC usually need to be placed on a waiting list to undergo liver transplant surgery. The European Society for Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism guidelines are used in clinical practice to meet the energy and protein requirements of patients with MN and weight loss in surgical or intensive care units.

Poor nutritional status has serious implications for postoperative complications among candidates for liver transplantation, as it is an important predictor of mortality and postoperative complications in patients with PBC.

CONCLUSION

PBC is a chronic, slowly progressive disease of the liver and biliary tract, which results in a change in the trophological status of these patients. The causes of MN in PBC are complex and multifactorial since the liver is involved in many metabolic processes of the body. But the leading role in the development of MN in patients with PBC is played by a disturbance in biliary excretion processes, and as a consequence there are changes in the metabolism of macronutrients and micronutrients. Trophological insufficiency develops gradually and imperceptibly as cholestasis progresses with the insufficient entry of bile acids in the duodenum with their simultaneous deposition in hepatocytes and entrance into the general circulation. It is precisely these changes that trigger the development of calorie (energy) MN, even in the asymptomatic and early stages of the disease. Compensatory mechanisms for obtaining energy from fatty acids and amino acids of somatic proteins are turned on with time, which is accompanied by protein-calorie (as marasmus) MN with a slowly progressive weight loss. Lipid metabolism disorders also develop. There is an increased synthesis of cholesterol and phospholipids to neutralize the detergent effect of excess plasma bile acids. Insufficient intestinal entry of bile acids contributes to the development of steatorrhea and fat-soluble vitamin deficiencies in these patients. Hence, an increase in PCM occurs and vitamin and mineral deficiencies gradually progress. The latter gives rise to osteoporosis and osteosarcopenia. Prolonged exposure of hepatocytes to excessive bile acid concentrations leads to liver fibrosis and cirrhosis, portal hypertension, and portosystemic shunting to impair protein synthesizing and detoxifying functions of the liver. Occurring visceral protein deficiency results in edema, ascites, and increased PCM with a transition to the mixed form of marasmus and kwashiorkor. Developing hyperammonemia and resulting false neurotransmitters lead to changes in the central nervous system, and HE develops. MN progresses as the severity of the disease progresses. All this makes the correction of MN especially difficult in patients with PBC. Thus, assessment of nutritional status and control of MN are of great importance for improving treatment outcomes in these patients. The presented mechanisms of trophological changes in PBC should assist in timely recognition of MN and in correctly selecting a nutrition support regimen for these patients at different stages of disease development along with symptomatic therapy.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors are grateful to Tatiana Igorevna Karlovich and Alexander Igorevich Burmistrov for discussions and technical assistance in preparing the review for publication.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Reshetnyak VI and Maev IV have equally contributed to the conception and design of the study, literature review and analysis, drafting and critical revision and editing, and final approval of the final



version.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Russia

ORCID number: Vasiliy Ivanovich Reshetnyak 0000-0003-3614-5052; Igor Veniaminovich Maev 0000-0001-6114-564X.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Liu JH

REFERENCES

- 1 Alberino F, Gatta A, Amodio P, Merkel C, Di Pascoli L, Boffo G, Caregaro L. Nutrition and survival in patients with liver cirrhosis. Nutrition 2001; 17: 445-450 [PMID: 11399401 DOI: 10.1016/s0899-9007(01)00521-4]
- 2 Puri P, Dhiman RK, Taneja S, Tandon P, Merli M, Anand AC, Arora A, Acharya SK, Benjamin J, Chawla YK, Dadhich S, Duseja A, Eapan CE, Goel A, Kalra N, Kapoor D, Kumar A, Madan K, Nagral A, Pandey G, Rao PN, Saigal S, Saraf N, Saraswat VA, Saraya A, Sarin SK, Sharma P, Shalimar, Shukla A, Sidhu SS, Singh N, Singh SP, Srivastava A, Wadhawan M. Nutrition in Chronic Liver Disease: Consensus Statement of the Indian National Association for Study of the Liver. J Clin Exp Hepatol 2021; 11: 97-143 [PMID: 33679050 DOI: 10.1016/j.jceh.2020.09.003]
- 3 Tkacheva ON, Tutelyan VA, Shestopalov AE, Kotovskaya YuV, Starodubova AV, Pogozheva AV, Ostapenko VS, Runikhina NK, Sharashkina NV, Krylov KYu, Varaeva YuR, Gerasimenko ON, Gorobey AM, Livantsova EN, Pereverzev AP, Shpagina LA. [Nutritional insufficiency (malnutrition) in older adults. Clinical recommendations]. Russian Journal of Geriatric Medicine 2021; 1: 15-34 [DOI: 10.37586/2686-8636-1-2021-15-34]
- 4 Phillips W, Doley J, Boi K. Malnutrition definitions in clinical practice: To be E43 or not to be? Health Inf Manag 2020; 49: 74-79 [PMID: 31130015 DOI: 10.1177/1833358319852304]
- 5 Kostyukevich OI, Sviridov SV, Rylova AK, Rylova NV, Korsunskaya MI, Kolesnikova EA. [Malnutrition: from pathogenesis to current methods for diagnosis and treatment]. Ter Arkh 2017; 89: 216-225 [PMID: 29488484 DOI: 10.17116/terarkh20178912216-225]
- "Fact sheets Malnutrition". Retrieved November 19, 2021. Available from: www.who.int 6
- Basics in clinical nutrition- ESPEN, Fifth Edition, by Luboš Sobotka (editor). Galén, Prague: Publishing House; 2000; 300 7
- Popova TS, Shestopalov AE, Tamazashvili TS, Leiderman IN. [Nutritional support for patients in critical conditions]. 8 M.: M.-Vesti; 2002; 319 (In Russ.) ISBN: 5-901598-04-0
- Hakim A. Malnutrition prevalence and nutrition counseling in developing countries: A case study. IJNHS 2016; 3: 19-22 Available from: http://www.openscienceonline.com/journal/ijnhs
- Fortes RC. Nutritional implications in chronic liver diseases. J Liver Res Disord Ther 2017; 3: 131-133 [DOI: 10 10.15406/jlrdt.2017.03.00071]
- Carvalho L, Parise ER. Evaluation of nutritional status of nonhospitalized patients with liver cirrhosis. Arg Gastroenterol 11 2006; 43: 269-274 [PMID: 17406753 DOI: 10.1590/s0004-28032006000400005]
- 12 Hsu CS, Kao JH. Sarcopenia and chronic liver diseases. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 12: 1229-1244 [PMID: 30791794 DOI: 10.1080/17474124.2018.1534586]
- Nutritional status in cirrhosis. Italian Multicentre Cooperative Project on Nutrition in Liver Cirrhosis. J Hepatol 1994; 21: 13 317-325 [PMID: 7836699 DOI: 10.1016/S0168-8278(05)80308-3]
- Müller MJ. Malnutrition in cirrhosis. J Hepatol 1995; 23 Suppl 1: 31-35 [PMID: 8551009 DOI: 14 10.1016/S0168-8278(21)80004-5
- Caregaro L, Alberino F, Amodio P, Merkel C, Bolognesi M, Angeli P, Gatta A. Malnutrition in alcoholic and virus-15 related cirrhosis. Am J Clin Nutr 1996; 63: 602-609 [PMID: 8599326 DOI: 10.1093/ajcn/63.4.602]
- Mendenhall CL, Moritz TE, Roselle GA, Morgan TR, Nemchausky BA, Tamburro CH, Schiff ER, McClain CJ, Marsano 16 LS, Allen JI. Protein energy malnutrition in severe alcoholic hepatitis: diagnosis and response to treatment. The VA Cooperative Study Group #275. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 1995; 19: 258-265 [PMID: 8523623 DOI: 10.1177/0148607195019004258]
- 17 Campillo B, Richardet JP, Scherman E, Bories PN. Evaluation of nutritional practice in hospitalized cirrhotic patients: results of a prospective study. Nutrition 2003; 19: 515-521 [PMID: 12781851 DOI: 10.1016/s0899-9007(02)01071-7]
- Tandon M, Singh H, Singla N, Jain P, Pandey CK. Tongue thickness in health vs cirrhosis of the liver: Prospective 18 observational study. World J Gastrointest Pharmacol Ther 2020; 11: 59-68 [PMID: 32844044 DOI: 10.4292/wjgpt.v11.i3.59]
- Siddiqui ATS, Parkash O, Hashmi SA. Malnutrition and liver disease in a developing country. World J Gastroenterol 19 2021; 27: 4985-4998 [PMID: 34497430 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v27.i30.4985]
- 20 Roongpisuthipong C, Sobhonslidsuk A, Nantiruj K, Songchitsomboon S. Nutritional assessment in various stages of liver cirrhosis. Nutrition 2001; 17: 761-765 [PMID: 11527674 DOI: 10.1016/s0899-9007(01)00626-8]



- 21 Figueiredo F, Dickson ER, Pasha T, Kasparova P, Therneau T, Malinchoc M, DiCecco S, Francisco-Ziller N, Charlton M. Impact of nutritional status on outcomes after liver transplantation. Transplantation 2000; 70: 1347-1352 [PMID: 11087151 DOI: 10.1097/00007890-200011150-00014]
- 22 Wicks C, Bray GP, Williams R. Nutritional assessment in primary biliary cirrhosis: the effect of disease severity. Clinical Nutrition 1995; 14: 29-34 [DOI: 10.1016/s0261-5614(06)80007-5]
- 23 Morgan MY. Enteral nutrition in chronic liver disease. Acta Chir Scand Suppl 1981; 507: 81-90 [PMID: 6797208]
- Sivakumar T, Kowdley KV. Anxiety and Depression in Patients with Primary Biliary Cholangitis: Current Insights and 24 Impact on Quality of Life. Hepatic Medicine: Evidence and Research 2021; 13: 83-92. [August 29, 2021] Available from: https://www.dovepress.com/
- 25 Reshetnyak VI. Concept on the pathogenesis and treatment of primary biliary cirrhosis. World J Gastroenterol 2006; 12: 7250-7262 [PMID: 17143938 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v12.i45.7250]
- Reshetnyak VI. Primary biliary cirrhosis: Clinical and laboratory criteria for its diagnosis. World J Gastroenterol 2015; 26 21: 7683-7708 [PMID: 26167070 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i25.7683]
- 27 Ilchenko LU, Reshetnyak VI. [Clinical and laboratory criteria for the diagnosis of primary biliary cirrhosis and modern therapy]. Russian Journal of Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Coloproctology 2011; 5: 41-51
- 28 McCullough AJ, Bugianesi E. Protein-calorie malnutrition and the etiology of cirrhosis. Am J Gastroenterol 1997; 92: 734-738 [PMID: 9149179]
- Alnounou M, Munoz SJ. Nutrition Concerns of the Patient with Primary Biliary Cirrhosis or Primary Sclerosing 29 Cholangitis. [Nutrition issues in gastroenterology, series #37]. Practical Gastroenterology 2006; 30: 92-100
- Maharshi S, Sharma BC, Srivastava S. Malnutrition in cirrhosis increases morbidity and mortality. J Gastroenterol 30 Hepatol 2015; 30: 1507-1513 [PMID: 25974421 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.12999]
- D'Amico G, Garcia-Tsao G, Pagliaro L. Natural history and prognostic indicators of survival in cirrhosis: a systematic 31 review of 118 studies. J Hepatol 2006; 44: 217-231 [PMID: 16298014 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2005.10.013]
- 32 Lindor KD, Gershwin ME, Poupon R, Kaplan M, Bergasa NV, Heathcote EJ; American Association for Study of Liver Diseases. Primary biliary cirrhosis. Hepatology 2009; 50: 291-308 [PMID: 19554543 DOI: 10.1002/hep.22906]
- 33 Natasha AV. Primary biliary cirrhosis and primary sclerosing cholangitis and nutrition. (Part 4) In. Advanced Nutrition and Dietetics in Gastroenterology. (Ed. Miranda Lomer) 2014; 273-279 [DOI: 10.1002/9781118872796.ch4]
- Fedorov IG, Gavrilina NS, Sedova GA, Kosyura S, Ilchenko LU, Oskanova RS, Totolyan G. [Trophological 34 insufficiency in gastroenterological patients]. Methodical manual. (Ed. Storozhakov GI). 2015. 53 p
- 35 Tajiri K, Shimizu Y. Recent advances in the management of pruritus in chronic liver diseases. World J Gastroenterol 2017; 23: 3418-3426 [PMID: 28596678 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i19.3418]
- 36 Ghent CN, Bloomer JR. Itch in liver disease: facts and speculations. Yale J Biol Med 1979; 52: 77-82 [PMID: 452625]
- Green JH, Bramley PN, Losowsky MS. Are patients with primary biliary cirrhosis hypermetabolic? Hepatology 1991; 14: 37 464-472 [PMID: 1874491]
- Parikh-Patel A, Gold EB, Utts J, Worman H, Krivy KE, Gershwin ME. Functional status of patients with primary biliary 38 cirrhosis. Am J Gastroenterol 2002; 97: 2871-2879 [PMID: 12425562 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2002.07055.x]
- 39 ter Borg PC, Fekkes D, Vrolijk JM, van Buuren HR. The relation between plasma tyrosine concentration and fatigue in primary biliary cirrhosis and primary sclerosing cholangitis. BMC Gastroenterol 2005; 5: 11 [PMID: 15790420 DOI: 10.1186/1471-230X-5-11]
- Jopson L, Jones DE. Fatigue in Primary Biliary Cirrhosis: Prevalence, Pathogenesis and Management. Dig Dis 2015; 33 40 Suppl 2: 109-114 [PMID: 26641884 DOI: 10.1159/000440757]
- 41 Morgan MY, Marshall AW, Milsom JP, Sherlock S. Plasma amino-acid patterns in liver disease. Gut 1982; 23: 362-370 [PMID: 7076013 DOI: 10.1136/gut.23.5.362]
- 42 Morgan MY, Milsom JP, Sherlock S. Plasma ratio of valine, leucine and isoleucine to phenylalanine and tyrosine in liver disease. Gut 1978; 19: 1068-1073 [PMID: 730076 DOI: 10.1136/gut.19.11.1068]
- Griffiths L, Jones DE. Pathogenesis of primary biliary cirrhosis and its fatigue. Dig Dis 2014; 32: 615-625 [PMID: 43 25034296 DOI: 10.1159/0003605151
- Sogolow ED, Lasker JN, Short LM. Fatigue as a major predictor of quality of life in women with autoimmune liver 44 disease: the case of primary biliary cirrhosis. Womens Health Issues 2008; 18: 336-342 [PMID: 18420421 DOI: 10.1016/j.whi.2007.12.005]
- 45 Dolz C, Raurich JM, Ibáñez J, Obrador A, Marsé P, Gayá J. Ascites increases the resting energy expenditure in liver cirrhosis. Gastroenterology 1991; 100: 738-744 [PMID: 1993495 DOI: 10.1016/0016-5085(91)80019-6]
- Heymsfield SB, Waki M, Reinus J. Are patients with chronic liver disease hypermetabolic? Hepatology 1990; 11: 502-46 505 [PMID: 2179099 DOI: 10.1002/hep.1840110324]
- Reshetnyak VI, Maev IV. Liver and bile formation mechanisms. Riga, Latvia: LAP LAMBERT Academic Publishing; 47 2021; 105 p. ISBN: 978-620-4-71868-2
- Zhang Y, Hu X, Chang J, Chen J, Han X, Zhang T, Shen J, Shang N, Han J, Wang H, Kang W, Meng F. The liver 48 steatosis severity and lipid characteristics in primary biliary cholangitis. BMC Gastroenterol 2021; 21: 395 [PMID: 34686147 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-021-01974-4]
- 49 Leuschner U. Primary biliary cirrhosis--presentation and diagnosis. Clin Liver Dis 2003; 7: 741-758 [PMID: 14594129 DOI: 10.1016/s1089-3261(03)00101-6]
- Lanspa SJ, Chan AT, Bell JS 3rd, Go VL, Dickson ER, DiMagno EP. Pathogenesis of steatorrhea in primary biliary 50 cirrhosis. Hepatology 1985; 5: 837-842 [PMID: 2411648 DOI: 10.1002/hep.1840050522]
- Sherlock S. Nutritional complications of biliary cirrhosis. Chronic cholestasis. Am J Clin Nutr 1970; 23: 640-644 [PMID: 51 5450106 DOI: 10.1093/ajcn/23.5.640]
- Ros E, García-Pugés A, Reixach M, Cusó E, Rodés J. Fat digestion and exocrine pancreatic function in primary biliary 52 cirrhosis. Gastroenterology 1984; 87: 180-187 [PMID: 6724261]
- Lack L, Weiner IM. Role of the intestine during the enterohepatic circulation of bile salts. Gastroenterology 1967; 52: 53



282-287 [PMID: 5335883]

- 54 Traub J, Reiss L, Aliwa B, Stadlbauer V. Malnutrition in Patients with Liver Cirrhosis. Nutrients 2021; 13 [PMID: 33562292 DOI: 10.3390/nu13020540]
- DiBaise JK, Paustian FF. Steatorrhea and weight loss in a 72-year-old man: primary biliary cirrhosis? Am J Gastroenterol 55 1998; 93: 2226-2230 [PMID: 9820402 DOI: 10.1016/S0002-9270(98)00501-2]
- 56 Phillips JR, Angulo P, Petterson T, Lindor KD. Fat-soluble vitamin levels in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. Am J Gastroenterol 2001; 96: 2745-2750 [PMID: 11569705 DOI: 10.1016/S0002-9270(01)02696-X]
- Isaia G, Di Stefano M, Roggia C, Ardissone P, Rosina F. Bone disorders in cholestatic liver diseases. Forum (Genova) 57 1998; 8: 28-38 [PMID: 9514992]
- 58 Goel V, Kar P. Hepatic osteodystrophy. Trop Gastroenterol 2010; 31: 82-86 [PMID: 20862980]
- Seki A, Ikeda F, Miyatake H, Takaguchi K, Hayashi S, Osawa T, Fujioka SI, Tanaka R, Ando M, Seki H, Iwasaki Y, 59 Yamamoto K, Okada H. Risk of secondary osteoporosis due to lobular cholestasis in non-cirrhotic primary biliary cholangitis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017; 32: 1611-1616 [PMID: 28114749 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.13746]
- 60 Parés A, Guañabens N. Primary biliary cholangitis and bone disease. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2018; 34-35: 63-70 [PMID: 30343712 DOI: 10.1016/j.bpg.2018.06.005]
- 61 Danford CJ, Trivedi HD, Papamichael K, Tapper EB, Bonder A. Osteoporosis in primary biliary cholangitis. World J Gastroenterol 2018; 24: 3513-3520 [PMID: 30131657 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i31.3513]
- Wariaghli G, Allali F, El Maghraoui A, Hajjaj-Hassouni N. Osteoporosis in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. Eur J 62 Gastroenterol Hepatol 2010; 22: 1397-1401 [PMID: 20926953 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.0b013e3283405939]
- Consensus development conference: prophylaxis and treatment of osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int 1991; 1: 114-117 [PMID: 63 1790392]
- Consensus development conference: diagnosis, prophylaxis, and treatment of osteoporosis. Am J Med 1993; 94: 646-650 64 [PMID: 8506892 DOI: 10.1016/0002-9343(93)90218-e]
- 65 NIH Consensus Development Panel on Osteoporosis Prevention, Diagnosis, and Therapy, March 7-29, 2000: highlights of the conference. South Med J 2001: 94: 569-573 [PMID: 11440324]
- Saeki C, Oikawa T, Kanai T, Nakano M, Torisu Y, Sasaki N, Abo M, Saruta M, Tsubota A. Relationship between 66 osteoporosis, sarcopenia, vertebral fracture, and osteosarcopenia in patients with primary biliary cholangitis. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 33: 731-737 [PMID: 32558699 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.00000000001791]
- 67 Collier JD, Ninkovic M, Compston JE. Guidelines on the management of osteoporosis associated with chronic liver disease. Gut 2002; 50 Suppl 1: i1-i9 [PMID: 11788576 DOI: 10.1136/gut.50.suppl_1.i1]
- 68 Kowdley KV. Lipids and lipid-activated vitamins in chronic cholestatic diseases. Clin Liver Dis 1998; 2: 373-389, x [PMID: 15560038 DOI: 10.1016/S1089-3261(05)70013-1]
- 69 Sitrin MD, Bengoa JM. Intestinal absorption of cholecalciferol and 25-hydroxycholecalciferol in chronic cholestatic liver disease. Am J Clin Nutr 1987; 46: 1011-1015 [PMID: 2825501 DOI: 10.1093/ajcn/46.6.1011]
- 70 Kaplan MM, Gershwin ME. Primary biliary cirrhosis. N Engl J Med 2005; 353: 1261-1273 [PMID: 16177252 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199611213352107
- 71 Wegener M, Borsch G, Schmidt G. Hepatic osteodystrophy: osteoporosis, osteomalacia and vitamin-D-metabolism [German]. Innere Medizin 1985; 12: 63-68
- 72 Rosen H. Primary biliary cirrhosis and bone disease. Hepatology 1995; 21: 253-255 [PMID: 7806161 DOI: 10.1016/0270-9139(95)90435-2]
- Kehayoglou K, Hadziyannis S, Kostamis P, Malamos B. The effect of medium-chain triglyceride on 47 calcium 73 absorption in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. Gut 1973; 14: 653-656 [PMID: 4743495 DOI: 10.1136/gut.14.8.653]
- Niu T, Xu X. Candidate genes for osteoporosis. Therapeutic implications. Am J Pharmacogenomics 2001; 1: 11-19 74 [PMID: 12173309 DOI: 10.2165/00129785-200101010-00002]
- 75 Puchkova LV, Dorokhova II. [Novye geneticheskie faktory riska pri osteoporoze]. Osteoporosis and Bone Diseases 2005; 8: 16-19 [DOI: 10.14341/osteo2005116-19]
- 76 Vasilyeva LV, Bezzubtseva EN, Gosteva EV, Evstratova EF. [The role of genetic and metabolic disorders in osteoporosis]. Medical Herald of the South of Russia 2021; 12: 6-13 [DOI: 10.21886/2219-8075-2021-12-1-6-13]
- 77 Adler RA, Rosen CJ. Glucocorticoids and osteoporosis. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 1994; 23: 641-654 [PMID: 78056601
- Chavassieux P, Pastoureau P, Chapuy MC, Delmas PD, Meunier PJ. Glucocorticoid-induced inhibition of osteoblastic bone formation in ewes: a biochemical and histomorphometric study. Osteoporos Int 1993; 3: 97-102 [PMID: 8453197 DOI: 10.1007/BF01623380]
- 79 Libanati CR, Baylink DJ. Prevention and treatment of glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis. A pathogenetic perspective. Chest 1992; 102: 1426-1435 [PMID: 1424863 DOI: 10.1378/chest.102.5.1426]
- 80 Farias AQ, Gonçalves LL, Cançado EL, Seguro AC, Campos SB, Abrantes-Lemos CP, Carrilho FJ. Bone disease in primary biliary cirrhosis: lack of association with distal renal tubular acidosis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2005; 20: 147-152 [PMID: 15610460 DOI: 10.1111/j.1400-1746.2004.03517.x]
- Levy C, Lindor KD. Management of osteoporosis, fat-soluble vitamin deficiencies, and hyperlipidemia in primary biliary 81 cirrhosis. Clin Liver Dis 2003; 7: 901-910 [PMID: 14594136 DOI: 10.1016/S1089-3261(03)00097-7]
- Guañabens N, Parés A, Mariñoso L, Brancós MA, Piera C, Serrano S, Rivera F, Rodés J. Factors influencing the 82 development of metabolic bone disease in primary biliary cirrhosis. Am J Gastroenterol 1990; 85: 1356-1362 [PMID: 2220729
- Verma A, Maxwell JD, Ang L, Davis T, Hodges S, Northfield TC, Zaidi M, Pazianas M. Ursodeoxycholic acid enhances 83 fractional calcium absorption in primary biliary cirrhosis. Osteoporos Int 2002; 13: 677-682 [PMID: 12181628 DOI: 10.1007/s001980200092]
- Newton J, Francis R, Prince M, James O, Bassendine M, Rawlings D, Jones D. Osteoporosis in primary biliary cirrhosis revisited. Gut 2001; 49: 282-287 [PMID: 11454807 DOI: 10.1136/gut.49.2.282]



- Lakatos PL, Bajnok E, Tornai I, Folhoffer A, Horváth A, Lakatos P, Szalay F. [Decreased bone mineral density and gene 85 polymorphism in primary biliary cirrhosis]. Orv Hetil 2004; 145: 331-336 [PMID: 15049048]
- Pereira SP, O'Donohue J, Moniz C, Phillips MG, Abraha H, Buxton-Thomas M, Williams R. Transdermal hormone 86 replacement therapy improves vertebral bone density in primary biliary cirrhosis: results of a 1-year controlled trial. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2004; 19: 563-570 [PMID: 14987325 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2004.01890.x]
- 87 Paintin J, Cooper C, Dennison E. Osteosarcopenia. Br J Hosp Med (Lond) 2018; 79: 253-258 [PMID: 29727228 DOI: 10.12968/hmed.2018.79.5.253]
- 88 Reshetnyak VI, Maev IV, Reshetnyak TM, Zhuravel SV, Pisarev VM. Liver Diseases and the Hemostasis (Rewiew) Part 1. Non-Cholestatic Diseases of the Liver and Hemostasis. General Reanimatology 2019; 15: 74-87 [DOI: 10.15360/1813-9779-2019-5-74-87
- Reshetnyak VI, Maev IV, Reshetnyak TM, Zhuravel SV, Pisarev VM. Liver Disease and Hemostasis (Review) Part 2. 89 Cholestatic Liver Disease and Hemostasis. General Reanimatology 2019; 15: 80-93 [DOI: 10.15360/1813-9779-2019-6-80-93]
- Reshetnyak VI, Reshetnyak TM, Zhuravel SV. The hemostasis system is normal, with liver diseases and its 90 transplantation. Mayev IV (ed.). Riga, Latvia: LAP LAMBERT Academic Publishing; 2019. 84 p. (In Russ.) ISBN: 978-613-9-97771-0
- Reshetnyak VI, Zhuravel SV, Kuznetsova NK, Pisarev VM, Klychnikova EV, Syutkin VE, Reshetnyak TM. The System 91 of Blood Coagulation in Normal and in Liver Transplantation (Review). General Reanimatology 2018; 14: 58-84 [DOI: 10.15360/1813-9779-2018-5-58-841
- 92 Kowdley KV, Emond MJ, Sadowski JA, Kaplan MM. Plasma vitamin K1 level is decreased in primary biliary cirrhosis. Am J Gastroenterol 1997; 92: 2059-2061 [PMID: 9362192]
- 93 Schwabe U, Friedrich K. [Significance of the iron and copper content of the liver for the differential diagnosis of chronic liver diseases]. Z Gastroenterol 1990; 28: 353-357 [PMID: 2238766]
- Lysikov YuA. [Amino acids in human nutrition]. Experimental and clinical gastroenterology (In Russ.) 2012; 1: 88-105 94
- McCullough AJ, Mullen KD, Kalhan SC. Body cell mass and leucine metabolism in cirrhosis. Gastroenterology 1992; 95 102: 1325-1333 [PMID: 1551538]
- Changani KK, Jalan R, Cox IJ, Ala-Korpela M, Bhakoo K, Taylor-Robinson SD, Bell JD. Evidence for altered hepatic 96 gluconeogenesis in patients with cirrhosis using in vivo 31-phosphorus magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Gut 2001; 49: 557-564 [PMID: 11559655 DOI: 10.1136/gut.49.4.557]
- 97 Kinny-Köster B, Bartels M, Becker S, Scholz M, Thiery J, Ceglarek U, Kaiser T. Plasma Amino Acid Concentrations Predict Mortality in Patients with End-Stage Liver Disease. PLoS One 2016; 11: e0159205 [PMID: 27410482 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0159205
- Fülster S, Tacke M, Sandek A, Ebner N, Tschöpe C, Doehner W, Anker SD, von Haehling S. Muscle wasting in patients 98 with chronic heart failure: results from the studies investigating co-morbidities aggravating heart failure (SICA-HF). Eur Heart J 2013; 34: 512-519 [PMID: 23178647 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehs381]
- Ebadi M, Bhanji RA, Mazurak VC, Montano-Loza AJ. Sarcopenia in cirrhosis: from pathogenesis to interventions. J 99 Gastroenterol 2019; 54: 845-859 [PMID: 31392488 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-019-01605-6]
- 100 Wing SS, Lecker SH, Jagoe RT. Proteolysis in illness-associated skeletal muscle atrophy: from pathways to networks. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci 2011; 48: 49-70 [PMID: 21699435 DOI: 10.3109/10408363.2011.586171]
- 101 Krähenbühl L, Lang C, Lüdes S, Seiler C, Schäfer M, Zimmermann A, Krähenbühl S. Reduced hepatic glycogen stores in patients with liver cirrhosis. Liver Int 2003; 23: 101-109 [PMID: 12654132 DOI: 10.1034/j.1600-0676.2003.00805.x]
- 102 Nishikawa H, Shiraki M, Hiramatsu A, Moriya K, Hino K, Nishiguchi S. Japan Society of Hepatology guidelines for sarcopenia in liver disease (1st edition): Recommendation from the working group for creation of sarcopenia assessment criteria. Hepatol Res 2016; 46: 951-963 [PMID: 27481650 DOI: 10.1111/hepr.12774]
- 103 Hanai T, Shiraki M, Nishimura K, Ohnishi S, Imai K, Suetsugu A, Takai K, Shimizu M, Moriwaki H. Sarcopenia impairs prognosis of patients with liver cirrhosis. Nutrition 2015; 31: 193-199 [PMID: 25441595 DOI: 10.1016/j.nut.2014.07.005]
- 104 Hanai T, Shiraki M, Ohnishi S, Miyazaki T, Ideta T, Kochi T, Imai K, Suetsugu A, Takai K, Moriwaki H, Shimizu M. Rapid skeletal muscle wasting predicts worse survival in patients with liver cirrhosis. Hepatol Res 2016; 46: 743-751 [PMID: 26579878 DOI: 10.1111/hepr.12616]
- Hayashi M, Abe K, Fujita M, Okai K, Takahashi A, Ohira H. Association between sarcopenia and osteoporosis in chronic 105 liver disease. Hepatol Res 2018; 48: 893-904 [PMID: 29734510 DOI: 10.1111/hepr.13192]
- 106 Hirschfeld HP, Kinsella R, Duque G. Osteosarcopenia: where bone, muscle, and fat collide. Osteoporos Int 2017; 28: 2781-2790 [PMID: 28733716 DOI: 10.1007/s00198-017-4151-8]
- 107 Katayama K. Zinc and protein metabolism in chronic liver diseases. Nutr Res 2020; 74: 1-9 [PMID: 31891865 DOI: 10.1016/j.nutres.2019.11.009
- 108 Chang WK, Chao YC, Tang HS, Lang HF, Hsu CT. Effects of extra-carbohydrate supplementation in the late evening on energy expenditure and substrate oxidation in patients with liver cirrhosis. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 1997; 21: 96-99 [PMID: 9084012 DOI: 10.1177/014860719702100296]
- Plank LD, Gane EJ, Peng S, Muthu C, Mathur S, Gillanders L, McIlroy K, Donaghy AJ, McCall JL. Nocturnal nutritional 109 supplementation improves total body protein status of patients with liver cirrhosis: a randomized 12-month trial. Hepatology 2008; 48: 557-566 [PMID: 18627001 DOI: 10.1002/hep.22367]
- 110 Franco D, Charra M, Jeambrun P, Belghiti J, Cortesse A, Sossler C, Bismuth H. Nutrition and immunity after peritoneovenous drainage of intractable ascites in cirrhotic patients. Am J Surg 1983; 146: 652-657 [PMID: 6638272 DOI: 10.1016/0002-9610(83)90305-7
- 111 Pavlov CS, Damulin IV, Ivashkin VT. Hepatic encephalopathy: pathogenesis, clinical presentation, diagnostics, treatment. Russian Journal of Gastroenterology, Hepatology, Coloproctology 2016; 26: 44-53 (In Russ.) [DOI: 10.22416/1382-4376-2016-26-1-44-53
- Ridola L, Faccioli J, Nardelli S, Gioia S, Riggio O. Hepatic Encephalopathy: Diagnosis and Management. J Transl Int 112 Med 2020; 8: 210-219 [PMID: 33511048 DOI: 10.2478/jtim-2020-0034]


- Lockwood AH. Hepatic Encephalopathy. Ch. 12. In: Aminoff's Neurology and General Medicine. 6th Edition. Editors: 113 Michael Aminoff, S. Andrew Josephson. Philadelphia: Academic press, Elsevier; 2021; 265-279
- Hassan EA, Abd El-Rehim AS, Seifeldein GS, Shehata GA. Minimal hepatic encephalopathy in patients with liver 114 cirrhosis: magnetic resonance spectroscopic brain findings versus neuropsychological changes. Arab J Gastroenterol 2014; 15: 108-113 [PMID: 25459346 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajg.2014.09.003]
- 115 Storozhakov GI, Nikitin IG. [Hepatic encephalopathy: pathogenetic mechanisms, clinic, treatment] (In Russ.). Lechebnoe Delo 2006; 1: 13-17
- 116 Ivashkin VT, Nadinskaya MYu, Buyeverov AO. [Hepatic encephalopathy and methods of its metabolic correction] (In Russ.). Digestive diseases 2001; 1: 25-27
- Shulpekova YuO, Mayevskaya MV. [Special agents for parenteral nutrition for treatment of metabolic disorder at hepatic 117 encephalopathy] (In Russ.). Farmateka: International medical journal 2006; 1: 55-60
- Stewart CA, Menon KVN, Kamath PS. Hepatic encephalopathy --- diagnosis and management. Ch. 119. In: 118 Neurological Therapeutics Principles and Practice. Second ed. Vol. 2. Ed. by J.H. Noseworthy. Abingdon: Informa Healthcare; 2006; 1432-1440
- 119 Dasarathy S, Hatzoglou M. Hyperammonemia and proteostasis in cirrhosis. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 2018; 21: 30-36 [PMID: 29035972 DOI: 10.1097/MCO.00000000000426]
- 120 Davuluri G, Allawy A, Thapaliya S, Rennison JH, Singh D, Kumar A, Sandlers Y, Van Wagoner DR, Flask CA, Hoppel C, Kasumov T, Dasarathy S. Hyperammonaemia-induced skeletal muscle mitochondrial dysfunction results in cataplerosis and oxidative stress. J Physiol 2016; 594: 7341-7360 [PMID: 27558544 DOI: 10.1113/JP272796]
- 121 Butterworth RF. Pathophysiology of brain dysfunction in hyperammonemic syndromes: The many faces of glutamine. Mol Genet Metab 2014; 113: 113-117 [PMID: 25034052 DOI: 10.1016/j.ymgme.2014.06.003]
- 122 Holecek M, Kandar R, Sispera L, Kovarik M. Acute hyperammonemia activates branched-chain amino acid catabolism and decreases their extracellular concentrations: different sensitivity of red and white muscle. Amino Acids 2011; 40: 575-584 [PMID: 20614225 DOI: 10.1007/s00726-010-0679-z]
- Dam G, Ott P, Aagaard NK, Vilstrup H. Branched-chain amino acids and muscle ammonia detoxification in cirrhosis. 123 Metab Brain Dis 2013; 28: 217-220 [PMID: 23315357 DOI: 10.1007/s11011-013-9377-3]
- 124 Qiu J, Thapaliya S, Runkana A, Yang Y, Tsien C, Mohan ML, Narayanan A, Eghtesad B, Mozdziak PE, McDonald C, Stark GR, Welle S, Naga Prasad SV, Dasarathy S. Hyperammonemia in cirrhosis induces transcriptional regulation of myostatin by an NF-κB-mediated mechanism. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2013; 110: 18162-18167 [PMID: 24145431 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1317049110]
- Bhanji RA, Moctezuma-Velazquez C, Duarte-Rojo A, Ebadi M, Ghosh S, Rose C, Montano-Loza AJ. Myosteatosis and 125 sarcopenia are associated with hepatic encephalopathy in patients with cirrhosis. Hepatol Int 2018; 12: 377-386 [PMID: 29881992 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-018-9875-9]
- 126 Chapman B, Sinclair M, Gow PJ, Testro AG. Malnutrition in cirrhosis: More food for thought. World J Hepatol 2020; 12: 883-896 [PMID: 33312416 DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v12.i11.883]



W J M

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Meta-Anal 2022 June 28; 10(3): 99-121

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.99

ISSN 2308-3840 (online)

REVIEW

Viral hepatitis: A narrative review of hepatitis A-E

Zunirah Ahmed, Akshay Shetty, David W Victor, Sudha Kodali

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Balaban YH, Turkey; Mogahed EA, Egypt A-Editor: Zhu JQ, China

Received: February 16, 2022 Peer-review started: February 16, 2022 First decision: April 13, 2022 Revised: April 27, 2022 Accepted: June 24, 2022 Article in press: June 24, 2022 Published online: June 28, 2022



Zunirah Ahmed, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Underwood Center for Digestive Disorders, Houston Methodist Hospital, Houston, TX 77030, United States

Akshay Shetty, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, University of California, Los Angeles, CA 90095, United States

David W Victor, Sudha Kodali, Department of Hepatology, J C Walter Jr Transplant Center, Sherrie and Alan Conover Center for Liver Disease and Transplantation, Weill Cornell Medical College, Houston, TX 77030, United States

Corresponding author: Sudha Kodali, MD, Associate Professor, Department of Hepatology, Clinical Medicine Houston Methodist Academic Institute, J C Walter Jr Transplant Center, Sherrie and Alan Conover Center for Liver Disease and Transplantation, 6445 Main St Houston, TX 77030, United States. skodali@houstonmethodist.org

Abstract

Viral hepatitis continues to be a major health concern leading to hepatic decompensation ranging from acute hepatitis to cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma. The hepatic and extrahepatic manifestations are not only debilitating but also associated with a significant economic burden. Over the last two decades, the field of virology has made significant breakthroughs leading to a better understanding of the pathophysiology of viral hepatitis, which in turn has led to new therapeutic options. The advent of direct-acting antiviral agents changed the landscape of hepatitis C virus (HCV) therapy, and new drugs are in the pipeline for chronic hepatitis B virus (HBV) treatment. There has also been a significant emphasis on screening and surveillance programs, widespread availability of vaccines, and linkage of care. Despite these efforts, significant gaps persist in care, and there is a pressing need for increased collaboration and teamwork across the globe to achieve a reduction of disease burden and elimination of HBV and HCV.

Key Words: Viral hepatitis; Recent advances; Novel therapies; Barriers to cure; Future direction

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core tip: Viral hepatitis is an important etiology for acute and chronic hepatic dysfunction with significant mortality and morbidity. This review aims to summarize the recent advances in the field and to focus on new novel therapeutic approaches as well as highlighting the barriers to achieving a complete cure. We also focus on preventive measures and strategies to optimize care.

Citation: Ahmed Z, Shetty A, Victor DW, Kodali S. Viral hepatitis: A narrative review of hepatitis A-E. World J Meta-Anal 2022; 10(3): 99-121

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/full/v10/i3/99.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.99

INTRODUCTION

Hepatitis A

Epidemiology: Hepatitis A virus (HAV) belongs to the Picornaviridae family and is a single-stranded RNA virus that affects around 1.5 million people annually [1]. HAV is a resilient virus and is able to survive in most environments for months despite freezing temperatures, acidic environments, and exposure to chemical agents, thus making it an ideal agent for infection through exposure to contaminated water and food supplies^[2]. Since the advent of the HAV vaccine in 1996, there has been a significant decline in HAV incidence rate worldwide[3]. Incidence and prevalence depend on socioeconomic status and geography of the population. Seroprevalence rates are inversely proportional to general hygiene and sanitary conditions and socioeconomic status[4,5].

Prevalence of viral hepatitis in pediatric population: The prevalence in children of HAV varies based on region from where the data are reported, with higher exposure rates in Africa and South East Asia compared to Europe and the USA[6]. Global estimates for HBV prevalence are significantly lower among children, estimated at 1.3% in children under 5 years. There are limited data on hepatitis D prevalence in children^[7]. Estimates show that HCV infection in the pediatric population to be approximately 5 million children and adolescents globally. Studies show that the prevalence rates are rising, ranging from 0.05%-0.36% in the USA and Europe to 1.8%-5.8% in developing countries, including Mexico[8-10]. A systematic review of hepatitis E infection in pediatric population projected a worldwide, seroprevalence of 10% with rising prevalence with age[11].

Disease phases: The incubation period of HAV is usually 14-28 d, and patients are contagious for 2 wk prior to, and up to 1-2 wk after symptom onset[6]. Most patients recover spontaneously without chronic consequences[12]. Clinical presentation is variable where children can be completely asymptomatic, while adults can present with jaundice, changes in stool and urine color. Relapsing hepatitis A is characterized by the reappearance of clinical features and laboratory abnormalities consistent with acute hepatitis A after initial resolution of symptoms. Relapse can occur during 6 mo after initial illness. The duration of clinical relapse is generally < 3 wk, however biochemical relapse can last as long as 12 mo. A minority of patients can progress and develop acute liver failure and may need a liver transplant[13,14]. Hepatitis A infection resolves completely in the majority (>99%) of the cases[15]. HAV infection, unlike some other viruses, does not cause chronic liver disease^[16].

Hepatitis A vaccine and future directions: The current recommendations by The Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices are two shots of HAV vaccine, 6 mo apart[17]. There has been a decline in HAV infection from 11.7 to 0.4 cases per 100 000 population, a reduction by 96.6% because of aggressive screening and vaccination protocols[18]. Despite intense public health measures, sporadic hepatitis A cases continue to occur, highlighting the need for ongoing efforts for screening, surveillance, immunization, and education programs.

Hepatitis B

Epidemiology: Hepatitis B has emerged as a global health problem with estimated 350 million cases worldwide of chronic hepatitis B infection [19]. WHO Western Pacific Region and the WHO African Region are estimated to have the highest burden of chronic hepatitis B infection. Countries with high prevalence include Ghana, Gabon, Somalia, China, Cambodia and Mongolia^[20]. In the USA, 2.2 million have chronic hepatitis B (CHB) with a higher prevalence (3.45%) among first-generation immigrants [21]. Patients with CHB carry a 15%-40% lifetime risk of developing serious sequelae of infection with an increased risk of death from complications such as cirrhosis and [22] hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) [23].

Disease transmission and phases: The route of hepatitis B virus spread is via contact of blood or bodily fluids of an infected person. The route of HBV transmission varies depending on the prevalence and



geographic area. Vertical transmission at birth and close household contact among children are among the more common modes in Asia and Sub-Saharan Africa where HBV is endemic[24]. In areas with low prevalence, especially developed nations, transmission of HBV among adults usually occurs *via* sexual transmission, percutaneous inoculation through contaminated needles, blood transfusions, or healthcare-associated risk factors such as hemodialysis[24-29]. In the USA and Europe, prevalence rates are higher in areas with a larger ratio of immigrant population, who likely contracted HBV in their country of origin[30,31].

The natural history of HBV depends on the age of the patient at which infection is acquired. For example, in adults, it usually presents as an acute, self-resolving infection where patients who are immunocompetent develop hepatitis B surface antibody to hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg), while only 1%–5% progress to developing chronic infection[32]. In contrast, the majority of patients infected by vertical transmission or horizontal infection during early childhood are likely to develop CHB, with the risk of developing CHB rising to 90% if the infection was acquired at birth and 16%–30% if infected during childhood[33,34].

Chronic hepatitis B can be divided into five phases based on the patient's viral load, elevation in liver enzymes, and hepatitis B serologies[35]. The early high replicative phase or immune tolerant phase is characterized by positive hepatitis B e antigen (HBeAg), high levels of HBV DNA and normal serum alanine transaminase (ALT). The next stage's hallmark is immune activation, where HBeAg remains positive along with high levels of HBV DNA and elevated serum ALT with associated hepatic necroinflammation. Based on the immune activation, the disease may progress to loss of HBeAg and development of hepatitis B e antibody (anti-HBe). This stage is characterized by moderate to high levels of DNA with risk of progression to hepatic fibrosis and cirrhosis. In the nonreplicative phase (previously known as inactive carrier phase), in which HBV DNA is usually low or undetectable, HBeAg is absent and patients have normal serum ALT. Lastly, the HBsAg loss/occult phase is defined by loss of HBsAg but detectable HBV DNA in the liver and measurable HBV DNA in serum[36].

Extrahepatic manifestations: Both acute and chronic hepatitis B have extrahepatic manifestations. Polyarteritis nodosa is vasculitis of small and medium-sized vessels and manifests as a serious systemic complication of hepatitis B[37]. HBV-associated glomerulonephritis is commonly seen in children and is self-limited. In adults however HBV glomerulonephritis can slowly progress to renal failure[38]. Approximately one-third of the patients with hepatitis B can have the serum-sickness-like arthritis-dermatitis prodrome[39]. Many cutaneous disorders typically related to immune complex deposition are associated with hepatitis B. These include bullous pemphigoid, lichen planus and Gianotti-Crosti syndrome (papular acrodermatitis of childhood). Neurological manifestations include Guillain Barré syndrome, anxiety/depression and psychosis[40].

Definition of cure: Spontaneous seroconversion is the spontaneous loss of HBeAg and development of anti-HBe. This state is associated with low HBV-DNA levels and clinical remission of liver disease in many patients[41,42]. There is improvement in liver fibrosis when patients have HBeAg seroconversion [43]. Overall 0.5% and 0.8% of chronically infected patients will clear HBsAg per year[44]. This clearance of HbsAg is referred to as the recovery phase of hepatitis B.

Resolved CHB is characterized by sustained loss of HBsAg in a patient who was previously HBsAg positive, along with undetectable HBV-DNA levels and no clinical or histological evidence of active viral infection[45].

Functional cure is defined as loss of HbsAg with gain of anti-HbS. True cure is defined as elimination of HBsAg and closed covalent circular DNA (cccDNA)[45].

BARRIERS TO CURE

Clearance of hepatitis B and host immune response

HBV is a DNA virus with a complex structure and categorized into 10 different genotypes (A–J) based on global distribution, and the severity of the disease, risk of HCC, and response to certain treatments [46]. HBV enters the hepatocytes as a consequence of an interaction between the surface antigen and the sodium taurocholate cotransporting polypeptide[47]. After entry into the hepatocyte, the cccDNA develops when the relaxed circular DNA integrates with host cell nucleus, and at the time of HBV replication, cccDNA can generate pregenomic RNA to function as the template for the fully doublestranded DNA[48]. Figure 1 shows the lifecycle of HBV virus.

A few copies of cccDNA can initiate a full-blown infection after active replication, especially when the host is immunosuppressed[49]. Persistent cccDNA has been detected in hepatocytes of patients with resolved HBV infections, and hence the ultimate goal of HBV eradication should aim to clear any remnant cccDNA[42-46]. Another important reason to aim for clearance of cccDNA is the risk of progression to cirrhosis and HCC in patients with low to no HBV DNA in serum, highlighting the important of the role of ccc DNA[50,51].

Ahmed Z et al. Viral hepatitis



DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.99 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 1 Lifecycle of hepatitis B virus (HBV). 1: Attachment of the virion to the sodium taurocholate cotransporting peptide (NTCP); 2: Endocytosis; 3: Capsid release; 4: relaxed circular DNA entry into the nucleus; 5: closed covalent circular DNA synthesis; 6: Transcription; 7: mRNA transfer to the cytoplasm and encapsidation; 9: DNA synthesis and budding of virions into the endoplasmic reticulum lumen; 10: Virus release through multivesicular body transfer to hepatocyte surface.

> HBV is unique when compared to other hepatotropic viruses as there is a lack of innate response during HBV infection[52,53]. Chronic HBV affects the immune system by interfering with the function of T cells and in the synthesis of neutralizing antibodies, which are essential in mounting an appropriate immune response to the virus [54,55]. HBV exposure in utero induces a state of trained immunity against HBV[56], and HBV exposed neonates have variable levels of IL-10 and proinflammatory cytokines, and new pharmacotherapeutics exploring this pathway needs further research[56,57]. The goals of therapy have been to control viral replication so that inflammation, development of fibrosis and cirrhosis, and risk of HCC can be reduced, hence lowering the risk of decompensated liver disease and its sequelae and need for a liver transplant.

HBV vaccine and linkage of care

HBV vaccine, although available since 1982, was not widely available because of its high cost. The Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunization was able to increase vaccine coverage in the early 2000s [58]. There still are major discrepancies in the availability and utilization of the vaccine, especially with regard to universal birth dose administration[59]. Different regions of the world have variable vaccine administration rates. In 2016, the rate of universal HBV single dose vaccine administration was 93% in the Western Pacific followed by 73% in Southeast Asia, 49% in America and Europe and only 19% in the African Region[60]. WHO recommends HBV vaccine at birth, followed by two or three doses at least 4 wk apart. Hepatitis B vaccine within 12 h is recommended for newborns born to mothers whose HBsAg status is unknown[61]. Adults who were not vaccinated as children can also receive HBV vaccine with first dose as soon as possible followed by 2 doses at 1 and 6 mo after the first dose[61]. Currently approved vaccines in the USA include single antigen hepatitis B vaccine and combined hepatitis A and hepatitis B vaccines. In adults aged 19-59 years they can either receive two doses 4 wk apart of single antigen hepatitis B vaccine or a three-dose series for the combination vaccine.

Multiple factors account for variation in vaccination and linkage of care for HBV across the globe. In China, the major limitation to access and care is secondary to the large population, high prevalence and the low coverage of diagnosis and treatment programs^[62]. In resource-rich nations like Australia and New Zealand, despite subsidized screening, specialist management, and treatment for HBV, the barriers include lack of awareness about the implications of HBV infection in healthcare workers, and absence of consistent clinical guidelines regarding diagnosis and referral to a specialist[63,64]. In the USA, a recent systematic review highlighted the obstacles to care, which include access to medical care and lack of education and awareness amongst the patients, along with fear of stigma regarding the diagnosis as barriers to testing and care[65]. Implementation of effective vaccination policies worldwide, along with strategies to prevent vertical transmission and widely available testing and treatment, would be



necessary to attain a reduction in HBV infections worldwide[66].

Current therapies and limitations: Current treatment options for CHB include interferons (IFNs) and nucleoside analogs but they suppress the viral replication and do not eliminate the virus, and aid in achieving a functional cure[67]. In HBeAg⁺ patients, the loss of serum HBeAg and appearance of HBeAb and loss of circulating HBV DNA is the major goal[22]. Current therapies lead to HBeAg seroconversion in only 20%-30% of treated patients and a mortality reduction by 50% over a 10-year period[22,68,69]. Table 1 summarizes the current antiviral therapies for adults and children.

Goal of new therapies: Eradication of cccDNA is the ultimate goal of ongoing research for novel HBV treatments. Hurdles to measurement of cccDNA include lack of sophisticated assays and challenges to biopsy. There is a need for surrogate markers for loss of cccDNA, HBV DNA, HBeAg[70]. Table 2 summarizes the newer therapies.

Gene editing - future direction: The major hurdle to eradication of HBV is that current antiviral therapies do not eradicate latently integrated or nonreplicating episomal viral genomes. Furthermore, HBV infection disseminates extensively beyond the liver and broad range of cell lines, including neurons, endothelial cells, macrophages, polymorphic nuclear leukocytes, peripheral blood mononuclear cells, and are permissive for HBV replication.

Gene editing provides the ability to alter an organism's DNA. Targeted endonucleases are highly specific enzymes designed to introduce DNA double-strand breaks into desired target sequences .The major classes of DNA-cleaving enzymes include zinc finger nucleases, Tal-effector nucleases, RNAguided engineered nucleases such as CRISPR/Cas9 and mega nucleases/homing endonucleases[71].

The features that make HBV amenable are small viral genome (3.2 kb) with four proteins (envelope, nucleocapsid, polymerase, and X protein). HBV also has low to intermediate mutability rate and the polymerase mutation rate rages from 1.4×10^5 - 3.2×10^5 mutations/site/year. These factors make it a good target for cleavage enzyme. CRISPR/Cas9 inhibits HBV replication and can be used to target HBV [72,73]. Recently, when Cas9 and guide RNAs were delivered using plasmids into mouse liver, cccDNA could be cleaved, disrupted and cleared [74]. Animal studies after gene editing of CRISPR-Cas9 gene showed improved survival with entacavir with reduced HBV DNA and cccDNA levels[75]. Recent findings of removal of full-length 3175-bp integrated HBV DNA fragment using CRISPR-Cas9 demonstrated that CRISP-Cas9 system may emerge as powerful tool capable of promoting a radical or "sterile" HBV cure[76,77].

HEPATITIS C

Epidemiology

Globally, hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection prevalence is 1%, and there are about 2.3 million cases in the USA^[78]. The highest prevalence is in the Eastern Mediterranean and European Regions, followed by South East Asian and Western Pacific Regions. Countries with high prevalence are Russia, Gabon, Egypt and Syria[78,79]. HCV is an RNA virus, and similar to HBV, it is transmitted via contacting blood or body fluids of infected individuals, with most common routes of transmission being intravenous drug use, blood product transfusion, solid organ transplantation, or unintentional cross-contamination in hospitals and other medical facilities[80]. Intranasal cocaine use and tattoos administered in unclean parlors are other risk factors[81,82]. Perinatal transmission, though very rare, has been reported in 2%-8% of infected mothers[83].

Hepatitis C in pediatric populations: The estimated prevalence of HCV in 2018 in the pediatric population aged 0-18 years was 0.13% corresponding to 3.26 million children [84]. Direct-acting antivirals (DAAs) are the treatment option for HCV infection in children and adolescents aged \geq 3 years. Presence of extrahepatic manifestations like rash, advanced fibrosis, cryoglobulinemia, and glomerulonephritis is an indication for early antiviral therapy. Table 3 summarizes the treatment options in pediatric populations.

Extrahepatic manifestations: Chronic HCV, which is untreated can cause chronic inflammation, followed by progressive liver fibrosis leading to the development of cirrhosis and HCC[85,86]. Various extrahepatic manifestations are reported in chronic HCV infection like mixed cryoglobulinemia, vasculitis, glomerulonephritis, and B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, along with increased rates of insulin resistance, diabetes, atherosclerosis, and cognitive impairment[87-89]. A meta-analysis of 102 studies looking at prevalence, quality of life, and economic burden of extrahepatic manifestations of HCV showed diabetes (15%) and depression (25%) were the most common extrahepatic manifestations [<mark>90</mark>].

Barriers to elimination: The goal of WHO has been to develop and work on strategies to reduce new infections while treating patients who are infected with HCV[91].

Table 1 Approved antivirals for adults and children for chronic hepatitis B

Drug	Adult dosing	Pediatric dosing	Potential side effects	Pregnancy category
Peg-IFN-a-2a (adult) IFN-a-2b (children)	180 mcg wkly	> 1 yr dose: 6 million IU/m ² three times wkly	Flu-like symptoms, fatigue, mood disturbances, cytopenia, autoimmune disorders in adults, anorexia, and weight loss in children	C
Entecavir	0.5 mg daily	> 2 yr dose: weight- based to 10-30 kg; above 30 kg: 0.5 mg daily	Lactic acidosis (decompensated cirrhosis only)	C
Tenofovir dipovoxil fumarate	300 daily	> 12 yr	Fanconi syndrome, osteomalacia, lactic acidosis	В
Tenofovir alafenamide	25 mg daily	-	Lactic acidosis	There are insufficient human data on use during pregnancy to inform a drug- associated risk of birth defects and miscarriage
Lamivudine	100 mg daily	2 yr dose: 3 mg/kg daily to max 100 mg	Pancreatitis lactic acidosis	С
Adefovir	10 mg daily	12 yr	Acute renal failure Fanconi syndrome lactic acidosis	C
Telbivudine	600 mg daily	-	Creatine kinase elevation and myopathy peripheral neuropathy lactic acidosis	В

Since the advent of oral DAAs in 2014, there has been a dramatic change in the landscape of HCV therapy [92,93]. DAA therapies are not only well-tolerated and safe but offer cure rates of > 95% [94,95]. In comparison to IFNs, treatment with DAAs is short term[96]. With the new agents and multiple options, treatment can be tailored based on presence and absence of cirrhosis, decompensated disease, coinfection with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and renal function and need for dialysis. Table 4 summarizes the available DAAs, their target population, and genotype coverage. DAAs are promising and have changed the landscape of chronic hepatitis C infection, but there are several barriers to care and cure and below mentioned are a few.

Awareness and screening programs

There remains a general misunderstanding and also lack of awareness regarding HCV in the general population worldwide, as evident by a 2017 WHO Global Hepatitis Report, where only 20% of 71 million people with HCV worldwide, were aware of the infection at the time of confirmation[91]. A large population-based study in the USA from 2001 to 2008 showed only 49.7% of patients with HCV infection were aware of their status^[97]. Another National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey study showed that cirrhosis was equally common in patients who were unaware of their diagnosis compared to those who knew about their infection[98]. At a patient level, fear of the stigma associated with the diagnosis and at the provider level, lack of time, knowledge, and discomfort in asking about high-risk behaviors are barriers to screening, testing, and cure[99]. The provider perceptions have changed over the years and now most providers believe that they play an active role in their patient's treatment and their decisions to start treatment are not influenced by high risk behaviors amongst patients^[100].

In developing countries, the absence of screening programs and limited resources have resulted in the vast majority of patients being undiagnosed[101-103]. A systematic review and meta-analysis of studies published after 1995 showed that in Africa, only 19% of blood transfusions are screened for HCV due to cost constraints[104].

The screening strategies have to be tailored according to the population and the country to make these cost effective[105]. As shown in a systematic review of 67 screening programs, in low HCVprevalence populations, prescreening can increase efficiency, whereas in high prevalence countries widespread screening programs are cost effective[106-108].

High risk groups: Intravenous drug users (IVDUs) are a well-known high-risk population and the global burden of HCV in injecting drug users is approximately 67% [109]. In Europe the prevalence of HCV is estimated to be 50 times higher in individuals who inject drugs compared with the general population[110]. In the past, this subset of HCV patients was not regarded as eligible for treatment due to concern for poor adherence, reinfection and psychiatric ailments[111]. Current guidelines recommend that people who inject drugs (PWIDs) should not be excluded from HCV treatment[112] and multiple recent studies have shown that there is direct relationship between influences of IV drugs on the efficacy of DAA therapy among adherent patients[113-115], and the SIMPLIFY trial demonstrated that PWIDs should be offered HCV treatment regardless of ongoing drug use[116]. In this high-risk group testing,



Table 2 Drugs in pipeline for hepatitis B virus			
drug class	Drug	Company	Phase
Core protein inhibitors	AB-506	Arbutus Biopharma	1
	ABI-H0731	Assembly Biosciences	1,2
	ABI-H2158	Assembly Biosciences	1
	EDP-514	Enanta Pharmaceuticals	1
	JNJ-6379	Johnson & Johnson	1,2
	JNJ-0440	Johnson & Johnson	1
	RO7049389	Roche	1
siRNA, antisense RNA	AB-729	Arbutus Biopharma	1
	DCR-HBVS	Dicerna Pharmaceuticals	1
	GSK/IONIS-HBV-L _{Rx}	Ionis/GlaxoSmithKline	1,2
	IONIS-HBV _{Rx}	Ionis/GlaxoSmithKline	1,2
	JNJ-3989 (ARO-HBV)	Johnson & Johnson	1,2
	RO7062931	Roche	1
	Vir-2218 (ALN-HBV02)	Vir Biotechnology/Alnylam	1
pol/RT inhibitor	Tenofovir exalidex	ContraVir Pharmaceuticals	1,2
HBsAg secretion inhibitors	REP-2139	Replicor	1,2
	REP-2165	Replicor	1,2
HBV entry inhibitor	Bulevirtide	Hepatera Ltd	1,2
TLR-7 agonists	AL-034	Johnson & Johnson/Alios	1
	RG-7854	Roche	1
	RO7020531	Roche	1
TLR-8 agonist	GS-9688	Gilead Sciences	1,2
Therapeutic vaccines	AIC-649	AiCuris	1
	INO-1800	Inovio Pharmaceuticals	1
	TG1050	Transgene	1
RIG-I and NOD2 agonist	Inarigivir	Spring Bank	1,2
Apoptosis inducer	APG-1387	Ascentage Pharma	1
FXR agonist	EYP-001	Enyo Pharma	1,2

HBV: hepatitis B virus; HBsAg: Hepatitis B surface antigen; TLR: Toll-like receptor.

access to care, prescription of DAA therapy, along with the elimination of stigma associated with the infection have been proposed as effective strategies for this specific population[117-119].

Prevention of HBV/HCV infection: Both HBV and HCV can be transmitted perinatally, via needle stick injury and via household contacts. Perinatal transmission for HBV can be prevented by providing hepatitis B immunoglobulins and vaccines within 12 h of birth to infants of HbsAg-positive mothers [120]. Unfortunately for HCV infection, there are no interventions or prophylactic measures that have been proven to prevent perinatal transmission. Management of needle stick injury for HBV depends on the vaccination status of exposed individual and HBV status of patient. For individuals who suffer needle stick injury and are unvaccinated, vaccination series should be initiated. For vaccinated individuals with documented vaccine response no treatment is required. If the vaccination status is unknown, then its recommended to check anti-Hbs titers and if negative, initiating vaccine series is recommended[121]. Recommendations for prevention of HCV after needle stick injury include testing for HCV RNA, HCV antibodies and ALT immediately after the event, repeat laboratory analysis in 2-8 wk, and referral to specialist if infection occurs[122]. Household contacts should be extensively counselled and education includes measures to avoid sharing razors or toothbrushes etc. that

Table 3 DAA therapy in	pediatric population	
Regimen	Patient population	Duration (wk)
Genotype 1		
Ledipasvir/sofosbuvir	Prior exposure to DAA and IFN (± ribavirin) , no cirrhosis	12
	Prior exposure to DAA and IFN (± ribavirin), compensated cirrhosis	24
Glecaprevir/pibrentasvi	Age \geq 12 yr or weight \geq 45 kg with prior exposure to an NS5A inhibitor but no NS3/4A protease inhibitor exposure, no cirrhosis, compensated cirrhosis	16
	Age \geq 12 yr or weighing \geq 45 kg with prior exposure to NS3/4A protease inhibitors but no NS5A inhibitor exposure, no cirrhosis, compensated cirrhosis	12
	Age \geq 12 yr or weight \geq 45 kg with prior exposure to an IFN-based regimen (± ribavirin) and/or sofosbuvir but no exposure to NS3/4A or NS5A protease inhibitors, with compensated cirrhosis	12
	Age \geq 12 yr or weight \geq 45 kg with prior exposure to an IFN-based regimen (± ribavirin) and/or sofosbuvir but no exposure to NS3/4A or NS5A protease inhibitors, without cirrhosis	8
Genotype 2		
Glecaprevir / pibrentasvir	Age \geq 12 yr or weight \geq 45 kg with prior exposure to an IFN-based regimen (± ribavirin) and/or sofosbuvir but no exposure to NS3/4A or NS5A protease inhibitors, without cirrhosis	8
	Age \geq 12 yr or weight \geq 45 kg with prior exposure to an IFN-based regimen (± ribavirin) and/or sofosbuvir but no exposure to NS3/4A or NS5A protease inhibitors, compensated cirrhosis	12
Genotype 3		
Glecaprevir/pibrentasvir	Age \geq 12 yr or weight \geq 45 kg with prior exposure to an IFN-based regimen (± ribavirin) and/or sofosbuvir but no exposure to NS3/4A or NS5A protease inhibitors, no cirrhosis or compensated cirrhosis	16
Genotype 4		
Glecaprevir/pibrentasvir	Age \geq 12 yr or weight \geq 45 kg with prior exposure to an IFN-based regimen (± ribavirin) and/or sofosbuvir but no exposure to NS3/4A or NS5A protease inhibitors, compensated cirrhosis	12
	Age \geq 12 yr or weight \geq 45 kg with prior exposure to an IFN-based regimen (± ribavirin) and/or sofosbuvir but no exposure to NS3/4A or NS5A protease inhibitors, no cirrhosis	8
Ledipasvir/sofosbuvir	Age \geq 3 yr with prior exposure to an IFN (± ribavirin) plus an HCV protease inhibitor regimen, no cirrhosis or compensated cirrhosis	12
Genotype 5		
Ledipasvir/sofosbuvir	Age \geq 3 yr with prior exposure to an IFN (± ribavirin) plus an HCV protease inhibitor regimen, no cirrhosis or compensated cirrhosis	12
Glecaprevir/pibrentasvir	Age \geq 12 yr or weight \geq 45 kg with prior exposure to an IFN-based regimen (± ribavirin) and/or sofosbuvir but no exposure to NS3/4A or NS5A protease inhibitors, no cirrhosis	8
	Age \geq 12 yr or weight \geq 45 kg with prior exposure to an IFN-based regimen (± ribavirin) and/or sofosbuvir but no exposure to NS3/4A or NS5A protease inhibitors, with compensated cirrhosis	12
Genotype 6		
Glecaprevir/pibrentasvir	Age \geq 12 yr or weight \geq 45 kg with prior exposure to an IFN-based regimen (± ribavirin) and/or sofosbuvir but no exposure to NS3/4A or NS5A protease inhibitors, no cirrhosis	8
	Age \geq 12 yr or weight \geq 45 kg with prior exposure to an IFN-based regimen (± ribavirin) and/or sofosbuvir but no exposure to NS3/4A or NS5A protease inhibitors, with compensated cirrhosis	12
Ledipasvir/sofosbuvir	Age \geq 3 yr with prior exposure to an IFN (± ribavirin) plus an HCV protease inhibitor regimen, no cirrhosis, compensated cirrhosis	12

DAA: Direct-acting antiviral; IFN: Interferon; HCV: Hepatitis C virus.

predisposes one to contact with body fluids, HCV/HBV positive individuals should refrain from donating blood, organ and tissue[123].

HBV/HCV coinfection: The worldwide incidence of HBV/HCV coinfection is reported to range from 5% to 15% [124,125]. The incidence varies significantly depending on geographic location, with higher incidence in endemic areas[126]. HBV/HCV coinfection leads to higher rate of cirrhosis, HCC and decompensated liver disease compared to monoinfection [124,127]. Four serological profiles are seen in coinfection-codominant, HCV dominant, HBV dominant, and neither replicative, and these can evolve

Raisbideng® WJMA https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 4 DAA therapy for chronic hepatitis C virus			
Regimen	Patient population	Duration (wk)	
Genotype 1			
Daclatasvir + sofosbuvir	Decompensated cirrhosis regardless of subtype	12	
	HIV/HCV coinfection when antiretroviral regimen cannot be made to accommodate recommended regimens	12	
Elbasvir/grazoprevir	Treatment naive or Peg/RBV experienced regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Severe renal impairment (CKD stage 4/5)	12	
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver transplant with cirrhosis		
Glecaprevir/pibrentasvir	Treatment naive or Peg/RBV experienced without cirrhosis	8	
	Treatment naive or Peg/RBV experienced with cirrhosis, and non-NS5A failures (including NS3) regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Post liver transplant without cirrhosis	12	
	Severe renal impairment (CKD stage 4 or 5)	8-12	
	Post kidney transplant regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver transplant with cirrhosis		
Ledipasvir/sofosbuvir	Treatment naive regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Treatment naive, no cirrhosis, non-black, HIV negative, and HCV RNA <106 IU/mL	8	
	Peg/RBV (\pm NS3 protease inhibitor) experienced without cirrhosis	12	
	Decompensated cirrhosis, treatment naive or Peg/RBV (\pm NS3 protease inhibitor) experienced	12	
	Decompensated cirrhosis, prior sofosbuvir failure only	24	
	Post liver transplant regardless of cirrhosis or decompensation	12	
	Post kidney transplant regardless of cirrhosis	12	
Sofosbuvir/velpatasvir	Treatment naive or Peg/RBV ± NS3 protease inhibitor experienced regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	GT1b, non-NS5A DAA experienced regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Decompensated cirrhosis, treatment naive or Peg/RBV (\pm NS3 protease inhibitor) experienced	12	
	Decompensated cirrhosis, DAA failure (including NS5A)b	24	
Sofosbuvir/velpatasvir/voxilaprevir	NS5A failures (including NS3 protease inhibitor) regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	GT1a, non-NS5A failures (including NS3 protease inhibitors) regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver transplant with cirrhosis		
Genotype 2			
Daclatasvir + sofosbuvir	Decompensated cirrhosis	12	
	Post liver transplant regardless of cirrhosis or decompensation	12	
Glecaprevir/pibrentasvir	Treatment naive or Peg/RBV experienced without cirrhosis	8	
	Treatment naive or Peg/RBV experienced with cirrhosis, and sofosbuvir failures regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Post liver transplant without cirrhosis	12	
	Severe renal impairment (CKD stage 4 or 5)	8-12	
	Post kidney transplant regardless of cirrhosis	12	
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver transplant with cirrhosis		
Sofosbuvir/velpatasvir	Treatment naive, or Peg/RBV or non-NS5A experienced regardless of cirrhosis	12	

Baisbideng® WJMA | https://www.wjgnet.com

	Decompensated cirrhosis, treatment naive or Peg/RBV or non-NS5A experienced	12
	Decompensated cirrhosis, DAA failure (including sofosbuvir ± NS5A)b	24
	Post liver transplant with decompensated cirrhosis	12
Sofosbuvir/velpatasvir/voxilaprevir	NS5A failures	12
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver transplant with cirrhosis	
Genotype 3		
Daclatasvir + sofosbuvir	Decompensated cirrhosis	12
	Post liver transplant regardless of cirrhosis or decompensation	12
Glecaprevir/pibrentasvir	Treatment naive without cirrhosis	8
	Treatment naive with compensated cirrhosis	12
	Post liver transplant without cirrhosis	12
	Severe renal impairment (CKD stage 4 or 5)	8-12
	Post kidney transplant regardless of cirrhosis	12
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver transplant with cirrhosis	
Sofosbuvir + elbasvir/grazoprevir	Peg/RBV experienced with compensated cirrhosis	12
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver transplant with cirrhosis	
Sofosbuvir/velpatasvir	Treatment naive without cirrhosis	12
	Treatment naive with cirrhosis or Peg/RBV experienced without cirrhosis	12
	Decompensated cirrhosis, treatment naive or Peg/ RBV experienced	12
	Decompensated cirrhosis, previously exposed to DAA (including sofosbuvir \pm NS5A)b	24
	Post liver transplant with decompensated cirrhosis	12
Sofosbuvir/velpatasvir/voxilaprevir	Peg/RBV experienced with cirrhosis, or DAA failure (including NS5A inhibitors) regardless of cirrhosis	12
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver transplant with cirrhosis	
Genotype 4		
Daclatasvir + sofosbuvir	Decompensated cirrhosis	12
	HIV/HCV coinfection when antiretroviral regimen cannot be made to accommodate recommended regimens	12
Elbasvir/grazoprevir	Treatment naive or Peg/RBV experienced with prior relapse, regardless of cirrhosis	12
	Severe renal impairment (CKD stage 4/5)	12
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver transplant with cirrhosis	
Glecaprevir/pibrentasvir	Treatment naive or Peg/RBV experienced without cirrhosis	8
	Treatment naive or Peg/RBV experienced with cirrhosis	12
	Post liver transplant without cirrhosis	12
	Severe renal impairment (CKD stage 4 or 5)	8-12
	Post kidney transplant regardless of cirrhosis	12
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver transplant with cirrhosis	
	Treatment naive regardless of cirrhosis or Peg/RBV experienced without cirrhosis	12
	Decompensated cirrhosis, treatment naive or Peg/ RBV experienced	12
	Decompensated cirrhosis, sofosbuvir failure	24
	Post liver transplant regardless of cirrhosis or decompensation	12



	Post kidney transplant regardless of cirrhosis	12
Sofosbuvir/velpatasvir	Treatment naive or Peg/RBV experienced regardless of cirrhosis	12
	Decompensated cirrhosis, treatment naive or Peg/ RBV (± NS3 protease inhibitor) experienced	12
	Decompensated cirrhosis, DAA failure (including NS5A)	24
Sofosbuvir/velpatasvir/voxilaprevir	NS5A failures (including NS3 protease inhibitors) regardless of cirrhosis	12
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver transplant with cirrhosis	
Sofusbuvir/ledipasvir	Treatment naive, compensated cirrhosis - not for decompensated cirrhosis	12
Genotype 5 or 6		
Glecaprevir/pibrentasvir	Treatment naive or Peg/RBV experienced without cirrhosis	8
	Treatment naive or Peg/RBV experienced with cirrhosis	12
	Post liver transplant without cirrhosis	12
	Severe renal impairment (CKD stage 4 or 5)	8-12
	Post kidney transplant regardless of cirrhosis	12
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver transplant with cirrhosis	
Ledipasvir/sofosbuvir	Treatment naive or Peg/RBV experienced regardless of cirrhosis	12
	Decompensated cirrhosis, treatment naive or Peg/ RBV experienced	12
	Decompensated cirrhosis, sofosbuvir failure	24
	Post liver transplant regardless of cirrhosis or decompensation	12
Sofosbuvir/velpatasvir	Treatment naive or Peg/RBV experienced regardless of cirrhosis	12
	Decompensated cirrhosis, treatment naive or Peg/RBV (\pm NS3 protease inhibitor) experienced	12
	Decompensated cirrhosis, DAA failure (including NS5A)	24
Sofosbuvir/velpatasvir/voxilaprevir	NS5A failures (including NS3 protease inhibitors) regardless of cirrhosis	12
	Not for decompensated cirrhosis or post liver transplant with cirrhosis	

Adapted from American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases/IDSA guidelines (https://www.hcvguidelines.org/). CKD: Chronic kidney disease; DAA: Direct-acting antiviral; HIV: Human immunodeficiency virus; HCV: Hepatitis C virus; RBV: Ribavirin; Peg: Pegylated interferon.

over period of time[128]. The aim in these scenarios would be to identify and eradicate the dominant virus and then monitor for reactivation of the other virus. Close monitoring of HBV DNA and HCV RNA is essential before determining viral dominance[129]. HBV monoinfection is treated with a nucleo(s)tide analog (*e.g.*, entacavir or tenofovir, lamivudine) and/or pegylated IFN (Peg-IFN). Currently, DAAs are the mainstay of treatment for HCV monoinfection although Peg-IFN plus ribavirin is effective, but is rarely used[126].

HBV/HCV infection after liver transplantation: HBV recurrence after liver transplantation is a major causes of graft failure, graft cirrhosis and allograft dysfunction. Patients can be categorized into high and low risk for recurrent HBV based on pretransplant viral load, HbeAg positivity and history of antiviral drug resistance[130]. Combination of potent nucleos(t)ide analog and hepatitis B immuno-globulin (HBIG) is recommended after liver transplantation for the prevention of HBV recurrence in patients with CHB. Recent data suggest that patients with low risk of recurrence need to be on continued monoprophylaxis with nucleos(t)ide analogs; however, HBIG can be discontinued[77]. HCV recurrence after liver transplantation is universal in patients with HCV viremia at the time of transplantation. The viral levels are shown to rebound and reach pretransplant level with 72 h and DAA therapy should be started within this timeframe to prevent graft reinfection and loss[131].

Zaishidena® WJMA https://www.wjgnet.com

HEPATITIS D

Epidemiology

Hepatitis delta virus (HDV) is a defective virus that encodes its own genome but needs HBsAg and hence HBV for replication, propagation and transmission[132]. The two high-risk groups at risk of infection include IVDUs and patients with high-risk sexual behaviors [133]. In the USA, HDV infection was considered to be a rare, but data over the last decade estimating seroprevalence of HDV have shown higher rates, especially in Asians and immigrants^[45].

Transmission: HDV is transmitted parenterally and sexually, while vertical transmission is thought to be rare[134,135]. In low-endemicity regions and developed nations, IVD use is the main route of transmission[133].

Clinical presentation: HDV infection is always associated with HBV infection as HBV is integral to the assembly of the hepatitis D virion and release. Two major patterns of infection can occur: superinfection and coinfection.

Coinfection is concurrent infection with both HDV and HBV. Clinically, the presentation is difficult to differentiate from other causes of hepatitis and especially acute HBV[136]. Patients who are coinfected can present with symptoms that can be mild to severe fulminant hepatitis[137]. Coinfection is usually self-limited, but it is important to highlight the fact that coinfection can cause severe fulminant hepatitis compared to superinfection[137].

Superinfection occurs when HDV infects an individual with CHB, in whom pre-existing HBsAg provides an ideal environment for HDV expression. Patients progress from acute hepatitis to chronic infection in up to 90% of cases, whereas the rest either resolve or progress to fulminant disease[136]. Chronic HDV infection, in comparison to HBV monoinfection, is more severe and, up to 70% percent of patients rapidly progress to cirrhosis within 5-10 years[138].

Diagnosis and management: In patients suspected to have HDV, the first-line screening test is ELISA for anti-HDV. The acute phase of HDV infection is characterized by positive IgM anti-HDV in serum. IgG anti-HDV antibodies are representative of chronic HDV infection or past exposure[139]. HDV screening for all HBV-infected individuals is recommended by the European guidelines whereas in the USA screening is limited to patients with high-risk factors such as HIV or HCV infections and patients with low or undetectable HBV DNA presenting with elevated aminotransferases[45]. Screening of all HBsAg-positive patients should be considered given concerns regarding underestimation of prevalence of HDV[140,141]. This approach would lead to more accurate determination of HDV prevalence and would also lead to earlier intervention and treatment^[142].

The current treatment option for chronic HDV infection is Peg-IFN- α for 12 mo based on guidelines from the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases, Asian Pacific Association for the Study of the Liver, and the European Association for the Study of the Liver[45,77,143]. Overall, the response rate to therapy is low with only a 10%–20% rate of sustained HDV clearance and 10% rate of HbsAg clearance with 1 year of standard IFN- α [144,145]. Studies revealed that 1 year of therapy with Peg-IFN proved to have a better response rate than standard IFN therapy however it hardly exceeded 25% of sustained HDV clearance[146,147].

Combination therapy involving standard IFN- α with ribavirin [148] or lamivudine [149,150] is not more efficacious than monotherapy with IFN for chronic hepatitis D. Similar results are obtained when Peg-IFN-α is used in combination with ribavirin^[151] or adefovir^[147].

Novel therapeutics: Given the low overall virological response rate and high rate of relapse, there is an increasing need for therapeutic strategies aimed at improving efficacy and offering it to patients for whom IFN is contraindicated due to advanced liver disease. Currently, three new medications that affect HDV life cycle are being studied in clinical trials, with varying mechanism of actions: hepatocyte entry inhibitors, farnesyltransferase inhibitors, and nucleic acid polymers. Table 5 summarizes these novel therapies with the associated adverse effects. Figure 2 highlights the different targeted approaches for treatment of chronic hepatitis D.

Additional approaches: siRNAs have shown early promise in this field. In a phase IIa clinical trial that showed that a single injection of siRNA ARC-520d decreased HbsAg levels in HbeAg negative CHB patients in a dose-dependent fashion [152]. A multi-dose extension study of up to 12 doses, with once monthly dosing, demonstrated an increased decline of HbAg level, especially in HbeAg-positive rather than HbeAg-negative patients[153]. The study was stopped because of adverse effects of the carrier molecule but demonstrated the effect and highlighted the scope of siRNA as a potential treatment option.

Currently, for the management of HDV, new approaches such as DNA vaccines[154], anti-HB immune complexes[155]https://www-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.ezproxy3.lhl.uab.edu/pmc/articles/ PMC5580405/-ref-75, and immunologically active adjuvants such as β -glucosylceramide are being explored. Targeting the HBV and immune system interaction is another area that has garnered significant interest. Preclinical studies have shown that the Toll-like receptors (TLRs) play a key role in



Table 5 Novel drug treatments for chronic hepatitis D virus Administration Phase of Adverse effect Drug Mode of action route studv Myrcludex Interferes with hepatitis D Subcutaneous, daily Ib, IIa Lipase and amylase elevation in phase I but not in phase II study в virus entry into hepatocyte for 6 mo Through sodium taurocholate ± pegylated interferon Elevation of taurine- and glycine-conjugated bile acids without (Peg-IFN) cotransporting apparent clinical consequences polypeptide inhibition Thrombocytopenia, neutropenia, lymphopenia, and eosinophilia: Generally mild, transient Oral, 2 to 12 mo, ± Π Lonafarnib Farnesyltransferase inhibitor, Gastrointestinal toxicity (anorexia, nausea with or without vomiting, inhibits virion assembly ritonavir diarrhea, weight loss): Dose dependent and in lower dose cohorts generally mild and well tolerated ± peg-IFN Intravenous infusion, II Hair loss, dysphagia, anorexia, dysgeusia, in hepatitis B study: Related Rep-2139-Nucleic acid polymer, binds Ca with high affinity to once wkly to heavy metal exposure at the trial site Amphipathic proteins, which for 4-6 mo ± peg-IFN Administration route-related side effects: peripheral grade 1 are required at various hyperemia, fever, chills, and headache Stages of the viral life cycle

IFN: Interferon.





Figure 2 New treatments in chronic hepatitis D, with specific targets.

sensing pathogen-associated molecule patterns and activating intracellular antiviral pathways as well as the production of proinflammatory cytokines and antiviral effectors like IFN[156]. In a study assessing the safety, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics of oral TLR-7 agonist, GS-920 led to induction of peripheral mRNA expression of IFN-stimulated gene 15 production in CHB patients; however, there was no effect on HBV DNA[157]. Immune checkpoint inhibitors have also been studies in chronic viral hepatitis, and a phase Ib clinical study of nivolumab in CHB patients highlighted its tolerance and association with significant decline in HbsAg after a single dose over a 24-wk period[158].

Zaishidena® WJMA | https://www.wjgnet.com

HEPATITIS E

Epidemiology

HEV is a small, nonenveloped virus and belongs to the Hepeviridae family and is further classified into genotypes 1–4 and 7[159]. Globally an estimated 2.2 billion people are infected by HEV with 70 000 deaths attributed to HEV annually[160,161].

HEV is mainly transmitted *via* contaminated water and consumption of undercooked pork or wild boar and other foods, while reports of blood transfusion related transmission has been recently recognized[162,163]. Outbreaks of HEV1 and HEV2 genotypes are documented in areas with inadequate sanitary conditions and lack of access to clean water[164]. The prevalence of anti-HEV IgG in Africa ranges from 4.6% to 10.7%, and 34% to 94% in Asia[165-169]. HEV prevalence is probably underestimated as seen in a large German cohort study, as the majority of practitioners do not regularly test for HEV in the presence of acute hepatitis symptoms; in part, due to lack of high clinical suspicion but also absence of standardized testing, leading to increased morbidity and mortality among susceptible individuals[170].

The diagnosis of HEV infection is often challenging given lack of standardized testing and need for HEV PCR for definitive diagnosis[171-173]. Paradoxically, in immunocompromised hosts who do not mount an adequate antibody response, PCR testing should be the cornerstone of diagnosis[174,175]. There is no US FDA-approved diagnostic test and available serological assays have variable sensitivities and specificities making accurate diagnosis often challenging[176-178].

Clinical presentation: Clinical presentation in HEV is variable, ranging from asymptomatic carriers to fulminant hepatitis. In acute HEV, the incubation period is typically 3-8 wk. followed by a short prodrome leading to a symptomatic phase that can last for several days to weeks (mean 4-6 wk)[179]. HEV can also infect patients with chronic liver disease and can cause decompensation, and lead to high mortality[180-182]. Extrahepatic manifestations of HEV include rash, arthralgias, Guillain-Barré syndrome palsies, and pseudotumor cerebri[183].

Based on the patients' immune response to acute HEV, some may progress to chronic HEV infection, which is defined by persistent elevated aminotransferase levels for at least 3 mo combined with positive serum HEV RNA and consistent histological findings on liver biopsy[182]. Chronic HEV primarily occurs in immunosuppressed patients such as organ transplantation recipients or those with HIV infection, and hemodialysis[184-189].

Infection with HEV, specifically genotype 1, during pregnancy leads to increased risk of adverse outcomes to the fetus such as spontaneous abortion, *in utero* fetal demise, and premature delivery, while placing the mother at risk of severe hepatitis and complications[190]. HEV in pregnancy is associated with eclampsia, hemorrhage, and acute liver failure, and carries a high mortality rate of 15%–25%, especially in the third trimester[182,191].

Treatment: Acute HEV in immunocompetent hosts is self-limiting illness followed by spontaneous clearance and usually does not require treatment[192]. Monotherapy with ribavirin is the current treatment of choice for patients with chronic HEV infection[193]. Three months of ribavirin monotherapy for chronic HEV has been associated with around 78% sustained virological response [194]. No established treatment for HEV is available for pregnant women as ribavirin is contraindicated in pregnancy, hence supportive care is recommended[195,196]. Peg-IFN, as an alternative to ribavirin has shown limited success[197,198]. There is a need for direct-acting novel therapies as HEV remains a serious public health concern particularly among pregnant women and immunocompromised patients. The current efforts for these drug developments are focusing either on the inhibition and manipulation of host components or developing DAA therapies that can target viral enzymes without affecting host components[199].

Hepatitis E vaccine and surveillance programs: The need for hepatitis E vaccine was recognized secondary to its worldwide prevalence and severe complications in high risk populations. Early studies of recombinant vaccines in healthy adults have shown promising results, but study populations have unfortunately not included the high-risk groups who are most susceptible to severe and chronic HEV. A Nepalese randomized, placebo controlled, double blinded , phase 2 clinical trial of a recombinant HEV vaccine given at 0, 1 and 6 mo to 898 patients (*vs* 896 placebo) revealed vaccine efficacy of 88.5% in intention to treat analysis[200]. In a different phase 3 clinical trial, Hecolin (Xiamen Innovax Biotech, China) had 112 604 participants, of which 56302 in the study arm and 56 302 in the placebo arm, received three doses of rHEV and hepatitis B vaccine at 0, 1 and 6 mo respectively. The vaccine efficacy of 95.5% was reported in an intention to treat analysis[201]. This vaccine is only approved and commercially available in China[202].

An HEV vaccine that is available worldwide would reduce the incidence of the infection in endemic areas and also confer protection to travelers[203]. Areas and countries with high prevalence should also focus on improved sanitation, access to clean water with a specific focus on high-risk groups, especially pregnant women and patients with chronic medical conditions[167,204].

CONCLUSION

With the recent advancements in the area of molecular virology, the landscape for the management of viral hepatitis has evolved dramatically. We have a better understanding of the molecular structure of these pathogens and their interplay with our immune system, which has paved the way for novel drugs and therapeutics. While the success of the decade is focused on DAAs as the cure for HCV, the burden of chronic HBV and HDV infections persists as research is ongoing for both a cure for HBV and treatment options for HDV. Drugs that hold promise regarding complete eradication of HBV cccDNA from hepatocytes are under investigation and may be pivotal in complete eradication of the infection in the future. Despite the advancement in the field of serological and PCR testing for HBV, HCV, and HDV, there is a continued need for improvements in screening protocols for these infections. Standardized testing along with options for treatment and vaccination remain areas of interest for HEV. Work continues on implementation of universal vaccination for HAV and HBV, while clinical trials are ongoing for HEV vaccination. There remains a pressing need for increased collaborative efforts to help combat these illnesses, as we continue to learn about the viral hepatitis to fill the gaps in our knowledge.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Ahmed Z, Shetty A, and Kodali S contributed equally to this work; Ahmed Z, Shetty A, Victor DW and Kodali S designed the research study; Ahmed Z Kodali S performed the research; Ahmed Z, Shetty A, Victor DW and Kodali S wrote the manuscript; all authors have read and approve the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors declare no conflict of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Zunirah Ahmed 0000-0002-5205-7805; David W Victor 0000-0003-1414-3128; Sudha Kodali 0000-0003-0352-6019.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: Kerr C P-Editor: Liu JH

REFERENCES

- 1 WHO position paper on hepatitis A vaccines – June 2012. Why Epidemiol Rec 2012; 87: 261-76 [PMID: 22905367]
- 2 Siegl G, Weitz M, Kronauer G. Stability of hepatitis A virus. Intervirology 1984; 22: 218-226 [PMID: 6096294 DOI: 10.1159/000149554
- 3 Rein DB, Stevens G, Flaxman A, Wittenborn JS, Timothy N, Wiktor SZ, Wiersma ST. The global burden of hepatitis a virus in 1990 and 2005. Journal of Hepatol 2014; 1: S303
- Aggarwal R, Goel A. Hepatitis A: epidemiology in resource-poor countries. Curr Opin Infect Dis 2015; 28: 488-496 4 [PMID: 26203853 DOI: 10.1097/QCO.00000000000188]
- 5 Ikobah JM, Okpara HC, Ekanem EE, Udo JJ. Seroprevalence and predictors of hepatitis A infection in Nigerian children. Pan Afr Med J 2015; 20: 120 [PMID: 26090068 DOI: 10.11604/pamj.2015.20.120.5501]
- 6 WHO. The global prevalence of hepatitis A virus infection and susceptibility: a systematic review. 2010. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/70180/WHO ?sequence=1
- WHO. World health statistics 2018: monitoring health for the SDGs, sustainable development goals: World Health Organization; 2018. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/324835/9789241565707-eng.pdf
- El-Shabrawi MH, Kamal NM. Burden of pediatric hepatitis C. World J Gastroenterol 2013; 19: 7880-7888 [PMID: 24307782 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i44.7880]
- Gower E, Estes C, Blach S, Razavi-Shearer K, Razavi H. Global epidemiology and genotype distribution of the hepatitis C virus infection. J Hepatol 2014; 61: S45-S57 [PMID: 25086286 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2014.07.027]
- 10 Escobedo-Meléndez G, Fierro NA, Roman S, Maldonado-González M, Zepeda-Carrillo E, Panduro A. Prevalence of hepatitis A, B and C serological markers in children from western Mexico. Ann Hepatol 2012; 11: 194-201 [PMID: 22345336]
- Verghese VP, Robinson JL. A systematic review of hepatitis E virus infection in children. Clin Infect Dis 2014; 59: 689-11 697 [PMID: 24846637 DOI: 10.1093/cid/ciu371]
- Polaris Observatory Collaborators. Global prevalence, treatment, and prevention of hepatitis B virus infection in 2016: 12



a modelling study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 3: 383-403 [PMID: 29599078 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(18)30056-6]

- Lemon SM. Type A viral hepatitis. New developments in an old disease. N Engl J Med 1985; 313: 1059-1067 [PMID: 13 2413356 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM198510243131706]
- Ciocca M. Clinical course and consequences of hepatitis A infection. Vaccine 2000; 18 Suppl 1: S71-S74 [PMID: 14 10683554 DOI: 10.1016/s0264-410x(99)00470-3]
- Glikson M, Galun E, Oren R, Tur-Kaspa R, Shouval D. Relapsing hepatitis A. Review of 14 cases and literature survey. 15 Medicine (Baltimore) 1992; 71: 14-23 [PMID: 1312659 DOI: 10.1097/00005792-199201000-00002]
- Manka P, Verheyen J, Gerken G, Canbay A. Liver Failure due to Acute Viral Hepatitis (A-E). Visc Med 2016; 32: 80-85 16 [PMID: 27413724 DOI: 10.1159/000444915]
- 17 American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Infectious Diseases. Hepatitis A vaccine recommendations. Pediatrics 2007; 120: 189-199 [PMID: 17606579 DOI: 10.1542/peds.2007-1088]
- 18 Murphy TV, Denniston MM, Hill HA, McDonald M, Klevens MR, Elam-Evans LD, Nelson NP, Iskander J, Ward JD. Progress Toward Eliminating Hepatitis A Disease in the United States. MMWR Suppl 2016; 65: 29-41 [PMID: 26916458 DOI: 10.15585/mmwr.su6501a6]
- Schweitzer A, Horn J, Mikolajczyk RT, Krause G, Ott JJ. Estimations of worldwide prevalence of chronic hepatitis B 19 virus infection: a systematic review of data published between 1965 and 2013. Lancet 2015; 386: 1546-1555 [PMID: 26231459 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)61412-X]
- 20 WHO. Hepatitis B. World Health Organization Fact Sheet No. 204. 2017. Available from: https://www.who.int/newsroom/fact-sheets/detail/hepatitis-b
- 21 Kowdley KV, Wang CC, Welch S, Roberts H, Brosgart CL. Prevalence of chronic hepatitis B among foreign-born persons living in the United States by country of origin. *Hepatology* 2012; 56: 422-433 [PMID: 22105832 DOI: 10.1002/hep.24804]
- 22 Lok AS, McMahon BJ. Chronic hepatitis B: update 2009. *Hepatology* 2009; **50**: 661-662 [PMID: 19714720 DOI: 10.1002/hep.23190]
- 23 Vittal A, Ghany MG. WHO Guidelines for Prevention, Care and Treatment of Individuals Infected with HBV: A US Perspective. Clin Liver Dis 2019; 23: 417-432 [PMID: 31266617 DOI: 10.1016/j.cld.2019.04.008]
- Hou J, Liu Z, Gu F. Epidemiology and Prevention of Hepatitis B Virus Infection. Int J Med Sci 2005; 2: 50-57 [PMID: 24 15968340 DOI: 10.7150/ijms.2.50]
- Abbas Z, Jafri W, Shah SH, Khokhar N, Zuberi SJ; Pakistan Society of Gastroenterology and G. I. Endoscopy. PGS 25 consensus statement on management of hepatitis B virus infection-2003. J Pak Med Assoc 2004; 54: 150-158 [PMID: 15129877
- 26 Hauri AM, Armstrong GL, Hutin YJ. The global burden of disease attributable to contaminated injections given in health care settings. Int J STD AIDS 2004; 15: 7-16 [PMID: 14769164 DOI: 10.1258/095646204322637182]
- Francis DP, Favero MS, Maynard JE. Transmission of hepatitis B virus. Semin Liver Dis 1981; 1: 27-32 [PMID: 7051293 27 DOI: 10.1055/s-2008-10639271
- 28 Davis LG, Weber DJ, Lemon SM. Horizontal transmission of hepatitis B virus. Lancet 1989; 1: 889-893 [PMID: 2564960 DOI: 10.1016/s0140-6736(89)92876-6]
- Degenhardt L, Peacock A, Colledge S, Leung J, Grebely J, Vickerman P, Stone J, Cunningham EB, Trickey A, Dumchev 29 K, Lynskey M, Griffiths P, Mattick RP, Hickman M, Larney S. Global prevalence of injecting drug use and sociodemographic characteristics and prevalence of HIV, HBV, and HCV in people who inject drugs: a multistage systematic review. Lancet Glob Health 2017; 5: e1192-e1207 [PMID: 29074409 DOI: 10.1016/S2214-109X(17)30375-3]
- 30 Chu JJ, Wörmann T, Popp J, Pätzelt G, Akmatov MK, Krämer A, Reintjes R. Changing epidemiology of hepatitis B and migration--a comparison of six Northern and North-Western European countries. Eur J Public Health 2013; 23: 642-647 [PMID: 23132874 DOI: 10.1093/eurpub/cks067]
- Koc ÖM, Kremer C, Bielen R, Buscchots D, Hens N, Nevens F, Robaeys G. Prevalence and risk factors of hepatitis B virus infection in Middle-Limburg Belgium, year 2017: Importance of migration. J Med Virol 2019; 91: 1479-1488 [PMID: 30870580 DOI: 10.1002/jmv.25457]
- 32 Mysore KR, Leung DH. Hepatitis B and C. Clin Liver Dis 2018; 22: 703-722 [PMID: 30266158 DOI: 10.1016/j.cld.2018.06.002
- 33 Beasley RP, Hwang LY, Lee GC, Lan CC, Roan CH, Huang FY, Chen CL. Prevention of perinatally transmitted hepatitis B virus infections with hepatitis B immune globulin and hepatitis B vaccine. Lancet 1983; 2: 1099-1102 [PMID: 6138642] DOI: 10.1016/s0140-6736(83)90624-4]
- 34 McMahon BJ. Natural history of chronic hepatitis B. Clin Liver Dis 2010; 14: 381-396 [PMID: 20638020 DOI: 10.1016/j.cld.2010.05.007]
- 35 Gish RG, Given BD, Lai CL, Locarnini SA, Lau JY, Lewis DL, Schluep T. Chronic hepatitis B: Virology, natural history, current management and a glimpse at future opportunities. Antiviral Res 2015; 121: 47-58 [PMID: 26092643 DOI: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2015.06.008]
- 36 Raimondo G, Pollicino T, Cacciola I, Squadrito G. Occult hepatitis B virus infection. J Hepatol 2007; 46: 160-170 [PMID: 17112622 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2006.10.007]
- 37 Guillevin L, Mahr A, Callard P, Godmer P, Pagnoux C, Leray E, Cohen P; French Vasculitis Study Group. Hepatitis B virus-associated polyarteritis nodosa: clinical characteristics, outcome, and impact of treatment in 115 patients. Medicine (Baltimore) 2005; 84: 313-322 [PMID: 16148731 DOI: 10.1097/01.md.0000180792.80212.5e]
- Gupta A, Quigg RJ. Glomerular Diseases Associated With Hepatitis B and C. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis 2015; 22: 343-351 38 [PMID: 26311595 DOI: 10.1053/j.ackd.2015.06.003]
- 39 Han SH. Extrahepatic manifestations of chronic hepatitis B. Clin Liver Dis 2004; 8: 403-418 [PMID: 15481347 DOI: 10.1016/j.cld.2004.02.003]
- 40 Kappus MR, Sterling RK. Extrahepatic manifestations of acute hepatitis B virus infection. Gastroenterol Hepatol (NY) 2013; 9: 123-126 [PMID: 23983659]



- 41 Hsu YS, Chien RN, Yeh CT, Sheen IS, Chiou HY, Chu CM, Liaw YF. Long-term outcome after spontaneous HBeAg seroconversion in patients with chronic hepatitis B. Hepatology 2002; 35: 1522-1527 [PMID: 12029639 DOI: 10.1053/jhep.2002.33638]
- 42 Liaw YF. HBeAg seroconversion as an important end point in the treatment of chronic hepatitis B. Hepatol Int 2009; 3: 425-433 [PMID: 19669245 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-009-9140-3]
- 43 Hui CK, Leung N, Shek TW, Yao H, Lee WK, Lai JY, Lai ST, Wong WM, Lai LS, Poon RT, Lo CM, Fan ST, Lau GK; Hong Kong Liver Fibrosis Study Group. Sustained disease remission after spontaneous HBeAg seroconversion is associated with reduction in fibrosis progression in chronic hepatitis B Chinese patients. Hepatology 2007; 46: 690-698 [PMID: 17680649 DOI: 10.1002/hep.21758]
- 44 McMahon BJ. The natural history of chronic hepatitis B virus infection. Hepatology 2009; 49: S45-S55 [PMID: 19399792 DOI: 10.1002/hep.22898]
- 45 Terrault NA, Lok ASF, McMahon BJ, Chang KM, Hwang JP, Jonas MM, Brown RS Jr, Bzowej NH, Wong JB. Update on prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of chronic hepatitis B: AASLD 2018 hepatitis B guidance. Hepatology 2018; 67: 1560-1599 [PMID: 29405329 DOI: 10.1002/hep.29800]
- Kramvis A, Kew M, François G. Hepatitis B virus genotypes. Vaccine 2005; 23: 2409-2423 [PMID: 15752827 DOI: 46 10.1016/j.vaccine.2004.10.045]
- Yan H, Zhong G, Xu G, He W, Jing Z, Gao Z, Huang Y, Qi Y, Peng B, Wang H, Fu L, Song M, Chen P, Gao W, Ren B, 47 Sun Y, Cai T, Feng X, Sui J, Li W. Sodium taurocholate cotransporting polypeptide is a functional receptor for human hepatitis B and D virus. Elife 2012; 3 [PMID: 25409679 DOI: 10.7554/eLife.00049]
- Revill PA, Locarnini SA. New perspectives on the hepatitis B virus life cycle in the human liver. J Clin Invest 2016; 126: 48 833-836 [PMID: 26901815 DOI: 10.1172/JCI86650]
- Nassal M. HBV cccDNA: viral persistence reservoir and key obstacle for a cure of chronic hepatitis B. Gut 2015; 64: 49 1972-1984 [PMID: 26048673 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2015-309809]
- 50 Pollicino T, Saitta C. Occult hepatitis B virus and hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 5951-5961 [PMID: 24876718 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i20.5951]
- Raimondo G, Pollicino T. Occult HBV infection. Hepatitis B Virus in Human Diseases: Springer; 2016; 277-301. 51 Available from: https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-319-22330-8 13
- 52 Wieland S, Thimme R, Purcell RH, Chisari FV. Genomic analysis of the host response to hepatitis B virus infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004; 101: 6669-6674 [PMID: 15100412 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0401771101]
- Wieland SF, Chisari FV. Stealth and cunning: hepatitis B and hepatitis C viruses. J Virol 2005; 79: 9369-9380 [PMID: 53 16014900 DOI: 10.1128/JVI.79.15.9369-9380.2005]
- Boeijen LL, Hoogeveen RC, Boonstra A, Lauer GM. Hepatitis B virus infection and the immune response: The big 54 questions. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2017; 31: 265-272 [PMID: 28774408 DOI: 10.1016/j.bpg.2017.05.003]
- Ferrari C. HBV and the immune response. Liver Int 2015; 35 Suppl 1: 121-128 [PMID: 25529097 DOI: 55 10.1111/liv.12749
- 56 Hong M, Sandalova E, Low D, Gehring AJ, Fieni S, Amadei B, Urbani S, Chong YS, Guccione E, Bertoletti A. Trained immunity in newborn infants of HBV-infected mothers. Nat Commun 2015; 6: 6588 [PMID: 25807344 DOI: 10.1038/ncomms7588]
- Loomba R, Liang TJ. Hepatitis B Reactivation Associated With Immune Suppressive and Biological Modifier Therapies: 57 Current Concepts, Management Strategies, and Future Directions. Gastroenterology 2017; 152: 1297-1309 [PMID: 28219691 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.02.009]
- 58 Muraskin W. The last years of the CVI and the birth of the GAVI. Public-private partnerships for public health. 2002: 115-168. Available from: https://cdn1.sph.harvard.edu/wpcontent/uploads/sites/480/2012/09/Partnerships book.pdf#page=126
- Aslam A, Ishtiaq R, Lau DTY. Timely Administration of Birth Dose Hepatitis B Virus Vaccine May Break the Chain of 59 Perinatal Transmission. Hepatology 2019; 69: 2284-2286 [PMID: 30372542 DOI: 10.1002/hep.30332]
- 60 Implementation of hepatitis B birth dose vaccination – worldwide, 2016. Wkly Epidemiol Rec 2018; 93: 61-72 [PMID: 29450989]
- 61 Robinson CL, Bernstein H, Poehling K, Romero JR, Szilagyi P. Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices Recommended Immunization Schedule for Children and Adolescents Aged 18 Years or Younger - United States, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020; 69: 130-132 [PMID: 32027628 DOI: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6905a3]
- 62 Liu J, Liu M. [Progress and challenges in achieving the WHO goal on 'Elimination of Hepatitis B by 2030' in China]. Zhonghua Liu Xing Bing Xue Za Zhi 2019; 40: 605-609 [PMID: 31238605 DOI: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0254-6450.2019.06.001]
- van Gemert C, Wang J, Simmons J, Cowie B, Boyle D, Stoove M, Enright C, Hellard M. Improving the identification of 63 priority populations to increase hepatitis B testing rates, 2012. BMC Public Health 2016; 16: 95 [PMID: 26832144 DOI: 10.1186/s12889-016-2716-7]
- 64 Howell J, Pedrana A, Cowie BC, Doyle J, Getahun A, Ward J, Gane E, Cunningham C, Wallace J, Lee A, Malani J, Thompson A, Hellard ME. Aiming for the elimination of viral hepatitis in Australia, New Zealand, and the Pacific Islands and Territories: Where are we now and barriers to meeting World Health Organization targets by 2030. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 34: 40-48 [PMID: 30151932 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.14457]
- Yeo YH, Nguyen MH. Review article: current gaps and opportunities in HBV prevention, testing and linkage to care in 65 the United States-a call for action. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2021; 53: 63-78 [PMID: 33222252 DOI: 10.1111/apt.16125]
- Nayagam S, Thursz M, Sicuri E, Conteh L, Wiktor S, Low-Beer D, Hallett TB. Requirements for global elimination of 66 hepatitis B: a modelling study. Lancet Infect Dis 2016; 16: 1399-1408 [PMID: 27638356 DOI: 10.1016/S1473-3099(16)30204-3]
- Block TM, Gish R, Guo H, Mehta A, Cuconati A, Thomas London W, Guo JT. Chronic hepatitis B: what should be the 67 goal for new therapies? Antiviral Res 2013; 98: 27-34 [PMID: 23391846 DOI: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2013.01.006]
- Evans AA, London WT, Gish RG, Cohen C, Block TM. Chronic HBV infection outside treatment guidelines: is treatment



needed? Antivir Ther 2013; 18: 229-235 [PMID: 22914436 DOI: 10.3851/IMP2325]

- 69 Liaw YF, Leung N, Guan R, Lau GK, Merican I, McCaughan G, Gane E, Kao JH, Omata M; Asian-Pacific consensus update working party on chronic hepatitis B. Asian-Pacific consensus statement on the management of chronic hepatitis B: a 2005 update. Liver Int 2005; 25: 472-489 [PMID: 15910483 DOI: 10.1111/j.1478-3231.2005.01134.x]
- 70 Viganò M, Lampertico P. Clinical implications of HBsAg quantification in patients with chronic hepatitis B. Saudi J Gastroenterol 2012; 18: 81-86 [PMID: 22421711 DOI: 10.4103/1319-3767.93805]
- Stone D, Niyonzima N, Jerome KR. Genome editing and the next generation of antiviral therapy. Hum Genet 2016; 135: 71 1071-1082 [PMID: 27272125 DOI: 10.1007/s00439-016-1686-2]
- 72 Kennedy EM, Kornepati AV, Cullen BR. Targeting hepatitis B virus cccDNA using CRISPR/Cas9. Antiviral Res 2015; 123: 188-192 [PMID: 26476375 DOI: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2015.10.004]
- Ramanan V, Shlomai A, Cox DB, Schwartz RE, Michailidis E, Bhatta A, Scott DA, Zhang F, Rice CM, Bhatia SN. 73 CRISPR/Cas9 cleavage of viral DNA efficiently suppresses hepatitis B virus. Sci Rep 2015; 5: 10833 [PMID: 26035283 DOI: 10.1038/srep10833]
- 74 Dong C, Qu L, Wang H, Wei L, Dong Y, Xiong S. Targeting hepatitis B virus cccDNA by CRISPR/Cas9 nuclease efficiently inhibits viral replication. Antiviral Res 2015; 118: 110-117 [PMID: 25843425 DOI: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2015.03.015]
- Stone D, Long KR, Loprieno MA, De Silva Feelixge HS, Kenkel EJ, Liley RM, Rapp S, Roychoudhury P, Nguyen T, 75 Stensland L, Colón-Thillet R, Klouser LM, Weber ND, Le C, Wagoner J, Goecker EA, Li AZ, Eichholz K, Corey L, Tyrrell DL, Greninger AL, Huang ML, Polyak SJ, Aubert M, Sagartz JE, Jerome KR. CRISPR-Cas9 gene editing of hepatitis B virus in chronically infected humanized mice. Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev 2021; 20: 258-275 [PMID: 33473359 DOI: 10.1016/j.omtm.2020.11.014]
- Li H, Sheng C, Wang S, Yang L, Liang Y, Huang Y, Liu H, Li P, Yang C, Yang X, Jia L, Xie J, Wang L, Hao R, Du X, 76 Xu D, Zhou J, Li M, Sun Y, Tong Y, Li Q, Qiu S, Song H. Removal of Integrated Hepatitis B Virus DNA Using CRISPR-Cas9. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2017; 7: 91 [PMID: 28382278 DOI: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00091]
- 77 European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL 2017 Clinical Practice Guidelines on the management of hepatitis B virus infection. J Hepatol 2017; 67: 370-398 [PMID: 28427875 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2017.03.021]
- Roudot-Thoraval F. Epidemiology of hepatitis C virus infection. Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol 2021; 45: 101596 78 [PMID: 33610022 DOI: 10.1016/j.clinre.2020.101596]
- 79 Polaris Observatory HCV Collaborators. Global prevalence and genotype distribution of hepatitis C virus infection in 2015: a modelling study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017; 2: 161-176 [PMID: 28404132 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(16)30181-9]
- Preciado MV, Valva P, Escobar-Gutierrez A, Rahal P, Ruiz-Tovar K, Yamasaki L, Vazquez-Chacon C, Martinez-80 Guarneros A, Carpio-Pedroza JC, Fonseca-Coronado S, Cruz-Rivera M. Hepatitis C virus molecular evolution: transmission, disease progression and antiviral therapy. World J Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 15992-16013 [PMID: 25473152 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i43.15992]
- Yang S, Wang D, Zhang Y, Yu C, Ren J, Xu K, Deng M, Tian G, Ding C, Cao Q, Li Y, Chen P, Xie T, Wang C, Wang B, 81 Yao J, Threapleton D, Mao C, Ruan B, Li L. Transmission of Hepatitis B and C Virus Infection Through Body Piercing: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2015; 94: e1893 [PMID: 26632685 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000001893]
- 82 Fernandez N, Towers CV, Wolfe L, Hennessy MD, Weitz B, Porter S. Sharing of Snorting Straws and Hepatitis C Virus Infection in Pregnant Women. Obstet Gynecol 2016; 128: 234-237 [PMID: 27400008 DOI: 10.1097/AOG.000000000001507
- Prasad MR, Honegger JR. Hepatitis C virus in pregnancy. Am J Perinatol 2013; 30: 149-159 [PMID: 23389935 DOI: 83 10.1055/s-0033-1334459
- Schmelzer J, Dugan E, Blach S, Coleman S, Cai Z, DePaola M, Estes C, Gamkrelidze I, Jerabek K, Ma S, Montoya S, 84 Razavi-Shearer D, Razavi-Shearer K, Robbins-Scott S, Razavi H, El Sayed MH. Global prevalence of hepatitis C virus in children in 2018: a modelling study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 5: 374-392 [PMID: 31954439 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(19)30385-1
- 85 He Q, He Q, Qin X, Li S, Li T, Xie L, Deng Y, He Y, Chen Y, Wei Z. The Relationship between Inflammatory Marker Levels and Hepatitis C Virus Severity. Gastroenterol Res Pract 2016; 2016: 2978479 [PMID: 28090206 DOI: 10.1155/2016/2978479
- Ringelhan M, McKeating JA, Protzer U. Viral hepatitis and liver cancer. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 2017; 372 86 [PMID: 28893941 DOI: 10.1098/rstb.2016.0274]
- Negro F, Forton D, Craxì A, Sulkowski MS, Feld JJ, Manns MP. Extrahepatic morbidity and mortality of chronic 87 hepatitis C. Gastroenterology 2015; 149: 1345-1360 [PMID: 26319013 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.08.035]
- Wang CC, Cheng PN, Kao JH. Systematic review: chronic viral hepatitis and metabolic derangement. Aliment Pharmacol 88 Ther 2020; 51: 216-230 [PMID: 31746482 DOI: 10.1111/apt.15575]
- 89 Cacoub P, Comarmond C, Domont F, Savey L, Desbois AC, Saadoun D. Extrahepatic manifestations of chronic hepatitis C virus infection. Ther Adv Infect Dis 2016; 3: 3-14 [PMID: 26862398 DOI: 10.1177/2049936115585942]
- 90 Younossi Z, Park H, Henry L, Adeyemi A, Stepanova M. Extrahepatic Manifestations of Hepatitis C: A Meta-analysis of Prevalence, Quality of Life, and Economic Burden. Gastroenterology 2016; 150: 1599-1608 [PMID: 26924097 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2016.02.039]
- 91 WHO. World Health Organization. Global Health Sector Strategies on Viral Hepatitis 2016-2021 2016. Available from: http://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf files/WHA69/A69 32-en.pdf?ua=1
- 92 Park H, Wang W, Henry L, Nelson DR. Impact of All-Oral Direct-Acting Antivirals on Clinical and Economic Outcomes in Patients With Chronic Hepatitis C in the United States. Hepatology 2019; 69: 1032-1045 [PMID: 30289989 DOI: 10.1002/hep.30303]
- 93 Das D, Pandya M. Recent Advancement of Direct-acting Antiviral Agents (DAAs) in Hepatitis C Therapy. Mini Rev Med Chem 2018; 18: 584-596 [PMID: 28901852 DOI: 10.2174/1389557517666170913111930]



- 94 Dore GJ, Feld JJ. Hepatitis C virus therapeutic development: in pursuit of "perfectovir". Clin Infect Dis 2015; 60: 1829-1836 [PMID: 25761867 DOI: 10.1093/cid/civ197]
- Falade-Nwulia O, Suarez-Cuervo C, Nelson DR, Fried MW, Segal JB, Sulkowski MS. Oral Direct-Acting Agent Therapy 95 for Hepatitis C Virus Infection: A Systematic Review. Ann Intern Med 2017; 166: 637-648 [PMID: 28319996 DOI: 10.7326/M16-2575
- Mohamed AA, El-Toukhy NER, Said EM, Gabal HMR, AbdelAziz H, Doss W, El-Hanafi H, El Deeb HH, Mahmoud S, 96 Elkadeem M, Shalby HS, Abd-Elsalam S. Hepatitis C Virus: Efficacy of New DAAs Regimens. Infect Disord Drug Targets 2020; 20: 143-149 [PMID: 30663575 DOI: 10.2174/1871526519666190121114003]
- 97 Denniston MM, Klevens RM, McQuillan GM, Jiles RB. Awareness of infection, knowledge of hepatitis C, and medical follow-up among individuals testing positive for hepatitis C: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2001-2008. Hepatology 2012; 55: 1652-1661 [PMID: 22213025 DOI: 10.1002/hep.25556]
- 98 Udompap P, Mannalithara A, Heo NY, Kim D, Kim WR. Increasing prevalence of cirrhosis among U.S. adults aware or unaware of their chronic hepatitis C virus infection. J Hepatol 2016; 64: 1027-1032 [PMID: 26809112 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2016.01.009]
- Shehata N, Austin T, Ha S, Timmerman K. Barriers to and facilitators of hepatitis C virus screening and testing: A 99 scoping review. Can Commun Dis Rep 2018; 44: 166-172 [PMID: 31011297 DOI: 10.14745/ccdr.v44i78a03]
- Zhang G, Patel K, Moghe A, Reid A, Serper M, Calgaro L, Gibson S, Zickmund S, Shaikh O, Rogal S. Provider 100 Perceptions of Hepatitis C Treatment Adherence and Initiation. Dig Dis Sci 2020; 65: 1324-1333 [PMID: 31642008 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-019-05877-z]
- 101 El Kassas M, Elbaz T, Elsharkawy A, Omar H, Esmat G. HCV in Egypt, prevention, treatment and key barriers to elimination. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther 2018; 16: 345-350 [PMID: 29506418 DOI: 10.1080/14787210.2018.1448709]
- 102 Blach S, Sanai FM. HCV Burden and Barriers to Elimination in the Middle East. Clin Liver Dis (Hoboken) 2019; 14: 224-227 [PMID: 32015874 DOI: 10.1002/cld.897]
- 103 Ishizaki A, Bouscaillou J, Luhmann N, Liu S, Chua R, Walsh N, Hess S, Ivanova E, Roberts T, Easterbrook P. Survey of programmatic experiences and challenges in delivery of hepatitis B and C testing in low- and middle-income countries. BMC Infect Dis 2017; 17: 696 [PMID: 29143609 DOI: 10.1186/s12879-017-2767-0]
- 104 Karoney MJ, Siika AM. Hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection in Africa: a review. Pan Afr Med J 2013; 14: 44 [PMID: 23560127 DOI: 10.11604/pamj.2013.14.44.2199]
- 105 Friis RH, Sellers T. Epidemiology for public health practice: Jones & Bartlett Learning; 2020
- Zuure FR, Urbanus AT, Langendam MW, Helsper CW, van den Berg CH, Davidovich U, Prins M. Outcomes of hepatitis 106 C screening programs targeted at risk groups hidden in the general population: a systematic review. BMC Public Health 2014; 14: 66 [PMID: 24450797 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-66]
- 107 Kim DD, Hutton DW, Raouf AA, Salama M, Hablas A, Seifeldin IA, Soliman AS. Cost-effectiveness model for hepatitis C screening and treatment: Implications for Egypt and other countries with high prevalence. Glob Public Health 2015; 10: 296-317 [PMID: 25469976 DOI: 10.1080/17441692.2014.984742]
- Deuffic-Burban S, Huneau A, Verleene A, Brouard C, Pillonel J, Le Strat Y, Cossais S, Roudot-Thoraval F, Canva V, 108 Mathurin P, Dhumeaux D, Yazdanpanah Y. Assessing the cost-effectiveness of hepatitis C screening strategies in France. J Hepatol 2018; 69: 785-792 [PMID: 30227916 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.05.027]
- 109 Lozano R, Naghavi M, Foreman K, Lim S, Shibuya K, Aboyans V, Abraham J, Adair T, Aggarwal R, Ahn SY, Alvarado M, Anderson HR, Anderson LM, Andrews KG, Atkinson C, Baddour LM, Barker-Collo S, Bartels DH, Bell ML, Benjamin EJ, Bennett D, Bhalla K, Bikbov B, Bin Abdulhak A, Birbeck G, Blyth F, Bolliger I, Boufous S, Bucello C, Burch M, Burney P, Carapetis J, Chen H, Chou D, Chugh SS, Coffeng LE, Colan SD, Colquhoun S, Colson KE, Condon J, Connor MD, Cooper LT, Corriere M, Cortinovis M, de Vaccaro KC, Couser W, Cowie BC, Criqui MH, Cross M, Dabhadkar KC, Dahodwala N, De Leo D, Degenhardt L, Delossantos A, Denenberg J, Des Jarlais DC, Dharmaratne SD, Dorsey ER, Driscoll T, Duber H, Ebel B, Erwin PJ, Espindola P, Ezzati M, Feigin V, Flaxman AD, Forouzanfar MH, Fowkes FG, Franklin R, Fransen M, Freeman MK, Gabriel SE, Gakidou E, Gaspari F, Gillum RF, Gonzalez-Medina D, Halasa YA, Haring D, Harrison JE, Havmoeller R, Hay RJ, Hoen B, Hotez PJ, Hoy D, Jacobsen KH, James SL, Jasrasaria R, Jayaraman S, Johns N, Karthikeyan G, Kassebaum N, Keren A, Khoo JP, Knowlton LM, Kobusingye O, Koranteng A, Krishnamurthi R, Lipnick M, Lipshultz SE, Ohno SL, Mabweijano J, MacIntyre MF, Mallinger L, March L, Marks GB, Marks R, Matsumori A, Matzopoulos R, Mayosi BM, McAnulty JH, McDermott MM, McGrath J, Mensah GA, Merriman TR, Michaud C, Miller M, Miller TR, Mock C, Mocumbi AO, Mokdad AA, Moran A, Mulholland K, Nair MN, Naldi L, Narayan KM, Nasseri K, Norman P, O'Donnell M, Omer SB, Ortblad K, Osborne R, Ozgediz D, Pahari B, Pandian JD, Rivero AP, Padilla RP, Perez-Ruiz F, Perico N, Phillips D, Pierce K, Pope CA 3rd, Porrini E, Pourmalek F, Raju M, Ranganathan D, Rehm JT, Rein DB, Remuzzi G, Rivara FP, Roberts T, De León FR, Rosenfeld LC, Rushton L, Sacco RL, Salomon JA, Sampson U, Sanman E, Schwebel DC, Segui-Gomez M, Shepard DS, Singh D, Singleton J, Sliwa K, Smith E, Steer A, Taylor JA, Thomas B, Tleyjeh IM, Towbin JA, Truelsen T, Undurraga EA, Venketasubramanian N, Vijayakumar L, Vos T, Wagner GR, Wang M, Wang W, Watt K, Weinstock MA, Weintraub R, Wilkinson JD, Woolf AD, Wulf S, Yeh PH, Yip P, Zabetian A, Zheng ZJ, Lopez AD, Murray CJ, AlMazroa MA, Memish ZA. Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet 2012; 380: 2095-2128 [PMID: 23245604 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61728-0]
- 110 Hickman M, Martin NK, Giraudon I, Wiessing L, Hedrich D, Kalamara E, et al. Hepatitis C among drug users in Europe: epidemiology, treatment and prevention. Publication Office of the European Union; 2016
- Grebely J, Tyndall MW. Management of HCV and HIV infections among people who inject drugs. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 111 2011; 6: 501-507 [PMID: 22001894 DOI: 10.1097/COH.0b013e32834bcb36]
- 112 National Institutes of Health. National Institutes of Health Consensus Development Conference Statement: Management of hepatitis C: 2002--June 10-12, 2002. Hepatology 2002; 36: S3-20 [PMID: 12407572 DOI: 10.1053/jhep.2002.37117]
- 113 Bruggmann P, Falcato L, Dober S, Helbling B, Keiser O, Negro F, Meili D; Swiss Hepatitis C Cohort Study. Active intravenous drug use during chronic hepatitis C therapy does not reduce sustained virological response rates in adherent patients. J Viral Hepat 2008; 15: 747-752 [PMID: 18637072 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2893.2008.01010.x]



- 114 Grassi A, Ballardini G. Hepatitis C in injection drug users: It is time to treat. World J Gastroenterol 2017; 23: 3569-3571 [PMID: 28611509 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i20.3569]
- 115 Aspinall EJ, Corson S, Doyle JS, Grebely J, Hutchinson SJ, Dore GJ, Goldberg DJ, Hellard ME. Treatment of hepatitis C virus infection among people who are actively injecting drugs: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Infect Dis 2013; 57 Suppl 2: S80-S89 [PMID: 23884071 DOI: 10.1093/cid/cit306]
- 116 Grebely J, Dalgard O, Conway B, Cunningham EB, Bruggmann P, Hajarizadeh B, Amin J, Bruneau J, Hellard M, Litwin AH, Marks P, Quiene S, Siriragavan S, Applegate TL, Swan T, Byrne J, Lacalamita M, Dunlop A, Matthews GV, Powis J, Shaw D, Thurnheer MC, Weltman M, Kronborg I, Cooper C, Feld JJ, Fraser C, Dillon JF, Read P, Gane E, Dore GJ; SIMPLIFY Study Group. Sofosbuvir and velpatasvir for hepatitis C virus infection in people with recent injection drug use (SIMPLIFY): an open-label, single-arm, phase 4, multicentre trial. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 3: 153-161 [PMID: 29310928 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(17)30404-1]
- 117 Page K, Morris MD, Hahn JA, Maher L, Prins M. Injection drug use and hepatitis C virus infection in young adult injectors: using evidence to inform comprehensive prevention. Clin Infect Dis 2013; 57 Suppl 2: S32-S38 [PMID: 23884063 DOI: 10.1093/cid/cit300]
- 118 Wiessing L, Ferri M, Grady B, Kantzanou M, Sperle I, Cullen KJ; EMCDDA DRID group, Hatzakis A, Prins M, Vickerman P, Lazarus JV, Hope VD, Matheï C. Hepatitis C virus infection epidemiology among people who inject drugs in Europe: a systematic review of data for scaling up treatment and prevention. PLoS One 2014; 9: e103345 [PMID: 25068274 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0103345]
- 119 Grebely J, Dore GJ, Morin S, Rockstroh JK, Klein MB. Elimination of HCV as a public health concern among people who inject drugs by 2030 - What will it take to get there? J Int AIDS Soc 2017; 20: 22146 [PMID: 28782335 DOI: 10.7448/IAS.20.1.22146]
- Nelson NP, Jamieson DJ, Murphy TV. Prevention of Perinatal Hepatitis B Virus Transmission. J Pediatric Infect Dis Soc 120 2014; 3 Suppl 1: S7-S12 [PMID: 25232477 DOI: 10.1093/jpids/piu064]
- 121 Coppola N, De Pascalis S, Onorato L, Calò F, Sagnelli C, Sagnelli E. Hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus infection in healthcare workers. World J Hepatol 2016; 8: 273-281 [PMID: 26925201 DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v8.i5.273]
- Moorman AC, de Perio MA, Goldschmidt R, Chu C, Kuhar D, Henderson DK, Naggie S, Kamili S, Spradling PR, 122 Gordon SC, Russi MB, Teshale EH. Testing and Clinical Management of Health Care Personnel Potentially Exposed to Hepatitis C Virus - CDC Guidance, United States, 2020. MMWR Recomm Rep 2020; 69: 1-8 [PMID: 32701942 DOI: 10.15585/mmwr.rr6906a1]
- 123 Zarski JP, Leroy V. Counselling patients with hepatitis C. J Hepatol 1999; 31 Suppl 1: 136-140 [PMID: 10622576 DOI: 10.1016/s0168-8278(99)80390-0
- 124 Pol S, Haour G, Fontaine H, Dorival C, Petrov-Sanchez V, Bourliere M, Capeau J, Carrieri P, Larrey D, Larsen C, Marcellin P, Pawlostky JM, Nahon P, Zoulim F, Cacoub P, de Ledinghen V, Mathurin P, Negro F, Pageaux GP, Yazdanpanah Y, Wittkop L, Zarski JP, Carrat F: French Anrs Co22 Hepather Cohort, The negative impact of HBV/HCV coinfection on cirrhosis and its consequences. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2017; 46: 1054-1060 [PMID: 28994127 DOI: 10.1111/apt.14352
- Senturk H, Tahan V, Canbakan B, Uraz S, Ulger Y, Ozaras R, Tabak F, Mert A, Ozbay G. Chronic hepatitis C responds 125 poorly to combination therapy in chronic hepatis B carriers. Neth J Med 2008; 66: 191-195 [PMID: 18490796]
- 126 Sagnelli E, Sagnelli C, Macera M, Pisaturo M, Coppola N. An update on the treatment options for HBV/HCV coinfection. Expert Opin Pharmacother 2017; 18: 1691-1702 [PMID: 29081251 DOI: 10.1080/14656566.2017.1398233]
- Cho LY, Yang JJ, Ko KP, Park B, Shin A, Lim MK, Oh JK, Park S, Kim YJ, Shin HR, Yoo KY, Park SK. Coinfection of 127 hepatitis B and C viruses and risk of hepatocellular carcinoma: systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Cancer 2011; 128: 176-184 [PMID: 20232388 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.25321]
- 128 Mavilia MG, Wu GY. HBV-HCV Coinfection: Viral Interactions, Management, and Viral Reactivation. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2018; 6: 296-305 [PMID: 30271742 DOI: 10.14218/JCTH.2018.00016]
- Raimondo G, Brunetto MR, Pontisso P, Smedile A, Maina AM, Saitta C, Squadrito G, Tono N; Associazione Italiana 129 Studio Fegato Cooperative Group. Longitudinal evaluation reveals a complex spectrum of virological profiles in hepatitis B virus/hepatitis C virus-coinfected patients. *Hepatology* 2006; 43: 100-107 [PMID: 16323213 DOI: 10.1002/hep.20944]
- 130 Maiwall R, Kumar M. Prevention and Treatment of Recurrent Hepatitis B after Liver Transplantation. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2016; 4: 54-65 [PMID: 27047773 DOI: 10.14218/JCTH.2015.00041]
- 131 Garcia-Retortillo M, Forns X, Feliu A, Moitinho E, Costa J, Navasa M, Rimola A, Rodes J. Hepatitis C virus kinetics during and immediately after liver transplantation. Hepatology 2002; 35: 680-687 [PMID: 11870384 DOI: 10.1053/jhep.2002.31773]
- 132 Mentha N, Clément S, Negro F, Alfaiate D. A review on hepatitis D: From virology to new therapies. J Adv Res 2019; 17: 3-15 [PMID: 31193285 DOI: 10.1016/j.jare.2019.03.009]
- Chen HY, Shen DT, Ji DZ, Han PC, Zhang WM, Ma JF, Chen WS, Goyal H, Pan S, Xu HG. Prevalence and burden of 133 hepatitis D virus infection in the global population: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Gut 2019; 68: 512-521 [PMID: 30228220 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2018-316601]
- 134 Liaw YF, Chiu KW, Chu CM, Sheen IS, Huang MJ. Heterosexual transmission of hepatitis delta virus in the general population of an area endemic for hepatitis B virus infection: a prospective study. J Infect Dis 1990; 162: 1170-1172 [PMID: 2121838 DOI: 10.1093/infdis/162.5.1170]
- Weisfuse IB, Hadler SC, Fields HA, Alter MJ, O'Malley PM, Judson FN, Ostrow DG, Altman NL. Delta hepatitis in 135 homosexual men in the United States. Hepatology 1989; 9: 872-874 [PMID: 2714738 DOI: 10.1002/hep.1840090614]
- 136 Smedile A, Farci P, Verme G, Caredda F, Cargnel A, Caporaso N, Dentico P, Trepo C, Opolon P, Gimson A, Vergani D, Williams R, Rizzetto M. Influence of delta infection on severity of hepatitis B. Lancet 1982; 2: 945-947 [PMID: 6127458 DOI: 10.1016/s0140-6736(82)90156-8]
- 137 Farci P. Delta hepatitis: an update. J Hepatol 2003; 39 Suppl 1: S212-S219 [PMID: 14708706 DOI: 10.1016/s0168-8278(03)00331-31
- Smedile A, Dentico P, Zanetti A, Sagnelli E, Nordenfelt E, Actis GC, Rizzetto M. Infection with the delta agent in chronic 138



HBsAg carriers. Gastroenterology 1981; 81: 992-997 [PMID: 7286594]

- Shah PA, Choudhry S, Reyes KJC, Lau DTY. An update on the management of chronic hepatitis D. Gastroenterol Rep 139 (Oxf) 2019; 7: 396-402 [PMID: 32494363 DOI: 10.1093/gastro/goz052]
- 140 Patel EU, Thio CL, Boon D, Thomas DL, Tobian AAR. Prevalence of Hepatitis B and Hepatitis D Virus Infections in the United States, 2011-2016. Clin Infect Dis 2019; 69: 709-712 [PMID: 30605508 DOI: 10.1093/cid/ciz001]
- 141 Kushner T, Serper M, Kaplan DE. Delta hepatitis within the Veterans Affairs medical system in the United States: Prevalence, risk factors, and outcomes. J Hepatol 2015; 63: 586-592 [PMID: 25962883 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2015.04.025]
- 142 Ahn J, Gish RG. Hepatitis D Virus: A Call to Screening. Gastroenterol Hepatol (N Y) 2014; 10: 647-686 [PMID: 275403361
- Sarin SK, Kumar M, Lau GK, Abbas Z, Chan HL, Chen CJ, Chen DS, Chen HL, Chen PJ, Chien RN, Dokmeci AK, 143 Gane E, Hou JL, Jafri W, Jia J, Kim JH, Lai CL, Lee HC, Lim SG, Liu CJ, Locarnini S, Al Mahtab M, Mohamed R, Omata M, Park J, Piratvisuth T, Sharma BC, Sollano J, Wang FS, Wei L, Yuen MF, Zheng SS, Kao JH. Asian-Pacific clinical practice guidelines on the management of hepatitis B: a 2015 update. Hepatol Int 2016; 10: 1-98 [PMID: 26563120 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-015-9675-4]
- Yurdaydin C. Treatment of chronic delta hepatitis. Semin Liver Dis 2012; 32: 237-244 [PMID: 22932972 DOI: 144 10.1055/s-0032-1323629]
- 145 Niro GA, Rosina F, Rizzetto M. Treatment of hepatitis D. J Viral Hepat 2005; 12: 2-9 [PMID: 15655042 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2893.2005.00601.x
- Castelnau C, Le Gal F, Ripault MP, Gordien E, Martinot-Peignoux M, Boyer N, Pham BN, Maylin S, Bedossa P, Dény P, 146 Marcellin P, Gault E. Efficacy of peginterferon alpha-2b in chronic hepatitis delta: relevance of quantitative RT-PCR for follow-up. Hepatology 2006; 44: 728-735 [PMID: 16941695 DOI: 10.1002/hep.21325]
- 147 Wedemeyer H, Yurdaydin C, Dalekos GN, Erhardt A, Çakaloğlu Y, Değertekin H, Gürel S, Zeuzem S, Zachou K, Bozkaya H, Koch A, Bock T, Dienes HP, Manns MP; HIDIT Study Group. Peginterferon plus adefovir versus either drug alone for hepatitis delta. N Engl J Med 2011; 364: 322-331 [PMID: 21268724 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa0912696]
- 148 Kaymakoglu S, Karaca C, Demir K, Poturoglu S, Danalioglu A, Badur S, Bozaci M, Besisik F, Cakaloglu Y, Okten A. Alpha interferon and ribavirin combination therapy of chronic hepatitis D. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2005; 49: 1135-1138 [PMID: 15728914 DOI: 10.1128/AAC.49.3.1135-1138.2005]
- 149 Yurdaydin C, Bozkaya H, Onder FO, Sentürk H, Karaaslan H, Akdoğan M, Cetinkaya H, Erden E, Erkan-Esin O, Yalçin K, Bozdayi AM, Schinazi RF, Gerin JL, Uzunalimoğlu O, Ozden A. Treatment of chronic delta hepatitis with lamivudine vs lamivudine + interferon vs interferon. J Viral Hepat 2008; 15: 314-321 [PMID: 18307594 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2893.2007.00936.x
- 150 Canbakan B, Senturk H, Tabak F, Akdogan M, Tahan V, Mert A, Sut N, Ozaras R, Midilli K, Ozbay G. Efficacy of interferon alpha-2b and lamivudine combination treatment in comparison to interferon alpha-2b alone in chronic delta hepatitis: a randomized trial. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2006; 21: 657-663 [PMID: 16677149 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2006.04082.x
- 151 Niro GA, Ciancio A, Gaeta GB, Smedile A, Marrone A, Olivero A, Stanzione M, David E, Brancaccio G, Fontana R, Perri F, Andriulli A, Rizzetto M. Pegylated interferon alpha-2b as monotherapy or in combination with ribavirin in chronic hepatitis delta. Hepatology 2006; 44: 713-720 [PMID: 16941685 DOI: 10.1002/hep.21296]
- Yuen M, Chan H, Given B, Hamilton J, Schluep T, Lewis DL. Phase II, dose-ranging study of ARC-520, a siRNA-based 152 therapeutic, in patients with chronic hepatitis B virus. In American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases (AASLD) Liver Meeting, Boston, abstract LB-21. 2014
- Yuen MF, Liu K, Chan HL, Given BD, Schluep T, Hamilton J, Lai CL, Locarnini SA, Lau JY, Ferrari C, Gish RG. 153 Prolonged RNA interference therapy with ARC-520 Injection in treatment naïve, HBeAg positive and negative patients with chronic HBV results in significant reductions of HBs antigen. J Hepatol 2017; 1: p.S27
- Mancini-Bourgine M, Fontaine H, Scott-Algara D, Pol S, Bréchot C, Michel ML. Induction or expansion of T-cell 154 responses by a hepatitis B DNA vaccine administered to chronic HBV carriers. Hepatology 2004; 40: 874-882 [PMID: 15382173 DOI: 10.1002/hep.20408]
- 155 Fontaine H, Kahi S, Chazallon C, Bourgine M, Varaut A, Buffet C, Godon O, Meritet JF, Saïdi Y, Michel ML, Scott-Algara D, Aboulker JP, Pol S; ANRS HB02 study group. Anti-HBV DNA vaccination does not prevent relapse after discontinuation of analogues in the treatment of chronic hepatitis B: a randomised trial--ANRS HB02 VAC-ADN. Gut 2015; 64: 139-147 [PMID: 24555998 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2013-305707]
- 156 Zhang E, Lu M. Toll-like receptor (TLR)-mediated innate immune responses in the control of hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection. Med Microbiol Immunol 2015; 204: 11-20 [PMID: 25550115 DOI: 10.1007/s00430-014-0370-1]
- Gane EJ, Lim YS, Gordon SC, Visvanathan K, Sicard E, Fedorak RN, Roberts S, Massetto B, Ye Z, Pflanz S, Garrison 157 KL, Gaggar A, Mani Subramanian G, McHutchison JG, Kottilil S, Freilich B, Coffin CS, Cheng W, Kim YJ. The oral tolllike receptor-7 agonist GS-9620 in patients with chronic hepatitis B virus infection. J Hepatol 2015; 63: 320-328 [PMID: 25733157 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2015.02.037]
- Gane E, Gaggar A, Nguyen AH, Subramanian GM, McHutchison JG, Schwabe C, Dunbar R. A phasel study evaluating 158 anti-PD-1 treatment with or without GS-4774 in HBeAg negative chronic hepatitis B patients. J Hepatol 2017; 1: S26-S27
- 159 Meng XJ. Expanding Host Range and Cross-Species Infection of Hepatitis E Virus. PLoS Pathog 2016; 12: e1005695 [PMID: 27490119 DOI: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005695]
- Rein DB, Stevens GA, Theaker J, Wittenborn JS, Wiersma ST. The global burden of hepatitis E virus genotypes 1 and 2 160 in 2005. Hepatology 2012; 55: 988-997 [PMID: 22121109 DOI: 10.1002/hep.25505]
- 161 Mirazo S, Ramos N, Mainardi V, Gerona S, Arbiza J. Transmission, diagnosis, and management of hepatitis E: an update. Hepat Med 2014; 6: 45-59 [PMID: 24966702 DOI: 10.2147/HMER.S63417]
- 162 Hewitt PE, Ijaz S, Brailsford SR, Brett R, Dicks S, Haywood B, Kennedy IT, Kitchen A, Patel P, Poh J, Russell K, Tettmar KI, Tossell J, Ushiro-Lumb I, Tedder RS. Hepatitis E virus in blood components: a prevalence and transmission study in southeast England. Lancet 2014; 384: 1766-1773 [PMID: 25078306 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61034-5]



- 163 Colson P, Coze C, Gallian P, Henry M, De Micco P, Tamalet C. Transfusion-associated hepatitis E, France. Emerg Infect Dis 2007; 13: 648-649 [PMID: 17561564 DOI: 10.3201/eid1304.061387]
- 164 Teshale EH, Hu DJ. Hepatitis E: Epidemiology and prevention. World J Hepatol 2011; 3: 285-291 [PMID: 22216368 DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v3.i12.285]
- 165 Goumba CM, Yandoko-Nakouné ER, Komas NP. A fatal case of acute hepatitis E among pregnant women, Central African Republic. BMC Res Notes 2010; 3: 103 [PMID: 20398305 DOI: 10.1186/1756-0500-3-103]
- You S, Rong Y, Zhu B, Zhang A, Zang H, Liu H, Li D, Wan Z, Xin S. Changing etiology of liver failure in 3,916 patients 166 from northern China: a 10-year survey. Hepatol Int 2013; 7: 714-720 [PMID: 26201805 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-013-9424-5]
- 167 Ren F, Zhao C, Wang L, Wang Z, Gong X, Song M, Zhuang H, Huang Y, Shan H, Wang J, Liu Q, Ness P, Nelson KE, Wang Y. Hepatitis E virus seroprevalence and molecular study among blood donors in China. Transfusion 2014; 54: 910-917 [PMID: 24372259 DOI: 10.1111/trf.12530]
- Izopet J, Labrique AB, Basnyat B, Dalton HR, Kmush B, Heaney CD, Nelson KE, Ahmed ZB, Zaman K, Mansuy JM, 168 Bendall R, Sauné K, Kamar N, Arjyal A, Karkey A, Dongol S, Prajapati KG, Adhikary D. Hepatitis E virus seroprevalence in three hyperendemic areas: Nepal, Bangladesh and southwest France. J Clin Virol 2015; 70: 39-42 [PMID: 26305817 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcv.2015.06.103]
- Kang YH, Cong W, Zhang XY, Wang CF, Shan XF, Qian AD. Hepatitis E virus seroprevalence among farmers, veterinarians and control subjects in Jilin province, Shandong province and Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region, China. J Med Virol 2017; 89: 872-877 [PMID: 27664799 DOI: 10.1002/jmv.24693]
- 170 Anastasiou OE, Thodou V, Berger A, Wedemeyer H, Ciesek S. Comprehensive Evaluation of Hepatitis E Serology and Molecular Testing in a Large Cohort. Pathogens 2020; 9 [PMID: 32093070 DOI: 10.3390/pathogens9020137]
- Herremans M, Bakker J, Duizer E, Vennema H, Koopmans MP. Use of serological assays for diagnosis of hepatitis E 171 virus genotype 1 and 3 infections in a setting of low endemicity. Clin Vaccine Immunol 2007; 14: 562-568 [PMID: 17360853 DOI: 10.1128/CVI.00231-06]
- 172 Takahashi M, Kusakai S, Mizuo H, Suzuki K, Fujimura K, Masuko K, Sugai Y, Aikawa T, Nishizawa T, Okamoto H. Simultaneous detection of immunoglobulin A (IgA) and IgM antibodies against hepatitis E virus (HEV) Is highly specific for diagnosis of acute HEV infection. J Clin Microbiol 2005; 43: 49-56 [PMID: 15634950 DOI: 10.1128/JCM.43.1.49-56.2005
- 173 European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines on hepatitis E virus infection. J Hepatol 2018; 68: 1256-1271 [PMID: 29609832 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.03.005]
- Khudyakov Y, Kamili S. Serological diagnostics of hepatitis E virus infection. Virus Res 2011; 161: 84-92 [PMID: 174 21704091 DOI: 10.1016/j.virusres.2011.06.0061
- Khuroo MS, Khuroo MS. Hepatitis E: an emerging global disease from discovery towards control and cure. J Viral 175 Hepat 2016; 23: 68-79 [PMID: 26344932 DOI: 10.1111/jvh.12445]
- 176 Vollmer T, Diekmann J, Eberhardt M, Knabbe C, Dreier J. Monitoring of Anti-Hepatitis E Virus Antibody Seroconversion in Asymptomatically Infected Blood Donors: Systematic Comparison of Nine Commercial Anti-HEV IgM and IgG Assays. Viruses 2016; 8 [PMID: 27556482 DOI: 10.3390/v8080232]
- Sue PK, Pisanic N, Heaney CD, Mixson-Hayden T, Kamili S, Nelson K, Schwarz KB, Forman M, Valsamakis A, 177 Ticehurst J, Karnsakul W. Variability of hepatitis E serologic assays in a pediatric liver transplant recipient: challenges to diagnosing hepatitis E virus infection in the United States. Transpl Infect Dis 2015; 17: 284-288 [PMID: 25648626 DOI: 10.1111/tid.12366]
- 178 Yoo N, Bernstein J, Caldwell C, Dong C, Drobeniuc J, Kamili S, Landry ML. Hepatitis E virus infection in a liver transplant recipient: delayed diagnosis due to variable performance of serologic assays. Transpl Infect Dis 2013; 15: E166-E168 [PMID: 23701647 DOI: 10.1111/tid.12096]
- 179 Hoofnagle JH, Nelson KE, Purcell RH. Hepatitis E. N Engl J Med 2012; 367: 1237-1244 [PMID: 23013075 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMra1204512]
- 180 Haim-Boukobza S, Coilly A, Sebagh M, Bouamoud M, Antonini T, Roche B, Yordanova O, Savary J, Saliba F, Duclos-Vallee JC, Samuel D, Ichai P, Roque-Afonso AM. Hepatitis E infection in patients with severe acute alcoholic hepatitis. Liver Int 2015; 35: 870-875 [PMID: 24904954 DOI: 10.1111/liv.12610]
- 181 Pérez-Gracia MT, Suay B, Mateos-Lindemann ML. Hepatitis E: an emerging disease. Infect Genet Evol 2014; 22: 40-59 [PMID: 24434240 DOI: 10.1016/j.meegid.2014.01.002]
- 182 Kamar N, Dalton HR, Abravanel F, Izopet J. Hepatitis E virus infection. Clin Microbiol Rev 2014; 27: 116-138 [PMID: 24396139 DOI: 10.1128/CMR.00057-13]
- 183 Fousekis FS, Mitselos IV, Christodoulou DK. Extrahepatic manifestations of hepatitis E virus: An overview. Clin Mol Hepatol 2020; 26: 16-23 [PMID: 31601068 DOI: 10.3350/cmh.2019.0082]
- 184 Tavitian S, Péron JM, Huynh A, Mansuy JM, Ysebaert L, Huguet F, Vinel JP, Attal M, Izopet J, Récher C. Hepatitis E virus excretion can be prolonged in patients with hematological malignancies. J Clin Virol 2010; 49: 141-144 [PMID: 20678959 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcv.2010.06.016]
- Ollier L, Tieulie N, Sanderson F, Heudier P, Giordanengo V, Fuzibet JG, Nicand E. Chronic hepatitis after hepatitis E 185 virus infection in a patient with non-Hodgkin lymphoma taking rituximab. Ann Intern Med 2009; 150: 430-431 [PMID: 19293084 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-150-6-200903170-00026]
- Dalton HR, Bendall RP, Keane FE, Tedder RS, Ijaz S. Persistent carriage of hepatitis E virus in patients with HIV 186 infection. N Engl J Med 2009; 361: 1025-1027 [PMID: 19726781 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMc0903778]
- 187 Giordani MT, Fabris P, Brunetti E, Goblirsch S, Romanò L. Hepatitis E and lymphocytic leukemia in Man, Italy. Emerg Infect Dis 2013; 19: 2054-2056 [PMID: 24274068 DOI: 10.3201/eid1912.130521]
- 188 Wang Y, Metselaar HJ, Peppelenbosch MP, Pan Q. Chronic hepatitis E in solid-organ transplantation: the key implications of immunosuppressants. Curr Opin Infect Dis 2014; 27: 303-308 [PMID: 24977682 DOI: 10.1097/QCO.000000000000074]
- Kamar N, Izopet J. Does chronic hepatitis E virus infection exist in immunocompetent patients? Hepatology 2014; 60:



427 [PMID: 24214924 DOI: 10.1002/hep.26927]

- 190 Jilani N, Das BC, Husain SA, Baweja UK, Chattopadhya D, Gupta RK, Sardana S, Kar P. Hepatitis E virus infection and fulminant hepatic failure during pregnancy. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2007; 22: 676-682 [PMID: 17444855 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2007.04913.x]
- 191 Tsega E, Krawczynski K, Hansson BG, Nordenfelt E. Hepatitis E virus infection in pregnancy in Ethiopia. Ethiop Med J 1993; 31: 173-181 [PMID: 8404882]
- 192 Kamar N, Rostaing L, Izopet J. Hepatitis E virus infection in immunosuppressed patients: natural history and therapy. Semin Liver Dis 2013; 33: 62-70 [PMID: 23564390 DOI: 10.1055/s-0033-1338115]
- Shrestha A, P Gupta B, K Lama T. Current Treatment of Acute and Chronic Hepatitis E Virus Infection: Role of 193 Antivirals. Euroasian J Hepatogastroenterol 2017; 7: 73-77 [PMID: 29201777 DOI: 10.5005/jp-journals-10018-1216]
- 194 Kamar N, Izopet J, Tripon S, Bismuth M, Hillaire S, Dumortier J, Radenne S, Coilly A, Garrigue V, D'Alteroche L, Buchler M, Couzi L, Lebray P, Dharancy S, Minello A, Hourmant M, Roque-Afonso AM, Abravanel F, Pol S, Rostaing L, Mallet V. Ribavirin for chronic hepatitis E virus infection in transplant recipients. N Engl J Med 2014; 370: 1111-1120 [PMID: 24645943 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1215246]
- 195 Debing Y, Gisa A, Dallmeier K, Pischke S, Bremer B, Manns M, Wedemeyer H, Suneetha PV, Neyts J. A mutation in the hepatitis E virus RNA polymerase promotes its replication and associates with ribavirin treatment failure in organ transplant recipients. Gastroenterology 2014; 147: 1008-11.e7; quiz e15 [PMID: 25181691 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.08.040]
- Debing Y, Ramière C, Dallmeier K, Piorkowski G, Trabaud MA, Lebossé F, Scholtès C, Roche M, Legras-Lachuer C, de 196 Lamballerie X, André P, Neyts J. Hepatitis E virus mutations associated with ribavirin treatment failure result in altered viral fitness and ribavirin sensitivity. J Hepatol 2016; 65: 499-508 [PMID: 27174035 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2016.05.002]
- 197 Alric L, Bonnet D, Laurent G, Kamar N, Izopet J. Chronic hepatitis E virus infection: successful virologic response to pegylated interferon-alpha therapy. Ann Intern Med 2010; 153: 135-136 [PMID: 20547885 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-153-2-201007200-00256
- Kamar N, Abravanel F, Garrouste C, Cardeau-Desangles I, Mansuy JM, Weclawiak H, Izopet J, Rostaing L. Three-198 monthweeks pegylated interferon-alpha-2a therapy for chronic hepatitis E virus infection in a haemodialysis patient. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2010; 25: 2792-2795 [PMID: 20494897 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfq282]
- 199 Kinast V, Burkard TL, Todt D, Steinmann E. Hepatitis E Virus Drug Development. Viruses 2019; 11 [PMID: 31141919 DOI: 10.3390/v11060485]
- Shrestha MP, Scott RM, Joshi DM, Mammen MP Jr, Thapa GB, Thapa N, Myint KS, Fourneau M, Kuschner RA, 200 Shrestha SK, David MP, Seriwatana J, Vaughn DW, Safary A, Endy TP, Innis BL. Safety and efficacy of a recombinant hepatitis E vaccine. N Engl J Med 2007; 356: 895-903 [PMID: 17329696 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa061847]
- 201 Zhu FC, Zhang J, Zhang XF, Zhou C, Wang ZZ, Huang SJ, Wang H, Yang CL, Jiang HM, Cai JP, Wang YJ, Ai X, Hu YM, Tang Q, Yao X, Yan Q, Xian YL, Wu T, Li YM, Miao J, Ng MH, Shih JW, Xia NS. Efficacy and safety of a recombinant hepatitis E vaccine in healthy adults: a large-scale, randomised, double-blind placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet 2010; 376: 895-902 [PMID: 20728932 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61030-6]
- 202 Park SB. Hepatitis E vaccine debuts. Nature 2012; 491: 21-22 [PMID: 23128204 DOI: 10.1038/491021a]
- Pagliusi S, Dennehy M, Kim H; DCVMN AGM Organizing Committee. Vaccines, inspiring innovation in health. Vaccine 203 2018; 36: 7430-7437 [PMID: 29789241 DOI: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.05.035]
- 204 Domanović D, Tedder R, Blümel J, Zaaijer H, Gallian P, Niederhauser C, Sauleda Oliveras S, O'Riordan J, Boland F, Harritshøj L, Nascimento MSJ, Ciccaglione AR, Politis C, Adlhoch C, Flan B, Oualikene-Gonin W, Rautmann G, Strengers P, Hewitt P. Hepatitis E and blood donation safety in selected European countries: a shift to screening? Euro Surveill 2017; 22 [PMID: 28449730 DOI: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2017.22.16.30514]



WJMA

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Meta-Anal 2022 June 28; 10(3): 122-129

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.122

ISSN 2308-3840 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Rare post-endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography complications: Can we avoid them?

Marta Aleksandra Przybysz, Rafał Stankiewicz

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Kim KH, South Korea; Spadaccini M, Italy A-Editor: Wang JL, United States

Received: March 15, 2022 Peer-review started: March 15, 2022 First decision: April 13, 2022 Revised: May 11, 2022 Accepted: June 24, 2022 Article in press: June 24, 2022 Published online: June 28, 2022



Marta Aleksandra Przybysz, Rafał Stankiewicz, Department of General, Transplant and Liver Surgery, Medical University of Warsaw, Warsaw 02-097, Poland

Corresponding author: Marta Aleksandra Przybysz, MD, Attending Doctor, Department of General, Transplant and Liver Surgery, Medical University of Warsaw, Banacha 1a, Warsaw 02-097, Poland. martprzybysz@gmail.com

Abstract

Regarded as a minimally invasive procedure, endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) is commonly used to manage various pancreaticobiliary disorders. The rate of complications is low and starts from 4% for diagnostic interventions. The group of most frequent negative outcomes is commonly known and includes pancreatitis, cholecystitis, and hemorrhage. Rare adverse effects occur occasionally but carry a significant risk of unexpected and potentially dangerous results. In some cases, including splenic injury, the knowledge of pre-existing conditions might be helpful in avoiding the unwanted outcome, while in others, the risk factors are not clearly defined. Such situations demand increased caution in the post-ERCP period. The appearance of abdominal pain, peritoneal symptoms, or instability of the patient's hemodynamic condition should alert the physician and lead to further investigation of the possible causes. The diagnostic process usually involves imaging tests. The implementation of the appropriate treatment should be immediate, as many of the rare complications carry the risk of dangerous, even potentially lethal, results.

Key Words: Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography; Pancreaticobiliary disorders; Rare complications; Risk factors; Prevention

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography is a common procedure used to manage pancreaticobiliary disorders. The group of most frequent complications is well described and includes pancreatitis, cholecystitis, and hemorrhage. Rare adverse effects occur occasionally but carry a significant risk of unexpected and potentially dangerous results. In some cases, the knowledge of pre-existing conditions might be helpful in avoiding the unwanted outcome, while in others, the risk factors are not clearly defined. Such situations demand increased caution in the post-procedure period. Physicians should be alerted by symptoms of abdominal pain or instability of patient's condition, investigate further for possible causes, and be ready to implement the appropriate treatment immediately.

Citation: Przybysz MA, Stankiewicz R. Rare post-endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography complications: Can we avoid them? World J Meta-Anal 2022; 10(3): 122-129 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/full/v10/i3/122.htm

DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.122

INTRODUCTION

Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) is nowadays a common procedure used to manage various pancreaticobiliary disorders, including bile duct stones, malignant obstructions, and strictures. Regarded as a minimally invasive procedure, diagnostic ERCP is a technique with a low complication rate starting from 4%, though significantly rising up in cases of a therapeutic procedure[1, 2]. The most common complications include pancreatitis (1.7%-4.9%), hemorrhage (1.2%-4.5%), and cholangitis (0.6%-2.3%)[3,4]. A history of previous pancreatitis and cholecystitis has been a welldocumented risk factor for post-ERCP pancreatitis (PEP) and post-ERCP cholecystitis (PEC)[5,6], while pre-cut sphincterotomy increases the risk of post-ERCP hemorrhage[7].

The group of less common post-ERCP adverse effects is diverse and heterogeneous, which makes it much more difficult to predict and, therefore, manage. Unexpected complications might be a result of the introduction of the endoscope itself or of its accessories (*i.e.*, a variety of splenic and hepatic injuries, impaction of the stone retrieval basket or stent migration, and colonic or small bowel perforation), might be due to the air leakage (localized or systemic embolism and pneumothorax), might be caused by an allergic reaction to the contrast, or might as well be the consequence of existing comorbid diseases (i.e. cardiopulmonary events and sedation-related adverse effects). The uncommon post-ERCP complications occur significantly less often than PEP or PEC. The Italian systematic review presents a rate of 1.3%, with a mortality rate of 0.07% (12973 patients with a total of 173 rare adverse effects and 9 deaths) [8]. While the occurrence of miscellaneous complications seems low and insignificant, it tends to extend the length of the patient's hospitalization, might result in surgical interventions and, possibly – in rare cases - causes death. Therefore, the awareness of its existence is crucial in order to recognize the problem, manage it properly, and avoid the possible negative outcomes.

Commonly known adverse effects, such as PEP, had been already analyzed thoroughly from multiple points of view. This review focuses on the rare post-ERCP complications, mostly those directly connected to the technical aspects of the procedure, especially the ones requiring a surgical intervention. We take a closer look at some of the possibly severe final outcomes and discuss potential strategies of prevention and management. In order to present the subject in a clear manner, the various post-ERCP complications have been divided into minor groups.

SPLENIC INJURY

While splenic injuries as a result of colonoscopy are well documented, cases of post-ERCP splenic injuries remain rare. The severity of possible negative outcomes varies, but even though they are not common, they can potentially be lethal[9]. Possible risk factors for this uncommon complication include chronic pancreatitis, as the calcified ligaments stiffen and decrease the mobility of the organs[10]. Another presumed mechanism of the complication might be the bowing of the endoscope with torsion of the greater curvature while cannulating the papilla^[11]. Postoperative adhesions due to prior surgical abdominal interventions might also lead to splenic injury, as they decrease the mobility between the spleen and other organs^[12].

According to the American Association for the Surgery of Trauma, splenic injury can be graded depending on the severity of the damage. Table 1 shows the American Association for the Surgery of Trauma: Splenic injury grading scale^[13].

Post-ERCP splenic injury was first reported in 1989 by Trondsen et al[14]. The case considered a 46year-old female patient who underwent ERCP with sphincterotomy which resulted, 15 h later, in splenectomy due to the decapsulated spleen. Although most of the post-ERCP splenic injuries require a



Table 1 American Association for the Surgery of Trauma: Splenic injury grading scale[13]		
GRADE I	Laceration < 1 cm; Subcapsular hematoma < 10% of the surface area	
GRADE II	Laceration 1-3 cm; Subcapsular hematoma 10%-50% of the surface area	
GRADE III	Laceration > 3 cm; Subcapsular hematoma > 50% of the surface area; Ruptured subcapsular or parenchymal hematoma	
GRADE IV	Segmental or hilar vascular injury; Devascularization > 25% of the spleen	
GRADE V	Hilar injury; Shattered spleen	

surgical procedure, in less severe cases, such as subcapsular hematomas[15], peri-splenic hematomas [11], or splenic abscess[16], the management might be conservative.

One of the latest reports on the subject presents a non-surgical approach to the post-ERCP spleen injury. Bajwa et al[17] reported the case of an 83-year-old woman who underwent ERCP procedure with sphincterotomy which resulted in forming a grade 3 splenic laceration with intraparenchymal and subcapsular hematoma and moderate peritoneal free fluid. As the patient was hemodynamically stable with no signs of peritoneal symptoms, the management remained conservative. Splenectomy becomes a procedure of choice in more severe cases including a rupture of the spleen[18] or an avulsion of the short gastric vessels^[12]. The decision should consider the dynamics of the patient's condition as they do not always present with acute abdomen and the onset of the symptoms might often be delayed. As the pain in the upper left abdomen is not always accompanied by signs of peritoneal irritation or significant decrease of hemoglobin levels, it should itself be considered a strong premise to diagnose the possible causes. All the reports on the subject acknowledge that a fast response in those cases is crucial for properly managing the issue.

HEPATIC INJURY

Subcapsular hepatic hematoma is an incidental but potentially dangerous complication. The pathological mechanism of this unique event might be explained by accidental puncture and laceration of small parenchymal vessels by an endoscopic guide wire[19] (Figure 1).

Subcapsular hepatic hematoma as a post-ERCP complication was first presented in 2000 by Ortega et al[20]. ERCP was performed on an 81-year-old man due to choledocholithiasis. Following the procedure, the patient presented abdominal pain and a computed tomography (CT) scan revealed a hepatic hematoma. Drainage was the management chosen in this case, with a catheter left for 3 wk after the puncture. According to Pivetta et al[21], a total of 61 cases were reported worldwide as for the year 2020.

The latest case, not included in the Pivetta report, presented by Petrucci et al[22], considers a 43-yearold woman who underwent ERCP for stent removal. The abdominal pain in the right upper quadrant appeared the following day and a CT scan revealed a subcapsular hepatic hematoma affecting most of the right lobe. The management was conservative at first, but as the pain reappeared accompanied by fever, the patient underwent series of procedures, including interventional radiology guided drainage, laparoscopic washout, and laparotomy with necrosectomy of the liver capsule.

Subcapsular hepatic hematoma should be considered in case of post-ERCP clinical symptoms such as persistent abdominal pain, peritoneal symptoms, and hypotension. Although significant, the laboratory test results should not be considered as main indicators of this complication, except for a decrease of haematocrit and haemoglobin levels. Imaging, such as computed tomography and ultrasound, is a helpful tool to confirm the diagnosis and evaluate the necessity of a surgical intervention^[23]. With various possibilities of action, a decision must be made based on the clinical and hemodynamic status of the patient. In most cases concerning hemodynamically stable patients, a conservative management is the treatment of choice. This includes the use of prophylactic antibiotics due to the risk of an infection of the hematoma, and continuing the monitoring of the patient's hemodynamic status[24]. In the event of instability of the patient's status, a more invasive treatment should be introduced. Procedures such as selective embolization of a branch of the hepatic artery or percutaneous drainage of the hematoma might be helpful in cases of active bleeding and decrease of haemoglobin and haematocrit levels^[25]. In rare situations of advanced hematoma with haemorrhage, surgical intervention in the form of laparotomy drainage with haemostasis must be considered after analysis of the patient's hemodynamic and clinical status [26,27]. In those cases, it is necessary to monitor the patient in the postoperative period with instruments such as computed tomography or ultrasound.

PERFORATION

According to the studies performed in the last decade, the incidence of ERCP-related perforation ranges





DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.122 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 1 Computed tomography image presenting an example of advanced hepatic hematoma of the right lobe.

from 0.08% to 0.7%, with endoscopic sphincterotomy and guidewire injury being the most assumed etiologies[28,29]. Suggested risk factors associated with post-ERCP duodenal perforation include biliary stricture dilatation, sphincterotomy, sphincter of Oddi dysfunction, and common bile duct dilation. Patients with surgically altered anatomy (i.e., due to the previous Billroth II or Roux-en-Y operation) are at higher risk of bowel perforation[30].

ERCP-related perforations can be divided into four different types, according to the cause mechanism and the need of a surgical intervention. Types of ERCP-related perforations according to Stapfer et al[31] are shown in Table 2.

In terms of prevention, it is crucial to recognize the risk factors before the procedure. Complicated cases should be handled by skillful and experienced endoscopists. Patients with a history of previous surgical anatomy alterations might be considered for "endoscopic scanning" in order to evaluate the conditions before the main procedure. A balloon dilatation over the guidewire might be helpful in preparing the way for a duodenoscope into the strictures[32]. Type II perforations can be avoided by a cautiously performed sphincterotomy with stepwise incisions.

Surgery is usually required in cases of type I or type II perforations, though the decision should be made taking into account the clinical state of the patient and the severity of the leak. Endoscopic treatment is possible for smaller-range perforations where endoloop application combined with clipping or placing a covered metal stent prevents the need of a surgical intervention[33,34]. Type III duodenal perforations, including the ones related to the migration of the stents, can also be treated with endoscopic clipping[35].

STENT RELATED COMPLICATIONS

Occlusion is one of the most common complications resulting from inserting plastic or metal biliary and pancreatic stents during the procedure of ERCP. In cases of malignant strictures, this rather late negative outcome is a result of the progression of the primary disease[36]. The group of rare complications related to stenting include migration, misplacement, and dislodgement, with the latter resulting, in some cases, in intestinal hemorrhage[37,38] (Figure 2).

Patients undergoing endoscopic stent placement are at a risk of stent migration in approximately 3.5%, with the risk factors including bile duct benign stenosis, stenosis of the lower bile duct, and bile duct diameter being less than 10 mm[39]. A migrating stent can lead to the formation of different types of fistulas, such as bronchobiliary, bile duct-duodenum, and pancreatic-gastric[40,41]. Other possible and less common complications due to a migrating stent include the previously mentioned perforation of the duodenum and further parts of the gut.

An example of a duodenum injury caused by a migrating stent can be found in a recent case reported by Perez et al[42], considering a young female who underwent ERCP stenting due to hepatobiliary tuberculosis. Due to severe abdominal pain, the patient underwent a laparotomy with peritoneal lavage and tube jejunostomy. The operation confirmed a duodenal perforation from a biliary stent migration. The complication led to bacterial peritonitis resulting in a septic shock and the death of the patient. In another case of a migrating stent, described by Paikos et al[43], a patient diagnosed with cholangiocarcinoma required ERCP due to the progressive obstructive jaundice. The procedure involved placement of a plastic stent. Nevertheless, the jaundice persisted despite the procedure. The second ERCP revealed an active ulcer of the duodenum with the stent trapped in it. The patient's condition rapidly worsened,



Przybysz MA et al. Prevention and management of rare post-ERCP complications

Table 2 Types of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography-related perforations according to Stapfer et al[31]

- TYPE I Perforation of the lateral/medial duodenal wall, caused by the endoscope. It usually results in a large leak and requires immediate surgical treatment
- TYPE II Sphincterotomy related periampullary perforations of various severity.
- TYPE III Bile duct or duodenal perforation caused by migrating stents or biliary baskets presenting with a smaller-size leakage
- TYPE IV Guide-wire related perforation with retroperitoneal air present in the X-ray. It usually does not require surgical intervention



DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.122 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 2 Procedure of placing stents in the common bile duct.

resulting in respiratory arrest and heart failure.

BASKET IMPACTION

The conventional treatment for choledocholithiasis includes papillotomy and extracting the stones with a Dormia basket. Removal of larger stones might require additional techniques in which the stone is mechanically fragmented before the extraction[44]. Lithotripsy is effective in 79%-92% of the choledocholithiasis cases[45,46] with the success of the procedure depending mostly on the stone size/bile duct size ratio[47]. One of the rare complications that might occur during the procedure is the impaction of the biliary basket, with a incidence rate of 0.26% [4]. The point of the impaction is usually located at the ampulla but it may also be localized in the main pancreatic duct or the intrahepatic ducts [48,49].

The retrieval of the basket might become impossible due to different reasons, not only the size of the deposit. The calcification of the stone causes its hardening to the point where a lithotriptor is unable to crush it. Cases like this require surgical management, such as choledochomy with cholecystectomy [50]. In rare situations, the extraction of the basket might not be possible via choledochotomy and duodenotomy, and must be performed during an emergency operation[51]. Laparoscopic management of impacted Dormia baskets has been presented in a few reports describing common bile duct exploration with choledochoscope and retrieving the trapped basket with a grasper or another biliary basket[52,53].

CONCLUSION

Rare post-ERCP complications have a low incidence rate but should not be underestimated, since the possible outcomes might be unpredictable. It is important to be aware of the uncommon adverse effects and their clinical presentation in order to diagnose the problem as soon as possible, and implement the relevant treatment. Are we able to avoid those infrequent complications completely though?



The prevention starts before the ERCP procedure itself by acknowledging the risk factors and recognizing cases more exposed to rare, but potentially dangerous incidents. This relates especially to patients with a history of previous abdominal operations (adhesions as a risk factor of splenic injury, and prior Billroth II procedure increasing the risk of post-ERCP bowel perforation)[12,30]. In demanding cases, procedures should be carefully performed by experienced and skillful endoscopists with expertise in the matter^[54]. Technical difficulties, though challenging, can be overcome by choosing an appropriate approach, suitable for the specific problem. As most of the rare complications are unexpected, it is very important to pay close attention to the patient's post-ERCP condition and hemodynamic status. In cases of a splenic or hepatic injury, manifestations such as abdominal pain in the left or right upper quadrant, respectively, indicate the need for further investigation, especially when combined with peritoneal symptoms and decrease of the haemoglobin level[18,23]. When unexpected complications occur, a decision needs to be made on whether the management of the problem should be conservative or surgical, and the physician must be prepared to adopt adequate treatment immediately.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Przybysz MA conceptualized the study, did the literature search, wrote the paper, and approved the final version of the article; Stankiewicz R conceptualized the study, did the literature search, critically reviewed the paper, and approved the final version of the article.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest regarding this manuscript.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Poland

ORCID number: Marta Aleksandra Przybysz 0000-0003-0779-7211; Rafał Stankiewicz 0000-0003-0198-8287.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: Wang TQ P-Editor: Liu JH

REFERENCES

- Loperfido S, Angelini G, Benedetti G, Chilovi F, Costan F, De Berardinis F, De Bernardin M, Ederle A, Fina P, Fratton A. Major early complications from diagnostic and therapeutic ERCP: a prospective multicenter study. Gastrointest Endosc 1998; **48**: 1-10 [PMID: 9684657 DOI: 10.1016/s0016-5107(98)70121-x]
- 2 Christensen M, Matzen P, Schulze S, Rosenberg J. Complications of ERCP: a prospective study. Gastrointest Endosc 2004; 60: 721-731 [PMID: 15557948 DOI: 10.1016/s0016-5107(04)02169-8]
- Masci E, Toti G, Mariani A, Curioni S, Lomazzi A, Dinelli M, Minoli G, Crosta C, Comin U, Fertitta A, Prada A, Passoni 3 GR, Testoni PA. Complications of diagnostic and therapeutic ERCP: a prospective multicenter study. Am J Gastroenterol 2001; 96: 417-423 [PMID: 11232684 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2001.03594.x]
- Katsinelos P, Lazaraki G, Chatzimavroudis G, Gkagkalis S, Vasiliadis I, Papaeuthimiou A, Terzoudis S, Pilpilidis I, Zavos C, Kountouras J. Risk factors for therapeutic ERCP-related complications: an analysis of 2,715 cases performed by a single endoscopist. Ann Gastroenterol 2014; 27: 65-72 [PMID: 24714755]
- Ding X, Zhang F, Wang Y. Risk factors for post-ERCP pancreatitis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Surgeon 2015; 13: 218-229 [PMID: 25547802 DOI: 10.1016/j.surge.2014.11.005]
- Cao J, Peng C, Ding X, Shen Y, Wu H, Zheng R, Wang L, Zou X. Risk factors for post-ERCP cholecystitis: a single-center retrospective study. BMC Gastroenterol 2018; 18: 128 [PMID: 30134864 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-018-0854-3]
- Ye X, Zhang Y, Wan X, Deng T. Analysis of Risk Factors in Endoscopic Retrograde Cholangiopancreatography-Related Immediate and Delayed Hemorrhage. Dig Dis Sci 2021; 66: 4467-4474 [PMID: 33469808 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-020-06815-0
- 8 Andriulli A, Loperfido S, Napolitano G, Niro G, Valvano MR, Spirito F, Pilotto A, Forlano R. Incidence rates of post-ERCP complications: a systematic survey of prospective studies. Am J Gastroenterol 2007; 102: 1781-1788 [PMID: 17509029 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2007.01279.x]
- 9 Kingsley DD, Schermer CR, Jamal MM. Rare complications of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography: two case reports. JSLS 2001; 5: 171-173 [PMID: 11394431]
- 10 Gaffney RR, Jain V, Moyer MT. Splenic Injury and ERCP: A Possible Risk for Patients with Advanced Chronic Pancreatitis. Case Rep Gastroenterol 2012; 6: 162-165 [PMID: 22679404 DOI: 10.1159/000337499]



- 11 Lee R, Huelsen A, Saad N, Hodgkinson P, Hourigan LF. Splenic Injury Following Endoscopic Retrograde Cholangiopancreatography: A Case Report and Literature Review. Case Rep Gastroenterol 2017; 11: 241-249 [PMID: 28559784 DOI: 10.1159/000468515]
- 12 Zyromski NJ, Camp CM. Splenic injury: a rare complication of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. Am Surg 2004; 70: 737-739 [PMID: 15328812]
- Moore EE, Cogbill TH, Jurkovich GJ, Shackford SR, Malangoni MA, Champion HR. Organ injury scaling: spleen and 13 liver (1994 revision). J Trauma 1995; 38: 323-324 [PMID: 7897707 DOI: 10.1097/00005373-199503000-00001]
- 14 Trondsen E, Rosseland AR, Moer A, Solheim K. Rupture of the spleen following endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP). Case report. Acta Chir Scand 1989; 155: 75-76 [PMID: 2929211]
- Lo AY, Washington M, Fischer MG. Splenic trauma following endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP). 15 Surg Endosc 1994; 8: 692-693 [PMID: 8059310 DOI: 10.1007/BF00678569]
- Bajwa KS, Madabhushi AK, Jafri N, Shah SK, Felinski MM. Splenic Hematoma as a Rare Complication of Endoscopic 16 Retrograde Cholangiopancreatography. J Clin Gastroenterol Treat 2020; 4: 078 [DOI: 10.23937/2469-584x/1510078]
- 17 Luke JL, Reay DT. The perils of investigating and certifying deaths in police custody. Am J Forensic Med Pathol 1992; 13: 98-100 [PMID: 1510078 DOI: 10.1097/00000433-199206000-00003]
- 18 Grammatopoulos A, Moschou M, Rigopoulou E, Katsoras G. Splenic injury complicating ERCP. Ann Gastroenterol 2014; 27: 177-178 [PMID: 24733368]
- 19 Chi KD, Waxman I. Subcapsular hepatic hematoma after guide wire injury during endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography: management and review. Endoscopy 2004; 36: 1019-1021 [PMID: 15520924 DOI: 10.1055/s-2004-825861]
- 20 Ortega Deballon P, Fernández Lobato R, García Septiem J, Nieves Vázquez MA, Martínez Santos C, Moreno Azcoita M. Liver hematoma following endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP). Surg Endosc 2000; 14: 767 [PMID: 11287996 DOI: 10.1007/s004640040001]
- Pivetta LGA, da Costa Ferreira CP, de Carvalho JPV, Konichi RYL, Kawamoto VKF, Assef JC, Ribeiro MA. Hepatic 21 subcapsular hematoma post-ERCP: Case report and literature review. Int J Surg Case Rep 2020; 72: 219-228 [PMID: 32544833 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijscr.2020.05.074]
- Petrucci R, Das A. Subcapsular Hepatic Hematoma Post-Endoscopic Retrograde Cholangiopancreatography Requiring 22 Surgical Necrosectomy. J Med Cases 2021; 12: 186-189 [PMID: 34434455 DOI: 10.14740/jmc3672]
- 23 Klímová K, Suárez C, Asanza C, Peña A, Arregui E, Alonso A. Subcapsular Hepatic Hematoma after ERCP: A Case Report and Revision of Literature. Case Reports in Clinical Medicine 2014; 3: 161-166 [DOI: 10.4236/crcm.2014.33039]
- 24 Del Pozo D, Moral I, Poves E, Sanz C, Martín M. Subcapsular hepatic hematoma following ERCP: case report and review. Endoscopy 2011; 43 Suppl 2 UCTN: E164-E165 [PMID: 21563064 DOI: 10.1055/s-0030-1256267]
- 25 Fei BY, Li CH. Subcapsular hepatic haematoma after endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography: an unusual case. World J Gastroenterol 2013; 19: 1502-1504 [PMID: 23538782 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i9.1502]
- 26 Priego P, Rodríguez G, Mena A, Losa N, Aguilera A, Ramiro C, Lisa E, Conde S, Fresneda V. [Subcapsular liver hematoma after ERCP]. Rev Esp Enferm Dig 2007; 99: 53-54 [PMID: 17371135 DOI: 10.4321/s1130-01082007000100014]
- 27 Pérez-Legaz J, Santos J, Ruiz-Tovar J, Moya-Forcén P, Armañanzas L, Gómez M, Oller I, Arroyo A, Calpena R. Subcapsular hepatic hematoma after ERCP (endoscopic retrograde cholangipancreatography). Rev Esp Enferm Dig 2011; 103: 550-551 [PMID: 22054274 DOI: 10.4321/s1130-01082011001000011]
- Dubecz A, Ottmann J, Schweigert M, Stadlhuber RJ, Feith M, Wiessner V, Muschweck H, Stein HJ. Management of 28 ERCP-related small bowel perforations: the pivotal role of physical investigation. Can J Surg 2012; 55: 99-104 [PMID: 22564521 DOI: 10.1503/cjs.027110]
- Assalia A, Suissa A, Ilivitzki A, Mahajna A, Yassin K, Hashmonai M, Krausz MM. Validity of clinical criteria in the 29 management of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography related duodenal perforations. Arch Surg 2007; 142: 1059-1064 [PMID: 18025334 DOI: 10.1001/archsurg.142.11.1059]
- 30 Enns R, Eloubeidi MA, Mergener K, Jowell PS, Branch MS, Pappas TM, Baillie J. ERCP-related perforations: risk factors and management. Endoscopy 2002; 34: 293-298 [PMID: 11932784 DOI: 10.1055/s-2002-23650]
- Stapfer M, Selby RR, Stain SC, Katkhouda N, Parekh D, Jabbour N, Garry D. Management of duodenal perforation after 31 endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography and sphincterotomy. Ann Surg 2000; 232: 191-198 [PMID: 10903596 DOI: 10.1097/0000658-200008000-00007]
- 32 Prachayakul V, Aswakul P. Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography-related perforation: Management and prevention. World J Clin Cases 2014; 2: 522-527 [PMID: 25325062 DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v2.i10.522]
- 33 Kwon CI, Song SH, Hahm KB, Ko KH. Unusual complications related to endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography and its endoscopic treatment. Clin Endosc 2013; 46: 251-259 [PMID: 23767036 DOI: 10.5946/ce.2013.46.3.251]
- Park WY, Cho KB, Kim ES, Park KS. A case of ampullary perforation treated with a temporally covered metal stent. Clin 34 Endosc 2012; 45: 177-180 [PMID: 22866262 DOI: 10.5946/ce.2012.45.2.177]
- Nam HS, Kim GH, Kim DU, Choi MK, Yi YS, Hwang JM, Kim S. [A case of duodenal perforation caused by biliary 35 plastic stent treated with approximation using endoclip and detachable snare]. Korean J Gastroenterol 2011; 57: 129-133 [PMID: 21350325 DOI: 10.4166/kjg.2011.57.2.129]
- Gargouri D, Kochlef A, Ouekaa A, Elloumi H, Kilani A, Romani M, Kharrat J, Ghorbel A. [Biliary stent occlusion]. Tunis 36 Med 2010; 88: 462-466 [PMID: 20582879]
- 37 Nicholson AA, Martin DF. Misplacement of endoscopic biliary endoprostheses. Endoscopy 1997; 29: 125-127 [PMID: 9101151 DOI: 10.1055/s-2007-1004087]
- 38 Wong SY, Ng FH. Lower intestinal hemorrhage due to a dislodged metallic stent. Endoscopy 1997; 29: 407-408 [PMID: 9270924 DOI: 10.1055/s-2007-1004224]
- 39 Kawaguchi Y, Ogawa M, Kawashima Y, Mizukami H, Maruno A, Ito H, Mine T. Risk factors for proximal migration of biliary tube stents. World J Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 1318-1324 [PMID: 24574806 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i5.1318]



- 40 Hady HR, Baniukiewicz A, Luba M, Rogalski P, Dabrowski A, Dadan J. Bronchobiliary fistula as a complication after long-term stenting of hepatic ducts, applied by ERCP after hepatobiliary surgery due to hydatid cyst. Endoscopy 2011; 43 Suppl 2 UCTN: E178-E179 [PMID: 21557156 DOI: 10.1055/s-0030-1256295]
- 41 Heyries L, Desjeux A, Sahel J. Bile duct-duodenum and pancreatic-gastric fistulas: two exceptional complications of biliary and pancreatic stenting. Gastrointest Endosc 1999; 50: 571-574 [PMID: 10502186 DOI: 10.1016/s0016-5107(99)70088-x]
- 42 Perez AR, Del Mundo HJF, Viray BAG, Abon JC, Resurreccion DC. Duodenal perforation secondary to stent migration after ERCP for hepatobiliary tuberculosis: Case report of a lethal complication in a young patient. Int J Surg Case Rep 2021; 88: 106510 [PMID: 34673469 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijscr.2021.106510]
- 43 Paikos D, Gatopoulou A, Moschos J, Soufleris K, Tarpagos A, Katsos I. Migrated biliary stent predisposing to fatal ERCPrelated perforation of the duodenum. J Gastrointestin Liver Dis 2006; 15: 387-388 [PMID: 17205153]
- Troncone E, Mossa M, De Vico P, Monteleone G, Del Vecchio Blanco G. Difficult Biliary Stones: A Comprehensive 44 Review of New and Old Lithotripsy Techniques. Medicina (Kaunas) 2022; 58 [PMID: 35056428 DOI: 10.3390/medicina58010120]
- Garg PK, Tandon RK, Ahuja V, Makharia GK, Batra Y. Predictors of unsuccessful mechanical lithotripsy and endoscopic 45 clearance of large bile duct stones. Gastrointest Endosc 2004; 59: 601-605 [PMID: 15114300 DOI: 10.1016/s0016-5107(04)00295-0
- Shaw MJ, Mackie RD, Moore JP, Dorsher PJ, Freeman ML, Meier PB, Potter T, Hutton SW, Vennes JA. Results of a 46 multicenter trial using a mechanical lithotripter for the treatment of large bile duct stones. Am J Gastroenterol 1993; 88: 730-733 [PMID: 8480739]
- 47 Cipolletta L, Costamagna G, Bianco MA, Rotondano G, Piscopo R, Mutignani M, Marmo R. Endoscopic mechanical lithotripsy of difficult common bile duct stones. Br J Surg 1997; 84: 1407-1409 [PMID: 9361600]
- 48 Cutler AF, Hassig WM, Schubert TT. Basket impaction at the pancreatic head. Gastrointest Endosc 1992; 38: 520-521 [PMID: 1307223 DOI: 10.1016/s0016-5107(92)70498-2]
- Mutignani M, Gabbrielli A, Murali N, Perri V, Costamagna G. Novel methods of management of trapped dormia baskets 49 in the pancreatic and biliary ducts. Endoscopy 1997; 29: 129-130 [PMID: 9101153 DOI: 10.1055/s-2007-1004089]
- 50 Fukino N, Oida T, Kawasaki A, Mimatsu K, Kuboi Y, Kano H, Amano S. Impaction of a lithotripsy basket during endoscopic lithotomy of a common bile duct stone. World J Gastroenterol 2010; 16: 2832-2834 [PMID: 20533607 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v16.i22.2832]
- 51 Abu Shakra I, Bez M, Bickel A, Badran M, Merei F, Ganam S, Kassis W, Kakiashvili E. Emergency open surgery with a duodenotomy and successful removal of an impacted basket following a complicated endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography procedure: a case report. J Med Case Rep 2021; 15: 93 [PMID: 33618756 DOI: 10.1186/s13256-020-02608-1]
- 52 Varshney VK, Sreesanth KS, Gupta M, Garg PK. Laparoscopic retrieval of impacted and broken dormia basket using a novel approach. J Minim Access Surg 2020; 16: 415-417 [PMID: 32978355 DOI: 10.4103/jmas.JMAS_245_19]
- 53 O'Brien JW, Tyler R, Shaukat S, Harris AM. Laparoscopic Common Bile Duct Exploration for Retrieval of Impacted Dormia Basket following Endoscopic Retrograde Cholangiopancreatography with Mechanical Failure: Case Report with Literature Review. Case Rep Surg 2017; 2017: 5878614 [PMID: 28785504 DOI: 10.1155/2017/5878614]
- Aliperti G. Complications related to diagnostic and therapeutic endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am 1996; 6: 379-407 [PMID: 8673333]



W J M

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Meta-Anal 2022 June 28; 10(3): 130-142

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.130

ISSN 2308-3840 (online)

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

Review with meta-analysis relating North American, European and Japanese snus or smokeless tobacco use to major smoking-related diseases

Peter Nicholas Lee, Katharine Jane Coombs, Janette Susan Hamling

Specialty type: Statistics and probability

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Aggarwal P, India; Seid AA, Ethiopia A-Editor: Zhu JQ; China

Received: February 10, 2022 Peer-review started: February 10, 2022 First decision: April 13, 2022 Revised: April 25, 2022 Accepted: May 28, 2022 Article in press: May 28, 2022 Published online: June 28, 2022



Peter Nicholas Lee, Katharine Jane Coombs, Department of Medical Statistics and Epidemiology, P.N.Lee Statistics and Computing Ltd, Sutton SM2 5DA, Surrey, United Kingdom

Janette Susan Hamling, Department of Medical Statistics and Epidemiology, RoeLee Statistics Ltd, Sutton SM2 5DA, Surrey, United Kingdom

Corresponding author: Peter Nicholas Lee, MA, Senior Statistician, Department of Medical Statistics and Epidemiology, P.N.Lee Statistics and Computing Ltd, 17 Cedar Road, Sutton SM2 5DA, Surrey, United Kingdom. peterlee@pnlee.co.uk

Abstract

BACKGROUND

While extensive information exists relating cigarette smoking to the risk of lung cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), ischaemic heart disease (IHD) or acute myocardial infarction (AMI), and stroke, far less information is available on risks from moist snuff ("snus") or smokeless tobacco (ST) in United States/Canada, Europe or Japan.

AIM

To summarize data from the selected countries on risks of the four diseases associated with current ST or snus use.

METHODS

Publications in English in 1990-2020 were considered that, based on epidemiological studies in North America, Europe or Japan, estimated risks of lung cancer, COPD, IHD/AMI, or stroke according to use of ST or snus. The studies should involve at least 100 cases of the disease considered, and not be restricted to those with specific other diseases. Medline literature searches were conducted, selecting papers initially from examination of titles and abstracts, and then from full texts. Further papers were sought from reference lists in selected papers, reviews and meta-analyses. For each disease, relative risk estimates adjusted at least for age were extracted relating ST or snus use to risk, and combined using random-effects meta-analysis. The estimates were mainly for current vs. never or non-current use, but results for ever vs never use were also considered.

RESULTS

Seven publications reported results for ST use from six United States studies. The



most useful results came from four studies which provided results for current vs. never use. Random-effects meta-analyses of these results showed an increased risk for each disease, clearest for lung cancer (relative risk 1.59, 95% confidence interval 1.06-2.39, based on 4 estimates) and COPD (1.57, 1.09-2.26, n = 3), but also significant (at P < 0.05) for IHD (1.26, 1.10-1.45, n = 4) and stroke (1.27, 1.03-1.57, n = 4). Also including results for ever vs. never use from two other studies increased the lung cancer estimate to 1.80 (1.23-2.64, n = 6), but had little effect on the other estimates. For snus, 16 publications described results from 12 studies, one in Norway and the rest in Sweden. There were no results for COPD, and only three for lung cancer, with these reporting a relative risk of 0.80 (0.40-1.30) for current vs never use. More extensive data were available for IHD/AMI and stroke. Using the latest results from each study, combined estimates for current vs. never use were 1.00 (0.91-1.11, n = 5) for IHD/AMI and 1.05 (0.95-1.17, n = 2) for stroke, while for current vs. non-current use they were 1.10 (0.92-1.33, n = 9) for IHD/AMI and 1.12 (0.86-1.45, n = 9) for stroke. Meta-analyses including earlier results from some studies also showed no significant association between snus use and IHD/AMI or stroke. No relevant results were found for Japan.

CONCLUSION

Risks of smoking-related diseases from snus use in Scandinavia are not demonstrated, while those from ST use in the United States are less than from smoking.

Key Words: Smokeless tobacco; Moist snuff; Lung disease; Cardiovascular disease; Meta-analysis; Review

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: United States studies show that, in never users of other products, current smokeless tobacco use associates with a significant (P < 0.05) increase in risk of the four major smoking-related diseases, with relative risks, compared to never users, of almost 1.6 for lung cancer and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and 1.3 for ischaemic heart disease (IHD)/acute myocardial infarction (AMI) and stroke. This increase is substantially less than for smoking. In Scandinavia, current snus use, does not significantly increase risk of IHD/AMI, stroke or lung cancer, with no data for COPD. Smokers unwilling to quit might consider these smokeless products.

Citation: Lee PN, Coombs KJ, Hamling JS. Review with meta-analysis relating North American, European and Japanese snus or smokeless tobacco use to major smoking-related diseases. *World J Meta-Anal* 2022; 10(3): 130-142

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/full/v10/i3/130.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.130

INTRODUCTION

It is well established[1,2] that cigarette smoking markedly increases the risk of a range of diseases, particularly lung cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), ischaemic heart disease (IHD) and acute myocardial infarction (AMI), and stroke. Meta-analyses[3] have shown that in North American and European populations, current cigarette smokers, compared with those who have never smoked cigarettes, have about a ten-fold increase in risk of lung cancer, with the extent of the increase rising with amount smoked and earlier age of starting. Relative risks (RRs) exceed three for COPD and, in younger individuals, two for cardiovascular disease[4]. Pipe and cigar smoking is also associated with a clear increase in risk of smoking-related disease[2].

Here, we study the association between current use of smokeless tobacco (ST) and four major smoking-related diseases (lung cancer, COPD, IHD/AMI, and stroke). Our analyses are based on studies published from 1990, and separate out the effects of ST as used in North America, and the effects of moist snuff ("snus") as mainly used in Sweden and neighbouring countries. Coupled with a separate ongoing attempt to provide updated meta-analyses relating the same diseases to current cigarette, cigar and pipe smoking, our results should help to provide a good picture of the relative effects of the different nicotine products on the major smoking-related diseases.

Zaishideng® WJMA | https://www.wjgnet.com

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study inclusion and exclusion criteria

Attention was restricted to publications in English in the years 1990 to 2020 which provide results relating use of current ST or snus) in non-smokers to the risk of lung cancer, COPD, IHD/AMI or stroke, based on epidemiological cohort or case-control studies conducted in North America, Europe or Japan, and involving at least 100 cases of the disease of interest. The studies selected should not be restricted to those with specific other diseases.

Literature searches

The search procedures are described in detail in Supplementary material and are summarized below. First, separate literature searches on Medline were conducted for lung cancer, COPD or cardiovascular disease, the aim being to identify from these searches not only publications that described studies satisfying the inclusion criteria, but also meta-analyses and reviews that may themselves cite other relevant publications. Then, for each of the three searches, a print-out of the Medline output for title and abstract was examined by Katharine J Coombs (Coombs KJ) to identify publications of possible relevance, the selection then being checked by Peter N Lee (Lee PN), with any disagreements resolved in discussion. The selected publications (and where relevant supplementary files and also other publications linked to them in the Medline search) were then obtained, and examined by Lee PN, and classified as either an accepted publication possibly including relevant data, a reject (giving reason), a relevant review or a relevant meta-analysis. The suggested rejects were then checked by Coombs KJ, with any disagreements resolved. Then additional accepted publications not detected by the Medline searches were sought from examination of reference lists of the accepted papers and of the relevant reviews and meta-analyses.

The accepted publications from the three searches combined were then examined to eliminate those giving results superseded by a later publication, those not providing new data, and those not providing results relating current ST or snus use specifically for the four diseases of interest.

Meta-analyses

Using standard methods 5 individual study RR estimates were combined using fixed-effect and random-effects meta-analysis, with the significance of between-study heterogeneity also estimated.

For studies on ST use in North America, preference was given to results for those who had never used cigarettes, pipes or cigars which compared current and never ST use, but results from studies which only compared ever and never ST use were also considered in some meta-analyses.

For studies on snus use, use of pipes and cigars was disregarded as this was often not reported, and such use is rare in Scandinavia. RRs comparing current snus users both with never users and with nonusers (i.e. non-current users, including both former and never users) were separately considered, as a number of studies only presented results compared to non-use. In some cases these estimates were derived from data separately by current, former and never use. Only age-adjusted RR estimates were considered, with the estimates adjusted for the most other factors generally being used.

RESULTS

Literature searches

The results of the searches are given in detail in Additional File 1 and are summarized below and in Figure 1.

For lung cancer, 131 papers were identified in the Medline searches, with 32 considered possibly relevant from examination of title and abstract, and a further 12 identified from comments on these papers. Examination of the full text from the 44 papers led to 10 being accepted as providing apparently relevant study data, with 23 being reviews or meta-analyses and 11 rejected for various reasons.

For COPD, the Medline searches identified 46 papers with six initially considered possibly relevant based on title and abstract, and no further papers identified from comments. The full text examination led to one of the six papers being accepted and three rejected, with the other two being reviews.

For cardiovascular diseases, the Medline searches identified 308 papers, with 80 initially considered possibly relevant, a number extended to 97 after identification of comments on these papers. Of these 27 were accepted, with 52 being reviews or meta-analyses and 18 rejected.

Examination of reference lists in accepted papers, reviews and meta-analyses led to ten further papers being considered possibly relevant, but only one of these was a paper describing relevant results (for COPD). The total of 39 accepted papers for the diseases combined, was then reduced to 26, as three had been accepted in two separate searches, four did not give results for non-smokers, one did not separate results for IHD and stroke, and five were only comments on other accepted papers and provided no new data. Of the 26 papers, 18 gave results for snus, and eight for ST as used in the United States (US), considered separately below. No relevant results were found for Japan.





DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.130 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 1 Literature searches. COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

ST use in the US

Each of the eight publications identified [6-13] reports results from a prospective study. Results from one [10] were not considered further as a later publication [11] provides corrected results from the same study.

The most relevant results, comparing risks for current *vs* never ST users in those who had never used cigarettes, pipes or cigars, come from four studies. For Cancer Prevention Studies I and II (CPS-I and CPS-II), separate results for each of the four diseases are available in one publication[9]. For the National Longitudinal Mortality Study (NLMS), results for IHD and stroke from one publication[13] are preferred to those from another[8], due to the longer follow-up considered, though results for lung cancer are only available from the latter publication[8]. For the National Health Interview Surveys (NHIS), the results from one publication[11] are preferred, as they provide results for all four diseases, and for a longer follow-up than do other publications[8,12].

Less useful are results from two studies. For the Agricultural Health Study (AHS), the results[7] are only for lung cancer, and only compare ever and never ST use. For the first National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES), the results[6], for all the diseases except COPD, only compare ever and never ST use, with pipe and cigar smokers not excluded.

Table 1 gives a summary description of the six studies considered, including timing, population studied, and relevant diseases considered, as well as the ST exposure index used and whether pipe and cigar smokers are excluded from the results for never smokers.

Table 2 gives the RRs and 95% confidence intervals (CIs), both as reported for the individual studies and as estimated for the combined studies using random-effect meta-analysis, as well as the available results by sex, and the adjustment factors taken into account. Two studies report results only for males, three for sexes combined and only one for the sexes separately. All the RRs were adjusted for age and a
Table 1 Studies considered in analyses of smokeless tobacco risk among never smokers in the United States

Study	Ref.	Study type¹	Timing	Population	Diseases considered	Excludes pipe/cigar	Exposure index
Main sour	ces						
CPS-I ²	Henley <i>et al</i> [9], 2005	Р	1959 to 1971	Families of volunteers' friends and neighbours	LC, COPD ³ , IHD, Stroke	Yes	Current vs never
CPS-II ²	Henley <i>et al</i> [9], 2005	Р	1982 to 2000	Families of volunteers' friends and neighbours	LC, COPD ⁴ , IHD, Stroke	Yes	Current vs never
NHIS ⁵	Inoue-Choi <i>et al</i> [10], 2019; Inoue-Choi <i>et al</i> [11], 2020	Р	1991-2010 to 2015	Civilian non-institutionalized	LC, COPD ⁶ , IHD, Stroke	Yes	Current vs never
NLMS ⁷	Timberlake <i>et al</i> [13], 2017	Р	1985-2011 to 2011	Civilian non-institutionalized	IHD, Stroke	Yes	Current vs never
NLMS ⁷	Fisher <i>et al</i> [8], 2019	Р	1993-2005 to 2010	Civilian non-institutionalized	LC	Yes	Current vs never
Other sour	rces						
NHANES 8	Accortt et al[6], 2002	Р	1971-75 to 1992	Civilian non-institutionalized	LC, IHD, Stroke	No	Ever <i>vs</i> never
AHS ⁹	Andreotti <i>et al</i> [7], 2017	Р	1993-97 to 2010-11	Pesticide applicators and their spouses	LC	Yes	Ever <i>vs</i> never

¹Prospective study.

²CPS: Cancer Prevention Study.

³Respiratory symptom diseases (ICD7 470-527).

⁴Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (ICD9 490-492, 496).

⁵NHIS: National Health Interview Surveys.

⁶Chronic lower respiratory disease (ICD10 J40-J47).

⁷NLMS: National Longitudinal Mortality Study.

⁸NHANES1: First National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey.

⁹AHS: Agricultural Health Study.

COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

varying list of other factors, including sex where relevant.

The combined evidence from the main studies (CPS-I, CPS-II, NHIS, NLMS) shows a statistically significant increase in risk relating to current ST use which is somewhat greater for lung cancer (RR 1.59, 95% CI: 1.06-2.39) and COPD (1.57, 1.09-2.26) than for IHD (1.26, 1.10-1.45) and stroke (1.27, 1.03-1.57). Including also the evidence from the other two studies (AHS, NHANES) somewhat increased the combined RR estimate for lung cancer (to 1.80, 1.23-2.64) but left the RRs for the other three diseases virtually unchanged. Significant evidence of heterogeneity between the estimates was only seen in the analyses for IHD, where due to a rather higher estimate from NHIS, the associated P value was 0.019 for the estimate based only on the four main results, and 0.015 when also including the results from NHANES.

There is also information from three of the studies on variation in risk by type of ST (chewing tobacco or snuff). For CPS-II[9] RRs were reported, for lung cancer, IHD and stroke, respectively of 1.97 (95%CI: 1.10-3.54), 1.25 (1.03-1.51) and 1.38 (1.02-1.86) for exclusive chewing tobacco use, and of 2.08 (0.51-8.45), 1.59 (1.06-2.39) and 0.62 (0.23-1.67) for exclusive snuff use. For AHS[7] the RR of lung cancer for chewing tobacco of 2.20 (0.98-4.97) was similar to that of 2.21 (1.11-4.42) for overall ST use. No result was given for snuff, as there were only three cases of lung cancer in the exposed group. For NLMS[13] RRs for IHD were 1.11 (0.88-1.42) for exclusive chewing tobacco and 1.30 (1.03-1.63) for exclusive snuff use. In all three studies, the RRs did not vary significantly by type of ST.

Snus use in Scandinavia

Of the 18 publications on snus[14-31], one[16] describes results from a study in Norway, with the rest describing studies in Sweden. Most describe results from a single study, but one^[14] presents separate results from two studies, while two[20,21] present results from eight studies, one for AMI and the other for stroke. All the available results are for males.

Two papers were not considered further. One[30] only reported results for ever vs never snus use, reported RRs in never smokers only for combined cardiovascular death (RR 1.15, 95% CI: 0.97-1.37) and respiratory death (0.8, 0.2-3.0), and did not separate out results for IHD/AMI, stroke or COPD. The other[14] mainly considered heart failure, the limited results for AMI being unrestricted to non-smokers and not adjusted for any potential confounding factors.

Table 2 Relative	e risks	in analyses of	of smokeless tobacco ri	sk among never s	smokers in th	ne United States
Study	Sex	Lung cancer	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	lschaemic heart disease	Stroke	Adjustment factors
Main sources						
CPS-I	М	1.08 (0.64- 1.83)	1.86 (1.12-3.06)	1.12 (1.03-1.21)	1.46 (1.31- 1.64)	Age, alc, asp, bmi, edu, ex, fat, f/v, race
CPS-II	М	2.00 (1.23- 3.24)	1.28 (0.71-2.32)	1.26 (1.08-1.47)	1.40 (1.10- 1.79)	Age, alc, asp, bmi, edu, emp, ex, fat, f/v, race
NHIS	M + F	1.43 (0.51- 4.01)	1.35 (0.39-4.76)	1.66 (1.30-2.13)	1.09 (0.56- 2.11)	Age, edu, race, sex, year
NLMS	M + F	2.98 (0.91- 9.76)	-	1.24 (1.05-1.46)	0.92 (0.67- 1.27)	Lung cancer: age, edu, hea, inc, race, sexIHD and CVD: age, edu, inc, race, sex
Random-effects meta-analysis		1.59 (1.06- 2.39) (<i>n</i> = 4)	1.57 (1.09-2.26) (<i>n</i> = 3)	1.26 (1.10-1.45) ($n = 4$)	1.27 (1.03- 1.57) (<i>n</i> = 4)	
Other sources						
NHANES	М	-	-	0.6 (0.3-1.2)	0.7 (0.2-2.0)	Lung cancer: age, alc, ex, f/v, pov, race, regIHD: age,
NHANES	F	9.1 (1.1-75.4)	-	1.4 (0.8-2.2)	1.0 (0.3-2.9)	aic, bmi, choi, ex, f/v, pov, race, sbpCvD: age, aic, ex, f/v, pov, race, sbp
AHS	M + F	2.21 (1.11- 4.42)	-	-	-	Age, alc, edu, race, reg, sex
All sources						
Random-effects meta-analysis		1.80 (1.23- 2.64) (<i>n</i> = 6)	1.57 (1.09-2.26) (<i>n</i> = 3)	$\begin{array}{l} 1.24 \ (1.08-1.43) \ (n \\ = 6) \end{array}$	1.24 (1.02- 1.52) (<i>n</i> = 6)	

Alc: Alcohol, asp: Aspirin use; bmi: Body mass index; chol: Cholesterol; edu: Education; emp: Employment, ex: Exercise; f/v: Fruit and vegetable intake; hea: Health status; inc: Income; pov: Poverty; reg: Region; sbp: Systolic blood pressure; year: Year of survey.

> The other 16 studies all present results for snus use in non-smokers or non-regular smokers, in some where the comparison is between current and non-use rather than between current and never use, and one where it is between ever and never use. Table 3 gives details, by study and publication, of the study type, timing, population, relevant diseases considered, and the unexposed group considered. In total there are results from 12 studies, with multiple publications describing results from some studies. For no study did any of the publications present simple updates of results given in another publication. All but the Two Counties study is of prospective design, though some results from the MONICA study are based on case-control analyses.

> From Table 3 it can be seen that there are no results at all for COPD (or a closely related endpoint) and only three publications present results for lung cancer. The most useful result[29] is based on follow-up of construction workers interviewed in 1978-92, including 15 cases in current users and three in former users, with a RR of 0.80 (95% CI: 0.40-1.30) for current vs. never ST use and of 0.80 (0.45-1.45) for current vs non ST use. An earlier result from this study [17] can be ignored, as it is based on no more than three lung cancer cases in current users, and based on interviews in 1971-74, when coding of smoking status was problematic^[29]. A RR of 0.96 (0.26-3.56) from the Norway study^[16] is for ever vs never use and based on only three cases in ever users. No meta-analyses seemed to be worth conducting for lung cancer.

> As illustrated in Table 4, much more evidence is available for IHD/AMI and stroke, both for current vs. non snus use and for current vs never use, each RR estimate being adjusted for age and varying other factors. Based on the estimate from the latest publication, where data for a study provides a choice, Table 5 shows no evidence of an increased risk in current snus users, whether the comparison group is never users (IHD/AMI: RR 1.00, 95%CI: 0.91-1.11; stroke: 1.05, 0.95-1.17), or is non users (IHD/AMI: 1.10, 0.92-1.33; stroke 1.12, 0.86-1.45). No significant association is also seen when, less satisfactorily, all available RRs are combined, regardless of whether in some studies some disease occurrences may be counted more than once.

DISCUSSION

The results of the meta-analyses for ST use in the US show that, in those who have never used cigarettes, cigars or pipes, current use, compared to never use, is associated with a significant increase in risk of all four major smoking-related diseases studied, the increases estimated from the four main sources of data



Table 3 Studies considered in analysis of current snus use among non-smokers in Scandinavia

Study ¹	Source	Study type ²	Timing	Population	Diseases considered	Unexposed snus ³
CWC	Bolinder <i>et al</i> [17], 1994	Р	1971-74 to 1985	Construction workers	LC, IHD, stroke	Non
	Hergens <i>et al</i> [23], 2007		1978-93 to 2004		AMI	Never
	Luo et al[29], 2007		1978-92 to 2004		LC	Never
	Hergens <i>et al</i> [24], 2008		1978-92 to 2003		CVD	Never
	Hansson <i>et al</i> [20], 2012; Hansson <i>et al</i> [21], 2014		1978-93 to 2004		AMI, stroke	Non
MALMÖ	Janzon and Hedblad [27], 2009	Р	1991-96 to 2004	Population-based, Malmö city	AMI, stroke	Non
	Hansson <i>et al</i> [20], 2012; Hansson <i>et al</i> [21], 2014				AMI, stroke	Non
MONICA	Asplund <i>et al</i> [15], 2003	NCC	1986-99 to 2000	Population-based, Norrbotten and Västerbotten counties	CVD	Non
	Wennberg <i>et al</i> [31], 2007	NCC	1986-99 to 1999		AMI	Never
	Huhtasaari et al <mark>[25]</mark> , 1992	CC	1989-91		AMI	Non
	Huhtasaari et al <mark>[26]</mark> , 1999	CC	1991-93		AMI	Non
	Hansson <i>et al</i> [20], 2012; Hansson <i>et al</i> [21], 2014	Р	1986-2004 to 2004		AMI, stroke	Non
NMC	Hansson <i>et al</i> [20], 2012; Hansson <i>et al</i> [21], 2014	Р	1997 to 2004	Participant in charity walk	AMI, stroke	Non
NORWAY	Boffetta <i>et al</i> [16], 2005	Р	1964-67 to 2001	Population sample and relatives of emigrants	LC	Ever vs never
SALLS	Johansson <i>et al</i> [28], 2005	Р	1988-89 to 2000	Civilian non-institutionalized	IHD	Non
SALT	Hansson <i>et al</i> [19], 2009	Р	1998-2002 to 2005	Twins born in Sweden 1926- 1958	IHD, stroke	Never
	Hansson <i>et al</i> [20], 2012; Hansson <i>et al</i> [21], 2014		1998-2002 to 2004		AMI, stroke	Non
Scania-PHC	Hansson <i>et al</i> [20], 2012; Hansson <i>et al</i> [21], 2014	Р	2002 to 2004	Population-based, Skåne County	AMI, stroke	Non
Stockholm-PHC	Hansson <i>et al</i> [20], 2012; Hansson <i>et al</i> [21], 2014	Р	2002 to 2004	Population-based, Stockholm County	AMI, stroke	Non
ULF	Haglund <i>et al</i> [18], 2007	Р	1988-89 to 2003	Civilian, non-institutionalized	IHD, stroke	Non
Two Counties	Hergens <i>et al</i> [22], 2005	CC	1992-94	Randomly selected, Stockholm and Västernorrland counties	AMI	Never
WOLF	Hansson <i>et al</i> [20], 2012; Hansson <i>et al</i> [21], 2014	Р	1992-98 to 2004	Employed in three counties	AMI, stroke	Non

¹CWC: Construction workers cohort; MONICA: Monitoring of trends in cardiovascular disease; NMC: National March Cohort; PHC: Public Health Cohort; SALLS: Swedish Annual Level of Living Survey; SALT: Screening across the lifespan twin study; ULF: Swedish survey of living conditions; WOLF: Work, lipids and fibrinogen.

²CC: Case control; NCC: Nested case control, P: Prospective.

³Exposed group: Current unless stated. In some studies the unexposed group may include non-regular tobacco users.

(CPS-I, CPS-II, NHIS, NLMS) being almost 30% for IHD and stroke and almost 60% for COPD and lung cancer. These increases are less than those associated with cigarette smoking, e.g.[4]) and suggest that ST, as used in the US, is a safer, but not harmless, alternative method of nicotine exposure than cigarette smoking for smokers not willing to quit. While some of the publications we consider [6,10] have concluded that an excess risk of smoking-related disease associated with ST use in the US has been



Table 4 Relative risks in analyses of ischaemic heart disease/acute myocardial infarction and stroke in relation to current snus use among never smokers in Scandinavia

Official	Sourcel	Current vs nev	ver	Current vs non		A divetment featers?
Study	Source	IHD/AMI	Stroke	IHD/AMI	Stroke	Adjustmentiactors
CWC	Bolinder <i>et al</i> [17], 1994	-	-	1.35 (1.13-1.62) ³	1.29 (0.83- 1.99) ³	Age, res
CWC	Hergens <i>et al</i> [23], 2007	1.02 (0.92-1.14)	-	1.03 (0.93-1.15)	-	Age, BMI, res
CWC	Hergens <i>et al</i> [24], 2008	-	1.05 (0.95- 1.17)	-	1.06 (0.96-1.18)	Age, BMI, res
CWC	Hansson <i>et al</i> [<mark>20]</mark> , 2012; Hansson <i>et al</i> [<mark>21], 2014</mark>	-	-	1.01 (0.90-1.14)	1.03 (0.90-1.17)	Age, BMI ⁴
MALMÖ	Janzon and Hedblad[27], 2009	-	-	0.75 (0.30-1.80)	0.59 (0.20-1.50)	Age, BMI, dia, hyp, mar, occ, phys
MALMÖ	Hansson <i>et al</i> [20], 2012; Hansson <i>et al</i> [21], 2014	-	-	1.00 (0.37-2.70)	1.23 (0.50-2.99)	Age, BMI ⁴
MONICA	Asplund <i>et al</i> [15], 2003	-	-	-	0.87 (0.41-1.83)	Age, chol, cohort, edu, dia, hyp, mar, year
MONICA	Wennberg <i>et al</i> [31], 2007	0.82 (0.46-1.43)	-	0.85 (0.48-1.50)	-	Age, BMI, chol, edu, phys, res, year
MONICA	Huhtasaari et al[25], 1992	-	-	0.89 (0.62-1.29)	-	Age
MONICA	Huhtasaari <i>et al</i> [26], 1999	-	-	0.58 (0.35-0.94)	-	Age, chol, dia, edu, her, hyp, mar, res
MONICA	Hansson <i>et al</i> [20], 2012; Hansson <i>et al</i> [21], 2014	-	-	0.77 (0.35-1.69)	0.65 (0.23-1.80)	Age, BMI ⁴
NMC		-	-	No IHD cases in current snus users	1.28 (0.40-4.10)	Age, BMI ⁴
SALLS		1.41 (0.61-3.28)	-	-	-	Age, BMI, dia, hyp, phys
SALT	Hansson <i>et al</i> [19], 2009	0.85 (0.51-1.41)	1.18 (0.67- 2.08)	0.85 (0.51-1.40)	1.15 (0.66-2.02)	Age, chol, dia, hyp
SALT	Hansson <i>et al</i> [20], 2012; Hansson <i>et al</i> [21], 2014	-	-	1.56 (0.98-2.48)	0.98 (0.52-1.83)	Age, BMI ⁴
Scania-PHC		-	-	1.90 (0.90-4.00)	3.17 (1.50-6.70)	Age, BMI ⁴
Stockholm-PHC		-	-	1.21 (0.48-3.08)	0.58 (0.14-2.45)	Age, BMI ⁴
ULF		-	-	1.15 (0.54-2.41)	1.01 (0.35-2.92)	Age, heal, ill, phys, res, ses
Two Counties		0.73 (0.35-1.50)	-	0.73 (0.35-1.51)	-	Age, area
WOLF		-	-	3.30 (0.63-17.1)	0.96 (0.28-3.30)	Age, BMI ⁴

¹See Table 2 for source if the study is only analysed by one publication or by the two pooled analyses by Hansson *et al*[20] only.

²Abbreviations used: BMI: Body mass index; chol: Cholesterol; dia: Diabetes; edu: Education; heal: Self-reported health; her: Heredity; hyp: Hypertension; ill: Self-reported longstanding illnesses; mar: Marital status; occ: Occupation; phys: Physical activity; res: Region of residence; ses: Socioeconomic status; year: Recruitment year.

³Estimated from results given for two groups by age at entry to the study.

⁴Body mass index adjusted for in the analyses of stroke, but not acute myocardial infarction.

All results are for men. Where results in any row are given for both comparison groups (never and non) for the same disease, the result for the comparison group non were estimated from data provided in the source paper.

shown, some are more cautious, regarding the evidence as limited [9,13].

Limitations of the evidence for US ST include the fact that a number of the studies considered are quite old, with three of the seven studies summarized in Table 1 involving follow-up periods ending over 20 years ago, ignoring the possibility that the nature of the products studied may have changed over time. Another limitation is the fairly sparse evidence comparing risk by type of ST product. Although this does not suggest any marked differences in risk between those who use chewing tobacco or use snuff, the data are insufficient to reliably detect smaller differences. Also, it is possible that some misclassification of smoking status has taken place, with some of the effects attributed to ST use actually being a consequence of unreported current or past smoking of cigarettes, pipes or cigars.

Raishideng® WJMA https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 5 Meta-analyses of ischaemic heart disease/acute myocardial infarction and stroke results in relation to snus use among never smokers in Scandinavia

Disease			Random-effects meta-	Heterogeneity		
Disease	Comparison group	All data of latest	analysis relative risk (95%Cl)	Chi sq	DF	P value
IHD/AMI	Never	Latest	1.00 (0.91-1.11)	2.33	4	NS
	Non	All	1.04 (0.92-1.18)	24.87	15	0.052
		Latest	1.10 (0.92-1.33)	9.18	8	NS
Stroke	Never	Latest	1.05 (0.95-1.17)	0.16	1	NS
	Non	All	1.06 (0.98-1.14)	12.69	13	NS
		Latest	1.12 (0.86-1.45)	10.26	8	NS

Where the comparison group is non users, there are (see Table 4) estimates for some studies from multiple publications. For these studies, the estimate "Latest" includes only the result from the latest publication, while the estimate "All" includes all the results. Where the comparison group is never users, no study provides more than one estimate. NS: Not significant ($P \ge 0.1$).

> Even if the magnitude of the effect on risk of current ST use in the US may be somewhat inaccurately measured in our meta-analyses, there seems little doubt that it is substantially less than that for cigarette smoking. For lung cancer, for example, RRs for current cigarette smoking for the US have been estimated as 11.68 in one meta-analysis[3], with RRs increasing with increasing amount smoked and earlier age of starting to smoke, and higher for squamous cell carcinoma than for adenocarcinoma. While we have not attempted to quantify risk of ST use in the US by amount or duration of use, or by subdivision of the diseases considered, this does not affect the conclusion that the risks of the four diseases for ST are less than for cigarette smoking.

> The results of our meta-analyses for current snus use, based on studies in Scandinavia, show no clear evidence of any increased risk, whether the comparison group is never or non-users. While there is little evidence for lung cancer, and there are no useful results for COPD, the evidence for cardiovascular disease is based on as many as 12 studies, the results from some being reported in multiple publications (see Table 4). As shown in Table 5, RR estimates for IHD/AMI and for stroke vary only from 1.00 to 1.12, and none are statistically significant. Though a lack of effect cannot be demonstrated, and it is possible that there is a true small increase in risk by perhaps about 5%, it seems likely that any increase is less than for US ST, and much less than that for cigarette smoking. Certainly the great majority of the publications from which we derived data[14-16,18-22,25-31] considered that no increased risk in current snus users had been demonstrated for any of the smoking-related diseases we considered, many concluding that components of tobacco smoke other than nicotine appear to be involved in the relationship of smoking with heart disease and stroke. However, possible effects were noted for cardiovascular disease^[17] based on early and unreliable data^[29], fatal AMI and fatal stroke^[23,24] and for heart failure[14]. The at most very weak association of snus with the smoking-related diseases considered was also the conclusion of a review of the evidence on snus[32], though this review also noted a possible effect of snus on reduced survival from AMI and on heart failure, arguing that further investigation was needed to investigate possible confounding by socio-economic status or other factors.

> In the last few years there have been a number of reviews and meta-analyses on the effects of ST, e.g. [33-42], many unrestricted to effects in the US and Scandinavia, and some restricted to specific diseases. Where effects are claimed, they often relate to products used in Africa or Asia, e.g.[42], or to other diseases, such as oral or pancreatic cancer. For oral cancer, however, evidence of an increased risk from snus has not emerged from meta-analyses[32], while for US ST any increase is mainly evident in studies before 1980[43]. Also, for pancreatic cancer, claims of any increased risk associated with snus use[33,34] are weakly based, with the evidence for any association with ST use essentially disappearing[32] following publication of pooled analyses [44,45]. For lung cancer, the reviews, e.g. [33,34,38,46] generally consider that no increased risk from snus has been demonstrated, though one [39] points to increased risk from US ST. COPD is little considered in the reviews, though one[39] does refer to the increased risk seen in the CPS-I study shown in Table 2. The risks of IHD/AMI and stroke are more extensively considered in the reviews, and some, e.g. [35] refer to a possible increase in risk of fatal AMI and stroke. However, this increase is mainly dependent on the results for US ST, where we have found a significant increase in our analyses. For snus, where the evidence considered derives from studies of fatal cases only, of non-fatal cases only, or of first occurrences of a case (fatal or non-fatal), where separate results are not always reported by fatality, there is no clear evidence of an increased risk specifically in fatal cases [32]. As noted in this review, confounding may occur due to snus users reporting disease later, or having less medical care when they do. Even if, for some reason, there is a slight adverse effect of snus on fatal AMI and stroke, it is clearly less than for cigarette smoking. This conclusion is consistent with a recent follow-up of almost 75000 patients admitted with a first percutaneous intervention, which found



that snus use was not associated with increased mortality, new revascularisation or hospitalisation for heart failure[47].

Taken as a whole, the conclusions reached in the reviews are consistent with our findings that, for the four major diseases considered, effects of the smokeless products commonly used in the US are less than those for cigarette smoking, and they are not clearly evident for Swedish snus. Our analyses provide no information on risks from ST as used in Africa and Asia.

CONCLUSION

Studies in the US show that, in those who never used other tobacco products, current ST use is associated with an increased risk of the four major smoking-related diseases. However, this increase, though statistically significant (at P < 0.05), is much less than for cigarette smoking. Scandinavian studies show no significant increase in risk of IHD/AMI, stroke or lung cancer in current snus users, with no data available for COPD. Though the data have limitations, providing information only on risks from the major smoking-related diseases, and none on risks from the smokeless products used in Africa or Asia, our findings clearly show that risks of the diseases considered from US ST and snus use are much less than for smoking.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

There are extensive data on the risks from cigarette smoking, but far less on the risks from moist snuff ("snus") or smokeless tobacco (ST) as used in Western populations and Japan.

Research motivation

To obtain recent evidence as part of a project comparing risks from use of various tobacco products.

Research objectives

To summarize data relating snus and ST use in North America, Europe and Japan to risk of the four main smoking related diseases - lung cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), ischaemic heart disease (IHD) (including acute myocardial infarction (AMI) and stroke.

Research methods

Medline searches sought English publications in 1990-2020 providing data on risks of each of the diseases relating to current (or ever) use of snus or ST in the selected regions. The studies had to include at least 100 cases of the disease considered, and not be based on individuals with specific diseases. Relative risk estimates adjusted at least for age were extracted for each study and combined using random-effects meta-analyses.

Research results

Six United States studies provided ST results. For current vs. never use (4 studies), significant increases were seen for each disease, with the RRs higher for lung cancer (1.59) and COPD (1.57) than for IHD/AMI (1.26) and stroke (1.25). Including also results for ever vs. never use, increased the lung cancer RR to 1.80, but little affected the other RRs. Twelve Scandinavian studies provided snus results, with no data on COPD. For the other diseases, RRs for current vs. never use were never significant, the highest RR being 1.05 for stroke. There were no relevant studies in Japan.

Research conclusions

Risks from ST use in North America are much less than for smoking, while no risks were demonstrated for snus.

Research perspectives

The results suggest that smokers unwilling to give up nicotine may substantially reduce their risk of the four diseases by switching to ST (as used in North America) or snus.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Yvonne Cooper for typing the various drafts of the paper and obtaining the relevant references.



FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Lee PN planned the study; Literature searches were carried out by Coombs KJ and checked by Lee PN; Statistical analyses were carried out by Hamling JS and checked by Lee PN; Lee PN drafted the text, which was checked by Coombs KJ and Hamling JS.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors have carried out consultancy work for many tobacco organizations.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the Prisma 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the Checklist's requirements.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United Kingdom

ORCID number: Peter Nicholas Lee 0000-0002-8244-1904; Katharine Jane Coombs 0000-0003-0093-7163; Janette Susan Hamling 0000-0001-7788-4738.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: A P-Editor: Liu JH

REFERENCES

- International Agency for Research on Cancer. Tobacco smoking. Vol 38. IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risk Chem 1 Hum Lyon, France: IARC, 1986: 421. Available from: http://monographs.iarc.fr/ENG/Monographs/vol1-42/mono38.pdf
- US Surgeon General. The health consequences of smoking 50 years of progress: a report of the Surgeon General. Vol Atlanta, Georgia: US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health, 2014: 944. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK179276
- Lee PN, Forey BA, Coombs KJ. Systematic review with meta-analysis of the epidemiological evidence in the 1900s 3 relating smoking to lung cancer. BMC Cancer 2012; 12: 385 [PMID: 22943444 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2407-12-385]
- Lee PN, Fry JS, Hamling JF, Sponsiello-Wang Z, Baker G, Weitkunat R. Estimating the effect of differing assumptions on the population health impact of introducing a Reduced Risk Tobacco Product in the USA. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 2017; 88: 192-213 [PMID: 28651854 DOI: 10.1016/j.yrtph.2017.06.009]
- Fleiss JL, Gross AJ. Meta-analysis in epidemiology, with special reference to studies of the association between exposure to environmental tobacco smoke and lung cancer: a critique. J Clin Epidemiol 1991; 44: 127-139 [PMID: 1995774 DOI: 10.1016/0895-4356(91)90261-71
- Accortt NA, Waterbor JW, Beall C, Howard G. Chronic disease mortality in a cohort of smokeless tobacco users. Am J Epidemiol 2002; 156: 730-737 [PMID: 12370161 DOI: 10.1093/aje/kwf106]
- Andreotti G, Freedman ND, Silverman DT, Lerro CC, Koutros S, Hartge P, Alavanja MC, Sandler DP, Freeman LB. 7 Tobacco Use and Cancer Risk in the Agricultural Health Study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2017; 26: 769-778 [PMID: 28035020 DOI: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-16-0748]
- Fisher MT, Tan-Torres SM, Gaworski CL, Black RA, Sarkar MA. Smokeless tobacco mortality risks: an analysis of two contemporary nationally representative longitudinal mortality studies. Harm Reduct J 2019; 16: 27 [PMID: 30975137 DOI: 10.1186/s12954-019-0294-6
- 9 Henley SJ, Thun MJ, Connell C, Calle EE. Two large prospective studies of mortality among men who use snuff or chewing tobacco (United States). Cancer Causes Control 2005; 16: 347-358 [PMID: 15953977 DOI: 10.1007/s10552-004-5519-6
- 10 Inoue-Choi M, Shiels MS, McNeel TS, Graubard BI, Hatsukami D, Freedman ND. Contemporary Associations of Exclusive Cigarette, Cigar, Pipe, and Smokeless Tobacco Use With Overall and Cause-Specific Mortality in the United States. JNCI Cancer Spectr 2019; 3: pkz036 [PMID: 31321380 DOI: 10.1093/jncics/pkz036]
- 11 . Corrigendum to "Contemporary Associations of Exclusive Cigarette, Cigar, Pipe, and Smokeless Tobacco Use With Overall and Cause-Specific Mortality in the United States". JNCI Cancer Spectr 2020; 4: pkz105 [PMID: 32025628 DOI: 10.1093/jncics/pkz105]
- Rodu B, Plurphanswat N. Mortality among male smokers and smokeless tobacco users in the USA. Harm Reduct J 2019; 12 16: 50 [PMID: 31429765 DOI: 10.1186/s12954-019-0321-7]
- 13 Timberlake DS, Nikitin D, Johnson NJ, Altekruse SF. A longitudinal study of smokeless tobacco use and mortality in the United States. Int J Cancer 2017; 141: 264-270 [PMID: 28411395 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.30736]
- 14 Arefalk G, Hergens MP, Ingelsson E, Arnlöv J, Michaëlsson K, Lind L, Ye W, Nyrén O, Lambe M, Sundström J. Smokeless tobacco (snus) and risk of heart failure: results from two Swedish cohorts. Eur J Prev Cardiol 2012; 19: 1120-1127 [PMID: 21828223 DOI: 10.1177/1741826711420003]
- Asplund K, Nasic S, Janlert U, Stegmayr B. Smokeless tobacco as a possible risk factor for stroke in men: a nested case-15



control study. Stroke 2003; 34: 1754-1759 [PMID: 12775887 DOI: 10.1161/01.STR.0000076011.02935.A1]

- 16 Boffetta P, Aagnes B, Weiderpass E, Andersen A. Smokeless tobacco use and risk of cancer of the pancreas and other organs. Int J Cancer 2005; 114: 992-995 [PMID: 15645430 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.20811]
- Bolinder G, Alfredsson L, Englund A, de Faire U. Smokeless tobacco use and increased cardiovascular mortality among 17 Swedish construction workers. Am J Public Health 1994; 84: 399-404 [PMID: 8129055 DOI: 10.2105/AJPH.84.3.399]
- 18 Haglund B, Eliasson M, Stenbeck M, Rosén M. Is moist snuff use associated with excess risk of IHD or stroke? Scand J Public Health 2007; 35: 618-622 [PMID: 17852996 DOI: 10.1080/14034940701436949]
- Hansson J, Pedersen NL, Galanti MR, Andersson T, Ahlbom A, Hallqvist J, Magnusson C. Use of snus and risk for 19 cardiovascular disease: results from the Swedish Twin Registry. J Intern Med 2009; 265: 717-724 [PMID: 19504754 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2796.2009.02081.x]
- 20 Hansson J, Galanti MR, Hergens MP, Fredlund P, Ahlbom A, Alfredsson L, Bellocco R, Eriksson M, Hallqvist J, Hedblad B, Jansson JH, Nilsson P, Pedersen N, Trolle Lagerros Y, Ostergren PO, Magnusson C. Use of snus and acute myocardial infarction: pooled analysis of eight prospective observational studies. Eur J Epidemiol 2012; 27: 771-779 [PMID: 22722951 DOI: 10.1007/s10654-012-9704-8]
- 21 Hansson J, Galanti MR, Hergens MP, Fredlund P, Ahlbom A, Alfredsson L, Bellocco R, Engström G, Eriksson M, Hallqvist J, Hedblad B, Jansson JH, Pedersen NL, Trolle Lagerros Y, Ostergren PO, Magnusson C. Snus (Swedish smokeless tobacco) use and risk of stroke: pooled analyses of incidence and survival. J Intern Med 2014; 276: 87-95 [PMID: 24548296 DOI: 10.1111/joim.12219]
- 22 Hergens MP, Ahlbom A, Andersson T, Pershagen G. Swedish moist snuff and myocardial infarction among men. Epidemiology 2005; 16: 12-16 [PMID: 15613940 DOI: 10.1097/01.ede.0000147108.92895.ba]
- 23 Hergens MP, Alfredsson L, Bolinder G, Lambe M, Pershagen G, Ye W. Long-term use of Swedish moist snuff and the risk of myocardial infarction amongst men. J Intern Med 2007; 262: 351-359 [PMID: 17697156 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2796.2007.01816.x]
- 24 Hergens MP, Lambe M, Pershagen G, Terent A, Ye W. Smokeless tobacco and the risk of stroke. Epidemiology 2008; 19: 794-799 [PMID: 18854704 DOI: 10.1097/EDE.0b013e3181878b33]
- Huhtasaari F, Asplund K, Lundberg V, Stegmayr B, Wester PO. Tobacco and myocardial infarction: is snuff less 25 dangerous than cigarettes? BMJ 1992; 305: 1252-1256 [PMID: 1477567 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.305.6864.1252]
- 26 Huhtasaari F, Lundberg V, Eliasson M, Janlert U, Asplund K. Smokeless tobacco as a possible risk factor for myocardial infarction: a population-based study in middle-aged men. J Am Coll Cardiol 1999; 34: 1784-1790 [PMID: 10577570 DOI: 10.1016/s0735-1097(99)00409-x
- Janzon E, Hedblad B. Swedish snuff and incidence of cardiovascular disease. A population-based cohort study. BMC 27 Cardiovasc Disord 2009; 9: 21 [PMID: 19473535 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2261-9-21]
- 28 Johansson SE, Sundquist K, Qvist J, Sundquist J. Smokeless tobacco and coronary heart disease: a 12-year follow-up study. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 2005; 12: 387-392 [PMID: 16079648 DOI: 10.1097/01.hjr.0000169189.22302.99]
- 29 Luo J, Ye W, Zendehdel K, Adami J, Adami HO, Boffetta P, Nyrén O. Oral use of Swedish moist snuff (snus) and risk for cancer of the mouth, lung, and pancreas in male construction workers: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet 2007; 369: 2015-2020 [PMID: 17498797 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)60678-3]
- Roosaar A, Johansson AL, Sandborgh-Englund G, Axéll T, Nyrén O. Cancer and mortality among users and nonusers of 30 snus. Int J Cancer 2008; 123: 168-173 [PMID: 18412245 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.23469]
- 31 Wennberg P, Eliasson M, Hallmans G, Johansson L, Boman K, Jansson JH. The risk of myocardial infarction and sudden cardiac death amongst snuff users with or without a previous history of smoking. J Intern Med 2007; 262: 360-367 [PMID: 17697157 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2796.2007.01813.x]
- 32 Lee PN. Epidemiological evidence relating snus to health--an updated review based on recent publications. Harm Reduct J 2013; **10**: 36 [PMID: 24314326 DOI: 10.1186/1477-7517-10-36]
- 33 Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks (SCENIHR). Health effects of smokeless tobacco products. Vol Brussels: European Commission, Health & Consumer Protection Directorate-General, 2008: 157. Available from: http://ec.europa.eu/health/ph_risk/committees/04_scenihr/docs/scenihr_o_013.pdf
- Boffetta P, Hecht S, Gray N, Gupta P, Straif K. Smokeless tobacco and cancer. Lancet Oncol 2008; 9: 667-675 [PMID: 34 18598931 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(08)70173-6]
- 35 Boffetta P, Straif K. Use of smokeless tobacco and risk of myocardial infarction and stroke: systematic review with metaanalysis. BMJ 2009; 339: b3060 [PMID: 19690343 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.b3060]
- 36 Piano MR, Benowitz NL, Fitzgerald GA, Corbridge S, Heath J, Hahn E, Pechacek TF, Howard G; American Heart Association Council on Cardiovascular Nursing. Impact of smokeless tobacco products on cardiovascular disease: implications for policy, prevention, and treatment: a policy statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation 2010; 122: 1520-1544 [PMID: 20837898 DOI: 10.1161/CIR.0b013e3181f432c3]
- 37 International Agency for Research on Cancer. Smokeless tobacco. A review of human carcinogens: Part E: Personal habits and indoor combustions. Vol 100. IARC Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans Lyon, France: IARC, 2012: 267-321. Available from: http://monographs.iarc.fr/ENG/Monographs/vol100E/mono100E.pdf
- 38 National Cancer Institute and Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Smokeless tobacco and public health: A global perspective. NIH Publication No.14-7983. Vol Bethesda, MD: US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute, 2014: 558. Available from: http://nccd.cdc.gov/gtssdata/Ancillary/Publications.aspx
- 39 Schivo M, Avdalovic MV, Murin S. Non-cigarette tobacco and the lung. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 2014; 46: 34-53 [PMID: 23673789 DOI: 10.1007/s12016-013-8372-0]
- Gupta R, Gupta S, Sharma S, Sinha DN, Mehrotra R. A systematic review on association between smokeless tobacco & 40 cardiovascular diseases. Indian J Med Res 2018; 148: 77-89 [PMID: 30264756 DOI: 10.4103/ijmr.IJMR_2020_17]
- 41 Murkett R, Rugh M and Ding B. Nicotine products relative risk assessment: a systematic review and meta-analysis [version 1; peer review: 1 approved]. F1000Res 2020; 9: 1225. Available from:



https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.26762.1

- 42 Hajat C, Stein E, Ramstrom L, Shantikumar S, Polosa R. The health impact of smokeless tobacco products: a systematic review. Harm Reduct J 2021; 18: 123 [PMID: 34863207 DOI: 10.1186/s12954-021-00557-6]
- 43 Weitkunat R, Sanders E, Lee PN. Meta-analysis of the relation between European and American smokeless tobacco and oral cancer. BMC Public Health 2007; 7: 334 [PMID: 18005437 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2458-7-334]
- Araghi M, Rosaria Galanti M, Lundberg M, Lager A, Engström G, Alfredsson L, Knutsson A, Norberg M, Sund M, 44 Wennberg P, Trolle Lagerros Y, Bellocco R, Pedersen NL, Östergren PO, Magnusson C. Use of moist oral snuff (snus) and pancreatic cancer: Pooled analysis of nine prospective observational studies. Int J Cancer 2017; 141: 687-693 [PMID: 28486772 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.30773]
- Bertuccio P, La Vecchia C, Silverman DT, Petersen GM, Bracci PM, Negri E, Li D, Risch HA, Olson SH, Gallinger S, 45 Miller AB, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Talamini R, Polesel J, Ghadirian P, Baghurst PA, Zatonski W, Fontham ET, Bamlet WR, Holly EA, Lucenteforte E, Hassan M, Yu H, Kurtz RC, Cotterchio M, Su J, Maisonneuve P, Duell EJ, Bosetti C, Boffetta P. Cigar and pipe smoking, smokeless tobacco use and pancreatic cancer: an analysis from the International Pancreatic Cancer Case-Control Consortium (PanC4). Ann Oncol 2011; 22: 1420-1426 [PMID: 21245160 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdq613]
- International Agency for Research on Cancer. A review of human carcinogens: Part E: Personal habits and indoor 46 combustions. Vol 100. IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum Lyon, France: IARC, 2012: 602
- 47 Frobert O, Reitan C, Hatsukami DK, Pernow J, Omerovic E, Andell P. Smokeless tobacco, snus, at admission for percutaneous coronary intervention and future risk for cardiac events. Open Heart 2019; 6: e001109 [PMID: 31673392 DOI: 10.1136/openhrt-2019-001109]



WJM

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Meta-Anal 2022 June 28; 10(3): 143-161

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.143

ISSN 2308-3840 (online)

META-ANALYSIS

Evidence analysis on the utilization of platelet-rich plasma as an adjuvant in the repair of rotator cuff tears

Sathish Muthu, Naveen Jeyaraman, Keval Patel, Girinivasan Chellamuthu, Vibhu Krishnan Viswanathan, Madhan Jeyaraman, Manish Khanna

Specialty type: Orthopedics

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C, C Grade D (Fair): D, D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Belluzzi E, Italy; Haque N, Bangladesh; Yang YZ, China; Zhang W, China; Zhu L, China

Received: December 18, 2021 Peer-review started: December 18. 2021 First decision: March 13, 2022 Revised: March 23, 2022 Accepted: June 21, 2022 Article in press: June 21, 2022 Published online: June 28, 2022



Sathish Muthu, Department of Orthopaedics, Government Medical College and Hospital, Dindigul 624001, Tamil Nadu, India

Sathish Muthu, Madhan Jeyaraman, Department of Biotechnology, School of Engineering and Technology, Sharda University, Greater Noida 201306, Uttar Pradesh, India

Sathish Muthu, Naveen Jeyaraman, Keval Patel, Girinivasan Chellamuthu, Madhan Jeyaraman, Manish Khanna, Research Associate, Indian Stem Cell Study GroupAssociation, Lucknow 226010, Uttar Pradesh, India

Sathish Muthu, Naveen Jeyaraman, Girinivasan Chellamuthu, Madhan Jeyaraman, Manish Khanna, Research Associate, Orthopaedic Research Group, Coimbatore 641001, Tamil Nadu, India

Naveen Jeyaraman, Keval Patel, Fellow in Orthopaedic Rheumatology, Dr Ram Manohar Lohiya National Law University, Lucknow 226010, Uttar Pradesh, India

Naveen Jeyaraman, Fellow in Joint Replacement, Atlas Hospitals (The Tamil Nadu Dr MGR Medical University), Tiruchirappalli 620002, Tamil Nadu, India

Girinivasan Chellamuthu, Fellow in Arthroscopy, Ortho-One Orthopaedic Speciality Centre (The Tamil Nadu Dr MGR Medical University), Coimbatore 641005, Tamil Nadu, India

Vibhu Krishnan Viswanathan, Department of Orthopaedics and Spine Surgery, Ganga Medical Centre and Hospitals, Coimbatore 641043, Tamil Nadu, India

Madhan Jeyaraman, Department of Orthopaedics, Faculty of Medicine, Sri Lalithambigai Medical College and Hospital, Dr MGR Educational and Research Institute, Chennai 600095, Tamil Nadu, India

Madhan Jeyaraman, South Texas Orthopaedic Research Institute, Laredo, TX 78045, United States

Manish Khanna, Department of Orthopaedics, Autonomous State Medical College, Ayodhya 224135, Uttar Pradesh, India

Corresponding author: Madhan Jeyaraman, Assistant Professor, Department of Orthopaedics, Faculty of Medicine, Sri Lalithambigai Medical College and Hospital, Dr MGR Educational and Research Institute, Chennai 600095, Tamil Nadu, India. madhanjeyaraman@gmail.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Platelet-rich plasma has been gaining popularity as an agent for biological augmentation either as the sole treatment modality or as an adjunct to surgical repair. There is substantial discrepancy in the results of the published meta-analyses; and the true efficacy and role of using autologous platelet-rich plasma (PRP) at the time of rotator cuff repair is still ambiguous.

AIM

To performed this systematic overview on the overlapping meta-analyses that analyzed autologous PRP as an adjuvant in the repair of rotator cuff tears and identify the studies which provide the current best evidence on this subject and generate recommendations for the same.

METHODS

We conducted independent and duplicate electronic database searches in PubMed, Web of Science, Scopus, Embase, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, Reference Citation Analysis and the Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects on September 8, 2021 to identify meta-analyses that analyzed the efficacy of PRP as an adjuvant in the repair of rotator cuff tears. Methodological quality assessment was made using Oxford Levels of Evidence, AMSTAR scoring and AMSTAR 2 grades. We then utilized the Jadad decision algorithm to identify the study with the highest quality to represent the current best evidence to generate the recommendation.

RESULTS

Twenty meta-analyses fulfilling the eligibility criteria were included. The AMSTAR scores of the included studies varied from 6-10 (mean: 7.9). All the included studies had critically low reliability in their summary of results due to their methodological flaws according to AMSTAR 2 grades. Significant heterogeneity was observed in the reporting of VAS, function outcome scores (long-term UCLA score, ASES score, SST score), operative time and long-term re-tear rates. Recent meta-analyses are more supportive of the role of intra-operative administration of PRPs at the bone-tendon interface in improving the overall healing and re-tear rates, functional outcome and pain. The initial size of the tear and type of repair performed do not seem to affect the benefit of PRPs. Among the different preparations used, leucocyte poor (LP)-PRP possibly offers the greatest benefit as a biological augment in these situations.

CONCLUSION

Based on this systematic overview, we give a level II recommendation that intra-operative use of PRPs at the bone-tendon interface can augment the healing rate, reduce re-tears, enhance functional outcome and mitigate pain in patients undergoing arthroscopic rotator cuff repair. LP-PRP possibly offers the greatest benefit in terms of healing rates, as compared with other platelet preparations.

Key Words: Platelet-rich plasma; Rotator cuff tears; Meta-analyses; Functional outcome; Re-tear; Recommendation

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Platelet-rich plasma has been gaining popularity as an agent for biological augmentation either as the sole treatment modality or as an adjunct to surgical repair. There is growing evidence on the positive effects of platelet-derived autologous growth factors on collagen production, cell proliferation, tissue revascularization and tendon regeneration thereby making them useful as an augment to arthroscopic rotator cuff repair. Based on our analysis, we found that the intra-operative use of PRPs at the bone-tendon interface can augment the healing rate, reduce re-tears, enhance functional outcome and mitigate pain in patients undergoing arthroscopic rotator cuff repair.

Citation: Muthu S, Jeyaraman N, Patel K, Chellamuthu G, Viswanathan VK, Jeyaraman M, Khanna M. Evidence analysis on the utilization of platelet-rich plasma as an adjuvant in the repair of rotator cuff tears. *World J Meta-Anal* 2022; 10(3): 143-161

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/full/v10/i3/143.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.143

Zaishidene® WJMA | https://www.wjgnet.com

INTRODUCTION

Despite substantial improvements and huge strides made in the surgical procedures and the fixation constructs employed in the repair of rotator cuff tears, high failure rates persist to remain a major cause for concern[1]. The reported failure rates of rotator cuff repairs vary between 8 and 94% [1-4]; and multitudinous factors including age, systemic comorbidities, smoking status, size of tear, degree of fatty infiltration and surgical approaches or techniques have been purported to determine the outcome in these patients[5].

With the understanding that there is still room for significant improvement, the need for employing additional modalities for ameliorating healing in this setting has been growingly acknowledged[6]. It has been well-demonstrated that degenerated rotator cuff tissue has substantially compromised microcirculation, as compared with normal, healthy tissue[7]. Moreover, the fibro-vascular scar at the region of the bone-tendon interface following repair of the rotator cuff tear is of poorer quality in comparison with the innate tissue[8]. Since these aforementioned biological factors have been postulated to be the potential underlying cause for impaired tendon healing capacity after surgical repair, a significant degree of promise has been recently placed on biological augmentation strategies for enhancing tissue healing after rotator cuff repair surgeries[1,9].

Platelet-rich plasma (PRP) is a platelet concentrate which is prepared by centrifugation of autologous whole blood; and contains various growth factors including platelet-derived growth factor, insulin-like growth factor, transforming growth factor- β , epidermal growth factor and vascular endothelial growth factor. Based on the preparations and constitution (leukocyte content and fibrin architecture), PRP have been classified as pure PRP, leucocyte and PRP (L-PRP), leucocyte and platelet-rich fibrin (L-PRF) and pure platelet-rich fibrin (P-PRF)[1-6]. PRP and platelet-rich fibrin matrix have been gaining popularity as agents for biological augmentation in diverse sub-specialties of orthopedic surgery, either as the sole treatment modality or as an adjunct to surgical repair[8,9]. There is growing evidence from animal-based models on the positive effects of platelet-derived autologous growth factors on collagen production, cell proliferation, tissue revascularization and tendon regeneration in the setting of operative arthroscopic rotator cuff repair (ARCR)[10,11]. Nevertheless, there is substantial discrepancy in the results of the published meta-analyses; and the true efficacy and role of using PRP at the time of rotator cuff repair is still ambiguous[12-16].

The overall purpose of the current study was to perform a detailed systematic review of the existing meta-analyses evaluating the role of PRP in patients undergoing rotator cuff repair; and to specifically provide answers to the following research questions, namely: (1) To evaluate the effect of this strategy on overall clinical outcome scores; (2) To evaluate the reduction in re-tear or failure rates; (3) To analyze the evolution and variations in the techniques of procurement and application of PRP across different studies; (4) To critically analyze and interpret the best currently available evidence and provide recommendations; and (5) To discern the major gaps in the existing literature and identify the scope for future research on this subject.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We present herewith a systematic overview of meta-analyses, performed by duly cohering the guidelines of the Back Review Group of Cochrane Collaboration[17]; and aim to report the same based on the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA)[18].

Search strategy

Two reviewers performed an independent literature search for systematic reviews with meta-analysis evaluating PRP therapy along with surgical repair for rotator cuff tear. The comprehensive search was performed on the electronic databases including PubMed, Web of Science, Scopus, Embase, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, Reference Citation Analysis and the Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects on September 8, 2021. Our search was neither restricted to any specific language nor confined to any particular period. The electronic search strategy was designed in accordance with the Peer Review of Electronic Search Strategy (PRESS) guidelines[19]. The keywords used for the search included: "Platelet-rich Plasma", "PRP", "rotator cuff repair", "rotator cuff tear", "clinical outcome", "re-tear rate", "failure rate", "Systematic Review", "Meta-analysis" together with Boolean operators such as "AND", "OR" and "NOT". A manual search of the key journals was made; and reference list of the selected articles was searched to identify studies not identified in the primary search. Additionally, a search was also made in the International prospective register of systematic reviews for any ongoing review which is nearing completion. All the studies meeting the inclusion criteria were included and analyzed. Any discrepancy between the two reviewers was resolved through discussion until a consensus was achieved. The PRISMA flow chart for the study selection into systematic overview has been shown in Figure 1.



DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.143 **Copyright** ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 1 PRISMA flow diagram of the included studies.

Inclusion criteria

Review articles were included in our study if they satisfied the following criteria: Systematic review with meta-analysis comparing surgical repair with and without PRP for rotator cuff tears. Studies which analyzed at least one of the outcome measures like Visual analog scale (VAS) score, Disabilities of the Arm, Shoulder and Hand (DASH) score, Constant score, University of California Los Angeles (UCLA) score, American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons (ASES) score, Simple Shoulder Test (SST) score, operating time, patient satisfaction, tendon healing and re-tear rates.

Exclusion criteria

Narrative reviews, systematic reviews without data pooling/meta-analysis, systematic reviews with mixed intervention groups, correspondence articles, pre-clinical studies, studies on animal models and cadaveric studies were excluded.

Data extraction

Data was extracted from meta-analyses by two reviewers independently. Notably, data extracted from the studies included: First author details, date of last literature search performed, year and journal of publication, number, and nature of studies included, language restrictions, criteria for inclusion and exclusion for studies, databases used for literature search, software employed for analysis, subgroup/sensitivity analysis, analysis of publication bias, conflict of interest, Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development, and Evaluation (GRADE) summary, and *I*² statistic value of variables in each meta-analysis. Disagreements were settled by consensus.

Assessment of quality of study methodology

The methodological quality of included reviews was evaluated using Oxford Levels of Evidence[20]. Additionally, the Assessment of Multiple Systematic Reviews (AMSTAR)[21] and its updated grading tool AMSTAR 2[22] were also used to assess their methodological robustness with good validity and reliability[23]. Two reviewers independently assessed quality of methodology of the included studies. Disagreements were settled by consensus.

Heterogeneity assessment

 I^2 test was used for the assessment of heterogeneity[24]. When $I^2 > 50\%$ and P < 0.1, heterogeneity is deemed to exist among included trials; and the reviewers evaluated whether the studies utilized sensitivity or subgroup analyses to assess the reasons for heterogeneity and strengthen the robustness of pooled data.

Application of Jadad decision algorithm

Variability in the findings among included meta-analyses was interpreted with the help of Jadad decision algorithm. As per Jadad *et al*[25], possible reasons for discordance in the results among studies include differences in study question, inclusion and exclusion criteria, quality assessment, data pooling/extraction and statistical analysis. Currently, this is the most commonly used algorithm for generating recommendations among meta-analyses with discordant results[26-29]. Two reviewers used this algorithm independently to arrive at a single meta-analysis representing the current best evidence in order to generate recommendations.

RESULTS

Search results

A comprehensive search of the electronic database generated 838 articles which were subjected to an initial screening for removing duplicate articles. This yielded 514 articles. Further screening of title and abstract resulted in the exclusion of 481 articles. Therefore, 33 articles qualified for reviewing the full-text. Upon full-text review by both reviewers, 13 were excluded. Finally, 20 meta-analyses were included in this systematic review[30-46,1,47,48]. These overlapping meta-analyses were published in different journals between 2012 and 2021; and the number of studies included in them ranged between 5 and 19 (Table 1). The publication years of the included studies in these meta-analyses ranged between 2008 and 2020 as shown in Supplementary Table 1.

Search methodology of the meta-analyses

Although the included meta-analyses made a comprehensive literature search, the search databases employed were not similar. Sixteen, 1 and 7 studies searched PubMed, Embase and Medline databases, respectively. While 2 of them searched the Cochrane library, one searched Web of Science. 18 searched Scopus, 16 Google Scholar, 3 Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL) database, 2 China National Knowledge Infrastructure (CNKI) database, 1 Wan fang and 2 meta-analyses searched VIP database. Of the 20 studies, 4 included studies only in English[1,42,43,46] while 7 others mentioned no linguistic restriction in their search criteria[30,33,38,40,41,44,45]. Further details regarding the search methodology employed in the included meta-analyses has been presented in Table 2.

Methodological quality

Using Oxford Levels of Evidence, the quality of included studies was determined based on the nature of primary studies considered in the analysis. Of the 20 studies analyzed, 6 were of level-II evidence, one level-III and the rest of them were of level III evidence (Table 3). Among the 20 studies, 12 used RevMan5.3, 4 used Stata software, 1 used open meta, 2 used R-foundation for data analyses; while in one study, the software employed was not mentioned (Table 3). Additionally, three studies utilized the GRADE system, 12 studies performed sensitivity analysis and 16 conducted sub-group analysis to explore the heterogeneity in their results. Eleven studies assessed for possible publication bias.

As shown in Table 4, AMSTAR scores of included studies ranged between 6 and 10 (mean 7.8). Based on AMSTAR-2 grading, none of the studies were without any critical methodological flaw in the conduction of meta-analysis. Among all included studies, the meta-analysis by Zhang *et al*[30] was found to be of the highest quality with an AMSTAR score of 10/11 (Table 4). However, this study also suffered from critical methodological flaws of including status of publication (*i.e.* grey literature) as a criterion for inclusion and did not provide the list of (included and excluded) studies.

Assessment of heterogeneity

All the studies included used *l*² statistic for heterogeneity assessment. Mild heterogeneity was noted in short-term UCLA score, tendon healing rates and patient satisfaction. Heterogeneity in the reporting of DASH score, Constant score and short-term re-tear rate was moderate; while heterogeneity of VAS, long-term UCLA score, ASES score, SST score, operative time and long-term re-tear rates was significant (Table 5). It is of utmost importance to probe into source of discordance among included studies, as recommendations generated are put into clinical practice and for developing public health-care policies [49]. The heterogeneity of results among the meta-analyses was primarily due to variation in the nature of primary studies included (other than RCTs).

Table 1 Characteristics of the included studies

SI. No	Ref.	Publication date	Publication journal	Literature search date	No. of studies included
1	Chahal <i>et al</i> [32], 2012	June 14, 2012	Arthroscopy: The Journal of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery	December 30, 2011	5
2	Moraes <i>et al</i> [31], 2013	December 23, 2013	Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews	March 25, 2013	19
3	Zhang et al[30], 2013	July 12, 2013	PLoS One	April 20, 2013	7
4	Li et al[<mark>33</mark>], 2014	June 7, 2014	Arthroscopy: The Journal of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery	May 1, 2013	7
5	Zhao et al[29], 2014	September 30, 2014	Arthroscopy: The Journal of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery	September, 2013	8
6	Warth <i>et al</i> [35], 2014	November 13, 2014	Arthroscopy: The Journal of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery	September, 2013	11
7	Vavken <i>et al</i> [<mark>36</mark>], 2015	March 12, 2015	The American Journal of Sports Medicine	August 1, 2014	13
8	Cai et al[38], 2015	October 8, 2015	Journal of Shoulder and Elbow Surgery	January, 2015	5
9	Xiao et al[<mark>37</mark>], 2016	October 30, 2016	International Journal of Clininical and Experimental Medicine	February 1, 2016	15
10	Hurley <i>et al</i> [40], 2018	February 21, 2018	The American Journal of Sports Medicine	March 24, 2017	18
11	Han et al[39], 2019	June 20, 2019	Journal of Orthopaedic Surgery and Research	September, 2016	13
12	Wang et al[41], 2019	July 29, 2019	PLoS One	September 15, 2018	8
13	Chen <i>et al</i> [42], 2019	November 19, 2019	The American Journal of Sports Medicine	December, 2017	18
14	Cavendish <i>et al</i> [<mark>43</mark>], 2020	May 1, 2020	Journal of Shoulder and Elbow Surgery	May 23, 2018	16
15	Hurley <i>et al</i> [44], 2020	July 30, 2020	The American Journal of Sports Medicine	March, 2020	13
16	Yang et al[45], 2020	October 14, 2020	Nature research	February 15, 2020	7
17	Zhao <i>et al</i> [<mark>46</mark>], 2020	November 18, 2020	Journal of Shoulder and Elbow Surgery	March, 2020	10
18	Ryan <i>et al</i> [1], 2021	March 17, 2021	Arthroscopy: The Journal of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery	June, 2020	17
19	Xu et al[48], 2021	July 13, 2021	The Orthopaedic Journal of Sports Medicine	June 20, 2020	14
20	Li et al[47], 2021	May 27, 2021	Arthroscopy: The Journal of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery	October 29, 2020	

Results of Jadad decision algorithm

The pooled results from each included meta-analysis are presented in Figure 2. To identify the study which provides the best possible evidence to generate treatment recommendations, the Jadad decision algorithm was adopted. Two authors independently applied the decision algorithm to determine the meta-analysis with the highest quality to develop recommendation on the use of PRP in ARCR. Considering that all the 20 studies aimed to answer similar clinical questions despite analyzing a varied spectrum of primary studies, the study with the highest quality was selected on the basis of its methodological quality, restrictions involved (such as language or publication status), databases involved and analysis protocols adopted (Figure 3).

Based on this algorithm, the meta-analysis by Zhang et al[30] was determined to be the highestquality study. This study observed no major benefits on overall clinical outcomes and re-tear rate following PRP administration in full-thickness rotator cuff tears; while a reduction in the rate of re-tears was demonstrated for small- and medium-sized tears. However, the selected study is also not free of critical methodological flaws based on AMSTAR 2 criteria. Hence, we analyzed the rationale for the development of the succedent systematic reviews as in Table 6 and tried to understand the evolution, variation in the techniques of procurement and application of PRP across different studies with due consideration to the high-quality evidence developed in the recent years and arrived at the following results.

Significant heterogeneity was observed in the reporting of VAS, function outcome scores (long-term UCLA score, ASES score, SST score), operative time and long-term re-tear rates. Recent meta-analyses are more supportive of the role of intra-operative administration of PRPs at the bone-tendon interface in



Tab	Table 2 Search methodology used by each study																				
SI. No	Search parameters	Chahal (2012)	Moraes (2013)	Zhang (2013)	Li (2014)	Zhao (2015)	Warth (2015)	Vavken (2015)	Cai (2015)	Xiao (2016)	Hurley (2018)	Han (2019)	Wang (2019)	Chen (2019)	Cavendish (2020)	Hurley (2020)	Yang (2020)	Zhao (2021)	Ryan (2021)	Xu (2021)	Li (2021)
1	Publication language restriction	Х	Х	NA	Х	Х	Х	Х	NA	Х	NA	Х	NA	\checkmark	\checkmark	NA	NA	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	NA
2	Publication status restriction	Х	NA	NA	NA	Х	NA	NA	NA	Х	Х	NA	NA	Х	NA	Х	NA	NA	NA	Х	NA
3	PubMed	\checkmark	Х	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	\checkmark
4	Medline	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х
5	Embase	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	х
6	Cochrane library	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	х
7	Web of Science	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
8	Scopus	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	\checkmark	\checkmark
9	Google Scholar	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	\checkmark	Х	\checkmark	х	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
10	CINAHL	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark
11	AMED	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
12	CNKI	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х
13	Wan Fang	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	х	Х	Х	Х
14	CBM literature	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	х	Х	х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	х	Х	Х	х	Х	Х	Х
15	VIP	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х

AMED: Allied and Complementary Medicine; CBM: Chinese BioMedical database; CINAHL: Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature; CNKI: Chinese National Knowledge Infrastructure; NA: Not available; VIP: Chinese Scientific Journals Database.

improving the overall healing and re-tear rates, functional outcome and pain. The initial size of the tear and type of repair performed do not seem to affect the benefit of PRPs. Among the different preparations used, leucocyte poor (LP)-PRP possibly offers the greatest benefit as a biological augment in these situations.

Major conclusions from the individual studies

Different studies employed specific criteria to include studies with an aim to provide more useful and relevant information as compared to the previously-published literature. Chen *et al*[42] (2019), Hurley *et*

Muthu S et al. PRP in rotator cuff tears

Table 3 Methodological information of each study																					
SI. No	Search parameters	Chahal (2012)	Moraes (2013)	Zhang (2013)	Li (2014)	Zhao (2015)	Warth (2015)	Vavken (2015)	Cai (2015)	Xiao (2016)	Hurley (2018)	Han (2019)	Wang (2019)	Chen (2019)	Cavendish (2020)	Hurley (2020)	Yang (2020)	Zhao (2021)	Ryan (2021)	Xu (2021)	Li (2021)
1	Primary study design	RCT, CCT,RCS	RCT	RCT	RCT	RCT	RCT CCT	RCT	RCT	RCTCCT	RCT	RCT	RCT	RCT	RCT	RCT	RCT	RCT	RCT	RCT	RCT
2	Level of Evidence	III	Ι	Ι	Π	Ι	II	Ι	Ι	II	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	II	Ι	Ι	II	Ι	Ι	Π
3	Software Used	RevMan 5.3	RevMan 5.3	RevMan 5.3	NA	RevMan 5.3	Open Meta	STATA 10	RevMan 5.3	RevMan 5.3	RevMan 5.3	RevMan 5.3	RevMan 5.3	STATA 15.1	STATA 13	R Foundation (netmeta package Version 0.9- 6 in R)	RevMan 5.3	RevMan 5.3	R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria	STATA 15	RevMan 5.3
4	GRADE Used	Х	\checkmark	Х	х	\checkmark	х	Х	Х	х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	х	х	Х	х	Х
5	Sensitivity Analysis	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	\checkmark	Х	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	Х	Х	\checkmark	Х	Х	\checkmark
6	Subgroup Analysis	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	х	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х
7	Publication Bias	Х	\checkmark	\checkmark	х	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	Х	х	х	Х	х	Х

CCT: Controlled clinical trial; GRADE: Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation system; NA: Not available; RCTs: Randomized controlled trials; RCS: Retrospective cohort study.

al[44] (2020), Zhao *et al*[46] (2021), Ryan *et al*[1] (2021) and Li *et al*[47] (2021) compared the effects of PRP preparations on the basis of their relative leukocyte concentrations[1,42,44,46,47].

The initial studies by Chahal *et al*[32] (2012), Moraes[31] (2013), Zhang *et al*[30] (2013), Li *et al*[33] (2014), Zhao *et al*[34] (2014) and Xiao *et al*[37] (2016) did not reveal any benefit following PRP application [31-34,37]. Warth *et al*[35] (2014), Hurley *et al*[44] (2018) and Xu *et al*[48] (2021) observed that PRP was more helpful in enhancing the healing rates of large-sized tears[44,48]. Vavken *et al*[36] (2015) and Cai *et al*[38] (2015) reported better outcome following PRP application in small- to medium-sized tears[36,38]. The recent studies published by Han *et al*[39] (2019), Wang *et al*[41] (2019), Chen *et al*[42] (2019), Yang *et al*[45] (2020) and Cavendish *et al*[43] (2020) concluded that intraoperative PRP application significantly enhanced the short- and long-term clinical outcome and mitigated the re-tear rates after RC repair[39,41-43,45]. The recently-published literature [Hurley *et al*[44] (2020), Zhao *et al*[46] (2021), Ryan *et al*[1] (2021), Li *et al*[47] (2021) and Xu *et al*[48] (2021)] also seemed to demonstrate better outcome (functional scores and re-tear rates) with LP-PRP, as compared with LR-PRP[1,33,44,46,48]. The individual data of the included studies are presented in Table 6.

Table 4 AMSTAR scores and AMSTAR 2 grading for included studies Cai Hurley SI. Chahal Moraes Zhang Li Warth Vavken Xiao Han Wang Chen Cavendish Hurley Yang Zhao Ryan Xu Li Zhao AMSTAR domains No (2019) (2021) (2021) (2021) (2013) (2013) (2014) (2015) (2015) (2015) (2015) (2016) (2018) (2019) (2019) (2020) (2020) (2020) (2021) (2012) Was a priori design provided? Were there duplicate study selection and data extraction? Was a comprehensive literature search performed? Was the status of publication (i.e. grey literature) used as an inclusion criterion? Was a list of studies (included and excluded) provided? Were the characteristics 1 of the included studies provided? Was the scientific quality 1 of the included studies assessed and documented? Was the scientific quality 1 of the included studies used appropriately in formulating conclusions? Were the methods used to combine the findings of studies appropriate? Was the likelihood of publication bias assessed? Was the conflict of interest stated? Total AMSTAR score Critical Methodological 3 Flaw

Non-Critical Flaw	1	1	1	1	1	3	1	1	2	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	2	1	1	1
AMSTAR 2 Grade	CL																			

AMSTAR: Assessing the Methodological Quality of Systematic Reviews; CL: Critically low.

DISCUSSION

To date, numerous RCTs have analyzed the efficacy of adjuvant PRP therapy in patients undergoing surgical repair of RC tears[6,30,39]. Although theoretically, biological augmentation with PRP can potentially enhance healing and mitigate failure rates after arthroscopic rotator cuff repair, our understanding of the exact role of PRP therapy in this scenario is still ambiguous[9,33]. Limited sample sizes, heterogeneity in the treatment protocols, PRP preparations and techniques employed; and the paucity of long- term results have been the major limitations of the currently published studies on this subject[1,6].

To further strengthen the results, multiple meta-analyses have been conducted to consolidate the findings of more recent RCTs, so as to provide the higher level of evidence on the effectiveness of the intervention in operatively-treated RC tears[6]. However, the spectra of primary studies included in the recent analysis and the databases utilized for study inclusion are still discordant[1,37,48]. Hence, a systematic overview of these overlapping meta-analyses was planned in order to identify the highest quality study among the available studies; as well as to formulate and generate recommendations regarding the use of adjuvant PRP in such situations.

Platelets are a source of high concentrations of different growth factors (like platelet-derived growth factor, transforming growth factor-beta, fibroblast growth factor, vascular endothelial growth factor and epidermal growth factor) which can potentially stimulate cell proliferation. They form a temporary matrix which can fill the defects and thereby provide a scaffold for cell migration and tissue remodeling [34]. The earliest meta-analysis on this subject was published by Chahal et al [32] in 2013. Although they observed marginal benefits in small and moderate sized tears, there was no major improvement in the overall re-tear rates or shoulder-specific outcomes after ARCR in larger or at-risk tears. Following this, in a Cochrane review, Moraes *et al*[31] reviewed studies involving intra-operative application of PRP; and concluded marginal benefits of PRP administration, especially with respect to improvements in short-term VAS and short-term re-tears. There has been a recent surge in the number of meta-analyses published on this subject since 2020[1,34,47,48]. While a majority of the older meta-analyses failed to show any major benefit of PRP therapy in this cohort of patients, more recent studies seem to re-iterate the potential benefits of adjuvant PRP treatment as evident from Figure 2. Older age, number of tendons involved, large tear size, duration of pre-operative symptoms and degree of pre-operative fatty degeneration have been postulated as some of the major factors predictive of high post-operative re-tear rates[32]. Table 6 discusses in detail the observations of each of these meta-analyses and enlists the reasons put forth by authors on the need for performing an additional meta-analysis in the presence of multiple pre-existing studies in the literature.

Among all the initial meta-analyses, the study with an excellent quality of methodology and a larger sample size and minimal heterogeneity was published by Zhang *et al*[30] in 2013. This study also

Tab	Table 5 <i>P</i> statistic values of variables analyzed in each meta-analysis																				
SI. No	Outcome variables	Chahal (2012)	Zhang (2013)	Moraes (2013)	Li (2014)	Zhao (2015)	Warth (2015)	Vavken (2015)	Cai (2015)	Xiao (2016)	Hurley (2018)	Han (2019)	Wang (2019)	Chen (2019)	Hurley (2020)	Yang (2020)	Cavendish (2020)	Zhao (2021)	Ryan (2021)	Xu (2021)	Li (2021)
1	VAS Score – Short term			29.9%+						0%-	38%-		0%-			60.5%+		0%+	0%+	0%+	
2	VAS Score - Long term			67%-			0%-			0%-	0%-	0%+	0%-	87.5%-	0%+	0%-		0%+		4%+	63%+
3	DASH Score - Short term									0%-			32%-			30%-					
4	DASH Score - Long term			0%-						NR-			0%-			0%-					32%-
5	Constant Score – Short term									30%+			0%+			0%+				23%+	
6	Constant Score – Long term	NR-	17%-	50%+	86%-	0%-	26%-		0%-	0%-	0%-	0%+	0%-	30.7%+	0%+	0%-		19%+	36%+	47%+	0%+
7	UCLA Score – Short term									0%+			8.9%+			0%+				0%+	
8	UCLA Score - Long term	NR-	0%-	35.18%-	75%-	0%-	0%-		60%-	47%-	0%-	47%+	12%+		0%+	0%-		49%+	64.18%-	63%+	46%+
9	ASES Score		0%-	0%-	46%-		58%-		0%-	54%-	0%-	26%-						0%-	41%-	52%-	0%+
10	SST Score	NR-	47%-	0%+	90%-		0%-		0%-	47%-		0%+							0%+		0%-
11	Operative time									85%-											
12	Patient Satisfaction			0%-						0%-											
13	Tendon healing rate								0%+	0%-					0%+			10%-			
14	Retear rate – Short term		0%-	25%+				15.2%-		30%-			0%+					0%+		0%-	
15	Retear rate - Long term	0%+	11%-	14%-	22%-	43%-		0%-	0%-	71%-		0%+	0%-	0%+	0%+	0%+	0%+	0%+	NA+	4.7%+	22%+

ASES: American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons; DASH: Disabilities of the Arm, Shoulder and Hand; SST: Simple Shoulder Test; UCLA: University of California Los Angeles; VAS: Visual analog scale.

concluded that adjuvant PRPs could reduce the re-tear rates in small and medium-sized rotator cuff tears but not in massive or full-thickness tears. The meta-analyses by Li et al [33] (2014) and Zhao et al [34] (2014) incorporated a few more later-published RCTs. Both these studies did not reveal any major benefits of PRPs in terms of both clinical outcome scores and re-tear rates.

Warth et al[35] (2014) conducted a meta-regression analysis to evaluate the effect of 6 different covariates (level of studies included, tear size, single- vs double-row repairs, types of PRP preparation, manual vs commercially available PRP preparations; and method of application of PRP) on overall clinical and structural outcome. They concluded that Constant scores were significantly improved when the PRPs were applied over the tendon-bone interface; and re-tears were significantly reduced in tears larger than 3 cm which were repaired using the double-row technique. In contrast, both the metaanalysis [Vavken et al[36]; Cai et al[38] (which included only RCTs)] published following this study revealed no benefit in large, full-thickness tears. In both these studies, PRPs enhanced healing rates only in small- to moderate-sized tears. Additionally, Vavken et al [36] concluded that despite its biological effectiveness; at the present costs, the use of PRPs is not a cost-effective strategy in arthroscopic repair of small- to moderate-sized RC tears. Another meta-analysis by Xiao et al[37] (2016) tried to enhance the power of the analysis by including both level I and II studies. Nevertheless, they too failed to reveal any major benefit in terms of both clinical outcome and re-tear rates. By being less selective in including studies for analysis, the quality of the meta-analysis also significantly deteriorated as compared to previous studies.

Between 2016 and 2018, many new RCTs were performed; and 4 new meta-analyses were published in 2018 and 2019 which included these recent studies as well. Hurley et al[40] (2018; involving 18 studies) compared PRP and platelet-rich fibrin (PRF) in ARCR. They concluded that PRPs improved pain score (short-term and long-term), Constant score and re-tear rates in RC tears of all sizes. Another similar study by Han et al[39] (involving 13 RCTs) also reported reduced re-tear rate and meliorated clinical outcome with PRP therapy in ARCR. Wang et al[41] (2019; included only 8 RCTs) observed good outcomes with PRPs when administered in ARCRs with a single-row technique. Chen et al[42] (2019) performed another higher quality meta-analysis (involving 18 level 1 studies) and concluded that longterm re-tear rates were significantly improved with PRP therapy. Additionally, the functional outcome scores (Constant score, UCLA score - at long- and short-terms) and VAS scores were better in the PRPtreated group. They also performed detailed sub-group analysis in 3 different categories and concluded that: a. Functional outcome measures were more significantly improved when multiple tendons were torn or ruptured, b. Leukocyte-rich PRP (LR-PRP) group had much better improvement in Constant scores as compared with LP-PRP, and c. Patients receiving gel-preparations of PRP had significantly greater Constant scores than their respective comparison groups. They also assessed the minimal clinically important differences (MCID) for these patient-related outcome (PRO) measures. It was concluded that although significant improvements were observed in multiple functional outcome measures in the PRP-treated patient group, none reached their respective MCID. They opined that despite a reasonable number of publications on this subject, limited data availability, substantial study heterogeneity and poor methodological quality hampered our ability to reach firm conclusions regarding PRPs.

Recent meta-analyses and their observations

Between 2020 and 2021, 7 new meta-analyses have been published on this topic. Owing to the availability of better quality, larger-scale RCTs over the recent years, these recent meta-analyses have been able to put forth stronger recommendations regarding the administration of PRPs. Cavendish et al [43] reported 16 RCTs and prospective trials (1045 participants), Hurley et al[44] included 13 RCTs (868 participants), Yang et al[45] analyzed 7 RCTs published between 2013 and 2018 (541 participants), Zhao et al[46] involved 10 RCTs (742 participants), Ryan et al[1] included 17 RCTs (1104 participants), Li et al [47] evaluated 23 RCTs (1440 patients) and Xu et al [48] studied 14 RCTs (923 patients). Hurley et al [44] analyzed RCTs comparing LP- or LR-PRP against controls, Zhao et al[46] evaluated studies involving LP-PRP, Ryan et al[1] evaluated 4 different types of PRPs (pure platelet-rich plasma [P-PRP], leukocyte and platelet-rich plasma, pure platelet-rich fibrin, and leukocyte and platelet-rich fibrin); and Li et al [47] analyzed RCTs comparing PRP or PRF to controls in ARCR. The remaining 3 studies included all RCTs evaluating the overall role of PRPs (with or without comparison to a control group)[43,45,48].

All the 7 recent meta-analyses support the role of PRPs in ARCR. Overall, based on their recommendations, PRPs are preferably delivered intra-operatively at the bone-tendon interface for the best possible outcome. Cavendish *et al*[43] reported that PRPs significantly reduce the failure rates after ARCR, irrespective of the size of tear. Xu et al [48] demonstrated substantially improved re-tear rates following intra-operative use of PRP in large- or massive-sized tears. Hurley et al [44] concluded that LP-PRP reduces re-tear, enhances healing potential and improves PRO, as compared with a control. Nevertheless, they could not make any strong recommendations regarding its superiority or inferiority as a biological augment, in comparison with LR-PRPs. Even in the meta-analysis by Zhao et al[46], LP-PRP was demonstrated to significantly reduce medium- and long-term post-operative re-tear rates in patients undergoing ARCR, irrespective of the size of tear and the technique of repair. Nevertheless, when defined in terms of MCID, the use of LP-PRP failed to reveal any clinically meaningful benefits in terms of post-operative VAS and PRO measures. Among the 4 different types of PRP employed, only P-





Not Favoring PRP adjuvant therapy

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.143 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 2 Pooled results of each included meta-analyses along with their heterogeneity. ASES: American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons; DASH: Disabilities of the Arm, Shoulder and Hand; SST: Simple Shoulder Test; UCLA: University of California Los Angeles; VAS: Visual analog scale.



Figure 3 Flowchart of Jadad decision algorithm.

PRP demonstrated statistically significant improvement in re-tear rate and Constant score. Theoretically, LP-PRP enhances the formation of normal collagen and mitigates the synthesis of inflammatory mediators. On the other hand, LR-PRP augments the cell catabolism and inflammatory response, both of which are not conducive for tendon healing. Therefore, in acute traumatic RC tears, use of LR-PRP may



Table 6 Systematic Reviews or Meta-analyses with their level of evidence with the authors' rationale for repeating the systematic review along with their concluding remarks

SI. No.	Ref.	Date of publication	Date of last literature search	Level of evidence	Rationale for repeating meta-analysis	Conclusion
1	Chahal <i>et al</i> [<mark>32</mark>], 2012	June 14, 2012	December 30, 2011	Ш	Earliest meta-analysis	No effect of PRP on overall retear rates or shoulder-specific outcomes after ARCR
2	Moraes <i>et al</i> [31], 2013	December 23, 2013	March 25, 2013	Ι	Only included studies with intra-operative PRP application after ARCR	Some benefit of PRP in improving pain with comparable rates of retear (after 2 yr) between PRP and non-PRP groups
3	Zhang <i>et al</i> [<mark>30</mark>], 2013	July 12, 2013	April 20, 2013	Ι	Included studies with high methodological quality and provided results without significant heterogeneity supported by larger number of patients	No benefit of PRP on overall clinical outcomes and retear rate in full- thickness rotator cuff tears and decrease in rate of retears with PRP for small- and medium-sized rotator cuff tear
4	Li et al[<mark>33</mark>], 2014	June 7, 2014	May 1, 2013	П	All high-quality (7 studies) RCTs included (compared with previous studies)	No benefit with PRP regarding retear and clinical outcomes for ARCR
5	Zhao <i>et al</i> [29], 2014	September 30, 2014	September, 2013	Ι	Newer RCTs as compared with previous meta- analysis	No benefit of PRP in ARCR of full- thickness tears in terms of similar retear rates and clinical outcomes
6	Warth <i>et al</i> [35], 2014	September 13, 2014	September, 2013	П	Meta-regression analyses to evaluate the effects of 6 covariates such as inclusion of Level II studies, initial tear size, single- <i>vs</i> double-row repair constructs, varying PRP preparation, manual <i>vs</i> commercially available PRP preparation systems, method of PRP application on overall clinical and structural outcomes	No statistically significant differences in outcome scores or retear rate with the use of PRP. However, significant improvement in Constant scores when PRPs applied at tendon-bone interface and significant reduction in retear rate with PRP in tears > 3 cm repaired with double-row technique
7	Vavken <i>et</i> al[<mark>36]</mark> , 2015	March 12, 2015	August 1, 2014	Ι	To know if addition of PRP to ARCR results in statistically relevant as well as clinically meaningful reduction in retear rates along with analysis of its safety with difference in complication rates and its cost-effectiveness	PRP proved to be an effective and safe way of reducing retear rates in the arthroscopic repair of small- and medium-sized rotator cuff tears. However, no evidence to support its use in large and massive tear
8	Cai <i>et al</i> [<mark>38</mark>], 2015	October 8, 2015	January, 2015	Ι	Meta-analysis of level I studies	PRP in full-thickness rotator cuff repairs showed no statistically significant difference in clinical outcome but demonstrated significant reduction in failure-to-heal rate for small-to- moderate tears
9	Xiao <i>et al</i> [<mark>37</mark>], 2016	October 30, 2016	February 1, 2016	Π	All level I and II evidence studies – included to enhance power of meta-analysis (15 studies)	No significant difference in the re-tear rates and clinical efficacy
10	Hurley <i>et al</i> [<mark>40</mark>], 2018	February 21, 2018	March 24, 2017	Ι	First study to find that PRP was associated with significant improvement in tendon healing rates in tears > 3 cm with 9 new studies that have been published till Cai <i>et al</i> [38], 2015	Use of PRP in rotator cuff repair improves the healing rates, pain levels, and functional outcomes. But PRF shows no benefit in improving tendon healing rates or functional outcomes
11	Han <i>et al</i> [<mark>39]</mark> , 2019	June 20, 2019	September, 2016	Ι	Inclusion of new RCTs, as compared with previous meta-analysis with improved pooled effect size	PRP treatment with ARCR showed decreases retear rate and improves clinical outcome
12	Wang <i>et al</i> [41], 2019	July 29, 2019	September 15, 2018	Ι	To ensure homogeneity of data, only studies using PRP in full-thickness tears included along with addition of new high-level RCTs	PRP improved the short-term outcomes such as pain, retear rate, and shoulder function after ARCR in full-thickness rotator cuff tears. PRP when used in single-row fixation of ARCR demonstrated improved clinical outcomes.
13	Chen <i>et al</i> [42], 2019	September 19, 2019	December, 2017	Ι	Exclusively reviewed only level 1 RCTs with multiple sub-groups, and comparative quantitative analysis with MCID on effects of LR-PRP vs LP-PRP, gel vs non-gel preparations, and tendon-specific outcomes analyzed	Long-term retear significantly decreased with PRP. Several PROs such as constant score, VAS, retear rate significantly improved in PRP-treated patients. However, all analyzed PROs failed to reach the 5% MCID threshold. Hence authors neither recommended nor discouraged the use of PRP for rotator cuff injuries

 Jaisbideng®
 WJMA
 https://www.wjgnet.com

14	Cavendish <i>et al</i> [43], 2020	May 1, 2020	May 23, 2018	Π	Included 7 out of 16 studies published in the past 4 yr with larger sample size to reduce risk of type II error noted in previous studies	Intraoperative use of PRP reduces the failure risk following rotator cuff repair and has a consistent effect regardless of tear size and showed 25% reduction in the overall risk of failure in rotator cuff repairs
15	Hurley <i>et al</i> [44], 2020	July 30, 2020	March, 2020	Ι	To ascertain whether there is evidence to support the use of LP- or LR-PRP as an adjunct to ARCR	LP-PRP reduces rate of retear and/or incomplete tendon healing after ARCR and improves patient-reported outcomes as compared with control whereas whether LP-PRP improves the tendon healing rate when compared with LR-PRP remained unclear
16	Yang <i>et al</i> [45], 2020	October 14, 2020	February 15, 2020	Ι	Inclusion of studies that dealt with PRP application on bone-tendon interface only during arthroscopic repair and studies that administered only PRP and not any other platelet-rich matrix to lower bias caused by different materials. All included RCTs were conducted on patients with full thickness rotator cuff tear who received diagnoses based on preoperative MRI or sonography	Application of PRP shown to be beneficial in reducing the retear rate and improving the functional outcomes during the short-term follow-up of single-row repair
17	Zhao <i>et al</i> [46], 2020	November 18, 2020	March, 2020	П	Meta-analysis of level I and II studies based on MCID values to comprehensively assess clinical efficacy of LP-PRP only for ARCR mainly to avoid heterogeneity due to different types of PRP	LP-PRP - significantly reduces the postoperative retear rate in medium and long term regardless of tear size and method used for repair. But no clinically meaningful effects in terms of postoperative pain and patient-reported outcomes were noted
18	Ryan et al [1], 2021	March 17, 2021	June, 2020	Ι	Involved stratified pooled data on basis of leukocyte concentration, liquid and solid formulation, and all 4 types of PRP (P-PRP, P- PRF, LP-PRP, LP-PRF)	This analysis demonstrates significant reductions in retear when rotator cuff repair is augmented with PRP. LP-PRP appears to be most effective formulation, resulting in significantly improved retear rates and clinical outcome scores when compared with controls
19	Xu et al [48], 2021	May 27, 2021	October 29, 2020	П	Analyzed PRP and PRF separately and PRP was sub grouped into leukocyte-poor and leukocyte- rich PRP. Compared with study by Hurley <i>et al</i> 5 more RCTs included. Cochrane Collaboration risk of bias tool- adopted and retear rate was analyzed based on duration of follow-up into 2 subgroups with a cut off of 2 yr	PRP in ARCR improved pain and functional outcome, reduces retear rates. PRF improved only the Constant score. Significant reduction of retear rate in leukocyte-poor PRP when followed- up > 2 yr
20	Li et al [47] , 2021	July 13, 2021	June 20, 2020	Ι	Strict eligibility criteria enforced in the inclusion of RCTs along with subgroup analysis, based on PRP preparation, time of administration, size of tear, type of repair, to assess the real utility of PRP	ARCR with PRP significantly improved long-term retear, shoulder pain and long-term shoulder function scores and intraoperative application of leukocyte- poor plasma for large to massive tears contributed to significant decrease in retear rates

ARCR: Arthroscopic rotator cuff repair; LP: Leukocyte poor; LP-PRF: Leucocyte poor - platelet rich fibrin; LP-PRP: Leucocyte poor - platelet rich plasma; LR: Leucocyte rich; MCID: Minimum clinically identifiable difference; P-PRF: Pure platelet rich fibrin; P-PRP: Pure platelet rich plasma; PRF: Platelet rich fibrin; PRO: Patient reported outcomes; PRP: Platelet rich plasma; RCTs: Randomized controlled trials.

> impair post-operative tissue healing. These recent meta-analyses also seem to indicate the superiority of LP-PRP (over LR-PRP) in ARCR[48]. Thus, despite multiple studies published on this topic, the literature is still unclear on whether the use of PRP is more beneficial in massive and full-thickness tears or smaller and partial thickness injuries [36,38,44,48]. A majority of the studies in the literature have also not clearly determined the correlation between the type of RC repair and the effect of PRP application [29-40,42-48]. However, two recent studies [Wang et al[41] (2019) and Yang et al[45] (2020)] have shown better outcome with PRP use following single-row RC repairs[6,41].

> These recent studies have also cautioned regarding significant heterogeneity in the available preparations of PRPs, which leads to inconsistent outcome and difficulty in making strong recommendations in favor or against this treatment modality. Yang et al[45] demonstrated a significant decrease in re-tears as well as a substantial improvement in short-term pain severity (VAS) and short-term functional outcome (Constant and UCLA scores). In a sub-group analysis, they also demonstrated meliorated outcomes (in terms of VAS, functional scores and re-tear) in both single- and double-row repair groups. In a comparison study by Li et al [47] between PRP and PRF, PRP demonstrated significant improvement in pain, functional outcome and re-tears; while PRF only improved Constant score.

Directions for future

Although PRP has been considered as a minimally-invasive effective non-operative treatment methodology for partial RC tears[50], its utility as an adjuvant in the ARCR needs further refinement to preclude the heterogeneity in the results obtained and achieve consistent beneficial effects of the additive intervention performed. For example, role of repeat administration of PRP and utility of scaffolds as a medium of sustained delivery of the growth factors from the platelet concentrate may provide even more beneficial effects compared to the single direct use post-ARCR[51]. Although our systematic overview establishes the efficacy of PRP as an adjuvant to ARCR, there remains heterogeneity among the study results obtained due to the variability in the preparation and the utility of PRP. To clarify these aspects, blinded RCTs investigating the above-mentioned lacunae are required in the future.

Limitations

This study has some limitations. The quality of the meta-analyses identified in our study were of Level I/II evidence due to the quality of the included primary studies in them. Hence, we were unable to provide a level I recommendation on the utility of PRP in ARCR with the existing literature. This systematic overview may be influenced by the limitations and biases involved in the meta-analyses and their primary studies. Moreover, selecting the meta-analysis of highest quality based on the Jadad algorithm generates recommendations based on the results of the selected meta-analysis at the cost of studies missed from their primary search as highlighted in Supplementary Table 1. Moreover, we identified many recent meta-analyses, apart from the meta-analysis selected through the Jadad algorithm, which had the power of the recent RCTs on the subject. Hence, we resorted to give collaborative documentation based on all the recent evidence though they lack the methodological robustness of the study identified by the Jadad algorithm thereby making the final level of recommendation that was achieved out of this study to be Level II. Heterogeneity was noted across the studies in terms of their methods of preparation, use of activators and method of application of PRP which could have accounted for the variability noted across the primary studies and the meta-analyses that included them into analysis.

CONCLUSION

Based on our systematic overview of the existing meta-analyses, we could observe that despite multiple publications on this subject over the past years, methodological quality of the included studies and heterogeneity in protocols employed across different individual trials continue to remain major impediments in clearly defining the role of PRPs in ARCR. Nevertheless, the recent meta-analysis published over the past 2 years to 3 years seems to indicate a clear benefit of intra-operative use of PRPs at the bone-tendon interface in terms of post-operative pain, functional outcome and re-tear rates (irrespective of the type of repair performed). Although the older studies supported its role in only small to moderate tears, recent studies indicate a definite benefit in tears of all sizes (including massive ones). Among the different preparations used, LP-PRP possibly offers the greatest benefit as a biological augment in these situations.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Platelet-rich plasma has been gaining popularity as an agent for biological augmentation either as the sole treatment modality or as an adjunct to surgical repair.

Research motivation

There is growing evidence on the positive effects of platelet-derived autologous growth factors on collagen production, cell proliferation, tissue revascularization and tendon regeneration thereby making them useful as an augment to arthroscopic rotator cuff repair.

Research objectives

The overall purpose of the current study was to perform a detailed systematic review of the existing meta-analyses evaluating the role of PRP in patients undergoing rotator cuff repair; and to specifically provide answers to the following research questions, namely: (1) To evaluate the effect of this strategy on overall clinical outcome scores; (2) To evaluate the reduction in re-tear or failure rates; (3) To analyze the evolution and variations in the techniques of procurement and application of PRP across different studies; (4) To critically analyze and interpret the best currently available evidence and provide recommendations; and (5) To discern the major gaps in the existing literature and identify the scope for



future research on this subject.

Research methods

We then utilized the Jadad decision algorithm to identify the study with the highest quality to represent the current best evidence to generate the recommendation.

Research results

Recent meta-analyses are more supportive of the role of intra-operative administration of PRPs at the bone-tendon interface in improving the overall healing and re-tear rates, functional outcome and pain. The initial size of the tear and type of repair performed do not seem to affect the benefit of PRPs. Among the different preparations used, leucocyte poor (LP)-PRP possibly offers the greatest benefit as a biological augment in these situations.

Research conclusions

Based on this systematic overview, we give a Level II recommendation that intra-operative use of PRPs at the bone-tendon interface can augment the healing rate, reduce re-tears, enhance functional outcome and mitigate pain in patients undergoing arthroscopic rotator cuff repair.

Research perspectives

LP-PRP possibly offers the greatest benefit in terms of healing rates as compared with other platelet preparations.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Muthu S conducted the research along with Viswanathan VK, Jeyaraman N, Patel K, Chellamuthu G, Jeyaraman M and Khanna M helped in the conduction of the study; All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: None of the authors have a conflict of interest over the subject presented.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: India

ORCID number: Sathish Muthu 0000-0002-7143-4354; Naveen Jeyaraman 0000-0002-4362-3326; Keval Patel 0000-0002-4693-7523; Girinivasan Chellamuthu 0000-0001-5800-714X; Vibhu Krishnan Viswanathan 0000-0002-3804-1698; Madhan Jeyaraman 0000-0002-9045-9493; Manish Khanna 0000-0002-2890-869X.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Liu JH

REFERENCES

- 1 Ryan J, Imbergamo C, Sudah S, Kirchner G, Greenberg P, Monica J, Gatt C. Platelet-Rich Product Supplementation in Rotator Cuff Repair Reduces Retear Rates and Improves Clinical Outcomes: A Meta-analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Arthroscopy 2021; 37: 2608-2624 [PMID: 33744318 DOI: 10.1016/j.arthro.2021.03.010]
- 2 Boileau P, Brassart N, Watkinson DJ, Carles M, Hatzidakis AM, Krishnan SG. Arthroscopic repair of full-thickness tears of the supraspinatus: does the tendon really heal? J Bone Joint Surg Am 2005; 87: 1229-1240 [PMID: 15930531 DOI: 10.2106/JBJS.D.02035]
- 3 Franceschi F, Ruzzini L, Longo UG, Martina FM, Zobel BB, Maffulli N, Denaro V. Equivalent clinical results of arthroscopic single-row and double-row suture anchor repair for rotator cuff tears: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Sports Med 2007; 35: 1254-1260 [PMID: 17554104 DOI: 10.1177/0363546507302218]
- Grasso A, Milano G, Salvatore M, Falcone G, Deriu L, Fabbriciani C. Single-row versus double-row arthroscopic rotator cuff repair: a prospective randomized clinical study. Arthroscopy 2009; 25: 4-12 [PMID: 19111212 DOI: 10.1016/j.arthro.2008.09.018



- 5 Sugaya H, Maeda K, Matsuki K, Moriishi J. Repair integrity and functional outcome after arthroscopic double-row rotator cuff repair. A prospective outcome study. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2007; 89: 953-960 [PMID: 17473131 DOI: 10.2106/JBJS.F.00512
- Saltzman BM, Jain A, Campbell KA, Mascarenhas R, Romeo AA, Verma NN, Cole BJ. Does the Use of Platelet-Rich 6 Plasma at the Time of Surgery Improve Clinical Outcomes in Arthroscopic Rotator Cuff Repair When Compared With Control Cohorts? Arthroscopy 2016; 32: 906-918 [PMID: 26725454 DOI: 10.1016/j.arthro.2015.10.007]
- P B, E W, A N, M K, T M, S D, W M. Microcirculation associated with degenerative rotator cuff lesions. In vivo 7 assessment with orthogonal polarization spectral imaging during arthroscopy of the shoulder. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2003; 85 Accessed 26 November 2021. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12637434/
- 8 Thomopoulos S, Williams GR, Soslowsky LJ. Tendon to bone healing: differences in biomechanical, structural, and compositional properties due to a range of activity levels. J Biomech Eng 2003; 125: 106-113 [PMID: 12661203 DOI: 10.1115/1.1536660]
- Fealy S, Adler RS, Drakos MC, Kelly AM, Allen AA, Cordasco FA, Warren RF, O'Brien SJ. Patterns of vascular and anatomical response after rotator cuff repair. Am J Sports Med 2006; 34: 120-127 [PMID: 16260468 DOI: 10.1177/0363546505280212
- Randelli P, Arrigoni P, Ragone V, Aliprandi A, Cabitza P. Platelet rich plasma in arthroscopic rotator cuff repair: a 10 prospective RCT study, 2-year follow-up. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2011; 20: 518-528 [PMID: 21570659 DOI: 10.1016/j.jse.2011.02.008
- 11 Castricini R, Longo UG, De Benedetto M, Panfoli N, Pirani P, Zini R, Maffulli N, Denaro V. Platelet-rich plasma augmentation for arthroscopic rotator cuff repair: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Sports Med 2011; 39: 258-265 [PMID: 21160018 DOI: 10.1177/0363546510390780]
- Gulotta LV, Kovacevic D, Ehteshami JR, Dagher E, Packer JD, Rodeo SA. Application of bone marrow-derived 12 mesenchymal stem cells in a rotator cuff repair model. Am J Sports Med 2009; 37: 2126-2133 [PMID: 19684297 DOI: 10.1177/0363546509339582
- Bielecki T, Dohan Ehrenfest DM. Platelet-rich plasma (PRP) and Platelet-Rich Fibrin (PRF): surgical adjuvants, 13 preparations for in situ regenerative medicine and tools for tissue engineering. Curr Pharm Biotechnol 2012; 13: 1121-1130 [PMID: 21740380 DOI: 10.2174/138920112800624292]
- 14 Malavolta EA, Gracitelli ME, Ferreira Neto AA, Assunção JH, Bordalo-Rodrigues M, de Camargo OP. Platelet-rich plasma in rotator cuff repair: a prospective randomized study. Am J Sports Med 2014; 42: 2446-2454 [PMID: 25086065 DOI: 10.1177/0363546514541777]
- Bava ED, Barber FA. Platelet-rich plasma products in sports medicine. Phys Sportsmed 2011; 39: 94-99 [PMID: 22030945 15 DOI: 10.3810/psm.2011.09.1925]
- Beitzel K, Allen D, Apostolakos J, Russell RP, McCarthy MB, Gallo GJ, Cote MP, Mazzocca AD. US definitions, current 16 use, and FDA stance on use of platelet-rich plasma in sports medicine. J Knee Surg 2015; 28: 29-34 [PMID: 25268794 DOI: 10.1055/s-0034-1390030]
- 17 Furlan AD, Malmivaara A, Chou R, Maher CG, Deyo RA, Schoene M, Bronfort G, van Tulder MW; Editorial Board of the Cochrane Back, Neck Group. 2015 Updated Method Guideline for Systematic Reviews in the Cochrane Back and Neck Group. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2015; 40: 1660-1673 [PMID: 26208232 DOI: 10.1097/BRS.000000000001061]
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG; PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and metaanalyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS Med 2009; 6: e1000097 [PMID: 19621072 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097]
- 19 McGowan J, Sampson M, Salzwedel DM, Cogo E, Foerster V, Lefebvre C. PRESS Peer Review of Electronic Search Strategies: 2015 Guideline Statement. J Clin Epidemiol 2016; 75: 40-46 [PMID: 27005575 DOI: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.01.021]
- Slobogean G, Bhandari M. Introducing levels of evidence to the Journal of Orthopaedic Trauma: implementation and 20 future directions. J Orthop Trauma 2012; 26: 127-128 [PMID: 22330974 DOI: 10.1097/BOT.0b013e318247c931]
- 21 Shea BJ, Grimshaw JM, Wells GA, Boers M, Andersson N, Hamel C, Porter AC, Tugwell P, Moher D, Bouter LM. Development of AMSTAR: a measurement tool to assess the methodological quality of systematic reviews. BMC Med Res Methodol 2007; 7: 10 [PMID: 17302989 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2288-7-10]
- 22 Shea BJ, Reeves BC, Wells G, Thuku M, Hamel C, Moran J, Moher D, Tugwell P, Welch V, Kristjansson E, Henry DA. AMSTAR 2: a critical appraisal tool for systematic reviews that include randomised or non-randomised studies of healthcare interventions, or both. BMJ 2017; 358: j4008 [PMID: 28935701 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.j4008]
- Sathish M, Eswar R. Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis in Spine Surgery-How Good Are They in Methodological 23 Quality? Global Spine J 2021; 11: 378-399 [PMID: 32875866 DOI: 10.1177/2192568220906810]
- 24 Higgins JP, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. BMJ 2003; 327: 557-560 [PMID: 12958120 DOI: 10.1136/bmi.327.7414.557]
- 25 Jadad AR, Cook DJ, Browman GP. A guide to interpreting discordant systematic reviews. CMAJ 1997; 156: 1411-1416 [PMID: 9164400]
- 26 Ding F, Jia Z, Zhao Z, Xie L, Gao X, Ma D, Liu M. Total disc replacement versus fusion for lumbar degenerative disc disease: a systematic review of overlapping meta-analyses. Eur Spine J 2017; 26: 806-815 [PMID: 27448810 DOI: 10.1007/s00586-016-4714-v
- Fu BS, Jia HL, Zhou DS, Liu FX. Surgical and Non-Surgical Treatment for 3-Part and 4-Part Fractures of the Proximal 27 Humerus: A Systematic Review of Overlapping Meta-Analyses. Orthop Surg 2019; 11: 356-365 [PMID: 31207136 DOI: 10.1111/os.12486]
- 28 Mascarenhas R, Chalmers PN, Sayegh ET, Bhandari M, Verma NN, Cole BJ, Romeo AA. Is double-row rotator cuff repair clinically superior to single-row rotator cuff repair: a systematic review of overlapping meta-analyses. Arthroscopy 2014; 30: 1156-1165 [PMID: 24821226 DOI: 10.1016/j.arthro.2014.03.015]
- 29 Zhao Y, Yang S, Ding W. Unilateral versus bilateral pedicle screw fixation in lumbar fusion: A systematic review of overlapping meta-analyses. PLoS One 2019; 14: e0226848 [PMID: 31860651 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0226848]
- 30 Zhang Q, Ge H, Zhou J, Cheng B. Are platelet-rich products necessary during the arthroscopic repair of full-thickness



rotator cuff tears: a meta-analysis. PLoS One 2013; 8: e69731 [PMID: 23874991 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0069731]

- Moraes VY, Lenza M, Tamaoki MJ, Faloppa F, Belloti JC. Platelet-rich therapies for musculoskeletal soft tissue injuries. 31 Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014; CD010071 [PMID: 24782334 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD010071.pub3]
- 32 Chahal J, Van Thiel GS, Mall N, Heard W, Bach BR, Cole BJ, Nicholson GP, Verma NN, Whelan DB, Romeo AA. The role of platelet-rich plasma in arthroscopic rotator cuff repair: a systematic review with quantitative synthesis. Arthroscopy 2012; 28: 1718-1727 [PMID: 22694941 DOI: 10.1016/j.arthro.2012.03.007]
- 33 Li X, Xu CP, Hou YL, Song JQ, Cui Z, Yu B. Are platelet concentrates an ideal biomaterial for arthroscopic rotator cuff repair? Arthroscopy 2014; 30: 1483-1490 [PMID: 24913394 DOI: 10.1016/j.arthro.2014.03.020]
- Zhao JG, Zhao L, Jiang YX, Wang ZL, Wang J, Zhang P. Platelet-rich plasma in arthroscopic rotator cuff repair: a meta-34 analysis of randomized controlled trials. Arthroscopy 2015; 31: 125-135 [PMID: 25278352 DOI: 10.1016/j.arthro.2014.08.008]
- 35 Warth RJ, Dornan GJ, James EW, Horan MP, Millett PJ. Clinical and structural outcomes after arthroscopic repair of fullthickness rotator cuff tears with and without platelet-rich product supplementation: a meta-analysis and meta-regression. Arthroscopy 2015; 31: 306-320 [PMID: 25450417 DOI: 10.1016/j.arthro.2014.09.007]
- Vavken P, Sadoghi P, Palmer M, Rosso C, Mueller AM, Szoelloesy G, Valderrabano V. Platelet-Rich Plasma Reduces 36 Retear Rates After Arthroscopic Repair of Small- and Medium-Sized Rotator Cuff Tears but Is Not Cost-Effective. Am J Sports Med 2015; 43: 3071-3076 [PMID: 25767267 DOI: 10.1177/0363546515572777]
- 37 Xiao W, Luo R, Sun J, Chen J, Ma Q, Cai X, Liu P. Efficacy and clinical outcomes of platelet-rich plasma for arthroscopic repair rotator cuff tears: a meta-analysis, 10
- 38 Cai YZ, Zhang C, Lin XJ. Efficacy of platelet-rich plasma in arthroscopic repair of full-thickness rotator cuff tears: a metaanalysis. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2015; 24: 1852-1859 [PMID: 26456434 DOI: 10.1016/j.jse.2015.07.035]
- 39 Han C, Na Y, Zhu Y, Kong L, Eerdun T, Yang X, Ren Y. Is platelet-rich plasma an ideal biomaterial for arthroscopic rotator cuff repair? J Orthop Surg Res 2019; 14: 183 [PMID: 31221198 DOI: 10.1186/s13018-019-1207-9]
- Hurley ET, Lim Fat D, Moran CJ, Mullett H. The Efficacy of Platelet-Rich Plasma and Platelet-Rich Fibrin in 40 Arthroscopic Rotator Cuff Repair: A Meta-analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Am J Sports Med 2019; 47: 753-761 [PMID: 29466688 DOI: 10.1177/0363546517751397]
- 41 Wang C, Xu M, Guo W, Wang Y, Zhao S, Zhong L. Clinical efficacy and safety of platelet-rich plasma in arthroscopic full-thickness rotator cuff repair: A meta-analysis. PLoS One 2019; 14: e0220392 [PMID: 31356630 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0220392]
- 42 Chen XT, Jones IA, Park C, Vangsness CT Jr. Use of Platelet-Rich Plasma for the Improvement of Pain and Function in Rotator Cuff Tears: Response. Am J Sports Med 2020; 48: NP39-NP41 [PMID: 32352334 DOI: 10.1177/0363546520918190
- 43 Cavendish PA, Everhart JS, DiBartola AC, Eikenberry AD, Cvetanovich GL, Flanigan DC. The effect of perioperative platelet-rich plasma injections on postoperative failure rates following rotator cuff repair: a systematic review with metaanalysis. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2020; 29: 1059-1070 [PMID: 32305103 DOI: 10.1016/j.jse.2020.01.084]
- Hurley ET, Colasanti CA, Anil U, Luthringer TA, Alaia MJ, Campbell KA, Jazrawi LM, Strauss EJ. The Effect of 44 Platelet-Rich Plasma Leukocyte Concentration on Arthroscopic Rotator Cuff Repair: A Network Meta-analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Am J Sports Med 2021; 49: 2528-2535 [PMID: 33332160 DOI: 10.1177/0363546520975435]
- 45 Yang FA, Liao CD, Wu CW, Shih YC, Wu LC, Chen HC. Effects of applying platelet-rich plasma during arthroscopic rotator cuff repair: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Sci Rep 2020; 10: 17171 [PMID: 33057143 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-020-74341-0]
- Zhao D, Han YH, Pan JK, Yang WY, Zeng LF, Liang GH, Liu J. The clinical efficacy of leukocyte-poor platelet-rich plasma in arthroscopic rotator cuff repair: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2021; 30: 918-928 [PMID: 33220417 DOI: 10.1016/j.jse.2020.10.014]
- 47 Li Y, Li T, Li J, Tang X, Li R, Xiong Y. Platelet-Rich Plasma Has Better Results for Retear Rate, Pain, and Outcome Than Platelet-Rich Fibrin After Rotator Cuff Repair: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Arthroscopy 2022; 38: 539-550 [PMID: 34052384 DOI: 10.1016/j.arthro.2021.05.023]
- Xu W, Xue Q. Application of Platelet-Rich Plasma in Arthroscopic Rotator Cuff Repair: A Systematic Review and Metaanalysis. Orthop J Sports Med 2021; 9: 23259671211016847 [PMID: 34345632 DOI: 10.1177/23259671211016847]
- 49 Moja L, Fernandez del Rio MP, Banzi R, Cusi C, D'Amico R, Liberati A, Lodi G, Lucenteforte E, Minozzi S, Pecoraro V, Virgili G, Parmelli E. Multiple systematic reviews: methods for assessing discordances of results. Intern Emerg Med 2012; 7: 563-568 [PMID: 22941412 DOI: 10.1007/s11739-012-0846-1]
- 50 El Gharbawy NH, Labib HS. Role of Platelet Rich Plasma (PRP) injection in treatment of rotator cuff tear. Egyptian Rheumatology and Rehabilitation 2020; 47: 30 [DOI: 10.1186/s43166-020-00032-3]
- 51 Hitchen J, Wragg NM, Shariatzadeh M, Wilson SL. Platelet Rich Plasma as a Treatment Method for Rotator Cuff Tears. SN Compr Clin Med 2020; 2: 2293-2299 [DOI: 10.1007/s42399-020-00500-z]



W J M

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Meta-Anal 2022 June 28; 10(3): 162-176

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.162

ISSN 2308-3840 (online)

META-ANALYSIS

Is cellular therapy beneficial in management of rotator cuff tears? Meta-analysis of comparative clinical studies

Sathish Muthu, Cheruku Mogulesh, Vibhu Krishnan Viswanathan, Naveen Jeyaraman, Satvik N Pai, Madhan Jeyaraman, Manish Khanna

Specialty type: Orthopedics

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D, D Grade E (Poor): E

P-Reviewer: Chrcanovic BR, Sweden; Jing F, China; Tsang HW, China; Yan T, China

Received: February 4, 2022 Peer-review started: February 4, 2022 First decision: April 19, 2022 Revised: May 2, 2022 Accepted: June 22, 2022 Article in press: June 22, 2022 Published online: June 28, 2022



Sathish Muthu, Department of Orthopaedics, Government Medical College and Hospital, Dindigul 624001, Tamil Nadu, India

Sathish Muthu, Madhan Jeyaraman, Department of Biotechnology, School of Engineering and Technology, Sharda University, Greater Noida 201306, Uttar Pradesh, India

Sathish Muthu, Cheruku Mogulesh, Naveen Jeyaraman, Madhan Jeyaraman, Manish Khanna, Indian Stem Cell Study Group Association, Lucknow 226010, Uttar Pradesh, India

Cheruku Mogulesh, Naveen Jeyaraman, Department of Orthopaedic Rheuamtology, Dr Ram Manohar Lohiya National Law University, Lucknow 226010, Uttar Pradesh, India

Vibhu Krishnan Viswanathan, Department of MSK Oncology, University of Calgary, Alberta AB T2N 1N4, Alberta, Canada

Naveen Jeyaraman, Department of Orthopaedics, Atlas Hospitals (The Tamil Nadu Dr MGR Medical University), Tiruchirappalli 620002, Tamil Nadu, India

Satvik N Pai, Department of Orthopaedics, Sri Ramachandra Medical College and Research Institute, Chennai 600116, Tamil Nadu, India

Madhan Jeyaraman, Department of Orthopaedics, Faculty of Medicine, Sri Lalithambigai Medical College and Hospital, Dr MGR Educational and Research Institute, Chennai 600095, Tamil Nadu, India

Madhan Jeyaraman, Manish Khanna, Department of Orthopaedics, South Texas Orthopaedic Research Institute (STORI Inc.), Laredo, TX 78045, United States

Manish Khanna, Department of Orthopaedics, Autonomous State Medical College, Ayodhya 224135, Uttar Pradesh, India

Corresponding author: Madhan Jeyaraman, MS, Assistant Professor, Department of Orthopaedics, Faculty of Medicine, Sri Lalithambigai Medical College and Hospital, Dr MGR Educational and Research Institute, Adayalampattu, Chennai 600095, Tamil Nadu, India. madhanjeyaraman@gmail.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Mesenchymal stromal cell (MSC)-based cellular therapy promotes type I collagen



production, enhance mechanical strength of tissues, and enhance biology at the bone-tendon interface, which primarily explains their potential clinical utility in rotator cuff (RC) tears.

AIM

To analyze the efficacy and safety of cellular therapy utilizing MSCs in the management of RC tears from clinical studies available in the literature.

METHODS

We conducted independent and duplicate electronic database searches including PubMed, Embase, Reference Citation Anallysis, Web of Science, and Cochrane Library in August 2021 for studies analyzing the efficacy and safety of cellular therapy (CT) utilizing MSCs in the management of RC tears. Visual Analog Score (VAS) score for pain, American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons (ASES) score, Disability of the Arm, Shoulder, and Hand score, Constant score, radiological assessment of healing, and complications such as retear rate and adverse events were the outcomes analyzed. Analysis was performed in R-platform using OpenMeta [Analyst] software.

RESULTS

Six studies involving 238 patients were included for analysis. We noted a significant reduction in VAS score for pain at 3 mo (weighed mean difference [WMD] = -2.234, P < 0.001) and 6 mo (WMD) = -3.078, P < 0.001) with the use of CT, which was not maintained at long-term follow-up (WMD = -0.749, P = 0.544). Concerning functional outcomes, utilization of CT produced a significant shortterm improvement in the ASES score (WMD = 17.090, P < 0.001) and significant benefit in functional scores such as Constant score (WMD = 0.833, P = 0.760) at long-term follow-up. Moreover, we also observed significantly improved radiological tendon healing during the longterm follow-up (odds ratio [OR] = 3.252, P = 0.059). We also noted a significant reduction in the retear rate upon utilization of CT in RC tears both at short- (OR = 0.079, P = 0.032) and long-term (OR = 0.434, P = 0.027) follow-ups. We did not observe any significant increase in the adverse events directly related to cellular therapy, as compared with the control group (OR = 0.876, P =0.869).

CONCLUSION

Based on our comprehensive and critical review, we could observe that the utilization of CT in RC tear significantly reduced pain severity at 3 and 6 mo, improved short-term functional outcome, enhanced radiological tendon healing, and mitigated retear rates at both short- and long-term follow-ups. The literature also confirmed the relative safety of using MSC therapy in patients presenting with RC tears.

Key Words: Mesenchymal stromal cell; Bone-marrow derived mesenchymal stromal cell; Adipose-derived mesenchymal stromal cell; Rotator cuff tear; Cellular therapy; Meta-analysis

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Biological augmentation of rotator cuff tears with mesenchymal stromal cell-based cellular therapy significantly reduces the pain severity and improves the functional outcome at 3 and 6 mo based on our critical review of clinical studies on the subject. Moreover, we noted enhanced radiological tendon healing, and mitigated retear rates at both short- and long-term follow-ups. We have also established the safety of using cellular therapy in patients presenting with rotator cuff tears.

Citation: Muthu S, Mogulesh C, Viswanathan VK, Jeyaraman N, Pai SN, Jeyaraman M, Khanna M. Is cellular therapy beneficial in management of rotator cuff tears? Meta-analysis of comparative clinical studies. World J Meta-Anal 2022; 10(3): 162-176

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/full/v10/i3/162.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.162

INTRODUCTION

Rotator cuff (RC) tear is a common shoulder pathology, whose prevalence ranges from 4% in asymptomatic individuals younger than 40 years to 54% in patients aged over 60 years[1]. The etiology



of these tears is multifactorial, and has been variously attributed to traumatic, mechanical, and inflammatory processes^[2]. It has been well-demonstrated that the natural course of non-operatively managed RC tears in the majority of patients is a progressive deterioration of the anatomical tear without spontaneous regression of symptoms[3]. On the other hand, although surgical repair of a torn RC potentially aids in restoring the shoulder function as well as arresting the tear progression [4], the failure rates range between 0 and 78%, thereby giving room for improvement^[5].

In view of obtaining predictable and consistent results in the management of RC tears, biological adjuvants like platelet-rich plasma (PRP) and stem cells (SC) have been tried to augment the regeneration of damaged RCs and improve the outcome following surgical repair[6]. Recently, mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) have been successfully employed in diverse animal and human models in the repair of various musculoskeletal structures like cartilages, bones, muscles, and tendons [7]. These cells (usually extracted from bone marrow or adipose tissue) possess a unique attribute described as "multipotency", which denotes their ability to differentiate into other tissues of mesenchymal origin[2,8]. When delivered using appropriate scaffolds, these modalities of cellular therapy (CT) have shown great promise in enhancing the outcome following RC tears too[2,8-13]. MSCs are thought to promote type I collagen production, enhance mechanical strength of tissues, and ameliorate biology at the bone-tendon interface, which primarily explains their potential clinical utility in RC tears[8-13]. The concentrates of these cells may be delivered into the region of tendon injury, either via image-guided injections or through arthroscopic approach (intra-operatively)[8-13]. However, the major barriers to regular use of MSCs include lack of standardized techniques for preparation, inadequate clinical evidence, and potentially high cost:benefit ratios.

With this backdrop, in order to further enhance the understanding of their utility with clinical evidence on utilization of MSC-based CT in the management of RC tears, we performed a meta-analysis of clinical studies available in the literature to systematically analyze the efficacy and safety of CT utilizing MSCs in the management of RC tears.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We performed this meta-analysis following the guidelines made out by the Back Review Group of Cochrane Collaboration^[14] and reported as per the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) statement[15].

Search strategy

Two reviewers performed an independent electronic literature search for studies evaluating the efficacy and safety of MSC-based CT in the management of RC tears. We searched the following databases: PubMed, Embase, Reference Citation Analysis, Web of Science, and the Cochrane Library up to August 2021. No language or date restrictions were applied. Keywords used for the search were as follows: "Cellular therapy", "Mesenchymal Stromal Cells", "Stem Cell Therapy", "Mesenchymal Stromal Cells", "Bone marrow", "Adipose", "Rotator cuff tear", and "Supraspinatus tear". We have presented the search strategy used in one of the included databases in Supplementary Material 1. We also looked into the references of the included studies to identify additional studies that were not identified in the primary search. Based on the specified inclusion and exclusion criteria set as a priori, studies were analysed for inclusion into the analysis. In case of discrepancy between the authors upon selection of studies into the analysis, discussion was made until a consensus was obtained. PRISMA flow diagram of inclusion of studies in the analysis is given in Figure 1.

Inclusion criteria

The PICOS criteria to include the studies into the review were as follows:

Population: Patients with RC tears.

Intervention: MSC-based biological therapy.

Comparator: Placebo.

Outcomes: Visual Analog Score (VAS) score for pain, American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons (ASES) score, Disability of the Arm, Shoulder and Hand (DASH) score, Constant score, ultrasonogram (USG) or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) based assessment of healing, and complications such as retear rate and adverse events reported.

Study design: Comparative clinical studies (CCSs).

Exclusion criteria

Studies that had the following characteristics were excluded from the inclusion into the review: In vitro studies on stem cell therapy for tendon injury; Observational studies and non-comparative interven-





DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.162 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 1 PRISMA flow diagram of the included studies.

tional studies on RC tears; Animal model studies of tendon injury investigating stem cell therapy; and Review articles on CT for RC tears.

Data extraction

The following relevant data from the included studies were retrieved by two reviewers for analysis.

Study characteristics: Year of publication, authors, country, nature of the study, level of evidence, and number of enrolled patients.

Baseline characteristics: Age, gender proportions, nature of RC tear, intervention for both the groups, source of MSC utilized, delivery method of MSCs, follow-up duration, and assessment parameters utilized.

Efficacy outcomes: VAS score for pain, ASES score, DASH score, Constant score, and USG/MRI based assessment of healing.

Safety outcomes: Complications such as retear rate and adverse events reported in the included studies. In case of any disagreement between the authors in data collection, it was resolved by discussion until a consensus was achieved.

Risk of bias and quality assessment

Two reviewers independently assessed the methodological quality of the included studies based on the ROB2 tool of Cochrane Collaboration for randomized studies. It consists of five domains of bias assessment including bias in randomization process, bias due to deviation from intended intervention, bias due to missing outcome data, bias in measurement of the outcome, and bias in selective reporting of results[16]. Similarly, the methodological quality of the non-randomized comparative studies were assessed using ROBINS-1 tool of Cochrane Collaboration which have seven domains of bias assessment including confounding bias and bias in intervention classification apart from the five domains described previously for randomized studies[17].

Statistical analysis

We conducted the meta-analysis in the R-platform with OpenMeta [Analyst][18]. We utilized odds ratio



(OR) with 95% confidence interval (CI) for dichotomous outcomes and weighted mean difference (WMD) with 95%CI for continuous variable outcomes. We analyzed the heterogeneity in the included studies using the l^2 test[19]. In case of l^2 value < 50% and P value > 0.1, a fixed-effects model was used for evaluation. Otherwise, a random-effects model was used. We considered a P value < 0.05 to be significant. We also performed sensitivity analysis and subgroup analysis to analyse the source of heterogeneity when it existed. Funnel plot and normal quantile plot were used for the publication bias assessment of the outcomes in the included studies along with Egger's regression test.

RESULTS

Search results

Electronic database search resulted in 485 articles which, after initial screening for duplicate removal, gave a total of 233 articles. Title and abstract screening were done in those 233 articles and 212 of them were excluded. Twenty-one articles were qualified for full-text review, of which 15 were excluded. A list of articles excluded from full-text review with reasons is presented in Supplementary Material 2. We included six studies [2,8-12] (3 randomized controlled trials [2,9,12], 1 prospective controlled study [8], and 2 retrospective comparative studies[10,11]) with 238 patients for meta-analysis. PRISMA flow diagram of study selection is given in Figure 1. We excluded most of the studies since they did not have a comparator group in their study design, which resulted in a low number of included studies for analysis. Considering the specificity of the research question, we considered it would be useful if a meaningful result could be arrived with the analysis of the comparative studies identified based on the predefined screening protocol. Four of the included six studies [2,8,11,12] utilized MSCs from bone marrow, while the remaining two studies [9,10] used adipose tissue as their source of MSCs. Only two of the included six studies[8,12] utilized platelet-rich plasma as an adjuvant to the cellular therapy intervention being used in them. We noted wide variability in the cellular dosage utilized in the included studies with a mean dosage of $141.15 \pm 327.75 \times 10^6$ cells. While three studies [2,10,11] compared the intervention against the surgical repair of RC tears, two studies[8,12] compared it against exercise therapy, and one study^[9] against steroid injection. There was also no uniformity among the included studies for the outcome measures utilized to analyze the efficacy of the intervention. The general characteristics of the studies included are given in Table 1. The protocols of intervention used in the case and control groups along with the measures of outcome assessment are given in Table 2.

Quality assessment

The methodological quality of the included studies evaluated as per the RoB2 tool and ROBINS tool is presented in Figure 2. None of the included studies had a high risk of bias to be excluded from the analysis.

Efficacy outcomes

Visual Analog Scale score for pain: We analyzed five studies [2,8-10,12] comparing the VAS outcome upon using CT for RC tears against controls at varied time points. There was a significant heterogeneity observed between the included studies ($I^2 > 80\%$, P < 0.001). Hence, a random-effects model was used for analysis. We stratified the analysis based on the duration of follow-up in the included studies and found that upon utilizing CT in the management of RC tears, an overall significant reduction in VAS score for pain was noted compared to the controls (WMD = -1.408, 95%CI [-2.231, -0.585], P < 0.001). However, upon stratification of the studies based on the duration of their follow-up, it was noted that the pain reduction was not significant at < 3 mo (WMD = -0.399, 95%CI [-1.134, 0.335], P = 0.287), which improved significantly at 3 mo (WMD = -2.234, 95%CI [-2.711, -1.757], P < 0.001) and 6 mo (WMD = -3.078, 95% CI [-3.634, -2.521], P < 0.001). Upon analyzing the VAS scores at 1 year (WMD = -0.749, 95% CI [-3.167, 1.670], *P* = 0.544), and > 2 years (WMD = 0.3, 95%CI [-0.171, 0.771], *P* = 0.256), it was noted that the significance of the VAS reduction was lost at long-term follow-up as shown in Figure 3. Hence, utilization of CT produced a significant reduction of pain in the initial periods of inflammation and healing cascade caused by the injury and surgical repair procedure while in the long term, since the lesion heals in the surgical comparator groups, we did not note any significant difference (Figure 3).

ASES score

We analyzed two studies[8,9] comparing the ASES outcome upon using CT for RC tears against controls at varied time points. There was a significant heterogeneity observed between the included studies $(l^2 > l^2)$ 80%, P < 0.001). Hence, a random-effects model was used for analysis. We stratified the analysis based on the duration of follow-up in the included studies and found that upon utilizing CT in the management of RC tears, an overall significant improvement in ASES score was noted compared to the controls (WMD = 17.090, 95% CI [9.122, 25.057], P < 0.001). However, upon stratification of the studies based on the duration of their follow-up, it was noted that the functional improvement based on ASES score improvement was not significant at 3 wk (WMD = 12.052, 95%CI [-14.499, 38.603], P = 0.374),



Table 1 Characteristics of included studies (n = 6)															
No.	First author	Year	Country	Study design	Sample size	Cases/controls	MSC source	PRP	Cellular dosage (10º cells)	Comparator intervention	Case age (SD)	Control age (SD)	Case male: Female	Control male: Female	Follow-up timeline (mo)
1	P Hernigou	2014	France	RCS	90	45/45	BM-MSC	No	0.051	Surgery	61 ± 4.5	61 ± 4.5	21:24	20:25	6, 120
2	YS Kim	2017	Korea	RCS	70	35/35	AD-MSC	No	4.46	Surgery	59.2 ± 3.4	57.6 ± 2.9	15:20	13:22	28.3
3	SJ Kim	2018	Korea	PCS	24	12/12	BM-MSC	Yes	1	Exercise therapy	54.9 ± 7.6	59.6 ± 7.2	05:07	08:04	0.7, 3
4	JR Lamas	2019	Spain	RCT	13	8/5	BM-MSC	No	20	Surgery	57.8 ± 6.5	61.8 ± 3.8	06:02	02:03	12
5	C Centeno	2020	USA	RCT	25	14/11	BM-MSC	Yes	810	Exercise therapy	46 ± 11	49 ± 11	09:05	05:06	1, 12
6	JL Hurd	2020	USA	RCT	16	11/5	AD-MSC	No	11.4	Steroid	64.6 ± 9.6	57.6 ± 6.2	08:03	05:00	6, 12

AD: Adipose derived; BM: Bone marrow derived; MSC: Mesenchymal stem cell; PCS: Prospective controlled study; RCS: Retrospective comparative study; RCT: Randomized controlled trial; SD: Standard deviation; USA: United States of America.

which improved significantly at 3 mo (WMD = 18.919, 95% CI [5.802, 32.036], *P* = 0.005) and 6 mo (WMD = 21.000, 95% CI [16.177, 25.823], *P* < 0.001) as shown in Figure 4A.

Constant score

We analyzed two studies [2,8] comparing the Constant scores upon using CT for RC tears against controls at varied time points. There was no significant heterogeneity observed between the included studies ($l^2 < 50\%$, P = 0.181). Hence, a fixed-effects model was used for analysis. We stratified the analysis based on the duration of follow-up in the included studies and found that upon utilizing CT in the management of RC tears, we did not find any significant improvement in the Constant score compared to the controls (WMD = 0.833, 95%CI [-4.517, 6.182], P = 0.760). Both the studies included in the analysis compared the outcomes at 1 and 2 years (Figure 4B).

Radiological healing

We analyzed five studies [2,9-12] reporting the MRI-based healing of RC tears upon using CT for RC tears against controls at varied time points. There was a significant heterogeneity observed between the included studies ($I^2 > 80\%$, P < 0.001). Hence, a random-effects model was used for analysis. We stratified the analysis based on the duration of follow-up in the included studies and found that upon utilizing CT in the management of RC tears, we did not note an overall significant difference in the healing of RC tears based on repeat MRI compared to the controls (OR = 3.252, 95%CI [0.958, 11.037], P = 0.059). However, upon stratification of the studies based on the duration of their follow-up, it was noted that the MRI based healing of the RC tears was significantly better at long-term follow-up compared to the controls (OR = 8.125, 95%CI [2.868, 23.019], P < 0.001) as shown in Figure 4C.

Hence, utilization of CT produced significant improvement in functional outcomes in short term based on the ASES score. Although similar consistent significant long-term benefit in function scores such as Constant score was not found in long term, significant radiological improvement in the tendon

Table 2 Biological treatment protocol of the included studies (*n* = 6)

Ref.	MSC type	MSC source	Rotator cuff tear nature	Preparation method	Cellular dosage (10 ⁶ cells)	Treatment group intervention	Control group intervention	Outcome measures
Hernigou et al[11]	BM- MSC	Auto	Full thickness	150 mL of bone marrow aspirate was serially centrifuged to result in 12 mL of BMAC	0.051	Arthroscopic rotator cuff repair followed by injection of BMAC of 4 mL in bone-tendon junction, and 8 mL in the bone at the site of the footprint	Arthroscopic rotator cuff repair only	USG and MRI guided tear size assessment
Kim <i>et al</i> [<mark>4</mark>]	AD- MSC	Auto	Full thickness	The raw lipoaspirates were processed to obtain SVF using enzymatic digestion method using 0.075% collagenase	4.46	Arthroscopic rotator cuff repair followed by injection of AD-MSCs in SVF loaded in 2 mL of fibrin glue scaffold into the tendon-bone approx- imation and over the repaired tendon	Arthroscopic rotator cuff repair only	VAS, Constant score, UCLA scores, MRI guided tear size assessment
Kim <i>et al</i> [8]	BM- MSC	Auto	Partial thickness	BMAC from BIOMET MarrowStim Mini kit and PRP from BIOMET GPS III kit	1	USG guided injection of 2 mL BMAC with 1 mL of PRP	Rotator cuff exercises taught by experienced physical therapist done daily on their own for 3 mo	VAS, MMT scores, ASES, USG guided tear size assessment
Lamas et al[<mark>2</mark>]	CE- BM- MSC	Auto	Full thickness	The BM-MSCs isolated from aspirates were expanded during a 2-wk period	20	Open rotator cuff repair with autologous bone marrow in combination with a type I collagen membrane (OrthADAPT)	Open rotator cuff repair with a type I collagen membrane (OrthADAPT™)	VAS, Constant score, MRI guided tear size assessment
Centeno et al[12]	BM- MSC	Auto	Both partial and full thickness	90 mL of bone marrow aspirate was serially centrifuged to a resultant 1-3 mL of buffy coat that is collected. In addition, 60mL of intravenous blood was drawn to isolate PRP and platelet lysate	810	USG guided injection of 1-2 mL of injectate with 60% by volume of BMAC, 20% of PRP, and 20% of platelet lysate	Stretches in all planes along with non-weighted exercises involving scapular stabilizing muscles, triceps, and the rotator cuff muscles for 3 mo	DASH score, SANE, MRI guided tear size assessment
Hurd <i>et al</i> [9]	AD- MSC	Auto	Partial thickness	Transpose RT/Matrase system	11.4	USG guided injection of 5 mL of AD-MSCs	Single injection of 80 mg of methylprednisolone in 2 mL plus 3 mL of 0.25% bupivacaine	Adverse events, ASES, SF-36 score, VAS, MRI guided tear size assessment

AD: Adipose derived; Auto: Autologous; ASES: American shoulder and elbow surgeons; BM: Bone marrow derived; BMAC: Bone marrow aspirate concentrate; CE: Culture expanded; DASH: Disability of the arm, shoulder and hand; MMT: Manual muscle test; PRP: Platelet rich plasma; MRI: Magnetic resonance imaging; MSC: Mesenchymal stem cells; SANE: Single assessment numeric evaluation; SF-36 score: Short form 36 score; SVF: Stromal vascular fraction; UCLA: University of California, Los Angeles; USG: Ultrasonogram; VAS: Visual analog score.

healing was noted in long term.

Retear rate

We analyzed five studies [2,8-11] reporting retear of RC tendons following RC tear management using CT against controls at varied time points. We did not note a significant heterogeneity among the included studies ($l^2 < 50\%$, P = 0.392). Hence, a fixed-effects model was used for analysis. We stratified the analysis based on the duration of follow-up in the included studies and found that upon utilizing CT in the management of RC tears, we noted an overall significant reduction in the retear rate compared to the controls (OR = 0.371, 95%CI [0.183, 0.751], P = 0.006). Upon stratification of the studies based on the duration of their follow-up, it was noted that utilization of CT for RC tears resulted in a significant reduction of retear rate both at short- (OR = 0.079, 95%CI [0.008, 0.804], P = 0.032) and long-term (OR = 0.434, 95% CI [0.207, 0.910], P = 0.027) follow-ups compared to the controls as shown in Figure 5A.

Adverse events

Five studies[2,8-10,12] reported adverse effects with a low heterogeneity among the included studies





DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.162 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.





Figure 3 Forest plot of the included studies analyzing the Visual Analog Scale score outcomes at varied time points compared to their controls.

upon utilization of CT in RC tear management ($l^2 = 0.0\%$, P = 0.990). Hence, a fixed-effects model was used for analysis. On analysis, we did not find any significant increase in the adverse events compared to the controls (OR = 0.876, 95%CI [0.182, 4.212], P = 0.869) as shown in Figure 5B. No major serious adverse events with permanent effects such as death, tumor, or immune reaction to the intervention were noted during follow-up.

Sensitivity analysis

A sensitivity analysis was performed in each analysis. All the results (VAS score for pain, ASES score, Constant score, radiological healing, and complications such as retear rate and adverse events) maintained their consistency in significance even upon sequentially omitting each study in the metaanalysis. Similar consistency was noted upon reanalysis of the results by changing to a random-effects model. We performed subgroup analysis of outcomes with significant heterogeneity based on the duration of their follow-up and presented accordingly (Figures 3-5). We explored into the heterogeneity of the results based on the source, dosage of MSCs, and nature of RC tear (complete/partial) but we did


Figure 4 Forest plot of the included studies analyzing the functional outcomes at varied time points compared to their controls. A: American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons score; B: Constant score; C: Magnetic resonance imaging -based healing of rotator cuff tear.

> not find any significant change in the summary of results obtained as shown in Supplementary Materials.

Publications bias

We utilized the funnel plot, normal quantile plot, and Egger's regression test to analyze the publication bias in the reporting of studies on the subject analyzed. We did not find any significant publication bias by funnel plot and normal quantile plot as shown in Figure 6 or by Egger's regression test (P = 0.019). We noted that all the studies were close to the 95%CI without significant heterogeneity in their distribution about the axes, implying minimal publication bias.

DISCUSSION

The lifetime chance of sustaining an RC tear has been reported to range between 25% and 40%[20], and the rate continues to rise with increasing age. Given the global increase in the elderly population, it is estimated that RC pathologies will continue to place immense demands on the overall healthcare system worldwide[21]. Among the non-surgical options, although local corticosteroid infiltration is highly





Figure 5 Forest plot of the included studies analyzing the complications at varied time points compared to their controls. A: Retear rate; B: Adverse events.



Figure 6 Publication bias assessment with funnel plot and quantile plot for Visual Analog Scale score in the included studies.

popular, it has been associated with a high incidence of RC rupture resulting from an enhanced induction of non-tenocyte differentiation of human tendon stem cells[9]. With progressive advancements in arthroscopic procedures, surgical implantation for RC pathologies has increased tremendously over the past decade[21]. Consequently, the rate of retear has also worsened, with an overall reported incidence as high as 15% to 40%, irrespective of the surgical technique employed[22]. To overcome these aforementioned reasons, research efforts in the recent past have focused on enhancing the outcomes following management of RC tears, through advancements in surgical indications and decision making, novel surgical and non-surgical interventions, as well as improvements in rehabilitative strategies[2,8-12]. Over the past decade, one promising augmentative approach is the incorporation of biological agents into surgical and non-surgical strategies. In this context, the potential role of MSCs as biological adjuncts in RC injuries has been increasingly acknowledged[2,8-12].

Following an injury to a tendon, various physiological healing cascades are initiated. The earliest response is acute inflammation, which includes the recruitment of cells like leukocytes and thrombocytes to the site of injury[23]. These inflammatory cells further recruit various growth factors

like transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-beta), platelet-derived growth, insulin-like growth factor, and fibroblast growth factor[24]. During the next proliferative stage of healing, these recruited cells stimulate the production of type-3 collagen and temporary extracellular matrix[24]. Finally, the remodeling phase occurs at around 1 to 2 mo following the injury where the type-3 collage gradually gets replaced by type-1 collagen. Biological augmentation techniques utilize these body's natural healing processes especially during the inflammatory and proliferative phases to facilitate the enhancement of tendon healing. PRP is a component of blood with a high concentration of platelets, which releases growth factors essential for tissue healing[25]. Hypocellularity is postulated as a major reason underlying the relatively unsatisfactory outcome following PRP injection[9]. In other words, there is a mismatch between the growth factors released by PRP and the insufficient number of stem cells at the site of RC tear[9,22]. Recent reports, therefore, seem to suggest that biological augmentative therapy involving MSCs circumvents this problem and offers greater benefits, as compared to PRP-alone administration[9].

In the current meta-analysis, we included six CCSs (3 RCTs – 238 patients), which discussed the influence of MSCs in RC tears[2,8-12]. While the effect of adjuvant MSCs was compared to the surgically-treated control RC injury population in 3 studies[2,10,11], non-surgically managed control population was included in the remaining trials[8,9,12].

Among the 3 studies involving conservatively-managed RC tear patients, Hurd *et al*[9] discussed the role of MSCs in partial injuries. Partial RC tendon ruptures are broadly classified based on location (articular, bursal, and interstitial), depth (grade 1 < 3 mm, grade 2 3-6 mm, grade $3 \ge 6$ mm), and tear area[9]. It has been reported that articular-sided RC tears are more common and have relatively lower healing rates, given the poorer vascularity[9,12,24]. Hurd *et al*[9] demonstrated that injection of adiposederived into pathological RC tissues resulted in a reduced recruitment of inflammatory cells, enhanced tendon regeneration with mitigated scarring, improved collagen fiber arrangement, greater load-tofailure, and enhanced tensile strength of the injured tendons. They recommended that stem cell delivery can be a promising non-surgical option in these types of partial injuries with a relatively poor prognosis for healing.

Influence of MSC therapy on pain severity and functional outcome scores

The two main clinical parameters assessed in the reviewed studies were pain severity by VAS score[2,8-10,12] and functional outcome measures by ASES[8,9] and Constant scores[2,8]. We could observe significant heterogeneity in the reporting of both these parameters.

Based on our analysis, we could observe a significant improvement in the VAS score for pain at 3 and 6 mo in all patients who underwent CT. However, beyond this initial period, MSC therapy did not result in any significant difference compared to the control group. This observation was consistently reported by all the included studies[2,8-10,12]. A probable explanation for the observed effect could be due to the augmented healing in the treated group of patients demonstrating superior pain control during the early post-operative period.

The reviewed studies used ASES and Constant scores to report the functional outcome during followup. In the two studies[8,9] which reported the ASES scores, the outcome was significantly better at 3 and 6 mo following CT. However, the studies did not reveal any significant difference in ASES scores, before and after this time point (*i.e.*, at 3 wk, 1 year, and 2 years). Both the studies that evaluated the Constant score compared the outcome at 1 and 2 years[2,8]. The above findings were in concordance with the results of the pain scores in the included studies showing early augmented healing and functional benefit in the intervention group compared to the controls.

Influence of MSC therapy on radiological healing

The radiological healing was assessed in 5 studies[2,9-12] based on MRI. In contrast to our findings regarding the pain score and functional outcome, there was a statistically significant improvement in the radiological healing of the lesions at long-term follow-up (1 and 2 years). It has been well-acknow-ledged that the use of appropriate scaffolds is necessary to preserve the optimal survival, as well as reparative and differentiation capacities of MSCs[25]. BMAC-PRP complexes have previously been shown to enhance healing in diabetic ulcers, osteochondral deficiencies, and spinal injuries. Additionally, studies have also reported a synergistic effect of BMAC-PRP complexes in the healing of tendon injuries[8,25]. Two of the studies included in our analysis also utilized PRP in addition to BM-MSCs[8, 12].

Thus, our review suggests that the use of BMAC-PRP complexes in RC tears can be a potentially rewarding treatment option. Kim *et al*[8] reported that the proliferation of tenocytes and tendon stem cells, followed by synthesis of collagen type 3 by tenocytes at 6 wk post-injury, was enhanced by BMAC-PRP complexes. Therefore, in their study, they indicated that biological augmentation with these complexes may potentially result in more anatomical healing of the tears. In the study by Hernigou *et al* [11], augmentation with MSCs significantly improved the healing, quality, and the structural integrity of arthroscopically-repaired RC tears, as assessed by ultrasound and MRI performed at 6 mo and 10-year follow-up time points.

Influence of MSC therapy on retear rates

Based on the evidence from five studies [2,8-11], we could observe that the use of CT resulted in a significant reduction in the retear rates, at both the short-term as well as long-term follow-up. This corroborated our finding that CT resulted in better radiological healing of the lesions. The studies by Hernigou et al[11] and Kim et al[10], which included a total of 80 patients treated with MSCs in addition to arthroscopic RC repair, revealed a statistically significant improvement in the rate of tendon healing, structural integrity of healed tendon, and mitigated number of retears at both short-term and long-term follow-up. In the study by Hernigou et al[11], 87% of patients in the MSC group had intact tendon integrity at 10-year follow-up, as against 44% in the control population.

Safety of MSC therapy

In one of the included studies[2], high failure rates secondary to detrimental inflammatory processes activated by a xenograft scaffold were reported similarly in both MSC and control groups. Apart from this issue that was unrelated to MSCs, none of the reviewed studies reported any significant adverse events directly related to the use of CT in patients with RC tears.

Limitations

Our analysis had some limitations. We could not find blinding to be established in most of the studies included in the analysis which might invite room for bias from patients or observers with regard to the treatment given. We also noted heterogeneity across many reported outcomes in the included studies, which might be due to the variability in the follow-up time and the treatment protocols followed in the individual studies as shown in Table 2. However, we tried to address the impact of follow-up period through our stratified analysis of results at different time points to arrive at a meaningful conclusion. Moreover, patients in various stages of the disease process were included in the studies, which could have also contributed to the heterogeneity of their results.

CONCLUSION

Based on our comprehensive and critical review of the available literature analyzing the efficacy and safety of CT utilizing MSCs in the management of RC tears, we could observe that the utilization of CT significantly reduced pain severity at 3 and 6 mo, improved short-term functional outcome, enhanced radiological tendon healing, and mitigated retear rates at short- and long-term follow-up. The literature did not reveal any major adverse events directly related to MSC therapy in patients presenting with RC tears.

We recommend a large-scale, multicentric trial analyzing autologous and allogeneic sources of MSCs with standardized dosage and intervention protocol, evaluated with established outcome measures both at short- and long-term follow-up to further confirm the results of our analysis.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Rotator cuff (RC) tear is a common shoulder pathology, whose prevalence ranges from 4% in asymptomatic individuals younger than 40 years to 54% in patients aged over 60 years. The etiology of these tears is multifactorial, and has been variously attributed to traumatic, mechanical, and inflammatory processes. It has been well-demonstrated that the natural course of non-operatively managed RC tears in the majority of patients is a progressive deterioration of the anatomical tear without spontaneous regression of symptoms. On the other hand, although surgical repair of a torn RC potentially aids in restoring the shoulder function as well as arresting the tear progression, the failure rates range between 0 and 78%, thereby giving room for improvement.

Research motivation

Recently, mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) have been successfully employed in diverse animal and human models in the repair of various musculoskeletal structures like cartilages, bones, muscles, and tendons. These cells (usually extracted from bone marrow or adipose tissue) possess a unique attribute described as "multipotency", which denotes their ability to differentiate into other tissues of mesenchymal origin. When delivered using appropriate scaffolds, these modalities of cellular therapy (CT) have shown great promise in enhancing the outcome following RC tears, too. MSCs are thought to promote type I collagen production, enhance mechanical strength of tissues, and ameliorate biology at the bone-tendon interface, which primarily explains their potential clinical utility in RC tears. The concentrates of these cells may be delivered into the region of tendon injury, either via image-guided injections or through arthroscopic approach (intra-operatively). However, the major barriers to regular



use of MSCs include lack of standardized techniques for preparation, inadequate clinical evidence, and potentially high cost:benefit ratios.

Research objectives

To analyze the efficacy and safety of CT utilizing MSCs in the management of RC tears from clinical studies available in the literature.

Research methods

We conducted independent and duplicate electronic database searches including PubMed, Embase, Web of Science, and Cochrane Library on August 2021 for studies analyzing the efficacy and safety of CT utilizing MSCs in the management of RC tears. Visual Analog Score (VAS) score for pain, American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons (ASES) score, Disability of the Arm, Shoulder and Hand score, Constant score, radiological assessment of healing, and complications such as retear rate and adverse events were the outcomes analyzed. Analysis was performed in R-platform using OpenMeta [Analyst] software.

Research results

Six studies involving 238 patients were included for analysis. We noted a significant reduction in VAS score for pain at 3 mo (WMD = -2.234, P < 0.001) and 6 mo (WMD = -3.078, P < 0.001) with the use of CT, which was not maintained at long-term follow-up (WMD = -0.749, P = 0.544). Concerning functional outcomes, utilization of CT produced a significant short-term improvement in the ASES score (WMD = 17.090, P < 0.001) and significant benefit in functional scores such as Constant score (WMD = 0.833, P =0.760) at long-term follow-up. Moreover, we also observed a significantly improved radiological tendon healing during the long-term follow-up (OR = 3.252, P = 0.059). We also noted a significant reduction in the retear rate upon utilization of CT in RC tears both at short- (OR = 0.079, P = 0.032) and long-term (OR = 0.434, P = 0.027) follow-up. We did not observe any significant increase in the adverse events directly related to CT, as compared with the control group (OR = 0.876, P = 0.869).

Research conclusions

Based on our comprehensive and critical review of the available literature analyzing the efficacy and safety of CT utilizing MSCs in the management of RC tears, we could observe that the utilization of CT significantly reduced pain severity at 3 and 6 mo, improved short-term functional outcome, enhanced radiological tendon healing, and mitigated retear rates at short- and long-term follow-up. The literature did not reveal any major adverse events directly related to MSC therapy in patients presenting with RC tears.

Research perspectives

We recommend a large-scale, multicentric trial analyzing autologous and allogeneic sources of MSCs with standardized dosage and intervention protocol, evaluated with established outcome measures both at short- and long-term follow-up to further confirm the results of our analysis.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Muthu S conducted the research along with Viswanathan VK; Jeyaraman N, Patel K, Chellamuthu G, Jeyaraman M, and Khanna M helped in the conduction of the study; all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: None of the authors have a conflict of interest over the subject presented.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: India

ORCID number: Sathish Muthu 0000-0002-7143-4354; Cheruku Mogulesh 0000-0002-3922-8817; Vibhu Krishnan Viswanathan 0000-0002-3804-1698; Naveen Jeyaraman 0000-0002-4362-3326; Satvik N Pai 0000-0002-3621-150X; Madhan Jeyaraman 0000-0002-9045-9493; Manish Khanna 0000-0002-2890-869X.

S-Editor: Liu JH



REFERENCES

- Clement ND, Nie YX, McBirnie JM. Management of degenerative rotator cuff tears: a review and treatment strategy. Sports Med Arthrosc Rehabil Ther Technol 2012; 4: 48 [PMID: 23241147 DOI: 10.1186/1758-2555-4-48]
- 2 Lamas JR, García-Fernández C, Tornero-Esteban P, Lópiz Y, Rodriguez-Rodriguez L, Ortega L, Fernández-Gutiérrez B, Marco F. Adverse effects of xenogenic scaffolding in the context of a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled study for repairing full-thickness rotator cuff tears. Trials 2019; 20: 387 [PMID: 31262366 DOI: 10.1186/s13063-019-3504-3]
- Longo UG, Franceschi F, Berton A, Maffulli N, Droena V. Conservative treatment and rotator cuff tear progression. Med 3 Sport Sci 2012; 57: 90-99 [PMID: 21986048 DOI: 10.1159/000328910]
- Kim YS, Kim SE, Bae SH, Lee HJ, Jee WH, Park CK. Tear progression of symptomatic full-thickness and partial-thickness rotator cuff tears as measured by repeated MRI. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2017; 25: 2073-2080 [PMID: 27904936 DOI: 10.1007/s00167-016-4388-3]
- Moosmayer S, Gärtner AV, Tariq R. The natural course of nonoperatively treated rotator cuff tears: an 8.8-year follow-up of tear anatomy and clinical outcome in 49 patients. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2017; 26: 627-634 [PMID: 28089257 DOI: 10.1016/j.jse.2016.10.002
- 6 Gumucio JP, Flood MD, Roche SM, Sugg KB, Momoh AO, Kosnik PE, Bedi A, Mendias CL. Stromal vascular stem cell treatment decreases muscle fibrosis following chronic rotator cuff tear. Int Orthop 2016; 40: 759-764 [PMID: 26224616 DOI: 10.1007/s00264-015-2937-x]
- 7 Gulotta LV, Kovacevic D, Packer JD, Deng XH, Rodeo SA. Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells transduced with scleraxis improve rotator cuff healing in a rat model. Am J Sports Med 2011; 39: 1282-1289 [PMID: 21335341 DOI: 10.1177/0363546510395485
- Kim SJ, Kim EK, Kim SJ, Song DH. Effects of bone marrow aspirate concentrate and platelet-rich plasma on patients with 8 partial tear of the rotator cuff tendon. J Orthop Surg Res 2018; 13: 1 [PMID: 29298726 DOI: 10.1186/s13018-017-0693-x]
- Hurd JL, Facile TR, Weiss J, Hayes M, Furia JP, Maffulli N, Winnier GE, Alt C, Schmitz C, Alt EU, Lundeen M. Safety and efficacy of treating symptomatic, partial-thickness rotator cuff tears with fresh, uncultured, unmodified, autologous adipose-derived regenerative cells (UA-ADRCs) isolated at the point of care: a prospective, randomized, controlled first-inhuman pilot study. J Orthop Surg Res 2020; 15: 122 [PMID: 32238172 DOI: 10.1186/s13018-020-01631-8]
- Kim YS, Sung CH, Chung SH, Kwak SJ, Koh YG. Does an Injection of Adipose-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells 10 Loaded in Fibrin Glue Influence Rotator Cuff Repair Outcomes? Am J Sports Med 2017; 45: 2010-2018 [PMID: 28448728 DOI: 10.1177/0363546517702863]
- Hernigou P, Flouzat Lachaniette CH, Delambre J, Zilber S, Duffiet P, Chevallier N, Rouard H. Biologic augmentation of 11 rotator cuff repair with mesenchymal stem cells during arthroscopy improves healing and prevents further tears: a casecontrolled study. Int Orthop 2014; 38: 1811-1818 [PMID: 24913770 DOI: 10.1007/s00264-014-2391-1]
- 12 Centeno C, Fausel Z, Stemper I, Azuike U, Dodson E. A Randomized Controlled Trial of the Treatment of Rotator Cuff Tears with Bone Marrow Concentrate and Platelet Products Compared to Exercise Therapy: A Midterm Analysis. Stem Cells Int 2020; 2020: 5962354 [PMID: 32399045 DOI: 10.1155/2020/5962354]
- 13 Cho WS, Chung SG, Kim W, Jo CH, Lee SU, Lee SY. Mesenchymal Stem Cells Use in the Treatment of Tendon Disorders: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Prospective Clinical Studies. Ann Rehabil Med 2021; 45: 274-283 [PMID: 34496470 DOI: 10.5535/arm.21078]
- 14 Furlan AD, Malmivaara A, Chou R, Maher CG, Deyo RA, Schoene M, Bronfort G, van Tulder MW; Editorial Board of the Cochrane Back, Neck Group. 2015 Updated Method Guideline for Systematic Reviews in the Cochrane Back and Neck Group. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2015; 40: 1660-1673 [PMID: 26208232 DOI: 10.1097/BRS.00000000001061]
- 15 Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, Shamseer L, Tetzlaff JM, Akl EA, Brennan SE, Chou R, Glanville J, Grimshaw JM, Hróbjartsson A, Lalu MM, Li T, Loder EW, Mayo-Wilson E, McDonald S, McGuinness LA, Stewart LA, Thomas J, Tricco AC, Welch VA, Whiting P, Moher D. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ 2021; 372: n71 [PMID: 33782057 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.n71]
- Sterne JAC, Savović J, Page MJ, Elbers RG, Blencowe NS, Boutron I, Cates CJ, Cheng HY, Corbett MS, Eldridge SM, 16 Emberson JR, Hernán MA, Hopewell S, Hróbjartsson A, Junqueira DR, Jüni P, Kirkham JJ, Lasserson T, Li T, McAleenan A, Reeves BC, Shepperd S, Shrier I, Stewart LA, Tilling K, White IR, Whiting PF, Higgins JPT. RoB 2: a revised tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. BMJ 2019; 366: 14898 [PMID: 31462531 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.14898]
- 17 Sterne JA, Hernán MA, Reeves BC, Savović J, Berkman ND, Viswanathan M, Henry D, Altman DG, Ansari MT, Boutron I, Carpenter JR, Chan AW, Churchill R, Deeks JJ, Hróbjartsson A, Kirkham J, Jüni P, Loke YK, Pigott TD, Ramsay CR, Regidor D, Rothstein HR, Sandhu L, Santaguida PL, Schünemann HJ, Shea B, Shrier I, Tugwell P, Turner L, Valentine JC, Waddington H, Waters E, Wells GA, Whiting PF, Higgins JP. ROBINS-I: a tool for assessing risk of bias in nonrandomised studies of interventions. BMJ 2016; 355: i4919 [PMID: 27733354 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.i4919]
- 18 Wallace BC, Dahabreh IJ, Trikalinos TA, Lau J, Trow P, Schmid CH. Closing the Gap between Methodologists and End-Users: R as a Computational Back-End. J Stat Softw 2012; 49: 1-15 [DOI: 10.18637/jss.v049.i05]
- Higgins JP, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. BMJ 2003; 327: 557-560 19 [PMID: 12958120 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.327.7414.557]
- 20 Montgomery SR, Petrigliano FA, Gamradt SC. Biologic augmentation of rotator cuff repair. Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med 2011; 4: 221-230 [PMID: 22021012 DOI: 10.1007/s12178-011-9095-6]
- 21 Aleem AW, Brophy RH. Outcomes of rotator cuff surgery: what does the evidence tell us? Clin Sports Med 2012; 31: 665-674 [PMID: 23040552 DOI: 10.1016/j.csm.2012.07.004]



- 22 Hein J, Reilly JM, Chae J, Maerz T, Anderson K. Retear Rates After Arthroscopic Single-Row, Double-Row, and Suture Bridge Rotator Cuff Repair at a Minimum of 1 Year of Imaging Follow-up: A Systematic Review. Arthroscopy 2015; 31: 2274-2281 [PMID: 26188783 DOI: 10.1016/j.arthro.2015.06.004]
- 23 Sharma P, Maffulli N. Biology of tendon injury: healing, modeling and remodeling. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact 2006; 6: 181-190 [PMID: 16849830]
- James R, Kesturu G, Balian G, Chhabra AB. Tendon: biology, biomechanics, repair, growth factors, and evolving 24 treatment options. J Hand Surg Am 2008; 33: 102-112 [PMID: 18261674 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhsa.2007.09.007]
- Betsch M, Schneppendahl J, Thuns S, Herten M, Sager M, Jungbluth P, Hakimi M, Wild M. Bone marrow aspiration 25 concentrate and platelet rich plasma for osteochondral repair in a porcine osteochondral defect model. PLoS One 2013; 8: e71602 [PMID: 23951201 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0071602]



WJM

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Meta-Anal 2022 June 28; 10(3): 177-185

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.177

ISSN 2308-3840 (online)

META-ANALYSIS

Clinical outcomes of the omicron variant compared with previous SARS-CoV-2 variants; meta-analysis of current reports

Mohsen Karbalaei, Masoud Keikha

Specialty type: Infectious diseases

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Cure E, Turkey; Lelisho ME, Ethiopia

Received: March 24, 2022 Peer-review started: March 24, 2022 First decision: April 28, 2022 Revised: May 15, 2022 Accepted: June 24, 2022 Article in press: June 24, 2022 Published online: June 28, 2022



Mohsen Karbalaei, Department of Microbiology and Virology, School of Medicine, Jiroft University of Medical Sciences, Jiroft, Iran

Masoud Keikha, Department of Microbiology and Virology, Faculty of Medicine, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Corresponding author: Masoud Keikha, PhD, Doctor, Instructor, Teaching Assistant, Department of Microbiology and Virology, Faculty of Medicine, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran. masoud.keykha90@gmail.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Omicron (B.1.1.529) is a severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) variant of concern; however, there is no comprehensive analysis regarding clinical features, disease severity, or clinical outcomes of this variant.

AIM

To compare the clinical characteristics of infection with omicron and previous variants of SARS-CoV-2.

METHODS

We searched major international databases consisting ISI Web of Science, PubMed, Scopus, MedRxiv, and Reference Citation Analysis to collect the potential relevant documents. Finally, clinical features, e.g., death rate, intensive care unit (ICU) admission, length of hospitalization, and mechanical ventilation, of infection with SARS-CoV-2 omicron variant compared with previous variants were assessed using odds ratio and 95% confidence intervals by Comprehensive Meta-Analysis software version 2.2.

RESULTS

A total of 12 articles met our criteria. These investigated the clinical outcomes of infection with omicron variant compared with other variants such as alpha, beta and delta. Our results suggested that ICU admission, need for mechanical ventilation, and death rate were significantly lower for omicron than previous variants. In addition, the average length of hospitalization during the omicron wave was significantly shorter than for other variants.

CONCLUSION

The infectivity of omicron variant was higher than for previous variants due to



several mutations, particularly in the spike protein. However, disease severity was mild to moderate compared previous variants.

Key Words: SARS-CoV-2; COVID-19; Omicron; Infectious disease

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) omicron (B.1.1.529) is a variant of concern that was first identified on 24 November 2021 as a new global threat. However, due to the lack of comprehensive statistical analysis, clinical characteristics and disease outcomes of infection with omicron variant have remained unknown. Hence, the comparison of clinical profile between cases infected with this new variant and previous variants will lead to the establishment of a strategy regarding appropriate management and global control of this variant.

Citation: Karbalaei M, Keikha M. Clinical outcomes of the omicron variant compared with previous SARS-CoV-2 variants; meta-analysis of current reports. World J Meta-Anal 2022; 10(3): 177-185 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/full/v10/i3/177.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.177

INTRODUCTION

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is a global pandemic that first emerged from Wuhan, China in December 2019. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), so far > 378 million cases, as well as 5.67 million deaths have occurred due to severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) infection[1]. On 24 November 2021, the Network for Genomics Surveillance in South Africa (NGS-SA) reported a new variant of this virus from Gauteng Province, named omicron (B.1.1.529); the new variant was confirmed by WHO on 25 November 2021[2,3].

The omicron variant rapidly replaced the previous variants in South Africa and spread to other countries, so it quickly became a dominant variant. In the USA, approximately 95% of all new cases of COVID-19 were diagnosed as being caused by the omicron variant by January 2022[4,5].

The genome of this variant contains 26-32 mutations in the spike gene as well as 45-52 amino acid substitutions. these mutations are associated with increases in viral characteristics such as transmissibility, immune escape, and S gene target failure (SGTF). SGTF is due to the 69 to 70 deletion in the S gene of B.1.1.7[6-8]. Early studies have shown the inefficacy of current vaccines (vaccination schemes and booster doses) and the higher rate of re-infection with the omicron variant[9,10]. Based on animal model findings, the severity of symptoms as well as the viral load of the omicron variant were lower compared to the previously reported variants of SARS-CoV-2[11,12]. Clinical reports from Scotland, England, Canada, and the USA have also confirmed animal experiments[13-16]. However, the fourth global wave of COVID-19 caused by the omicron variant was not associated with increased hospitalization or death in comparison with previous SARS-CoV-2 variants[17].

Understanding the clinical characteristics, susceptibility factors, and immune response against the new SARS-CoV-2 variants could be useful strategies in managing these viruses and development of novel treatment options. In this study, we evaluated the clinical severity of SARS-CoV-2 omicron variant compared with previous variants.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We searched global databases such as ISI Web of Science, PubMed, Scopus, MedRxiv, and Reference Citation Analysis (https://www.referencecitationanalysis.com/) using MeSH keywords such as "Omicron", "COVID-19", "SARS-CoV-2", "Disease severity", "Variant of concern", "ICU", "Intensive care unit", and "fourth wave". We retrieved all potential studies related to the clinical severity of SARS-CoV-2 omicron variant regardless of language and publication date. All eligible documents were carefully screened; required data including mean age, immunization status, mortality rate, intensive care unit (ICU) admission, length of hospitalization, and mechanical ventilation are summarized in Table 1. We also reviewed the bibliography of documents to avoid missing relevant articles. Finally, the severity of COVID-19 caused by omicron compared with previous SARS-CoV-2 variants was evaluated using odds ratio (OR) and 95% confidence interval (CI). We used a random-effect size due to the presence of significant heterogeneity (I^2 index and Cochrane P value test). Data were pooled using



Table 1 Characteristics of included studies																
First author	Country Mean a	Mean age	Mean age Immunization		ation	Death rate		ICU admission Le		Length of	Length of stay		Ventilation		of cases	Ref.
		Omicron	Previous variants	Omicron	Previous variants	Omicron	Previous variants	Omicron	Previous variants	Omicron	Previous variants	Omicron	Previous variants	Omicron	Previous variants	-
Abdullah	South Africa	39	49.8	NA	NA	4.5%	21.3%	1%	4.3%	4	8.8	NA	NA	466	3962	[18]
Cloete	South Africa	4.2	NA	NA	NA	4	NA	7	NA	3.2	NA	7	NA	6287	NA	[<mark>19</mark>]
Christensen	USA	44.3	50.0	2497	101	38	170	NA	NA	3.2	5.1	49	144	4468	3149	[<mark>20</mark>]
Davies	South Africa	NA	NA	HR:0.41, 9	95%CI: 0.29-0.59	HR: 0.27,	95%CI: 0.19-0.38	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	5144	11609	[<mark>21</mark>]
Goga	South Africa	33	55	NA	NA	NA	NA	3%	16%	3	6	0.2%	8%	17650	22888	[22]
Lewnard	USA	NA	NA	6,981	784	1	12	4	20	5.5	15.8	0	11	52297	16982	[23]
Iuliano	USA	NA	NA	NA	NA	1854	1924	24776	24774	3	5	358	503	48238	25873	[24]
Maslo	South Africa	36	53	235	NA	27	520	180	1104	3	8	16	431	971	2628	[25]
Santos	Portugal	37.1	43.4	295	201	0	26	0	17	3.7	8.6	NA	NA	6581	9397	[26]
Torjesen	UK	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	9.9%	14%	1.7	6.6	2%	5.8%	NA	NA	[27]
Wang	USA	36.4	36.1	2.4%	3.1%	23	30	0.26%	0.78%	NA	NA	0.07%	0.43%	14054	563884	[28]
Wang	USA	1.49	1.73	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.14%	0.43%	NA	NA	0.33%	1.15%	7201	63203	[29]

ICU: Intensive care unit; NA: Not available; HR: Hazard ratio; CI: Confidence interval.

Comprehensive Meta-Analysis software version 2.2 (Biostat, Englewood, NJ, USA).

RESULTS

A total of 12 studies investigated the clinical outcomes of infection with SARS-CoV-2 omicron variant compared with other variants such as alpha, beta and delta (Figure 1). Eligible studies were performed in South Africa, USA, Portugal and UK from 2021 to 2022[18-29]. We pooled the data of 887 132 cases with positive PCR test for SARS-CoV-2, including 163 457 cases positive for omicron variant, as well as 723 675 cases positive for other variants.

Karbalaei M et al. Omicron variant compared with previous SARS-CoV-2 variants



DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.177 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 1 Flowchart of literature search and study selection process.

The mean age of patients infected with omicron variant was 28.93 ± 15 years. The frequency of events such as ICU admission, need for mechanical ventilation, and death rate for omicron variant was 0.8% (95% CI: 0.2%-3.7%; *P*: 99.89; *P* = 0.01; Egger's *P* = 0.01; Begg's *P* = 0.29), 0.2% (95% CI: 0.1%-0.5%; *P*: 95.75; *P* = 0.01; Egger's *P* = 0.16; Begg's *P* = 0.26), and 0.4% (95% CI: 0.1%-1.0%; *P*: 98.47; *P* = 0.01; Egger's P = 0.01; Begg's P = 0.45), respectively. The average length of hospitalization for omicron was significantly less than for other variants $(3.36 \pm 1 \text{ d } vs. 7.98 \pm 3 \text{ d}; P < 0.05)$. The incidence of omicron infection among fully vaccinated individuals was 12.9% (95% CI: 5%–27%; P: 99.89; P = 0.01; Egger's P =0.22; Begg's P = 0.40). the current findings revealed that the severity of infections caused by omicron was less than for previous infections caused by alpha, beta, and delta variants. The current findings are consistent with similar reports[30,31]. In comparing the fourth wave of COVID-19 caused by the omicron variant with previous waves, it should be said that the mean age for patients infected with omicron was \sim 13 years (28.93 ± 15 years), which was less than that for other variants (41.29 ± 17 years). There was a significant reduction in ICU admission (OR: 0.18; 95% CI: 0.094-0.37; P = 0.01; P: 99.05; P = 0.01; P0.01; Egger's P = 0.2; Begg's P value: 0.07) (Figure 2). Our results suggested a significant reduction in the need for mechanical ventilation (OR: 0.135; 95% CI: 0.05–0.31; P = 0.01; I²: 97.24; P = 0.01; Egger's P = 0.12; Begg's P = 0.26) among omicron cases (Figure 3). The mortality rate also declined among patients infected with omicron variant (OR: 0.17; 95% CI: 0.06–0.46; P = 0.01; F: 98.32; P = 0.01; Egger's P = 0.44; Begg's P = 0.71) compared with previous variants (Figure 4).

DISCUSSION

We found that the severity of COVID-19 caused by the SARS-CoV-2 omicron variant was significantly less than for previous variants; however, there was significant heterogeneity that could be due to differences in several factors such as study design, geographical region, time for assessment of clinical outcomes, and diverse conditions of included cases; publication bias was also significant. Recently, Zhao *et al*[32], showed that the omicron variant is less dependent on the TMPRSS2-mediated entry pathway, which leads to less-efficient replication and decreased viral load within the lungs. In addition, the omicron variant is more susceptible to interferons than other variants are, especially the delta variant [33]. Similar evidence could be a reasonable explanation for the lower severity of COVID-19 with the omicron variant, as confirmed by numerous observational studies[15].

The omicron variant nucleotide sequence has several mutations, especially 32 single substitutions in the spike protein that cause resistance to neutralizing antibodies, as well as inefficiency of current vaccines[34-36]. We revealed that omicron variant causes less severity of COVID-19 than previous variants; however, heterogeneity and publication bias were significant in our estimations (Figure 5). Further studies need to confirm the present findings.

Study name		Statist	tics for e	ach study	Odds ratio and 95% CI					
	Odds ratio	Lower limit	Upper limit	Z Value <i>p</i>	Value					
Abdullah et al.,	0.242	0.099	0.592	-3.109	0.002			⊢		
Goga et al.,	0.163	0.148	0.178	-38.131	0.000					
Lewnard et al.,	0.065	0.022	0.190	-4.993	0.000	- I •				
Iuliano et al.,	0.047	0.044	0.050	-95.223	0.000					
Maslo et al.,	0.314	0.263	0.376	-12.648	0.000					
Santos et al.,	0.041	0.002	0.677	-2.232	0.026	(_		
Torjesen et al.,	0.683	0.288	1.619	-0.867	0.386		-			
Wang et al., (a)	0.336	0.243	0.464	-6.601	0.000					
Wang et al., (b)	0.322	0.171	0.605	-3.519	0.000		-	-		
_ / / /	0.188	0.094	0.378	-4.685	0.000					
						0.01	0.1	1	10	100

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.177 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 2 Forest plot of the meta-analysis on intensive care unit admission for patients infected with severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 omicron variant.

Study name		Statis	tics for e	ach study		Odds ratio and 95% CI					
	Odds ratio	Lower limit	Upper limit	Z Value /	p Value						
Christensen et al.,	0.231	0.167	0.321	-8.761	0.000						
Goga et al.	0.023	0.016	0.032	-22.105	0.000						
Lewnard et al.,	0.014	0.001	0.239	-2.949	0.003	-					
Iuliano et al.	0.377	0.329	0.432	-14.015	0.000						
Maslo et al.	0.085	0.052	0.141	-9.554	0.000		- 🖷 - È	_			
Tories en et al.	0.320	0.063	1.624	-1.375	0.169		- - -				
Wang et al., (a)	0.165	0.089	0.307	-5.687	0.000			-			
Wang et al., (b)	0.287	0.191	0.432	-6.000	0.000						
	0.135	0.057	0.319	-4.556	0.000						
						0.01	0.1	1	10	100	

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.177 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 3 Forest plot of the meta-analysis for need for mechanical ventilation in patients infected with severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 omicron variant.



Figure 4 Forest plot of meta-analysis of risk of mortality in patients infected with severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 omicron variant.

CONCLUSION

A new global increase in COVID-19 has been accompanied by the emergence of the SARS-CoV-2 omicron variant that is associated with less disease severity, as well as fewer ICU admissions, shorter





Figure 5 Funnel plot of meta-analysis of disease severity of patients intfected with severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 omicron variant compared with previous variants.

hospitalization, and lower mortality rate. Nonetheless, there is limited information about the effect of omicron on children, pregnant women, and immunodeficient individuals. Overall, omicron has been considered as the most contagious SARS-CoV-2 variant that affects children and young adults more than other groups. Continuation of the current situation can have deadly consequences for these age groups.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Omicron (B.1.1.529) is a new variant of concern of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2); however, there is no comprehensive analysis regarding clinical features, disease severity, and clinical outcomes of infection with this variant.

Research motivation

There is insufficient evidence regarding clinical characteristics, standard therapeutic regimen, and efficacy of currently available vaccines against the omicron variant.

Research objectives

This study was a comprehensive review and statistical analysis to compare the clinical characteristics of infection with the omicron and previous variants.

Research methods

We searched major international databases consisting ISI Web of Science, PubMed, Scopus, and MedRxiv to collect the potential relevant documents. Finally, clinical features, e.g., death rate, intensive care unit (ICU) admission, length of hospitalization, and need for mechanical ventilation of patients infected with omicron variant compared with previous variants, were assessed.

Research results

Twelve articles met our criteria. These studies investigated the clinical outcomes of infection with SARS-CoV-2 omicron variant compared with other variants such as alpha, beta and delta. Our results suggested that ICU admission, need for mechanical ventilation, and death rate were significantly lower for omicron than previous variants. In addition, the average length of hospitalization during the omicron wave was significantly shorter than for other variants.

Research conclusions

The infectivity of the omicron variant was much higher than for previous variants due to the presence of several mutations, particularly in the spike protein. However, disease severity was mild to moderate disease compared with previous variants.



Research perspectives

We revealed that the disease severity of infection with omicron was lower than for previous variants. However, this variant was more contagious. Nevertheless, further investigation with larger samples is needed to confirm the present findings.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Keikha M contribute in design of study, study conceptual, literature search, writhing the draft; Karbalaei M revision the draft and manuscript editing; all authors agree with publish in this journal.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: This study was conducted according to PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Iran

ORCID number: Mohsen Karbalaei 0000-0001-9899-2885; Masoud Keikha 0000-0003-1208-8479.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: Kerr C P-Editor: Liu JH

REFERENCES

- 1 Okonji OC, Okonji EF, Mohanan P, Babar MS, Saleem A, Khawaja UA, Essar MY, Hasan MM. Marburg virus disease outbreak amidst COVID-19 in the Republic of Guinea: A point of contention for the fragile health system? Clin Epidemiol Glob Health 2022; 13: 100920. [PMID: 34901523 DOI: 10.1016/j.cegh.2021.100920]
- 2 Roessler A, Riepler L, Bante D, von Laer D, Kimpel J. SARS-CoV-2 B. 1.1. 529 variant (Omicron) evades neutralization by sera from vaccinated and convalescent individuals. medRxiv 2021 [DOI: 10.1101/2021.12.08.21267491]
- Rahimi F, Talebi Bezmin Abadi A. Is Omicron the last SARS-CoV-2 Variant of Concern? Arch Med Res 2022; 53: 336-3 338 [PMID: 35093242 DOI: 10.1016/j.arcmed.2022.01.001]
- Burki TK. Omicron variant and booster COVID-19 vaccines. Lancet Respir Med 2022; 10: e17 [PMID: 34929158 DOI: 10.1016/S2213-2600(21)00559-2]
- Control CfD, Prevention. COVID data tracker: variant proportions. Atlanta, GA2021. 2021. Available from: 5 https://covid.cdc.gov/covid-data-tracker/#datatracker-home
- Wu C, Yin W, Jiang Y, Xu HE. Structure genomics of SARS-CoV-2 and its Omicron variant: drug design templates for 6 COVID-19. Acta Pharmacol Sin [DOI: 10.1038/s41401-021-00851-w]
- Brierley AS, Fernandes PG, Brandon MA, Armstrong F, Millard NW, McPhail SD, Stevenson P, Pebody M, Perrett J, Squires M, Bone DG, Griffiths G. Antarctic krill under sea ice: elevated abundance in a narrow band just south of ice edge. Science 2002; 295: 1890-1892 [PMID: 11884754 DOI: 10.1126/science.1068574]
- Abdulnoor M, Eshaghi A, Perusini SJ, Broukhanski G, Corbeil A, Cronin K, Fittipaldi N, Forbes JD, Guthrie JL, Kus JV, Li Y, Majury A, Mallo GV, Mazzulli T, Melano RG, Olsha R, Sullivan A, Tran V, Patel SN, Allen VG, Gubbay JB. Real-Time RT-PCR Allelic Discrimination Assay for Detection of N501Y Mutation in the Spike Protein of SARS-CoV-2 Associated with B.1.1.7 Variant of Concern. Microbiol Spectr 2022; 10: e0068121 [PMID: 35170989 DOI: 10.1128/spectrum.00681-21
- 9 Nemet I, Kliker L, Lustig Y, Zuckerman N, Erster O, Cohen C, Kreiss Y, Alroy-Preis S, Regev-Yochay G, Mendelson E, Mandelboim M. Third BNT162b2 Vaccination Neutralization of SARS-CoV-2 Omicron Infection. N Engl J Med 2022; **386**: 492-494 [PMID: 34965337 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMc2119358]
- Papanikolaou V, Chrysovergis A, Ragos V, Tsiambas E, Katsinis S, Manoli A, Papouliakos S, Roukas D, Mastronikolis S, 10 Peschos D, Batistatou A, Kyrodimos E, Mastronikolis N. From delta to Omicron: S1-RBD/S2 mutation/deletion equilibrium in SARS-CoV-2 defined variants. Gene 2022; 814: 146134 [PMID: 34990799 DOI: 10.1016/j.gene.2021.146134
- Bentley EG, Kirby A, Sharma P, Kipar A, Mega DF, Bramwell C, Penrice-Randal R, Prince T, Brown JC., Zhou J. SARS-11 CoV-2 Omicron-B. 1.1. 529 Variant leads to less severe disease than Pango B and Delta variants strains in a mouse model of severe COVID-19. bioRxiv 2021 [DOI: 10.1101/2021.12.26.474085]
- Naranbhai V, Nathan A, Kaseke C, Berrios C, Khatri A, Choi S, Getz MA, Tano-Menka R, Ofoman O, Gayton A, Senjobe 12 F, Denis KJS, Lam EC, Garcia-Beltran WF, Balazs AB, Walker BD, Iafrate AJ, Gaiha GD. T cell reactivity to the SARS-CoV-2 Omicron variant is preserved in most but not all prior infected and vaccinated individuals. medRxiv 2022 [PMID:



35018386 DOI: 10.1101/2022.01.04.21268586]

- 13 Sheikh A, Kerr S, Woolhouse M, McMenamin J, Robertson C; EAVE II Collaborators. Severity of omicron variant of concern and effectiveness of vaccine boosters against symptomatic disease in Scotland (EAVE II): a national cohort study with nested test-negative design. Lancet Infect Dis 2022 [PMID: 35468332 DOI: 10.1016/S1473-3099(22)00141-4]
- Nyberg T, Ferguson NM, Nash SG, Webster HH, Flaxman S, Andrews N, Hinsley W, Bernal JL, Kall M, Bhatt S, Blomquist P, Zaidi A, Volz E, Aziz NA, Harman K, Funk S, Abbott S; COVID-19 Genomics UK (COG-UK) consortium, Hope R, Charlett A, Chand M, Ghani AC, Seaman SR, Dabrera G, De Angelis D, Presanis AM, Thelwall S. Comparative analysis of the risks of hospitalisation and death associated with SARS-CoV-2 omicron (B.1.1.529) and delta (B.1.617.2) variants in England: a cohort study. Lancet 2022; 399: 1303-1312 [PMID: 35305296 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)00462-7]
- 15 Ulloa AC, Buchan SA, Daneman N, Brown KA. Early estimates of SARS-CoV-2 Omicron variant severity based on a matched cohort study, Ontario, Canada. MedRxiv 2021 [DOI: 10.1101/2021.12.24.21268382]
- Jansen L, Tegomoh B, Lange K, Showalter K, Figliomeni J, Abdalhamid B, Iwen PC, Fauver J, Buss B, Donahue M. 16 Investigation of a SARS-CoV-2 B.1.1.529 (Omicron) Variant Cluster - Nebraska, November-December 2021. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2021; 70: 1782-1784 [PMID: 34968376 DOI: 10.15585/mmwr.mm705152e3]
- Wolter N, Jassat W, Walaza S, Welch R, Moultrie H, Groome M, Amoako DG, Everatt J, Bhiman JN, Scheepers C, 17 Tebeila N, Chiwandire N, du Plessis M, Govender N, Ismail A, Glass A, Mlisana K, Stevens W, Treurnicht FK, Makatini Z, Hsiao NY, Parboosing R, Wadula J, Hussey H, Davies MA, Boulle A, von Gottberg A, Cohen C. Early assessment of the clinical severity of the SARS-CoV-2 omicron variant in South Africa: a data linkage study. Lancet 2022; 399: 437-446 [PMID: 35065011 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)00017-4]
- Abdullah F, Myers J, Basu D, Tintinger G, Ueckermann V, Mathebula M, Ramlall R, Spoor S, de Villiers T, Van der Walt Z, Cloete J, Soma-Pillay P, Rheeder P, Paruk F, Engelbrecht A, Lalloo V, Myburg M, Kistan J, van Hougenhouck-Tulleken W, Boswell MT, Gray G, Welch R, Blumberg L, Jassat W. Decreased severity of disease during the first global omicron variant covid-19 outbreak in a large hospital in tshwane, south africa. Int J Infect Dis 2022; 116: 38-42 [PMID: 34971823 DOI: 10.1016/i.iiid.2021.12.3571
- 19 Cloete J, Kruger A, Masha M, du Plessis NM, Mawela D, Tshukudu M, Manyane T, Komane L, Venter M, Jassat W. Rapid rise in paediatric COVID-19 hospitalisations during the early stages of the Omicron wave, Tshwane District, South Africa. medRxiv 2021 [DOI: 10.1101/2021.12.21.21268108]
- 20 Christensen PA, Olsen RJ, Long SW, Snehal R, Davis JJ, Ojeda Saavedra M, Reppond K, Shyer MN, Cambric J, Gadd R, Thakur RM, Batajoo A, Mangham R, Pena S, Trinh T, Kinskey JC, Williams G, Olson R, Gollihar J, Musser JM. Signals of Significantly Increased Vaccine Breakthrough, Decreased Hospitalization Rates, and Less Severe Disease in Patients with Coronavirus Disease 2019 Caused by the Omicron Variant of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 in Houston, Texas. Am J Pathol 2022; 192: 642-652 [PMID: 35123975 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2022.01.007]
- 21 Davies MA, Kassanjee R, Rosseau P, Morden E, Johnson L, Solomon W, Hsiao NY, Hussey H, Meintjes G, Paleker M, Jacobs T, Raubenheimer P, Heekes A, Dane P, Bam JL, Smith M, Preiser W, Pienaar D, Mendelson M, Naude J, Schrueder N, Mnguni A, Roux SL, Murie K, Prozesky H, Mahomed H, Rossouw L, Wasserman S, Maughan D, Boloko L, Smith B, Taljaard J, Symons G, Ntusi N, Parker A, Wolter N, Jassat W, Cohen C, Lessells R, Wilkinson RJ, Arendse J, Kariem S, Moodley M, Vallabhjee K, Wolmarans M, Cloete K, Boulle A. Outcomes of laboratory-confirmed SARS-CoV-2 infection in the Omicron-driven fourth wave compared with previous waves in the Western Cape Province, South Africa. medRxiv 2022 [PMID: 35043121 DOI: 10.1101/2022.01.12.22269148]
- 22 Goga A, Bekker LG, Garret N, Reddy T, Yende-Zuma N, Fairall L, Moultrie H, Takalani A, Trivelli V, Faesen M. Breakthrough Covid-19 infections during periods of circulating Beta, Delta and Omicron variants of concern, among health care workers in the Sisonke Ad26. COV2. S vaccine trial, South Africa. medRxiv 2021 [DOI: 10.1101/2021.12.21.21268171]
- 23 Lewnard JA, Hong VX, Patel MM, Kahn R, Lipsitch M, Tartof SY. Clinical outcomes among patients infected with Omicron (B. 1.1. 529) SARS-CoV-2 variant in southern California. medRxiv2022. [DOI: 10.1101/2022.01.11.22269045]
- Iuliano AD, Brunkard JM, Boehmer TK, Peterson E, Adjei S, Binder AM, Cobb S, Graff P, Hidalgo P, Panaggio MJ, 24 Rainey JJ, Rao P, Soetebier K, Wacaster S, Ai C, Gupta V, Molinari NM, Ritchey MD. Trends in Disease Severity and Health Care Utilization During the Early Omicron Variant Period Compared with Previous SARS-CoV-2 High Transmission Periods - United States, December 2020-January 2022. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2022; 71: 146-152 [PMID: 35085225 DOI: 10.15585/mmwr.mm7104e4]
- 25 Maslo C, Friedland R, Toubkin M, Laubscher A, Akaloo T, Kama B. Characteristics and Outcomes of Hospitalized Patients in South Africa During the COVID-19 Omicron Wave Compared With Previous Waves. JAMA 2022; 327: 583-584 [PMID: 34967859 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2021.24868]
- Peralta-Santos A, Rodrigues EF, Moreno J, Ricoca V, Casaca P, Fernandes E, Gomes JP, Ferreira R, Isidro J, Pinto M. 26 Omicron (BA. 1) SARS-CoV-2 Variant Is Associated With Reduced Risk of Hospitalization and Length of Stay Compared With Delta (B. 1.617. 2). [DOI: 10.2139/ssrn.4017381]
- 27 Torjesen I. Covid-19: Omicron variant is linked to steep rise in hospital admissions of very young children. BMJ 2022; **376**: o110 [PMID: 35031537 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.o110]
- Wang L, Berger NA, Kaelber DC, Davis PB, Volkow ND, Xu R. Comparison of outcomes from COVID infection in pediatric and adult patients before and after the emergence of Omicron. medRxiv 2022 [PMID: 35018384 DOI: 10.1101/2021.12.30.21268495
- Wang L, Berger NA, Kaelber DC, Davis PB, Volkow ND, Xu R. COVID infection severity in children under 5 years old 29 before and after Omicron emergence in the US. medRxiv 2022 [PMID: 35043116 DOI: 10.1101/2022.01.12.22269179]
- Del Rio C, Omer SB, Malani PN. Winter of Omicron-The Evolving COVID-19 Pandemic. JAMA 2022; 327: 319-320 [PMID: 34935863 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2021.24315]
- 31 Madhi S, Kwatra G, Myers JE, Jassat W, Dhar N, Mukendi CK, Nana A, Blumberg L, Welch R, Ngorima-Mabhena N. South African population immunity and severe Covid-19 with omicron variant. MedRxiv 2021 [DOI: 10.1101/2021.12.20.21268096



- 32 Zhao H, Lu L, Peng Z, Chen LL, Meng X, Zhang C, Ip JD, Chan WM, Chu AW, Chan KH, Jin DY, Chen H, Yuen KY, To KK. SARS-CoV-2 Omicron variant shows less efficient replication and fusion activity when compared with Delta variant in TMPRSS2-expressed cells. Emerg Microbes Infect 2022; 11: 277-283 [PMID: 34951565 DOI: 10.1080/22221751.2021.2023329]
- 33 Bojkova D, Widera M, Ciesek S, Wass MN, Michaelis M, Cinatl J Jr. Reduced interferon antagonism but similar drug sensitivity in Omicron variant compared to Delta variant of SARS-CoV-2 isolates. Cell Res 2022; 32: 319-321 [PMID: 35064226 DOI: 10.1038/s41422-022-00619-9]
- Song Y, Masaki F. Preparation for the challenge of heavily mutated Omicron variant. Clin Transl Med 2021; 11: e679 34 [PMID: 34898041 DOI: 10.1002/ctm2.679]
- 35 Hoffmann M, Krüger N, Schulz S, Cossmann A, Rocha C, Kempf A, Nehlmeier I, Graichen L, Moldenhauer AS, Winkler MS, Lier M, Dopfer-Jablonka A, Jäck HM, Behrens GMN, Pöhlmann S. The Omicron variant is highly resistant against antibody-mediated neutralization: Implications for control of the COVID-19 pandemic. Cell 2022; 185: 447-456.e11 [PMID: 35026151 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2021.12.032]
- Tada T, Zhou H, Dcosta BM, Samanovic MI, Chivukula V, Herati RS, Hubbard SR, Mulligan MJ, Landau NR. Increased 36 resistance of SARS-CoV-2 Omicron variant to neutralization by vaccine-elicited and therapeutic antibodies. EBioMedicine 2022; 78: 103944 [PMID: 35465948 DOI: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2022.103944]



A WJM

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Meta-Anal 2022 June 28; 10(3): 186-194

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.186

ISSN 2308-3840 (online)

META-ANALYSIS

Difference in incidence of developing hepatocellular carcinoma between hepatitis B virus-and hepatitis C virus-infected patients

Kazuo Tarao, Akito Nozaki, Hirokazu Komatsu, Naomi Ideno, Tatsuji Komatsu, Takaaki Ikeda, Masataka Taguri, Shin Maeda

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Ciotti M, Italy; Talal A, United States

Received: April 13, 2022 Peer-review started: April 13, 2022 First decision: May 31, 2022 Revised: June 14, 2022 Accepted: June 27, 2022 Article in press: June 27, 2022 Published online: June 28, 2022



Kazuo Tarao, Department of Gastroenterology, Tarao's Gastroenterological Clinic, Yokohama City 241-0821, Japan

Akito Nozaki, Naomi Ideno, Gastroenterological Center, Yokohama City University Medical Center, Yokohama City 232-0024, Japan

Hirokazu Komatsu, Department of Gastroenterology, Yokohama Municipal Citizen's Hospital, Yokohama City 2211-0855, Japan

Tatsuji Komatsu, Department of Clinical Research, National Hospital Organization, Yokohama Medical Center, Yokohama City 2458575, Japan

Takaaki lkeda, Department of Gastroenterology, Yokosuka General Hospital Uwamachi, Yokosuka City 238-8567, Japan

Masataka Taguri, Department of Data Science, Yokohama City University, Yokohama, Yokohama City 236-0004, Japan

Shin Maeda, Department of Gastroenterology, Yokohama City University Graduate School of Medicine, Yokohama City 236-0004, Japan

Corresponding author: Kazuo Tarao, MD, PhD, Director, Department of Gastroenterology, Tarao's Gastroenterological Clinic, 3rd Floor, Taiyo-Building, 2-58-6, Futamatagawa, Asahiku, Yokohama City 241-0821, Japan. duoluoweih7@gmail.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

It is generally accepted that the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in hepatitis C virus (HCV)-associated patients is higher than that in hepatitis B virus (HBV)-associated patients. The reason why this difference in the incidence of HCC occurs in patients with HBV and HCV infections remains unclear. We report the possibility that the contributing power of inflammation, which is the main risk factor for developing HCC, may be different with HBV and HCV infections.

AIM

To investigate this, we surveyed the hazard ratio of inflammation for HCC development which was identified by serum alanine aminotransferase (ALT) levels between patients with HBV and HCV infections.



METHODS

The PubMed database was searched (2001-2021) for studies published in English regarding the incidence of HCC identifying 8924 HBV-and 7376 HCV- infected patients. From these studies, interferon-treated patients with both HBV and HCV infections were excluded. Furthermore, in HBV patients, those administered nucleos(t)ide analogues were excluded, and in HCV patients, those administered direct acting antivirals were also excluded. Studies citing hazard ratios of HCC regarding inflammation (serum elevated alanine aminotransferase levels) were selected. Finally, there were 14 studies of HBV- infected patients and 8 studies of HCV-infected patients. We calculated the hazard ratio in patients in an inflammatory state (serum ALT levels were above the normal range).

RESULTS

In the 14 studies of HBV patients, the average hazard ratio (HR) of elevated ALT for developing HCC was 2.74 [1.98-3.77] and that in the 8 studies of HCV-infected patients was 5.51 [3.08-9.83]. The HR of inflammation for HCC development in HCV-associated liver diseases is about twice that in HBV-associated liver diseases. HR in HCV-infected patients was significantly (P = 0.0391) higher than that in HBV-infected patients. In hepatitis B patients, the abnormal range adopted was 28-45 IU/L, and in hepatitis C patients, it was 20-50 IU/L. It was demonstrated that the abnormal ALT levels adopted in hepatitis B and C patients were very similar in this series.

CONCLUSION

The difference in the incidence of HCC development between HBV and HCV patients may depend on the difference in the hazard risk of ALT between HBV and HCV infections.

Key Words: Hazard ratio of alanine aminotransferase; Hepatitis B virus; Hepatitis C virus; Hepatocellular carcinoma; Elevated alanine aminotransferase

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: It is generally accepted that the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in hepatitis C virus (HCV)-associated of patients is higher than that in hepatitis B virus (HBV)-associated patients. We demonstrated that the incidence of HCC in HCV-associated cirrhotic patients was 4.81%/year as compared with 3.23% in HBV-associated patients based on analytic assessment of already published papers. In HBV infection, alanine aminotransferase (ALT) is the second highest risk factor, and in HCV infection, ALT is the highest risk factor, for HCC development. The hazard ratio (HR) for developing HCC in the inflammatory state (serum ALT levels exceeded the normal range) was compared between HBV and HCV patients. In the 14 studies of HBV patients, the average HR was 2.74 as compared with 5.51 in the 8 studies of HCV patients (P = 0.0391). The difference in the incidence of HCC development between HBV and HCV patients may depend on the difference in the hazard risk of ALT for HCC development between HBV and HCV infections.

Citation: Tarao K, Nozaki A, Komatsu H, Ideno N, Komatsu T, Ikeda T, Taguri M, Maeda S. Difference in incidence of developing hepatocellular carcinoma between hepatitis B virus-and hepatitis C virus-infected patients. *World J Meta-Anal* 2022; 10(3): 186-194

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/full/v10/i3/186.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.13105/wjma.v10.i3.186

INTRODUCTION

It is generally accepted that the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in hepatitis C virus (HCV)associated of patients is higher than that in hepatitis B virus (HBV)-associated patients. We demonstrated that the incidence of HCC in HCV-associated cirrhotic patients was 4.81%/year as compared with 3.23% in HBV-associated patients based on analytic assessment of already published papers[1].

However, the reason why this difference in incidence of HCC occurs in patients with HBV and HCV infections remains unclear. We have been considering this for many years, and finally arrived at the possibility that the contributing power of inflammation, which is the main risk factor for developing HCC, may be different with HBV and HCV infections.

Tarao K et al. Difference in incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma



Figure 1 Flow diagram of articles with hepatitis B virus infected patients. HBV: Hepatitis B virus.



Figure 2 Flow diagram of articles with hepatitis C virus infected patients. HCV: Hepatitis C virus; DAA: Direct acting antivirals.

To investigate this, we surveyed the hazard ratio (HR) of inflammation which was identified by serum alanine aminotransferase (ALT) levels between patients with HBV and HCV infections.

Why ALT, not AST was adopted in this study was as follows: We previously demonstrated^[2] the strong association between sustained high serum ALT levels (≥ 80 international units (INU) annual average) and the development of HCC in patients with HCV-LC (Child Stage A) by long-term observation lasting about 7 years, (Cancer 1999; 86: 589-595). In this series of the study, we also investigated the association between sustained high serum AST levels (\geq 80 INU) and development, but the association was not so strong as ALT. Moreover, many studies have demonstrated a close association between severe inflammation as estimated by higher serum ALT level and initiation of HCC development (Veldt et al[3]; Miyakawa et al[4]).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Search strategy

The PubMed database was searched (2001-2021) for studies published in English regarding the incidence of HCC in HBV or HCV infected patients. There were 8924 studies involving HBV patients, and 7376 studies of HCV patients. From these studies, interferon-treated patients with both HBV and HCV infections were excluded. Furthermore, in HBV patients, those who were administered nucleos(t)ide analogues were excluded, and HCV patients administered direct acting antivirals were also excluded. We also excluded articles which include co-existing liver disease such as alcoholic liver diseases and/or fatty liver diseases. Then, studies which dealt with the HR of HCC regarding inflammation (serum elevated ALT levels) were selected. Finally, there were 13 studies of HBV-infected patients[5-17], and 8 studies of HCV-infected patients[13,18-24] (Figures 1 and 2). In these selected papers, the HR of patients in a non-inflammatory state (serum ALT levels within normal range) was set as 1. We then calculated the HR in patients in an inflammatory state (serum ALT levels were above normal range).

Furthermore, for the purpose of comparing elevated ALT levels between hepatitis B and C patients, we examined the actual ALT levels cited in patients with chronic hepatitis B and hepatitis C included in this series (Tables 1 and 2).



Table 1 Actual elevated alanine aminotransferase levels cited in patients with chronic hepatitis B					
Ref.	Actual elevated ALT levels				
Kim et al[5]	Above normal levels				
Du et al[6]	Above normal levels				
Choi et al[7]	Above normal levels				
Wen et al[8]	≥ 25 IU/L				
Hann et al[11]	Elevated				
Chen et al[12]	≥45 IU/L				
Kumada <i>et al</i> [13]	Absence of persistently normal ALT levels				
Chen et al[14]	Above normal levels				
Ishiguro <i>et al</i> [15]	≥ 30 IU/L				
Ando et al[16]	≥23 IU/L				
Yamada <i>et al</i> [17]	≥40 IU/L				

ALT: Alanine aminotransferase.

Table 2 Actual elevated alanine aminotransferase levels cited in patients with chronic hepatitis C				
Ref.	Actual elevated ALT levels			
Ishiguro <i>et al</i> [15]	≥ 30 IU/L			
Chen <i>et al</i> [18]	≥ 45 IU/L			
Sun et al[19]	Elevated			
Tanaka <i>et al</i> [20]	Elevated			
Kumada et al[21]	> 20 IU/L			
Ito <i>et al</i> [22]	> 35 IU/L			
Suruki et al[23]	> 35 IU/L			
Lee et al[24]	Always≥45 IU/L			

ALT: Alanine aminotransferase.

Statistical analysis

To compare HR of ALT for HCC between HBV and HCV patients, we calculated the weighted mean of HR for each type using the random effect model (Ref.: Dersimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in Clinical trials. Controlled Clinic Trials 1986; 7: 177-188). To assess whether the mean HR among HBV patients was lower than that among HCV patients, we calculated the *P* value using a *Z* test. All reported p- values correspond to two-sided tests, and those P < 0.05 were considered significant. All analyses were performed using R (version 4.1.2) and R Studio (version 1.4) software.

RESULTS

In the 14 studies of HBV patients[5-17], the average HR of elevated ALT for developing HCC was 2.74 [1.98-3.77] (Figure 3), and that in 8 studies of HCV-infected patients[12,15-21] was 5.51 [3.08-9.83] (Figure 4). It was demonstrated that the HR of inflammation for HCC development in HCV-associated liver diseases is about twice that in HBV-associated liver diseases. The HR in HCV-infected patients was significantly (P = 0.0391) higher than that in HBV-infected patients.

In hepatitis B patients, the abnormal range adopted was 28-45 IU/L (Table 1), and in hepatitis C patients, it was 20-50 IU/L (Table 2). It was demonstrated that the abnormal ALT levels adopted in hepatitis B and C patients were very similar in this series.

Tarao K et al. Difference in incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma



Figure 3 In hepatitis B virus patients, a non-inflammatory state (serum alanine aminotransferase levels were within normal range) were set as 1. Hazard ratios of patients in an inflammatory state (serum alanine aminotransferase levels above normal range) were calculated.



Figure 4 In hepatitis C virus patients, Hazard ratios of patients in a non-inflammatory state (serum alanine aminotransferase levels were within normal range) were set as 1. Hazard ratios of patients in an inflammatory state (serum alanine aminotransferase levels above normal range) were calculated.

DISCUSSION

There are many risk factors for developing HCC: Sex, age, ALT, α -fetoprotein, presence of cirrhosis, habitual alcohol consumption, tabaco, and diabetes mellitus are typically cited, and HBV-DNA[1,3,6-8, 10] and the HBV genotype[9] are added for chronic HBV infection. The HCV genotype is also cited for HCV infection[21]. To study the impact of ALT on HCC development in chronic hepatitis B and chronic hepatitis C virus infections, we initially surveyed risk factors for HCC that are strongly associated with its development.

As shown in Table 3, the HR for developing HCC for each item in patients with chronic hepatitis B virus infection was 2.52 for sex, 3.15 for age, 2.212 for HBV-DNA, 3.37 for ALT, and 6.42 for presence of cirrhosis. Except for the presence of cirrhosis, ALT shows the highest risk ratio for HCC development.

As shown in Table 4, in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection, it was 5.486 for age and 5.877 for ALT. The value for ALT was higher than that for age. In HBV infection, ALT is the second-highest



Table 3 Hazard r infection	able 3 Hazard ratio for developing hepatocellular carcinoma for each item in various reports of patients with chronic hepatitis B virus nfection									
Ref.	Sex	Age	HBV-DNA	ALT	AFP	Presence of cirrhosis	HBV genotype	Alcohol use	Tabaco	DM
Kim et al[<mark>5</mark>]	2.782	1.080	0.986	2.641		2.955		2.105		2.00
Du et al[<mark>6</mark>]	2.94	3.30		2.55		2.45				
Choi et al[7]	1.67	1.05	1.02	1.54	1.21	1.54				
Wen et al[10]	1.93	5.34		1.93						
Hann et al[11]				1.21						2.60
Chen et al[12]			3.12	5.75		7.961	2.05 (Type C)			
Kumada <i>et al</i> [13]	6.011		5.125	3.939	6.779	18.033				
Chen et al[14]	1.2	2.0	1.6	1.7				2.3	1.9	
Ishiguro <i>et al</i> [15]				10.5	2.183					
Ando et al[16]	2.200	3.395	1.442	1.914	1.967					
Yamada <i>et al</i> [17]	1.44	5.867				5.59				
Average	2.52	3.15	2.212	3.37		6.42				

ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AFP: α-fetoprotein; DM: Diabetes mellitus; HBV: Hepatitis B virus.

Table 4 Hazard ratio for developing hepatocellular carcinoma in each item in various reports of patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection							
Ref.	Sex	Age	ALT	AFP	Presence of cirrhosis	DM	HCV-genotype
Ishiguro <i>et al</i> [15]		11.4	10.5				
Chen et al[18]	1.65	5.83	4.43			3.46	
Sun <i>et al</i> [19]		6.5	7.7				
Tanaka et al[20]	2.63	4.47	6.23				
Kumada <i>et al</i> [<mark>21</mark>]		2.42	6.263		10.003		
Ito <i>et al</i> [22]	1.448	2.187	1.916	6.5			
Suruki <i>et al</i> [23]							
Lee et al[24]							2.8 (HCV-1)
Average		5.486	5.877				

ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AFP: α-fetoprotein; DM: Diabetes mellitus; HCV: Hepatitis C virus.

risk factor, and in HCV infection, ALT is the higher risk factor.

In support of our findings, Benvegnù et al[25] demonstrated that patients with HCV infection with persistently elevated or fluctuating ALT levels during the observation period demonstrated a significantly higher rate of HCC development compared with patients in whom ALT remained or became normal during follow-up. This observation confirms that the activity of liver disease, which is characterized by inflammation, necrosis, and regeneration, plays an important role in promoting HCC development and suggests that medical interventions that limit disease activity may prevent or delay neoplastic transformation and tumor growth.

Furthermore, we demonstrated that the average HR of ALT for HCC development in HCV patients is about twice that in HBV patients (P < 0.05).

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the difference in the incidence of HCC development between HBV and HCV patients may depend on the difference in the HR of ALT between HBV and HCV infections.



ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

It is generally accepted that the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in hepatitis C virus (HCV)associated patients is higher than that in hepatitis B virus (HBV)-associated patients. We demonstrated that the incidence of HCC in HCV-associated cirrhotic patients was 4.81%/year compared with 3.23% in HBV-associated patients based on analytic assessment of already published papers.

Research motivation

The reason why this difference in incidence of HCC occurs in patients with HBV and HCV infections remains unknown. We considered the possibility that the contributing power of inflammation, which is the main risk factor for developing HCC, may be different with HBV and HCV infections.

Research objectives

To investigate this, we surveyed the hazard ratio of inflammation for HCC development, which was identified by serum alanine aminotransferase levels between patients with HBV and HCV infections.

Research methods

The PubMed database was searched (2001-2021) for studies published in English regarding the incidence of HCC, identifying 8924 HBV-and7376 HCV-infected patients. From these studies, interferontreated patients with both HBV and HCV infections were excluded. Furthermore, in HBV patients, those administered nucleos(t)ide analogues were excluded, and in HCV patients, those administered direct acting antivirals were also excluded. Studies citing hazard ratios of HCC regarding inflammation (serum elevated alanine aminotransferase levels) were selected. Finally, there were 14 studies of HBVinfected patients and 8 studies of HCV-infected patients. We calculated the hazard ratio in patients in an inflammatory state (serum ALT levels were above the normal range).

Research results

In the 14 studies of HBV patients, the average hazard ratio (HR) of elevated ALT for developing HCC was 2.74 [1.98-3.77], and that in the 8 studies on HCV-infected patients was 5.51 [3.08-9.83]. HR in HCVinfected patients was about twice that in HBV-infected patient, and was significantly (P = 0.0391) higher than that in HBV-infected patients. In hepatitis B patients, the abnormal range adopted was 28-45 IU/L, and in hepatitis C patients, it was 20-50 IU/L. It was demonstrated that the abnormal ALT levels adopted in hepatitis B and C patients were very similar in this series.

Research conclusions

The difference in the incidence of HCC development between HBV and HCV patients may depend on the difference in the HR of ALT between HBV and HCV infections.

Research perspectives

In this study, it was demonstrated that the HR of inflammation for HCC development in HCVassociated liver diseases is about twice that in HBV-associated liver diseases. So, we must optimally suppress inflammation in patients with HCV-associated liver diseases to prevent HCC development.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Tarao K summarized the data and wrote the paper; Nozaki A, Komatsu H, Ideno N, Komatsu T, Ikeda T, Maeda S were involved in the interpretation of data, and the development and critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content; Taguri M conducted statistical analysis.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors declare no conflicts of interest associated with this manuscript.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Japan



ORCID number: Kazuo Tarao 0000-0002-7161-6748; Akito Nozaki 0000-0002-3310-6632; Hirokazu Komatsu 0000-0001-9613-6698; Tatsuji Komatsu 0000-0002-8293-3773; Masataka Taguri 0000-0001-8902-0056; Shin Maeda 0000-0002-0246-1594.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: A P-Editor: Liu JH

REFERENCES

- 1 Tarao K, Nozaki A, Ikeda T, Sato A, Komatsu H, Komatsu T, Taguri M, Tanaka K. Real impact of liver cirrhosis on the development of hepatocellular carcinoma in various liver diseases-meta-analytic assessment. Cancer Med 2019; 8: 1054-1065 [PMID: 30791221 DOI: 10.1002/cam4.1998]
- Tarao K, Rino Y, Ohkawa S, Shimizu A, Tamai S, Miyakawa K, Aoki H, Imada T, Shindo K, Okamoto N, Totsuka S. 2 Association between high serum alanine aminotransferase levels and more rapid development and higher rate of incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with hepatitis C virus-associated cirrhosis. Cancer 1999; 86: 589-595 [PMID: 10440686 DOI: 10.1002/(sici)1097-0142(19990815)86:4<589::aid-cncr7>3.0.co;2-k]
- Veldt BJ, Hansen BE, Ikeda K, Verhey E, Suzuki H, Schalm SW. Long-term clinical outcome and effect of glycyrrhizin in 1093 chronic hepatitis C patients with non-response or relapse to interferon. Scand J Gastroenterol 2006; 41: 1087-1094 [PMID: 16938723 DOI: 10.1080/00365520600641365]
- 4 Miyakawa K, Tarao K, Ohshige K, Morinaga S, Ohkawa S, Okamoto N, Shibuya A, Adachi S, Miura Y, Fujiyama S, Miyase S, Tomita K. High serum alanine aminotransferase levels for the first three successive years can predict very high incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with Child Stage A HCV-associated liver cirrhosis. Scand J Gastroenterol 2009; **44**: 1340-1348 [PMID: 19891585 DOI: 10.3109/00365520903222681]
- 5 Kim S, Lee Y, Bang SM, Bak H, Yim SY, Lee YS, Yoo YJ, Jung YK, Kim JH, Seo YS, Yim HJ, Um SH, Byun KS, Yeon JE. Early Normalization of Alanine Aminotransferase during Antiviral Therapy Reduces Risk of Hepatocellular Carcinoma in HBV Patients. J Clin Med 2021; 10: 1840-1844 [PMID: 33922708 DOI: 10.3390/jcm10091840]
- Du Y, Du B, Fang X, Shu M, Zhang Y, Chung H, Sun Y, Teng J, Visalath P, Qiu H, Cai W. ALT Flare Predicts 6 Hepatocellular Carcinoma Among Antiviral Treated Patients With Chronic Hepatitis B: A Cross-Country Cohort Study. Front Oncol 2021; 10: 615203 [PMID: 33552989 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2020.615203]
- 7 Choi J, Kim GA, Han S, Lim YS. Earlier Alanine Aminotransferase Normalization During Antiviral Treatment Is Independently Associated With Lower Risk of Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Chronic Hepatitis B. Am J Gastroenterol 2020; **115**: 406-414 [PMID: 31895708 DOI: 10.14309/ajg.00000000000490]
- Wong GL, Chan HL, Tse YK, Yip TC, Lam KL, Lui GC, Wong VW. Normal on-treatment ALT during antiviral treatment is associated with a lower risk of hepatic events in patients with chronic hepatitis B. J Hepatol 2018; 69: 793-802 [PMID: 29758335 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.05.009]
- Lee J, Sinn DH, Kim JH, Gwak GY, Kim HS, Jung SH, Paik YH, Choi MS, Lee JH, Koh KC, Yoo BC, Paik SW. Hepatocellular Carcinoma Risk of Compensated Cirrhosis Patients with Elevated HBV DNA Levels according to Serum Aminotransferase Levels. J Korean Med Sci 2015; 30: 1618-1624 [PMID: 26539006 DOI: 10.3346/jkms.2015.30.11.1618]
- Wen CP, Lin J, Yang YC, Tsai MK, Tsao CK, Etzel C, Huang M, Hsu CY, Ye Y, Mishra L, Hawk E, Wu X. 10 Hepatocellular carcinoma risk prediction model for the general population: the predictive power of transaminases. J Natl Cancer Inst 2012; 104: 1599-1611 [PMID: 23073549 DOI: 10.1093/jnci/djs372]
- Hann HW, Wan S, Myers RE, Hann RS, Xing J, Chen B, Yang H. Comprehensive analysis of common serum liver 11 enzymes as prospective predictors of hepatocellular carcinoma in HBV patients. PLoS One 2012; 7: e47687 [PMID: 23112834 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0047687]
- 12 Chen CF, Lee WC, Yang HI, Chang HC, Jen CL, Iloeje UH, Su J, Hsiao CK, Wang LY, You SL, Lu SN, Chen CJ; Risk Evaluation of Viral Load Elevation and Associated Liver Disease/Cancer in HBV (REVEAL-HBV) Study Group. Changes in serum levels of HBV DNA and alanine aminotransferase determine risk for hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology 2011; 141: 1240-1248, 1248.e1 [PMID: 21703214 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.06.036]
- 13 Kumada T, Toyoda H, Kiriyama S, Sone Y, Tanikawa M, Hisanaga Y, Kanamori A, Atsumi H, Takagi M, Arakawa T, Fujimori M. Incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with chronic hepatitis B virus infection who have normal alanine aminotransferase values. J Med Virol 2010; 82: 539-545 [PMID: 20166172 DOI: 10.1002/jmv.21686]
- 14 Chen JD, Yang HI, Iloeje UH, You SL, Lu SN, Wang LY, Su J, Sun CA, Liaw YF, Chen CJ; Risk Evaluation of Viral Load Elevation and Associated Liver Disease/Cancer in HBV (REVEAL-HBV) Study Group. Carriers of inactive hepatitis B virus are still at risk for hepatocellular carcinoma and liver-related death. Gastroenterology 2010; 138: 1747-1754 [PMID: 20114048 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2010.01.042]
- 15 Ishiguro S, Inoue M, Tanaka Y, Mizokami M, Iwasaki M, Tsugane S; JPHC Study Group. Serum aminotransferase level and the risk of hepatocellular carcinoma: a population-based cohort study in Japan. Eur J Cancer Prev 2009; 18: 26-32 [PMID: 19077561 DOI: 10.1097/CEJ.0b013e3282fa9edd]
- Ando Y, Ishigami M, Ishizu Y, Kuzuya T, Honda T, Hayashi K, Ishikawa T, Nakano I, Hirooka Y, Goto H. Cumulative incidence and risk factors for the development of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with chronic hepatitis B who achieved sustained disappearance of viremia by nucleos(t)ide analog treatment. Hepatol Res 2018; 48: E240-E251 [PMID: 28865403 DOI: 10.1111/hepr.12976]
- Yamada R, Hiramatsu N, Oze T, Morishita N, Harada N, Yakushijin T, Iio S, Doi Y, Yamada A, Kaneko A, Hagiwara H, 17 Mita E, Oshita M, Itoh T, Fukui H, Hijioka T, Katayama K, Tamura S, Yoshihara H, Imai Y, Kato M, Miyagi T, Yoshida Y, Tatsumi T, Kasahara A, Hamasaki T, Hayashi N, Takehara T; Osaka Liver Forum. Impact of alpha-fetoprotein on



hepatocellular carcinoma development during entecavir treatment of chronic hepatitis B virus infection. J Gastroenterol 2015; 50: 785-794 [PMID: 25384794 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-014-1010-7]

- 18 Chen CL, Yang HI, Yang WS, Liu CJ, Chen PJ, You SL, Wang LY, Sun CA, Lu SN, Chen DS, Chen CJ. Metabolic factors and risk of hepatocellular carcinoma by chronic hepatitis B/C infection: a follow-up study in Taiwan. Gastroenterology 2008; 135: 111-121 [PMID: 18505690 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.03.073]
- 19 Sun CA, Wu DM, Lin CC, Lu SN, You SL, Wang LY, Wu MH, Chen CJ. Incidence and cofactors of hepatitis C virusrelated hepatocellular carcinoma: a prospective study of 12,008 men in Taiwan. Am J Epidemiol 2003; 157: 674-682 [PMID: 12697571 DOI: 10.1093/aje/kwg041]
- Tanaka H, Tsukuma H, Yamano H, Oshima A, Shibata H. Prospective study on the risk of hepatocellular carcinoma 20 among hepatitis C virus-positive blood donors focusing on demographic factors, alanine aminotransferase level at donation and interaction with hepatitis B virus. Int J Cancer 2004; 112: 1075-1080 [PMID: 15386355 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.20507]
- 21 Kumada T, Toyoda H, Kiriyama S, Sone Y, Tanikawa M, Hisanaga Y, Kanamori A, Atsumi H, Takagi M, Nakano S, Arakawa T, Fujimori M. Incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in hepatitis C carriers with normal alanine aminotransferase levels. J Hepatol 2009; 50: 729-735 [PMID: 19232448 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2008.11.019]
- Ito T, Kumada T, Toyoda H, Tada T, Kiriyama S, Tanikawa M, Hisanaga Y, Kanamori A, Kitabatake S. Utility of the FIB-22 4 Index for hepatocarcinogenesis in hepatitis C virus carriers with normal alanine aminotransferase levels. J Viral Hepat 2015; 22: 777-783 [PMID: 25608086 DOI: 10.1111/jvh.12389]
- 23 Suruki R, Hayashi K, Kusumoto K, Uto H, Ido A, Tsubouchi H, Stuver SO. Alanine aminotransferase level as a predictor of hepatitis C virus-associated hepatocellular carcinoma incidence in a community-based population in Japan. Int J Cancer 2006; 119: 192-195 [PMID: 16432841 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.21796]
- 24 Lee MH, Yang HI, Lu SN, Jen CL, Yeh SH, Liu CJ, Chen PJ, You SL, Wang LY, Chen WJ, Chen CJ. Hepatitis C virus seromarkers and subsequent risk of hepatocellular carcinoma: long-term predictors from a community-based cohort study. J Clin Oncol 2010; 28: 4587-4593 [PMID: 20855826 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2010.29.1500]
- 25 Benvegnù L, Alberti A. Risk factors and prevention of hepatocellular carcinoma in HCV infection. Dig Dis Sci 1996; 41: 49S-55S [PMID: 9011476 DOI: 10.1007/BF02087876]





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com



World Journal of *Meta-Analysis*

World J Meta-Anal 2022 August 28; 10(4): 195-237





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

WJMA

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Contents

Bimonthly Volume 10 Number 4 August 28, 2022

MINIREVIEWS

SARS-CoV-2 viral load in the upper respiratory tract and disease severity in COVID-19 patients 195 Leowattana W, Leowattana T, Leowattana P

META-ANALYSIS

206 No increase in burnout in health care workers during the initial COVID-19 outbreak: Systematic review and meta-analysis

Kimpe V, Sabe M, Sentissi O

Outcomes of microwave versus radiofrequency ablation for hepatocellular carcinoma: A systematic review 220 and meta-analysis

Tang MJ, Eslick GD, Lubel JS, Majeed A, Majumdar A, Kemp W, Roberts SK



Contents

Bimonthly Volume 10 Number 4 August 28, 2022

ABOUT COVER

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Meta-Analysis, Chongmin Huan, MD, PhD, Assistant Professor, Department of Surgery and Cell Biology, State University of New York, Downstate Health Sciences University, Brooklyn, NY 11203, United States. chongmin.huan@downstate.edu

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Meta-Analysis (WJMA, World J Meta-Anal) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of clinical medicine with a platform to publish high-quality meta-analysis and systematic review articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJMA mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained through meta-analysis and systematic review in a wide range of areas, including medicine, pharmacy, preventive medicine, stomatology, nursing, medical imaging, and laboratory medicine.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJMA is now abstracted and indexed in Reference Citation Analysis, China National Knowledge Infrastructure, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Hua-Ge Yu; Production Department Director: Xiang Li; Editorial Office Director: Jin-Lei Wang.

NAME OF JOURNAL	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS
World Journal of Meta-Analysis	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 2308-3840 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
May 26, 2013	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Bimonthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Saurabh Chandan, Jing Sun	https://www.wignet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wignet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
August 28, 2022	https://www.wignet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2022 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2022 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



W J M

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Meta-Anal 2022 August 28; 10(4): 195-205

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i4.195

ISSN 2308-3840 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

SARS-CoV-2 viral load in the upper respiratory tract and disease severity in COVID-19 patients

Wattana Leowattana, Tawithep Leowattana, Pathomthep Leowattana

Specialty type: Infectious diseases

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): E, E

P-Reviewer: Ata F, Qatar; Mohammadi M, Iran

Received: April 1, 2022 Peer-review started: April 1, 2022 First decision: June 16, 2022 Revised: June 23, 2022 Accepted: July 27, 2022 Article in press: July 27, 2022 Published online: August 28, 2022



Wattana Leowattana, Pathomthep Leowattana, Department of Clinical Tropical Medicine, Faculty of Tropical Medicine, Mahidol University, Bangkok 10400, Thailand

Tawithep Leowattana, Department of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Srinakharinwirot University, Bangkok 10110, Thailand

Corresponding author: Wattana Leowattana, MD, MSc, PhD, Professor, Department of Clinical Tropical Medicine, Faculty of Tropical Medicine, Mahidol University, 420/6 Rajavithi road, Rachatawee, Bangkok 10400, Thailand. wattana.leo@mahidol.ac.th

Abstract

Due to the disease's broad clinical spectrum, it is currently unclear how to predict the future prognosis of patients at the time of diagnosis of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Real-time reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) is the gold standard molecular technique for diagnosing COVID-19. The number of amplification cycles necessary for the target genes to surpass a threshold level is represented by the RT-PCR cycle threshold (Ct) values. Ct values were thought to be an adequate proxy for severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) viral load. A body of evidence suggests that SARS-CoV-2 viral load is a possible predictor of COVID-19 severity. The link between SARS-CoV-2 viral load and the likelihood of severe disease development in COVID-19 patients is not clearly elucidated. In this review, we describe the scientific data as well as the important findings from many clinical studies globally, emphasizing how viral load may be related to disease severity in COVID-19 patients. Most of the evidence points to the association of SARS-CoV-2 viral load and disease severity in these patients, and early anti-viral treatment will reduce the severe clinical outcomes.

Key Words: Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2; Viral load; Upper respiratory tract; Coronavirus disease 2019 patients; Disease severity; Clinical outcome

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: Real-time reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction is regarded as the gold standard confirmatory test for coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Cycle threshold (Ct) values can be used to diagnose or forecast severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) infection since they are associated with virus load. Numerous differences exist in several clinical trials with small or large sample sizes, indicating a substantial positive correlation between the Ct value and disease severity in COVID-19. In this context, a literature review was conducted to address information gaps about the relationship between Ct levels and disease severity in COVID-19 patients globally. The majority of the data indicated a link between SARS-CoV-2 viral load and disease severity in these patients, and early antiviral therapy will minimize the severity of the clinical outcomes.

Citation: Leowattana W, Leowattana T, Leowattana P. SARS-CoV-2 viral load in the upper respiratory tract and disease severity in COVID-19 patients. World J Meta-Anal 2022; 10(4): 195-205 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/full/v10/i4/195.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.13105/wjma.v10.i4.195

INTRODUCTION

Prior to November 2019, six coronaviruses (CoVs) were known to infect humans and cause respiratory disease: OC43, 229E, HKU1, and NL63, four community-acquired CoVs that are endemic in humans, as well as severe acute respiratory syndrome CoV (SARS-CoV) and Middle East respiratory syndrome CoV (MERS-CoV), two highly pathogenic CoVs that have zoonotic transmission followed by variable transmission between humans^[1-5]. A new CoV discovered in late 2019 in Wuhan, Hubei Province, China has recently spread worldwide, causing a serious pandemic. SARS-CoV-2 was the name given to the new CoV, and the condition was dubbed coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). SARS-CoV-2 spread rapidly from person to person, resulting in a pandemic that affected every province in China and eventually more than 203 nations and territories around the globe[6-7]. As of March 22, 2022, the World Health Organization has received reports of nearly 459 million cases of COVID-19, including more than 6 million deaths[8].

Viral load is used to diagnose severe viral infections of the respiratory system, as well as to track disease progression and treatment. By evaluating the value of the cycle threshold (Ct) of reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR), the SARS-CoV-2 viral load may be determined from the patient's viral RNA at a certain concentration. The lower the Ct values, the greater the viral load[9]. In contrast to other viral infections, no pathogen-specific prognostic indicators for SARS-CoV-2 are readily accessible. The first prognostic evaluation of individuals infected with SARS-CoV-2 may benefit from viral biomarkers capable of forecasting COVID-19 development in addition to the existing risk factors for severity. It is presently disputed whether the SARS-CoV-2 viral load affects the severity and course of the disease in this regard[10-13]. According to recent research, there may be a correlation between viral load and the severity of SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia, the degree of hypoxemia, the risk of mortality, as well as hematological, biochemical, and inflammatory alterations. However, diverse recruiting criteria have made it difficult to obtain a final, definite conclusion on the association between early nasopharyngeal viral load and individual outcomes[14-16]. The goal of this review is to ascertain if the SARS-CoV-2 Ct at diagnosis could anticipate the severity of COVID-19 and the outcomes of these patients.

SARS-COV-2 VIRAL LOAD IS ASSOCIATED WITH DISEASE SEVERITY

Knudtzen et al[17] conducted a prospective cohort study of adult COVID-19 patients with PCR-positive SARS-CoV-2 airway samples to determine the association between cycle quantification (Cq)-values, hospitalization, and disease severity in 87 outpatients and 82 inpatients. The findings revealed that 31 of the 82 hospitalized patients (38.0%) had severe COVID-19 disease and had considerably lower baseline Cq-values than patients with moderate disease severity (median Cq-values = 24.8 vs 28.1, P = 0.01). They also discovered a statistically significant link between lower Cq-values and a higher risk of severe disease outcome (odds ratio [OR] = 0.89, 95% confidence interval (CI): 0.81-0.98, P = 0.018), which was independent of the timing of the test in relation to symptom onset and the presence of confounding factors such as airway sample type. When the date of the test and confounding variables were controlled for, they observed no relationship between lower baseline Cq-values in outpatients infected with SARS-CoV-2 and a greater likelihood of hospitalization. They concluded that SARS-CoV-2 PCR Cq-values were correlated with the time since symptoms began. Early in the clinical course, Cq-values were low as a sign of high viral loads, but Cq-values were not shown to be a predictor of hospitalization. On the other hand, lower Cq-values were found to be indicative of more disease severity in



hospitalized patients.

Kawasuji et al[18] performed a retrospective cohort study to investigate the concentrations of SARS-CoV-2 RNA in the blood (RNAemia) and in the nasopharyngeal cavity, as well as their relationship with clinical severity in 56 COVID-19 patients. On admission, 19.6% (11/56) of patients had RNAemia, followed by 1.0% (1/25), 50.0% (6/12), and 100.0% (4/4) of intermediate, severe, and critically ill patients, respectively. Patients with RNAemia required more frequent oxygen supplementation (90.0% vs 13.3%), intensive care unit (ICU) admission (81.8% vs 6.7%), and invasive mechanical ventilation (27.3% vs 0.0%). The median viral load of nasopharyngeal swabs in patients with RNAemia was significantly higher in critically ill patients (5.4 Log_{10} copies/ μ L) than in moderate-severe cases (2.6 Log_{10} copies/ μ L), and significantly higher in non-survivors (6.2 Log₁₀ copies/ μ L) than in survivors (3.9 Log₁₀ copies/µL). They discovered a significant percentage of patients with SARS-CoV-2 RNAemia and a relationship between RNAemia and disease severity. Furthermore, among RNAemia patients, the viral loads of nasopharyngeal swabs were correlated with disease severity and death, suggesting the possibility of combining serum testing with nasopharyngeal tests as a prognostic indicator for COVID-19, with better quality than each test.

The connection between nasopharyngeal viral loads, host variables, and illness severity in 1122 SARS-CoV-2-infected patients was examined by Maltezou et al[19]. There were 309 (27.5%) patients with a high viral load, 316 (28.2%) with a moderate viral load, and 497 (44.3%) with a low viral load. In univariate analysis, individuals with high viral loads were older, had more comorbid diseases, required intubation for symptomatic disorders, and eventually passed away. Patients with a high viral load spent more time in the critical care unit and required more intubation than patients with a low viral load. Furthermore, individuals with chronic cardiovascular disease, hypertension, chronic lung disease, immunosuppression, obesity, and chronic neurological disease were more likely to have high viral loads. They concluded that viral load in the nasopharynx may be used to identify patients at high risk of morbidity or poor outcome.

Zheng et al[20] conducted a retrospective cohort study on 96 consecutively hospitalized COVID-19 patients, including 22 with moderate disease and 74 with severe disease, to assess viral loads at various phases of disease progression. After admission, 3497 respiratory, stool, serum, and urine samples were obtained from patients and tested for SARS-CoV-2 RNA viral load. RNA was also found in the feces of 55 (59%) of the patients and the serum of 39 (41%) of the patients. One patient's urine sample tested positive for SARS-CoV-2. The median duration of the virus in feces (22 d) was substantially longer than that in respiratory (18 d) and serum samples (16 d). Furthermore, the median duration of the virus in patients with severe disease (21 d) was substantially longer than that in patients with moderate disease (14 d). In the moderate group, viral loads peaked in respiratory samples in the second week after the illness started, but in the severe group, viral loads remained high throughout the third week. Virus duration was greater in individuals over the age of 60 and in men. They proposed that the duration of SARS-CoV-2 RNA in stool samples is significantly longer than that in respiratory and serum samples, emphasizing the importance of improving stool sample management in epidemic prevention and control and that the virus persists longer with higher load and peaks later in the respiratory tissue of patients with severe disease.

Aydin et al^[21] investigated the predictive significance of viral load identified in the saliva of 300 COVID-19 patients in the early stages of illness. The results showed a mean Ct-value of 25.30 in the mild illness group, 19.85 in the intermediate disease group, 16.75 in the severe disease group, and 15.48 in the critical disease group. The pattern of the mean Ct-value of the oro-nasopharyngeal swab was similar to that of saliva. The authors concluded that the Ct-value of saliva and oro-nasopharyngeal swab might be used to predict disease severity.

de la Calle *et al*[14] performed a retrospective study of 455 hospitalized patients with a confirmed diagnosis of SARS-CoV-2 infection using prospective computerized medical data. The study population was separated into three groups based on the Ct value obtained upon admission: Patients with high viral load (Ct < 25), those with intermediate viral load (Ct 25-30), and those with low viral load (Ct > 30). The researchers discovered that 130 (28.6%) patients had a high viral load, 175 (38.5%) had an intermediate viral load, and 150 (33%) had a low viral load. They discovered that 120 (26.4%) patients died while they were in the hospital, and that 161 (35.4%) patients experienced respiratory failure after spending a median of 9 d there. High viral loads were associated with increased respiratory failure and a higher mortality rate at 30 d following admission in these patients. However, the risk of ICU admission was greater among patients with low and intermediate viral loads (12.3% vs 6.2%, P = 0.054). Septic shock, acute renal damage, venous thrombosis, hepatitis, or major adverse cardiovascular events were not different across groups. According to the authors, a useful prognostic indicator for the beginning of respiratory failure is the Ct value of RT-PCR in nasopharyngeal swabs at the time of admission.

Kwon et al[22] conducted a study on 31 hospitalized COVID-19 patients to investigate viral load, antibody responses to SARS-CoV-2, and cytokines/chemokines along the illness course, as well as to find parameters linked to disease severity. Asymptomatic and moderate patients had lower viral loads and longer viral shed than severe and critical cases. Unlike plasma IgG, which grew gradually and remained stable during hospitalization, plasma IgM peaked 3 wk after symptoms started and then declined. The antibody response was somewhat delayed but greater in severe and critical cases than in



others. High levels of interferon (IFN)- α , IFN- γ induced protein-10, chemokine generated by IFN- γ , and interleukin-6 were linked with the severity of COVID-19 5-10 d after symptom onset. The authors hypothesized that a high viral load in the respiratory tract, as well as excessive cytokine and chemokine production between 1 and 2 wk after the onset of symptoms, was substantially linked with the severity of COVID-19.

Piubelli *et al*[23] conducted a retrospective analysis to assess the viral load of 373 confirmed COVID-19 patients seen in the emergency department between March 1, 2020 and May 31, 2020. According to the authors, 281 COVID-19 individuals were identified in March, 86 in April, and 6 in May. Along with a decline in the number of cases, they observed a considerable fall in the proportion of patients requiring critical care, which fell from 6.7% (19/281) in March to 1.1% (1/86) in April, and to none in May. In terms of viral load, they noticed a tendency for Ct to rise from a median of 24 to 34 between March and May, particularly in non-ICU patients. They concluded that throughout the pandemic, they saw a dramatic decline in severe COVID-19 patients that required critical care in addition to the declining viral load.

Shlomai *et al*[13] studied 170 hospitalized COVID-19 patients to see if there was a link between viral load at the time of admission, lung inflammation, and disease prognosis. The authors discovered that non-survivors and mechanically ventilated patients (n = 21) had a considerably greater virus load (8-fold, Ct = 23.43, P = 0.0001) than surviving non-intubated patients (n = 149, Ct = 29.55, P = 0.0001). Furthermore, a multivariate study adjusted for age, gender, and blood oxygen saturation (BOS)_{min} found that low viral load was linked with a lower risk of mechanical ventilation and death (OR = 0.90, 95% CI: 0.81-0.99, P = 0.046). Furthermore, both BOS and patient age were independently related to mechanical ventilation and mortality (OR = 0.91, 95% CI: 0.84-0.98, P = 0.009 for BOS and OR = 1.05, 95% CI: 1.004-1.097 for patient age). They concluded that their data indicated a strong link between nasopharyngeal viral load and hypoxemia, as well as worse clinical outcomes in COVID-19 patients hospitalized.

In a study of 448 COVID-19 patients, Soria *et al*[24] looked at the relationship between viral load, as measured using nasopharyngeal swabs, and the severity of the illness. They clinically categorized individuals as having mild, moderate, or severe COVID-19 based on a variety of clinical characteristics such as the need for hospitalization, the necessity for oxygen treatment, admission to critical care units, and/or mortality. The authors discovered a statistically significant relationship between viral load and disease severity, with higher viral load associated with a worse clinical prognosis, independent of several previously identified risk factors such as age, gender, hypertension, cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, obesity, and pulmonary diseases.

Trunfio et al[25] conducted a study on 200 confirmed COVID-19 patients to see if the SARS-CoV-2 Ct value at diagnosis might predict COVID-19 disease severity, clinical symptoms, and 6-mo sequelae. Patients were divided into three groups based on diagnostic Ct values discovered from the initial swab: Ct 20, Group A; Ct = 20 - 28, Group B; and Ct > 28, Group C. The severity of the disease was graded on a six-point scale: Death, hospitalization with intubation, hospitalization needing continuous positive airway pressure support, hospitalization requiring low-flow wall oxygen to reservoir mask assistance, hospitalization without oxygen support, and no hospitalization. There were 168 survivors and 32 deaths among the 200 individuals. The range for the median age was 43-69. There were 116 (58.0%) men, and 188 of them were of European descent (94.0%). Patients with SARS-CoV-2 Ct were distributed as follows: 55 in Group A (27.5%), 55 in Group B (27.5%), and 90 in Group C (45.0%). Even after controlling for the time from COVID-19 onset to swab collection, the linear Ct values were negatively associated with the number of comorbidities per patient. Hospitalization-related patients were seen in Group A more frequently than in Group C (74.5% vs 56.7%). The severity of COVID-19 was substantially higher in Group A than in Groups B and C. With respect to Ct, there was an inverse distribution in the five categories of illness severity. Finally, 6-mo results for COVID-19 were worse in Group A than in the other groups; only 29.1% of patients in Group A had fully recovered at this point, compared to 70.9% and 80.0% in Groups B and C, respectively. Furthermore, Group A had a greater fatality rate (36.4%) than the other groups (Group B had a 12.7% lethality rate and Group C had a 5.6% lethality rate). After controlling for confounding variables, in multivariate analysis, lower SARS-CoV-2 Ct levels were independently associated with a greater risk of COVID-19-related death, along with older age and more comorbidities. The authors showed a correlation between COVID-19-related deaths, disease severity, the number of signs and symptoms at diagnosis, and the persistence of sequelae at 6 mo in symptomatic hospitalized and non-hospitalized patients, and the Ct value detected in nasopharyngeal swabs collected within the first week of COVID-19 onset.

Tsukagoshi *et al*[26] conducted a study on 286 confirmed COVID-19 patients to assess the links between epidemiological data, viral load, and disease severity (15 fatal cases, 133 symptomatic cases, and 138 asymptomatic cases). Compared to the number of viral copies at the time of sample collection, fatal cases had $3.57 \pm 4.70 \times 10^{9}$ copies/mL, symptomatic cases had $3.92 \pm 1.60 \times 10^{8}$ copies/mL, and asymptomatic cases had $4.92 \pm 1.48 \times 10^{7}$ copies/mL. These findings imply that the viral loads of fatal and symptomatic patients were greater than those of asymptomatic cases. According to the authors, a high viral load of SARS-CoV-2 in elderly patients at an early stage of the disease, particularly those with pneumonia symptoms, results in a bad prognosis. Therefore, in such circumstances, we should intervene early to avoid the condition's progressing to a severe degree.

Wang et al[27] conducted a study on 12 seriously ill and 11 slightly ill COVID-19 patients to explore the immune response and its link with clinical outcomes. The rates of viral replication, neutralizing antibody responses, and cross-reactivity with other human respiratory CoVs were also examined for use in the diagnosis, prognosis, and epidemiological studies. All 23 patients provided 461 clinical samples (84 nasal swabs, 59 throat swabs, 36 sputum samples, 90 fecal samples, 79 urine tests, and 113 plasma samples), including 1 stomach biopsy. They discovered that the majority of patients with severe illness shed viral loads for up to 30-40 d after beginning, but the majority of slightly unwell individuals had no detectable viral loads 15 d after onset. The peak viral load differed significantly between severe and moderate patients. The viral loads in the respiratory samples were larger in the severe group than in the mild group, and they gradually decreased with time. The SARS-CoV-2 was mostly found in respiratory samples. However, in the majority of critically ill patients, feces remained positive for viral RNA for an extended period of time. IgM responses in patients with severe disease increased within 1 to 2 wk after beginning and were progressively reduced after 4 wk, but IgM responses in patients with moderate disease were substantially lower. The majority of the mildly unwell patients (8/11) did not develop substantial IgM antibodies throughout the disease course, demonstrating that the IgM diagnosis was not sensitive for mildly ill individuals. IgG responses appeared 10-15 d after the initiation. The majority of patients had high levels of IgG antibodies that lasted at least 6 wk.

Faíco-Filho *et al*[28] conducted a retrospective cohort analysis on 875 confirmed COVID-19 patients to assess the relationship between SARS-CoV viral load and mortality. Fifty percent (439/875) of these patients had mild disease, 30.4% (266/875) had moderate disease, and 19.5% (170/875) had severe disease. In these COVID-19 individuals, a Ct value of 25 indicated a high viral load, which was independently related to death. They concluded that the SARS-CoV-2 virus load at admission was independently linked with death among hospitalized COVID-19 patients.

Pérez-García et al[29] conducted a retrospective study of 255 SARS-CoV-2-infected patients to determine the viral RNA content and expression of selected immune genes in the upper respiratory tract (nasopharynx), as well as their correlation with severe COVID-19. In the beginning, patients were split into three groups based on severity: 85 outpatients who underwent emergency room examinations and were discharged within the first 24 h (mild cases), 87 inpatients in medicine wards who did not require critical care (moderate cases), and 83 critical patients who were admitted to the ICU, or who passed away within 28 d of hospital admission (severe cases), and 30 healthy individuals were used as the control group. Interferon-stimulated gene 15 (ISG15), interferon- β (IFN- β), interferon-induced protein with tetratricopeptide repeats 1 (IFIT1), retinoic acid-inducible gene I (RIGI), tumor necrosis factor (TNF- β), interleukin 6 (IL-6), and chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 5 (CCL5) were all expressed at higher levels in COVID-19 patients. Individuals with severe COVID-19 had considerably greater SARS-CoV-2 viral load, IFN-β, IFIT1, IL-6, and IL-8 levels than patients with mild or moderate illness, although CCL5 values were significantly lower. They also found that ISG15, RIGI, TNF-β, IL-6, and CXCL10 strongly correlated with SARS-CoV-2 virus load. In adjusted regression models, SARS-CoV-2 viral load was a risk factor, but CCL5 was a protective factor for ICU admission or mortality during hospitalization. They also discovered significant relationships between the SARS-CoV-2 viral load and CCL5 in both cohorts when the entire cohort was divided in half, demonstrating a strong correlation between the severity of COVID-19 and both high levels of SARS-CoV-2 virus load and low levels of CCL5 expression. They concluded that a number of innate immune genes are stimulated by SARS-CoV-2 replication in the nasopharyngeal mucosa. Low CCL5 expression levels and high SARS-CoV-2 viral loads were associated with ICU admission or fatality, despite the fact that CCL5 was the best predictor of COVID-19 severity.

Guo *et al*[30] studied the relationship between SARS-CoV-2 viral load and disease severity in 195 hospitalized COVID-19 patients. The differences in clinical characteristics across four groups (mild, moderate, severe, and critical) and two groups (severe *vs* non-severe) were analyzed using one-way ANOVA and the student's *t*-test, respectively. More severe patients appear to have the following characteristics: Older age, underlying diseases, higher maximum body temperature within 24 h of hospitalization, longer time for virus clearance, longer duration of fever, higher levels of plasma C-reactive protein, D-dimer, procalcitonin, and aspartate aminotransferase, increased white blood cell count, particularly neutrophils, lower lymphocyte count, and higher initial viral load.

Tanner *et al*[31] performed a study on 185 hospitalized COVID-19 patients to assess the relationship between Ct value at admission and patient outcome while carefully controlling for confounders. On univariate analysis, the authors discovered that the Ct value at presentation was related to the likelihood of both ICU admission and mortality. Furthermore, Ct values changed considerably by age, length of illness at presentation, and antibody status. In a multivariate analysis, the Ct value was associated with the likelihood of death but not ICU admission. The presence of neutralizing antibodies at the time of presentation was not linked with death or ICU admission. They concluded that the SARS-CoV-2 Ct value at admission was independently related to mortality when other characteristics were controlled for and that it may be utilized for risk stratification.

Zaishidena® WJMA | https://www.wjgnet.com

SARS-COV-2 VIRAL LOAD IS NOT ASSOCIATED WITH DISEASE SEVERITY

Berastegui-Cabrera et al^[32] conducted a prospective multicenter cohort study in 72 COVID-19 patients to assess the relationship between SARS-CoV-2 RNAemia, and viral load in the nasopharyngeal swab, and an unfavorable outcome, defined as ICU admission and/or death. Nine (12.5%) patients were treated as outpatients following an evaluation in the emergency room, whereas 63 (87.5%) patients were admitted to the hospital. Eleven (15.3%) of the patients were found to have SARS-CoV-2 RNAemia, with ten of them being hospitalized. The median viral load in plasma for the 11 SARS-CoV-2 RNAemia patients was 2.88 log₁₀ copies/mL, while the median viral load in nasopharyngeal swabs for the 72 patients was 6.98 log₁₀ copies/mL. Additionally, patients with SARS-CoV-2 RNAemia required more invasive mechanical ventilation (36.4% vs 6.6%) and had higher ICU admission rates (45.50% vs 8.2%) and ARDS (54.5% vs 9.8%). SARS-CoV-2 RNAemia patients exhibited a greater death rate (36.4% vs 4.9%) and a poorer prognosis (63.6% vs 13.1%). The authors concluded that patients with severe chronic liver disease and solid organ transplantation are more likely to have SARS-CoV-2 RNAemia at the time of the initial emergency room evaluation. They also noted that this condition is not predicted by a viral load in the upper respiratory airways and is linked to a poor prognosis.

Karahasan Yagci et al[33] conducted a study on 730 RT-PCR-positive patients to assess the severity of chest computed tomography (CT). Of the 284 patients admitted to the hospital, 27 (9.5%) died. There were no Ct results in 236 (32.3%) of the patients, and 216 (91.5%) of them were outpatients. In hospitalized patients, the total severity score (TSS) was much greater; 5.3% experienced severe alterations. Outpatients had lower Ct values, indicating a greater viral load. In both groups, an inverse relationship between viral load and TSS was seen. The severity of Ct was associated with age, with older individuals having a greater TSS. The authors concluded that viral load was not a significant risk factor for hospitalization or fatality. Outpatients exhibited high levels of viruses in their nasopharynx, making them infectious to their contacts. The viral load is critical in diagnosing the early stages of COVID-19 in order to limit potential transmission, whereas chest CT can assist in identifying patients that require significant medical treatment.

Le Borgne et al[34] conducted a retrospective study on 287 individuals with a confirmed diagnosis of COVID-19 to evaluate the association between SARS-CoV-2 viral load and disease severity. Nearly half of them (50.5%) had a moderate form, while the remaining half (49.5%) had a severe form that required mechanical ventilators. At admission, the median (interquartile range) viral load in the first upper respiratory swab was 4.76 (3.29-6.06) \log_{10} copies/mL. This viral load measurement did not differ by subgroup when comparing survivors and non-survivors. Furthermore, the authors discovered that measuring respiratory viral load did not predict in-hospital mortality or disease severity. They claimed that the respiratory viral load in the first nasopharyngeal swab obtained during emergency department care is neither a predictor of the severity of the infection nor of death from SARS-CoV-2. The number of underlying comorbidities, as well as the host response to this viral infection, may be more predictive of disease severity than the virus itself.

Hasanoglu et al[35] studied the viral loads in six different sample types (nasopharyngeal, oral cavity, saliva, rectal, urine, and blood) from 60 patients to determine the relationship between disease severity and SARS-CoV-2 viral load, as well as differences in viral loads between asymptomatic and symptomatic patients. The authors discovered that 15 (25%) of the patients were asymptomatic, whereas 45 (75%) were symptomatic. There was a substantial difference in the mean ages of asymptomatic and symptomatic individuals (26.4 and 36.4, respectively). Asymptomatic individuals' viral loads were found to be substantially greater than symptomatic patients'. With increasing age, viral load has demonstrated a substantial negative tendency. With increasing disease severity, there was a considerable drop in viral load.

Bakir et al[36] conducted a study on 158 confirmed COVID-19 patients to evaluate the link between SARS-CoV-2 viral load Ct values and pneumonia. The authors discovered pneumonia in 40.5% of the individuals who underwent chest CT. SARS-CoV-2 Ct value and nasopharyngeal samples were shown to have a poor but significant connection with chest CT score. There was no link identified between viral load Ct value and age, gender, or death. There was no statistically significant relationship between chest CT score and death. The authors noted that the quantity of SARS-CoV-2 viral load did not correlate with the severity of the pulmonary lesions shown on chest CT.

Ng et al[37] studied 351 people (138 confirmed COVID-19 patients and 213 SARS-CoV-2-negative patients) to see if there is a link between SARS-CoV-2 viral load and disease severity. They discovered that viral loads in more seriously ill hospitalized patients, including those in the intensive care unit, were not significantly different from those in outpatient clinics. According to the authors, there is no clear association between viral load and disease severity, and a suitable biomarker for disease severity is currently unavailable in clinical settings.

DISCUSSION

Although qualitative SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR tests are routinely used to diagnose COVID-19, the





Figure 1 High and low severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 viral load and clinical outcomes in coronavirus disease 2019 patients. SARS-CoV-2: Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2.

therapeutic significance of quantitative information on Ct values being negatively associated with SARS-CoV-2 viral load for identifying viral copies must be understood. So far, several studies have shown inconsistent findings of the viral shedding kinetics in moderate and severe COVID-19 patients with an association or no association with disease severity. Table 1 summarizes the information regarding the countries of origin, study design, number of COVID-19 patients, mean or median Ct value, association of disease severity, and conclusions. The majority of the evidence suggests that a high SARS-CoV-2 viral load is associated with a severe clinical outcome. Along with this data, several studies found that patients admitted to the hospital with high SARS-CoV-2 virus loads, as determined by Ct values of nasopharyngeal swab samples, were more likely to be intubated or die during their hospital-ization[11,16,38,39]. Furthermore, many researchers demonstrated that early antiviral treatment could effectively reduce virus load, shorten virus clearance time, and prevent COVID-19 from rapidly progressing to a severe disease outcome (Figure 1)[40-44].

CONCLUSION

This review demonstrates an association between the Ct value discovered in nasopharyngeal swabs, which represented the quantitative SARS-CoV-2 viral load, and COVID-19-related fatalities and disease severity in both symptomatic hospitalized and non-hospitalized patients. These findings imply that the Ct value might be utilized as a tool to aid in the identification of individuals who are at a higher risk of having a catastrophic outcome. Early antiviral medication may successfully reduce viral load, decrease virus clearance time, and prevent the fast progression of COVID-19 to severe disease outcomes in this situation.

Zaishidene® WJMA | https://www.wjgnet.com
Table 1 Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 viral load and disease severity in coronavirus disease 2019 patients

Ref.	Study design	No. of COVID-19 cases	Median/mean viral load (Ct or Cq) (log ₁₀ copies/mL)	Association with disease severity	Conclusion
Knudtzen <i>et al</i> [<mark>17</mark>], Denmark	Prospective cohort	169 (87 OP/82 IP)	24.8 vs 28.1 (Severe vs Moderate)	Yes	Lower Cq-values were found to be indicative of more disease severity in hospitalized patients
Kawasuji <i>et al</i> [<mark>18</mark>], Japan	Retrospective cohort	56 (56 IP)	5.4 vs 2.6 (Critical/Moderate-Severe)	Yes	The viral loads of NP swabs were correlated with disease severity and death
Maltezou <i>et al</i> [<mark>19</mark>], Greece	Prospective cohort	1122 (274 OP/848 IP)	N/A	Yes	The viral load in the nasopharynx might be utilized to identify patients at increased risk for morbidity or poor outcome
Zheng <i>et al</i> [<mark>20</mark>], China	Retrospective cohort	96 (96 IP)	N/A	Yes	The virus persists longer with higher load and peaks later in the respiratory tissue of patients with severe disease
Aydin <i>et al</i> [<mark>21</mark>], Turkey	Prospective cohort	300 (168/79/29/24)(M/I/S/C)	25.30/19.85/16.75/15.48 (M/I/S/C)	Yes	The Ct-values of saliva and oro- nasopharyngeal swab were useful in predicting disease severity
de la Calle <i>et al</i> [<mark>14]</mark> , Spain	Retrospective cohort	455 (455 IP)	N/A	Yes	The Ct value of RT-PCR in nasopharyngeal swabs on admission is a useful predictive marker for the development of respiratory failure
Kwon <i>et a</i> l[<mark>22</mark>], Korea	Prospective cohort	31 (31 IP)	35.2/27.9/26.7 (M/I/S+C)	Yes	High viral load in the respiratory tract and excessive cytokines and chemokines were substantially linked with the severity of COVID- 19
Piubelli <i>et al</i> [23], Italy	Retrospective study	373 (373 OP)	N/A	Yes	The decreasing viral load that they observed during March to May 2020 was associated with a significant reduction in severe COVID-19 cases that needed intensive care
Shlomai <i>et al</i> [<mark>13</mark>], Israel	Retrospective cohort	170 (149 NS/21 SV)	23.43 <i>vs</i> 29.55 (NS <i>vs</i> SV)	Yes	There was a clear relationship between nasopharyngeal viral load and hypoxemia, as well as worse clinical outcomes in hospitalized COVID-19 patients
Soria <i>et al</i> [<mark>24</mark>], Spain	Prospective cohort	448 (110/236/102) (M/I/S)	35.75/32.69/29.58 (M/I/S)	Yes	The link between viral load and disease severity was shown in COVID-19 patients
Trunfio <i>et al</i> [<mark>25]</mark> , Italy	Retrospective cohort	200 (32 NS/168 SV)	N/A	Yes	The Ct value detected within the first week of COVID-19 onset was associated with deaths and disease severity
Tsukagoshi <i>et</i> al[<mark>26]</mark> , Japan	Retrospective study	286 (138 AS/133 SM/15 FT)	N/A	Yes	The high viral load in elderly patients at an early stage of the disease results in a bad prognosis
Wang <i>et al</i> [<mark>27</mark>], China	Prospective cohort	23 (11/12)(M/S)	N/A	Yes	The viral loads in the respiratory samples were larger in the severe group than in the mild group, and they gradually decreased with time
Faíco-Filho <i>et al</i> [<mark>28</mark>], Brazil	Retrospective cohort	875 (439/266/170)(M/I/S)	22/27/21.5 (M/I/S)	Yes	The SARS-CoV-2 virus load at admission was independently linked with death among hospit- alized COVID-19 patients
Pérez-García <i>et al</i> [29], Spain	Retrospective study	255 (85/87/83) (M/I/S)	N/A	Yes	The SARS-CoV-2 viral load was a risk factor, but CCL5 was a protective factor for ICU admission or mortality during hospitalization
Guo <i>et al</i> [<mark>30</mark>],	Prospective	195 (16/132/41/6)	33.74/33.59/32.10/27.53	Yes	The higher initial viral load was



China	cohort	(M/I/S/C)	(M/I/S/C)		associated with disease severity in COVID-19 patients
Tanner <i>et al</i> [<mark>31</mark>], United Kingdom	Prospective cohort	185 (IP)	N/A	Yes	The SARS-CoV-2 Ct value at admission was independently related with mortality
Berastegui- Cabrera <i>et al</i> [<mark>32]</mark> , Spain	Prospective cohort	72 (9 OP/63 IP)	N/A	No	The viral load in the upper respiratory airways was associated with poor outcome
Karahasan Yagci <i>et al</i> [33], Turkey	Retrospective study	730 (446 OP/284 IP)	(27.8/29.4/27.9) (M/I/S)	No	The viral load was not a significant risk factor for hospitalization or fatality
Le Borgne <i>et al</i> [34], France	Retrospective study	287 (42 NS/245 SV)	4.99 vs 4.76 (NS vs SV)	No	The viral load in the first nasopharyngeal swab was neither a predictor of severity nor of death in SARS-CoV-2 infection
Hasanoglu <i>et al</i> [<mark>35]</mark> , Turkey	Prospective cohort	60 (15 AS/45 SM)	N/A	No	Asymptomatic individuals' viral loads were found to be substan- tially greater than symptomatic patients'
Bakir <i>et al</i> [<mark>36</mark>], Turkey	Retrospective study	158 (45 OP/113 IP)	26.76 vs 27.53 (OP vs IP)	No	The quantity of SARS-CoV-2 viral load did not correlate with the severity of the pulmonary lesions shown on chest CT
Ng et al[37], USA	Retrospective study	133	N/A	No	The viral loads in more seriously ill hospitalized patients were not significantly different from those in outpatient clinics

AS: Asymptomatic; C: Critical; CCL5: Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 5; Cq: Cycle quantification; Ct: Cycle threshold; CT: Computerized tomography; FT: Fatality; I: Intermediate; IP: Inpatient; M: Mild; N/A: Not applicable; NP: Nasopharyngeal; NS: Non-survivor; OP: Outpatient; RT-PCR: Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction; S: Severe; SARS-CoV-2: Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2; SM: Symptomatic; SV: Survivor.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Leowattana W wrote the paper; Leowattana T and Leowattana P collected the data.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the author declares no conflict of interest for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Thailand

ORCID number: Wattana Leowattana 0000-0003-4257-2480; Tawithep Leowattana 0000-0003-2316-3585.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: Wang TQ P-Editor: Liu JH

REFERENCES

- Su S, Wong G, Shi W, Liu J, Lai ACK, Zhou J, Liu W, Bi Y, Gao GF. Epidemiology, Genetic Recombination, and 1 Pathogenesis of Coronaviruses. Trends Microbiol 2016; 24: 490-502 [PMID: 27012512 DOI: 10.1016/j.tim.2016.03.003]
- Cui J, Li F, Shi ZL. Origin and evolution of pathogenic coronaviruses. Nat Rev Microbiol 2019; 17: 181-192 [PMID: 2 30531947 DOI: 10.1038/s41579-018-0118-9]
- 3 Gaunt ER, Hardie A, Claas EC, Simmonds P, Templeton KE. Epidemiology and clinical presentations of the four human coronaviruses 229E, HKU1, NL63, and OC43 detected over 3 years using a novel multiplex real-time PCR method. J Clin Microbiol 2010; 48: 2940-2947 [PMID: 20554810 DOI: 10.1128/JCM.00636-10]
- Peiris JS, Yuen KY, Osterhaus AD, Stöhr K. The severe acute respiratory syndrome. N Engl J Med 2003; 349: 2431-2441 [PMID: 14681510 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMra032498]
- Zumla A, Hui DS, Perlman S. Middle East respiratory syndrome. Lancet 2015; 386: 995-1007 [PMID: 26049252 DOI: 5



10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60454-8]

- 6 Lai CC, Shih TP, Ko WC, Tang HJ, Hsueh PR. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) and coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19): The epidemic and the challenges. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2020; 55: 105924 [PMID: 32081636 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2020.105924]
- 7 Zhou P, Yang XL, Wang XG, Hu B, Zhang L, Zhang W, Si HR, Zhu Y, Li B, Huang CL, Chen HD, Chen J, Luo Y, Guo H, Jiang RD, Liu MQ, Chen Y, Shen XR, Wang X, Zheng XS, Zhao K, Chen QJ, Deng F, Liu LL, Yan B, Zhan FX, Wang YY, Xiao GF, Shi ZL. A pneumonia outbreak associated with a new coronavirus of probable bat origin. Nature 2020; 579: 270-273 [PMID: 32015507 DOI: 10.1038/s41586-020-2012-7]
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. COVID-19 situation update worldwide, as of 22 March 2022. Available from: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/geographical-distribution-2019-ncov-cases
- 9 Zou L, Ruan F, Huang M, Liang L, Huang H, Hong Z, Yu J, Kang M, Song Y, Xia J, Guo Q, Song T, He J, Yen HL, Peiris M, Wu J. SARS-CoV-2 Viral Load in Upper Respiratory Specimens of Infected Patients. N Engl J Med 2020; 382: 1177-1179 [PMID: 32074444 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMc2001737]
- 10 Rao SN, Manissero D, Steele VR, Pareja J. A Systematic Review of the Clinical Utility of Cycle Threshold Values in the Context of COVID-19. Infect Dis Ther 2020; 9: 573-586 [PMID: 32725536 DOI: 10.1007/s40121-020-00324-3]
- 11 Magleby R, Westblade LF, Trzebucki A, Simon MS, Rajan M, Park J, Goyal P, Safford MM, Satlin MJ. Impact of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 Viral Load on Risk of Intubation and Mortality Among Hospitalized Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019. Clin Infect Dis 2021; 73: e4197-e4205 [PMID: 32603425 DOI: 10.1093/cid/ciaa851]
- 12 Pujadas E, Chaudhry F, McBride R, Richter F, Zhao S, Wajnberg A, Nadkarni G, Glicksberg BS, Houldsworth J, Cordon-Cardo C. SARS-CoV-2 viral load predicts COVID-19 mortality. Lancet Respir Med 2020; 8: e70 [PMID: 32771081 DOI: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30354-4]
- Shlomai A, Ben-Zvi H, Glusman Bendersky A, Shafran N, Goldberg E, Sklan EH. Nasopharyngeal viral load predicts 13 hypoxemia and disease outcome in admitted COVID-19 patients. Crit Care 2020; 24: 539 [PMID: 32873316 DOI: 10.1186/s13054-020-03244-3
- de la Calle C, Lalueza A, Mancheño-Losa M, Maestro-de la Calle G, Lora-Tamayo J, Arrieta E, García-Reyne A, Losada I, 14 de Miguel B, Díaz-Simón R, López-Medrano F, Fernández-Ruiz M, Carretero O, San Juan R, Aguado JM, Lumbreras C. Impact of viral load at admission on the development of respiratory failure in hospitalized patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2021; 40: 1209-1216 [PMID: 33409832 DOI: 10.1007/s10096-020-04150-w]
- Asai N, Sakanashi D, Ohashi W, Nakamura A, Yamada A, Kawamoto Y, Miyazaki N, Ohno T, Koita I, Suematsu H, 15 Kishino T, Kato H, Hagihara M, Shiota A, Koizumi Y, Yamagishi Y, Mikamo H. Could threshold cycle value correctly reflect the severity of novel coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19)? J Infect Chemother 2021; 27: 117-119 [PMID: 32994136 DOI: 10.1016/j.jiac.2020.09.010]
- 16 Argyropoulos KV, Serrano A, Hu J, Black M, Feng X, Shen G, Call M, Kim MJ, Lytle A, Belovarac B, Vougiouklakis T, Lin LH, Moran U, Heguy A, Troxel A, Snuderl M, Osman I, Cotzia P, Jour G. Association of Initial Viral Load in Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) Patients with Outcome and Symptoms. Am J Pathol 2020; 190: 1881-1887 [PMID: 32628931 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2020.07.001]
- Knudtzen FC, Jensen TG, Lindvig SO, Rasmussen LD, Madsen LW, Hoegh SV, Bek-Thomsen M, Laursen CB, Nielsen 17 SL, Johansen IS. SARS-CoV-2 viral load as a predictor for disease severity in outpatients and hospitalised patients with COVID-19: A prospective cohort study. PLoS One 2021; 16: e0258421 [PMID: 34637459 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0258421]
- Kawasuji H, Morinaga Y, Tani H, Yoshida Y, Takegoshi Y, Kaneda M, Murai Y, Kimoto K, Ueno A, Miyajima Y, Fukui Y, Kimura M, Yamada H, Sakamaki I, Yamamoto Y. SARS-CoV-2 RNAemia with a higher nasopharyngeal viral load is strongly associated with disease severity and mortality in patients with COVID-19. J Med Virol 2022; 94: 147-153 [PMID: 34411312 DOI: 10.1002/jmv.27282]
- 19 Maltezou HC, Raftopoulos V, Vorou R, Papadima K, Mellou K, Spanakis N, Kossyvakis A, Gioula G, Exindari M, Froukala E, Martinez-Gonzalez B, Panayiotakopoulos G, Papa A, Mentis A, Tsakris A. Association Between Upper Respiratory Tract Viral Load, Comorbidities, Disease Severity, and Outcome of Patients With SARS-CoV-2 Infection. J Infect Dis 2021; 223: 1132-1138 [PMID: 33388780 DOI: 10.1093/infdis/jiaa804]
- 20 Zheng S, Fan J, Yu F, Feng B, Lou B, Zou Q, Xie G, Lin S, Wang R, Yang X, Chen W, Wang Q, Zhang D, Liu Y, Gong R, Ma Z, Lu S, Xiao Y, Gu Y, Zhang J, Yao H, Xu K, Lu X, Wei G, Zhou J, Fang Q, Cai H, Qiu Y, Sheng J, Chen Y, Liang T. Viral load dynamics and disease severity in patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 in Zhejiang province, China, January-March 2020: retrospective cohort study. BMJ 2020; 369: m1443 [PMID: 32317267 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.m1443]
- Aydin S, Benk IG, Geckil AA. May viral load detected in saliva in the early stages of infection be a prognostic indicator in 21 COVID-19 patients? J Virol Methods 2021; 294: 114198 [PMID: 34044003 DOI: 10.1016/j.jviromet.2021.114198]
- 22 Kwon JS, Kim JY, Kim MC, Park SY, Kim BN, Bae S, Cha HH, Jung J, Kim MJ, Lee MJ, Choi SH, Chung JW, Shin EC, Kim SH. Factors of Severity in Patients with COVID-19: Cytokine/Chemokine Concentrations, Viral Load, and Antibody Responses. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2020; 103: 2412-2418 [PMID: 33124544 DOI: 10.4269/ajtmh.20-1110]
- Piubelli C, Deiana M, Pomari E, Silva R, Bisoffi Z, Formenti F, Perandin F, Gobbi F, Buonfrate D. Overall decrease in 23 SARS-CoV-2 viral load and reduction in clinical burden: the experience of a hospital in northern Italy. Clin Microbiol Infect 2021; 27: 131.e1-131.e3 [PMID: 33059091 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmi.2020.10.006]
- 24 Soria ME, Cortón M, Martínez-González B, Lobo-Vega R, Vázquez-Sirvent L, López-Rodríguez R, Almoguera B, Mahillo I, Mínguez P, Herrero A, Taracido JC, Macías-Valcayo A, Esteban J, Fernandez-Roblas R, Gadea I, Ruíz-Hornillos J, Ayuso C, Perales C. High SARS-CoV-2 viral load is associated with a worse clinical outcome of COVID-19 disease. Access Microbiol 2021; 3: 000259 [PMID: 34712904 DOI: 10.1099/acmi.0.000259]
- Trunfio M, Venuti F, Alladio F, Longo BM, Burdino E, Cerutti F, Ghisetti V, Bertucci R, Picco C, Bonora S, Di Perri G, Calcagno A. Diagnostic SARS-CoV-2 Cycle Threshold Value Predicts Disease Severity, Survival, and Six-Month Sequelae in COVID-19 Symptomatic Patients. Viruses 2021; 13 [PMID: 33670360 DOI: 10.3390/v13020281]
- Tsukagoshi H, Shinoda D, Saito M, Okayama K, Sada M, Kimura H, Saruki N. Relationships between Viral Load and the 26 Clinical Course of COVID-19. Viruses 2021; 13 [PMID: 33672005 DOI: 10.3390/v13020304]



- 27 Wang Y, Zhang L, Sang L, Ye F, Ruan S, Zhong B, Song T, Alshukairi AN, Chen R, Zhang Z, Gan M, Zhu A, Huang Y, Luo L, Mok CKP, Al Gethamy MM, Tan H, Li Z, Huang X, Li F, Sun J, Zhang Y, Wen L, Li Y, Chen Z, Zhuang Z, Zhuo J, Chen C, Kuang L, Wang J, Lv H, Jiang Y, Li M, Lin Y, Deng Y, Tang L, Liang J, Huang J, Perlman S, Zhong N, Zhao J, Malik Peiris JS. Kinetics of viral load and antibody response in relation to COVID-19 severity. *J Clin Invest* 2020; 130: 5235-5244 [PMID: 32634129 DOI: 10.1172/JCI138759]
- Faíco-Filho KS, Passarelli VC, Bellei N. Is Higher Viral Load in SARS-CoV-2 Associated with Death? Am J Trop Med Hyg 2020; 103: 2019-2021 [PMID: 32996443 DOI: 10.4269/ajtmh.20-0954]
- 29 Pérez-García F, Martin-Vicente M, Rojas-García RL, Castilla-García L, Muñoz-Gomez MJ, Hervás Fernández I, González Ventosa V, Vidal-Alcántara EJ, Cuadros-González J, Bermejo-Martin JF, Resino S, Martínez I. High SARS-CoV-2 Viral Load and Low CCL5 Expression Levels in the Upper Respiratory Tract Are Associated With COVID-19 Severity. *J Infect Dis* 2022; 225: 977-982 [PMID: 34910814 DOI: 10.1093/infdis/jiab604]
- 30 Guo X, Jie Y, Ye Y, Chen P, Li X, Gao Z, Li G, Deng H, Zheng Y, Lin B, Chong Y, Chen F. Upper Respiratory Tract Viral Ribonucleic Acid Load at Hospital Admission Is Associated With Coronavirus Disease 2019 Disease Severity. Open Forum Infect Dis 2020; 7: ofaa282 [PMID: 33117856 DOI: 10.1093/ofid/ofaa282]
- 31 Tanner AR, Phan H, Brendish NJ, Borca F, Beard KR, Poole S, W Clark T. SARS-CoV-2 viral load at presentation to hospital is independently associated with the risk of death. *J Infect* 2021; 83: 458-466 [PMID: 34363885 DOI: 10.1016/j.jinf.2021.08.003]
- 32 Berastegui-Cabrera J, Salto-Alejandre S, Valerio M, Pérez-Palacios P, Revillas FAL, Abelenda-Alonso G, Oteo-Revuelta JA, Carretero-Ledesma M, Muñoz P, Pascual Á, Gozalo M, Rombauts A, Alba J, García-Díaz E, Rodríguez-Ferrero ML, Valiente A, Fariñas MC, Carratalà J, Santibáñez S, Camacho-Martínez P, Pachón J, Cisneros JM, Cordero E, Sánchez-Céspedes J. SARS-CoV-2 RNAemia is associated with severe chronic underlying diseases but not with nasopharyngeal viral load. *J Infect* 2021; 82: e38-e41 [PMID: 33248220 DOI: 10.1016/j.jinf.2020.11.024]
- 33 Karahasan Yagci A, Sarinoglu RC, Bilgin H, Yanılmaz Ö, Sayın E, Deniz G, Guncu MM, Doyuk Z, Barıs C, Kuzan BN, Aslan B, Korten V, Cimsit C. Relationship of the cycle threshold values of SARS-CoV-2 polymerase chain reaction and total severity score of computerized tomography in patients with COVID 19. *Int J Infect Dis* 2020; 101: 160-166 [PMID: 32992013 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.09.1449]
- 34 Le Borgne P, Solis M, Severac F, Merdji H, Ruch Y, Alamé Intern K, Bayle E, Hansmann Y, Bilbault P, Fafi-Kremer S, Meziani F; CRICS TRIGGERSEP Group (Clinical Research in Intensive Care and Sepsis Trial Group for Global Evaluation and Research in Sepsis). SARS-CoV-2 viral load in nasopharyngeal swabs in the emergency department does not predict COVID-19 severity and mortality. *Acad Emerg Med* 2021; 28: 306-313 [PMID: 33481307 DOI: 10.1111/acem.14217]
- 35 Hasanoglu I, Korukluoglu G, Asilturk D, Cosgun Y, Kalem AK, Altas AB, Kayaaslan B, Eser F, Kuzucu EA, Guner R. Higher viral loads in asymptomatic COVID-19 patients might be the invisible part of the iceberg. *Infection* 2021; 49: 117-126 [PMID: 33231841 DOI: 10.1007/s15010-020-01548-8]
- 36 Bakir A, Hosbul T, Cuce F, Artuk C, Taskin G, Caglayan M, Guney M, Kurkcu MF, Yildiz F, Erdal H, Erdem G. Investigation of Viral Load Cycle Threshold Values in Patients with SARS-CoV-2 Associated Pneumonia with Real-Time PCR Method. J Infect Dev Ctries 2021; 15: 1408-1414 [PMID: 34780363 DOI: 10.3855/jidc.14281]
- 37 Ng DL, Granados AC, Santos YA, Servellita V, Goldgof GM, Meydan C, Sotomayor-Gonzalez A, Levine AG, Balcerek J, Han LM, Akagi N, Truong K, Neumann NM, Nguyen DN, Bapat SP, Cheng J, Martin CS, Federman S, Foox J, Gopez A, Li T, Chan R, Chu CS, Wabl CA, Gliwa AS, Reyes K, Pan CY, Guevara H, Wadford D, Miller S, Mason CE, Chiu CY. A diagnostic host response biosignature for COVID-19 from RNA profiling of nasal swabs and blood. *Sci Adv* 2021; 7 [PMID: 33536218 DOI: 10.1126/sciadv.abe5984]
- 38 La Scola B, Le Bideau M, Andreani J, Hoang VT, Grimaldier C, Colson P, Gautret P, Raoult D. Viral RNA load as determined by cell culture as a management tool for discharge of SARS-CoV-2 patients from infectious disease wards. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis* 2020; **39**: 1059-1061 [PMID: 32342252 DOI: 10.1007/s10096-020-03913-9]
- 39 Wölfel R, Corman VM, Guggemos W, Seilmaier M, Zange S, Müller MA, Niemeyer D, Jones TC, Vollmar P, Rothe C, Hoelscher M, Bleicker T, Brünink S, Schneider J, Ehmann R, Zwirglmaier K, Drosten C, Wendtner C. Virological assessment of hospitalized patients with COVID-2019. *Nature* 2020; **581**: 465-469 [PMID: 32235945 DOI: 10.1038/s41586-020-2196-x]
- 40 Yu T, Tian C, Chu S, Zhou H, Zhang Z, Luo S, Hu D, Fan H. COVID-19 patients benefit from early antiviral treatment: A comparative, retrospective study. *J Med Virol* 2020; 92: 2675-2683 [PMID: 32492205 DOI: 10.1002/jmv.26129]
- 41 Çalık Başaran N, Uyaroğlu OA, Telli Dizman G, Özışık L, Şahin TK, Taş Z, İnkaya AÇ, Karahan S, Alp Ş, Alp A, Metan G, Zarakol P, Sain Güven G, Öz ŞG, Topeli A, Uzun Ö, Akova M, Ünal S. Outcome of noncritical COVID-19 patients with early hospitalization and early antiviral treatment outside the ICU. *Turk J Med Sci* 2021; **51**: 411-420 [PMID: 32718127 DOI: 10.3906/sag-2006-173]
- 42 Wu J, Li W, Shi X, Chen Z, Jiang B, Liu J, Wang D, Liu C, Meng Y, Cui L, Yu J, Cao H, Li L. Early antiviral treatment contributes to alleviate the severity and improve the prognosis of patients with novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19). J Intern Med 2020; 288: 128-138 [PMID: 32220033 DOI: 10.1111/joim.13063]
- 43 Karatas E, Aksoy L, Ozaslan E. Association of Early Favipiravir Use with Reduced COVID-19 Fatality among Hospitalized Patients. *Infect Chemother* 2021; 53: 300-307 [PMID: 34216123 DOI: 10.3947/ic.2020.0149]
- 44 Vena A, Cenderello G, Balletto E, Mezzogori L, Santagostino Barbone A, Berruti M, Ball L, Battaglini D, Bonsignore A, Dentone C, Giacobbe DR, Eldin TK, Mikulska M, Rebesco B, Robba C, Scintu A, Stimamiglio A, Taramasso L, Pelosi P, Artioli S, Bassetti M. Early Administration of Bamlanivimab in Combination with Etesevimab Increases the Benefits of COVID-19 Treatment: Real-World Experience from the Liguria Region. *J Clin Med* 2021; 10 [PMID: 34682805 DOI: 10.3390/jcm10204682]

Zaishidenq® WJMA | https://www.wjgnet.com

WJM

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Meta-Anal 2022 August 28; 10(4): 206-219

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i4.206

ISSN 2308-3840 (online)

META-ANALYSIS

No increase in burnout in health care workers during the initial COVID-19 outbreak: Systematic review and meta-analysis

Vincent Kimpe, Michel Sabe, Othman Sentissi

Specialty type: Psychiatry

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Eseadi C, Nigeria; Khosravi M, Iran

Received: March 27, 2022 Peer-review started: March 27, 2022 First decision: June 11, 2022 Revised: July 27, 2022 Article in press: July 27, 2022 Published online: August 28, 2022



Vincent Kimpe, Faculty of Medicine, Geneva University, Geneva 1208, Geneva, Switzerland

Michel Sabe, Othman Sentissi, Division of Adult Psychiatry, Department of Psychiatry, Geneva University Hospitals, Geneva 1205, Geneva, Switzerland

Corresponding author: Othman Sentissi, MD, PhD, Chief Doctor, Division of Adult Psychiatry, Department of Psychiatry, Geneva University Hospitals, CAPPI Jonction: 35, rue des Bains, Geneva 1205, Switzerland. o.sentissi@hcuge.ch

Abstract

BACKGROUND

For decades and before the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic, for health care workers (HCWs) burnout can be experienced as an upsetting confrontation with their self and the result of a complex a multifactorial process interacting with environmental and personal features.

AIM

To literature review and meta-analysis was to obtain a comprehensive understanding of burnout and work-related stress in health care workers around the world during the first outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic.

METHODS

We performed a database search of Embase, Google Scholar and PubMed from June to October 2020. We analysed burnout risk factors and protective factors in included studies published in peer-reviewed journals as of January 2020, studying a HCW population during the first COVID-19 wave without any geographic restrictions. Furthermore, we performed a meta-analysis to determine overall burnout levels. We studied the main risk factors and protective factors related to burnout and stress at the individual, institutional and regional levels.

RESULTS

Forty-one studies were included in our final review sample. Most were crosssectional, observational studies with data collection windows during the first wave of the COVID-19 surge. Of those forty-one, twelve studies were included in the meta-analysis. Of the 27907 health care professionals who participated in the reviewed studies, 70.4% were women, and two-thirds were either married or living together. The most represented age category was 31-45 years, at 41.5%. Approximately half of the sample comprised nurses (47.6%), and 44.4% were working in COVID-19 wards (intensive care unit, emergency room and dedicated



internal medicine wards). Indeed, exposure to the virus was not a leading factor for burnout. Our meta-analytic estimate of burnout prevalence in the HCW population for a sample of 6784 individuals was 30.05%.

CONCLUSION

There was a significant prevalence of burnout in HCWs during the COVID-19 pandemic, and some of the associated risk factors could be targeted for intervention, both at the individual and organizational levels. Nevertheless, COVID-19 exposure was not a leading factor for burnout, as burnout levels were not notably higher than pre-COVID-19 levels.

Key Words: Burnout; Initial COVID-19 outbreak; SARS-CoV-2 pandemic; Healthcare workers; Mental health services; Maslach burnout inventory

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: We performed a database search from June to October 2020. We analysed burnout risk factors and protective factors in retained studies and performed a meta-analysis to determine overall burnout levels during the initial coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak. We found a significant prevalence of burnout in health care workers during the COVID-19 pandemic and some of the associated risk factors could be targeted for intervention, both at the individual and organizational level. Nevertheless, COVID-19 exposure was not a leading factor for burnout, as burnout levels were not notably higher than pre-COVID-19.

Citation: Kimpe V, Sabe M, Sentissi O. No increase in burnout in health care workers during the initial COVID-19 outbreak: Systematic review and meta-analysis. World J Meta-Anal 2022; 10(4): 206-219 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/full/v10/i4/206.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.13105/wjma.v10.i4.206

INTRODUCTION

Burnout is an occupational phenomenon defined as a syndrome of emotional exhaustion, depersonalization of others, and a feeling of reduced personal accomplishment [1,2]. It is the result of a complex and multifactorial process, with interacting environmental features and personal frailties[3-6], in a process that juxtaposes personal needs and expectations on one hand, and the institution's demands, (in)equalities and (in)justices on the other. For health care workers (HCWs), burnout can be experienced as an upsetting personal confrontation, as the progressive lack of compassion and diminished effectiveness has a distressing impact on their professional identity^[4]. The scientific literature on HCW burnout is vast, as decades before the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic, burnout was recognized as a significant problem both in terms of magnitude and impact. A recent systematic review over a period of 25 years showed burnout levels of 25% among nurses[7]. Another recent meta-analysis studying physicians reported a combined prevalence of 21%, although with substantial variability due to uneven definitions, assessment methods, and study quality[8]. In the past decade, an increasing number of respiratory virus epidemics have placed additional pressure on the health care system and its workers through various mechanisms. During the 2003 severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) outbreak, some HCWs isolated themselves out of fear of infecting their friends and families[9], and lack of training, protection and hospital support was associated with higher burnout[10]. The novel influenza A virus (H1N1) outbreak in 2009 highlighted HCWs' concern for infection of family and friends and fears about consequences for their own health[11]. Other authors showed an increase in the stress and psychological burden of HCWs during the 2012 Middle East Respiratory Syndrome outbreak, due to infectious disease-related stigma, such as social rejection or discrimination[12], or increased burnout levels due to poor hospital resources[13].

Early 2020, economic uncertainty and societal anxiety reached unseen levels, as the COVID-19 pandemic profoundly changed our view of health, work and social interactions. As the UN put it, we are facing a global health crisis [...], one that is killing people, spreading human suffering, and upending people's lives. However, this is much more than a health crisis. It is a human, economic and social crisis^[14]. For most workers, the pandemic has accelerated a change in workplace habits and a shift from office work towards teleworking. HCWs, however, were subject to sudden and dramatic transformation of the health care institutions and were faced with unseen numbers of critically ill patients and casualties. In many countries, the pandemic was source of a tremendous increase in workload and significant levels of stress and fear regarding physical integrity. Most countries were



faced with an ominous atmosphere of fear of the unknown and a staggering shortage of means, including personal protective equipment (PPE). Particularly in the early days of the pandemic, HCWs were facing uncertainty about the virus's modes of transmission, questions about levels of contagiousness, and hence about the risk of self-infection and of infecting family members and friends.

Burnout in HCWs has been associated with poor patient safety outcomes, medical errors and adverse outcomes on the health care system as a whole [15,16]. In this review, we explore the main contributors to burnout in health care providers, specifically within the scope of the COVID-19 pandemic in early 2020. Despite the great variability in burnout measuring instruments, subscales, and cut-off levels therein, we endeavour to provide a meta-analytic estimate of burnout levels during the initial COVID-19 outbreak

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Database search and initial study selection

We conducted a literature search in PubMed, Embase and Google Scholar from 1st of June to 10th of October 2020, following the PRISMA 2020 recommendations (unregistered). The search terms were associated with Boolean operators as detailed in Supplementary Table 1. Some additional relevant articles were included from the references sections of the articles found in the initial search.

Study eligibility criteria

We included original studies published in peer-reviewed journals as of January 2020, studying an HCW population during the first COVID-19 wave without any geographic restrictions. The exclusion criteria are detailed in Table 1. Initially, assessed studies comprised several randomized controlled trials (RCTs), mostly cross-sectional and some interventional studies. From those, RCTs and interventional studies were excluded during the screening phase, as they were not within the burnout or stress scope of this review.

Independent variables

The main independent variable was burnout and its prevalence during the COVID-19 pandemic in the first half of 2020 as measured with a recognized instrument or validated custom instrument. High levels of chronic work-related stress are generally accepted as a precipitator of burnout, and a recent study showed that high stress levels interfere with sound sleep[17], which in turn can precipitate burnout. Taking this into consideration, we included (perceived) stress as an independent variable in our analysis.

The main instrument used is the Maslach Burnout Inventory (MBI), a scale measuring burnout through three dimensions: emotional exhaustion (EE), depersonalization (DP) and decreased personal achievement (PA)[18,19]. EE refers to feelings of being overextended and depletion of one's resources [6]. Conceptually, it incorporates traditional stress reactions, such as job-related depression, psychosomatic complaints and anxiety [20,21], and has been related to similar behavioural outcomes, such as intention to quit and absenteeism^[22]. HCWs experiencing EE feel apathetic and indifferent about their work and patients and no feel longer invested in situations arising during their workday^[23]. DP refers to a cynical, insensitive, or disproportionately detached response to other people as EE becomes more severe. It can be perceived as withdrawal or mental distancing from care recipients^[24], which are distancing techniques used to reduce the intensity of arousal and prevent the worker from disruption in critical and chaotic situations requiring calm and efficient functioning[25]. PA refers to a decline in one's feelings of competence and successful achievement at work, reduced productivity, low morale and inability to cope[26]. One can appreciate how reduced performance and productivity among HCWs lead to poor clinical decision-making and medical errors[23]. The questions used in the MBI are detailed in Supplementary Table 2. Other instruments used are detailed in Supplementary Table 3.

Dependent variables

The dependent variables were sociodemographic variables, personality traits, psychological and physical health status, occupational role, ward, organizational and geographic variables. Physical symptoms were described in certain studies, but they were not the focus of this review. The detailed study selection process is outlined in the flow chart in Figure 1.

Statistical analysis and meta-analysis

Units were unified for aggregation of dependent variables. When only median age and standard deviation were available, we used normal distribution inference to categorize the respondents into age categories. For other studies, we forced study age groups in the closest comparable group of our review. These adaptations may report inaccurate age distributions at the individual study level, but we believe that the aggregated data benefit from this approach. Meta-analysis was performed in MedCalc Version 19.5.3. Proportions with random effects models were studied, and we calculated the l^2 statistic of hetero-



Table 1 Exclusion criteria for the qualitative review

Studies that did not unambiguously study burnout and/or stress at work

Studies that did not focus on HCWs or a subpopulation thereof

Literature reviews, meta-analyses and systematic reviews

Full English text not available

Preprints, unreviewed articles

Short communications, editorials, etc. (not sufficient data)

HCWs: Health care workers.



Figure 1 Flow chart of the selection process.

geneity and publication bias through Egger's and Begg's tests, respectively.

Review outcomes

From the final list of retained studies, we selected those that had sufficient numeric data to perform a meta-analysis. These studies used validated burnout measuring instruments and reported either burnout prevalence or scores that permitted deducing HCW burnout prevalence. Descriptive analysis was performed using statistically significant data from the studies retained. For some studies, the conclusions retained in our review may not have been the most striking outcomes from their perspective. We focused mainly on burnout, stress, and related dependent variables.

RESULTS

Features of the included studies and sociodemographic data

Through screening, 39 cross-sectional, one longitudinal and one prospective cohort study were retained.



Of the 41 studies, all from 2020, 12 were included in the meta-analysis. Table 2 details the main features of the studies.

Of the studies retained, 44% were European studies, and 28% studied Asian-Pacific countries. After China, the pandemic hit hardest in European countries, such as Italy and Spain, in the first quarter of 2020. These two countries represented 21% and 19% of the respondents of European studies, respectively. Among the latter, Germany represented 39%. Table 3 shows a sociodemographic overview of respondents in the 41 studies. Of the 27907 health care professionals who participated in the reviewed studies, 70.4% were women, and two-thirds were either married or living together. The most represented age category was 31-45 years, at 41.5%. Approximately half of the sample comprised nurses (47.6%), and 44.4% were working in COVID-19 wards [intensive care unit (ICU), emergency room (ER) and dedicated internal medicine wards]. Supplementary Table 4 displays the complete list of studies and, for each study, a short description summarizing the main conclusions relevant for our review.

Burnout prevalence and meta-analytic estimate

Twelve studies were included in our meta-analysis (Figure 2). Egger's test result was -3.7859 (95%CI: -11.79–4.22 and P = 0.3169), and Begg's test rendered a Kendall's Tau of -0.1818 (P = 0.4106), showing no significant asymmetry or publication bias. The test for heterogeneity, however, showed a high level of inconsistency (P: 96.66%, P < 0.0001), prompting the use of the random effects model in estimating the meta-analytic effect. The meta-analytic estimate of burnout prevalence in HCWs was 30.05% (95%CI: 23.91%–36.5%), with a sample size of 6784.

DISCUSSION

The typical profile of an HCW with high levels of burnout was a single female nurse or resident physician under 30 years of age in an institution perceived as poorly prepared for the COVID-19 pandemic. This HCW experienced anxiety regarding infection with COVID-19 or infecting their friends and family and might have had a history of prior psychiatric conditions and low levels of resilience.

Age, sex, marital status

A recurring risk factor associated with burnout was female sex[27-34]. Female sex was correlated with higher perceived stress[17,35-38], despite one study showing identical cortisol levels as in males. This is consistent with males being less likely to report symptoms, even if they were experiencing them[29,30], and with females having a higher tendency to somatise[34].

Early residency years and younger age were associated with higher stress levels, burnout and associated negative symptoms[17,29-31,35,40-42]. Younger physicians are more likely to have young children, which may explain the increased stress of infecting families. Accordingly, one study found higher perceived stress levels in HCWs with small children[43]. In nurses, the number of children and parenting stress were positively correlated with burnout[44]. Some authors stated that senior residents experienced more stress because of the inability to quickly adapt to a new subject they never learned in medical school[45]. Among nonphysicians, younger HCWs had lower levels of burnout than middle-aged groups[46], although other authors found that more experience comes with less burnout[47].

Single respondents experienced higher burnout than those who were married or in a relationship[36, 44]. Respondents with support from family and friends scored lower on stress and burnout[34-36,48], whereas living alone predicted increased stress[49]. We believe that social support could be considered an external resource that alleviates burnout, fitting the Job Demands-Resources (JD-R) burnout model [24].

Health status, coping strategies, resilience

Prior psychiatric conditions were strongly correlated with high levels of burnout and distress[29,48]. Higher levels on the EE and DP subscales were linked with more negative symptoms[28,42], including irritability, change in food habits, insomnia, depression and muscle tension[50]. Similarly, reporting physical symptoms was associated with higher stress levels[51], although this association may be bidirectional[52]. Additionally, an association was found between EE and the perception of needing psychiatric treatment in the future[53].

A positive attitude was strongly protective against stress, whereas avoidance constituted a risk factor [36,49]. Stigma (discrimination, fear of COVID-19) was an important predictor of burnout[33]. Resilience was associated with lower levels of stress, anxiety, fatigue, and sleep disturbances[54], as well as less COVID-19-related anxiety[55], symptoms of posttraumatic stress and depression[42] and burnout[44]. Resilience is a complex coping mechanism in which individuals can function in difficult environments. Focusing on solutions rather than on difficulties puts the individual in a position that favours the development of new skills[56,57].

Zaishideng® WJMA | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 2 Main features of the studies selected (N = 41)					
	N	%		N	%
Publication month (2020)			Region		
March	1	2	Asia & Pacific	12	29
April	3	7	Europe	18	44
May	3	7	Global	2	5
June	5	12	Middle east	3	7
July	3	7	North America	4	10
August	15	37	South/Latin America	2	5
September	6	15			
October	5	12	Population		
			Physicians	36	88
Type of work			Nurses	27	66
Cross-sectional survey	39	95	Other HCWs	17	41
Longitudinal study	1	2			
Longitudinal cohort study	1	2	Measuring scale		
			Validated burnout scale	18	44
			Validated stress scale	18	44



Figure 2 Studies included in meta-analysis. A: Forest plot of studies; B: Funnel plot of studies.

Occupational role, ward, contact with COVID-19 patients

Several authors reported higher levels of stress or burnout in nurses than in physicians or other HCWs [38,41,43,46,51,58]. Several authors who studied the nurse population highlighted the importance of organizational support, safety guidelines, and PPE as protective from burnout related to anxiety about self-infection or infection of friends and families[32,34,55,59]. Some authors found that nurses had high morale, enthusiasm and empathy, which could partially set off burnout along the DP axis[47]. Despite having similar stress levels to physicians and working in equally difficult situations in terms of the availability of resources, nurses scored higher compassion satisfaction (CS), which protects against burnout[60].

There is an important intersection between nurses and the female population; women accounted for 93.2% among four studies studying only nurses, making female sex an important confounding factor. In many cultures, women are still in charge of the household and the children, often causing a surplus in workload and obligations. The nursing population had to deal with increased workload at work and locked-down children who needed to be fed and protected from infection. Additionally, nurses spending the most time with patients are most vulnerable to the risk of infection if PPE is lacking.

Table 3 Sociodemographic data of the respondents of studies reviewed

	N							%
Region	Asia & Pacific	Europe	Middle east	North America	South/Latin America	Multi-country	Total	
Studies	12	18	3	4	2	2	41	
Respondents	12587	9754	1774	1546	512	1734	27907	
%	45.1	35.0	6.4	5.5	1.8	6.2		
Gender ^a								
Female	9775	6590	1176	544	179	342	18606	70.4
Male	2695	3'073	598	339	333	659	7697	29.1
Non-binary/other	37	91	0	1	0	0	129	0.5
Age category ^b								
18-30	5344	1767	430	407	94	397	8439	30.7
31-45	5134	3543	1157	676	249	639	11398	41.5
> 45	2078	4019	187	460	169	699	7612	27.7
Occupational role								
Physician	3308	3780	799	1134	512	1734	11267	40.4
Nurse	7996	4499	552	248	0	0	13295	47.6
Other	1283	1475	423	164	0	0	3345	12.0
Ward ^a								
Front line	5336	2931	860	947	0	1001	11075	44.4
Usual ward	7251	4212	914	252	512	733	13874	55.6
Married/concubine ^a								
Yes	5704	2624	987	92	-	831	10238	66.2
No	3691	1204	149	19	-	170	5233	33.8
Children ^a								
Yes	515	1086	277	185	-	0	2063	48.6
No	905	778	149	352	-	0	2184	51.4
Psychological comorb	idities ^a							
Yes	-	45	122	-	18	0	185	9.2
No	-	675	1013	-	145	0	1833	90.8

^aNot all studies delivered this information.

^bSome respondents were forced in these categories based on normal distributions.

Interestingly, a few studies found that whether HCWs dealt directly with COVID-19 patients did not correlate with burnout or stress[51,61], possibly because it was counterbalanced by higher CS[62]. For others, the actual duration of interactions with COVID patients was associated with a higher risk of burnout[17,48,61]. In ICUs around the world, direct COVID-19 exposure was not a leading factor for burnout[27]. Some authors found that working with COVID-19 patients increased stress[31,36-38,54,63, 64]. Others found the opposite: lower burnout levels in front-line wards (FL) compared to usual wards (UW)[65,66]. The number of positive cases in the country was not associated with burnout or stress[46, 67]. Some authors stated that redeployed staff had a higher risk of burnout, possibly related to increased demands, limited resources, and psychological stress of dealing with an unfamiliar disease in an unfamiliar environment^[40]. Others found that redeployment had no impact on perceived stress^[59]. One study found that surgical residents had a decrease in routine surgical activities along with a decrease in burnout[68].

The predominant theory appears to be that FL workers were subject to less burnout than UW workers. We postulate that FL had more opportunity to exercise competencies and judgement, thereby increasing their sense of control. From the Job Strain-Job Decision model perspective, this put these

workers in active jobs, with higher job satisfaction and actual development of competencies, setting off part of the higher stress (*vs* UW) and generating new behaviour patterns[69]. Accordingly, Dinibutun [70] found a high sense of PA among physicians in FL. We also suggest that FL workers experienced increased attention from hospital management, with more communication and updated policies. FL workers received public and media recognition, increasing their sense of worth, experienced by some as justice, at last. Several burnout models appreciate that recognition and sense of worth act as enhancers of rewards, alleviating high efforts[71,72] as somehow protective from burnout.

In primary care, some authors measured lower levels of psychological distress, possibly explained by the use of telemedicine, alleviating the risk of infection[73]. We believe, however, that unprepared implementation of technological diagnostic tools can also lead to technostress. This is suitably illustrated by a global study amongst dermatologists who started using telemedicine during the COVID-19 pandemic[50].

Organizational and geographic factors

Higher actual or perceived preparedness at the hospital or country level was associated with lower stress or burnout[27,43,50,53,58,59]. Underlying features of preparedness included availability of PPE, training, communication, and protocols; improving these could alleviate perceived stress[58,74,75]. Increased stress and burnout related to preparedness was partially mediated by fear of self-infection and infection of others[32,48,50,52,59]. Increased appreciation and communication from hospital management was correlated with less burnout[74], whereas institutional failure to triage appropriately, or a lack of ethical climate increased stress and burnout[27]. Having been tested for COVID-19 or sufficient and discretionary access to testing for patients seemed protective from burnout[74]. Conversely, having infected relatives could significantly increase stress[34].

Preparedness is a textbook illustration of burnout models in action. The unavailability of resources (such as PPE) to accomplish one's job in the best possible conditions increases disengagement and DP, as postulated in the JD-R model[24,53], increases strain through anxiety of transmitting the virus[69] and decreases resources through social isolation (to avoid transmission)[24]. Lack of institutional communication and protocols are decreased reward components in the Effort-Reward Imbalance model: they create job and institutional uncertainty[71] and might be perceived as unjust by the worker[72].

Burnout prevalence

According to several pre-COVID-19 meta-analyses, burnout prevalence among residents was 35.7% [76] or above 60% [77]. Among nurses, burnout prevalence was between 15% and 28% [78], between 29% and 36% [79] and between 15% and 35% [80]. The pooled prevalence of a 2020 meta-analysis among 1943 emergency physicians was between 35% and 41% [81]. Our own meta-analytic estimate of burnout during the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic was approximately 30%, *i.e.*, less than most studies pre-COVID-19. We hypothesize that, although HCWs were put under enormous strain during this period, they were also rewarded by a considerable increase in attention and had the opportunity to give actual sense to their profession, albeit in very difficult circumstances. Additionally, we must put this number in perspective, as it is based on very different studies in terms of duration, methodology and geography.

Limitations

The short time span of a pandemic does not necessarily allow for the time and preparation needed to set up a well-structured randomized controlled trial. This may explain the lack of many such studies and their subsequent absence in our review. Cross-sectional studies, in contrast, do not admit explanation by causality. The absence of a control group in cross-sectional studies does not allow us to determine if findings are reflective of the general population or only of considered HCWs.

Responder bias and auto-questionnaires are important limitations of cross-sectional studies. Certain topics, such as a prior history of psychiatric conditions, are particularly at risk of response bias given the possible stigma. Additionally, at the time of the survey, HCWs might not have been interested due to a lack of any personal (mental) health concerns, or conversely, they could have been suffering from a crushing burden of either stress, burnout, or physical symptoms, preventing them from responding to the survey.

Another limitation of this review is that, during this pandemic, we must consider that occupational burnout could have been caused by the interaction between environmental-related (such as workplace-related events) and individual-related factors (such as disruption of work-life balance and personality traits)[81].

Limitations specific to our review and meta-analysis are the heterogeneity of studies in terms of measurement instruments, scales and subscales, and cut-off scores used to determine overall burnout prevalence. There was also geographic diversity and heterogeneity of the populations studied, as our intention was not to focus on one part of the workforce or region but to highlight burnout and its influencing factors in the specific context of the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result, we cannot compare the prevalence of our study with the prevalence found in earlier, pre-COVID-19 studies.

Relevance to clinical practice

It is critical that countries and institutions understand and acknowledge the nature, risk factors and protective factors of stress and burnout in their health care workforce. Awareness lies at the basis of preventive interventions, which can happen both at the individual and institutional levels.

In a pandemic context such as COVID-19, specific interventions could probably yield immediate results, benefiting HCWs and patients in very direct ways. We have highlighted how institutional preparedness has a clear correlation with stress and burnout. PPE, up to date protocols, and regular communication from hospital management are low hanging fruit, as they would both reduce actual infection rates amongst staff and alleviate fear of infection and transmission. Workload and stress about childcare are recurring subjects, and if the former is a challenge during a pandemic, it should be feasible for institutions to help organise childcare for single workers who are more at risk for burnout.

Commonly studied burnout interventions in HCWs are mindfulness, stress management and smallgroup discussions. The results suggest that these factors could have positive effects on burnout, although more research is needed [82]. A recent mapping by Hilton et al [83] of RCTs conducted in health care providers and medical students returned promising results on the use of mindfulness in the workplace but highlighted the need for more definitive evidence of benefits on burnout. Other interventions focus on leadership skills, community and institutional culture, which have been largely studied[84,85].

Where prevention fails, institutions must deal with existing stress and burnout resulting from both ordinary and extraordinary circumstances. Some institutions implemented telephone helplines for HCWs with difficulties coping with grief, death, high workloads, and burnout, the use of which was perceived as useful and appropriate[86,87]. A culture promoting acknowledgement, communication and peer support programs, employee assistance programs and structured health response programs are many other exploration options.

CONCLUSIONS

During the COVID-19 pandemic, HCWs have been under high levels of stress and have suffered considerable burnout, putting quality of care at risk. We reviewed 41 studies and highlighted personal and sociodemographic features strongly associated with higher perceived stress and burnout. Female sex, younger age, low resilience, nurse occupational role and lack of preparedness were associated with higher burnout, but actual COVID-19 exposure was not a leading factor. Prevalence pre-COVID-19 was either lower or in the same ballpark as during COVID-19; our meta-analytic estimate based on 12 studies and approximately 6800 respondents returned a burnout prevalence of 30%, with important geographical variations. Both the individual and macro levels offer opportunities for intervention, as primary and secondary prevention, but the identification of early signs could also inform a reduction in burnout levels in our health care workforce. Further research is needed to evaluate the mid- and longterm impacts of the COVID-19 outbreak on HCWs.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

For decades and before the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic, for health care workers, (HCWs) burnout can be experienced as an upsetting confrontation with their self and the result of a complex a multifactorial process interacting with environmental and personal features.

Research motivation

During these century previous outbreak, some HCWs isolated themselves out of fear of infecting their friends and families, and lack of training, protection and hospital support was associated with higher burnout.

Research objectives

The objective of this literature review and meta-analysis was to obtain a comprehensive understanding of burnout and work-related stress in health care workers around the world during the first outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Research methods

We analysed burnout risk factors and protective factors in included studies published from June 1, 2020 to October 10, 2020, studying an HCW population during the first COVID-19 wave. The typical profile of an HCW with high levels of burnout was a young, single, female nurse or resident physician in an institution perceived as poorly prepared for the COVID-19 pandemic. This HCW experienced anxiety



related to infection with COVID-19 or infecting her friends and family and possibly had a history of prior psychiatric conditions and low levels of resilience. Nevertheless, COVID-19 exposure was not a leading factor in burnout, as burnout levels were not notably higher than those before the COVID-19 pandemic. We included original studies published in peer-reviewed journals as of January 2020, studying an HCW population during the first COVID-19 wave without any geographic restrictions

Research results

Through screening, 39 cross-sectional, one longitudinal and one prospective cohort study were retained. Of the 41 studies, all from 2020, 12 were included in the meta-analysis. Table 2 details the main features of the studies. Of the 27907 health care professionals who participated in the reviewed studies, 70.4% were women, and two-thirds were either married or living together. The most represented age category was 31-45 years, at 41.5%. Approximately half of the sample comprised nurses (47.6%), and 44.4% were working in COVID-19 wards (intensive care unit, emergency room and dedicated internal medicine wards). The meta-analytic estimate of burnout prevalence in HCWs was 30.05% (95%CI: 23.91%-36.5%), with a sample size of 6784.

Research conclusions

During the COVID-19 pandemic, HCWs have been under high levels of stress and have suffered considerable burnout, putting quality of care at risk. We reviewed 41 studies and highlighted personal and sociodemographic features strongly associated with higher perceived stress and burnout. Female sex, younger age, low resilience, nurse occupational role and lack of preparedness were associated with higher burnout, but actual COVID-19 exposure was not a leading factor. Prevalence pre-COVID-19 was either lower or in the same ballpark as during COVID-19; our meta-analytic estimate based on 12 studies and approximately 6800 respondents returned a burnout prevalence of 30%, with important geographical variation

Research perspectives

In a pandemic context such as COVID-19, specific interventions could probably yield immediate results, benefiting HCWs and patients in very direct ways. We have highlighted how institutional preparedness has a clear correlation with stress and burnout. PPE, up-to-date protocols and regular communication from hospital management are low hanging fruit, as they would both reduce actual infection rates amongst staff and alleviate fear of infection and transmission. Workload and stress about childcare are recurring subjects, and if the former is a challenge during a pandemic, it should be feasible for institutions to help organize childcare for single workers who are more at risk for burnout. Where prevention fails, institutions must deal with existing stress and burnout resulting from both ordinary and extraordinary circumstances. Some institutions implemented telephone helplines for HCWs with difficulties coping with grief, death, high workloads, and burnout, the use of which was perceived as useful and appropriate. A culture promoting acknowledgement, communication and peer support programs, employee assistance programs and structured health response programs are many other exploration options.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Kimpe V helped to develop the research question, performed the review, and wrote the main part of the manuscript; Sabe M participated in the development of the research question, helped with the metaanalysis strategy and contributed to the writing of the manuscript; Sentissi O developed the research question, oversaw the progress of the review, and contributed to the writing of the manuscript. The authors approved the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Othman Sentissi has received advisory board honouraria from Otsuka, Lilly, Lundbeck, Sandoz, and Janssen in an institutional account for research and teaching. Other authors have no conflicts of interest.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Switzerland

ORCID number: Vincent Kimpe 0000-0002-5505-989; Michel Sabe 0000-0002-8530-9809; Othman Sentissi 0000-0001-6280-



2197.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: A P-Editor: Liu JH

REFERENCES

- 1 World Health Organization. Burn-Out an "Occupational Phenomenon": International Classification of Diseases. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 [DOI: 10.2471/blt.19.020919]
- Maslach C. Burnout the Cost of Caring. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1982 2
- Pines AM, Aronson E, Kafry D. Burnout: From Tedium to Personal Growth. New York, NY: The Free Press; 1981 3
- 4 Farber BA. Stress and Burnout in the Human Service Professions1983. XIII, 256 [DOI: 10.1016/0190-7409(83)90039-7]
- 5 Freudenberger HJ, Richelson G. Bum-Out: The High Cost of High Achievement. New York, NY: Anchor Press; 1980
- Burisch M, Schaufeli WB, Maslach C, Marek T. Professional Burnout: Recent Developments in Theory and Research. 6 Washington, DC: Taylor & Francis; 1993
- 7 Adriaenssens J, De Gucht V, Maes S. Determinants and prevalence of burnout in emergency nurses: a systematic review of 25 years of research. Int J Nurs Stud 2015; 52: 649-661 [PMID: 25468279 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.11.004]
- Rotenstein LS, Torre M, Ramos MA, Rosales RC, Guille C, Sen S, Mata DA. Prevalence of Burnout Among Physicians: A Systematic Review. JAMA 2018; 320: 1131-1150 [PMID: 30326495 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2018.12777]
- 9 Bai Y, Lin CC, Lin CY, Chen JY, Chue CM, Chou P. Survey of stress reactions among health care workers involved with the SARS outbreak. Psychiatr Serv 2004; 55: 1055-1057 [PMID: 15345768 DOI: 10.1176/appi.ps.55.9.1055]
- Maunder RG, Lancee WJ, Balderson KE, Bennett JP, Borgundvaag B, Evans S, Fernandes CM, Goldbloom DS, Gupta M, 10 Hunter JJ, McGillis Hall L, Nagle LM, Pain C, Peczeniuk SS, Raymond G, Read N, Rourke SB, Steinberg RJ, Stewart TE, VanDeVelde-Coke S, Veldhorst GG, Wasylenki DA. Long-term psychological and occupational effects of providing hospital healthcare during SARS outbreak. Emerg Infect Dis 2006; 12: 1924-1932 [PMID: 17326946 DOI: 10.3201/eid1212.060584]
- Goulia P, Mantas C, Dimitroula D, Mantis D, Hyphantis T. General hospital staff worries, perceived sufficiency of 11 information and associated psychological distress during the A/H1N1 influenza pandemic. BMC Infect Dis 2010; 10: 322 [PMID: 21062471 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2334-10-322]
- Park JS, Lee EH, Park NR, Choi YH. Mental Health of Nurses Working at a Government-designated Hospital During a 12 MERS-CoV Outbreak: A Cross-sectional Study. Arch Psychiatr Nurs 2018; 32: 2-6 [PMID: 29413067 DOI: 10.1016/j.apnu.2017.09.006
- 13 Kim JS, Choi JS. Factors Influencing Emergency Nurses' Burnout During an Outbreak of Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus in Korea. Asian Nurs Res (Korean Soc Nurs Sci) 2016; 10: 295-299 [PMID: 28057317 DOI: 10.1016/j.anr.2016.10.002
- United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. Everyone Included: Social Impact of COVID-19. New York, NY: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs; 2020
- Hall LH, Johnson J, Watt I, Tsipa A, O'Connor DB. Healthcare Staff Wellbeing, Burnout, and Patient Safety: A Systematic 15 Review. PLoS One 2016; 11: e0159015 [PMID: 27391946 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0159015]
- Patel RS, Bachu R, Adikey A, Malik M, Shah M. Factors Related to Physician Burnout and Its Consequences: A Review. 16 Behav Sci (Basel) 2018; 8 [PMID: 30366419 DOI: 10.3390/bs8110098]
- 17 Abdulah DM, Mohammed AA. The consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic on perceived stress in clinical practice: experience of doctors in Iraqi Kurdistan. Rom J Intern Med 2020; 58: 219-227 [PMID: 32759407 DOI: 10.2478/rjim-2020-0020
- 18 Maslach C, Jackson SE. The measurement of experienced burnout. J Organ Behav 1981; 2: 99-113 [DOI: 10.1002/job.4030020205]
- 19 Maslach C, Leiter MP, Schaufeli W. Measuring burnout. In: Cooper CL, Cartwright S, editors. The Oxford Handbook of Organizational Well Being. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 2008; 86-108
- Buunk B, De Jonge J, Ybema J. Work psychology. In: Drenth PJD, Thierry H, De Wolff CJ, editors. Handbook of Work 20 and Organizational Psychology. Hove: Psychology Press, 1998; 145-82
- Kahn RL, Byosiere P. Stress in organizations. In: Dunnette MD, Hough LM, editors. Handbook of Industrial and 21 Organizational Psychology Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press; 1992. p. 571-650
- 22 Lee RT, Ashforth BE. A meta-analytic examination of the correlates of the three dimensions of job burnout. J Appl Psychol 1996; 81: 123-133 [PMID: 8603909 DOI: 10.1037/0021-9010.81.2.123]
- 23 Bridgeman PJ, Bridgeman MB, Barone J. Burnout syndrome among healthcare professionals. Am J Health Syst Pharm 2018; 75: 147-152 [PMID: 29183877 DOI: 10.2146/ajhp170460]
- 24 Demerouti E, Bakker AB, Nachreiner F, Schaufeli WB. The job demands-resources model of burnout. J Appl Psychol 2001; 86: 499-512 [PMID: 11419809 DOI: 10.1037//0021-9010.86.3.499]
- Maslach C. Burnout: a multidimensional perspective. In: Schaufeli WB, Maslach C, Marek T, editors. Professional 25 Burnout: Recent Developments in Theory and Research. Washington, DC: Taylor & Francis, 1993; 19-32
- 26 Maslach C. Understanding burnout: definitional issues in analyzing a complex phenomenon. In: Paine WS, editor. Job Stress and Burnout. Beverly Hills: Sage, 1982; 29-40
- 27 Azoulay E, De Waele J, Ferrer R, Staudinger T, Borkowska M, Povoa P, Iliopoulou K, Artigas A, Schaller SJ, Hari MS, Pellegrini M, Darmon M, Kesecioglu J, Cecconi M; ESICM. Symptoms of burnout in intensive care unit specialists facing the COVID-19 outbreak. Ann Intensive Care 2020; 10: 110 [PMID: 32770449 DOI: 10.1186/s13613-020-00722-3]



- 28 Barello S, Palamenghi L, Graffigna G. Burnout and somatic symptoms among frontline healthcare professionals at the peak of the Italian COVID-19 pandemic. Psychiatry Res 2020; 290: 113129 [PMID: 32485487 DOI: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113129]
- 29 Civantos AM, Bertelli A, Gonçalves A, Getzen E, Chang C, Long Q, Rajasekaran K. Mental health among head and neck surgeons in Brazil during the COVID-19 pandemic: A national study. Am J Otolaryngol 2020; 41: 102694 [PMID: 32854041 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjoto.2020.102694]
- Civantos AM, Byrnes Y, Chang C, Prasad A, Chorath K, Poonia SK, Jenks CM, Bur AM, Thakkar P, Graboyes EM, Seth 30 R, Trosman S, Wong A, Laitman BM, Harris BN, Shah J, Stubbs V, Choby G, Long Q, Rassekh CH, Thaler E, Rajasekaran K. Mental health among otolaryngology resident and attending physicians during the COVID-19 pandemic: National study. Head Neck 2020; 42: 1597-1609 [PMID: 32496637 DOI: 10.1002/hed.26292]
- 31 Elbay RY, Kurtulmuş A, Arpacıoğlu S, Karadere E. Depression, anxiety, stress levels of physicians and associated factors in Covid-19 pandemics. Psychiatry Res 2020; 290: 113130 [PMID: 32497969 DOI: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113130]
- Khasne RW, Dhakulkar BS, Mahajan HC, Kulkarni AP. Burnout among Healthcare Workers during COVID-19 Pandemic 32 in India: Results of a Questionnaire-based Survey. Indian J Crit Care Med 2020; 24: 664-671 [PMID: 33024372 DOI: 10.5005/jp-journals-10071-23518]
- Ramaci T, Barattucci M, Ledda C, Rapisarda V. Social Stigma during COVID-19 and its impact on HCWs outcomes. 33 Sustainability. 2020; 12: 3834
- 34 Hong S, Ai M, Xu X, Wang W, Chen J, Zhang Q, Wang L, Kuang L. Immediate psychological impact on nurses working at 42 government-designated hospitals during COVID-19 outbreak in China: A cross-sectional study. Nurs Outlook 2021; 69: 6-12 [PMID: 32919788 DOI: 10.1016/j.outlook.2020.07.007]
- Arafa A, Mohammed Z, Mahmoud O, Elshazley M, Ewis A. Depressed, anxious, and stressed: What have healthcare workers on the frontlines in Egypt and Saudi Arabia experienced during the COVID-19 pandemic? J Affect Disord 2021; 278: 365-371 [PMID: 33007626 DOI: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.09.080]
- Babore A, Lombardi L, Viceconti ML, Pignataro S, Marino V, Crudele M, Candelori C, Bramanti SM, Trumello C. 36 Psychological effects of the COVID-2019 pandemic: Perceived stress and coping strategies among healthcare professionals. Psychiatry Res 2020; 293: 113366 [PMID: 32798932 DOI: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113366]
- Kannampallil TG, Goss CW, Evanoff BA, Strickland JR, McAlister RP, Duncan J. Exposure to COVID-19 patients 37 increases physician trainee stress and burnout. PLoS One 2020; 15: e0237301 [PMID: 32760131 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0237301
- Lai J, Ma S, Wang Y, Cai Z, Hu J, Wei N, Wu J, Du H, Chen T, Li R, Tan H, Kang L, Yao L, Huang M, Wang H, Wang 38 G, Liu Z, Hu S. Factors Associated With Mental Health Outcomes Among Health Care Workers Exposed to Coronavirus Disease 2019. JAMA Netw Open 2020; 3: e203976 [PMID: 32202646 DOI: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.3976]
- 39 Calk M, Uzun N, Aksoy N. The unit-based stress and anxiety correlation of healthcare workers during the COVID 19 outbreak. J Allergy Infect Dis 2020; 1: 25-31
- Khalafallah AM, Lam S, Gami A, Dornbos DL, Sivakumar W, Johnson JN, Mukherjee D. A national survey on the impact 40 of the COVID-19 pandemic upon burnout and career satisfaction among neurosurgery residents. J Clin Neurosci 2020; 80: 137-142 [PMID: 33099336 DOI: 10.1016/j.jocn.2020.08.012]
- Matsuo T, Kobayashi D, Taki F, Sakamoto F, Uehara Y, Mori N, Fukui T. Prevalence of Health Care Worker Burnout During the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Pandemic in Japan. JAMA Netw Open 2020; 3: e2017271 [PMID: 32749466 DOI: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.17271]
- 42 Luceño-Moreno L, Talavera-Velasco B, García-Albuerne Y, Martín-García J. Symptoms of Posttraumatic Stress, Anxiety, Depression, Levels of Resilience and Burnout in Spanish Health Personnel during the COVID-19 Pandemic. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020; 17 [PMID: 32751624 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph17155514]
- Kuo FL, Yang PH, Hsu HT, Su CY, Chen CH, Yeh IJ, Wu YH, Chen LC. Survey on perceived work stress and its influencing factors among hospital staff during the COVID-19 pandemic in Taiwan. Kaohsiung J Med Sci 2020; 36: 944-952 [PMID: 32815248 DOI: 10.1002/kjm2.12294]
- Bashirian S, Bijani M, Borzou SR, Khazaei S. Resilience, Occupational Burnout, and Parenting Stress in Nurses Caring 44 for COVID-2019 Patients. 2020 [DOI: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-60538/v1]
- Abdessater M, Rouprêt M, Misrai V, Matillon X, Gondran-Tellier B, Freton L, Vallée M, Dominique I, Felber M, Khene 45 ZE, Fortier E, Lannes F, Michiels C, Grevez T, Szabla N, Boustany J, Bardet F, Kaulanjan K, Seizilles de Mazancourt E, Ploussard G, Pinar U, Pradere B; Association Française des Urologues en Formation (AFUF). COVID19 pandemic impacts on anxiety of French urologist in training: Outcomes from a national survey. Prog Urol 2020; 30: 448-455 [PMID: 32376208 DOI: 10.1016/j.purol.2020.04.015]
- Prasad A, Civantos AM, Byrnes Y, Chorath K, Poonia S, Chang C, Graboyes EM, Bur AM, Thakkar P, Deng J, Seth R, 46 Trosman S, Wong A, Laitman BM, Shah J, Stubbs V, Long Q, Choby G, Rassekh CH, Thaler ER, Rajasekaran K. Snapshot Impact of COVID-19 on Mental Wellness in Nonphysician Otolaryngology Health Care Workers: A National Study. OTO Open 2020; 4: 2473974X20948835 [PMID: 32839747 DOI: 10.1177/2473974X20948835]
- 47 Guixia L, Hui Z. A study on burnout of nurses in the period of COVID-19. Psychol Behav Sci 2020; 9: 31-6 [DOI: 10.11648/j.pbs.20200903.12]
- Giusti EM, Pedroli E, D'Aniello GE, Stramba Badiale C, Pietrabissa G, Manna C, Stramba Badiale M, Riva G, Castelnuovo G, Molinari E. The Psychological Impact of the COVID-19 Outbreak on Health Professionals: A Cross-Sectional Study. Front Psychol 2020; 11: 1684 [PMID: 32754102 DOI: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01684]
- 49 Chew QH, Chia FL, Ng WK, Lee WCI, Tan PLL, Wong CS, Puah SH, Shelat VG, Seah ED, Huey CWT, Phua EJ, Sim K. Perceived Stress, Stigma, Traumatic Stress Levels and Coping Responses amongst Residents in Training across Multiple Specialties during COVID-19 Pandemic-A Longitudinal Study. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020; 17 [PMID: 32916996 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph17186572]
- Bhargava S, Sarkar R, Kroumpouzos G. Mental distress in dermatologists during COVID-19 pandemic: Assessment and risk factors in a global, cross-sectional study. Dermatol Ther 2020; 33: e14161 [PMID: 32770716 DOI: 10.1111/dth.14161]
- 51 Holton S, Wynter K, Trueman M, Bruce S, Sweeney S, Crowe S, Dabscheck A, Eleftheriou P, Booth S, Hitch D, Said CM,



Haines KJ, Rasmussen B. Psychological well-being of Australian hospital clinical staff during the COVID-19 pandemic. Aust Health Rev 2021; 45: 297-305 [PMID: 33032681 DOI: 10.1071/AH20203]

- 52 Chew NWS, Lee GKH, Tan BYQ, Jing M, Goh Y, Ngiam NJH, Yeo LLL, Ahmad A, Ahmed Khan F, Napolean Shanmugam G, Sharma AK, Komalkumar RN, Meenakshi PV, Shah K, Patel B, Chan BPL, Sunny S, Chandra B, Ong JJY, Paliwal PR, Wong LYH, Sagayanathan R, Chen JT, Ying Ng AY, Teoh HL, Tsivgoulis G, Ho CS, Ho RC, Sharma VK. A multinational, multicentre study on the psychological outcomes and associated physical symptoms amongst healthcare workers during COVID-19 outbreak. Brain Behav Immun 2020; 88: 559-565 [PMID: 32330593 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.04.049]
- 53 Martínez-López JÁ, Lázaro-Pérez C, Gómez-Galán J, Fernández-Martínez MDM. Psychological Impact of COVID-19 Emergency on Health Professionals: Burnout Incidence at the Most Critical Period in Spain. J Clin Med 2020; 9 [PMID: 32962258 DOI: 10.3390/jcm9093029]
- Huffman EM, Athanasiadis DI, Anton NE, Haskett LA, Doster DL, Stefanidis D, Lee NK. How resilient is your team? Am 54 J Surg 2021; 221: 277-284 [PMID: 32994041 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2020.09.005]
- Labrague LJ, De Los Santos JAA. COVID-19 anxiety among front-line nurses: Predictive role of organisational support, 55 personal resilience and social support. J Nurs Manag 2020; 28: 1653-1661 [PMID: 32770780 DOI: 10.1111/jonm.13121]
- Chen S, Bonanno GA. Psychological adjustment during the global outbreak of COVID-19: A resilience perspective. 56 Psychol Trauma 2020; 12: S51-S54 [PMID: 32538658 DOI: 10.1037/tra0000685]
- 57 Foster K, Roche M, Delgado C, Cuzzillo C, Giandinoto JA, Furness T. Resilience and mental health nursing: An integrative review of international literature. Int J Ment Health Nurs 2019; 28: 71-85 [PMID: 30294937 DOI: 10.1111/inm.12548]
- Kramer V, Papazova I, Thoma A, Kunz M, Falkai P, Schneider-Axmann T, Hierundar A, Wagner E, Hasan A. Subjective burden and perspectives of German healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 2021; 271: 271-281 [PMID: 32815019 DOI: 10.1007/s00406-020-01183-2]
- 59 Sampaio F, Sequeira C, Teixeira L. Nurses' Mental Health During the Covid-19 Outbreak: A Cross-Sectional Study. J Occup Environ Med 2020; 62: 783-787 [PMID: 32769803 DOI: 10.1097/jom.000000000001987]
- Ruiz-Fernández MD, Ramos-Pichardo JD, Ibáñez-Masero O, Cabrera-Troya J, Carmona-Rega MI, Ortega-Galán ÁM. Compassion fatigue, burnout, compassion satisfaction and perceived stress in healthcare professionals during the COVID-19 health crisis in Spain. J Clin Nurs 2020; 29: 4321-4330 [PMID: 32860287 DOI: 10.1111/jocn.15469]
- 61 Man MA, Toma C, Motoc NS, Necrelescu OL, Bondor CI, Chis AF, Lesan A, Pop CM, Todea DA, Dantes E, Puiu R, Rajnoveanu RM. Disease Perception and Coping with Emotional Distress During COVID-19 Pandemic: A Survey Among Medical Staff. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020; 17 [PMID: 32645962 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph17134899]
- Buselli R, Corsi M, Baldanzi S, Chiumiento M, Del Lupo E, Dell'Oste V, Bertelloni CA, Massimetti G, Dell'Osso L, 62 Cristaudo A, Carmassi C. Professional Quality of Life and Mental Health Outcomes among Health Care Workers Exposed to Sars-Cov-2 (Covid-19). Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020; 17 [PMID: 32858810 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph17176180]
- 63 Alshekaili M, Hassan W, Al Said N, Al Sulaimani F, Jayapal SK, Al-Mawali A, Chan MF, Mahadevan S, Al-Adawi S. Factors associated with mental health outcomes across healthcare settings in Oman during COVID-19: frontline versus nonfrontline healthcare workers. BMJ Open 2020; 10: e042030 [PMID: 33040019 DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-042030]
- Zerbini G, Ebigbo A, Reicherts P, Kunz M, Messman H. Psychosocial burden of healthcare professionals in times of 64 COVID-19 - a survey conducted at the University Hospital Augsburg. Ger Med Sci 2020; 18: Doc05 [PMID: 32595421 DOI: 10.3205/000281]
- 65 Dimitriu MCT, Pantea-Stoian A, Smaranda AC, Nica AA, Carap AC, Constantin VD, Davitoiu AM, Cirstoveanu C, Bacalbasa N, Bratu OG, Jacota-Alexe F, Badiu CD, Smarandache CG, Socea B. Burnout syndrome in Romanian medical residents in time of the COVID-19 pandemic. Med Hypotheses 2020; 144: 109972 [PMID: 32531540 DOI: 10.1016/j.mehy.2020.109972]
- Wu Y, Wang J, Luo C, Hu S, Lin X, Anderson AE, Bruera E, Yang X, Wei S, Qian Y. A Comparison of Burnout 66 Frequency Among Oncology Physicians and Nurses Working on the Frontline and Usual Wards During the COVID-19 Epidemic in Wuhan, China. J Pain Symptom Manage 2020; 60: e60-e65 [PMID: 32283221 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2020.04.008]
- 67 Chew NWS, Ngiam JN, Tan BY, Tham SM, Tan CY, Jing M, Sagayanathan R, Chen JT, Wong LYH, Ahmad A, Khan FA, Marmin M, Hassan FB, Sharon TM, Lim CH, Mohaini MIB, Danuaji R, Nguyen TH, Tsivgoulis G, Tsiodras S, Fragkou PC, Dimopoulou D, Sharma AK, Shah K, Patel B, Sharma S, Komalkumar RN, Meenakshi RV, Talati S, Teoh HL, Ho CS, Ho RC, Sharma VK. Asian-Pacific perspective on the psychological well-being of healthcare workers during the evolution of the COVID-19 pandemic. BJPsych Open 2020; 6: e116 [PMID: 33028449 DOI: 10.1192/bjo.2020.98]
- Degraeve A, Lejeune S, Muilwijk T, Poelaert F, Piraprez M, Svistakov I, Roumeguère T; European Society of Residents in 68 Urology Belgium (ESRU-B). When residents work less, they feel better: Lessons learned from an unprecedent context of lockdown. Prog Urol 2020; 30: 1060-1066 [PMID: 32917488 DOI: 10.1016/j.purol.2020.08.005]
- Karasek Jr RA. Job demands, job decision latitude, and mental strain: implications for job redesign. Adm Sci Q 1979; 24: 69 285-308 [DOI: 10.2307/2392498]
- 70 Dinibutun SR. Factors Associated with Burnout Among Physicians: An Evaluation During a Period of COVID-19 Pandemic. J Healthc Leadersh 2020; 12: 85-94 [PMID: 32982532 DOI: 10.2147/JHL.S270440]
- 71 Siegrist J. Adverse health effects of high-effort/low-reward conditions. J Occup Health Psychol 1996; 1: 27-41 [PMID: 9547031 DOI: 10.1037//1076-8998.1.1.27]
- 72 Elovainio M, Kivimäki M, Vahtera J. Organizational justice: evidence of a new psychosocial predictor of health. Am J Public Health 2002; 92: 105-108 [PMID: 11772771 DOI: 10.2105/ajph.92.1.105]
- 73 Gómez-Salgado J, Domínguez-Salas S, Romero-Martín M, Ortega-Moreno M, García-Iglesias JJ, Ruiz-Frutos C. Sense of coherence and psychological distress among healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic in Spain. Sustainability 2020; 12: 6855 [DOI: 10.3390/su12176855]
- Rodriguez RM, Medak AJ, Baumann BM, Lim S, Chinnock B, Frazier R, Cooper RJ. Academic Emergency Medicine Physicians' Anxiety Levels, Stressors, and Potential Stress Mitigation Measures During the Acceleration Phase of the



COVID-19 Pandemic. Acad Emerg Med 2020; 27: 700-707 [PMID: 32569419 DOI: 10.1111/acem.14065]

- Suleiman A, Bsisu I, Guzu H, Santarisi A, Alsatari M, Abbad A, Jaber A, Harb T, Abuhejleh A, Nadi N, Aloweidi A, 75 Almustafa M. Preparedness of Frontline Doctors in Jordan Healthcare Facilities to COVID-19 Outbreak. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020; 17 [PMID: 32370275 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph17093181]
- 76 Rodrigues H, Cobucci R, Oliveira A, Cabral JV, Medeiros L, Gurgel K, Souza T, Gonçalves AK. Burnout syndrome among medical residents: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 2018; 13: e0206840 [PMID: 30418984 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0206840
- 77 Ashkar K, Romani M, Musharrafieh U, Chaaya M. Prevalence of burnout syndrome among medical residents: experience of a developing country. Postgrad Med J 2010; 86: 266-271 [PMID: 20448222 DOI: 10.1136/pgmj.2009.092106]
- 78 Monsalve-Reyes CS, San Luis-Costas C, Gómez-Urquiza JL, Albendín-García L, Aguayo R, Cañadas-De la Fuente GA. Burnout syndrome and its prevalence in primary care nursing: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Fam Pract 2018; 19: 59 [PMID: 29747579 DOI: 10.1186/s12875-018-0748-z]
- Gómez-Urquiza JL, De la Fuente-Solana EI, Albendín-García L, Vargas-Pecino C, Ortega-Campos EM, Cañadas-De la 79 Fuente GA. Prevalence of Burnout Syndrome in Emergency Nurses: A Meta-Analysis. Crit Care Nurse 2017; 37: e1-e9 [PMID: 28966203 DOI: 10.4037/ccn2017508]
- Cañadas-De la Fuente GA, Gómez-Urquiza JL, Ortega-Campos EM, Cañadas GR, Albendín-García L, De la Fuente-Solana EI. Prevalence of burnout syndrome in oncology nursing: A meta-analytic study. Psychooncology 2018; 27: 1426-1433 [PMID: 29314432 DOI: 10.1002/pon.4632]
- 81 Zhang Q, Mu MC, He Y, Cai ZL, Li ZC. Burnout in emergency medicine physicians: A meta-analysis and systematic review. Medicine (Baltimore) 2020; 99: e21462 [PMID: 32769876 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000021462]
- 82 West CP, Dyrbye LN, Erwin PJ, Shanafelt TD. Interventions to prevent and reduce physician burnout: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet 2016; 388: 2272-2281 [PMID: 27692469 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31279-X]
- Hilton LG, Marshall NJ, Motala A, Taylor SL, Miake-Lye IM, Baxi S, Shanman RM, Solloway MR, Beroesand JM, Hempel S. Mindfulness meditation for workplace wellness: An evidence map. Work 2019; 63: 205-218 [PMID: 31156202 DOI: 10.3233/WOR-192922]
- 84 Hofmeyer A, Taylor R, Kennedy K. Fostering compassion and reducing burnout: How can health system leaders respond in the Covid-19 pandemic and beyond? Nurse Educ Today 2020; 94: 104502 [PMID: 32980180 DOI: 10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104502
- 85 Shanafelt TD, Noseworthy JH. Executive Leadership and Physician Well-being: Nine Organizational Strategies to Promote Engagement and Reduce Burnout. Mayo Clin Proc 2017; 92: 129-146 [PMID: 27871627 DOI: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2016.10.004]
- 86 Blake H, Bermingham F, Johnson G, Tabner A. Mitigating the Psychological Impact of COVID-19 on Healthcare Workers: A Digital Learning Package. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020; 17 [PMID: 32357424 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph17092997]
- 87 Geoffroy PA, Le Goanvic V, Sabbagh O, Richoux C, Weinstein A, Dufayet G, Lejoyeux M. Psychological Support System for Hospital Workers During the Covid-19 Outbreak: Rapid Design and Implementation of the Covid-Psy Hotline. Front Psychiatry 2020; 11: 511 [PMID: 32670100 DOI: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00511]



WJMA

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Meta-Anal 2022 August 28; 10(4): 220-237

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i4.220

ISSN 2308-3840 (online)

META-ANALYSIS

Outcomes of microwave versus radiofrequency ablation for hepatocellular carcinoma: A systematic review and meta-analysis

Myo Jin Tang, Guy D Eslick, John S Lubel, Ammar Majeed, Avik Majumdar, William Kemp, Stuart K Roberts

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): E

P-Reviewer: Crocé LS, Italy; Du GS, China

Received: April 24, 2022 Peer-review started: April 24, 2022 First decision: June 19, 2022 Revised: July 1, 2022 Accepted: August 10, 2022 Article in press: August 10, 2022 Published online: August 28, 2022



Myo Jin Tang, John S Lubel, Ammar Majeed, William Kemp, Stuart K Roberts, Department of Gastroenterology, Alfred Hospital, Melbourne 3004, Victoria, Australia

Myo Jin Tang, Monash Medical School, Monash University, Melbourne 3004, Victoria, Australia

Guy D Eslick, Department of Statistics, Clued Pty Ltd, Sydney 2006, New South Wales, Australia

John S Lubel, Ammar Majeed, William Kemp, Stuart K Roberts, Central Clinical School, Monash University, Melbourne 3004, Victoria, Australia

Avik Majumdar, Department of Gastroenterology, Austin Hospital, Heidelberg 3084, Victoria, Australia

Avik Majumdar, Department of Medicine, Austin Campus, University of Medicine, Melbourne 3084, Victoria, Australia

Corresponding author: Stuart K Roberts, FAASLD, AGAF, FRACP, MBBS, MD, Adjunct Professor, Department of Gastroenterology, Alfred Hospital, 99 Commercial Rd, Melbourne 3004, Victoria, Australia. s.roberts@alfred.org.au

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Studies to date comparing outcomes of microwave ablation (MWA) with radiofrequency ablation (RFA) on patients with hepatocellular carcinoma have yielded conflicting results, with no clear superiority of one technique over the other. The aim of this systematic review and meta-analysis was to compare the efficacy and safety of MWA with RFA.

AIM

To perform a systematic review and meta-analysis comparing the efficacy and safety of MWA with RFA.

METHODS

A systematic literature search was performed using Ovid Medline, Embase, PubMed, Reference Citation Analysis, Cochrane Central and Cochrane Systematic Review databases, and Web of Science. Abstracts and full manuscripts were screened for inclusion utilising predefined inclusion and exclusion criteria comparing outcomes of MWA and RFA. A random-effects model was used for



each outcome. Meta-regression analysis was performed to adjust for the difference in follow-up period between the studies. Primary outcome measures included complete ablation (CA) rate, local recurrence rate (LRR), survival [local recurrence-free survival (LRFS), overall survival (OS)] and adverse events.

RESULTS

A total of 42 published studies [34 cohort and 8 randomised controlled trials (RCT)] with 6719 patients fulfilled the selection criteria. There was no significant difference in tumour size between the treatment groups. CA rates between MWA and RFA groups were similar in prospective cohort studies [odds ratio (OR) 0.95, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.28-3.23] and RCTs (OR 1.18, 95% CI 0.64-2.18). However, retrospective studies reported higher rates with MWA (OR 1.29, 95%CI 1.06–1.57). Retrospective cohort studies reported higher OS (OR 1.54, 95% CI 1.15–2.05 and lower LRR (OR 0.67, 95% CI 0.51-0.87). No difference in terms of LRFS or 30-d mortality was observed between both arms. MWA had an increased rate of adverse respiratory events when compared to RFA (OR 1.99, 95% CI 1.07–3.71, *P* = 0.03).

CONCLUSION

MWA achieves similar CA rates and as good or better longer-term outcomes in relation to LRR and OS compared to RFA. Apart from an increased rate of respiratory events post procedure, MWA is as safe as RFA.

Key Words: Microwave ablation; Radiofrequency ablation; Hepatocellular carcinoma; Survival; Recurrence; Meta-analysis

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Studies to date comparing outcomes of microwave ablation with radiofrequency ablation have yielded conflicting results, with no clear superiority of one technique over the other. To our knowledge, this is the most comprehensive study on this topic. A large cohort of 6719 patients were examined, enabling us to identify outliers and provide results with a smaller margin of error. The primary outcomes of this study were complete ablation, local recurrence rate, overall and local recurrence free survival and safety.

Citation: Tang MJ, Eslick GD, Lubel JS, Majeed A, Majumdar A, Kemp W, Roberts SK. Outcomes of microwave versus radiofrequency ablation for hepatocellular carcinoma: A systematic review and meta-analysis. World J Meta-Anal 2022; 10(4): 220-237

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/full/v10/i4/220.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.13105/wjma.v10.i4.220

INTRODUCTION

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) now ranks worldwide as the seventh most common cancer and the second leading cause of cancer mortality [1-3] and is rapidly increasing in incidence in several developed regions including North America, Europe, and Australasia[4-6]. Furthermore, an increasing proportion of HCC patients are being diagnosed at an early stage and are eligible for curative therapy [7,8] including local ablation which is considered standard of care for those not suitable for surgery [9-11].

Of the common modalities used to ablate HCC, radiofrequency ablation (RFA) is the most strongly recommended [12]. This is based on evidence from randomised controlled trials (RCTs) [13-16] and three meta-analyses^[17-19] showing that RFA provides better local disease control and overall survival (OS) outcomes than percutaneous ethanol injection, particularly among nonsurgical candidates[20]. Recently, microwave ablation (MWA) has become a popular ablative technique because of its reduction in heatsink effect, ability to produce wider and more predictable ablation volumes that result in high complete ablation rates, and the ability to simultaneously treat multiple and/or larger lesions more effectively and over a shorter procedural time[12,21]. Studies to date comparing outcomes of MWA with RFA have yielded conflicting results, with no clear superiority of one technique over the other[22-24]. A Cochrane review reported that there were insufficient data to recommend RFA over other thermal ablation techniques in the management of HCC[25], with the authors emphasising that only a single small RCT comparing MWA with RFA, with a total of 72 patients, had been performed[23]. Subsequently, a further six RCTs have been performed with the latest meta-analysis only including five RCTs and 21 cohort



studies^[26]. In this context, additional evidence, particularly from a comprehensive meta-analysis that incorporated all RCTs, and data from large real-world observational cohort studies would provide clinicians with a better understanding of whether the comparative overall efficacy and safety of MWA over RFA supports the current preferential use of MWA for the treatment of early-stage HCC.

This study was a contemporary systematic review and meta-analysis of RCTs and cohort studies to determine whether MWA is equivalent to or more effective than RFA in relation to the primary treatment endpoints of complete ablation (CA), local recurrence rate (LRR), local recurrence-free survival (LRFS), OS, and safety including adverse events.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Literature search

The Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines[27] were followed and the Assessment of Multiple Systematic Reviews (AMSTAR) measurement tool[28] was used to perform this study. A systematic electronic search was conducted independently by two authors in the Ovid Medline, Embase, PubMed, Reference Citation Analysis, Cochrane library databases, and Web of Science was performed from the inception of each until the first week of October 2021 inclusive of the database of articles that were accepted but not yet published, as well as the clinicaltrials.gov website to identify relevant articles for our review (Supplementary Tables 1–5). The search strategy used the search terms "radiofrequency ablation", "microwave ablation" and "hepatocellular carcinoma" both as exploded medical subject headings where possible, and as text words. In addition, reference lists of relevant articles including recent reviews, and systematic reviews related to locoregional therapy of HCC were searched. Studies were limited to cohort studies and RCTs using appropriate hedges for each database. A search for unpublished literature was also performed.

Eligibility criteria

Studies were included using the following criteria: (1) Patient age \geq 18 years; (2) diagnosis of HCC by American Association for the Study of Liver Disease imaging criteria^[29] or histopathology; (3) HCC of any size; and (4) no evidence of macrovascular invasion or extrahepatic spread. Studies were excluded based on the following criteria: (1) Case series; (2) studies from the same group that contain overlapping patient populations; (3) treatment with any other modality in conjunction with local ablation therapy with microwave ablation or radiofrequency ablation; (4) non-HCC liver cancer; and (5) Studies where treatment was given as a bridge to liver transplantation.

Study outcomes

The primary outcomes of this study were CA, LRR, LRFS, OS and safety including adverse events and complications. CA was defined in studies as the absence of residual HCC on follow-up imaging postablation. LRR was defined in studies as the development of HCC lesions within the same liver segment as the treated tumour on imaging after CA. LRFS was defined as the proportion of patients alive at various timepoints in the absence of any evidence of local recurrence of HCC after treatment. Included studies had to have reported at least one of the primary endpoints as part of an RCT or observational cohort study.

Selection process

The initial literature search was performed independently by two reviewers (MJT and JL) to identify relevant articles based on the above inclusion and exclusion criteria. Where a difference of opinion occurred on the inclusion of studies for the review, consensus agreement was obtained via formal discussion between the two reviewers.

Data collection and bias assessment

Included RCTs were assessed for methodological quality and were classified as being of low, high, or unclear risk of bias according to the Jadad scale[30]. Included cohort studies were quality assessed using the Newcastle–Ottawa Scale[31] where a value \geq 7 qualified the study as high quality. Data were extracted from the selected studies independently using a data extraction form to collect data on the following: (1) Study details (first author, publication year, journal, country, study design, interventions used, intervention group size); (2) baseline participant characteristics (age, sex, and cirrhosis status); (3) tumour characteristics (tumour stage and staging system, largest nodule size, nodule number, alfafetoprotein level, mean-tumour size); (4) intervention details; and (5) outcome measures: (complete ablation, local recurrence rate, overall and local recurrence free survival, adverse events, 30-d mortality).

Statistical analysis

A random-effects model using the method of DerSimonian and Laird was used for each outcome. Metaregression analysis was performed to adjust for the difference in follow-up period between the studies.





DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i4.220 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 1 Flowchart of search strategy and article screening process.

Analysis was also performed individually for RCTs, prospective and retrospective cohort studies. Heterogeneity was assessed using the l^2 statistic with results of 30%–60% (moderate), and > 50% (high) levels of heterogeneity[32]. Outcomes were reported using a pooled odds ratio (OR) and hazard ratio (HR) with 95% confidence interval (CI). We assessed publication bias using the Egger's regression model only if there were > 10 studies. All analyses were performed with Comprehensive Meta-analysis (version 3.0), Biostat, Englewood, NJ (2014). The statistical methods of this study were reviewed by academic statistician Guy Eslick from Clued Ptd Ltd.

RESULTS

Study selection and characteristics of included studies

As shown in Figure 1, the search strategy utilised for this meta-analysis identified 2758 studies initially. After removing duplicates and excluding studies based on our inclusion and exclusion criteria, 170 studies were assessed for eligibility from which a total of 42 studies, eight RCTs[22,23,33-38] and 34 cohort studies[33,39-71] were finally included in the meta-analysis. The main characteristics of included studies are reported in Table 1. The sample size of included studies (eight RCTs and 34 cohort studies) ranged from 42 to 879, with males forming the majority. In total, we examined a cohort of 6719 patients. A total of 24 studies were conducted in Asia, nine in Europe, five in Egypt, two in the USA, and one each in Australia and Turkey. Study follow-up duration ranged from 3 to 126 mo and was performed through the utilisation of computed tomography or magnetic resonance imaging. Across all studies, the mean age reported was 61 years. Most studies recruited patients with Child-Pugh stage A and B liver disease with only one RCT and nine cohort studies recruiting stage C patients. Notably, all 42 studies were comparable with regards to clinical and tumoral parameters. Maximum nodule sized ranged from 9 to 55 mm in RCTs and 8 to 60 mm in cohort studies. In total, six RCTs and 18 cohort studies reported mean tumour size. There was no significant difference in tumour size treated with MWA compared to



Table 1 Summary of patient characteristics of included randomised controlled trials and cohort studies

Ref.	Design	Country	Year	Arms	NP	Age/yr	% males	NL	Tumour size, mean or median (range or SD)/mm	CPC (A/B/C)	F/U Duration/mo
Abdelaziz <i>et al</i> [72], 2014	RCT	Egypt	2009- 2011	MWA	66	53.6 (48.6- 58.6)	72.7	76	29 (19.3-38.7)	25/41/0	NR
				RFA	45	56.8 (49.5- 64.1)	68.9	52	29.5 (19.2-39.8)	24/21/0	
Chong <i>et al</i> [<mark>34</mark>], 2020	RCT	Hong Kong	2011- 2017	MWA	47	63 (50–80)	63.8	NR	31 (20-45)	39/7/1	38.3 (2.3-78.0)
				RFA	46	64.5 (42–5)	82.6		28 (20-55)	40/6/0	33.9 (4.9-72.7)
Kamal <i>et al</i> [<mark>35</mark>], 2019	RCT	Egypt	2017	MWA	28	55 (42-80)	75	34	32.5 (23.3-41.7)	22/6/0	12
				RFA	28	55 (42-80)	78.6	34	32.8 (23.7-41.9)	22/6/0	12
Qian <i>et al</i> [<mark>36</mark>], 2012	RCT	China	2009- 2010	MWA	22	52 (43-75)	90.9	22	21 (17-25)	22/0/0	5.1 ± 1.3 (2.8- 6.5)
				RFA	20	56 (43–76)	95	20	20 (15-25)	20/0/0	5.1 ± 1.3 (2.8- 6.5)
Shibata <i>et al</i> [23], 2002	RCT	Japan	1999- 2000	MWA	36	62.5 (52–74)	66.7	46	22 (9-34)	19/17/0	18 (6-27)
				RFA	36	63.6 (44–83)	72.7	48	23 (10-37)	21/15/0	18 (6-27)
Tian <i>et al</i> [<mark>37</mark>], 2014	RCT	China	2014	MWA	120	NR	NR	86	26 (13-39)	NR	NR
				RFA				79	22 (13-31)		
Vietti <i>et al</i> [<mark>38</mark>], 2018	RCT	France & Switzerland	2011- 2015	MWA	76	NR	NR	98	NR	NR	26 (18-29)
				RFA	76			104			25 (18-34)
Yu et al[22], 2017	RCT	China	2008- 2015	MWA	203	NR	NR	265	27 (7- 50)	NR	35.2 (2.0-81.9)
				RFA	200			251	26 (9-50)		35.2 (2.0-81.9)
Abdel-Samiee <i>et al</i> [33], 2020	Retro	Egypt	2020	MWA	50	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	36
				RFA	50						36
Bouda et al[<mark>39</mark>], 2020	Retro	France	2008- 2016	MWA	79	62.8 (52.4- 73.2)	81	99	21.3 (13-29.6)	71/8/0	34 (3-65)
				RFA	43	62.2 (50.3- 74.1)	76.7	52	23.0 (14.9-31.1)	39/4/0	40 (5-126)
Chinnaratha <i>et al</i> [<mark>40]</mark> , 2014	Retro	Australia	2006- 2012	MWA	101	62.1 (51.7- 72.5)	98	NR	21.1 (10.9-31.3)	92/23/2	36
				RFA	25	62.1 (51.7- 72.5)	98		21.1 (10.9-31.3)		36
Cillo <i>et al</i> [41], 2014	Pros/Retro	Italy	2004- 2010	MWA	42	64 (47–81)	83	50	NR		24
				RFA	100	63 (34-81)	83	NR			24
Ciruolo <i>et al</i> [42], 2020	Retro	Italy	2013- 2019	MWA	NR	64	71.7	78	NR	NR	NR
				RFA				172			



Tang MJ et al. Microwave versus radiofrequency ablation for HCC

Ding et al[43].											
2013	Retro	China	2006- 2010	MWA	113	59.06 (30–86)	75.2	131	25.5 (8-50)	75/38/0	18.3 (3-51.4)
				RFA	85	58.64 (40–77)	80	98	23.8 (10-48)	49/36/0	27.7 (4-60)
Du et al[44], 2020	Retro	China	2014- 2016	MWA	218	56.3 (46.3- 66.3)	80	136	24 (13-35)	107/8/0	28 (15-51)
				RFA	234	57.5 (48- 67)	76.5	137	26 (15-37)	105/10/0	
Gaia <i>et al</i> [<mark>45</mark>], 2021	Retro	Italy	2013- 2019	MWA	81	67 (57–73)	76.5	77	29 (20–35)	71/10/0	20.4 (10.8-38.4)
				RFA	170	63 (56–72)	69.4	169	20 (15–25)	148/22/0	34.8 (19.2–51.6)
Ghweil <i>et al</i> [<mark>46</mark>], 2019	Pros	Egypt	2019	MWA	25	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
				RFA	30						
Iida et al[47], 2013	Retro	Japan	2001- 2012	MWA	40	70.1 (63.5- 76.7)	NR	NR	20 (11-29)	NR	NR
				RFA	18	73.5 (69.5- 77.5)			21 (16-26)		
Ding <i>et al</i> [48], 2013	Retro	China	2002- 2011	MWA	556	58.4 (48.1- 68.7)	74.8	1090	23 (12-34)	466/167/22	(6-75)
				RFA	323	58 (47.8- 68.3)	79.8	562	22.8 (11.7-33.9)	248/106/22	(6-75)
Kuang et al[49], 2011	Pros	China	1997- 2008	MWA	19	55 (27-74)	94	NR	NR	77/4/0	45 (24-155)
				DEA	21						
				КГА	51						
Kumbar et al[50], 2018	Retro	India	2018	MWA	25	(40-85)	92	33	NR	13/8/4	15
Kumbar et al <mark>[50]</mark> , 2018	Retro	India	2018	NFA MWA RFA	25 25	(40-85)	92 88	33 35	NR	13/8/4 17/8/0	15
Kumbar et al[50], 2018 Lee et al[51], 2017	Retro	India Hong Kong	2018 2003- 2011	NFA MWA RFA MWA	25 25 26	(40-85) 62.5 (49- 79)	92 88 73.1	33 35 28	NR 37.5 (20-60)	13/8/4 17/8/0 23/3/0	15 47.5 (11.3-62.5)
Kumbar et al[50], 2018 Lee et al[51], 2017	Retro Retro	India Hong Kong	2018 2003- 2011	RFA MWA RFA RFA	 25 25 26 47 	(40-85) 62.5 (49- 79) 58 (43-77)	92 88 73.1 85.1	33352852	NR 37.5 (20-60) 31 (20-60)	13/8/4 17/8/0 23/3/0 42/5/0	15 47.5 (11.3-62.5) 52.9 (3.6-121.8)
Kumbar et al[50], 2018 Lee et al[51], 2017 Liu et al[52], 2018	Retro Retro Retro	India Hong Kong China	2018 2003- 2011 2002- 2017	NFA MWA RFA MWA RFA MWA	 25 25 26 47 126 	(40-85) 62.5 (49- 79) 58 (43-77) 54 (45, 60)	92 88 73.1 85.1 90.5	 33 35 28 52 162 	NR 37.5 (20-60) 31 (20-60) 22.5 (17, 29)	13/8/4 17/8/0 23/3/0 42/5/0 NR	15 47.5 (11.3-62.5) 52.9 (3.6-121.8) 36.8 (1-115)
Kumbar et al[50], 2018 Lee et al[51], 2017 Liu et al[52], 2018	Retro Retro Retro	India Hong Kong China	2018 2003- 2011 2002- 2017	RFA MWA RFA MWA RFA RFA	 31 25 25 26 47 126 436 	(40-85) 62.5 (49- 79) 58 (43-77) 54 (45, 60) 56 (46, 65)	92 88 73.1 85.1 90.5 89.7	 33 35 28 52 162 482 	NR 37.5 (20-60) 31 (20-60) 22.5 (17, 29) 23.0 (18, 30)	13/8/4 17/8/0 23/3/0 42/5/0 NR	15 47.5 (11.3-62.5) 52.9 (3.6-121.8) 36.8 (1-115) 34.1 (1-171)
Kumbar et al[50], 2018 Lee et al[51], 2017 Liu et al[52], 2018	Retro Retro Retro	India Hong Kong China France & Switzerland	2018 2003- 2011 2002- 2017 2007- 2015	RFA MWA RFA MWA RFA MWA	25 25 26 47 126 436 NR	(40-85) 62.5 (49- 79) 58 (43-77) 54 (45, 60) 56 (46, 65) 69 (61-75)	92 88 73.1 85.1 90.5 89.7 92.5	 33 35 28 52 162 482 40 	NR 37.5 (20-60) 31 (20-60) 22.5 (17, 29) 23.0 (18, 30) 22.5 (10-47)	13/8/4 17/8/0 23/3/0 42/5/0 NR 40/0/0	15 47.5 (11.3-62.5) 52.9 (3.6-121.8) 36.8 (1-115) 34.1 (1-171) 28 (10-46)
Kumbar et al[50], 2018 Lee et al[51], 2017 Liu et al[52], 2018 Loriaud et al[53], 2018	Retro Retro Retro	India Hong Kong China France & Switzerland	2018 2003- 2011 2002- 2017 2007- 2015	RFA MWA RFA MWA RFA MWA RFA	25 25 26 47 126 436 NR	(40-85) 62.5 (49- 79) 58 (43-77) 54 (45, 60) 56 (46, 65) 66 (61-75) 67 (58-74)	92 88 73.1 85.1 90.5 89.7 92.5 85.8	 33 35 28 52 162 482 40 120 	NR 37.5 (20-60) 31 (20-60) 22.5 (17, 29) 23.0 (18, 30) 22.5 (10-47) 21.3 (10-46)	13/8/4 17/8/0 23/3/0 42/5/0 NR 40/0/0 111/9/0	15 47.5 (11.3-62.5) 52.9 (3.6-121.8) 36.8 (1-115) 34.1 (1-171) 28 (10-46)
Kumbar et al[50], 2018 Lee et al[51], 2017 Liu et al[52], 2018 Loriaud et al[53], 2018 Lu et al[54], 2005	Retro Retro Retro Retro	India Hong Kong China France & Switzerland China	2018 2003- 2011 2002- 2017 2007- 2015 1997- 2002	RFA MWA RFA MWA RFA MWA RFA MWA	25 25 26 47 126 436 NR 49	(40-85) 62.5 (49- 79) 58 (43-77) 54 (45, 60) 56 (46, 65) 69 (61-75) 67 (58-74) 50.1 (24-74)	92 88 73.1 85.1 90.5 89.7 92.5 85.8 89.8	 33 35 28 52 162 482 40 120 98 	NR 37.5 (20-60) 31 (20-60) 22.5 (17, 29) 23.0 (18, 30) 22.5 (10-47) 21.3 (10-46) 25 (9-72)	13/8/4 17/8/0 23/3/0 42/5/0 NR 40/0/0 111/9/0 22/27/0	15 47.5 (11.3-62.5) 52.9 (3.6-121.8) 36.8 (1-115) 34.1 (1-171) 28 (10-46) 25.1 (2.0-50.6)
Kumbar et al[50], 2018 Lee et al[51], 2017 Liu et al[52], 2018 Loriaud et al[53], 2018 Lu et al[54], 2005	Retro Retro Retro Retro	India Hong Kong China France & Switzerland China	2018 2003- 2011 2002- 2017 2007- 2015 1997- 2002	RFA MWA RFA MWA RFA MWA RFA MWA RFA	25 25 26 47 126 436 NR 49 53	(40-85) 62.5 (49- 79) 58 (43-77) 54 (45, 60) 56 (46, 65) 67 (58-74) 50.1 (24-74) 5(20-74)	92 88 73.1 85.1 90.5 89.7 92.5 85.8 89.8 81.1	 33 35 28 52 162 482 40 120 98 72 	NR 37.5 (20-60) 31 (20-60) 22.5 (17, 29) 23.0 (18, 30) 22.5 (10-47) 21.3 (10-46) 25 (9-72) 26 (10-61)	13/8/4 17/8/0 23/3/0 42/5/0 NR 40/0/0 111/9/0 22/27/0 47/6/0	15 47.5 (11.3-62.5) 52.9 (3.6-121.8) 36.8 (1-115) 34.1 (1-171) 28 (10-46) 25.1 (2.0-50.6) 24.8 (2.0-51.0)
Kumbar et al[50], 2018 Lee et al[51], 2017 Liu et al[52], 2018 Loriaud et al[53], 2018 Lu et al[54], 2005 Mocan et al[55], 2017	Retro Retro Retro Retro	India Hong Kong China France & Switzerland China	2018 2003- 2011 2002- 2017 2017- 2007- 2015 2002 2010- 2010- 2010-	RFA MWA RFA MWA RFA MWA RFA MWA	25 26 47 126 436 NR 49 53 NR	(40-85) 62.5 (49- 79) 58 (43-77) 54 (45, 60) 56 (46, 65) 67 (58-74) 50.1 (24-74) 54.5 (20-74) NR	92 88 73.1 85.1 90.5 89.7 92.5 85.8 89.8 81.1 NR	 33 35 28 52 162 482 40 120 98 72 22 	NR 37.5 (20-60) 31 (20-60) 22.5 (17, 29) 23.0 (18, 30) 22.5 (10-47) 21.3 (10-46) 25 (9-72) 26 (10-61) NR	13/8/4 17/8/0 23/3/0 42/5/0 NR 40/0/0 111/9/0 22/27/0 47/6/0 NR	15 47.5 (11.3-62.5) 52.9 (3.6-121.8) 36.8 (1-115) 34.1 (1-171) 28 (10-46) 25.1 (2.0-50.6) 24.8 (2.0-51.0) 12 (5.6-18.4)
Kumbar et al[50], 2018 Lee et al[51], 2017 Liu et al[52], 2018 Loriaud et al[53], 2018 Lu et al[54], 2005 Mocan et al[55], 2017	Retro Retro Retro Retro	India Hong Kong China France & Switzerland China Romania	2018 2003- 2011 2002- 2017 2007- 2015 1997- 2002 2010- 2010- 2016	RFA MWA RFA MWA RFA MWA RFA MWA RFA	25 26 47 126 436 NR 49 53 NR	(40-85) 62.5 (49- 79) 58 (43-77) 54 (45, 60) 56 (46, 65) 67 (58-74) 50.1 (24-74) 54.5 (20-74) NR	92 88 73.1 85.1 90.5 89.7 92.5 85.8 89.8 81.1 NR	 33 35 28 52 162 482 40 120 98 72 22 79 	NR 37.5 (20-60) 31 (20-60) 22.5 (17, 29) 23.0 (18, 30) 22.5 (10-47) 21.3 (10-46) 25 (9-72) 26 (10-61) NR	13/8/4 17/8/0 23/3/0 42/5/0 NR 40/0/0 1111/9/0 22/27/0 47/6/0 NR	15 47.5 (11.3-62.5) 52.9 (3.6-121.8) 36.8 (1-115) 34.1 (1-171) 28 (10-46) 28 (10-46) 24.8 (2.0-51.0) 12 (5.6-18.4) 22.8 (7.8-37.4)
 Kumbar et al[50], 2018 Lee et al[51], 2017 Liu et al[52], 2018 Loriaud et al[53], 2018 Lu et al[54], 2005 Mocan et al[55], 2017 Nocerino et al [56], 2016 	Retro Retro Retro Retro Retro	India Hong Kong China France & Switzerland China China Italy	2018 2003- 2011 2002- 2017 2017- 2015 2002 2010- 2010- 2016 2016	RFA MWA RFA MWA RFA MWA RFA MWA RFA MWA	25 26 47 126 436 NR 49 53 NR 106	(40-85) 62.5 (49- 79) 58 (43-77) 54 (45, 60) 66 (46, 65) 67 (58-74) 50.1 (24-74) 54.5 (20-74) NR NR	92 88 73.1 85.1 90.5 89.7 92.5 85.8 89.8 81.1 NR NR	 33 35 28 52 162 482 40 120 98 72 22 79 134 	NR 37.5 (20-60) 31 (20-60) 22.5 (17, 29) 23.0 (18, 30) 22.5 (10-47) 21.3 (10-46) 25 (9-72) 26 (10-61) NR 20.4 (11-37)	13/8/4 17/8/0 23/3/0 42/5/0 NR 40/0/0 111/9/0 22/27/0 47/6/0 NR	15 47.5 (11.3-62.5) 52.9 (3.6-121.8) 36.8 (1-115) 34.1 (1-171) 28 (10-46) 28 (10-46) 24.8 (2.0-51.0) 24.8 (2.0-51.0) 12 (5.6-18.4) 22.8 (7.8-37.4) 12 (5.6-18.4)
Kumbar et al[50], 2018 Lee et al[51], 2017 Liu et al[52], 2018 Loriaud et al[53], 2018 Lu et al[54], 2005 Mocan et al[55], 2017 Nocerino et al [56], 2016	Retro Retro Retro Retro Retro	India Hong Kong China France & Switzerland China Romania	2018 2003- 2011 2002- 2017 2007- 2015 1997- 2002 2010- 2016 2016	RFA MWA RFA MWA RFA MWA RFA MWA RFA MWA RFA	25 26 47 126 436 NR 49 53 NR 106 227	(40-85) 62.5 (49- 79) 58 (43-77) 54 (45, 60) 56 (46, 65) 67 (58-74) 50.1 (24-74) 54.5 (20-74) NR NR	92 88 73.1 85.1 90.5 89.7 92.5 85.8 89.8 81.1 NR NR	 33 35 28 52 162 482 40 120 98 72 22 79 134 35 	NR 37.5 (20-60) 31 (20-60) 22.5 (17, 29) 23.0 (18, 30) 22.5 (10-47) 21.3 (10-46) 25 (9-72) 26 (10-61) NR 20.4 (11-37) 20.1 (7-34)	13/8/4 17/8/0 23/3/0 42/5/0 NR 40/0/0 111/9/0 22/27/0 47/6/0 NR	15 47.5 (11.3-62.5) 52.9 (3.6-121.8) 36.8 (1-115) 34.1 (1-171) 28 (10-46) 28 (10-46) 24.8 (2.0-51.0) 12 (5.6-18.4) 12 (5.6-18.4) 12 (5.6-18.4)

Baishideng® WJMA | https://www.wjgnet.com

August 28, 2022 Volume 10 Issue 4

Tang MJ et al. Microwave versus radiofrequency ablation for HCC

				RFA	34	67 (44–78)	73.5	37	16 (7–20)	20/11/3	25.9 (14.6-37.2)
Potretzke <i>et al</i> [58], 2016	Retro	US	2001- 2013	MWA	99	61 (44-82)	81.8	136	22 (20-23)	NR	24
				RFA	55	62 (23–88)	72.7	69	24 (22-26)		31
Sakaguchi <i>et al</i> [59], 2009	Pros	Japan	2009	MWA	142	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
				RFA	249						
Santambrogio <i>et al</i> [60], 2017	Retro	Italy	2009- 2015	MWA	60	70 (61.7- 78.3)	72	NR	21.5 (16.2-26.8)	60/0/0	31 (15-46)
				RFA	94	69 (60-78)	73		19.2 (14.2-24.2)	94/0/0	
Sever <i>et al</i> [<mark>61</mark>], 2018	Retro	Turkey	2012- 2015	MWA	20	63.6 (57.3- 69.9)	65	37	28 (18-38)	14/4/2	12 (1-40)
				RFA	20	64.3 (55.3- 73.3)	70	34	24 (13-35)	11/4/5	
Shum <i>et al</i> [<mark>62</mark>], 2016	Retro	Hong Kong	2014- 2015	MWA	22	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	19
				RFA	44						18
Simo <i>et al</i> [<mark>63</mark>], 2011	Retro	US	2006- 2008	MWA	13	59.6 (49–72)	54	15	23.1 (14–39)	12/7/3	7 (2.5–10.5)
				RFA	22	58 (45–79)	86	27	25.3 (12-44)	7/6/0	19 (1.5–31)
Suwa et al[<mark>64</mark>], 2021	Retro	Japan	2014- 2020	MWA	72	74.9 (66.5- 83.3)	65.3	NR	17.7 (10.9-24.5)	58/14/0	12
				RFA	72	74.4 (65.2- 83.6)	68.1	NR	17.6 (11.3-23.9)	61/11/0	37.8
Suwa et al[<mark>65</mark>], 2020	Retro	Japan	2016- 2019	MWA	44	73.4 (65.7- 81.1)	68	52	17.2 (12.3-22.1)	12/3/29	NR
				RFA	55	73.4 (65.7- 81.1)	80	70	17.7 (11.3-24.1)	16/8/31	
Vogl <i>et al</i> [66], 2015	Retro	Egypt	2008- 2010	MWA	28	60 (45-68)	82.1	32	36 (9-50)	NR	NR
				RFA	25	57 (40-64)	76	36	32 (8-45)		
Xu et al[67], 2004	Retro	China	1997- 2001	MWA	54	53.4 (24–74)	86.6	112	25 (15-36)	53/33/11	27.4 (2–53)
				RFA	43			78	26 (12-40)		
Xu et al <mark>[68</mark>], 2017	Retro	China	2007- 2012	MWA	301	54.2 (43.2- 65.2)	78.1	NR	17 (14-20)	278/23/0	53 (8-98)
				RFA	159	54.0 (43- 65)	83		17 (14-20)	140/19/0	62 (6-102)
Yin <i>et al</i> [69], 2009	Retro	China	1997- 2007	MWA	49	53 (41-65)	87.2	NR	39 (31-47)	NR	22 (2.2-93.5)
				RFA	59						
Zhang <i>et al</i> [70], 2013	Retro	China	2006	MWA	77	54 (26-76)	70.2	105	NR	77/0/0	24.5 (6-64)
				RFA	78	54 (30–80)	82.1	93		78/0/0	26.3 (7-65.6)
Zhang <i>et al</i> [71] , 2014	Pros	China	2014	MWA	45	NR	NR	60	NR	NR	NR



RFA	56	68

CPC: Child Pugh Score; MWA: Microwave ablation; NP: Number of patients; NL: Number of lesions, NR: Not reported; RFA: Radiofrequency ablation.

RFA in both RCTs (OR 1.13, 95%CI 0.88–1.46) and cohort studies (OR 0.96, 95%CI 0.77–1.20) (Supplementary Figure 1). Furthermore, there was no significant difference in mean tumour size amongst RCTs (OR 0.05, 95%CI -0.07 to 0.18; P = 0.395) and cohort studies (OR -0.01, 95%CI -0.09 to 0.07; P = 0.777) (Supplementary Figure 2). The total number of lesions treated per study with MWA and RFA ranged from 15 to 1090 and 20 to 562, respectively.

Quality assessment

Seven of the eight RCTs assessed were deemed to be high quality with one study[22] deemed to be of low quality (Supplementary Table 6). All RCTs were determined to be at high risk of performance bias as it was not practical to blind the administrator to the procedure. However, four RCTs[23,34,37,38] were able to blind the outcome of assessment. Potential for selection and detection bias was identified in four RCTs[22,35,36,72]. Of the 34 cohort studies identified, 30 scored a value of 7 or higher, meeting the definition of a high-quality study (Supplementary Table 7).

CA

Seven RCTs[22,23,34-37,72] and 24 cohort studies[39,42-46,48-51,54,55,60-71] reported data on CA posttreatment. No significant difference in the CA rate was found between the MWA and RFA groups in the prospective cohort studies (OR 0.95, 95%CI 0.28–3.23; P = 0.82)[41,46,49,59,71] and RCTs (OR 1.18, 95%CI 0.64–2.18; P = 0.60)[22,23,34-37,72]. However, retrospective cohort studies reported higher CA rates with MWA compared to RFA (OR 1.29, 95%CI 1.06–1.57; P = 0.01) (Figure 2A)[39,42-45,48,50,51,54, 55,60-70]. No evidence of heterogeneity was found in these studies (P = 0.99). Funnel plot analysis concluded that publication bias was unlikely (Figure 2B).

OS

Five RCTs[22,34,35,38,72] and 17 cohort studies[33,41,43,47,51,52,54,57,59-63,66,68,70,71] reported data on OS post-ablation (Table 2). Heterogeneity was identified in the results reported at 3 and 4 years by retrospective cohort studies (Table 2)[33,43,51,52,54,57,66,68,70]. In studies that categorised data into OS into specific years, no significant difference in OS was noted between MWA and RFA groups. Meta-analysis of four retrospective studies that did not specify the follow-up period[52,54,59,63] reported significantly higher OS in patients treated with MWA. No potential bias was identified during visual assessment and Egger's test of funnel plot.

Individual study OS rates were plotted on a dot graph for both MWA and RFA treated subjects (Figure 3) with median OS rates according to year of follow-up post-treatment shown in Table 3. Of note, MWA was associated with improved median OS at 3 and 4 years of follow-up but this difference was lost at 5 years.

LRR

Six RCTs[22,23,35,36,38,72] and 26 cohort studies[39-41,43,44,46,47,49,51-58,60,61,63-70] reported data regarding LRR following ablation (Table 2). One RCT[22] reported lower 5-year LRR when patients were treated with MWA (OR 0.52, 95%CI 0.30–0.91; P = 0.023). Heterogeneity was identified in the results reported at 1, 2 and 3 years by retrospective cohort studies while meta-analysis of two retrospective cohort studies[53,57] reported a higher 4-year LRR in patients treated with MWA (OR 2.14, 95%CI 1.12–4.07, P = 0.021) (Table 2). However, meta-analysis of 20 retrospective cohort studies that reported LRR over an unspecified period[39-41,43,44,46,52-54,56-58,60,63,65-70] concluded that LRR was significantly lower in patients treated with MWA (OR 0.67, 95%CI 0.51–0.87, P = 0.002). Three cohort studies reported LRR according to tumour size $\leq 3 \text{ cm}[43,52,54]$ with no statistically significant differences identified between the MWA and RFA groups (OR 0.86, 95%CI 0.45–1.64, P = 0.64). No potential bias was identified during visual assessment and Egger's test of funnel plot.

HR for OS and LRR

Four RCTs[22,34,38,72] and 18 cohort studies[39,41,43-45,51-53,57-61,64,66,68,70] reported HR data regarding OS (Table 4). No significant differences were noted in OS between both arms. However, there was a trend towards better OS rates in patients treated with MWA in both RCTs (P = 0.08) and prospective cohort studies (P = 0.08) over an unspecified period (Table 4). Five retrospective cohort studies reported HR data regarding LRR[39,53,58,61,64]. No significant differences were noted in LRR between both arms. No potential bias was identified during visual assessment and Egger's test of funnel plot.

Zaishidene® WJMA | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 2 Summary of the comparison of OS and local recurrence rates between microwave ablation versus radiofrequency ablation for
intrahepatic hepatocellular lesions in both cohort studies and RCTs according to year of follow-up

Endpoint	Study design	No. of studies	OR	95%CI	P for significance	f	P for heterogeneity
Overall survival -	OR						
1Y	Prospective	1	3.00	0.33-27.48	0.331	-	-
	Retrospective	11	1.19	0.71-1.99	0.513	0	0.72
	RCT	4	1.95	0.71-5.34	0.194	35.5	0.20
2Y	Retrospective	7	1.27	0.75-2.18	0.377	36.6	0.15
	RCT	1	1.84	0.54-6.28	0.333	-	-
3Y	Prospective	1	1.69	0.59-4.81	0.328	-	-
	Retrospective	9	1.14	0.75-1.73	0.554	58.1	0.01
	RCT	2	0.98	0.62-1.54	0.929	0	0.62
4Y	Retrospective	5	0.77	0.46-1.29	0.323	60.8	0.04
5Y	Prospective	2	1.49	0.31-7.22	0.620	71.2	0.06
	Retrospective	5	0.86	0.62-1.19	0.357	34.8	0.19
	RCT	2	0.79	0.50-1.15	0.197	0	0.76
Unspecified	Retrospective	4	1.54	1.15-2.05	0.004	0	0.50
	RCT	2	1.47	0.73-2.96	0.282	0	0.50
Local recurrence ra	te – OR						
1Y	Retrospective	4	0.78	0.29-2.11	0.619	62.8	0.04
	RCT	3	1.09	0.39-3.05	0.872	0	0.40
2Y	Retrospective	4	1.00	0.40-2.45	0.992	76.2	0.06
	RCT	2	1.02	0.23-4.58	0.975	70.4	0.07
3Y	Retrospective	2	0.80	0.11-5.97	0.826	84.8	0.01
	RCT	1	0.73	0.30-1.8	0.493	-	-
4Y	Retrospective	2	2.14	1.12-4.07	0.021	0	0.86
5Y	Prospective	1	2.22	0.49-10.02	0.301	-	-
	RCT	1	0.52	0.30-0.91	0.023	-	-
Unspecified	Prospective	3	0.60	0.25-1.39	0.233	0	0.44
	Retrospective	20	0.67	0.51-0.87	0.002	37.2	0.05
		1	0.26	0.06-1.07	0.063	-	-

OS: Overall survival; OR: Odds ratio; CI: Confidence interval; RCT: Randomised controlled trial.

LRFS

One RCT[35] reported that there was no significant difference between MWA and RFA with regards to 1-year LRFS (OR 1.175, 95% CI 0.178–7.737, P = 0.93). One cohort study[63] reported that there was no significant difference between MWA and RFA with regards to LRFS (OR 0.53, 95% CI 0.148–1.86).

Safety

Three RCTs[34,35,38] and 14 cohort studies[33,39,47,48,51,58,60,62-64,67-70] reported data regarding 30d mortality (Figure 4). No significant differences were identified between the MWA and RFA groups in both RCTs (OR 1.00, 95%CI 0.19–5.14, P = 1.0) and cohort studies (OR 0.67, 95%CI 0.27–1.68, P = 0.39). There was no heterogeneity identified between studies. A sensitivity analysis excluding studies that reported no deaths in both arms was performed (Figure 4), but results remained consistent with the main analysis (OR 0.61, 95%CI 0.25–1.51, P = 0.29). No potential bias was identified during visual assessment and Egger's test of funnel plot. Table 3 Summary of the comparison of median and mean overall survival rates between microwave ablation versus radiofrequency ablation for intrahepatic hepatocellular carcinoma lesions in both cohort studies and randomised controlled trials

Veer			Median OS	P value	
rear	www sample size	RFA sample size	MWA	RFA	
1	1135	1623	96.2%	95.4%	0.31
2	651	789	90.7%	88.0%	0.10
3	1004	1480	80.5%	75.3%	0.002
4	421	464	76.8%	70.0%	0.02
5	764	1221	67.3%	69.5%	0.30

OS: Overall survival; MWA: Microwave ablation; RFA: Radiofrequency ablation.

Table 4 Summary of	overall survival and	d local recurrence ra	te HRs				
Endpoint	Study design	No. of studies	HR	95%CI	P for significance	P	P for heterogeneity
Overall survival - HR							
Univariate	Retrospective	2	1.17	0.75-1.83	0.497	17.5	0.27
Multivariate	Retrospective	3	1.32	0.92-1.89	0.130	0.8	0.36
Unspecified	Prospective	1	1.45	0.96-2.19	0.078	-	-
	Retrospective	13	1.06	0.86-1.32	0.580	58.6	0.004
	RCT	4	1.34	0.97-1.86	0.079	0	0.58
Local recurrence rate -	HR						
Univariate	Retrospective	3	1.77	0.81-3.88	0.151	63.9	0.06
Multivariate	Retrospective	2	1.88	0.79-4.47	0.151	56.1	0.13
Cox proportional	Retrospective	1	2.17	1.04-4.50	0.040	-	-
Fine and gray	Retrospective	1	2.07	0.95-4.26	0.070	-	-
Unspecified	Retrospective	1	2.00	0.50-8.00	0.326	-	-

HR: Hazard ratio; CI: Confidence interval; RCT: Randomised controlled trial.

Table 5 Microwave ablation versus radiofrequency ablation for hepatocellular lesions: Meta-analysis of adverse events						
Adverse event	No. of studies	OR	95%CI	<i>P</i> for significance <i>P</i> ²		P for heterogeneity
Liver-related morbidity	11	1.51	0.64-3.55	0.342	0	0.91
Postprocedural infections	19	1.3	0.85-1.97	0.222	0	0.83
Postprocedural bleeding	10	2.36	0.92-6.07	0.075	0	0.97
Bile duct injury	5	1.88	0.57-6.23	0.299	0	0.99
Respiratory events	14	1.99	1.07-3.71	0.03	0	0.87
Local events	4	1.62	0.49-5.36	0.426	0	0.57

Liver related morbidity: Decompensation, jaundice, infarction, and portal vein thrombosis; Post-procedural infections: General, peritonitis, and liver abscess. Local events: Burns, pain, and wound complication; Respiratory events: Pleural effusion and pneumothorax. OR: Odds ratio; CI: Confidence interval.

> With regard to morbidity, five RCTs[23,35,36,38,72] and 20 cohort studies[33,39,43,44,47-49,51,52,54, 57,58,60,61,63-66,68,70] reported data on adverse events (Table 5). There were no significant differences in rates of liver-related morbidity, postprocedural bleeding and infections, local events, and bile duct injury when comparing the two interventions. MWA had a significantly increased rate of adverse



Tang MJ et al. Microwave versus radiofrequency ablation for HCC





Figure 2 Forest plot and funnel plot. A: Microwave ablation versus radiofrequency ablation for intrahepatic hepatocellular carcinoma lesions. Forest plot for complete ablation; B: Microwave ablation versus radiofrequency ablation for intrahepatic hepatocellular carcinoma lesions: Funnel plot for publication bias.

respiratory events when compared to RFA (OR 1.99, 95%CI 1.07–3.71, P = 0.03). No potential bias was identified during visual assessment and Egger's test of funnel plot.

DISCUSSION

Local thermal ablation is the standard of care for patients with unresectable early-stage HCC. MWA is increasingly preferred to RFA because of its ability to produce wider and more predictable ablation volumes over a shorter procedural time[17,19,22]. Moreover, MWA has theoretical advantages including minimising heat-sink effect that limits the use of RFA to lesions with proximity to adjacent structures. To our knowledge, our study is the most detailed systematic review and meta-analysis to date having identified 42 studies including eight RCT's and 34 cohort studies involving a total of 6719 subjects, that compared the outcomes of the two treatment modalities. Our main findings were that MWA achieves similar complete ablation rates compared with RFA, as well as lower LRR and similar OS. However, adverse events associated with MWA appear higher, particularly in relation to proc-





Figure 3 Dot plot of microwave ablation versus radiofrequency ablation overall survival rates over time. Trendlines are based on median survival. Microwave ablation is represented by red dots and red trendline while radiofrequency ablation is represented by blue dots and blue trendline. MWA: Microwave ablation; RFA: Radiofrequency ablation.

edure-related respiratory events.

In our study, we found MWA achieved similar or better CA rates than RFA depending on the study design. Notably CA rates were similar between the two modalities among RCTs, as previously reported [73,74], as well as among prospective cohort studies. However, higher CA rates were associated with MWA among retrospective cohort studies, which was likely due to multiple factors including patient selection, tumour size and the technique used; notwithstanding the fact that nearly threefold more cohort studies were captured in our study compared to other smaller meta-analyses of this type[24,40, 73]. These findings align with preclinical data that MWA results in higher intratumoral temperature and greater ablation range^[75], that should in theory lead to faster ablation times and high rates of CA^[76].

In addition, we identified MWA utilisation was overall associated with similar rates of local recurrence to RFA among RCTs and prospective cohort studies. However lower recurrence rates with MWA were reported among retrospective cohort studies, although results were inconsistent with two retrospective cohort studies reporting lower rates of local recurrence with RFA at the 4-year mark, while one RCT reported lower rates of LRR with MWA at the 5-year mark[22,53,54]. Moreover, because this was an analysis of LRR data without a specific timeframe, caution should be exercised as the follow-up for individual studies varied. Potential reasons for discordance in results include the fact that different generators were among studies as well as variation in the reporting outcomes with some studies reporting cumulative LRR. Notably, previous meta-analyses evaluating MWA and LRR have also drawn different conclusions, with two reports concluding that MWA resulted in significantly lower LRR [73,77], while a more recent study found no difference between both interventions[74]. These data combined with ours point to the fact that LRRs following MWA of HCC are at least as good as that following RFA.

An important finding from our study was the identification that MWA appears to lead to better OS, particularly among retrospective cohort studies. However, because this was mainly among studies with no specified follow-up period, we were unable to determine the timeframe to which the improvement in OS applies. Still, median OS rates tend to favour MWA particularly within the first few years postablation. Previous meta-analyses found that up until the 5-year mark, there was no difference between OS rates[24,40,73,74,77]. Except for Huo and colleagues[24]], these meta-analysis did not look at yearly OS. Long-term OS could be affected by interventional factors such as frequency, duration, and power of the ablative machines used. Furthermore, patient factors such as age, pre-existing liver disease and severity, and socioeconomic status could all contribute to OS. As we were unable to account for all these potentially confounding factors, it raises the question whether our results can be applied to the clinical setting with certainty.

In relation to adverse events, previous meta-analyses have concluded that there was no difference in complication rates between both interventions[24,73,74]. In our study, we identified a significantly increased rate of adverse respiratory events (*i.e.*, pleural effusion and pneumothorax) associated with MWA in 14 studies but no significant differences in local and/or liver related complications. This novel finding could influence the current perception that MWA has a similar safety profile to that of RFA despite the larger ablation zone. One possible explanation of the presence of pleural effusions could be due to thermal injury to the diaphragm resulting in an inflammatory response and/or diaphragmatic



Tang MJ et al. Microwave versus radiofrequency ablation for HCC



Figure 4 Microwave ablation versus radiofrequency ablation for intrahepatic hepatocellular carcinoma lesions: Forest plot for 30-d mortality.

microperforations resulting in leakage of fluid from the peritoneal cavity to the pleural space. Similarly, the increased rates of pneumothorax could reflect inadvertent pleural puncture with subsequent air leakage into the pleural space. Ultimately, this novel safety finding adds a layer of complexity when making the decision to choose between MWA or RFA for ablating HCC.

The strengths of our study included it being, to our knowledge, the most comprehensive study on this topic to date. We examined a large cohort of 6719 patients that enabled us to identify outliers and provide results with a smaller margin of error. In addition, data were categorised based on follow-up period, allowing us to identify if the difference between our primary outcomes for each individual year was significant. Finally, an analysis of tumour size was performed ruling out a potential confounding factor. Nevertheless, our findings should be interpreted with caution in view of certain limitations. Firstly, only studies published in English were included, which could lead to selection bias. Secondly, we did not explore the influence of generators and antennas used to perform the procedures which could present as a confounding factor. Furthermore, although we had a significant number of RCTs, the majority of studies were retrospective cohort studies that are susceptible to both selection bias and information bias due to the difficulty in achieving accurate record keeping and recounts of events, as well as complete data retrieval. Conference abstracts were included in our study which allowed for a more comprehensive look at the subject matter but potentially at the cost of preliminary results. Also, a significant number of studies included were conducted by a single centre, and hence subject to patient selection bias. Moreover, eligibility criteria for inclusion of patients were not standardized among studies.

CONCLUSION

Our results suggest that compared to RFA, MWA achieves similar CA rates and as good or better longer-term outcomes in relation to LRR and OS. Our analysis of tumour size suggests that it is unlikely to affect our conclusion. Apart from an increased likelihood of postprocedural respiratory events, MWA is as safe as RFA. Current guidelines recommend RFA to bridge transplantation or in early HCC[10,78].



Our novel results suggest that all guidelines should consider these ablative techniques as being interchangeable as standard of care.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is the seventh most common cancer and second leading cause of cancer mortality. Of the common modalities used to ablate HCC, radiofrequency ablation (RFA) is the most strongly recommended. Recently, microwave ablation (MWA) has become a popular ablative technique because of its reduction in heat-sink effect, ability to produce wider and more predictable ablation volumes.

Research motivation

Studies to date comparing outcomes of MWA with RFA have yielded conflicting results, with no clear superiority of one technique over the other. In this context, additional evidence particularly from a comprehensive meta-analysis that incorporate all RCTs and data from large real-world observational cohort studies would provide clinicians with a better understanding.

Research objectives

This study was a contemporary systematic review and meta-analysis of RCTs and cohort studies to determine whether MWA is equivalent to or more effective than RFA in relation to the primary treatment endpoints of complete ablation (CA), local recurrence rate (LRR), local recurrence-free survival, overall survival (OS), and safety including adverse events.

Research methods

A systematic electronic search was conducted independently by two authors. Quality of included studies were assessed using the Jadad scale for RCTs and Newcastle-Ottawa Scale for cohort studies. A random-effects model using the method of DerSimonian and Laird was used for each outcome. Metaregression analysis was performed to adjust for the difference in follow-up period between the studies.

Research results

A total of 42 studies, eight RCTs and 34 cohort studies were included in the meta-analysis, allowing us to examine a total cohort of 6719 patients. CA rates between MWA and RFA groups were similar in prospective cohort and RCTs; however, retrospective studies reported higher rates with MWA. Retrospective cohort studies reported higher OS and lower LRR. MWA had an increased rate of adverse respiratory events when compared to RFA.

Research conclusions

MWA achieves similar CA rates and as good or better longer-term outcomes in relation to LRR and OS compared to RFA. Apart from an increased rate of respiratory events post procedure, MWA is as safe as RFA.

Research perspectives

Current literature on local recurrence free survival is lacking and has potential to be explored in future studies.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Tang MJ performed the systematic review, acquisition and interpretation of the data, drafting the article, and final approval; Eslick GD performed the statistical analysis and interpretation of the data, drafting the article, and final approval; Lubel JS performed the systematic review, acquisition and interpretation of the data, drafting the article, and final approval; Majeed A performed interpretation of the data, review of the article, and final approval; Majumdar A contributed to the study design, interpretation of the data, review of the article, and final approval; Kemp W contributed to study concept and design, interpretation of the data, drafting and review of the article, and final approval; Roberts SK contributed to study concept and design, interpretation of the data, drafting and review of the article, and final approval.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 checklist.



Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Australia

ORCID number: Guy D Eslick 0000-0002-0098-1705; John S Lubel 0000-0003-0828-0572; Ammar Majeed 0000-0002-7024-8787; William Kemp 0000-0002-1891-4578; Stuart K Roberts 0000-0002-9015-7997.

Corresponding Author's Membership in Professional Societies: American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases, No. 1938; European Association for Study of the Liver, No. 11375; Gastroenterology Society of Australia, No. 525; American Gastroenterological Association, No. 100307.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: Kerr C P-Editor: Liu JH

REFERENCES

- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of 1 incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2018; 68: 394-424 [PMID: 30207593 DOI: 10.3322/caac.21492]
- The Lancet. GLOBOCAN 2018: counting the toll of cancer. Lancet 2018; 392: 985 [PMID: 30264708 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32252-9
- 3 Ferlay J, Colombet M, Soerjomataram I, Mathers C, Parkin DM, Piñeros M, Znaor A, Bray F. Estimating the global cancer incidence and mortality in 2018: GLOBOCAN sources and methods. Int J Cancer 2019; 144: 1941-1953 [PMID: 30350310 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.31937]
- 4 El-Serag HB, Mason AC. Rising incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in the United States. N Engl J Med 1999; 340: 745-750 [PMID: 10072408 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199903113401001]
- Law MG, Roberts SK, Dore GJ, Kaldor JM. Primary hepatocellular carcinoma in Australia, 1978-1997: increasing 5 incidence and mortality. Med J Aust 2000; 173: 403-405 [PMID: 11090031 DOI: 10.5694/j.1326-5377.2000.tb139267.x]
- Center MM, Jemal A. International trends in liver cancer incidence rates. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2011; 20: 6 2362-2368 [PMID: 21921256 DOI: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-11-0643]
- 7 Kemp W, Pianko S, Nguyen S, Bailey MJ, Roberts SK. Survival in hepatocellular carcinoma: impact of screening and etiology of liver disease. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2005; 20: 873-881 [PMID: 15946134 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2005.03844.x
- Bruix J, Llovet JM. Major achievements in hepatocellular carcinoma. Lancet 2009; 373: 614-616 [PMID: 19231618 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60381-0
- Forner A, Llovet JM, Bruix J. Hepatocellular carcinoma. Lancet 2012; 379: 1245-1255 [PMID: 22353262 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61347-0]
- European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: Management of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol 2018; 69: 182-236 [PMID: 29628281 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.03.019]
- Lencioni R, Crocetti L. Local-regional treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. Radiology 2012; 262: 43-58 [PMID: 11 22190656 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.11110144]
- 12 Breen DJ, Lencioni R. Image-guided ablation of primary liver and renal tumours. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2015; 12: 175-186 [PMID: 25601446 DOI: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2014.237]
- Lencioni RA, Allgaier HP, Cioni D, Olschewski M, Deibert P, Crocetti L, Frings H, Laubenberger J, Zuber I, Blum HE, 13 Bartolozzi C. Small hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhosis: randomized comparison of radio-frequency thermal ablation versus percutaneous ethanol injection. Radiology 2003; 228: 235-240 [PMID: 12759473 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2281020718]
- 14 Brunello F, Veltri A, Carucci P, Pagano E, Ciccone G, Moretto P, Sacchetto P, Gandini G, Rizzetto M. Radiofrequency ablation versus ethanol injection for early hepatocellular carcinoma: A randomized controlled trial. Scand J Gastroenterol 2008; 43: 727-735 [PMID: 18569991 DOI: 10.1080/00365520701885481]
- 15 Lin SM, Lin CJ, Lin CC, Hsu CW, Chen YC. Radiofrequency ablation improves prognosis compared with ethanol injection for hepatocellular carcinoma < or =4 cm. Gastroenterology 2004; 127: 1714-1723 [PMID: 15578509 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2004.09.003
- Shiina S, Teratani T, Obi S, Sato S, Tateishi R, Fujishima T, Ishikawa T, Koike Y, Yoshida H, Kawabe T, Omata M. A 16 randomized controlled trial of radiofrequency ablation with ethanol injection for small hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology 2005; 129: 122-130 [PMID: 16012942 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2005.04.009]
- 17 Cho YK, Kim JK, Kim MY, Rhim H, Han JK. Systematic review of randomized trials for hepatocellular carcinoma treated with percutaneous ablation therapies. *Hepatology* 2009; 49: 453-459 [PMID: 19065676 DOI: 10.1002/hep.22648]
- 18 Germani G, Pleguezuelo M, Gurusamy K, Meyer T, Isgrò G, Burroughs AK. Clinical outcomes of radiofrequency ablation, percutaneous alcohol and acetic acid injection for hepatocelullar carcinoma: a meta-analysis. J Hepatol 2010; 52: 380-388 [PMID: 20149473 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2009.12.004]
- Orlando A, Leandro G, Olivo M, Andriulli A, Cottone M. Radiofrequency thermal ablation vs. percutaneous ethanol 19



injection for small hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhosis: meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Am J Gastroenterol 2009; 104: 514-524 [PMID: 19174803 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2008.80]

- 20 Majumdar A, Roccarina D, Thorburn D, Davidson BR, Tsochatzis E, Gurusamy KS. Management of people with early- or very early-stage hepatocellular carcinoma: an attempted network meta-analysis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017; 3: CD011650 [PMID: 28351116 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011650.pub2]
- 21 Boutros C, Somasundar P, Garrean S, Saied A, Espat NJ. Microwave coagulation therapy for hepatic tumors: review of the literature and critical analysis. Surg Oncol 2010; 19: e22-e32 [PMID: 19268571 DOI: 10.1016/j.suronc.2009.02.001]
- 22 Yu J, Yu XL, Han ZY, Cheng ZG, Liu FY, Zhai HY, Mu MJ, Liu YM, Liang P. Percutaneous cooled-probe microwave versus radiofrequency ablation in early-stage hepatocellular carcinoma: a phase III randomised controlled trial. Gut 2017; 66: 1172-1173 [PMID: 27884919 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2016-312629]
- Shibata T, limuro Y, Yamamoto Y, Maetani Y, Ametani F, Itoh K, Konishi J. Small hepatocellular carcinoma: comparison 23 of radio-frequency ablation and percutaneous microwave coagulation therapy. Radiology 2002; 223: 331-337 [PMID: 11997534 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2232010775]
- 24 Huo YR, Eslick GD. Microwave Ablation Compared to Radiofrequency Ablation for Hepatic Lesions: A Meta-Analysis. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2015; 26: 1139-1146.e2 [PMID: 26027937 DOI: 10.1016/j.jvir.2015.04.004]
- 25 Weis S, Franke A, Mössner J, Jakobsen JC, Schoppmeyer K. Radiofrequency (thermal) ablation versus no intervention or other interventions for hepatocellular carcinoma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013; CD003046 [PMID: 24357457 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003046.pub3]
- 26 Han J, Fan YC, Wang K. Radiofrequency ablation versus microwave ablation for early stage hepatocellular carcinoma: A PRISMA-compliant systematic review and meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2020; 99: e22703 [PMID: 33120763 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000022703]
- Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, Shamseer L, Tetzlaff JM, Akl EA, Brennan SE, Chou R, Glanville J, Grimshaw JM, Hróbjartsson A, Lalu MM, Li T, Loder EW, Mayo-Wilson E, McDonald S, McGuinness LA, Stewart LA, Thomas J, Tricco AC, Welch VA, Whiting P, Moher D. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ 2021; 372: n71 [PMID: 33782057 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.n71]
- 28 Shea BJ, Grimshaw JM, Wells GA, Boers M, Andersson N, Hamel C, Porter AC, Tugwell P, Moher D, Bouter LM. Development of AMSTAR: a measurement tool to assess the methodological quality of systematic reviews. BMC Med Res Methodol 2007; 7: 10 [PMID: 17302989 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2288-7-10]
- 29 Heimbach JK, Kulik LM, Finn RS, Sirlin CB, Abecassis MM, Roberts LR, Zhu AX, Murad MH, Marrero JA. AASLD guidelines for the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology 2018; 67: 358-380 [PMID: 28130846 DOI: 10.1002/hep.29086]
- 30 Jadad AR, Moore RA, Carroll D, Jenkinson C, Reynolds DJ, Gavaghan DJ, McQuay HJ. Assessing the quality of reports of randomized clinical trials: is blinding necessary? Control Clin Trials 1996; 17: 1-12 [PMID: 8721797 DOI: 10.1016/0197-2456(95)00134-4]
- 31 Wells G, Shea B, O'Connell D, Peterson J, Welch V, Losos M, Tugwell P. The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of nonrandomised studies in meta-analyses. 2022
- Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Chandler J, Welch VA, Higgins JP, Thomas J. Updated guidance for trusted systematic 32 reviews: a new edition of the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2019; 10: ED000142 [PMID: 31643080 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.ED000142]
- 33 Abdel-Samiee M, Elkazaz RR, Rady MA, Metwaly HO, Gomaa AIE. A comparitive study between radiofreguency, microwave and ithanol injection in treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma: A single center experience. Hepatol Int 2020; 14: S240-S241 [DOI: 10.1007/s12072-020-10030-4]
- Chong CCN, Lee KF, Cheung SYS, Chu CCM, Fong AKW, Wong J, Hui JWY, Fung AKY, Lok HT, Lo EYJ, Chan SL, Yu SCH, Ng KKC, Lai PBS. Prospective double-blinded randomized controlled trial of Microwave versus RadioFrequency Ablation for hepatocellular carcinoma (McRFA trial). HPB (Oxford) 2020; 22: 1121-1127 [PMID: 32044268 DOI: 10.1016/j.hpb.2020.01.008]
- 35 Kamal A, Elmoety AAA, Rostom YAM, Shater MS, Lashen SA. Percutaneous radiofrequency versus microwave ablation for management of hepatocellular carcinoma: a randomized controlled trial. J Gastrointest Oncol 2019; 10: 562-571 [PMID: 31183208 DOI: 10.21037/jgo.2019.01.34]
- Qian GJ, Wang N, Shen Q, Sheng YH, Zhao JQ, Kuang M, Liu GJ, Wu MC. Efficacy of microwave versus radiofrequency 36 ablation for treatment of small hepatocellular carcinoma: experimental and clinical studies. Eur Radiol 2012; 22: 1983-1990 [PMID: 22544225 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-012-2442-1]
- Tian G, Yang S, Yuan J, Threapleton D, Zhao Q, Chen F, Cao H, Jiang T, Li L. Comparative efficacy of treatment 37 strategies for hepatocellular carcinoma: systematic review and network meta-analysis. BMJ Open 2018; 8: e021269 [PMID: 30341113 DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-021269]
- Vietti Violi N, Duran R, Guiu B, Cercueil JP, Aubé C, Digklia A, Pache I, Deltenre P, Knebel JF, Denys A. Efficacy of 38 microwave ablation versus radiofrequency ablation for the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with chronic liver disease: a randomised controlled phase 2 trial. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 3: 317-325 [PMID: 29503247 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(18)30029-3]
- 39 Bouda D, Barrau V, Raynaud L, Dioguardi Burgio M, Paulatto L, Roche V, Sibert A, Moussa N, Vilgrain V, Ronot M. Factors Associated with Tumor Progression After Percutaneous Ablation of Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Comparison Between Monopolar Radiofrequency and Microwaves. Results of a Propensity Score Matching Analysis. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2020; 43: 1608-1618 [PMID: 32533309 DOI: 10.1007/s00270-020-02549-8]
- Chinnaratha MA, Chuang MY, Fraser RJ, Woodman RJ, Wigg AJ. Percutaneous thermal ablation for primary hepatocellular carcinoma: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016; 31: 294-301 [PMID: 26114968 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.13028]
- 41 Cillo U, Noaro G, Vitale A, Neri D, D'Amico F, Gringeri E, Farinati F, Vincenzi V, Vigo M, Zanus G; HePaTIC Study Group. Laparoscopic microwave ablation in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma: a prospective cohort study. HPB (Oxford) 2014; 16: 979-986 [PMID: 24750429 DOI: 10.1111/hpb.12264]



- 42 Ciruolo M, Migliore E, Carucci P, Rolle E, Mosso E, Vola S, Risso A, Saracco GM, Gaia S. Percutaneous microwave (MWA) is better than radiofrequency ablation (RFA) to obtain complete response in cirrhotic patients with very early and early hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Hepatology (Baltimore, Md) 2020; 72: 701A-702A
- 43 Ding J, Jing X, Liu J, Wang Y, Wang F, Du Z. Comparison of two different thermal techniques for the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. Eur J Radiol 2013; 82: 1379-1384 [PMID: 23726122 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2013.04.025]
- Du S, Yang JZ, Chen J, Zhou WG, Sun YY. Comparisons of recurrence-free survival and overall survival between 44 microwave versus radiofrequency ablation treatment for hepatocellular carcinoma: A multiple centers retrospective cohort study with propensity score matching. PLoS One 2020; 15: e0227242 [PMID: 31918433 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0227242]
- 45 Gaia S, Ciruolo M, Ribaldone DG, Rolle E, Migliore E, Mosso E, Vola S, Risso A, Fagoonee S, Saracco GM, Carucci P. Higher Efficiency of Percutaneous Microwave (MWA) Than Radiofrequency Ablation (RFA) in Achieving Complete Response in Cirrhotic Patients with Early Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Curr Oncol 2021; 28: 1034-1044 [PMID: 33669107 DOI: 10.3390/curroncol280201011
- Ghweil A, Osman H. Percutaneous microwave and radiofrequency ablation for hepatocellular carcinoma: A comparative 46 study. Hepatol Int 2019; 13: S161-S162 [DOI: 10.1007/s12072-019-09936-5]
- Iida H, Aihara T, Ikuta S, Yamanaka N. A comparative study of therapeutic effect between laparoscopic microwave 47 coagulation and laparoscopic radiofrequency ablation. Hepatogastroenterology 2013; 60: 662-665 [PMID: 23178517 DOI: 10.5754/hge12801
- Ding J, Jing X, Liu J, Wang Y, Wang F, Du Z. Complications of thermal ablation of hepatic tumours: comparison of radiofrequency and microwave ablative techniques. Clin Radiol 2013; 68: 608-615 [PMID: 23399463 DOI: 10.1016/i.crad.2012.12.008]
- Kuang M, Xie XY, Huang C, Wang Y, Lin MX, Xu ZF, Liu GJ, Lu MD. Long-term outcome of percutaneous ablation in very early-stage hepatocellular carcinoma. J Gastrointest Surg 2011; 15: 2165-2171 [PMID: 21972056 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-011-1716-2
- Kumbar SV, Kumar L, Menon P, Peethambaran M, Somu A, Mathew S, Mathews J, Zacharias P, Philip M. Percutaneous 50 microwave and radiofrequency ablative therapy for hepatocellular carcinoma: A retrospective comparative study. Hepatol Int 2018; 12: S395 [DOI: 10.1007/s12072-018-9852-3]
- 51 Lee KF, Wong J, Hui JW, Cheung YS, Chong CC, Fong AK, Yu SC, Lai PB. Long-term outcomes of microwave versus radiofrequency ablation for hepatocellular carcinoma by surgical approach: A retrospective comparative study. Asian J Surg 2017; 40: 301-308 [PMID: 26922631 DOI: 10.1016/j.asjsur.2016.01.001]
- 52 Liu W, Zheng Y, He W, Zou R, Qiu J, Shen J, Yang Z, Zhang Y, Wang C, Wang Y, Zuo D, Li B, Yuan Y. Microwave vs radiofrequency ablation for hepatocellular carcinoma within the Milan criteria: a propensity score analysis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2018; 48: 671-681 [PMID: 30063081 DOI: 10.1111/apt.14929]
- 53 Loriaud A, Denys A, Seror O, Vietti Violi N, Digklia A, Duran R, Trillaud H, Hocquelet A. Hepatocellular carcinoma abutting large vessels: comparison of four percutaneous ablation systems. Int J Hyperthermia 2018; 34: 1171-1178 [PMID: 29457510 DOI: 10.1080/02656736.2018.1440017]
- 54 Lu MD, Xu HX, Xie XY, Yin XY, Chen JW, Kuang M, Xu ZF, Liu GJ, Zheng YL. Percutaneous microwave and radiofrequency ablation for hepatocellular carcinoma: a retrospective comparative study. J Gastroenterol 2005; 40: 1054-1060 [PMID: 16322950 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-005-1671-3]
- Mocan T, Radu P, Al Hajjar N, Iancu C, Sparchez Z. Radiofrequency vs. microwave ablation in the treatment of naïve and 55 recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma. J Gastrointestin Liver Dis 2017; 26: 32
- Nocerino E, Ziemlewicz T, Lee F, Brace C. A comparison of tumor and ablation dimensions after radiofrequency (RF) and 56 microwave (MW) ablation of small hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) at a single center. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2016; 27: e81 [DOI: 10.1016/j.jvir.2016.04.006]
- 57 Ohmoto K, Yamamoto S. Comparison between radiofrequency ablation and percutaneous microwave coagulation therapy for small hepatocellular carcinomas. Clin Radiol 2006; 61: 800-1; author reply 801 [PMID: 16905390 DOI: 10.1016/j.crad.2006.04.015]
- Potretzke TA, Ziemlewicz TJ, Hinshaw JL, Lubner MG, Wells SA, Brace CL, Agarwal P, Lee FT Jr. Microwave versus 58 Radiofrequency Ablation Treatment for Hepatocellular Carcinoma: A Comparison of Efficacy at a Single Center. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2016; 27: 631-638 [PMID: 27017124 DOI: 10.1016/j.jvir.2016.01.136]
- 59 Sakaguchi H, Seki S, Tsuji K, Teramoto K, Suzuki M, Kioka K, Isoda N, Ido K; Japan Society for Laparoscopic Therapy Research. Endoscopic thermal ablation therapies for hepatocellular carcinoma: a multi-center study. Hepatol Res 2009; 39: 47-52 [PMID: 18761680 DOI: 10.1111/j.1872-034X.2008.00410.x]
- Santambrogio R, Chiang J, Barabino M, Meloni FM, Bertolini E, Melchiorre F, Opocher E. Comparison of Laparoscopic 60 Microwave to Radiofrequency Ablation of Small Hepatocellular Carcinoma (≤3 cm). Ann Surg Oncol 2017; 24: 257-263 [PMID: 27581608 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-016-5527-2]
- 61 Sever IH, Sucu M, Biyikli E. Radiofrequency and microwave ablation in the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. Iran J Radiol 2018; 15 [DOI: 10.5812/iranjradiol.62396]
- 62 Shum JK, Fung TP, Wong SW. Percutaneous radiofrequency ablation vs percutaneous microwave ablation for hepatocellular carcinoma. Surg Pract 2016; 20: 30 [DOI: 10.1111/1744-1633.12208]
- 63 Simo KA, Sereika SE, Newton KN, Gerber DA. Laparoscopic-assisted microwave ablation for hepatocellular carcinoma: safety and efficacy in comparison with radiofrequency ablation. J Surg Oncol 2011; 104: 822-829 [PMID: 21520094 DOI: 10.1002/jso.21933]
- Suwa K, Seki T, Aoi K, Yamashina M, Murata M, Yamashiki N, Nishio A, Shimatani M, Naganuma M. Efficacy of microwave ablation versus radiofrequency ablation for hepatocellular carcinoma: a propensity score analysis. Abdom Radiol (NY) 2021; 46: 3790-3797 [PMID: 33675382 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-021-03008-9]
- 65 Suwa K, Seki T, Tsuda R, Yamashina M, Murata M, Yamaguchi T, Nishio A, Okazaki K. Short term treatment results of local ablation with water-cooled microwave antenna for liver cancer: Comparison with radiofrequency ablation. Mol Clin Oncol 2020; 12: 230-236 [PMID: 32064099 DOI: 10.3892/mco.2020.1983]



- 66 Vogl TJ, Farshid P, Naguib NN, Zangos S, Bodelle B, Paul J, Mbalisike EC, Beeres M, Nour-Eldin NE. Ablation therapy of hepatocellular carcinoma: a comparative study between radiofrequency and microwave ablation. Abdom Imaging 2015; 40: 1829-1837 [PMID: 25601438 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-015-0355-6]
- 67 Xu HX, Xie XY, Lu MD, Chen JW, Yin XY, Xu ZF, Liu GJ. Ultrasound-guided percutaneous thermal ablation of hepatocellular carcinoma using microwave and radiofrequency ablation. Clin Radiol 2004; 59: 53-61 [PMID: 14697375 DOI: 10.1016/j.crad.2003.09.006]
- 68 Xu Y, Shen Q, Wang N, Wu PP, Huang B, Kuang M, Qian GJ. Microwave ablation is as effective as radiofrequency ablation for very-early-stage hepatocellular carcinoma. Chin J Cancer 2017; 36: 14 [PMID: 28103953 DOI: 10.1186/s40880-017-0183-x
- 69 Yin XY, Xie XY, Lu MD, Xu HX, Xu ZF, Kuang M, Liu GJ, Liang JY, Lau WY. Percutaneous thermal ablation of medium and large hepatocellular carcinoma: long-term outcome and prognostic factors. Cancer 2009; 115: 1914-1923 [PMID: 19241423 DOI: 10.1002/cncr.24196]
- 70 Zhang L, Wang N, Shen Q, Cheng W, Qian GJ. Therapeutic efficacy of percutaneous radiofrequency ablation versus microwave ablation for hepatocellular carcinoma. PLoS One 2013; 8: e76119 [PMID: 24146824 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0076119]
- 71 Zhang NN, Cheng XJ, Liu JY. Comparison of high-powered MWA and RFA in treating larger hepatocellular carcinoma. Shiyong Zhongliu Zha Zhi 2014; 29: 349-356
- Abdelaziz A, Elbaz T, Shousha HI, Mahmoud S, Ibrahim M, Abdelmaksoud A, Nabeel M. Efficacy and survival analysis 72 of percutaneous radiofrequency versus microwave ablation for hepatocellular carcinoma: an Egyptian multidisciplinary clinic experience. Surg Endosc 2014; 28: 3429-3434 [PMID: 24935203 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-014-3617-4]
- Tan W, Deng Q, Lin S, Wang Y, Xu G. Comparison of microwave ablation and radiofrequency ablation for hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Hyperthermia 2019; 36: 264-272 [PMID: 30676100 DOI: 10.1080/02656736.2018.1562571
- Facciorusso A, Abd El Aziz MA, Tartaglia N, Ramai D, Mohan BP, Cotsoglou C, Pusceddu S, Giacomelli L, Ambrosi A, Sacco R. Microwave Ablation Versus Radiofrequency Ablation for Treatment of Hepatocellular Carcinoma: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Cancers (Basel) 2020; 12 [PMID: 33339274 DOI: 10.3390/cancers12123796]
- 75 Wright AS, Sampson LA, Warner TF, Mahvi DM, Lee FT Jr. Radiofrequency versus microwave ablation in a hepatic porcine model. Radiology 2005; 236: 132-139 [PMID: 15987969 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2361031249]
- Carrafiello G, Laganà D, Mangini M, Fontana F, Dionigi G, Boni L, Rovera F, Cuffari S, Fugazzola C. Microwave tumors 76 ablation: principles, clinical applications and review of preliminary experiences. Int J Surg 2008; 6 Suppl 1: S65-S69 [PMID: 19186116 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2008.12.028]
- 77 Glassberg MB, Ghosh S, Clymer JW, Qadeer RA, Ferko NC, Sadeghirad B, Wright GW, Amaral JF. Microwave ablation compared with radiofrequency ablation for treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma and liver metastases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Onco Targets Ther 2019; 12: 6407-6438 [PMID: 31496742 DOI: 10.2147/OTT.S204340]
- Marrero JA, Kulik LM, Sirlin CB, Zhu AX, Finn RS, Abecassis MM, Roberts LR, Heimbach JK. Diagnosis, Staging, and 78 Management of Hepatocellular Carcinoma: 2018 Practice Guidance by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Hepatology 2018; 68: 723-750 [PMID: 29624699 DOI: 10.1002/hep.29913]




Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com



World Journal of *Meta-Analysis*

World J Meta-Anal 2022 October 28; 10(5): 238-254





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

W J M A World Journal of Meta-Analysis

Contents

Bimonthly Volume 10 Number 5 October 28, 2022

EDITORIAL

Maintaining the metabolic homeostasis of Helicobacter pylori through chronic hyperglycemia in diabetes 238 mellitus: A hypothesis

Reshetnyak VI, Maev IV

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

244 Disordered eating behaviour and eating disorder among adolescents with type 1 diabetes: An integrative review

Oliveira Cunha MCS, Dutra FCS, Cavaleiro Brito LMM, Costa RF, Gaspar MWG, Sousa DF, Moura de Araújo MF, Queiroz MVO



Contents

Bimonthly Volume 10 Number 5 October 28, 2022

ABOUT COVER

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Meta-Analysis, Yun-Xian Yu, MD, PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Epidemiology and Health Statistics, Medicine School, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou 310016, Zhejiang Province, China. 13735875136@163.com

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Meta-Analysis (WJMA, World J Meta-Anal) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of clinical medicine with a platform to publish high-quality meta-analysis and systematic review articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJMA mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained through meta-analysis and systematic review in a wide range of areas, including medicine, pharmacy, preventive medicine, stomatology, nursing, medical imaging, and laboratory medicine.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJMA is now abstracted and indexed in Reference Citation Analysis, China National Knowledge Infrastructure, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Hua-Ge Yu; Production Department Director: Xiang Li; Editorial Office Director: Jin-Lei Wang.

NAME OF JOURNAL	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS
World Journal of Meta-Analysis	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gennfo/204
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 2308-3840 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
May 26, 2013	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Bimonthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Saurabh Chandan, Jing Sun	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
October 28, 2022	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2022 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2022 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



W J M

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Meta-Anal 2022 October 28; 10(5): 238-243

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i5.238

ISSN 2308-3840 (online)

EDITORIAL

Maintaining the metabolic homeostasis of Helicobacter pylori through chronic hyperglycemia in diabetes mellitus: A hypothesis

Vasiliy Ivanovich Reshetnyak, Igor Veniaminovich Maev

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D, D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Lauro D, Italy; Rwegerera GM, Botswana

Received: August 4, 2022 Peer-review started: August 4, 2022 First decision: August 19, 2022 Revised: August 23, 2022 Accepted: September 21, 2022 Article in press: September 21, 2022 Published online: October 28, 2022



Vasiliy Ivanovich Reshetnyak, Igor Veniaminovich Maev, Department of Propaedeutics of Internal Diseases and Gastroenterology, A.I. Yevdokimov Moscow State University of Medicine and Dentistry, Moscow 127473, Russia

Corresponding author: Vasiliy Ivanovich Reshetnyak, MD, MDS, PhD, Full Professor, Department of Propaedeutics of Internal Diseases and Gastroenterology, A.I. Yevdokimov Moscow State University of Medicine and Dentistry, 20, Delegatskaya St., Build. 1, Moscow 127473, Russia. vasiliy.reshetnyak@yandex.ru

Abstract

Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) infection occurs in almost half of the world's population, most of whom are merely carriers of this microorganism. H. pylori is shown to be detected more frequently in patients with diabetes mellitus (DM) than in the general population, which is accompanied by a significantly increased risk of developing *H. pylori*-associated diseases. In addition, eradication therapy shows a low efficiency for *H. pylori* infection in patients with DM. There is a relationship between the level of chronic hyperglycemia and a higher detection rate of *H. pylori* as well as a lower efficiency of eradication therapy in patients with DM. The exact mechanisms of these phenomena are unknown. The authors make a hypothesis that explains the relationship between chronic hyperglycemia and the increased detection rate of *H. pylori*, as well as the mechanisms contributing to the improved survival of this bacterium in patients with DM during eradication therapy.

Key Words: Helicobacter pylori; Diabetes mellitus; Glycated hemoglobin A; H. pylori eradication; Amino acids and glucose as nutrients for H. pylori

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: The authors hypothesize that in patients with diabetes mellitus (DM), Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) are most likely to rely on both amino acids and glucose for its vital activity. The hypothesis makes it possible to explain the high detection rate of H. pylori in patients with DM, as well as the lower efficiency of eradication therapy in them.



WJMA https://www.wjgnet.com

Citation: Reshetnyak VI, Maev IV. Maintaining the metabolic homeostasis of Helicobacter pylori through chronic hyperglycemia in diabetes mellitus: A hypothesis. World J Meta-Anal 2022; 10(5): 238-243 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/full/v10/i5/238.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.13105/wjma.v10.i5.238

INTRODUCTION

Forty years have passed since the description of Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) as a pathogen in the development of atrophic gastritis and peptic ulcer disease[1-3]. It has been shown that *H. pylori* infection occurs in almost half of the population in the world, most of whom are merely carriers of this microorganism[4,5]. In addition, many researchers have indicated that *H. pylori* are detected more frequently in patients with diabetes mellitus (DM) than in the general population [6-11]. This is accompanied by a substantial increase in the risk of developing *H. pylori*-associated diseases[6,11,12]. At the same time, there are studies which report reverse results about the incidence of type 2 DM (T2DM) in H. pyloripositive patients[13-15]. However, the relationship between H. pylori infection and the risk of developing T2DM remains controversial and ambiguous. Hence, a prospective cohort study by Jeon et al[16] has shown that *H. pylori* infection correlates with a high risk of T2DM. Similarly, a meta-analysis carried out by Mansori et al[11] suggests that H. pylori may be one of the risk factors for T2DM. On the contrary, other studies report that *H. pylori* is not associated with either insulin resistance or the prevalence of T2DM[17-20]. Data from Tamura et al[21] suggest that East Asian CagA-positive H. pylori infection is not a risk factor for T2DM. The successful H. pylori eradication rates in patients with type 1 and type 2 DM are 62% and 50%, respectively, which are much lower than those in people without these two forms of the disease [22-25]. The low efficiency of eradication therapy for *H. pylori* infection in diabetic patients is uniquely presented in many studies[26-29].

There is a clear correlation between the higher detection rate of *H. pylori* in diabetic patients and lower efficacy of eradication therapy, depending on the level of hyperglycemia[10,13,29]. Uncontrolled diabetes with the development of chronic hyperglycemia causes a number of metabolic changes[30]. Chronic hyperglycemia in turn leads to increased susceptibility to infective agents in diabetic patients[9, 10,30,31]. The exact mechanisms underlying the link of chronic hyperglycemia and the higher detection rate of *H. pylori*, as well as the mechanisms that improve the survival of this bacterium in diabetic patients during eradication therapy remain unknown. An understanding of how chronic hyperglycemia is related to the maintenance of the metabolic homeostasis of *H. pylori* for its vital activity and reproduction in diabetic patients is of great scientific and practical importance.

It is hypothesized that chronic hyperglycemia is associated with: (1) The increased detection rate of H. *pylori;* (2) possible metabolic changes in the bacterial cells ; and (3) the results of eradication therapy.

It is well known that *H. pylori* colonizes the gastric mucosa. To establish long-term colonization, the bacterium must sense and adapt to the nutritional conditions that exist in its habitat. Surprisingly, little attention has been paid to the preferred sources of nutrients and energy for the life, growth, and reproduction of *H. pylori*, as well as changes in the source of food ingredients and energy for *H. pylori* in diabetic patients. The available data suggest that for its life, growth, and reproduction, H. pylori utilizes amino acids and carboxylic acids, which are produced in sufficient quantities in the stomach as a result of hydrolysis of food proteins[32-34]. H. pylori catabolize a large amount of amino acids with the most substantial being alanine, arginine, asparagine, aspartate, glutamate, glutamine, proline, and serine[32, 35-37]. H. pylori can also catabolize fumaric acid[38], malic acid[35], and lactic acid[39]. Thus, amino acids and carboxylic acids are sources of carbon, nitrogen, and energy.

In a healthy individual, *H. pylori* are almost independent of sugars, such as glucose[32-34]. However, glucose is known to be one of the most important carbohydrates, which is used for life by many microorganisms, including inhabitants in the digestive system. Moreover, Wang et al[40] believe that glucose plays a key role in the outcome of bacterial infection in humans. A question is raised as to whether H. pylori can utilize glucose as a plastic and energy material. Studies conducted in the 1990s and later indicate that *H. pylori* has enzyme systems capable of utilizing carbohydrates, D-glucose in particular[41-43]. These data suggest that in its evolutionary phylogenetic development and adaptation to life and reproduction in the stomach, *H. pylori* not only acquire the ability to restructure its metabolism for the use of amino acids as a plastic and energy material, but most probably retain the ability to utilize carbohydrates for their life activity. There are experimental data showing that adding glucose to the nutrient medium when growing *H. pylori*, enhances its growth[29,44].

Chronic hyperglycemia in diabetic patients involves compensatory mechanisms aimed at normalizing the blood level of glucose⁵. To remove excess glucose in patients with DM and chronic hyperglycemia, it is most likely that the extradigestive (excretory) function of the gastric mucosa is switched on. This leads to the fact that in patients with DM and chronic hyperglycemia, H. pylori gain advantages for its growth, reproduction, and survival as it can use not only amino acids for its life, but also glucose available in excess in patients with DM. This hypothesis may explain the more frequent detection of H. *pylori* in patients with DM than in the general population.



WJMA https://www.wjgnet.com

Based on this hypothesis, it is possible to explain also the lower efficiency of eradication therapy in patients with DM.

H. pylori eradication regimens contain antibacterial drugs (clarithromycin, metronidazole, bismuths, *etc.*) and agents that reduce hydrochloric acid production. The use of antacids aimed at creating optimal conditions for acid-dependent antibacterial agents[45-48]. The data presented in recent studies suggest that it is extremely important to determine gastric pH for *H. pylori* eradication[45,46]. In addition, the antacids have a double effect on *H. pylori* with an opposite effect. Increased gastric pH is a favorable factor for the vital activity of *H. pylori*. But at the same time, the antacids deprive *H. pylori* of nutrients. Exposure to hydrochloric acid in the stomach causes denaturation of food proteins and initiates their hydrolysis by the gastric juice enzymes pepsin and gastrixin. This gives rise to oligopeptides with different lengths and to a certain amount of amino acids, which are utilized by *H. pylori* for its life activity. Taking antacids practically does not lead to denaturation of food proteins. Consequently, the rate of protein hydrolysis is considerably reduced. As a result, the stomach practically does not produce amino acids that are essential for maintaining the vital activity of *H. pylori*. The lack of nutrients and the intake of antibacterial drugs result in the death of the microorganism or in its transition to a dormant form[49]. The latter is rare during powerful antibiotic therapy.

There is an opportunity for *H. pylori* to utilize glucose as an energy and plastic material in diabetic patients receiving eradication therapy against the underlying chronic hyperglycemia and amino acid deficiency. It is likely that this mechanism enables this microorganism to successfully survive the extreme conditions of eradication. But this can happen only in the presence of chronic hyperglycemia. That is to say, the survival of *H. pylori* under extreme conditions of eradication should depend on the level of hyperglycemia. And the longer period of hyperglycemia is, the more likely *H. pylori* survive the extreme conditions of eradication.

Chronic hyperglycemia can be assessed by the blood level of glycated hemoglobin A (HbA1c) (Figure 1). The HbA1c level is the result of nonenzymatic glycosylation of hemoglobin, with the formation of a bond between glucose and the free N-terminal proline amino group in the hemoglobin β -chain[50]. The indicator plays an important role in monitoring the time course of changes in blood glucose levels in diabetic patients and for evaluation of the efficacy of hypoglycemic drugs[51]. In 2011, the World Health Organization officially recommended an HbA1c level of \geq 6.5% as a diagnostic cut-off value for DM[52]. This indicator reflects the integrated blood glucose level for the last 3-4 mo[53-55]. The association between *H. pylori* infection and HbA1c in diabetic patients has been confirmed in many studies[51,56,57]. Glycated hemoglobin A levels were significantly higher in patients with DM and *H. pylori* infection than in those with DM and without *H. pylori* infection (WMD = 0.50, 95%CI: 0.28-0.72, *P* < 0.001)[51]. Subgroup analysis by the subtype of DM has revealed a correlation between *H. pylori* infection and elevated glycated hemoglobin A level in type 1 DM ($I^2 = 74\%$, P < 0.001, WMD = 0.46, 95%CI: 0.12-0.80) and in T2DM ($I^2 = 90\%$, P < 0.001, WMD = 0.59, 95%CI: 0.28-0.90, P < 0.001][51].

Bektemirova *et al*[58] used the HbA1c level to evaluate the efficacy of hypoglycemic drugs taken by 83 patients with T2DM and *H. pylori*-associated diseases during eradication therapy. Glycated hemoglobin A was shown to reach a target level of < 6.5% in 62 of the 83 examinees, while it remained elevated (> 7.0%) in 21 patients. This means that despite the use of hypoglycemic drugs, the level of hyperglycemia persisted in these patients for at least 2-3 mo. And it was in these patients who did not reach the target HbA1c level had a significantly (P < 0.017) lower efficiency of eradication therapy than those who achieved the target level of HbA1c < 6.5%. The data obtained by Bektemirova *et al*[58] indirectly suggest that *H. pylori* most likely take advantage of chronic hyperglycemia to survive under the extreme conditions of eradication.

According to Tseng, the use of insulin to normalize blood glucose levels in patients with T2DM substantially increases the rate of *H. pylori* eradication compared to those with DM without insulin administration[25]. The higher efficiency of *H. pylori* eradication in T2DM patients taking insulin suggests that these patients are more likely to normalize their blood glucose levels during insulin therapy. And this is most likely to cause an increase in the efficiency of *H. pylori* eradication.

CONCLUSION

The data available in the literature advance the following hypothesis that in diabetic patients, *H. pylori* are most likely to utilize both amino acids and glucose for its vital activity. The hypothesis makes it possible to explain the high detection rate of *H. pylori* in diabetic patients, as well as their lower eradication therapy efficiency. Undoubtedly, this hypothesis requires further conformations by biochemical, microbiological, molecular genetics, and other studies. Further multicenter studies are needed to confirm this hypothesis. But if this hypothesis is correct, then before *H. pylori* are eradicated in DM patients, there is a need for mandatory monitoring and targeted correction of blood glucose and HbA1c levels according to the algorithm given in Figure 1. The algorithm can be used for the management of patients with DM and concomitant *H. pylori*-associated diseases, which is of great practical importance for their successful eradication therapy.

WJMA | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Algorithm for monitoring and targeted correction of glycated hemoglobin A levels in patients with diabetes mellitus and Helicobacter pylori-associated diseases. H. pylori: Helicobacter pylori.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors express their gratitude to Alexandr Igorevich Burmistrov for technical assistance in preparing this article.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: All the authors have equally contributed to the study conception and design, literature review and analysis, manuscript drafting, critical revision and editing, and approval of the final version.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Russia

ORCID number: Vasiliy Ivanovich Reshetnyak 0000-0003-3614-5052; Igor Veniaminovich Maev 0000-0001-6114-564X.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: Ma JY-MedE P-Editor: Liu JH

REFERENCES

- 1 Malnick SD, Melzer E, Attali M, Duek G, Yahav J. Helicobacter pylori: friend or foe? World J Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 8979-8985 [PMID: 25083071 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i27.8979]
- 2 Li J, Perez-Perez GI. Helicobacter pylori the Latent Human Pathogen or an Ancestral Commensal Organism. Front Microbiol 2018; 9: 609 [PMID: 29666614 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.00609]
- Reshetnyak VI, Burmistrov AI, Maev IV. Helicobacter pylori: Commensal, symbiont or pathogen? World J Gastroenterol 3 2021; 27: 545-560 [PMID: 33642828 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v27.i7.545]
- Hooi JKY, Lai WY, Ng WK, Suen MMY, Underwood FE, Tanyingoh D, Malfertheiner P, Graham DY, Wong VWS, Wu JCY, Chan FKL, Sung JJY, Kaplan GG, Ng SC. Global Prevalence of Helicobacter pylori Infection: Systematic Review



and Meta-Analysis. Gastroenterology 2017; 153: 420-429 [PMID: 28456631 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.04.022]

- 5 Keilberg D, Steele N, Fan S, Yang Ch, Zavros Y, Ottemann KM. Gastric metabolomics analysis supports H. pylori's catabolism of organic and amino acids in both the corpus and antrum. bioRxiv 2020; 183533 [DOI: 10.1101/2020.07.01.183533
- Mkrtumyan AM, Kazyulin AN, Bairova KI. Incidence and severity of Helicobacter infection in patients with type 2 6 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes mellitus 2010; 13: 77-79 (In Russ.) [DOI: 10.14341/2072-0351-6020]
- Devrajani BR, Shah SZ, Soomro AA, Devrajani T. Type 2 diabetes mellitus: A risk factor for Helicobacter pylori 7 infection: A hospital based case-control study. Int J Diabetes Dev Ctries 2010; 30: 22-26 [PMID: 20431802 DOI: 10.4103/0973-3930.60008]
- 8 Talebi-Taher M, Mashayekhi M, Hashemi MH, Bahrani V. Helicobacter pylori in diabetic and non-diabetic patients with dyspepsia. Acta Med Iran 2012; 50: 315-318 [PMID: 22837084]
- Vafaeimanesh J, Parham M, Bagherzadeh M. Helicobacter pylori infection prevalence: Is it different in diabetics and 9 nondiabetics? Indian J Endocrinol Metab 2015; 19: 364-368 [PMID: 25932391 DOI: 10.4103/2230-8210.152773]
- Abd-El-Kareem Younus H, Alkabeer AM M, Nuser MM, Mohammed AS, Saleh MW. Study of the relation between 10 glycemic control in Egyptian patients with type-2 diabetes mellitus and Helicobacter pylori infection. Int J Multidiscip Res Dev 2018; 5: 249-256
- 11 Mansori K, Moradi Y, Naderpour S, Rashti R, Moghaddam AB, Saed L, Mohammadi H. Helicobacter pylori infection as a risk factor for diabetes: a meta-analysis of case-control studies. BMC Gastroenterol 2020; 20: 77 [PMID: 32209055 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-020-01223-0]
- Kouitcheu Mabeku LB, Noundjeu Ngamga ML, Leundji H. Helicobacter pylori infection, a risk factor for Type 2 diabetes mellitus: a hospital-based cross-sectional study among dyspeptic patients in Douala-Cameroon. Sci Rep 2020; 10: 12141 [PMID: 32699242 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-020-69208-3]
- 13 Chen Y, Blaser MJ. Association between gastric Helicobacter pylori colonization and glycated hemoglobin levels. J Infect Dis 2012; 205: 1195-1202 [PMID: 22427676 DOI: 10.1093/infdis/jis106]
- 14 Hsieh MC, Wang SS, Hsieh YT, Kuo FC, Soon MS, Wu DC. Helicobacter pylori infection associated with high HbA1c and type 2 diabetes. Eur J Clin Invest 2013; 43: 949-956 [PMID: 23879740 DOI: 10.1111/eci.12124]
- Han X, Li Y, Wang J, Liu B, Hu H, Li X, Yang K, Yuan J, Yao P, Wei S, Wang Y, Liang Y, Miao X, Zhang X, Guo H, 15 Yang H, Wu T, He M. Helicobacter pylori infection is associated with type 2 diabetes among a middle- and old-age Chinese population. Diabetes Metab Res Rev 2016; 32: 95-101 [PMID: 26172433 DOI: 10.1002/dmrr.2677]
- Jeon CY, Haan MN, Cheng C, Clayton ER, Mayeda ER, Miller JW, Aiello AE. Helicobacter pylori infection is associated 16 with an increased rate of diabetes. Diabetes Care 2012; 35: 520-525 [PMID: 22279028 DOI: 10.2337/dc11-1043]
- Ko GT, Chan FK, Chan WB, Sung JJ, Tsoi CL, To KF, Lai CW, Cockram CS. Helicobacter pylori infection in Chinese 17 subjects with type 2 diabetes. Endocr Res 2001; 27: 171-177 [PMID: 11428708 DOI: 10.1081/erc-100107178]
- 18 Anastasios R, Goritsas C, Papamihail C, Trigidou R, Garzonis P, Ferti A. Helicobacter pylori infection in diabetic patients: prevalence and endoscopic findings. Eur J Intern Med 2002; 13: 376 [PMID: 12225782 DOI: 10.1016/s0953-6205(02)00094-8]
- Howard BV, Best L, Comuzzie A, Ebbesson SO, Epstein SE, Fabsitz RR, Howard WJ, Silverman A, Wang H, Zhu J, 19 Umans J. C-Reactive protein, insulin resistance, and metabolic syndrome in a population with a high burden of subclinical infection: insights from the Genetics of Coronary Artery Disease in Alaska Natives (GOCADAN) study. Diabetes Care 2008; **31**: 2312-2314 [PMID: 18796618 DOI: 10.2337/dc08-0815]
- Lutsey PL, Pankow JS, Bertoni AG, Szklo M, Folsom AR. Serological evidence of infections and Type 2 diabetes: the 20 MultiEthnic Study of Atherosclerosis. Diabet Med 2009; 26: 149-152 [PMID: 19236617 DOI: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2008.02632.x
- 21 Tamura T, Morita E, Kawai S, Sasakabe T, Sugimoto Y, Fukuda N, Suma S, Nakagawa H, Okada R, Hishida A, Naito M, Hamajima N, Wakai K. No association between Helicobacter pylori infection and diabetes mellitus among a general Japanese population: a cross-sectional study. Springerplus 2015; 4: 602 [PMID: 26543737 DOI: 10.1186/s40064-015-1371-2]
- Sargýn M, Uygur-Bayramicli O, Sargýn H, Orbay E, Yavuzer D, Yayla A. Type 2 diabetes mellitus affects eradication rate 22 of Helicobacter pylori. World J Gastroenterol 2003; 9: 1126-1128 [PMID: 12717872 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v9.i5.1126]
- 23 Demir M, Gokturk HS, Ozturk NA, Serin E, Yilmaz U. Efficacy of two different Helicobacter pylori eradication regimens in patients with type 2 diabetes and the effect of Helicobacter pylori eradication on dyspeptic symptoms in patients with diabetes: a randomized controlled study. Am J Med Sci 2009; 338: 459-464 [PMID: 19884816 DOI: 10.1097/MAJ.0b013e3181b5d3cf
- 24 Selinger C, Robinson A. Helicobacter pylori eradication in diabetic patients: still far off the treatment targets. South Med J 2010; 103: 975-976 [PMID: 20818306 DOI: 10.1097/SMJ.0b013e3181ee7dce]
- Tseng CH. Diabetes, insulin use and Helicobacter pylori eradication: a retrospective cohort study. BMC Gastroenterol 2012; 12: 46 [PMID: 22571603 DOI: 10.1186/1471-230X-12-46]
- 26 Maev IV, Mkrtumyan AM, Bektemirova LG, Andreev DN, Dicheva DT. The effectiveness of first-line eradication therapy for Helicobacter pylori infection in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Ter Arkh (in Rus.) 2022; 94: 209-215 [DOI: 10.26442/00403660.2022.2.201372
- Ataseven H, Demir M, Gen R. Effect of sequential treatment as a first-line therapy for Helicobacter pylori eradication in patients with diabetes mellitus. South Med J 2010; 103: 988-992 [PMID: 20818305 DOI: 10.1097/SMJ.0b013e3181eea6cc]
- 28 Zhou X, Zhang C, Wu J, Zhang G. Association between Helicobacter pylori infection and diabetes mellitus: a metaanalysis of observational studies. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2013; 99: 200-208 [PMID: 23395214 DOI: 10.1016/j.diabres.2012.11.012
- 29 Sheu SM, Cheng H, Kao CY, Yang YJ, Wu JJ, Sheu BS. Higher glucose level can enhance the H. pylori adhesion and virulence related with type IV secretion system in AGS cells. J Biomed Sci 2014; 21: 96 [PMID: 25296847 DOI: 10.1186/s12929-014-0096-9
- 30 Chávez-Reyes J, Escárcega-González CE, Chavira-Suárez E, León-Buitimea A, Vázquez-León P, Morones-Ramírez JR,



Villalón CM, Quintanar-Stephano A and Marichal-Cancino BA. Susceptibility for Some Infectious Diseases in Patients With Diabetes: The Key Role of Glycemia. Front Public Health 2021; 9: 559595 [DOI: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.559595]

- 31 Narayan KMV. Diabetes mellitus in Native Americans: the problem and its implications. Popul Res Policy Rev 1997; 116: 169-192 [DOI: 10.1023/A:1005745215330]
- 32 Mendz GL, Hazell SL. Aminoacid utilization by Helicobacter pylori. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 1995; 27: 1085-1093 [PMID: 7496998 DOI: 10.1016/1357-2725(95)00069-2]
- Kelly DJ. The physiology and metabolism of the human gastric pathogen Helicobacter pylori. Adv Microb Physiol 1998; 33 40: 137-189 [PMID: 9889978 DOI: 10.1016/s0065-2911(08)60131-9]
- 34 Marais A, Mendz GL, Hazell SL, Mégraud F. Metabolism and genetics of Helicobacter pylori: the genome era. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 1999; 63: 642-674 [PMID: 10477311 DOI: 10.1128/MMBR.63.3.642-674.1999]
- Lee WC, Goh KL, Loke MF, Vadivelu J. Elucidation of the Metabolic Network of Helicobacter pylori J99 and Malaysian 35 Clinical Strains by Phenotype Microarray. Helicobacter 2017; 22 [PMID: 27258354 DOI: 10.1111/hel.12321]
- Stark RM, Suleiman MS, Hassan IJ, Greenman J, Millar MR. Amino acid utilisation and deamination of glutamine and 36 asparagine by Helicobacter pylori. J Med Microbiol 1997; 46: 793-800 [PMID: 9291892 DOI: 10.1099/00222615-46-9-793
- Nagata K, Nagata Y, Sato T, Fujino MA, Nakajima K, Tamura T. L-Serine, D- and L-proline and alanine as respiratory 37 substrates of Helicobacter pylori: correlation between in vitro and in vivo amino acid levels. Microbiology (Reading) 2003; 149: 2023-2030 [PMID: 12904542 DOI: 10.1099/mic.0.26203-0]
- 38 Mendz GL, Hazell SL. Fumarate catabolism in Helicobacter pylori. Biochem Mol Biol Int 1993; 31: 325-332 [PMID: 82750201
- Iwatani S, Nagashima H, Reddy R, Shiota S, Graham DY, Yamaoka Y. Identification of the genes that contribute to lactate 39 utilization in Helicobacter pylori. PLoS One 2014; 9: e103506 [PMID: 25078575 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0103506]
- Wang A, Huen SC, Luan HH, Yu S, Zhang C, Gallezot JD, Booth CJ, Medzhitov R. Opposing Effects of Fasting Metabolism on Tissue Tolerance in Bacterial and Viral Inflammation. Cell 2016; 166: 1512-1525.e12 [PMID: 27610573 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.07.026]
- 41 Mendz GL, Hazell SL. Glucose phosphorylation in Helicobacter pylori. Arch Biochem Biophys 1993; 300: 522-525 [PMID: 8424689 DOI: 10.1006/abbi.1993.1071]
- Mendz GL, Hazell SL, Burns BP. Glucose utilization and lactate production by Helicobacter pylori. J Gen Microbiol 1993; 42 139: 3023-3028 [PMID: 8126428 DOI: 10.1099/00221287-139-12-3023]
- 43 Som S, De A, Banik GD, Maity A, Ghosh C, Pal M, Daschakraborty SB, Chaudhuri S, Jana S, Pradhan M. Mechanisms linking metabolism of Helicobacter pylori to (18)O and (13)C-isotopes of human breath CO2. Sci Rep 2015; 5: 10936 [PMID: 26039789 DOI: 10.1038/srep10936]
- Reynolds DJ, Penn CW. Characteristics of Helicobacter pylori growth in a defined medium and determination of its amino 44 acid requirements. Microbiology (Reading) 1994; 140 (Pt 10): 2649-2656 [PMID: 8000535 DOI: 10.1099/00221287-140-10-2649
- Ho CY, Liu TW, Lin YS, Chen YP, Chen MJ, Wang HY, Liou TC. Factors Affecting the Intraluminal Therapy for 45 Helicobacter pylori Infection. Microorganisms 2022; 10 [PMID: 35208870 DOI: 10.3390/microorganisms10020415]
- Wang YC, Chen YP, Ho CY, Liu TW, Chu CH, Wang HY, Liou TC. The Impact of Gastric Juice pH on the Intraluminal 46 Therapy for Helicobacter pylori Infection. J Clin Med 2020; 9 [PMID: 32545856 DOI: 10.3390/jcm9061852]
- Sugimoto M, Furuta T, Shirai N, Kodaira C, Nishino M, Ikuma M, Ishizaki T, Hishida A. Evidence that the degree and 47 duration of acid suppression are related to Helicobacter pylori eradication by triple therapy. Helicobacter 2007; 12: 317-323 [PMID: 17669104 DOI: 10.1111/j.1523-5378.2007.00508.x]
- 48 Marcus EA, Inatomi N, Nagami GT, Sachs G, Scott DR. The effects of varying acidity on Helicobacter pylori growth and the bactericidal efficacy of ampicillin. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2012; 36: 972-979 [PMID: 23009227 DOI: 10.1111/apt.12059
- Reshetnyak VI, Reshetnyak TM. Significance of dormant forms of Helicobacter pylori in ulcerogenesis. World J Gastroenterol 2017; 23: 4867-4878 [PMID: 28785141 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i27.4867]
- 50 Weykamp C, John WG, Mosca A. A review of the challenge in measuring hemoglobin A1c. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2009; 3: 439-445 [PMID: 20144280 DOI: 10.1177/193229680900300306]
- Chen J, Xing Y, Zhao L, Ma H. The Association between Helicobacter pylori Infection and Glycated Hemoglobin A in 51 Diabetes: A Meta-Analysis. J Diabetes Res 2019; 2019: 3705264 [PMID: 31583248 DOI: 10.1155/2019/3705264]
- 52 Mbanya JC, Henry RR, Smith U. Presidents' statement on WHO recommendation on HbA1c for diabetes diagnosis. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2011; 93: 310-311 [PMID: 21802162 DOI: 10.1016/j.diabres.2011.06.026]
- Buell C, Kermah D, Davidson MB. Utility of A1C for diabetes screening in the 1999 2004 NHANES population. Diabetes 53 Care 2007; 30: 2233-2235 [PMID: 17563338 DOI: 10.2337/dc07-0585]
- 54 Herman WH, Engelgau MM, Zhang Y, Brown MB. Use of GHb (HbA(1c)) to screen for undiagnosed diabetes in the U.S. population. Diabetes Care 2000; 23: 1207-1208 [PMID: 10937532 DOI: 10.2337/diacare.23.8.1207]
- Rohlfing CL, Little RR, Wiedmeyer HM, England JD, Madsen R, Harris MI, Flegal KM, Eberhardt MS, Goldstein DE. 55 Use of GHb (HbA1c) in screening for undiagnosed diabetes in the U.S. population. Diabetes Care 2000; 23: 187-191 [PMID: 10868829 DOI: 10.2337/diacare.23.2.187]
- 56 Begue RE, Mirza A, Compton T, Gomez R, Vargas A. Helicobacter pylori infection and insulin requirement among children with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Pediatrics 1999; 103: e83 [PMID: 10353980 DOI: 10.1542/peds.103.6.e83]
- 57 Akın S, Erdem ME, Kazan S, Aliustaoğlu M. The relationship between Helicobacter pylori infection and glycemic regulation in type 2 diabetic patients. Nobel Med 2014; 10: 32-35
- Bektemirova L, Mkrtumyan A, Rymareva E, Dicheva D, Chernavskij S. Efficacy of first-line eradication therapy in 58 patients with Helicobacter pylori associated pathology of the upper gastrointestinal tract and type 2 diabetes depending on a level of glycated hemoglobin. Medical Bulletin of the Ministry of Internal Affairs. (in Rus.) 2022; 119: 27-31 [DOI: 10.52341/20738080_2022_119_4_27.-EDNTDXAMS]



WJM

World Journal of **Meta-Analysis**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Meta-Anal 2022 October 28; 10(5): 244-254

DOI: 10.13105/wjma.v10.i5.244

ISSN 2308-3840 (online)

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

Disordered eating behaviour and eating disorder among adolescents with type 1 diabetes: An integrative review

Maria Conceição Santos Oliveira Cunha, Francisco Clécio Silva Dutra, Laura Martins Mendes Cavaleiro Brito, Rejane Ferreira Costa, Maria Wendiane Gueiros Gaspar, Danilo Ferreira Sousa, Márcio Flávio Moura de Araújo, Maria Veraci Oliveira Queiroz

Specialty type: Behavioural sciences	Maria Conceição Santos Oliveira Cunha, Department of Nursing, West Princess College, Crateús 63700-190, Ceará, Brazil
Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer	Francisco Clécio Silva Dutra, Laura Martins Mendes Cavaleiro Brito, Maria Veraci Oliveira Queiroz, Department of Nursing, Ceara State University, Fortaleza 60714-903, Ceará, Brazil
reviewed.	Rejane Ferreira Costa, Márcio Flávio Moura de Araújo, Department of Health Family, Oswaldo
Peer-review model: Single blind	Cruz Foundation, Eusébio 61773-272, Ceará, Brazil
Peer-review report's scientific quality classification	Maria Wendiane Gueiros Gaspar, Department of Health Science, University for the International Integration of Afro-Brazilian Lusophony, Redenção 62790-000, Ceará, Brazil
Grade A (Excellent): 0	Danilo Ferreira Sousa. Department of Nursing. University for the International Integration of
Grade B (Very good): B	Afro-Brazilian Lusophony. Redenção 62790-000. Brazil
Grade C (Good): 0	
Grade D (Fair): D	Corresponding author: Márcio Flávio Moura de Araújo, PhD, RN, Adjunct Associate Professor,

Corresponding author: Márcio Flávio Moura de Araújo, PhD, RN, Adjunct Associate Professor, Researcher, Department of Health Family, Oswaldo Cruz Foundation, Rua São José SN Bairro Precabura, Eusébio 61773-272, Ceará, Brazil. marcio.moura@fiocruz.br

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Type 1 diabetes (DT1) in adolescents brings behavioural changes, altered nutritional habits, and eating disorders.

AIM

To identify and analyze the validated instruments that examine the disordered eating behaviour and eating disorders among adolescents with DT1.

METHODS

An integrative review was accomplished based on the following databases: PubMed, LILACS, CINAHL, Scopus, Web of Science, and Reference Citation Analysis (RCA), including publications in Portuguese, English, or Spanish, without time limit and time published.

RESULTS

The main instruments to evaluate disordered eating behaviour were The Diabetes Eating Problem Survey-Revised, The Diabetes Eating Problem Survey, and the



Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Chrcanovic BR, Sweden; Serban D, Romania

Peer-review started: June 26, 2022

Article in press: October 12, 2022

Published online: October 28, 2022

Received: June 26, 2022

Revised: July 26, 2022 Accepted: October 12, 2022

First decision: July 13, 2022

eating attitudes test-26, and for eating disorders the main instruments used were The Bulimic Investigation Test of Edinburgh, The Binge Eating Scale, The Child Eating Disorder Examination, The five questions of the (Sick, Control, One, Fat and Food), and The Mind Youth Questionnaire. These instruments showed an effect in evaluating risks regarding nutritional habits or feeding grievances, with outcomes related to weight control, inadequate use of insulin, and glycaemia unmanageability. We did not identify publication bias.

CONCLUSION

Around the world, the most used scale to study the risk of disordered eating behaviour or eating disorder is The Diabetes Eating Problem Survey-Revised. International researchers use this scale to identify high scores in adolescents with DT1 and a relationship with poorer glycemic control and psychological problems related to body image.

Key Words: Adolescent; Type 1 diabetes mellitus; Validation studies; Nutritional behaviour; Eating disorder; Review

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Adolescents with type 1 diabetes are more vulnerable to disordered eating behaviour.

Citation: Oliveira Cunha MCS, Dutra FCS, Cavaleiro Brito LMM, Costa RF, Gaspar MWG, Sousa DF, Moura de Araújo MF, Queiroz MVO. Disordered eating behaviour and eating disorder among adolescents with type 1 diabetes: An integrative review. World J Meta-Anal 2022; 10(5): 244-254

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/full/v10/i5/244.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.13105/wjma.v10.i5.244

INTRODUCTION

Type 1 diabetes (DT1) in adolescents brings behavioural changes, highlighting altered nutritional habits and eating disorders (ED). It is worth emphasizing that the greatest challenge of diabetes treatment is glycaemic control through insulin therapy, good nutritional habits, and regular physical activity[1], in addition to other health behaviours. However, studies about behaviours with DT1 showed a higher risk of developing ED and dissatisfaction with their body image than their pairs without diabetes [2,3].

The disordered eating behaviour (DEB) is related to active behaviouring on a diet or to feast, compulsive eating, or purging (inefficient use of laxatives, diuretics, and self-induced vomit) and its frequency has become considerably higher in the last years at different parts of the world[4,5].

The prevalence of DEBs among adolescents is estimated at 10% in Western cultures 6. In Israel, the estimates are 8.2% among female adolescents and 2.8% for male adolescents [7]. DEB and ED were already associated with diabetes mellitus (DM)[8,9].

ED encompass a group of psychiatric conditions that may lead to a persistent failure in attending to nutritional and metabolic needs, thus resulting in severe psychosocial impairment[10]. EDs are most prevalent among individuals with DM1 than in the average population[11].

EDs are eating disorder habits with central psychopathology related to eating, food concerns, and body image. There are four main types of ED: Anorexia nervosa, bulimia nervosa, periodic compulsive eating disorder, and specified eating or ED[12].

The knowledge of validated instruments that examined DEB and ED of adolescents with DT1 may subsidize prevention actions for potential risks to altered eating habits and the handling of grievances related to these disorders, thus supporting the decision in nursing clinical practice and other professionals that give care to adolescents with DT1. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to identify and analyze validated instruments that examined disordered eating behaviour and ED among adolescents with DT1.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This is an integrative review of the literature conducted from February to April 2021 on a single desktop machine. The PICO strategy, which represents the acronym Patient, Intervention, Comparison, and Outcomes, was used to construct the guiding question of the research. The categories of this strategy are respectively fulfilled by: "Adolescents with type 1 diabetes mellitus"; "validation studies"; and "eating



disorders" and "disordered eating behaviour". Therefore, the following question was made: What validated instruments examined the DEB or ED of adolescents with DT1?

The article selection was based on titles and abstracts of the quoted articles, with the selection of the studies' inclusion and exclusion conditions, without establishing a temporal cut for the inclusion of studies. The inclusion conditions were as follows: Fully available articles in the electronic networks; national and international periodicals; studies regarding validated tools about disordered behaviour or eating disorder of adolescents with DT1; written in Portuguese, Spanish, or English. In contrast, the exclusion conditions were: Incomplete or incompatible texts about the subject, case reports, book chapters, monographs, review studies, editorials, stories in newspapers, or any non-scientific text.

The search for articles was done in the following databases: PubMed/Medline, LILACS, Cinahl, Scopus, Reference Citation Analysis (RCA), and Web of Science. The Periodical Portal, CAFe, from the Coordination for Improving Higher Education Personnel (CAPES), was used to access these five databases. The following Health Science Descriptors (DeCS) and (MeSH) were used: "Adolescente", " diabetes mellitus tipo 1", and "Transtornos da Alimentação e da Ingestão de Alimentos", and their respective English versions are "Adolescent", "type 1 diabetes mellitus", and "disorders from eating and food intake". The crossings were made using the Boolean operator "AND" to combine the descriptors: A dolescent" AND "diabetes mellitus type 1" AND "feeding and eating disorders".

The descriptors were delimited for each selected database (Medical Subject Headings - MeSH, Health Science Descriptors - DeCS, and CINAHL Headings - MH). There was no publication year threshold. The study followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) recommendations^[13].

The evidence level classification regarding the guiding question concerning studies of Intervention/ Treatment or Diagnosis/Diagnostic test[14] was added and presented the following seven levels: (1) Evidence of a systematic review or a meta-analysis of all relevant randomized controlled studies; (2) evidence obtained from well-made randomized controlled studies; (3) evidence obtained from adequately designed controlled studies without randomization; (4) evidence of well-designed casecontrol and cohort studies; (5) evidence of systematic reviews from descriptive and qualitative studies; (6) evidence of unique descriptive or qualitative studies; and (7) evidence from authorities opinions or reports from a committee of experts.

Random effects meta-analysis of proportions was perform using the 'meta' package in R 4.0.

RESULTS

An initial search for the literature that composed the integrative review obtained a result of 728 studies, distributed in 258 articles published in PubMed/MedLine, 6 in Lilacs, 100 in Cinahl, 207 in Scopus, and 157 in Web of Science. After the application of the inclusion and exclusion conditions, the final sample was composed of 13 studies in the following databases: LILACS (1); PubMed/MedLine (4); Cinahl (2); Scopus (3); and Web of Science (3).

The stages of search and selection of studies for the review are summarized in Figure 1, which was made according to the PRISMA[13].

Thirteen studies from nine different English and non-English countries were found; two each were conducted in Norway, Italy, Canada, and Turkey. The others were published in the following countries: Brazil, United States, Germany, Netherlands, and China, each with one study. There was an intense time variation regarding the publication year, where only one study was published annually and, exceptionally, two studies in a few years. The first study was published in 2010, and the most recent in 2021. Two studies each were conducted in 2013 and 2018 and three in 2017. The other years had one study as per Table 1.

Concerning the evidence level, based on the methodological analysis of the studies, nine are descriptive studies with a quantitative approach, and four are experimental studies of the clinical trial type. Among the observational studies, nine are descriptive with a quantitative approach.

All studies varied in the evidence level among II, III, IV, and VI. Two clinical trials[15,16] were classified as level II. A clinical trial without randomization and a quasi-experimental study [17,18] were classified as level III. A cohort study^[19] was classified as level IV. The other studies^[8,20-26] that identified the clinical question associated with the diagnosis/diagnostic test, were classified as level VI.

Due to the asymmetry of the points, we did not identify publication bias (Figure 2). We observed a proportion of 0.29 with a confidence interval of 0.18 to 0.44 and a significant P value representing almost 30% of the analyzed cases (Figure 3).

DISCUSSION

We have concluded that the most used psychometric scale for analyzing eating behaviour and risk for ED is The Diabetes Eating Problem Survey-Revised (DEPS-R).



WJMA | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Characterisation of primary studies, according to author(s), year, title, objective, instruments, conclusion, and evidence level (Fortaleza, Ceará, Brazil, 2021)

Ref.	Title	Objective	Instrument	Conclusion	Evidence level
Philippi <i>et</i> <i>al</i> [20], 2013	Risk behaviours for eating disorders in adolescents and adults with type 1 diabetes	To evaluate the frequency of risk behaviour concerning the risk of eating disorder in patients with diabetes (DT1) and its association with sex, nutritional status, variables related to DT1, and satisfaction with their body	The Eating Attitude Test (EAT-26); The Bulimic Invest- igation Test of Edinburgh (BITE); The Binge Eating Scale (BES)	Patients with DT1 demonstrated a high frequency of dissatisfaction with their body image and risk of an eating disorder; the omission or reduction of insulin was a significant risk factor for eating disorders	Level VI
Frampton <i>et al</i> [15], 2011	Reliability and validity of the Norwegian translation of the Child Eating Disorder Examination (ChEDE)	To evaluate the psychometric properties of the Norwegian version of the ChEDE 12.0	The Child Eating Disorder Examination (ChEDE)	The Norwegian version of the ChEDE has good psychometric properties and can be recommended for clinical use and in research with young people with eating disorders in Norway	Level II
Cherubini et al[8], 2018	Disordered eating behaviours in adolescents with type 1 diabetes: A cross-sectional population-based study in Italy	To evaluate the association of the following factors: Clinical, metabolic, and socio-economical with disordered eating behaviour (DEB) among adolescents with DT1, tracked through the Diabetes Eating Problem Survey-Revised (DEPS-R)	TheDiabetes Eating Problem Survey-Revised (DEPS-R)	The study suggests that skipping insulin injections, little time in physical activities, having an elevated BMI, and having a family profile of low education and occupation must be considered a sign of attention for DEB among pre-adolescents and adolescents with DT1	Level VI
Akgül <i>et al</i> [<mark>16]</mark> , 2018	Can having a sibling with type 1 diabetes cause disordered eating behaviours?	To evaluate if the risk of disordered eating behaviour (DEB) is also applied to the brother who shares the same environment	The eating attitudes test-26 (EAT-26)	Although a direct relation was not observed, the probability of having a pathological EAT-26 was higher among groups whose brothers had DT1	Level III
Zuijdwijk et al[21], 2014	The mSCOFF for Screening Disordered Eating in Pediatric Type 1 Diabetes	To validate the screening for eating disorders in female adolescents with type 1 diabetes	The five questions of (Sick, Control, One, Fat, and Food) (mSCOFF)	It is a tool that shows a great potential to track the risk of eating disorders in female adolescents with DT1 and requires validation against a gold standard	Level VI
Gagnon et al[17], 2017	Psychometric Properties of the French Diabetes Eating Problem Survey Revised (DEPS-R)	To develop and examine the psychometric properties and factorial structure of a French version of the Diabetes Eating Problem Survey Revised (DEPS-R) among participants with type 1 and 2 diabetes	A French version of the Diabetes Eating Problem Survey-Revised (DEPS-R)	Although it cannot be used alone to establish a formal diagnosis of an eating disorder, the French version is a valid and reliable scale to evaluate the risk of eating disorders among patients with any type of diabetes	Level III
Atik Altınok <i>et al</i> [22], 2017	Reliability and Validity of the Diabetes Eating Problem Survey in Turkish Children and Adolescents with Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus	To show the reliability and validity of a Turkish version of the Eating Problem Survey-Revised (DEPS-R) among children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes mellitus	The Diabetes Eating Problem Survey-Revised (DEPS-R)	Disordered eating behaviours and insulin restriction were associated with poor metabolic control. The screening tool for diabetes to DEB can be used daily during the clinical care of adolescents with DT1	Level VI
Saßmann <i>et</i> <i>al</i> [23], 2015	Psychometric properties of the German version of the Diabetes Eating Problem Survey Revised: additional benefit of disease-specific screening in adolescents with Type 1 diabetes	To examine psychometric properties of the German version of the <i>Diabetes Eating</i> concerning 16 items, research was performed in a sample of adolescents with type 1 diabetes	The Diabetes Eating Problem Survey Revised (DEPS-R)	The DEPS-R delivered more specific information than the tracking of generic instruments and identified more Young ones with an eating disorder than reported by the doctor, especially concerning the detection of boys at risk. The DEPS-R identifies the eating disorder in the initial stage of adolescents	Level VI
Wit <i>et al</i> [24], 2012	Assessing the diabetes- related quality of life of youth with type 1 diabetes in routine clinical care: the MIND Youth Questionnaire (MY-Q)	To report the development and validation of the MIND Youth Questionnaire (MY-Q) among Dutch adolescents with type 1 diabetes	The MIND Youth Questionnaire (MY-Q)	The MY-Q is a survey of QVRS projected for use in clinical care. It has good measurement properties and seems adequate to implement in the daily care of adolescents with diabetes	Level VI
Wisting et	Psychometric Properties,	To examine psychometric	The Diabetes Eating Problem-	The DEPS-R is a useful screening	Level IV

al[19], 2013	Norms, and Factor Structure of the Diabetes Eating Problem Survey Revised in a Large Sample of Children and Adolescents with Type 1 Diabetes	properties of the Diabetes Eating Problem Survey – Revised (DEPS-R) in a large sample of young patients with DT1 to establish rules and validate it against the Eating Attitudes Test 12 (EAT-12)	Survey-Revised (DEPS-R)	tool for DEB in people with DT1, which is relevant in practical clinics. The discoveries support this important screening tool's utility in identifying eating disorders among young patients with type 1 diabetes	
Markowitz <i>et al</i> [25], 2010	Brief Screening Tool for Disordered Eating in Diabetes	To update and validate a specific diabetes tracking tool for eating disorders (Diabetes Eating Problem Survey DEPS) in young ones with type 1 diabetes.	The Diabetes Eating Problem- Survey-Revised (DEPS-R)	Future studies must focus on using DEPS-R to identify high-risk populations for the prevention and early intervention of disordered eating behaviours	Level VI
Pinna et al [26], 2017	Assessment of eating disorders with the diabetes eating problems survey revised (DEPS-R) in a representative sample of insulin-treated diabetic patients: a validation study in Italy	To evaluate patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes treated with insulin and the psychometric characteristics of the Italian version of the DEPS-R scale	The Diabetes Eating Problem Survey-Revised (DEPS-R)	Adults and adolescents with type 1 and type 2 diabetes treated with insulin participated in the study. The Italian version of the DEPS-R scale showed a good construct validity, internal consistency, and an excellent reasonable degree of reproducibility in this public	Level VI
Lv et al <mark>[18]</mark> , 2021	Instrument Context Relevance Evaluation, Translation, and Psycho- metric Testing of the Diabetes Eating Problem Survey-Revised (DEPS-R) among People with Type 1 Diabetes in China	To adapt the DEPS-R for Mandarin and test its psychometric properties among adolescents and adults with type 1 diabetes in China	The Diabetes Eating Problem Survey-Revised (DEPS-R)	The Chinese version of the DEPS- R described a high proportion of disordered eating behaviour among adolescents and adults with DT1, thus indicating a need for special attention by health professionals and researchers in China	Level III



Figure 1 Flowchart of study selection process adapted from the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analyses.

Previous research showed that patients with DT1 have a higher frequency of ED and nutritional risk behaviours than the standard population[20]. For sure, these disorders contribute to an increased risk of complications from diabetes, such as abnormal lipid profiles, diabetic ketoacidosis, retinopathy, neuropathy, nephropathy, and mortality increase[11,27,28]. Therefore, evaluating these clinical conditions for follow-up and damage reduction with the subjects' effective participation is relevant[29].

Zaishidena® WJMA | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 Study proportion meta-analysis.



Figure 3 Publication bias analysis.

A study evaluated risks of eating disorders using the following tools: The Eating Attitude Test (EAT-26), The Bulimic Investigation Test of Edinburgh (BITE), and the Binge Eating Scale (BES). It showed that the percentages of patients at risk of eating disorders were 45% per EAT, 40% per BITE, and 16% per BES[20]. These tools evaluated a specific type of disorder. Although of great value, they are not directed to patients with DT1, but to the standard population.

Researchers affirmed that ED are characterized by significant hassles in the cognition of the body's image and morbid concern with food, weight, and shape. Adolescents, when trying to control their weight, appeal to behaviours that include self-starvation, self-induced vomit, abusive use of laxatives and diuretics, and a tremendous and significant volume of physical exercise[15].

One considers habits such as the restriction or omission of insulin as an exclusive disorder eating behaviour of people with DT1. They are usually considered boundary conditions to an eating disorder because their symptoms have yet to reach a threshold of high degree. Such conditions would be classified as an eating disorder as such[8,30].

A study involving adolescents with DT1 demonstrated that a higher body mass index (BMI) was significantly associated with a less positive body image among girls with diabetes. This data emphasizes that higher BMI is associated with low self-esteem and lower levels of social support among adolescents with diabetes, especially girls. Another addition is that worries about body image and several psychosocial factors can be forerunners to developing eating disorder symptoms[31].

Instruments capable of validating the eating disorder must be projected to combine the participants' cognitive capacity and the adolescents' development stage. Researchers from Norway observed that no



WJMA https://www.wjgnet.com

evaluation measures for ED were available to the younger population. Therefore, they used an adaption of the EDE 12.0 tool, which is recognized as a gold standard measure of psychopathology about ED among adults[32]. For this, they adapted and evaluated the psychometric properties of the Norwegian version of the "ChEDE" for children and adolescents[15].

It is worth highlighting that adolescents with DT1 usually have a complicated state of worries around eating and diet but generally are not associated with weight and body shape issues. This finding confirms that the ChEDE tool could distinguish eating problems in this group and cognitive and behavioural psychopathology in anorexia^[15].

Another study in Norway to evaluate DEB adapted and validated the DEPS-R with children and adolescents with DT1. When comparing the DEPS-R with the EAT-12, the DEPS-R seemed to be a better screening tool for DEB among young patients with DT1. In addition to the internal consistency, the DEPS-R was strongly correlated with glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c), rather than EAT-12, although both correlations were presented as relatively weak. Overall, male adolescents reported fewer DEBs than female ones[19].

Concerning the risk of ED, a study analyzed it using the mSCOFF tool, an adaptation of the SCOFF, for people with DT1. The tool mCOFF was adapted and evaluated for the risk of ED among female adolescents with DT1[21]. The researchers affirmed that when the mSCOFF tool was applied to 43 female adolescents with DT1, compared with the mEDI instrument, 10 (23.2%) participants were identified as being at high risk of developing an eating disorder[21].

In other studies that investigated ED in a similar population, the female participants presented more elevated results compared to male participants. The studies[15,21] showed these results as intrinsically connected to personal dissatisfaction with body image. Such an issue is the one the girls report the most. It is stated that the genesis and occurrence of ED can diverge between boys and girls, and the prevalence in male adolescents with DT1 is low[33].

One study highlights another tool to analyze the DEB in children and adolescents with DT1 - DEPS-R. Researchers from the USA used a DEPS adapted tool developed for adults with DT1[25]. Such specific tools for diabetes are needed due to the inefficient use of insulin and a potential purgative behaviour. These issues are seen as exclusive to individuals with diabetes[34]. The DEPS-R can avoid developing ED, such as bulimia and anorexia.

Therefore, the DEPS-R tool was adapted and validated in several countries, and a study[8] evaluated the prevalence of DEB in the region of Marche, Italy, through the use of the Italian version of the DEPS-R for the screening adolescents with DT1. The finding indicates a significantly higher prevalence (a score of \geq 20 DEPS-R of 34.4%), among patients with overweight (65.7%). It was also identified that the participants with a score \geq 20 in the DEPS-R had significantly higher levels of HbA1c, used higher doses of insulin, and spent less time doing physical exercise.

Researchers observed that there was no instrument planned to support health professionals in identifying DEBs in the French adult population with diabetes. Due to this, there was a need to adapt and validate the DEPS-R. Therefore, a study was performed to validate the DEPS-R tool in adolescents and adults with DT1 and DT2[17].

The study aforementioned adapted and validated the tool to compare it with the following instruments: The Eating Disorders Examination Questionnaire (EDE-Q6)[35] and Eating Disorder Inventory 2-Body (EDI-2)[36]. However, the study found significant barriers and limitations, one of which was the reduced participation of adolescents. Thus, the adults prevailed. In addition to this, different constructs of body dissatisfaction could be used to provide more empirical support for the tool The Questionnaire des Attitudes et des Comportements liés à la gestion du Diabète (QACD). This study's innovation was the use of a tool for a heterogeneous public, where there were adolescents and adults diagnosed with DT1 and DT2[17].

The Turkish version of the DEPS-R adapted and validated this tool for children and adolescents with DT1[22]. The results have shown that 25% of the participants had a score of DEPS-R \ge 20. Of these, most were women, and the patients with a score ≥ 20 were not adequately using their insulin to fulfill the demand from the meals at times where they ate beyond what is recommended; a few skipped the follow-up dose of insulin after overeating.

In Germany, researchers adapted and validated the DEPS-R for adolescents with DT1. They reported that the insulin restriction or its omission reported to the doctor seems not to be insufficient to the identification of ED. The disordered behaviour may come accompanied by feelings of shame and guilt, which can be a barrier for adolescents to talk about their eating behaviours^[23].

For the Italian population, a study used the DEPS-R adapted and validated with patients with DT1 and DT2, aged between 13 to 55 years old, being treated with insulin. In general, 21.8% of the sample met the conditions for at least one diagnosis of DSM-5 eating disorder, and 12.8% met the conditions for at least one diagnosis of DSM-IV eating disorder[26]. Moreover, in China, a study adapted and validated the DEPS-R in adolescents aged 8 to 17 years old with DT1 and 61 adults with DT1. It was registered that the average score of C-DEPS-R was 21.0. The high risk of DEBs among adolescents in this study was 39.3% [18].

Another tool that evaluated the risk of DEB is the Eating Attitudes Test-26 (EAT-26), which had a valid, sensitive, and specific measure to detect individuals at high risk for a diagnosable eating disorder. The researchers used the tool EAT-26 in eight cases in a group of healthy brothers. Three were



diagnosed with DEB, and one case with anorexia nervosa. In the control group, five cases had a pathological score, where three of these cases were diagnosed with DEB. From this control group, no case was diagnosed with an eating disorder[16].

Norwegian researchers[24] developed and validated the tool "MIND Youth Questionnaire (MY-Q)" for adolescents with DT1. The tool adopted the following domains: Family functioning, depression symptoms, and disordered eating. The multidimensional survey consists of seven subscales (social impact, country, control perceptions of diabetes, responsibility, worries, satisfaction with the treatment and body image, and eating behaviour). The results showed that the body image had a higher association with what was disclosed by the female group, in contrast to what the male group verbalized.

It was observed that the common ground of all research is the fact of applying the tools and evaluating some critical variables related to DT1, such as BMI evaluation, HbA1c, and insulin use, to ascertain the possible metabolic changes and DEB. A study [37] quoted the importance of analyzing the sociodemographic data with emphasis on the age group and sex as relevant variables to correlate with BMI and HbA1c.

Another observation is related to the age group and the type of diabetes. A study [15] explored a younger public beginning at nine years old with DT1. In contrast, another study[17] explored a younger public and adults with an age limit of 84 years old with DT2. Therefore, the tools have shown themselves as essential for identifying DEB or ED of adolescents and adults afflicted by DT1, thus possibly contributing to the prevention of possible complications related to this type of grievance.

It is essential to highlight some limitations of this review before any external generalization. The analyzed studies did not employ the same psychometric instrument in all their investigations. Overall, the authors employed four different scales, however, in the same population: Adolescents with DT1. Even though we have conducted a broad sweep of the central databases, publication bias is possible because some industry pharmaceuticals privately own some scales. In this point of view, the scales can be marketed to the public and are not necessarily published in scientific journals.

CONCLUSION

Based on the scales analyzed, we concluded that adolescents with DT1 achieve high scores that indicate risk for eating behaviour and ED. Both eating phenomena are related to variables such as female gender, BMI, and HbA1c in adolescents with DT1.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

The disordered eating behaviour (DEB) is related to active behaviouring on a diet or to feast, compulsive eating, or purging (inefficient use of laxatives, diuretics, and self-induced vomit) and its frequency has become considerably higher in the last years at different parts of the world

Research motivation

The knowledge of validated instruments that examined DEB and eating disorders of adolescents with type 1 diabetes (DT1) may subsidize prevention actions for potential risks to altered eating habits

Research objectives

To identify and analyze the validated instruments that examine the DEB and eating disorders among adolescents with DT1.

Research methods

This is an integrative review of the literature conducted from February to April 2021 on a single desktop machine.

Research results

We concluded that the most used psychometric scale for analyzing eating behaviour and risk for eating disorders is The Diabetes Eating Problem Survey-Revised.

Research conclusions

Therefore, the tools have shown themselves as essential for identifying DEB or eating disorders of adolescents and adults afflicted by DT1.

Research perspectives

Further studies should be conducted to explore the best scale to study the eating behaviour of



adolescents with diabetes.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Oliveira Cunha MCS, Queiroz MVO, and Moura de Araújo MF designed the study; Dutra FCS, Cavaleiro Brito LMM, Sousa DF, Gaspar MWG, and Costa RF performed the study equally, contributed to the extraction of the data, analyzed the data, wrote the paper, and approved the manuscript; Oliveira Cunha MCS, Queiroz MVO, and Moura de Araújo MF critically reviewed and approved the final draft and are responsible for the content and similarity index of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors deny any conflict of interest for this article.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist in detail, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Brazil

ORCID number: Maria Conceição Santos Oliveira Cunha 0000-0002-6805-6137; Francisco Clécio Silva Dutra 0000-0002-3451-1664; Laura Martins Mendes Cavaleiro Brito 0000-0001-6495-045X; Rejane Ferreira Costa 0000-0002-7436-7812; Maria Wendiane Gueiros Gaspar 0000-0003-1452-7180; Danilo Ferreira Sousa 0000-0001-9281-165X; Márcio Flávio Moura de Araújo 0000-0001-8832-8323; Maria Veraci Oliveira Queiroz 0000-0002-7757-119X.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: Wang TO P-Editor: Liu JH

REFERENCES

- Sociedade Brasileira de Diabetes (SBD). Diretrizes da sociedade brasileira de diabetes 2019-2020. Editora científica. 1 2019 [cited 2021 Mai 17]. Available from: https://www.diabetes.org.br/profissionais/images/DIRETRIZES-COMPLETA-2019-2020.pdf
- 2 Baechle C, Castillo K, Straßburger K, Stahl-Pehe A, Meissner T, Holl RW, Giani G, Rosenbauer J; German Paediatric Surveillance Unit (ESPED) and the DPV-Science Initiative. Is disordered eating behaviour more prevalent in adolescents with early-onset type 1 diabetes than in their representative peers? Int J Eat Disord 2014; 47: 342-352 [PMID: 24375553] DOI: 10.1002/eat.22238]
- Toni G, Berioli MG, Cerquiglini L, Ceccarini G, Grohmann U, Principi N, Esposito S. Eating Disorders and Disordered 3 Eating Symptoms in Adolescents with Type 1 Diabetes. Nutrients 2017; 9 [PMID: 28825608 DOI: 10.3390/nu9080906]
- Santana DD, Barros EG, Costa RSD, da Veiga GV. Temporal changes in the prevalence of disordered eating behaviours 4 among adolescents living in the metropolitan area of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Psychiatry Res 2017; 253: 64-70 [PMID: 28351004 DOI: 10.1016/j.psychres.2017.03.042]
- da Luz FQ, Sainsbury A, Mannan H, Touyz S, Mitchison D, Hay P. Prevalence of obesity and comorbid eating disorder 5 behaviours in South Australia from 1995 to 2015. Int J Obes (Lond) 2017; 41: 1148-1153 [PMID: 28337025 DOI: 10.1038/ijo.2017.79]
- Swanson SA, Crow SJ, Le Grange D, Swendsen J, Merikangas KR. Prevalence and correlates of eating disorders in adolescents. Results from the national comorbidity survey replication adolescent supplement. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2011; 68: 714-723 [PMID: 21383252 DOI: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.22]
- Katz B. Gender and disordered eating of adolescents in Israel. Isr J Psychiatry Relat Sci 2014; 51: 137-144 [PMID: 253725641
- Cherubini V, Skrami E, Iannilli A, Cesaretti A, Paparusso AM, Alessandrelli MC, Carle F, Ferrito L, Gesuita R. Disordered eating behaviours in adolescents with type 1 diabetes: A cross-sectional population-based study in Italy. Int J Eat Disord 2018; 51: 890-898 [PMID: 30033602 DOI: 10.1002/eat.22889]
- Tokatly Latzer I, Rachmiel M, Zuckerman Levin N, Mazor-Aronovitch K, Landau Z, Ben-David RF, GrafBar-El C, Gruber N, Levek N, Weiss B, Stein D, Lerner-Geva L, Pinhas-Hamiel O. Increased prevalence of disordered eating in the dual diagnosis of type 1 diabetes mellitus and celiac disease. Pediatr Diabetes 2018; 19: 749-755 [PMID: 29493097 DOI: 10.1111/pedi.12653]
- 10 Wisting L, Reas DL, Bang L, Skrivarhaug T, Dahl-Jørgensen K, Rø Ø. Eating patterns in adolescents with type 1 diabetes: Associations with metabolic control, insulin omission, and eating disorder pathology. Appetite 2017; 114: 226-231 [PMID: 28351671 DOI: 10.1016/j.appet.2017.03.035]
- 11 Colton PA, Olmsted MP, Daneman D, Farquhar JC, Wong H, Muskat S, Rodin GM. Eating Disorders in Girls and Women



With Type 1 Diabetes: A Longitudinal Study of Prevalence, Onset, Remission, and Recurrence. Diabetes Care 2015; 38: 1212-1217 [PMID: 25887359 DOI: 10.2337/dc14-2646]

- 12 Battle DE. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM). Codas 2013; 25: 191-192 [PMID: 24413388 DOI: 10.1590/s2317-17822013000200017]
- 13 Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JP, Clarke M, Devereaux PJ, Kleijnen J, Moher D. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate healthcare interventions: explanation and elaboration. BMJ 2009; 339: b2700 [PMID: 19622552 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.b2700]
- 14 Fineout-Overholt E, Stillwell SB. Asking compelling, clinical questions. In: Melnyk BM, Fineout-Overholt, E. Evidencebased practice in nursing & healthcare. A guide to best practice. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer, Lippincot Williams & Wilking. 2011 [cited 2021 Mai 21]; 25-39
- Frampton I, Wisting L, Øverås M, Midtsund M, Lask B. Reliability and validity of the Norwegian translation of the Child 15 Eating Disorder Examination (ChEDE). Scand J Psychol 2011; 52: 196-199 [PMID: 20584151 DOI: 10.1111/j.1467-9450.2010.00833.x]
- 16 Akgül S, Alikaşifoğlu A, Özon A, Gönç N, Düzçeker Y, Örs S, Derman O, Kanbur N. Can having a sibling with type 1 diabetes cause disordered eating behaviours? J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab 2018; 31: 711-716 [PMID: 29874193 DOI: 10.1515/jpem-2017-0533]
- Gagnon C, Aimé A, Bélange C. Psychometric Properties of the French Diabetes Eating Problem Survey -Revised (DEPS-17 R). BAOJ Diabet 2017; (3): 022. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/315940733
- 18 Lv W, Zhong Q, Guo J, Luo J, Dixon J, Whittemore R. Instrument Context Relevance Evaluation, Translation, and Psychometric Testing of the Diabetes Eating Problem Survey-Revised (DEPS-R) among People with Type 1 Diabetes in China. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021; 18 [PMID: 33810376 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph18073450]
- Wisting L, Frøisland DH, Skrivarhaug T, Dahl-Jørgensen K, Rø O. Psychometric properties, norms, and factor structure of 19 the diabetes eating problem survey-revised in a large sample of children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2013; 36: 2198-2202 [PMID: 23536586 DOI: 10.2337/dc12-2282]
- 20 Philippi ST, Cardoso MG, Koritar P, Alvarenga M. Risk behaviours for eating disorder in adolescents and adults with type 1 diabetes. Braz J Psychiatry 2013; 35: 150-156 [PMID: 23904020 DOI: 10.1590/1516-4446-2012-0780]
- 21 Zujjdwijk CS, Pardy SA, Dowden JJ, Dominic AM, Bridger T, Newhook LA. The mSCOFF for screening disordered eating in pediatric type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2014; 37: e26-e27 [PMID: 24459158 DOI: 10.2337/dc13-1637]
- 22 Atik Altınok Y, Özgür S, Meseri R, Özen S, Darcan Ş, Gökşen D. Reliability and Validity of the Diabetes Eating Problem Survey in Turkish Children and Adolescents with Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol 2017; 9: 323-328 [PMID: 28270369 DOI: 10.4274/jcrpe.4219]
- 23 Saßmann H, Albrecht C, Busse-Widmann P, Hevelke LK, Kranz J, Markowitz JT, Marshall LF, Meurs S, de Soye IH, Lange K. Psychometric properties of the German version of the Diabetes Eating Problem Survey-Revised: additional benefit of disease-specific screening in adolescents with Type 1 diabetes. Diabet Med 2015; 32: 1641-1647 [PMID: 25919651 DOI: 10.1111/dme.12788]
- 24 de Wit M, Winterdijk P, Aanstoot HJ, Anderson B, Danne T, Deeb L, Lange K, Nielsen AØ, Skovlund S, Peyrot M, Snoek F; DAWN Youth Advisory Board. Assessing diabetes-related quality of life of youth with type 1 diabetes in routine clinical care: the MIND Youth Questionnaire (MY-Q). Pediatr Diabetes 2012; 13: 638-646 [PMID: 23173877 DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-5448.2012.00872.x
- 25 Markowitz JT, Butler DA, Volkening LK, Antisdel JE, Anderson BJ, Laffel LM. Brief screening tool for disordered eating in diabetes: internal consistency and external validity in a contemporary sample of pediatric patients with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2010; 33: 495-500 [PMID: 20032278 DOI: 10.2337/dc09-1890]
- Pinna F, Diana E, Sanna L, Deiana V, Manchia M, Nicotra E, Fiorillo A, Albert U, Nivoli A, Volpe U, Atti AR, Ferrari S, 26 Medda F, Atzeni MG, Manca D, Mascia E, Farci F, Ghiani M, Cau R, Tuveri M, Cossu E, Loy E, Mereu A, Mariotti S, Carpiniello B. Assessment of eating disorders with the diabetes eating problems survey - revised (DEPS-R) in a representative sample of insulin-treated diabetic patients: a validation study in Italy. BMC Psychiatry 2017; 17: 262 [PMID: 28724422 DOI: 10.1186/s12888-017-1434-8]
- 27 Reinehr T, Dieris B, Galler A, Teufel M, Berger G, Stachow R, Golembowski S, Ohlenschläger U, Holder M, Hummel M, Holl RW, Prinz N. Worse Metabolic Control and Dynamics of Weight Status in Adolescent Girls Point to Eating Disorders in the First Years after Manifestation of Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus: Findings from the Diabetes Patienten Verlaufsdokumentation Registry. J Pediatr 2019; 207: 205-212.e5 [PMID: 30579582 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2018.11.037]
- 28 Scheuing N, Bartus B, Berger G, Haberland H, Icks A, Knauth B, Nellen-Hellmuth N, Rosenbauer J, Teufel M, Holl RW; DPV Initiative; German BMBF Competence Network Diabetes Mellitus. Clinical characteristics and outcome of 467 patients with a clinically recognized eating disorder identified among 52,215 patients with type 1 diabetes: a multicenter german/austrian study. Diabetes Care 2014; 37: 1581-1589 [PMID: 24623022 DOI: 10.2337/dc13-2156]
- International Diabetes Federation. IDF diabetes atlas [Internet]. 9th ed. Brussels: IDF; 2019 [cited 2021 Mai 26]. 29 Available from: https://www.diabetesatlas.org
- Takii M, Uchigata Y, Kishimoto J, Morita C, Hata T, Nozaki T, Kawai K, Iwamoto Y, Sudo N, Kubo C. The relationship 30 between the age of onset of type 1 diabetes and the subsequent development of a severe eating disorder by female patients. *Pediatr Diabetes* 2011; **12**: 396-401 [PMID: 20723101 DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-5448.2010.00708.x]
- 31 Kaminsky LA, Dewey D. The association between body mass index and physical activity, and body image, self esteem and social support in adolescents with type 1 diabetes. Can J Diabetes 2014; 38: 244-249 [PMID: 25092644 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcjd.2014.04.005]
- 32 Wilson T. Assessment of binge eating. In C. G. Fairburn & G. T. Wilson (Eds.), Binge eating: Nature, assessment and treatment. New York: Guilford Press. 1993 [cited 2021 Mai 26]; 227-249. Available from: https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1993-98750-011
- Wisting L, Bang L, Skrivarhaug T, Dahl-Jørgensen K, Rø Ø. Adolescents with Type 1 Diabetes--The Impact of Gender, Age, and Health-Related Functioning on Eating Disorder Psychopathology. PLoS One 2015; 10: e0141386 [PMID: 26529593 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0141386]



- 34 d'Emden H, McDermott B, Gibbons K, Harris M, Cotterill A. Choosing a screening tool to assess disordered eating in adolescents with type 1 diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Complications 2015; 29: 2-4 [PMID: 25440263 DOI: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2014.09.008]
- Fairburn CG, Beglin SJ. Assessment of eating disorders: interview or self-report questionnaire? Int J Eat Disord 1994; 16: 35 363-370 [PMID: 7866415]
- Garner D, Olmstead P, Polivy J. Development and validation of a multidimensional eating disorder inventory for anorexia 36 nervosa and bulimia. [cited 2021 Mai 26]. International journal of eating disorders 1983; 2: 15-34 [DOI: 10.1002/1098-108X(198321)2:2<15::AID-EAT2260020203>3.0.CO;2-6]
- 37 La Banca RO, Sparapani VC, Bueno M, Costa T, Carvalho EC, Nascimento LC. Estratégias para educar jovens com diabetes mellitus tipo 1 sobre insulinoterapia: revisão sistemática. Texto Contexto Enferm 2020; e20180338 [DOI: 10.1590/1980-265X-TCE-2018-0338]





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

